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INTRODUCTION



At a time when Jules Verne is making a comeback in the United States as a mainstream literary figure, one of his most brilliant and famous novels remains unavailable in English. Although half a dozen works carrying the title “The Mysterious Island” are in print, all follow W. H. G. Kingston’s 1875 translation, which omits sections of the novel and ideologically skews other passages.
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The real Mysterious Island
 is nearly 200,000 words long. For Sidney Kravitz, this first-ever complete translation has been a long labor of love, resulting in a highly accurate text which captures every nuance and will be the reference text in English.


L’Ile mystérieuse
 (MI
 —1874–75) needs little presentation. In 1865 during the American Civil War, a violent storm sweeps a balloon carrying a group of Unionists to an island in the Pacific. After satisfying basic necessities, Cyrus Smith the engineer, Spilett the reporter, Pencroff the sailor, Harbert the adolescent, and Neb the Black find a single match and grain of wheat, and proceed to rebuild most of modern civilization. They construct a boat and rescue Ayrton from the neighboring island of Tabor, abandoned there as a punishment in Verne’s Captain Grant’s Children
 (1865) and now in an animal state. However, a series of puzzling incidents leads the settlers to believe they are not alone on the Mysterious Island, including a lead bullet and a washed-up chest. At the end of the novel, they discover that Captain Nemo from Twenty Thousand Leagues under the Seas
 (1869) has been helping them all along. Nemo reveals his true name to be Prince Dakkar, then dies, and is entombed in his Nautilus.
 Following a volcanic eruption, the Island disintegrates, leaving just a small rock, from which the settlers are rescued.

Astoundingly, no scholarly edition has ever been produced of this rich and influential work in either French or English. Yet studying the real-world references and the inceptions of Verne’s other works has thrown up some amazing results in recent years. For what Roland Barthes once called “an almost perfect novel,”
2

 two distinct manuscripts have survived, together with two earlier drafts, published in 1991 under the title L’Oncle Robinson
 (“Uncle Robinson”). This annotated edition, then, studies MI
 in terms of its literary themes but 
 especially its origins, including the four manuscripts and the correspondence between Verne and his publisher, Hetzel, published only in 1999.
3



Verne’s imagination is fired by unique events. The dark continent, the poles, the interior of the earth, the dark side of the moon, the bottom of the ocean were unexplored when he began writing. Their two- or three-dimensional spaces were not only virgin, but were defined by a height, depth, or distance out or in. In each case a central point then represented a maximum exoticism, an ultima Thule. The first dozen novels in Verne’s series of Extraordinary Journeys exultantly explore these limits; these are the ones which sold the best and remain the best-known today.

But eventually the series runs out of room. A second period in the novelist’s production deals with less prestigious territories, and increasingly with social, political, and historical issues, in novels like Mathias Sandorf
 (1885), set in the Mediterranean, or North against South
 (1887), about the American Civil War. Other novels cover ground anew: three novels visit interplanetary space, three the Poles, half a dozen the air, and at least four the heart of Africa. Verne’s “Robinsonades,” or desert-island stories, are particularly numerous, including of course “Uncle Robinson” (“UR”) and MI,
 but also The School for Robinsons
 (1882), Two Years Vacation
 (1888), and Second Homeland
 (1900), as well as major parts of The Boy Captain
 (1878), “Edom” (1910), and “In the Magallanes” (1987).

The transition between periods is evasive, however. Around the World in Eighty Days
 (1872) forms both a last fling and a sign of the constraints of the new order. But it is itself a repetition, as Captain Grant’s Children
 and Twenty Thousand Leagues
 had already gone round the globe. Even while writing MI,
 Verne was working on The Chancellor
 (1874), which he describes as the archetypal shipwreck story, and Hector Servadac
 (1876), an inter-planetary Robinsonade. MI
 perhaps constitutes the final cul-de-sac of the exploration phase, for it represents an escape to the south Pacific but is enclosed in a island. The novel thus not only provides a gripping conclusion to the eight-volume trilogy started with Captain Grant’s Children
 and Twenty Thousand Leagues,
 but echoes all the preceding works and resoundingly closes the cycle.

At the time of composition, 1871–74, Verne’s life was turbulent. 
 The Franco-Prussian War and occupation of 1870–71 had caused tremendous damage to the physical structure and confidence of France. Verne even thought of giving up literature, according to a letter to his publisher of 22 July 1871. Also, MI
 was his first book to be entirely written in Amiens, away from the bohemian stimulation of Paris where he had spent most of the previous twenty-three years.

Even before his first novel for Hetzel, in about 1862, Verne is reported to have said that he was going “to continue the tradition of Robinson Crusoe. It’s modern, it’s new, it’s scientific magic. If it succeeds, I’ll give everything up.”
4

 MI
 is the work with the longest incubation, the one Verne worked hardest at, and the longest in his series of the Extraordinary Journeys.

Although it reproduces the history of mankind, from living in caves to the most recent technology, MI
 can in no way be considered a science-fiction novel, if only since no new science is involved. The best pigeon-hole for it is simply Literature (French) (Nineteenth Century). The main interest of the novel derives indeed from its specifically literary interpretation—and undermining—of the Robinsonade, with repeated echoes of The Swiss Family Robinson
 (1812). The writer himself said: “MI
 must have been begun because I wished to tell the young boys of the world something about the marvels of the Pacific.” (Textes oubliés
 (1979), 385)

Verne’s sources are a complex area. Nor is this simply an exercise for academics keen to rescue obscure works from oblivion, since MI
 is defined by its relationship with its predecessors. The novelist is invariably writing “against” his influences as much as he is writing any positive “message”: imitating and “modernizing” his predecessors only in order to ironically show them up, as he himself emphasized.
5

 Indeed the previous Robinsonades include his own earlier works, but even earlier parts of the same work. MI
 is only one in a series of Vernian desert-island works that parody and satirize previous writers, each other, but above all t

This introduction will study the correspondence during the difficult gestation period from 1865 to 1871; the manuscript of “UR” in relation to MI;
 Hetzel’s critical comments on MI;
 and the understanding of the novel generated by the knowledge of its writing. The characters will be studied, then the Island itself: first in terms of its shape and naming, then its ideological and geographical aspects, and 
 lastly its many implausibilities. Finally, an attempt will be made to pull the threads together and make sense of the novel as a whole.

The correspondence between Verne and Hetzel is vital for understanding the novelist’s intentions and the often difficult relationship. Substantial extracts will accordingly be cited here, so that we can study the sequence of events:

[18 September 1865] I’m dreaming of a magnificent Robinson. It is absolutely necessary for me to do one, it’s stronger than me. Some wonderful ideas are coming to me, and if … it succeeds in bringing in just three times as much as The Swiss Family Robinson,
 you’ll be happy, and I will as well. If it isn’t for us, let it be for our children, and still we won’t complain … I’m thinking enormously of this new machine and I’m taking notes. (Corr.,
 35)

[14 July 1869] Next year, we’ll see, either I’ll begin the modern Robinson, or … (115–16)

[25 July 1869] As for the five Robinsons
 of M. Helouis, that doesn’t specially bother me. There have already been fifty Robinsons,
 and I believe [I] will stay outside of everything that has been done. (118)

[17? February 1870] I’m completely in the Robinson.
 I’m finding astonishing things …! I’ve plunged into it body and soul, and can’t think of anything else. (131)

[25? February 1870] If you want to announce some new Verne
 to the readers of the MER,
 can’t you do it without giving the title? … We’re snowed under, and my feet are frozen. The Robinson
 is going well, and it’s great fun to do. (132)

[14 May 1870] I’ve entirely written the 1st
 volume of “Uncle Robinson.” I’m in the middle of recopying it. (138)

On 20 June 1870, Hetzel announced publication in the MER
 for, we can deduce, the period 1871 to 1873:

“Uncle Robinson”—by Jules Verne / / We are happy to be able to announce to our subscribers that in addition to The Exploration of the World: Famous Travels and Travelers,
 M. Verne was preparing a surprise for us. / Under the title “Uncle Robinson,” the author of Captain Grant’s Children
 will give us in due course, so as to follow 
 Twenty Thousand Leagues,
 a work destined to complement Captain Grant’s Children.
 For a truly original writer, exhausted information does not exist … It is evident that a modern Robinson, au fait
 with the progress of science, would solve the problems of life alone quite differently from Robinson Crusoe,
 the model for all those that followed him. / We do not wish to say any more about M. Verne’s book. Our readers will be able to read between the lines that on such a subject this inventive mind has been able to find and create new things of the most varied sort.

Hetzel’s evasive presentation in fact preceded his reading of the manuscript. Then came a twin thunderbolt. On 21 July 1870, the publisher wrote a 1,000-word letter, announcing the outbreak of the Franco-Prussian War and his opinion of Verne’s long-cherished project: “it’s a sketch, but the clay is too soft and too gray … [the characters] are not at present interesting … suppose Hugo doing this scene … your people get out of situations worse than the most innocent robinsons [sic
 ] of the past” (Corr.,
 143–46).

Verne changed tack:

15 [February 1871] It’s not the Robinson that I’ve continued with. I need to discuss it with you again. You know that I stick to my ideas like a Breton. Yes, Paris did a Robinson on a grand scale. But that is the business
 of my second and third volumes and not the first.
 When you have three volumes to do … if you do not husband your effects and your climax you are lost. (154)

The correspondence, then, gives us important information about the desert-island project in its initial stages. We will now look at the resultant changes in the four drafts of the novel. These are of exceptional importance, since for Verne’s other novels the manuscripts seem to most accurately reflect his wishes, more than the serial and, a fortiori,
 the book versions. The publisher frequently had preconceptions as to the readership his novelist should be aiming for, the nature of what he should be writing, and its political, religious, and moral ideology. Many of the ideas even originated from Hetzel. We must, in other words, assume that the many changes, even those in Verne’s handwriting, were made under pressure. In any case, it is surprising that modern publishers have invariably followed Hetzel’s often short-sightedly commercial editing of Verne.


 The only part of each manuscript of “UR” to have survived is the first out of three, perhaps because the others were never written. The plot of the second manuscript can be summarized as follows: on 25 March 1861, Americans Mr. and Mrs. Clifton, with their four children, Marc, Robert,
6

 Jack, and Belle, plus a dog called Fido, are heading home across the northern Pacific on board the Vankouver
 [sic
 ]. However, some of the crew mutiny and take over the ship; and Mrs. Clifton and the children are put into a boat near an island. They are accompanied by Flip, a sailor from Picardy, who shows great affection, cheerfulness, ingenuity, and teaching skill, thus becoming “Uncle Robinson.” With Flip’s help the family discover a shelter and food, and start a fire with a single match. At a second stage, Harry Clifton, an engineer, escapes from the Vankouver
 and joins his family, although receiving less attention than Uncle Robinson. More ambitious ventures are carried out, like growing wheat and tobacco and exploring and measuring the island. An orang-utan is captured and a lake discovered containing a strange boiling, as well as a cock with a recently trimmed crest. Part I
 ends with the discovery of a lead bullet in a leveret. (Extracts from “UR” and further information appear on pp. xxxv–xxxviii.)

Even before its publication in 1991, “UR” aroused controversy as to its literary quality. As Christian Robin points out,
7

 its tone and style are unique in Verne’s works, undoubtedly because written for young people. It is also his only book to convincingly portray child psychology and a family without possessions succeeding on an island. The main reason Hetzel did not like it, Robin surmises (233), is that he disapproved of children in Verne’s works, perhaps because it was his own speciality as a writer. Philippe Burgaud finds the work pleasant and readable,
8

 for it is a highly polished, fluent work (it even has chapter heads for the initial chapters). Indeed Part I
 of MI,
 which is less gripping than Parts II
 and III
 , may be considered only slightly more interesting than “UR.” While Verne destroyed several manuscripts in 1886, his retention of both manuscripts of “UR” implies that he did not share his publisher’s negative view of it.

Nevertheless, Jean Guermonprez calls “UR” a “lemon” and Jean Jules-Verne, Olivier Dumas, and Jacques van Herp agree that it is unimaginative.
9

 “UR” certainly does not compare with the series of masterpieces Verne produced from 1863 to 1870, if only because “the 
 Clifton family is too similar to the pedantic and edifying family” of Wyss.
10



Verne proceeded to write the two surviving manuscripts of MI.
 
11

 While MI
 visibly derives from “UR,” it is also different in both style and content. Many phrases and even episodes are copied wholesale, but the characters are transformed, and instead of the four months of “UR,” Part I
 of MI
 covers seven months. In an interesting crossover, the margin of “UR” (“UR,” 54) contains a diagram showing the triangulation done in MI
 (I, 14),
12

 plus a first draft of the corresponding dialogue, including Cyrus Smith’s name (Robin, 237). In “UR” there is only one watch, but two are needed in MI
 for making the fire and for calculating the longitude. Episodes absent from “UR” include the mysterious saving of the engineer, the dog’s fight with the dugong, and the making of nitroglycerin. Contrariwise, the turning of the turtle and the acquisition of Jup are displaced from “UR” to Part II
 of MI.
 The huge amounts of science in MI
 are presumably a reaction to Hetzel’s acerbic remark on “UR”: “Where is the science in all that?” (Guermonprez, “Du Navet,” 6) Similarly the splendors of Granite House and its hydraulic lift may derive from his comment about the “banal grotto” (Robin, 243). Making bricks, iron, steel, and soap in record time may be due to his remarks on the Cliftons’ ineffectuality.

In about 1871, Verne had apparently received lots of letters from women across the globe, begging him to reveal the identity of Nemo, left a mystery at the end of Twenty Thousand Leagues;
 and he wrote: “They will have the key to the enigma, but not immediately like that! They will have to be patient for a while yet” (cited without reference by Guermonprez, “Du Navet,” 6). In other words, the somber captain was possibly not at this stage part of the Robinsonade. However, in Part I
 of MI
 and even in “UR” there is already a human presence. The question then arises whether it is Nemo responsible for the bullet in the leveret, the strange boiling, and the trimmed crest. After all, the boiling in MI
 will be his doing, and no one else can act under water. Although Verne’s letter of 2 February 1873 mentions Nemo for the first time, he often claimed never to have started a book without planning it out in detail. Since the main alternative, Ayrton, is still thousands of miles away in the southern hemisphere, the captain may have appeared in the missing Part III
 of “UR.”


 In judging Hetzel’s reactions, we note with amazement that he was nearly as critical of MI
 as “UR.” Given the uninformed nature of most English-language criticism of MI
 to date, it is again important to quote substantial extracts from the exchanges between Verne and his mentor
13

 (retaining Hetzel’s poor style and punctuation):

[May? 1873] The framework [of Part I
 ] is good … but your characters … do not have enough variation, except the engineer and Harbert. Cracrof [sic
 ] can pass, but the reporter is a nullity who can not survive, and … it’s not worth paying for a Negro if you’re not going to enjoy him a bit more … One does not send mere commercial travelers on missions like the ones [the reporter] did, for a newspaper as important as his. We need men of steel in mind and body … When I think that your 4 fellows spend the whole volume without saying a word of the America they left in those conditions, of their past, of anything, I say to myself that you must be the most astonishing and the most indifferent of creatures to find the thing plausible. (199–200)

[21? September 1873] While writing this work, I am above all concerned to invent episodes
 and especially the climax which must be produced from start to finish. There are incidents in the 3rd
 volume which are prepared from the beginning of the first. (204–05)

[22? September 1873] Overall, the [second] volume is better than the 1st
 … But what is missing from this book as a whole is that your people do not seem very close to each other. Nor are they sufficiently distinct in their language or character. Good humor is too rare, your lively philosophy too often absent … The scientific material and the execution of the works they accomplish have made you leave their humanity, their moods, their sentiments and thoughts too much in the shadows. One doesn’t sufficiently wish to be with them. (205–06)

[23 September 1873] Everything you say about Ayrton’s savagery is for me without importance. All the mental specialists in the world won’t change a thing. I need a savage. I tell the public, here is my savage. And you think people will worry about knowing whether after 12 years of solitude, he has become that
 savage! No! What is important is that having been a savage he becomes a man again … Do not forget: the Robinson subject has been done twice.


 Defoe, who took man alone,
 Wyss who took the family.
 / These were the two best subjects. I myself have to make do with a third which is neither one nor the other. / Several times already you have created doubt in my mind about this work. / And yet I have the conviction—and I speak to you as though it were by someone else—that it will not be inferior to the preceding ones, that, properly launched like them, it will succeed. I have the profound conviction that the reader’s curiosity will be stimulated, that the sum of the imagined
 things in this work is greater than in the others, and that what I call the climax
 develops, as it were, mathematically.
 (208)

[22 January 1874] On the whole [Part III
 ] is excellent well-constructed well-planned well-balanced in its details, the capital weakness is the endless description of Harbert’s illness, it’s as long and frustrating and irritating as if you were a nurse who has to listen to a medical lecture by a doctor who thinks only of ensuring his lesson sinks in … you put your foot in your soul when you hoped that your process of scientific popularization could apply to medicine, like better-known subjects … In this episode there are also attempts at sensibility which do not work. There are good sentiments, and you tried them thinking of me perhaps … but we should not be doing reverence … The end of Nemo with the removal of a few unhappy efforts in the same vein will remain very fine but it is important that Nemo not die before knowing what might happen to the Island … Your destruction of the Island is a masterpiece. / The whole preparation of Nemo’s death and the escape as well, and only details need to be amended. But you have to add a last chapter, a chapter conclusion [sic
 ] of 3 pages. / In your fatigue and after all your effort you dump everybody in America like dirty washing, first of all it’s not appropriate and next it makes the interest fall flat on its face or its arse as you will … You will reduce the value of the pearl, you will say that it might be worth millions but you will put it in the middle of 8 or 10 millions of diamonds, jewels, etc. / You will send the pearl to Lady Glenarvan my good fellow and with the diamonds our settlers back in America will make themselves another Lincoln Island on dry land. / They will found a little State wherever you want, in 4 pages you will say that very well you will show them without embellishment, you 
 will show them to us united like the fingers of a glove in a peacetime America and in a colony that is already prosperous with kids and all the trimmings: church schoolhouse a monument to Nemo Glenarvan and Robert Grant. / They must be darlings and your public must say that you are one too. (229–31)

[18 September 1874] It’s completely agreed for the ending of MI.
 I’ll stick their island back on dry land in America for them. (259)

[29 September 1874] … a confidence that Nemo should share with Cyrus on his own, about the possibility of upheaval of the island, perhaps soon … That explains why Nemo did not die alone. He had some advice of capital importance to give them. / The question of the chest would be insufficient to explain why he wished to interrupt his solitary existence, for he could very easily have put the chest in their hands or under their table … Incidentally for the conclusion. Jup and the dog must be saved. (261–62)

Despite Verne’s valiant resistance, both manuscripts of MI
 underwent a harrowing series of cuts, additions, and changes. Some of the alterations are presented on pp. xxxviii–xlii; here it can be noted that the meaning of the conclusion is totally changed. In the published version, but not in the manuscripts, we read of a deathbed remorse by Nemo and a pompous and presumptuous assessment by Smith of his life as an “error.” In the book, Nemo gives the settlers Hetzel’s jewelry, whereas in the manuscript they get the giant pearl he had so carefully nurtured in Twenty Thousand Leagues.
 In Verne’s original idea, the destruction of the Island is the end of the novel; in the “Hetzelized” version, the settlers have to start again in Iowa. The captain’s dying words, the absurd “God and my country!” were brutally, criminally, imposed by Hetzel. The manuscript read simply “Independence!”

Our exploration of the origins of “UR” and MI
 has, in sum, thrown up several major problems with accepting the work as published. Because the Nemo of the third part is not what Verne wanted him to be, this falsifies his destiny and hence that of the settlers, and in turn the whole meaning of the novel.

Understanding the links between MI
 and Twenty Thousand Leagues
 is in turn rendered difficult. One problem is simply consistency. In MI
 
 the “true” origin of Nemo and all his crew is revealed to be Indian—although at least one of them had been French in the earlier masterpiece. His victims were, it seems, British; and so on. The Nemo of MI
 in fact bears little resemblance to the earlier Nemo; even the most basic facts do not tally, such as his age and the dates, which are all wildly off. The captain of MI
 claims that he sank the warship “in a narrow, shallow bay … I had to pass, and I … passed” (III, 16). However, the claim is wrong, for in the 1870 novel the sinking takes place several hundred miles from land (III, 23). The only merit in the claim is its identity with an implausible suggestion that Hetzel made in the correspondence—and which the earlier Verne indignantly rejected. But the rot goes deeper, for even the Nemo of Twenty Thousand Leagues
 was adulterated, since Verne had already conducted a running battle over two or three manuscripts and a score of anguished letters, where he demonstrates, point by logical point, that Hetzel is insisting on radical changes while not understanding the most basic aspects of Nemo’s behavior.

The links between the two novels, as encapsulated in Nemo and the Nautilus,
 are therefore of little help in understanding the gloomy captain, and may indeed create misconceptions. MI
 is disappointing if judged purely as a sequel, for it contradicts and undermines the previous work, with its heroic defiance of human society and its magical exploration of the ocean depths. However, as an independent work, MI
 remains a resounding success. It is probably best to ignore the links between the two novels.

On top of the ambivalence and irony invading Verne’s work in the 1870s, then, we must add our own skepticism as to every sentiment and deed in MI,
 especially the pious or noble ones. Behind each episode and phrase lurk a line of darker copies, like Macbeth’s ghosts, running through the correspondence with Hetzel and the four manuscripts but even into Twenty Thousand Leagues
 and its
 manuscripts and correspondence.

A naive reading is no longer possible.

Verne’s degree of identification with his seven characters varies. Guermonprez lucidly analyzes the settlers: “Instead of the usual trio of men, representing intelligence, courage, and fidelity, he spreads these qualities over five men.” (“Notes,” 18) Four of them are in the force 
 of age and all are energetic, in the Anglo-American mold. In contrast with the Scottish Ayrton and their European predecessors in the genre, the Americans are omnipotent and fearless.

The novel seems in some ways an English-language one from the beginning, as indicated by its English place-names and its emphasis on practical reality. In his approximately twenty-three novels partly or entirely situated in the US, Verne often gives a positive image. America is for him a nation of engineers, mechanics, balloons, telegraphs, and railways, one where science is discussed and nothing is feared. The novelist is systematically anti-slavery, from a humanitarian consideration since he royally ignores economic arguments. However, he also writes devastating criticisms of over-engineering and destruction of nature. One of Verne’s major criticisms of the US in his later years, for instance in Propeller Island
 (1895), is the power of money. The other is the lack of culture, as in “In the Year 2889” (1889), whose critical passages were apparently censored when published in New York, and in “Humbug: The American Way of Life,” which remained unpublished in English until 1991.
14



Nevertheless, as Guermonprez indicates (“Notes,” 29), the settlers’ characters and daily habits are not always well-defined or plausible. They rarely talk of their origins from different parts of New England, or even the reasons for the Civil War. They have no petty jealousies or nicknames; they rarely smile or laugh; and they almost never go for a swim in their Pacific paradise. We know little of their washing or toilet arrangements, perhaps because twenty-five to thirty gallons per day (I, 19) does not allow such refinements. But their waste water must go down the well—up which Nemo comes to eavesdrop. Although the bedrooms are not heated, the settlers’ health is perfect: not a sniffle, despite the humid environment caused by the shaft.

Within the group, Smith is invariably seen in a good light, with his polyvalence and his Unionist officer’s cap, in the illustrations if not in the text. Michel Tournier says of him that “engineer” is a superb word, “combining both genius and ingenuity” (Le Vent paraclet,
 214). He is forty-five, Verne’s own age in 1873, and represents values of sociability and practicality. While he indulges in the pleasure of enclosure in the womb-like cave, it must still have a window. He is above all an over-achiever. As Kravitz points out (private correspondence), the list of his scientific and engineering accomplishments is endless: a fire made with watch lenses; a knife made from Top’s collar; bricks, 
 then a kiln, then clay pots, jars, and cups; determining the coordinates of the Island; calculating the height of the granite wall; making bellows from seal skins, then steel; sulphuric acid, nitric acid, and nitroglycerin; tallow candles; baskets and maple sugar; a bridge over the Mercy; pyroxyle; glass panes; a large boat; a mill to press wool; a windmill to grind wheat for bread; and a drawbridge, iron wire, and a battery.
15



But while Verne’s rational mind sympathizes with Smith, his instinctive preference often goes to Nemo. The captain is in touch with the past, literary and artistic values, the invisible, the unconscious, and the fantastic—and he uses the telegraph for real communication rather than as a toy. The essential contrast is between the creativity of the tormented genius and the heartiness of the positivistic settlers. Nemo and Smith correspond to a Latin-Anglo-Saxon split, but also to a Romantic-Realist one: although Nemo has a technologically advanced vessel, he is a professional loner and meeting him is compared to meeting a dying God. His fate is appropriate: enclosed in bed, in his submarine, in the crypt, in the Island, at the bottom of the sea.

Ayrton, in contrast, is the typical gritty Scot. Despite Verne’s protests, his descent into animality does not seem entirely realistic, for many real-life cases exist where comparable isolation had little visible effect. As the only solitary Robinson in the Extraordinary Journeys, Verne seems to be making a moral point of him. But because of the sincerity of his repentance, Ayrton does not give up like his fellow settlers, and is rewarded by being the person who sees the Duncan
 and who saves the chest of jewelry.

What should not be glossed over is the systematic racism of the novel. Verne’s and the settlers’ prejudice is blind and unrelenting, in common with much of their century. While sympathetic, Neb the Black is described in terms of his distinctive physical appearance, but also behavior (close to animals, lack of intelligence and perseverance, etc.). Indeed unfavorable comparisons are made with Top the dog and Jup the orang-utan. A whole Chain of Beings is in fact in evidence, based on social, political, and racial factors. It ranges from blacks to whites, passing from Neb, Top, Jup, the pirates, Ayrton, Smith, Nemo, and God to the author! As François Raymond has pointed out,
16

 each stage “apes” the ones above it. Thus Jup, who, like Nemo, has a God’s name, imitates Pencroff’s use of a mirror. Ayrton is a pastiche of Crusoe and Nemo—but is himself parodied by the orangutan. 
 However, the hierarchy, which must symbolize Verne’s trepidation vis-à-vis Hetzel and even his severe father, undergoes sudden underminings and reversals. Raymond wisely concludes that, rather than seek ideological coherence in MI,
 it is more fruitful to study the structures by which the complex meaning is conveyed.

Verne is not an acute observer of character differences, but he does create personal significance through powerful innovations in two other psychological areas.

The first is hypnotism and electrical phenomena in general. The scene where Ayrton receives Smith’s care, “like a person under the gaze of a hypnotist” (II, 16), is a defining moment of the novel, although an even more dramatic scene was cut from MS1 (see pp. xl–xli). The idea of restoring speech by taking the sufferer back to the traumatic events that provoked his illness is of course an anticipation of Freud’s seminal idea.

Throughout his life, Verne demonstrated interest in mental phenomena. There is a probable influence by Poe’s “The Facts in the Case of M. Valdemar” (1844), summarized in Verne’s essay “Edgar Allan Poe and his Works” (1864) as a “tale where death is suspended … by the use of magnetic sleep.” On 28 June 1850 he wrote to his parents about a “miraculous” magnétiseur
 (mesmerizer or hypnotist) called Alexis who gave public performances (Dumas, Jules Verne
 (1988), 280). Starting from his early twenties, Verne suffered from paralysis on one side of his face, but was treated in 1851 by means of electricity. From about 1873, the health of his son Michel gave him cause for concern, and in 1874 resulted in his hospitalization in the clinic of Dr. Antoine Blanche (1828–93), a renowned mental specialist who treated Nerval and Maupassant.
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 It is clear, then, that Verne’s interest in the hidden workings of the mind in MI
 is original and is connected with his fascination at the power of electricity, most dramatically displayed through Nemo’s submarine.

The other innovation is the personification of Lincoln Island. The characters remain so strongly in our memory because of their collective relationship with their home. The only native, however, is Jup, also the only survivor from “UR,” and who will perish with the Island. Lincoln is perhaps even the novel’s main character, with its energies and changeability, its nooks and crannies, its birth and death. Accordingly, we will study its role and characteristics in detail.


 The Island resembles a starfish, whereas what was originally called “Flip Island” in “UR” is a quadrilateral, of length “about 20 to 22 leagues, bigger than Elba and twice as big as St. Helena”: a clear reference to Napoleon, imprisoned on both islands. The shape of Lincoln Island, characterized as “a sort of monstrous pteropoda” (p. 95), has variously been suggested as based on Saint-Pierre, Rawaki, Cyprus, Jan Mayen, or Celebes (see Note on pp. 640–41).

The Island is in many ways a Utopia: not in the literal sense of “nowhere,” since Verne provides precise coordinates, but in terms of an ideal community. Lincoln represents a return to paradise, to roots, to agrarian calm, even if the dream is adulterated by the encroachments of modern existence and the luxuries derived from the Industrial Revolution. It attracts us because we can imagine the world remade, with new social relations. In MI
 the result is indeed a model, in marked contrast with later instances such as The School for Robinsons, Two Years Vacation,
 or William Golding’s The Lord of the Flies.
 It is a model also in the sense of a microcosm, an escapist reduction of the complexities of the real world. As a result, its success would be difficult to generalize, for the community is limited in size, has an unusual leader, and depends crucially on finding a native-free area.

The naming of Lincoln’s features in terms of “back home” symbolizes its colonial appropriation and the settlers’ dream of attaching themselves to the Union. Amongst the many paradoxes, of course, is that America was at this time a recently emancipated colony itself, with a strongly anti-colonial ideology. Another is that the rebel Nemo supports the colonization of the Island; another, that the model, taken from Captain Grant’s Children,
 is colonies founded by Scotland, itself a colony in some ways. A final irony is that the colonists’ frenetic attempts culminate merely in the derisory recreation of the colony within the motherland. Given all these tensions, we should avoid imposing an ideology on to Lincoln Island.
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 Nemo’s Indian nationalism is different from Smith’s American one—and Verne supports neither.

At the beginning of the Extraordinary Journeys, the British were viewed very favorably, for instance in Five Weeks in a Balloon
 or Adventures of Captain Hatteras.
 During the 1870s, however, their image became less attractive, and in MI,
 British colonialism in India is criticized. In The Steam House
 (1879) a chapter entitled “The Indian Mutiny” (I, 33) shows that Verne’s views were not always anti-colonialist, 
 but also provides information about Tippo-Sahib, Prince Dakkar’s uncle and historical model: “Under Lord Cornwallis, in 1784 … battle [was made] with Tippo-Sahib, killed on 4 May 1799, in the last assault given by General Harris on Seringapatam … In 1806, perhaps even under the inspiration of Tippo-Sahib’s son, the garrison of the native army of Madras … cut the throats of the officers and their families, shot the ill soldiers even in the hospital … through the hatred of the invaders by the invaded.” Verne’s source for MI
 is perhaps M. de Valbezen, cited in The Steam House
 and who praises the British as having brought great benefits to the whole of India.
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 In sum, Verne’s opinions on even Tippo-Sahib are contradictory; and it would therefore be unwise to attempt to summarize his overall views on the British in India.

An additional inconsistency in Verne’s political views is that even the concept of progress is fraught with problems. In MI,
 the destruction of the Island at the end, meaning that all has been in vain, is part of a cyclical vision of human affairs. Circular repetition of life had indeed been earlier emphasized by Cyrus Smith (I, 21); it will form the central theme of “Edom” (1910), where the annihilation of civilization happens several times and may perhaps continue indefinitely in the future, generated by man’s excessive pride in his scientific achievements. The novelist’s popular reputation as an apologist for science and progress is clearly mistaken.

The island moves from the north Pacific in “UR” to the south in MI.
 The reason is presumably so as to be close to Ayrton’s Tabor island. Kravitz (Ibid.
 ) remarks that in the move many landmarks are rotated through 180°: the landing place and the granite wall, for example, shift from the western to the eastern shore. More generally, Guermonprez (“Notes,” 14) points out: “Verne … transports … a whole fauna unknown to this region, such as the mouflon, (European) porcupine … the onager of Mongolia, the orang-utan, the tragopan; and endows the Island with a variegated flora such as the deodar, dragon tree … nettle tree, mastic tree, horse-radish … ficoids … American maple.” Lincoln certainly contains an amazing variety of animals and plants, including a jaguar (I, 13), even if Verne shows each exotic animal once before hiding it again. Many studies have pointed out that the ecology of a small island would not support the number of predators necessary to avoid inbreeding. Many have also pointed 
 out the number of northern flora and fauna, claiming that this is because they were imported from “UR.” But such comments lack logic. Verne is simply mixing up all sorts, whether from the eastern or western, northern or southern hemispheres: the orang-utan and onager were no more at home in the north Pacific than the south. In Journey to the Centre of the Earth,
 indeed, Verne explicitly comments on such juxtapositions (ch. 39),
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 which extrapolate the general tendency of fiction to condense reality, but were especially prevalent in writers influenced by Romanticism.

For those seeking total authenticity, the position of the Island may also cause problems, quite apart from the surprising amount of snow and ice at 35° S. Even today, there are many Pacific islands and reefs whose existence is in doubt. Verne deliberately plays with the frontier between fact and fiction, but a further complication is in his calculation of longitude. In MI,
 the settlers use the Greenwich meridian (I, 14), but the narrator uses the Paris meridian, at least for Norfolk Island, which he places at longitude “165° 42′ E” (III, 2) whereas it is 168° 3′ from Greenwich. The difference between the Greenwich and Paris meridians is 2° 20′, or about 140 miles at this latitude.

Smith places the Mysterious Island at “34° 57′ S” and “150° 30′ W” (II, 9)—which is the site of persistent but unconfirmed reports of authentic land. Krauth reports that an “Ernest-Legouvé Reef” is situated at 35° 12′ S, 150° 40′ W, which is very close.
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 Although absent from the 1859 Admiralty Chart, the reef was recorded in “Paris notice to mariners 164/1122/1902,” and the International Hydrographic Bureau stated on 9 February 1957: “Ernest-Legouvé Reef was reported in 1902 by the captain of the French ship the Ernest-Legouvé.
 The reef was about 100 meters long and another reef was sighted near it.”

Tabor is similarly elusive. Although MI
 surprisingly omits the idea, Captain Grant’s Children
 claims that Ayrton’s home has more than one name: “Maria Theresa on British and German maps, but Tabor on French ones” (III, 21).
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 In reality, its existence and even French name are doubtful. Verne admits that it is “low … scarcely emerging from the waves … If an eruption produced it, can one not fear that an eruption might carry it away?” (III, 20). In Captain Grant’s Children
 Verne gives its coordinates as “37° 11′ S, 153° W” (III, 21); the Paris meridian is normally used by the narrator in this novel, for instance for Tristan da Cunha (II, 2) or in the maps (I, 20 
 and III, 2). Smith also states that Tabor is at “37° 11′ S, 153° W” (II, 9), but using the Greenwich meridian this time. Clearly Verne and Smith can not both be right.

Tabor/Maria Theresa’s existence was reported in three contemporary newspapers as a dangerous reef seen at 37° S, 151° 13′ W on 16 November 1843 by a Captain Asaph P. Tabor, of the Maria Theresa,
 a whaler from New Bedford, Massachusetts.
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 According to Krauth (32), who makes, however, several mistakes, the logbook of the Maria Theresa
 may read “Saw breakers.” Krauth further claims that Tabor (and therefore presumably the Mysterious Island) would be in French waters if they existed. Perhaps borrowing from Captain Tabor’s account, a Don Miller achieved great fame in the US in the 1960s by claiming to be broadcasting from a radio station on “Maria Theresa Reef,” south of Tahiti, and even published a photograph of himself “On the Rock’s [sic
 ].” However, Miller subsequently spent a decade in prison for fraud-related cases. Hugh Cassidy, discussing his escapades (WWW), claims that “A nautical chart … issued by the W. Faden Company, Oceanographers to the King [George III], in 1817 lists Maria Theresa”; the shoal also apparently appears in US Hydrographic Office chart no. 2683 (1978), together with others in the vicinity; and a minority of charts continue to indicate its existence. But unfortunately, Cassidy and Krauth’s information as to the date of the first naming can not both be true, and in any case little direct proof has ever been produced. A government scientist, Henry Stommel, sardonically points out in his book, Lost Islands
 (1984), that if Tabor did exist, it would be an independent country, and so would have immense financial worth. He seems to be correct in both his view of national limits and his skepticism about the island’s existence.

To sum up a complex situation, Verne positions Tabor 153° W of both Paris and Greenwich, whereas in real life it would be about 151° or 153° W of Greenwich. Smith seems to be wrong in his calculation of Tabor’s position, possibly by as much as four degrees. Since the Mysterious Island is positioned with reference to Tabor, this in turn means that the position of the Island can not reliably be determined.

Given that the real-life Ernest Legouvé (1807–1903) was a friend of Verne’s who promised to help satisfy his cherished ambition of joining the Académie française,
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 there may be a hidden connection somewhere. If Legouvé and Theresa reefs had a common origin, based on the misreading of a meridian, then Tabor and Lincoln would also be 
 one and the same island. Certainly, amongst all the reports and inventions, Verne seems to lose or gain two degrees so often as to appear beyond mere carelessness. Just as the missing day of Around the World
 emerges in the most surprising places, so the Mystery of the Island is a wide-ranging one.

While all of Verne’s novels, with their huge density of real-world information, have naturally generated considerable discussion of their mistakes and inconsistencies, MI
 seems more vulnerable than most. In the surprising absence of authoritative texts of the works, the following paragraphs will continue the attempt to indicate the implausibilities in MI.


Sometimes the narrator actively misleads the reader. One example is when Smith explores the shaft and erroneously concludes that it had not been “used as a staircase either recently or in the past” (II, 11).
25

 Other problems must be due to poor copy-editing. “Ten thousand francs” (I, 1) should logically be Unionist or Confederate currency. Prisoners of war were not usually “left at liberty” (I, 2—as shown also in the illustration). Smith is recorded as being “in all the battles of the Civil War” but simultaneously and implausibly “entrusted … with the management of the railroads” (I, 2). Given that the distance from Richmond to the Mysterious Island is about 6,850 miles and that the balloonists travel for 91 hours, their average speed is a remarkable 75 mph. It is strange that Harbert does not accompany Spilett and Neb in their search for Smith when he is feared dead, and does not even look very actively himself (I, 4). It is surprising that the settlers do not celebrate Christmas (the reason presumably being that France did not either). Verne refers to “the winter of 1866–67” (II, 11), but in the southern hemisphere it should simply be “the winter of 1866.” The narrator mentions “Flotsam Point” in Part I
 (I, 21), although the colonists only give it this name later (II, 2). When Smith first explores the shaft he takes “a revolver” (II, 11), but its origin is mysterious since no such weapon is listed in the contents of the chest (II, 2). The narrator refers in 1866 to “the thirty-seven stars representing the thirty-seven states of the Union” (II, 11), whereas the thirty-seventh star was added only in 1867. Throughout the book, the settlers work incredibly quickly: only five days to unload the Speedy,
 transport four huge cannons a considerable distance, recover the chains and anchors, and remove the copper plating from the hull; a few months to construct the first vessel, 110 feet long; and a matter of days to build a hydraulic 
 lift. It also seems implausible that the six settlers and the dog are unharmed by the explosion of the Island; that they manage to save the chest and provisions when the Island is crumbling beneath their feet; and even that the Duncan
 arrives just as they are dying.

More seriously, the central theme of the novel, Nemo’s actions, seems highly suspect, for many of the final explanations (III, 16) of “The Secret of the Island” do not make sense. Although only Smith’s footprints are found outside the excavation (I, 10), Nemo is meant to have rescued him from the water and taken him there. When “Top [is] thrown … by some unknown force … ten feet above the surface of the lake” (I, 16), huge power must have been used to catapult him without being seen.

Verne’s shipwreckees and castaways have an easy time of it compared with real-life stories. As Pencroff points out, the whole Mysterious Island is in fact self-consciously artificial, “created especially for people to be shipwrecked on, where … poor devils can always manage” (II, 9). The reason, of course, is again Captain Nemo, who is heavy-handedly falsifying everything from the backdrop. Nemo’s backstage meddling is indeed a direct citation from Robinson Crusoe,
 with the single line of footprints, the message in a bottle that floats by at just the right moment, and above all the chest containing every object conceivably useful to a Robinson—even a Polynesian dictionary. The captain may in fact be deliberately showing up the artifices used in the previous works. As an ironic re-reading of Robinson Crusoe,
 or rather of The Swiss Family Robinson
 ’s reading of Robinson Crusoe,
 the novel simultaneously reinforces its own narration and undermines it. By referring so insistently to its fourth-level nature, as a text reading another text which is itself reading Defoe, himself perhaps based on real events, Verne’s novel is emphasizing its own fictional status. The logical consequence is that Nemo, the Nautilus,
 and the Island will have to disappear at the end.

Of course Verne anticipates some of the reader’s objections by putting the same objections in the characters’ mouths. The novel contains its own critical commentary, making it very modern; but such an idea will not stop readers from continuing to dig out the mysteries. Some slips must be blamed on the editor’s repeated changes, making complete coherence more difficult. But many of the implausibilities may even have been deliberate. Many seem to constitute a weary defiance 
 to Hetzel’s interference, as if Verne’s heart was no longer in producing plausible solutions.

The inconsistencies are inseparable from our interpretation of the novel as a whole. As regards the closing chapters in particular, we need to reject as misconceived the Iowa episode and the implausible religious sentiments and hold on firm to Nemo’s dying “Independence!” However, such a position still leaves many important questions unanswered.

Is Smith (or Hetzel) correct to accuse Nemo of “fighting against necessary progress”? Is Nemo’s life really an “error” because it is solitary? Or does the amazing luck of sharing his remote desert island with the five settlers cancel the error? Was British colonialism in India negative? What should we do when confronted with forces we know to be wrong but irresistible? Should Christian values of forgiveness be replaced by more straightforward Old-Testament ideas? Is revenge sometimes a legitimate action, as it appears to be in both Twenty Thousand Leagues
 and MI?


The answers are complex, and my conclusion will skirt round many of them. As we have seen, the responses reside in the multiple intersections of the characters and the Island, the historical and geographical circumstances, the French literary canon and the long series of previous Robinsons, exploration and comfort, the new and the old, and the writer and the publisher.

The correspondence reveals that Verne put his heart and soul into his Robinsonades and that they represent for him the conceptual core of the Extraordinary Journeys. Yet the catastrophic fate of “UR” showed that for the publisher something was lacking, that the center could not hold. The key to the enigma may lie in what Verne calls “the search for the absolute.” The entire second half of his production suggests that Hetzel’s premonition was partly justified, for after MI
 any element of transcendence, any approach of the sacred has disappeared: “the thrill has gone.” While explanations of the discrepancy in terms of Verne’s life and historical circumstances must be relevant, the works themselves are where we must continue to look for answers.

Verne’s characters inhabit their space passionately. They seek the most economical and powerful modus operandi,
 as if carrying out a minimax factorial analysis to produce the unique best solution. But 
 to what problem? The works previous to MI
 center on exploration towards a unique goal. The heroes are able to sustain a moving equilibrium en route by balancing precariously between the inside and the outside, the present and the past. They calmly eat sea-food before venturing into the midst of the raging depths or study man’s greatest works as preparation for confronting the secret of destiny in the ruins of Atlantis or the center of the earth. Once the goal is reached, however, what Verne invariably calls the climax subsides and the heroes limp bedraggedly back home. It is in the movement towards the unknown, in other words, that the Vernian novel finds its reason for existing.


MI
 lacks the geographical goal, but compensates by incorporating the unknown into its very heart. Left to their own devices the colonists would be unable to say why they are there, where the transcendence lies. But part of the absolute quest of MI
 is in the exploration of the Robinsonade and the nature of the Island, and it is these ongoing experiences that define the happiness of the settlers. The Island is a world away from the battles of the Civil War, and from the natives of the south Pacific; hanging over it, nevertheless, is the awareness that soon there will be no mysterious bolt-holes left. Lincoln represents then the limit of the series of transcendent points on the globe and of the marvelous vehicles to get to them: an unstable island not much bigger than the monstrous vessel that forms Propeller Island
 but still not completely explorable since concealing in its subconscious, uterine bowels a semi-mechanical, semi-divine monster. The revolutionary Secret of the Island complements the bourgeois habits of the settlers.

Verne knows his classics, and the influence of Rousseau, Chateaubriand, Stendhal, Balzac, and even Zola is visible on every page of MI.
 The paradox is that he has set himself an apparently sub-literary goal: to go one better than the series of preceding Robinsons, to sum them all up but especially show them up, to synthesize their experience into one mega-Robinsonade that will start from the bottom but go higher if not faster than anything that has gone before. In his naiveté Verne forgets that the Robinsonade is not a recognized French literary genre, and so destroys his lingering chance of joining the Académie française.

The other problem in his pursuit of transcendence is the publishing contract tying him to a single partner tighter than any marriage. Verne 
 has, however, perfected a method over the previous novels: he will incorporate the problem into the solution, he will absorb the grit of the ideological, moralistic, or religious principles Hetzel dumps in, like a mollusk producing a pearl. Nemo has the settlers’ interests at heart but can not resist repeatedly writing himself into the story. He will not only absorb into himself the angst Verne feels at Hetzel’s constant suggestions, but also serve to undermine the too-perfect machine for living of the settlers.

Machine-based perfection carries within it the seeds of its own destruction, for if all goes too smoothly, there is no plot. Verne is not writing a mathematical monograph of brevity and elegance, but a serialized novel at about ten centimes a word, with nothing for the reprints, and so his characters must encounter repeated difficulties. If the ideal situation or machine emerges, someone must quickly insert a grain of sand; and Nemo and Hetzel provide enough to build a small island. Verne needs the editor’s ideas, if only as a punching-board to discover, by reaction, what he himself really feels. The solitude of the writer was never really practicable. Ultimately, then we can not separate the sum of Verne’s success from the parts of Hetzel’s suggestions.

Verne’s enduring popularity in America is built on the impressive quantities of real-world information he provides and on a naive reading of his works as adventure stories in the Anglo-Saxon mold. But this is a dangerous half-truth. Much of the information in MI
 is tedious or erroneous. It may be more useful to view the adventures as founded on an encyclopedic knowledge of the predecessors and on a systematic—European?—irony and distrust of any fixed system of meaning. Verne’s many implausibilities must be decoded as signs of the imperfectly absorbed foreign bodies, themselves incorporating the problems from the previous desert-island literature. The writer ignores his contractual obligation of producing a message encapsulated in both specific national-linguistic boundaries and the publishing conventions of the time. He follows his own literary muse in requiring a satisfying story to have its own internal logic. History has proved him right to have concentrated on the deeper meaning of his novels. The large numbers of subsequent works citing or even bodily recreating the Island
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 show that the questions he asks in MI
 are still vitally alive in the third millennium.

The real solution to the enigma in the crowning work of the Extraordinary 
 Journeys is to be found in the energetic and intelligent endeavors of Smith, Neb, Ayrton, Nemo, and Top. Verne’s belief that he has found the perfect novel is triumphantly vindicated, for the joy of generations to come.

[I would like to thank the Centre de documentation Jules Verne and Jean-Michel Margot for their help with the Bibliography, Stuart Williams for setting up the Jules Verne Society of Great Britain (26 Matlock Road, Bloxwich, Walsall, GB WS3 3QD), Arthur B. Evans for his scholarly and judicious series editorship, Sidney Kravitz for his encyclopedic knowledge of the Mysterious Island, Jean-Paul Tomasi for his devotion to things Vernian, and Angel Lui for all her love and help.]


NOTES



1
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11
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 ,” but on 11 and 13 October complains that Verne has sent his corrected galleys to the printer rather than through him. On about 15 December Verne requests “a complete set of page proofs” for Part I
 . As late as 29 September 1874, Hetzel is still suggesting substantive changes to Part III
 .


12
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 will generally be of the form (I, 14)
 , i.e. Part 1, ch. 14
 . For “UR,” however, given that only one edition has appeared to date, page numbers rather than chapter numbers are given.


13
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14
 . Translated with an Introduction and Notes by William Butcher.


15
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16
 . François Raymond, “Utopie et aventure dans l’œuvre de Jules Verne (Second volet),” BSJV
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17
 . Another hypnotism scene in Mathias Sandorf
 (1885) lists doctors specializing in mental illness, including the co-founder of modern neurology, Jean-Martin Charcot (1825–93). Charcot was renowned for his attempt to use magnets and hypnotism to find an organic cause for hysteria, for his disciple Pierre Janet’s development of the idea of the unconscious—and for interesting his student, Sigmund Freud, in the origins of neurosis.


18
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 (1971) and Marie-Hélène Huet, L’Histoire des Voyages extraordinaires
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 Verne is often pro-colonialist in his attitudes, which in any case change from book to book, sometimes from chapter to chapter.


19
 . In referring to the events of 1857, the same chapter (I, 33) refers to the “extreme precision [of M. de Valbezen] in his Nouvelles études sur les Anglais en Inde.
 ” Les Anglais et L’Inde
 by E. de Valbezen (1857) and its enlarged edition Les Anglais et L’Inde (Nouvelles études)
 (1875) praise especially the introduction of telegraph, canals, railways, and roads: “Britain shows herself truly worthy of the civilizing task that Providence has entrusted to her.”


20
 . References to books of Verne’s without separate parts are given as (ch. 3), so that any edition can be referred to.


21
 . Bernhard Krauth, “Le Récif Maria-Thérésa,” BSJV
 84 (1987): 32.


22
 . The German name is in fact “Maria-Theresia.”


23
 . Krauth, 32. Jean-Paul Faivre reports that map no. 5356 of the (French) Naval Hydrographic Office and the folding map in “Malte-Brun revised by E. Cortambert, vol. 4” (without further reference) both mark “Maria-Thérésa,” 
 apparently 153° W of Greenwich, and that no. 5356 also marks Ernest-Legouvé Reef (“Jules Verne (1828–1905) et le Pacifique,” Journal de la société des océanistes
 11 (1965): 135–47 (141)).


24
 . Gilles de Robien, Jules Verne, le rêveur incompris
 (2000), 185.


25
 . Grateful acknowledgments are recorded to Sidney Kravitz for providing many of the ideas in this paragraph. Further implausibilities and mistakes are indicated in the endnotes.


26
 . The French novelist, Georges Perec, often cites MI,
 for instance in La Vie mode d’emploi
 (1978—ch. 8). So do Raymond Roussel, in Comment j’ai écrit certains de mes livres
 (1935—ch. 2), and Umberto Eco, in Il Pendolo di Foucault
 (1988—Foucault’s Pendulum
 —ch. 84) and to a lesser degree in his L’Isola del giorno prima
 (1994—The Island of the Day Before
 ). Hergé’s L’Etoile mystérieuse
 (1946) bears many resemblances, not least the final illustration of survivors being rescued from a bare rock and the title which is L’Ile mystérieuse
 plus “eto” or, written backwards, “ôté” (taken away)! Michel Tournier’s Vendredi, ou les limbes du pacifique
 (1969) ironically re-interprets the whole genre, including MI.
 The famous science-fiction author Michel Jeury has written Les Colmateurs
 (1981) based on a parallel universe consisting of Verne’s MI.


In a different domain, the first edition alone of the game Myst,
 situated on Verne’s Mysterious Island, sold about two million copies (email dated 17 April 1996 from the publisher, Cyan, to Steven Jones, reported in his “The Book of Myst in the Late Age of Print” (WWW)).

In the July/August 2001 issue of the Atlantic Monthly
 a short story written by Mark Twain in 1876 was published for the first time. Ch. 8 (pp. 62–64) contains the ironic confessions of a criminal: “At last, in an evil hour, I fell into the hands of a M. Jules Verne, an author … He turned my simple experiences into extravagant and distorted tales … Just as we sailed [into the air] he put into my hands his distortion of my last trip—a book entitled The Mysterious Island
 ! I glanced into it—that was enough. Human nature could stand no more. I hove him out of the balloon!”

hemselves.

 
NOTE ON PREVIOUS TRANSLATIONS



The only translations of MI
 in print follow W. H. G. Kingston’s one published by Sampson Low in 1875, also available from many sites on the Internet. Much of this translation is, in my view, above average, for it provides an accurate and readable translation of most of Verne’s text, albeit in nineteenth-century English. What is unacceptable, though, is the way it changes the names (for example, “Harding” for Smith) and deletes some of the passages, such as criticism of British India or the phrase where Pencroff speaks of rewarding his crew with “a quarter liter of wine by watch!” (II, 13). It is unfair, however, to ascribe such censorship to the nationality of the author. After all, the (British and American) publishers are more likely to be guilty, and in any case passages describing the Americans as “illiterate … asses” are still deleted from present-day translations of From the Earth to the Moon
 (ch. 6), of whatever nationality.

The only other translation to date, Stephen W. White’s of 1876, with a simpler style but also more deletions, has apparently not been reprinted since, although nearly as good as Kingston’s. I. O. Evans’s 1959 Fitzroy and Lowell Bair’s 1970 Bantam editions derive directly from Kingston’s but are severely abridged versions. They thus seem to break the law in passing themselves off as authentic Verne, and have criminally contributed to Verne’s reputation in the English-speaking countries. The prize for ignoring the author’s rights, however, must go to the Bibliothèque verte edition of 1963, which cuts five-sixths of the text.

Further information about previous editions appears below, with the approximate length provided to indicate the degree of abridgement. The French text contains about 199,000 words.
1



1. The Mysterious Island
 [Dropped from the Clouds, The Abandoned, The Secret of the Island
 ] (London: Sampson Low, trans. W. H. G. Kingston, 1875)
2

 about 195,000 words—notable reprints: (a) New York: Vincent Parke (vols. 5–6), 1911 (b) New York: Scribner, 1918 (c) New York: Signet Classics, 1986.
3



2. Mysterious Island
 (Warburton, 1876 [original printing: Philadelphia: The Evening Telegraph,
 1876], trans. Stephen W. White) about 175,000 words.
4



3. 
 The Mysterious Island
 [Dropped from the Clouds, Marooned, Secret of the Island
 (in 2 vols.)] (1959, Hanison/Associated, Fitzroy Edition, trans. erroneously indicated as I. O. Evans) about 90,000 words.
5



4. The Mysterious Island
 (1970, Bantam, abridged by Lowell Bair, erroneously indicated as trans.) about 90,000 words.
6



As the present volume went to print, confirmation was received of the publication of Random House Modern Library of a new translation of MI
 by Jordan Stump, due to appear in 2002. Although omitting the majority of Verne’s illustrations, the translation itself is excellent. (The opening words are: “‘Are we rising?’ / “‘No! Quite the reverse! We’re sinking!’ / “‘Worse than that, Mr. Cyrus! We’re falling!’ / “‘For the love of God! Drop some ballast!’”) The introduction is, however, superficial, generally ignoring the genesis of MI
 and the French literary context.


NOTES



1
 . Most of the information in this section was provided by Arthur B. Evans, to whom grateful thanks are recorded.


2
 . Apparently reproducing earlier serial publication as follows: The Mysterious Island
 (1874–75, Sampson Low in St. James Magazine,
 trans. not indicated) and Mysterious Island
 (Part I
 : Wrecked in the Air;
 “Smith” rather than “Harding,” 1874–75, Scribner in Scribner’s Monthly Magazine,
 trans. not indicated).


3
 . The opening words are: “‘Are we going up again?’ / “‘No! On the Contrary—’ / “‘Are we descending?’ / “‘Worse than that, captain! we are falling.’ / “‘For Heaven’s sake heave out the ballast!’”


4
 . “‘Are we going up again?’ / “‘No. On the contrary; we are going down!’ / “‘Worse that that, Mr. Smith, we are falling!’ / “‘For God’s sake throw over all the ballast!’”


5
 . “‘Are we rising again?’ / “‘No. On the contrary.’ / “‘Are we descending?’ / “‘Worse than that, captain; we are falling!’ / “‘For heaven’s sake heave out the ballast!’”


6
 . “‘Are we rising?’ / “‘No, we’re sinking.’ / “‘It’s worse than that, Cyrus; we’re falling!’ / “‘For God’s sake, throw out some ballast!’”



 
INCEPTION OF THE NOVEL




A
 . The Manuscripts of “Uncle Robinson”

The manuscripts of “UR” and MI
 are kept in the Médiathèque in Nantes. Robin (234) states that the first of the two manuscripts (“the manuscript”) of “UR” contains twenty-four chapters, with almost no crossings-out or additions, except in chapters 20 to 24. “UR” (i.e. the second manuscript) has the same twenty-four chapters of approximately the same length, in the hand Verne used for final manuscripts, except that from the middle of chapter 18 (159) it is in Honorine Verne’s writing, without any crossings-out. The principal differences between the manuscript and “UR” are stylistic and in the names.
1



Parts of an early draft may have been written before the fateful meeting with Hetzel in September 1862. Given that the internal action of Part I
 ends on 29 December 1861, “UR” itself must have been begun in 1861 or later. Moreover the first manuscript is dated “186.,” implying that it can not have been begun before 1860. Guermonprez and Robin think it dates from 1861; Jules-Verne, about 1860, with “UR” from 1866.
2

 But the action of a three-volume work presumably covered a few years—MI
 takes four—which would mean a correspondingly later date of writing. The correspondence showed that Verne was “taking notes” in September 1865 and recopying Part I
 in May 1870. Dumas and van Herp (31) argue that the handwriting of the manuscript is similar to that of 1870.

The cover of the manuscript reads “‘UR’ / First Part” but also contains a table of calculations in pencil, with “Hetzel” followed by “8,500” and, in the following line, “5,000,” presumably francs. According to Guermonprez (“Notes,” 46), Verne’s jottings in the manuscript record that “Honorine … had brought him 60,000 FF of dowry and 50,000 in prospects”—considerable sums, and ones that have not received attention in the biographies. Both sets of jottings again support an earlier manuscript, given that the wedding took place in 1857.

“UR” begins:


 The north of the Pacific Ocean—An abandoned boat—A mother and her four children—The man at the helm—May Heaven’s will be done!—A request without a response.

The most deserted portion of the Pacific Ocean is that vast stretch of water limited by Asia and America to the west and east, and by the Aleutians and Hawaii to the north and south. Merchant vessels venture rarely on to this sea. No point for putting in is known and the currents are capricious. The ocean-going ships transporting goods from New Holland
3

 to West-America [sic
 ] remain at lower latitudes; only the commerce between Japan and San Francisco follows the route of the great circles of the globe, slightly lower. Here there accordingly exists what one can call “a desert” from the fortieth to fiftieth degree of latitude north … / Do unknown islands still exist in this sea the size of Europe? Does Micronesia
4

 stretch as far as this latitude? … In this part of the globe, two natural phenomena cause the appearance of new islands: on one hand, plutonic action which can suddenly raise a piece of land above the waves. On the other, the permanent work of Infusoria
5

 slowly creating coral-based shoals, which in a few hundred thousand years will form a sixth continent in this part of the Pacific.
6



Guermonprez (“Notes,” 38) comments that the Clifton family are not aware of their coordinates, and are generally rather apathetic. Of course they have the children to look after and fewer possessions than most desert-island characters. Nevertheless, during the same first four months the settlers of MI
 have rebuilt most of civilization.

When Belle dreams of “a fine grotto, with diamonds on the walls” (“UR,” 62), this is a reference not only to Journey to the Centre of the Earth
 but to the “salt grotto” of The Swiss Family Robinson.
 Many pointed comments are indeed made about the Robinsons’ easy life, such as: “[the] climate where the rigors of winter are not to be feared. Each day they find, almost without searching, the animal or vegetable they need. They possess arms, tools, powder, clothing; they have a cow, ewes, a donkey, a pig, and a chicken; their wrecked vessel abundantly provides them with wood, iron, and seeds of every species!” (“UR,” 137)
7



Hetzel commented on the manuscript, devastatingly and at length, as follows:
8




 The beginning lacks life, it’s slow. I think that the beginning should be a dialogue interrupted by a few lines of narration from time to time … the characters … are unformed and lifeless (fo 1); begin the description—+ on 25 March 1861 a vessel was floating on the surface of the pacific [sic
 ] which is called deserted. (fo 2); what language does he speak? (fo 3); you’ve already got a Robert in Grant? (fo 36); [Flip] has not yet shown himself to be alive, even very lively (fo 40); say it briefly (fo 68); it’s awful, my good fellow, laugh [?], and it’s not gay, this mystery of the fire. It annoys without result (fo 141); have them rub some wood! … As soon as they’ve got fire, why don’t they make tinder with clothing, a flint, his knife. Flip and the children and the other person lack improvisation, imagination, and surprises. They don’t astonish, and don’t yet interest;
9

 suppose that Flip has been to the school of Chester … and find amusing or curious things. Sixty-two pages and not an invention that the last nitwit wouldn’t have found (“UR,” 238); let them make arms: a bow, a sledgehammer, a sling and arm the children. Relate their happiness to have a house to sleep in (239); but my friend … one calculates six days by the nature and occupation of the days, and it is puerile and absolutely impossible to make believe that they don’t know after six days where they’ve got to without making them pass for cretins (239); a hedgehog doesn’t need to be knocked out … say porcupine, if not the spines won’t be any use … also it’s not good as food (240); give them a telescope lens, with the sun they can light a fire (241); have a storm set fire to the wood, the children use their ingenuity to replace the knife, they replace the blade (241); one mustn’t put them in a banal grotto. Good god imagine something else, even if you have to stick them in a tunnel, a former volcano … have them enter the grotto by water, have chance send them there, have them fall in (243); you should shove them underground, in a former volcano. Everything needs to be extraordinary, nothing needs to produce repetition (243); make twenty-five pages from these 150 … They are too slow, not one of them is alive, your characters in all your books are life itself, energy itself; here, it’s a pile of languid beings. None is alert, lively, witty. Leave all these fellows and start again with new places and fa


 B
 . The Manuscripts of The Mysterious Island


MS1 of MI
 contains only the untitled second part and the third part, and has no comments by Hetzel; but it contains many corrections in red in the right-hand margin. MS2, often similar to the printed text, contains Part I
 , headed “The Castaways from the Sky,” plus Part II
 , without a title. It has not been recorded to date that Part III
 of MS2 carries the surprising title “Cyhiet Anardill.
 ”) (or “Eghiet Anardill.
 ” No trace has been found of any of these names, although “Anardill” shares a root with “anarchist.” Moreover, it is strange that the title should be “Prince Dakkar” in MS1 (added in blue, whereas Verne usually used black) and then “Cyhiet Anardill.
 ” in MS2, since Prince Dakkar is of course the final form.


Part II
 of MS2 begins with a list in red at the top: “Cyrus Smith / Gideon Spilett / Harbert / Pencroff / Neb. / / Lincoln Island / Granite House / Rock-Funnel [in English].” Folio 81, naming the parts of the Island (MI,
 I, 11), is totally crossed out and replaced by 80bis
 and 80ter;
 fo 9, by 8bis
 and 8ter.
 In MS1 the sailor is called Cracroft until the return from Tabor (II, 15), and thereafter Pencroff; but “Cracroft
 Pencroff” in Part I
 of MS2 and “Pencroff” in Parts II
 and III
 . This implies that Part I
 of MS2 was written before
 Parts II
 and III
 of MS1. Guermonprez (“Notes,” 60) says that in MS2 Verne rubbed out Hetzel’s pencil comments; and that from fo 33 onwards the publisher’s comments are in ink, with Verne crossing them carefully out but also attaching pieces of paper to cover them up, although this practice has never been mentioned by other commentators.

Many dialogues are deleted from the first chapter of MS2, which ends: “Off we go, my friends: let’s save our leader.” In MS1 the reporter is initially a stuffy and rigid Unionist officer, perhaps Smith’s adjutant, unlike the cheerful Spilett; and he is called “Captain Robur”! Robur, meaning “oak” in Late Latin (cf. “Verne” which means “alder”), is of course the hero’s name in Verne’s The Clipper of the Clouds
 (1886) and Master of the World
 (1904). In MS2 Spilett, whose earlier name is “Nol,” “Not,” or “Nat,” admits he does not know how to swim well (fo 19); and “Smyth
 Smith”
10

 (fo 10–12) has “a thick clump of beard” (fo 8bis
 ) but no moustache, and “does not smile very often” (fo 8bis
 ). Given that he is “lean, bony, and lanky,” he may be modeled on Lincoln (although the illustrator does not see him like that).


 On fo 51 in MS2, Verne adds a variant: “Gédéon Spilett, in turn but calmly, kneeled down near Cyrus
 … Then he got up again, saying: / ‘I see full well that I will have to change my article.
 ’” The reason that it is deleted again must be the poor taste of the joke that he had thought Smith dead. On fo 70 we read “Neb, on a piece of paper which he found in the pockets of his master, wrote the word ‘Come’ with his blood and attached it to the collar of the dog.” This sentence was perhaps removed because Neb cannot easily draw his own blood.

In MS1 a couple of jaguars reluctantly retreat from the settlers. In MS2 Hetzel adds a cryptic comment that the Island has not always been uninhabited (Guermonprez, “Notes,” 60). In the inventory of items found in the chest is included “a history of British domination in India.”
11

 On fo 34, Verne crosses out a long section of Hetzel’s comments, but does not seem to have changed the text as a result.

The portrait of the settlers’ qualities (I, 13) is added in the margin of fo 90, presumably under Hetzel’s pressure. “Divine Providence” (fo 95) is replaced by “the Author of all things” (I, 4). The publisher comments that Verne has not left enough time for the settlers to complete their various tasks; Verne accordingly replaces “The third week in December” (MS2) with “The first week in January” (II, 8). Hetzel also suggests that the settlers entrust a message to a bottle or a bird, but Verne pointedly replies: “Gideon Spilett had already thought several times … of throwing into the sea a message enclosed in a bottle … But how could they seriously hope that pigeons or bottles could cross … 1200 miles …? It was pure folly.” (II, 11)

When Jup is captured, Hetzel says “why don’t you make him an ape tamed by Nemo … Very comical … things could follow on from this, like for example during their first meal … / Cyrus is flabbergasted, goes pale, and does not say another word for the rest of the meal.”

Hetzel suggests “Balloon Harbor” to replace Verne’s “Secret Harbor”; and where Verne had written in English “North Mandible Cape” and “South Mandible Cape,” he scrawls “Hell, these names are incapable of striking French ears. If they mean anything, why not translate them?” (fo 158). Guermonprez (“Notes,” 17 and 73) states that most of the place names of Lincoln Island started off with French names but have (pseudo-)English names throughout MS2: the French names published must have been re-inserted at proof stage.
12




 Guermonprez (“Notes,” 60–61) reports that, after the words “The envelope, except for the tear, was in good condition, and only its lower portion was ripped.” (fo 52—II, 5), Hetzel adds:

Nevertheless, Cyrus Smith appeared to be plunged in a deep meditation contemplating a gap in the envelope. A piece was missing which had not [been] torn away and which seemed to have been cut out by someone. The material was cleanly cut, as if a tailor’s scissors had been at work. / “It’s unbelievable,” he exclaimed, using his eyes to direct the reporter’s attention to this strange detail.

Once again Verne crosses out the addition and leaves his text unaltered, presumably since there is no reason for any sane person to perform such an action. The incident therefore illuminates the Verne-Hetzel relationship, implying that many of Nemo’s most pointless actions may have been suggested by Hetzel. One central scene in Twenty Thousand Leagues
 is very similar, and again is never explained: “The engineers then carried out an inspection of the Scotia,
 which was in dry dock. They couldn’t believe their eyes. Two and a half meters below the water-line appeared a neat hole in the form of an isosceles triangle.” (I, 1) Without going into Freudian interpretations, the neat cutting by Nemo in both novels parallels Hetzel’s cutting to a remarkable degree.

Porcq (165) quotes an important scene included only in MS1, involving Smith’s hypnotism of Ayrton:

“My friend,” he said in a firmer voice, “look at me, I want you to.”

It seemed that the eyes of the poor creature slowly fixed on him.

“Listen to me! I want you to!” the engineer then said.

The savage was apparently listening. He seemed to be under the influence of Cyrus Smith as a hypnotized person is in the power of his hypnotizer.

Everyone was breathing heavily.

“Understand me,” Cyrus Smith said at last.

He held the two hands of the savage. He was squeezing them with force. It looked as though he was transfusing his soul and his intelligence into him, and the other looked at him now, he listened to him, he wanted to understand him. His lips moved, they began to stutter …

“Speak, speak!” exclaimed Cyrus Smith.


 Several moments passed. The savage’s lips were little by little re-finding that faculty of articulating words to which they were no longer accustomed, and finally these words escaped:

“Tabor, Tabor!”

His first words were for that deserted island [where] his reason had disappeared. (II, 16)

The reason this powerful and dramatic scene was cut might be the echo of Christ’s healing but also the sexual undertones between the two men, including the transfer of fluid implied by the “transfusing.”

In MS2, a personal description of Dakkar in Stendhalian terms appears, and we may again very much regret its deletion:

Eghiet Anardill, who was intelligent … / had traveled to all the courts of Europe. His birth and fortune made him sought after, but the temptations of the world, so pretentious and at the same time so empty, never had any attraction for him. Young at that time and handsome, with all the charm adorning Byron’s immortal characters, he remained serious and gloomy, devoured by an implacable hatred riveted to his heart. / Eghiet Anardill hated. He hated the only country where he had never wished to set foot, the only people whose overtures he refused. He hated Britain.
13

 (quoted by Martin, 148)

In a series of articles, Dumas has emphasized the variants of the ending visible in the manuscripts of MI,
 although presenting only disappointingly brief extracts, and omitting to indicate whether he is citing MS1 or MS2:

A single souvenir will remain to you of the Prince Dakkar whose history you now know. A pearl is there, behind that pane. This pearl, the biggest in the world, I left to grow for twenty years in the Tridacna which produced it, at the end of a submarine grotto in the Ocean. It is worth more than ten million. It is yours. (fo 145)

In the published version the pearl is replaced by a coffer of diamonds, an inappropriate gift from a libertarian disdaining material values and one that removes an elegant link with Twenty Thousand Leagues
 (II, 3).

Nemo’s death was originally different: “Finally, a little after midnight, he made a last movement and, not without difficulty, succeeded in crossing his arms on his breast, as if he wanted to die in this 
 attitude.” The following paragraph is identical apart from the published “Then, murmuring these words: ‘God and country!’ he quietly expired.” (III, 17) being originally “Then, murmuring this word: ‘Independence!’ he quietly expired.” (fo 149)

In the manuscript we read “Cyrus Smith then leaned over and closed the eyes of Prince Dakkar, that great patriot who was Captain Nemo.” In other words, the inappropriate religious sentiments, including “May God receive his soul!” must be Hetzel’s rather than Verne’s. The moralistic and judgmental speech of Cyrus Smith and the idea of prayer are also absent from the manuscript:

“Do you think me a criminal?” / Cyrus Smith took the captain’s hand, and, on his request, he replied only in these words: / “God will judge you, Prince Dakkar. As for us, we are under an obligation to Captain Nemo, and those under an obligation do not judge their benefactor!” (fo 143)

The closing scene is also different:

A fortnight later, the settlers disembarked in America; Ayrton, their courageous and honest companion, wished to stay with them. And never would they forget that Lincoln Island, on which they had arrived poor and naked, which their knowledge and intelligence of all things had civilized, which, transformed by them, had satisfied their needs for four years, and of which there now remained only a piece of granite, the isolated resting-place of Captain Nemo, buried with it at the bottom of the seas! (fo 175)

This sober passage marks the end of the novel.

If there is a thread running though Hetzel’s ideas, it is that he keeps wishing to change Nemo’s behavior in strange ways—and thus shows that he has no comprehension of him at all. Verne’s view of the repeated attacks over several years on his most cherished character must, one imagines, have been comparable to Cyrus Smith’s flabbergasted reaction.


C
 . Publication of The Mysterious Island


The first page-proofs of Part I
 were ready on 26 September 1873. L’Ile mystérieuse
 was published in installments in the MER
 from no. 217 of 
 Vol. 19 (1 January 1874) to no. 264 of Vol. 22 (15 December 1875). In no. 217, the subtitle “The Castaways from the Sky” was omitted and the text was preceded by Hetzel’s “A Few Words to the Readers of MI
 ” (reproduced on pp. xlvii–xlviii). In volume form the first part was published on 10 or 12 September 1874, the second on 12 April 1875, and the third on 28 October 1875. As was usual, the single large in-octavo volume appeared later, on 22 November 1875, “illustrated with 154 drawings by Férat.”

The serial publication in the MER
 contains one rather ugly engraving that has never been reprinted, of a large waterfall descending to the sea from a rock above the level of the surrounding cliffs (I, 22, p. 134). It also includes a phrase missing from the book editions, “and you fought against the present,” after the word “past” in Smith’s (Hetzel-imposed) judgment of Nemo: “Captain, your error was in believing that you could bring back the past” (II, 16). The chapter headings are also sometimes shorter: for instance “The Torn Envelope—Nothing but the Sea in Sight” (I, 1) is omitted. All the captions to the illustrations are missing. Since the grouping of the chapters influences the structure of the novel, with each serial ending persuading the reader to purchase the next issue, it is interesting to note that most chapters appear singly, except for the following pairs: Part I chs 2
 and 3
 , 9
 and 10
 , 16
 and 17
 , 18
 and 19
 , 20
 and 21
 , Part II chs 4
 and 5
 , 9
 and 10
 , 17
 and 18
 , 19
 and 20
 , and Part III chs 3
 and 4
 . More generally, the list of contributors to the MER
 in 1874–75 is a regular Vernian roll-call, including P.-J. Stahl, of course, but also Ernest Legouvé, Margollé and Zurcher, Eugène Muller, E. Reclus, and H. Sainte-Claire Deville. It also contains a story by a M. Maréchal called “Le Secret d’Elie,” so close to the title of Verne’s Part III
 , “Le Secret de l’île” (“The Secret of the Island”) as to have to be its origin.

The word “rrhyomes” in the first grand-octavo edition of MI
 (II, 7, p. 270) is a misprint for “rhizomes.” The words “… was found to be 10°. Consequently, the total angular distance between the pole and the horizon …” (“était de dix degrés. Dès lors la distance angulaire totale entre le pôle et l’horizon”—I, 14) were absent from the serial and first editions, but appear in subsequent editions.


NOTES



1
 . The crewman Bob Gordon (a Scottish name) in “UR” was initially Bob Lander (Richard Lander (1804–34) was a famous explorer of Africa) or Bob Lanver: 
 the name Bob is possibly drawn from Cooper’s Bob (see above) and may give rise to Bob in P.-J. Stahl (Hetzel), Histoire de la famille Chester et de deux petits orphelins
 (1873—Gallica) and Bob Harvey, the pirate in MI.



2
 . Jean Guermonprez, “Une Œuvre inconnue de Jules Verne,” Livres de France,
 6.5 (1955): 9–10 (9); Christian Robin, ed., Un Editeur et son siècle
 (1988), 132–35, 331–60 (333); Jules-Verne, 201.


3
 . Australia. [JV]


4
 . Archipelagoes situated in the northwest of the Pacific. [JV]


5
 . Microscopic unicellular animals. [JV]


6
 . The manuscript contains similar information, but in different form (Charles-Noël Martin, “L’Oncle Robinson
 et L’Ile mystérieuse
 d’après leurs manuscrits,” BSJV
 60: 145–51 (148)):

A little frequented portion of the Pacific Ocean is that which extends over the northern hemisphere between on the one hand America and Asia, and on the other Hawaii and the Aleutian Islands. Here there exists a vast stretch of sea frequented by few merchant vessels; no point for putting in is known; in addition it is not the route of the ocean-going ships that carry produce from New Holland to west America [sic
 ], and commerce is rather infrequent between Japan and California.


7
 . Robin (“Postface,” 232) considers that there may be an influence from Rousseau’s Rêveries
 or Confessions,
 with references to natural philosophy (195), “fine views” of nature (71), “secret consolations” of “suffering souls” (71), active pedagogy, the open air developing body and brain, and the need to take from nature only what is needed (159), together with lessons in geography, mineralogy, zoology, and botany, with a huge variety of plants and trees. The children learn to recognize the plants used to make common household items, again like Rousseau. However Rousseau was highly influenced by Robinson Crusoe,
 so Verne may simply be echoing Defoe directly.


8
 . Christian Robin, “Extraits,” in Christian Robin, ed., Un Editeur et son siècle,
 343–59 (343). Complementary information appears in Hetzel’s letter of 21 July 1870.


9
 . Claudine Sainlot, Christian Robin, and Jacques Davy, “Notes,” in L’Oncle Robinson,
 235–45 (238). Hetzel’s following reference to “Chester” is presumably encouraging Verne to imitate his own Histoire de la famille Chester et de deux petits orphelins
 (1873)—an irony when we consider the posterity of the two authors.


10
 . By an interesting parallel indicating the source of the name, “Smith” without further identification in Twenty Thousand Leagues
 (II, 7) means Rear Admiral William Henry Smyth, author of The Mediterranean
 (1854).


11
 . “1 [une] histoire de la domination anglaise aux Indes”: while this may be a title, the book can not be identified, unless it is simply Valbezen’s.


12
 . In the following list, each locality has four forms: the initial French name, the English name used by Verne in MS2, the final French name, and the name used in this translation:



 •    creek Yowa [sic
 ], Red creek, Creek-Rouge, Red Creek

•    Lac Ontario, Heart lake, lac Grant, Lake Grant

•    Bois Caroline du Nord, Bois d’Arkansas, bois du Jacamar, Jacamar Woods

•    Forêts du far West, — , Forêts du Far-West, Forests of the Far West

•    Baie de l’union, Union Bay, Baie de l’Union, Union Bay

•    Baie Washington, Washington Bay, Baie Washington, Washington Bay

•    Mount Franklin, Franklin-Mount, Mont Franklin, Mount Franklin

•    — , Serpentine Peninsula, presqu’île Serpentine, Serpentine Peninsula

•    Promontoire Massachusetts, — , promontoire du Reptile (Reptile-end), Reptile End

•    cap New Jersey (previously Halifax), — , cap Mandibule (Mandible-cape), Mandible Cape

•    Cap Vineyard, — , Cap de la Griffe (Claw-cape)/le cap Griffe, Cape Claw

•    Rivière Delaware, Mercy River, la Mercy, the Mercy

•    Ilot Grant, — , îlot du Salut (Safety-island), Safety Island

•    — , East Land, Plateau de grande-vue, Grand View Plateau

•    Marais Kentucky, Ducks Fenn, Marais des tadornes, Tadorn Marsh

•    Rock House, Rock-funnel, Les cheminées, the Chimneys.



Massachusetts, New Jersey, and “Vineyard” are presumably included in the initial list as the homes of Smith, Harbert, and Pencroff. The following manuscript names are absent from the book: canal du Maine, dunes d’Albany, Cap Gédéon, and baie Vermont.


13
 . From the manuscripts and correspondence of Twenty Thousand Leagues,
 we know that Nemo’s hatred was originally that of a Polish count against the Russians who had destroyed his country and raped his daughters, but Hetzel censored this for political reasons.

cts (242).

 
PREFACES TO THE MYSTERIOUS ISLAND, TWO YEARS VACATION
 , AND SECOND HOMELAND





A
 . A Few Words to the Readers of The Mysterious Island
 
1



Who has not read and reread Robinson Crusoe
 and The Swiss Family Robinson
 with passion at the different ages of his life? … No one better than M. J. Verne had more right to say to himself that between these two works … there still had to be room for a truly original and new work on the subject of “the individual separated from his fellows” …

Would a contemporary Robinson, a Robinson in touch with the progress of science today need to demand from his author’s imagination ways to overcome the difficulties of his position? Thanks to modern progress, would he not find in himself, would he not bring to him the resources that at every instant Defoe and Wyss are obliged to demand on his behalf from all those strokes of miraculous fortune, which will not completely fool even the kindliest of readers? …

“Well,” M. Verne said to himself, “why should I not show either a man of our time or a group of men, faced with real nature and not with a generous Eden, fighting against realities and triumphing, not through strokes of luck, but thanks to the resources they find in their acquired knowledge, in the practice of science?” …

The heroes of M. Jules Verne’s MI
 have nothing but their brains. But science multiplies their strength a hundredfold. Their arms and their ten fingers, guided by practical ideas of every sort, will soon provide them with not only necessities but, should they so desire, luxuries.

The aim of M. Jules Verne’s new work, one of the most considerable he has attempted, will therefore be achieved if he succeeds in demonstrating that science is not only useful to man in society, but indispensable even to an isolated man, a man alone, and that it necessarily shortens his trials and sooner or later restores to him the well-being he has lost …

It emerges from M. Verne’s book that the man who despairs neither of God nor himself, that the individual, however separated from human help he is imagined to be, can in any place and in all 
 circumstances overcome fortune and nature provided he is educated, hard-working, and intelligent.

There is no need to add that the progress of the action in which the heroes of MI
 move contains the thousand practical lessons implied when such a subject is treated by such a writer.

J. Hetzel


B
 . Preface to Two Years Vacation
 
2



Many Robinsons
 have already aroused the curiosity of our young readers. Daniel Defoe, in his immortal Robinson Crusoe,
 presented a man alone; Wyss, in The Swiss Family Robinson,
 the family; Cooper, in The Crater,
 society with its many different elements. In MI,
 I confronted scholars or scientists [“savants”] with the necessities of this situation. People have further imagined the Robinson de douze ans,
 the Robinson des glaces,
 the Robinson des jeunes filles,
 
3

 etc. In spite of the infinite number of novels composing the series of Robinsons, it seemed to me that, in order to close the series, it remained to show a band of children of eight to thirteen years old, abandoned on an island, fighting for their lives in the midst of passions generated by differences in nationality—in short, a school for Robinsons.

In addition, in The Boy Captain,
 I undertook to show what a child’s courage and intelligence can achieve when faced with the perils and difficulties of a responsibility above his age. Now I considered that, if the teaching contained in that book was perhaps profitable to all, it needed to be completed.

It is with these twin aims that the new work has been written.

Jules Verne


C
 . Preface—Why I Wrote Second Homeland
 
4



The Robinsons
 were the books of my childhood, and I still retain an indelible memory of them … It is clear that my taste for this sort of adventure instinctively engaged me on the path I was later to take. This is what led me to write The School for Robinsons, MI,
 and Two Years Vacation,
 whose heroes are close relatives of Defoe’s and Wyss’s …

These titles … were Le Robinson de douze ans
 by Mme Mollar [sic
 
 for Mallès] de Beaulieu and Le Robinson des sables du désert
 by Mme de Mirval. There were also of the same kind Les Aventures de Robert Robert
 by Louis Desnoyers, published in the Journal des enfants
 with so many other stories that I will never forget. Then came Robinson Crusoe,
 that masterpiece which is, however, only one episode in the long and tedious tale by Daniel Defoe. Finally, The Crater
 by Fenimore Cooper could only increase my passion for the heroes of the unknown islands of the Atlantic and Pacific …

If Mme de Montolieu was not the only person to translate The Swiss Family Robinson,
 she is also not the only one to have given it a sequel, since I have attempted to do so, under the title Second Homeland.


In addition, Hetzel and Co. published a new translation of this story in 1861 due to the collaboration of P.-J. Stahl and E. Muller, who revised it and gave it a more modern style and contents. Strictly speaking, it is from this edition, revised also from the scientific point of view, that Second Homeland
 follows on …

And then, by dint of dreaming … a phenomenon occurred: I came to believe that this New Switzerland really existed, that it was an authentic island situated in the northeast of the Indian Ocean …

Jules Verne


NOTES



1
 . Published only in the MER,
 vol. 19, first semester 1874, 1–2.


2
 . Published in the first illustrated edition of Two Years Vacation
 (1888).


3
 . Mme Mallès de Beaulieu (?-1825), Le Robinson de douze ans
 (1818). Ernest Fouinet, Robinson des glaces
 (1835—Gallica); Hetzel (using a draft by Verne) wrote in MER
 (March 1865, 2, 375) about Adventures of Captain Hatteras:
 “[the last part] could have been called the Robinson des glaces
 ”; however, Fouinet’s novel shows few similarities to Verne’s works. Catherine-Thérèse Rieder Woillez, Emma, ou Le Robinson des demoiselles



4
 . Published only in the first illustrated edition of Second Homeland
 (1900).

(1834/5).
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CHAPTER I




“
 
A

 re we rising again?”

“No! On the contrary! We’re going down!”

“Worse than that, Mr. Cyrus!
1

 We’re falling!”

“For God’s sake, throw out the ballast!”

“There! The last sack is empty!”

“Is the balloon going up now?”
2



“No!”

“I hear the splashing of waves!”

“The sea is under the basket!”

“It can’t be more than five hundred feet below us!”

Then a powerful, booming voice cut through the air:

“Throw everything overboard! … Everything! We are in God’s hands!”

Those were the words that resounded in the sky over the vast watery desert of the Pacific about four o’clock in the evening of March 23, 1865.

No one can forget the terrible northeast storm that erupted during the equinox of that year. The barometer fell to 710 millimeters. It was a storm that lasted from March 18 to 26 with no letup. It ravaged America, Europe, and Asia over a broad zone of 1800 miles along a line intersecting the equator, from the 35th north parallel to the 40th south parallel. Towns were knocked flat, forests uprooted, and shores devastated by tidal waves. Weather bureaus counted hundreds of ships beached along the coast. Entire territories were leveled by the waterspouts which pulverized everything in their path. Several thousand people were crushed on land or swallowed up by the sea. Such were the marks of fury this horrific storm left in its wake. It surpassed the disasters which had so frightfully ravaged Havana and Guadeloupe, one on October 25, 1810 and the other on July 26, 1825.

At this very moment when so many catastrophes were occurring on land and sea, a drama no less gripping was taking place in the stormy skies.

A balloon, carried like a ball at the top of a waterspout, was traveling 
 through space with a velocity of 90 miles per hour,*
 turning around as if it had been seized by an aerial whirlpool.

A basket swung back and forth below the balloon with five passengers inside, barely visible in the thick fog.

Where did this plaything of the terrible storm come from? From which point on the earth’s surface did it arise? Evidently it could not have lifted off during the storm which had already lasted for five days, the first symptoms having been felt on the 18th. In the last 24 hours alone, the balloon had traveled more than 2000 miles.

The passengers had no way of knowing where they were because there were no points of reference. It was a curious fact that they had not suffered from the storm’s violence. They were carried along, spinning round and round, without having any sense of this rotation or of their horizontal movement.
3

 Their eyes could not pierce the thick fog. Everything was obscured. They could not even say if it was day or night. No reflection of light, no noise, no bellowing of the ocean could reach them so long as they remained at higher altitudes.
4

 Their rapid descent alone alerted them to the dangers they faced.

Relieved of heavy objects such as munitions, arms, and provisions, the balloon now rose to a height of 4500 feet. Realizing that the dangers from above were less formidable than those from below, the passengers did not hesitate to throw overboard even the most useful objects as they tried to lose no more of this gas, the soul of their apparatus, which kept them above the abyss.

Night passed with anxieties that would have killed weaker people. From the beginning of March 24, the storm seemed to moderate. At dawn, the clouds rose higher in the sky, and after several hours, the waterspout broke up. The wind, no longer a hurricane, changed to a brisk breeze. It was still what sailors would call “a three-reef breeze,” but it was nevertheless an improvement.

About eleven o’clock, the atmosphere became noticeably clearer and the air exuded a damp clarity that is seen and even felt after the passage of such strong weather disturbances. It did not appear that the storm had gone farther westward but had simply died out on its own, perhaps dispersed into electric strata after the breakup of its 
 waterspout, as sometimes occurs with the typhoons of the Indian Ocean.

But it was again evident that the balloon was slowly but constantly falling. It was deflating little by little, and its envelope was elongating and distending, changing from a spherical shape t

About noon, the balloon hovered no more than 2000 feet above the sea. It contained 50,000 cubic feet of gas*
 and, thanks to this capacity, it had been able to remain in the air for a long time. The passengers now threw overboard the last objects that still weighed them down, several provisions they had kept, everything, even the small knick-knacks in their pockets. Helping each other, they hoisted themselves onto the ring where the ropes were attached, all the while searching for solid ground below.

It was obvious that the passengers could not keep the balloon aloft much longer. Too much gas had escaped.

They were going to die!

There was no continent, not even an island, beneath them—no place to land, no firm surface they could touch down on. There was only an immense ocean whose waves still churned with incomparable violence. It was an ocean without visible limits, even though they could see over a radius of forty miles from their height. It was a liquid plain, battered by the storm without mercy. No land in sight, not even a ship.

They had to keep the balloon, at any price, from dropping into the waves. But, despite their best efforts, the balloon kept falling, sometimes rapidly, while being carried along by the wind from northeast to southwest.

It was a terrible situation for these unfortunate men. They were no longer masters of the balloon. Their efforts had no effect. The envelope of the balloon was stretching more and more. The gas continued to escape, and they could do nothing to keep it in. Their descent was now visibly accelerating and, at one o’clock in the afternoon, the balloon was no more than 600 feet above the ocean.

By throwing out everything in the basket, the passengers were able to keep it in the air for several more hours, but the inevitable catastrophe could not be avoided. If land did not appear before nightfall, the 
 passengers, their basket, and the balloon would no doubt disappear beneath the waves.

They now executed the only maneuver still left to them. These were energetic men who knew how to look death square in the face. Not a single murmur escaped their lips. They would struggle to the last second and do everything they could to delay their fall. The basket was only a wicker box, not intended for floating, and there was no possibility of keeping it afloat on the surface of the sea.

At two o’clock the balloon was scarcely 400 feet above the waves.

At this moment, the voice of a man whose heart knew no fear was heard. Other voices, no less energetic, answered.

“Has everything been thrown out?”

“No! We still have ten thousand francs in gold!”

A weighty sack fell at once into the sea.

“Is the balloon rising now?”

“A little, but it won’t be long before it falls again!”

“Is there anything left to throw out?”

“No!”

“Yes! … the basket!”

“Let’s hang on to the ropes and drop the basket into the sea!”

It was the only way to make the balloon lighter. The cords which connected the basket to the ring were slashed, and the balloon rose to 2000 feet. The five passengers hoisted themselves onto the ropes above the ring and, holding on to the balloon’s rigging, they looked down at the abyss below them. The aerostatic sensitivity of balloons is well known and throwing out the lightest objects suffices to induce an immediate vertical rise. The apparatus, floating in the air, behaves like a highly accurate set of scales. When a weight is removed, its displacement is significant and instantaneous. So it was on this occasion.

But after maintaining its equilibrium for an instant at a higher altitude, the balloon soon began to fall again. The gas was escaping through a tear that was impossible to repair.

The passengers had done all that they could do. No human means could save them now. They could no longer count on any help, save from God.

At four o’clock, the balloon was no more than 500 feet above the water.

A bark was heard. A dog accompanying the passengers hung on to the rigging near his master.


 “Top has seen something!” shouted one of the passengers.

Then suddenly a strong voice shouted out:

“Land! Land!”

The balloon, which the wind had been carrying toward the southwest, had covered hundreds of miles since dawn, and a rather elevated land mass had appeared on the horizon in that direction.

But the land was still more than 30 miles windward. More than a full hour was needed to reach it, assuming they did not deviate from their path. One hour! Wouldn’t the balloon have lost all its gas before then?

This was the crucial question. The passengers could distinctly see this point of land that they had to reach at all costs. They did not know what it was, island or continent, because they were unaware of exactly where the storm had driven them. But they knew that they had to reach this land, inhabited or not, hospitable or not.

At four o’clock, it was obvious that the balloon could no longer stay aloft. It grazed the surface of the sea. Several times already the crests of enormous waves licked the bottom of the ropes making it still heavier. Like a bird with a wounded wing, the balloon could barely remain airborne.

A half hour later, land was only a mile away. But the balloon, now exhausted, flabby, distended, and creased with large wrinkles, had no more gas except in its uppermost canopy. The passengers, holding on to the rigging, were just too heavy for it. And soon, as it half immersed itself into the sea, they began to be battered by strong waves. The casing of the balloon made an air pocket which the wind pushed like a vessel. Perhaps they could reach the coast in this manner?

When they were only 1000 feet away, four men simultaneously cried out. The balloon, which seemed as though it would never rise again, made an unexpected bound after being struck by a large wave. As if it had lost another of its weights, it suddenly rose to a height of 1500 feet. It was swept up into a wind pocket which, instead of bringing it directly to the coast, forced it to move in an almost parallel direction. Finally, two minutes later, it approached the coast obliquely, then dropped down on the shore out of reach of the waves.

The passengers, helping one another, managed to untangle themselves from the balloon’s rigging. The balloon, now relieved of their weight, lurched upward into the wind. And, like a wounded bird that revives for a moment, it soon disappeared into the sky.
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 The balloon fell onto the shore.





 The basket had contained five passengers and a dog, but only four were dropped onto the shore.

The missing passenger had evidently been swept away by the wave that struck the deflated balloon, an event that allowed the lightened balloon to rise one last time and, a few moments later, to finally reach land.

The four castaways—we will call them by this name—had scarcely set foot on shore when, thinking of the one who was missing, they began to shout:

“Perhaps he’s trying to swim. Let’s save him! Let’s save him!”
5




*
 In other words, 46 meters per second or 166 kilometers per hour (nearly 42 leagues of 4 kilometers).


*
 Around 1,700 cubic meters.



CHAPTER II





T

 hose whom the storm had thrown onto this coast were neither professional nor even amateur aeronauts. They were prisoners of war,
1

 whose audacity had induced them to escape under these extraordinary circumstances. A hundred times they should have perished! A hundred times their torn balloon should have fallen into the abyss! But Heaven had reserved a strange destiny for them. On March 24, after having fled Richmond which was under siege by the troops of General Ulysses Grant,
2

 they found themselves 7000 miles from the capitol of Virginia, the principal stronghold of the rebels during the dreadful Civil War. Their aerial journey had lasted five days.

These are the curious circumstances which led to the prisoners’ escape:

That same year, in the month of February 1865, during one of those bold maneuvers by which General Grant tried unsuccessfully to capture Richmond, some of his officers fell into enemy hands and were interned within the city. One of the most distinguished of those taken was a Union staff officer named Cyrus Smith.
3



Cyrus Smith, a native of Massachusetts, was an engineer and a scientist of the first rank. During the war, the Union government entrusted him with the management of the railroads which were strategically important at that time. A true Northerner, he was lean, rawboned, and about 45 years of age. His close-cut hair was already beginning 
 to show streaks of gray, and his thick moustache as well. He had one of those handsome “numismatic” heads that seemed made to be stamped on medallions, with fiery eyes, a thin-lipped mouth, and the physiognomy of an experienced military scientist. He was one of those engineers who want to begin by handling the hammer and pick, like those generals who wish to begin as simple soldiers. In addition to his inventive genius, he also possessed unmatched manual dexterity, and his muscles were remarkably well developed. Truly a man of action as well as a man of thought, he moved effortlessly with a vitality and steadfast persistence that defied all misfortune. Very educated, practical, and resourceful, he had a superb temperament, always remaining master of himself whatever the circumstances. He had in large measure those three characteristics whose combination defines human energy: activity of mind and body, boldness of desire, and power of will. His motto could have been that of William of Orange of the 17th Century: “I have no need of hope to take action, nor of success to persevere.”
4



Cyrus Smith was also courage personified. He had been in all the battles of the Civil War. After serving under Ulysses Grant with the volunteers of Illinois, he fought at Paducah, at Belmont, at Pittsburgh Landing, at the siege of Corinth, at Port Gibson, at Black River, at Chattanooga, at Wilderness,
5

 and on the Potomac, everywhere and valiantly, a soldier worthy of the general who said “I never count my dead!” And, a hundred times, Cyrus Smith should have been among those not counted by the fierce Grant. But in all those combats, although he never spared himself, fortune always favored him, until the moment when he was wounded and captured on the Richmond battlefield.

On that same day, another important personage fell into Southern hands. It was none other than the honorable Gideon Spilett,
6

 “reporter” for the New York Herald,
 who had been assigned to follow the fortunes of this war among the armies of the North.

Gideon Spilett was of that race of astonishing British or American reporters, such as Stanley
7

 and others, who stop at nothing in order to obtain exact information and to transmit it to their newspaper as soon as possible. The newspapers of the Union, such as the New York Herald,
 are very influential and their reporters are highly respected. Gideon Spilett belonged in the first rank of these reporters.

A man of great merit, energetic, prompt and ready for anything, 
 full of ideas, having traveled the entire world, soldier and artist, rash in council, resolute in action, acknowledging neither pain nor fatigue nor danger when gathering news for himself first and then for his newspaper, a true hero of the curious, the unpublishable, the unknown, and the impossible, he was one of those intrepid observers 
 who writes as bullets fly, always in the line of fire, for whom peril is good fortune.
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Gideon Spilett




He too had been in all the battles, on the front lines, revolver in one hand, notebook in the other. Grapeshot did not make him tremble. He did not burden the telegraph wires incessantly, like those who speak when they have nothing to say; but each of his notes, short, candid and clear, brought light to bear on an important point. Further, he did not lack a certain sense of humor. It was he who, after the affair of Black River, wishing at any price to keep his place at the window of the telegraph office in order to announce to his newspaper the result of the battle, telegraphed the first chapters of the Bible for two hours.
8

 It cost the New York Herald
 $2000, but the New York Herald
 was the first to publish.

Gideon Spilett was tall, forty years old, and light red side whiskers framed his face. His eyes were calm, quick, and rapid in their movements, the eyes of a man accustomed to taking in rapidly all the details of a scene. Of solid frame, he was tempered in all climates like a bar of steel in ice water.

For ten years, Gideon Spilett had been an official reporter for the New York Herald
 which he enriched with his articles and his drawings because he was as skilled with the pencil as with the pen. When he was captured, he was in the act of describing and sketching the battle and the last words written in his notebook were these: “A Southerner is taking aim at me and …” The shot missed its mark and, following his usual luck, Gideon Spilett came out of the affair without a scratch.

Cyrus Smith and Gideon Spilett, who did not know each other except by reputation, were both taken to Richmond. The engineer rapidly recovered from his wound, and during his convalescence he made the acquaintance of the reporter. These two men liked one another at first sight and learned to appreciate each other. Soon their common life had only one goal: to escape, rejoin Grant’s army, and, once in its ranks again, to fight for the preservation of the federal Union.

The two Americans decided to take advantage of any occasion that arose; but, although they had been left at liberty within the city, Richmond itself was so closely guarded that an escape was impossible.

At this time, Cyrus Smith was joined by his servant who was devoted to him in life and in death. This fearless person was a Negro born of slave parents into the engineer’s estate. But Cyrus Smith, who 
 was an abolitionist by conviction as well as from the heart, had long since emancipated him. The slave, on becoming free, did not wish to leave his master. He would have willingly given up his life for him. He was thirty years old, vigorous, agile, skillful, intelligent, gentle and calm, naive at times, always smiling, helpful and kind. He was named Nebuchadnezzar,
9

 but he answered only to the abbreviated nickname of Neb.

When Neb learned that his master had been made prisoner, he left Massachusetts without hesitation, arrived in Richmond, and, with shrewdness and guile, after having risked his life twenty times, he succeeded in penetrating the besieged city. Cyrus Smith’s pleasure in seeing his servant again and Neb’s joy on finding his master cannot be expressed.

But if Neb was able to get into Richmond, it was much more troublesome to get out because the Federal prisoners were closely guarded. It would take an extraordinary turn of events before they could attempt an escape with any chance of success. This opportunity not only did not present itself, but it was also difficult to make happen.

Meanwhile, Grant continued his energetic maneuvers. The victory at Petersburg had been very dearly fought.
10

 His forces, united with those of Butler,
11

 could still not gain a decisive victory at Richmond, so the release of the prisoners was not at hand. The reporter, who found his captivity tedious, could not find a single detail worth noting and could no longer endure it. He had but one idea: to leave Richmond at any cost. Several times he attempted to escape, but was stopped by insurmountable obstacles.

Still the siege continued. If the prisoners were in a hurry to escape to rejoin Grant’s army, some of the besieged were no less in a hurry to flee in order to rejoin the rebel army, among them a certain Jonathan Forster,
12

 a dyed-in-the-wool Southerner. In fact, if the Federal prisoners could not leave the city, neither could the Confederates because the Northern army surrounded it. The governor of Richmond had not been able to communicate with General Lee
13

 for some time. It was of utmost importance to make the city’s situation known in order to hasten the march of the relief army. This Jonathan Forster had the idea of crossing above the lines of the besiegers in a balloon, to reach the Confederate camp in that way.
14



The governor authorized the attempt. A balloon was fabricated 
 and placed at the disposal of Jonathan Forster and five of his companions who would follow him into the skies. It was furnished with weapons and ammunition in case they had to defend themselves on landing, and with provisions in case their aerial voyage was prolonged.

The departure of the balloon was fixed for the 18th of March. It would take place during the night and, with a moderate northwest wind, the aeronauts could count on arriving at General Lee’s headquarters in a few hours.

But this northwest wind was not a mere breeze. From the 18th on, they could see that it was turning into a storm. Soon the storm became so strong that Forster’s departure had to be postponed because of the impossible risk, in such violent conditions, to both the balloon and to the men it would carry.

The balloon, inflated in the main square of Richmond, remained there ready to leave at the first calming of the wind. Impatience grew as the storm refused to die down. The 18th and the 19th passed without any change. It even proved difficult to keep the balloon intact because gusts of wind continually threw it to the ground.

The nights of the 19th and the 20th went by. The following morning, the fury of the storm increased. Departure was impossible.

On that day the engineer, Cyrus Smith, was approached in one of the streets of Richmond by a man he did not know. It was a sailor named Pencroff,
15

 between thirty five and forty years old, with a stocky build, very suntanned, sharp and blinking eyes, but with a kind face. This Pencroff was a Northerner who had crossed all the seas of the globe and who had experienced all the adventures that could befall a being with two feet and no feathers. Needless to say, he had an enterprising nature, ready to venture anything and was surprised at nothing. Pencroff came to Richmond at the beginning of the year on business with a fifteen year old boy, Harbert Brown
16

 of New Jersey, the son of his captain, an orphan whom he loved like his own child. Not being able to leave the city before the beginnings of the siege, he found himself confined there to his great displeasure. He too had but one idea, to escape by all means possible. He knew of Cyrus Smith’s reputation, and he knew how impatient this determined man was to break free. On this day, he therefore did not hesitate to approach him saying without thinking:

“Mr. Smith, have you had enough of Richmond?”
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 “Mr. Smith, would you like to escape?”




The engineer stared at the man who spoke to him in this way, who added in a low voice:

“Mr. Smith, would you like to escape?”

“When?” the engineer replied briskly. This response burst from him before he could examine the person speaking to him.


 But after giving the sailor a penetrating look, he did not doubt that he had an honest man before him.

“Who are you?” he asked briefly.

Pencroff introduced himself.

“Good,” replied Cyrus Smith, “and how do you propose to escape?”

“By that lazy balloon which lies there doing nothing and which seems to be waiting just for us …”

The sailor had no need to finish his sentence. The engineer understood from the first word. He seized Pencroff by the arms and led him to his dwelling.

There the sailor outlined his plan, really a simple one. They risked nothing in its execution but their lives. The storm was at its height, it was true, but an engineer as skillful as Cyrus Smith would know how to navigate a balloon. If Pencroff had known how to maneuver it himself, he would not have hesitated to leave, with Harbert of course. He had seen better storms than this at sea.

Cyrus Smith listened to the sailor without saying a word, but his eyes were burning bright. This was the opportunity and he was not a man to let it pass. The project was very dangerous, but it was feasible. At night they could board the balloon in spite of the surveillance, slip into the basket, and cut the lines that held it. Certainly they risked being killed but, on the other hand, they might succeed, and without this storm … But, without this storm, the balloon would already have left, and this long sought opportunity would not have presented itself at all.

“I am not alone! …” Cyrus Smith finally said.

“How many people do you want to take along?” asked the sailor.

“Two: my friend Spilett and my servant Neb.”

“That makes three,” replied Pencroff, “and with Harbert and me, five. The balloon can carry six …”

“That’s enough. We will go!” said Cyrus Smith.

This “we” committed the reporter, but he was not a man to back down and, when told about the plan, he approved it without reservation. What astonished him was that they had not already thought of so simple an idea. As for Neb, he would follow his master wherever his master wished to go.

“This evening then,” said Pencroff, “the five of us will stroll along there pretending to be curious.”


 “This evening at ten o’clock,” replied Cyrus Smith, “and pray this storm does not let up before our departure.”

Pencroff left the engineer and returned to his lodging where young Harbert Brown had remained. This courageous lad knew of the sailor’s plan and waited anxiously for the results of his discussion with the engineer. It was that five determined men would hurl themselves into the storm’s full fury!

The storm did not abate. Neither Jonathan Forster nor his companions could dream of confronting it in the frail basket. The weather that day was horrific. The engineer feared but one thing: that the balloon, held to the ground and leveled by the wind, would be torn into a thousand pieces. For several hours he prowled around the nearly deserted square, examining the apparatus. Pencroff on his side did likewise, his hands in his pockets, about to yawn, like a man who doesn’t know how to kill time, but also afraid that the balloon would be torn or even that it would break its lines and escape into the sky. Evening came. The night was gloomy and a thick mist rolled in, like a cloud at ground level. Rain fell mixed with snow. It was cold. A sort of fog settled over Richmond. It seemed that the violent tempest forced a truce between the besiegers and the besieged, and that the cannons had decided to remain silent before the deafening thunder of the storm. The streets of the city were deserted. In this horrible weather, it did not even seem necessary to guard the square where the balloon was floundering. Everything obviously favored the escape of the prisoners; but to journey thus, in the midst of this furious storm …?

“Nasty weather,” Pencroff said to himself, punching his hat down onto his head as the wind was trying to blow it off. “Oh well! We’ll manage all the same!”

At half past nine, Cyrus Smith and his companions crept in from different corners of the square. The gas lanterns, extinguished by the wind, left them in complete darkness. They could not even see the enormous balloon which was almost completely pushed down onto the ground. Besides the sacks of ballast which held the ropes, the basket was also held down by a strong cable which passed through a ring in the pavement.

The five prisoners met near the basket of the balloon. They had not been seen and in the darkness they could not even see each other.

Without saying a word, Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett, Neb, and 
 Harbert took their place in the basket, while Pencroff, on an order from the engineer, detached the bags of ballast. This took but a few moments, and the sailor rejoined his companions.
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They met near the basket of the balloon.




The balloon was then held by the cable alone, and Cyrus Smith now had only to give the order to depart.


 At that moment a dog dashed toward the basket. It was Top, the engineer’s dog who, having broken his chain, had followed his master. The engineer, fearing the excess weight, wanted to send the animal away.

“Bah! What’s one more,” said Pencroff, throwing two sacks of sand out of the basket.

Then he cast off the cable and the balloon rose at an angle and disappeared into the sky after the basket knocked down two chimneys in the fury of its departure.

The storm then unleashed itself with a frightful violence. During the night, the engineer could not think of descending and, when day returned, they could not see the ground through the clouds. After five days, a clearing let them see the immense ocean beneath the balloon, which the wind had driven on at a frightful speed.

Five men left on the 20th of March. Four of them were now thrown, on the 24th of March,
17

 on a deserted coast more than 6000 miles from their country.*


And the one who was missing, the one the four other balloon survivors were now running to rescue, was their natural leader, the engineer Cyrus Smith.



CHAPTER III





T

 he engineer was carried off by a wave through the netting which had given way. His dog had also disappeared. The faithful animal had voluntarily thrown himself into the sea to rescue his master.

“Hurry!” shouted the reporter.

All four survivors, Gideon Spilett, Harbert, Pencroff and Neb, forgetting their exhaustion and fatigue, began their search. Poor Neb cried with rage and despair at the thought of having lost all that he loved in the world.

Less than two minutes had passed from the moment Cyrus Smith 
 disappeared to the instant his companions touched land. They hoped to arrive in time to save him.

“Let’s search! Let’s search for him!” shouted Neb.

“Yes, Neb,” replied Gideon Spilett, “and we will find him!”

“Living?”

“Living!”

“Does he know how to swim?” asked Pencroff.

“Yes,” replied Neb, “and besides, Top is there …”

The sailor, listening to the roar of the sea, shook his head.

It was on the coast to the north, about a half mile from the spot where the castaways had landed, that the engineer had disappeared. If he had been able to reach the nearest point on the shoreline, he would be at most a half mile from them.

It was then nearly six o’clock. A fog had just rolled in, making the evening dark. The castaways proceeded northward along the eastern coastline of this land upon which they had been thrown by chance, an unknown land whose geographical location they could not even guess at. They trod upon sandy soil, mixed with stones, which seemed to be deprived of every species of vegetation. This soil, very uneven and rugged, seemed in certain spots to be riddled with small potholes which made their progress very difficult. From these holes, heavy birds of sluggish flight escaped at each instant, flying off in all directions into the darkness. Other more agile ones rose and passed overhead in cloud-like flocks. The sailor thought he recognized sea gulls and sea mews whose sharp cries competed with the roars from the sea.

From time to time, the castaways stopped to shout and listen for some sound not made by the ocean. It was possible that, if they were near the place where the engineer had landed, they might hear Top’s barking if Cyrus Smith was unable to give some sign of life. But no cry was heard above the growling of the waves and the crashing of the surf. The small troop resumed their forward march and searched every crevice of the shoreline.

After a walk of twenty minutes, the four castaways were suddenly stopped by the foaming waves. Solid ground vanished and they found themselves at the extremity of a sharp point of land where the sea broke with great fury.

“It is a promontory,” said the sailor. “We must retrace our steps keeping to our right and, in this way, we’ll get to the mainland.”
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 They shouted in unison.




“But what if he’s there!” replied Neb, pointing to the ocean, whose enormous waves whitened the darkness.

“Then let’s call him!”

They all shouted together vigorously, but there was no answer. They waited for a lull. They shouted again. Again nothing.


 The castaways then went back to the opposite side of the promontory on soil just as sandy and rocky. However Pencroff noticed that this shoreline was more abrupt, and that the ground was more elevated. He assumed that it gradually sloped upward to a high hill that he could barely make out. The birds were less numerous on this part of the shore and the sea also surged less here. It was less noisy, and the waves were less turbulent. They could barely hear the noise of the surf. Doubtless, this side of the promontory formed a semi-circular cove with a sharp point that protected it from the waves of the open sea.

But, by going in this direction, they were moving south, away from that part of the coast where Cyrus Smith might have landed. Stretching out for a mile and a half, the shoreline did not contain any turn that would permit them to head north again. The promontory whose tip they had just crossed had to be somehow connected to the mainland. In spite of their exhaustion, the castaways continued to move forward, courageously hoping at each moment to find a sharp turn that would put them back on their original track.

Imagine their disappointment when, after about two miles, they found themselves once again stopped by the sea on a high bluff of slippery rocks.

“We’re on a small island,” said Pencroff, “and we’ve surveyed it from one end to the other.”

The sailor was right. The castaways had been thrown not on a continent, not even on an island, but on an tiny islet that did not measure more than two miles in length and much less in width.

But was this barren, rock-strewn islet merely the desolate refuge for a few sea birds or part of an important archipelago? They could not say. When the balloon passengers were in the basket, they could see land only indistinctly through the fog. They were not able to judge its size. However, Pencroff, whose sailor’s eyes were accustomed to piercing through the gloom, believed that he could see several indistinct masses in the west which could be a high coastline.

But in the darkness they could not decide whether or not the islet was part of a larger system of islands. They could not leave the islet because the sea surrounded them. They were forced to delay until the next day their search for the engineer who had not signaled his presence by any cry.

“Cyrus’s silence proves nothing,” said the reporter. “He may have 
 fainted or might be injured and in no condition to respond. We must not give in to despair.”

The reporter then had the idea of lighting a fire at the point of the islet to serve as a signal to the engineer. They looked in vain for dry wood or brushwood, but found only sand and stones, nothing else.

One can understand the grief of Neb and his companions who were keenly attached to the intrepid Cyrus Smith. It was quite evident that they were powerless to help him. They had to wait for daylight. Either the engineer had been able to save himself and had already found refuge at some point on the coast, or he was lost forever!

These were long and painful hours. The cold was sharp. The castaways suffered cruelly but they scarcely felt it. It did not occur to them for a moment to rest. Forgetting themselves for the sake of their leader, hoping, always wanting to hope, they went back and forth across the barren islet, always coming back to its north point, closest to the place of the catastrophe. They shouted, listened, and tried to detect some feeble answer. Their voices must have carried far since the weather was calm and the noise of the sea began to diminish with the size of the swells.

One of Neb’s cries even seemed, for a moment, to produce an echo. Harbert brought this to Pencroff’s attention, adding:

“This proves that there is a shoreline not too far to the west.”

The sailor made an affirmative sign. Besides, his eyes could not deceive him. If he had distinguished land however faintly, it was because land was there.

But this remote echo was the only response provoked by Neb’s shouts, and all else on the eastern part of the islet remained silent.

Little by little the sky cleared. Toward midnight, some stars began to appear and, if the engineer had been with them at that moment, he would have remarked that these stars were no longer those of the northern hemisphere. In fact, the pole star did not appear above this new horizon, and the polar constellations were no longer those usually observed in North America. It was the Southern Cross which was shining at the south pole of the sky.

Night passed. About five o’clock in the morning, the 25th of March, the upper levels of the sky began to change color slightly. The horizon was still dark but, with the first light of day, an opaque fog rose from the sea and reduced visibility to no more than about twenty feet. Large and heavy wreaths of fog rolled in.


 It was a serious setback. The castaways could not distinguish anything around them. While Neb and the reporter looked toward the ocean, the sailor and Harbert searched for a coastline in the west, but not a bit of land was visible.

“No matter,” said Pencroff, “if I don’t see the coastline, I can feel it … It is there … there … just as surely as we are no longer in Richmond.”

But the fog, only a fine haze, soon lifted. A warm sun heated its upper layers, and this heat filtered down to the surface of the islet.

At about half past six, three quarters of an hour after sunrise, the fog became more transparent. It persisted above but dissipated below. Soon the entire islet appeared as if it had dropped from a cloud. The sea encircling them could now be seen, infinite in the east but bounded by a high and abrupt coast in the west.

Yes! Land was there. Their safety was at least provisionally assured. Between the islet and the coast, separated by an open channel a half mile wide, a rapid current flowed noisily.

One of the castaways, following his heart, immediately threw himself into the current, without asking the opinions of his companions and without saying a single word. It was Neb. He was in a hurry to be on this coast and to rush northward. No one could hold him back. Pencroff called to him but in vain. The reporter was inclined to follow Neb.

Pencroff then went to him:

“Do you want to cross this channel?” he asked.

“Yes,” replied Gideon Spilett.

“Well then listen,” the sailor said, “Neb will be able to bring help to his master. If we throw ourselves into this channel, we’ll risk being carried out to sea by its extremely violent current. If I’m not mistaken, it’s ebb tide. The sea is going down on the beach. Let’s have patience. At low tide, it’s possible we’ll find a fordable passage …”

“You’re right,” replied the reporter. “Let’s not split up any more than we have to …”

During this time, Neb was struggling against the current. He crossed it at an angle. They saw his black shoulders emerge at each stroke. He was swept on at an extreme speed but he also got closer to the shore. It took him a half hour to cross the half mile that separated the islet from the mainland and he reached the opposite shore several 
 thousand feet downstream from the point on the islet where he had started.

Neb set foot at the base of a high granite wall and shook himself vigorously. Then, running, he soon disappeared behind a pile of rocks that extended into the sea.

Neb’s companions anxiously followed his daring efforts. When he was out of sight, they turned their attention to this land on which they would be taking refuge, while eating some shellfish which were scattered on the sand. It was a meager meal but it was something.

The opposite coast formed a vast bay, terminated in the south by a very sharp point which was devoid of all vegetation and had a very bleak appearance. This point was joined to the shore by uneven ground and was abutted by high granite rocks. Toward the north, on the other hand, a wide bay formed a more rounded coast, running from southwest to northeast and ending with a sharp cape. Between these two extreme points of the bay’s arc, the distance was perhaps eight miles. A half mile from shore, the islet occupied a narrow strip of the sea and, although larger in scale, resembled the body of an enormous whale. Its width even at its greatest point was not more than a quarter of a mile.

Facing the islet, the shoreline opposite them was composed of sand scattered with blackish rocks which were reappearing little by little with the ebbing tide. Behind that was a sort of smooth granite facade crowned by a capricious ridge at a height of 300 feet. It ran for three miles and ended abruptly on the right with a slanted corner that one would think was made by the hand of man. On the left, in contrast, beyond the promontory, this irregular cliff broke into jagged fragments of conglomerate rocks, sloping downward by an elongated slope which gradually blended in with the rocks at the southern point.

There was not one tree on the upper plateau. It was a flat plateau like the one which overlooks Capetown at the Cape of Good Hope, but much smaller. At least so it appeared as seen from the islet. Nevertheless, vegetation was not lacking to the right, behind the slanted corner. They could easily distinguish a tangled mass of large trees extending well beyond their vision. This verdant greenery gladdened the eye, which had been saddened by the hard lines of the granite face.

Lastly, to the rear beyond the plateau, in a northwesterly direction and at a distance of at least seven miles, glittered a white peak 
 reflecting the sun’s rays. It was a snowy cap crowning some distant mountain.

They could not say if the land formed an island or if it was part of a continent. But, looking at the twisted rocks piled up on the left, a geologist would not have hesitated to give them a volcanic origin, because they were incontestably the result of subterranean activity.

Gideon Spilett, Pencroff, and Harbert carefully observed this land on which they would perhaps spend many long years, or perhaps even die, if they were not on the shipping lanes.

“Well,” asked Harbert, “what do you say, Pencroff?”

“Well,” replied the sailor, “there is good here and bad, as in everything. We’ll see. Ebb tide is almost here. In three hours we’ll try to cross over and, once there, hope to find Mr. Smith!”

Pencroff was not wrong in his prediction. Three hours later, at low tide, most of the sand that formed the bed of the canal was uncovered. Between the shore and the islet there remained only a narrow channel which would be easy to cross.

About ten o’clock, Gideon Spilett and his two companions took off their clothing, placed them in bundles over their heads, and ventured into the channel whose depth was now no more than five feet. Harbert, for whom the water was too high, swam like a fish and managed wonderfully. All arrived without difficulty on the other side. The sun rapidly dried them, they put on their clothes which they had kept away from the water, and they discussed what they would do next.


*
 On the 5th of April, Richmond fell to Grant. The revolt of the rebels was suppressed, Lee withdrew to the west, and the cause of the American Union triumphed.



CHAPTER IV





T

 he reporter told the sailor to wait for him in this very spot, and he headed down the beach in the direction Neb had gone several hours earlier. He rapidly disappeared behind a corner, so anxious was he for news about the engineer.

Harbert wanted to go with him.

“Stay here, my boy,” the sailor said. “We must prepare a camp and see if we can find something better to eat than shellfish. Our friends will need to recuperate on their return. Each to his task.”

“I’m ready, Pencroff,” replied Harbert.


 “Good!” replied the sailor. “Let’s proceed methodically. We’re tired, cold and hungry. So we must find shelter, fire and food. The forest has wood, the nests have eggs; we still need to find a house.”

“Very well,” replied Harbert, “I’ll look for a cave among these rocks. I’m sure to find some hole that we can curl up in.”

“That’s the spirit,” replied Pencroff. “Let’s go, my boy.”

They both walked to the foot of the enormous wall on this beach left largely uncovered by the receding tide. But instead of going north, they went south. Several hundred feet from where they had landed, Pencroff saw that the beach was cut by a narrow opening which, in his opinion, could be the mouth of a river or a brook. Now, on the one hand, it was important to settle in an area with fresh water; on the other, it was not impossible that the current may have thrown Cyrus Smith on this side.

The cliff rose to a height of 300 feet but its face was solid throughout. Even at its base, barely washed by the sea, it did not show the smallest fissure which could serve as a temporary shelter. It was a perpendicular wall, made of a very hard granite, never eroded by the waves. Near the summit all kinds of sea birds fluttered about, various web-footed species with long pointed beaks who were squawking loudly. They were not afraid of the humans who, for the first time no doubt, were disturbing their solitude. Among these web-footers Pencroff recognized several skua, a sort of sea gull which is sometimes called Stercorarius and also the voracious little sea mews which nested in the crevices of the granite. A gunshot fired into this swarm of birds would have killed a great number. But to fire a gunshot, a gun was needed, and neither Pencroff nor Harbert had one. Besides, these sea mews and skua are only barely edible and even their eggs have a detestable taste.

Meanwhile Harbert, who had gone a little more to the left, saw some seaweed covered rocks which the high tide would cover again a few hours later. On these rocks, amid slippery seaweed, bivalve shellfish abounded which famished people could not refuse. Harbert called Pencroff, who quickly ran up.

“Ah! These are mussels!” shouted the sailor. “Here’s something to replace the eggs we don’t have!”

“They’re not mussels!” replied young Harbert, who carefully examined the mollusks attached to the rocks, “they’re lithodomes.”
1



“Are they edible?” asked Pencroff.
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 “Are they edible?” asked Pencroff.




“Yes.”

“Then let’s eat lithodomes!”

The sailor could rely on Harbert. The young boy was very strong in natural history and had a veritable passion for this science. His father had encouraged him in this line by letting him take courses with the 
 best professors in Boston who were fond of this intelligent and industrious lad. His instincts as a naturalist would afterwards be used more than once, and on this first occasion, they did not disappoint.

These lithodomes were oval shells, tightly attached in clusters to the rocks. They belonged to that species of molluscous perforators which bore holes in the hardest stones. Their shell is rounded at both ends, a feature not found in the ordinary mussel.

Pencroff and Harbert made a good meal of these lithodomes which were then half opened to the sun. They ate them like oysters, and found them to have a strong peppery taste which consoled them, since they had neither pepper nor any other condiment.

Their hunger was appeased for the moment, but not their thirst, which increased after they ate these naturally spiced mollusks. But it would be easy to find fresh water in such hilly terrain. Pencroff and Harbert filled their pockets and handkerchiefs with an ample supply of lithodomes and went back to the foot of the cliff. Two hundred feet further along, they arrived at an indentation in the coastline where, if Pencroff guessed correctly, a small river should be flowing. At this point, the wall appeared to have been separated by some violent subterranean action. At its base a cove was hollowed out and the far end formed a sharp corner. The watercourse here measured one hundred feet in breadth, and its two banks on each side were were not quite twenty feet wide. The river ran almost directly between the two walls of granite which were not quite as high further upstream; then it turned abruptly and disappeared under some brushwood at a distance of half a mile.

“Here’s water! And there’s wood!” said Pencroff. “Well, Harbert, all we need now is the house!”

The river water was clear. The sailor knew that, at this moment of low tide, the ocean had not reached here, and the water would be fresh. With this important point established, Harbert looked for some cavity which would serve as shelter, but it was useless. Everywhere the wall was smooth, flat and perpendicular.

However, at the very mouth of the river, above the line of high tide, landslides had formed a pile of enormous fallen rocks, like those often seen in countries with much granite, which are called “Chimneys.”

Pencroff and Harbert went far in among the rocks, along the sandy passages where light was not lacking because it entered through various 
 openings among the granite rocks, some of which were supported only by a miracle of equilibrium. But, along with the light, there was also wind, a stiff corridor-type wind, which brought with it the sharp cold from the outside. However, the sailor thought that by closing these openings with a mixture of stones and sand, they 
 could make the “Chimneys” liveable. The geometrical design of the “Chimneys” resembled the typographical sign “&” which signifies “et cetera” abbreviated. Now, by isolating the upper loop of the sign, through which the wind blew from the south and from the west, they would doubtless succeed in putting the lower part to use.
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The Chimneys.




“This is our best bet,” said Pencroff, “and if we ever see Mr. Smith again he’ll know what to make of this labyrinth.”

“We will see him again, Pencroff,” exclaimed Harbert, “and, when he returns, he’ll find a halfway decent shelter here. It will be so if we can build a fireplace in the left passage and keep an opening for the smoke.”

“We can do it, my boy,” replied the sailor, “and these Chimneys”—the name Pencroff gave this temporary home—“will do nicely. But first let’s get a stock of fuel. I imagine that wood will be useful in stopping up these holes through which the very devil himself is blowing his trumpet.”

Harbert and Pencroff left the Chimneys, turned a corner, and began walking along the left bank of the river. The current was rather rapid and carried some dead wood. The rising tide—and it could already be felt at this time—was forcefully driving it back a considerable distance. It occurred to the sailor that they could use this ebb and flow to transport heavy objects.

After walking for a quarter of an hour, the sailor and the young boy arrived at a left turn in the river. Its course then passed through a forest of magnificent trees. These trees had kept their greenness in spite of the advanced season because they belonged to the family of conifers which grow in all regions of the globe, from the frigid climates to the tropics. The young naturalist recognized especially the “deodars,”
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 a species very numerous in the Himalayan zone, which emit an agreeable odor. Among these fine trees grew clusters of fir trees whose opaque umbrella boughs spread wide around. In the tall grass, Pencroff felt his feet crushing dry branches which crackled like fireworks.

“Good, my boy,” he said to Harbert, “if the name of these trees escapes me, I know at least to classify them in the category of ‘firewood’ and, for the moment it is the only category that we need!”

“Let’s gather up some,” replied Harbert, getting to work at once.

The harvest was easy. It was not even necessary to break the branches off the trees because enormous quantities of dead wood 
 were lying at their feet. But if the fuel was not lacking, the means of transporting it left something to be desired. This wood, being very dry, would burn rapidly but it would be necessary to carry a considerable quantity to the Chimneys and two men would not be enough. Harbert noted this.

“Well, my boy,” replied the sailor, “there must be some way of moving this wood. There is always a way to do everything! If we had a cart or a boat it would be quite easy.”

“But we have the river!” said Harbert.

“Right,” replied Pencroff. “The river will be for us a road which moves itself and rafts were not invented for nothing.”

“Only” observed Harbert, “right now our road is going the wrong way since the tide is rising.”

“We’ll wait till it ebbs,” replied the sailor, “and then it will be responsible for carrying our fuel to the Chimneys. Anyhow, let’s prepare our raft.”

The sailor, followed by Harbert, went to the bend that the edge of the forest made with the river. Each carried a load of wood tied in faggots. On the river’s bank, they found a large quantity of dead branches among grass where the foot of man had probably never trod. Pencroff began at once to put his raft together.

In an eddy, the sailor and the young boy placed some large pieces of wood attached together with dried vines. It formed a sort of raft. Then they piled up on top of it all their collected wood, a load for at least twenty men. In an hour, the work was finished and the raft, moored to the bank, waited for the change in tide.

They had several hours to wait. So Pencroff and Harbert decided to climb to the upper plateau to examine a wider span of the countryside.

Two hundred feet beyond the bend in the river, the wall, terminated by a pile of rocks, sloped away gently to the border of the forest. It was like a natural staircase. Harbert and the sailor began to climb. They reached the crest in a few moments and positioned themselves at the corner above the mouth of the river.

On arriving, their first glance was toward the ocean that they had crossed under such terrible conditions! They observed with strong emotions the coastline to the north where the catastrophe had occurred. It was there that Cyrus Smith had disappeared. They searched to see if some wreckage of their balloon, which a man might hang 
 onto, was still floating. Nothing! The sea was a vast desert of water. As for the shore, it too was deserted. Neither the reporter nor Neb could be seen there, but it was possible that they were too far away.

“Something tells me,” Harbert said, “that a man as energetic as Mr. Cyrus would not allow himself to drown like a new born babe. He must have reached some point on the shore. Isn’t that so, Pencroff?”

The sailor sadly shook his head. He hardly expected to see Cyrus Smith again, but he wanted to give Harbert something to hope for. “Without doubt, without doubt,” he said, “our engineer is a man able to get out of a situation where others would succumb! …”

However he observed the coast very carefully. Beneath them was the sandy shore bounded to the right of the river’s mouth by a line of breakers. These rocks, still above water, resembled groups of amphibians lying in the surf. Beyond the strip of reefs, the sea sparkled under the sun’s rays. In the south, a sharp point hid the horizon, and they could not say if the land extended in this direction or if it ran from southeast to southwest which would have made this coast a sort of elongated peninsula. Up to the extreme north of the bay, the outline of the shore followed a more rounded contour. There the shore was low, flat, without cliffs, and with large sandy beaches uncovered by the ebbing tide. Pencroff and Harbert then turned to the west. First, they saw a mountain topped by snow which rose at the distance of six or seven miles. Vast woods extended from the foothills of this mountain to within two miles of the coast enhanced by large green patches due to the presence of evergreens. Then, from the edge of this forest to the coast itself, groups of trees were scattered randomly over a broad plateau. On the left, they saw the sparkling waters of a small river as it flowed through several glades. It seemed that the river’s rather sinuous course led it back to its source near the spurs of the mountain. At the place where the sailor had left his raft, the river flowed between two high granite walls. If, on the left bank, the wall remained sharp and abrupt, on the right bank, in contrast, it sank little by little, the blocks changing to isolated rocks, the rocks to stones, the stones to pebbles up to the end of the point.

“Are we on an island?” murmured the sailor.

“In any case, it seems to be rather large!” replied the young lad.

“An island, however large, will never be anything but an island!” said Pencroff.
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 “Then what sort of birds are they?”





 But this important question could not yet be resolved. The answer would have to wait for another time. As to the land itself, island or continent, it seemed to be fertile, with a pleasant appearance and with a variety of flora.

“That’s fortunate,” Pencroff noted, “and in our misfortune, we should give thanks to Providence.”

“God be praised!” responded Harbert, whose pious heart was full of gratitude to the Author of all things.

For a long while Pencroff and Harbert examined this country where destiny had thrown them, but it was difficult to guess from this quick inspection what the future had in store for them.

They returned by following the southern crest of the granite plateau, bordered by twisted rocks in odd shapes. Several hundred birds lived there, nested in holes of the stone. Harbert, hopping over the rocks, made a large flock of these winged creatures fly away.

“Ah,” he shouted, “These are neither sea gulls nor sea mews!”

“Then what sort of birds are they?” asked Pencroff. “Upon my word, one would say pigeons.”

“Quite so, but these are wild pigeons or rock pigeons,” replied Harbert. “I recognize them by the double black band on their wing, by their white rump, and their ashen blue plumage. Now, if rock pigeons are good to eat, then their eggs must be excellent, if there are still some in their nests! …”

“We’ll not give them time to hatch unless it is in the shape of an omelette!” replied Pencroff gleefully.

“But what will you make your omelette in?” asked Harbert. “In your hat?”

“Well,” replied the sailor, “I’m not enough of a wizard for that. We’ll have to be happy with hard-boiled eggs, my boy, and I’ll eat the hardest of them.”

Pencroff and the young lad carefully examined the crevices in the granite, and they did in fact find eggs in some of the cavities. Several dozen were collected, then placed in the sailor’s handkerchief. Since it was almost high tide, they began to descend to the water’s edge. When they arrived at the bend in the river, it was one o’clock in the afternoon. The current had already reversed itself. It was necessary to take advantage of the ebb to bring the raft of wood to the river’s mouth. Pencroff had no intention of letting the raft float in the current 
 at random, nor did he intend to climb aboard to steer it. But a sailor is never at a loss when it is a question of cables or ropes, and Pencroff quickly braided a long rope several yards long made of dried vines. This vegetable cable was attached to the back of the raft. The sailor pulled it by hand while Harbert pushed the raft with a long pole, keeping it in the current.

The procedure worked perfectly. The large load of wood, which the sailor held onto while walking along the bank, followed the current. The bank was even, and there was no reason to fear that the raft would run aground. Before two o’clock, they arrived at the mouth of the river just a few paces from the Chimneys.



CHAPTER V





A

 fter the raft of wood was unloaded, Pencroff’s first concern was to make the Chimneys habitable by blocking those holes where the wind blew in. Some sand, stones, intertwined branches, and mud tightly sealed the corridors of the “&” which were open to the winds from the south, isolating the upper loop. One passageway only, narrow, winding, and open on one side, was kept to channel the smoke outside and to induce a draft from the fireplace. The Chimneys were divided into three or four rooms, if one could give this name to such gloomy dens where a wild beast would hardly be content. But it was dry and one could stand up, at least in the main room. A fine sand covered the ground and all things considered, they would have to manage until they could find something better.

While working, Harbert and Pencroff chatted.

“Perhaps,” said Harbert, “our companions have found a better accommodation than ours?”

“That’s possible,” replied the sailor, “but when in doubt, we’d best play it safe. It’s better to have one string too many on your bow than no strings at all!”

“Ah!” repeated Harbert, “if they could only bring back Mr. Smith when they return, how we would thank Heaven!”

“Yes,” murmured Pencroff. “That was truly a man!”

“Was …” said Harbert. “Do you despair of ever seeing him again?”


 “God forbid!” replied the sailor.

The arrangements were quickly completed, and Pencroff was quite satisfied with them.

“Now,” he said, “our friends can return. They will find a suitable shelter.”

Nothing remained to do but build a fireplace and prepare a meal, really a simple and easy task. Some large flat stones were placed on the ground at the entrance of the narrow passageway which had been reserved for this purpose. If the smoke did not draw out too much heat, this would be sufficient to maintain a proper temperature inside. A load of wood was stored in one of the rooms, and the sailor placed several logs and small pieces of wood on the rocks of the fireplace. The sailor was busy with this work when Harbert asked him if he had any matches.

“Certainly,” replied Pencroff, “and I’ll add, fortunately, because without matches or tinder we’d have quite a problem!”

“We could always make fire the way the savages do,” replied Harbert, “by rubbing two pieces of dry wood against each other.”

“Well, my boy, try it and then see if you can do it without breaking your arms.”

“Nevertheless it’s a very simple procedure and is often used on the islands of the Pacific.”

“I don’t say it’s not,” replied Pencroff, “but I believe that the savages must either have their own way of doing it or that they use a particular type of wood because, more than once, I’ve tried to make a fire this way and I’ve never succeeded. I admit that I much prefer matches. By the way, where are my matches?”

Pencroff searched in his vest for the match box that was always with him because he was a zealous smoker. He did not find it. He rummaged through his pants pockets and, to his amazement, he could not find the box.

“This is annoying! It’s more than annoying!” he said looking at Harbert. “The box must have fallen out of my pocket, and I’ve lost it! But you, Harbert, do you have a tinder box or anything we can use to make a fire?”

“No, Pencroff.”

The sailor went out scratching his forehead followed by the young boy.

Both searched with the greatest care along the beach, among the 
 rocks, near the bank of the river, but to no avail. The box was made of copper and should not have escaped their attention.

“Pencroff,” asked Harbert, “didn’t you throw the box out of the basket?”

“I took good care not to,” replied the sailor, “but when one has been tossed about like we were, so small an object can easily disappear. Even my pipe is gone. Where can the confounded box be?”

“Well, the tide is going down now,” said Harbert, “let’s go round to the spot where we landed.”

There was little chance that they would recover this box tossed among the rocks at high tide, but it was worth a try under the circumstances. Harbert and Pencroff ran to the spot where they had landed earlier, about two hundred feet from the Chimneys.

There, among the pebbles, in the cavities of the rocks, they searched carefully. The result: nothing. If the box had fallen here, it must have been swept away by the waves. As the sea went down, the sailor searched every crevice in the rocks without finding anything. It was a serious loss under the circumstances and, for the moment, irreparable. Pencroff found it hard to hide his disappointment. His brow wrinkled up. He didn’t say a word. Harbert wanted to console him by observing that, very likely, the matches would have been wet from the sea water and therefore useless.

“But no, my boy,” replied the sailor. “They were in a tightly closed copper box! And now what are we to do?”

“We’ll certainly find some way to make fire,” said Harbert. “Mr. Smith or Mr. Spilett will know what to do.”

“Yes,” replied Pencroff, “but in the meanwhile we’re without fire, and our companions will find a sorry meal on their return.”

“But,” said Harbert briskly, “isn’t it possible that they have tinder or matches?”

“I doubt it,” the sailor replied shaking his head. “First, Neb and Mr. Smith don’t smoke, and Mr. Spilett would rather save his notebook than his box of matches.”

Harbert did not reply. The loss of the box was obviously regrettable. However, the lad was certain they could start a fire one way or another. Pencroff, who was more experienced and a man not normally bothered by such inconveniences, did not think so. In any event, there was only one course to take: wait for the return of Neb and the reporter. 
 But it was necessary to forget about the meal of cooked eggs that they had wanted to prepare for them; a diet of raw meat either for themselves or for the others was not a cheery prospect.

Before returning to the Chimneys, the sailor and Harbert collected a new batch of lithodomes in case a fire could not be started. They went back silently.

Pencroff, his eyes fixed on the ground, was still looking for the lost box. He even walked again along the left bank of the river from the mouth to the bend where the raft of wood had been moored. He returned to the upper plateau. He went over it in every direction, searching among the tall grass along the edge of the forest—all in vain.

It was five o’clock in the evening when Harbert and he returned to the Chimneys. Needless to say, they rummaged through the darkest corners of the passageways, but they ultimately had to give up.

About six o’clock, when the sun was disappearing behind the highlands of the west, Harbert, who was pacing back and forth on the shore, signaled the return of Neb and Gideon Spilett.

They were returning alone! … His heart skipped a beat. The sailor had not been wrong in his misgivings. The engineer Cyrus Smith had not been found!

On arriving, the reporter sat down on a rock without saying a word. Exhausted and half-dead with hunger, he did not have the strength to say anything.

Neb’s red eyes showed that he had lost all hope!

The reporter told them about the search they had undertaken to find Cyrus Smith. Neb and he had followed the coastline for a distance of eight miles, well beyond the point where the next-to-last fall of the balloon occurred, the fall that was followed by the disappearance of the engineer and the dog Top. The shore was deserted. Not a trace, not a single footprint. Not a stone overturned, not a sign on the sand, no mark of the human foot along this entire part of the coast. It was evident that no inhabitant ever frequented this part of the island. The ocean was just as deserted as the beach, and it was there, several hundred feet from shore, that the engineer must have met his fate.

Then Neb got up and voiced the sentiments of hope that were bottled up within him:

“No!” he shouted. “No! He is not dead! No! That cannot be! He! 
 Come now! It might happen to me or anyone else but him! Never! He could get out of any scrape! …”
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The reporter sat down on a rock without saying a word.




Then his strength left him.

“Ah! I can do no more,” he murmured.

Harbert ran to him.


 “Neb,” said the lad, “we’ll find him! God will return him! But you’re hungry. Eat a little, I beg you.” And, while speaking, he offered the poor Negro a handful of shellfish, a meager and insufficient meal.

Neb had not eaten for many hours but he refused. Deprived of his master he could not, he did not want to live!

As for Gideon Spilett, he devoured the mollusks. Then he lay down on the sand in front of a rock, exhausted but calm. Harbert came up to him and offered his hand:

“Sir,” he said, “we’ve discovered a shelter where you’ll be better off than here. It’s getting dark. Come along and get some rest. Tomorrow, we’ll see …”

The reporter got up and, guided by the lad, he went to the Chimneys.

Pencroff came over and asked him in a casual voice if by chance he had a match on him.

The reporter stopped, looked in his pockets, and didn’t find any. He said, “I had some but I must have thrown them away …”

The sailor asked Neb the same question and got the same reply.

“Confound it!” cried the sailor. The reporter heard him and said, “No matches?”

“Not a single one, and so we can have no fire!”

“Ah!” exclaimed Neb, “If my master were here, he’d know how to make one!”

The four castaways stood there and looked at each other. Harbert broke the silence by saying:

“Mr. Spilett, you’re a smoker. You always have matches on you. Perhaps you have not looked thoroughly. Look again. A single match will suffice.”

The reporter rummaged again through his pants pockets, his waistcoat, his overcoat and finally, to Pencroff’s great joy and to his own surprise, he felt a sliver of wood caught in the lining of his waistcoat. His fingers had grasped this small piece of wood through the coat’s fabric, but he could not get it out. Since this was probably a match, and their only one, they had to be careful not to rub away the phosphorous.

“Will you let me try?” the lad asked him.

Very skillfully, without breaking it, Harbert managed to remove this matchstick, this precious trifle which, for these unfortunate people, was of such crucial importance. It was intact.


 “A match!” shouted Pencroff. “Ah! It’s as if we had a whole cargo!”

He took the match and, followed by his companions, went back to the Chimneys.

This small sliver of wood, which in civilized countries is treated with indifference, would need to be used here with extreme care. The sailor assured himself that it was really dry. That done, he said, “We need some paper.”

“Here,” replied Gideon Spilett who, after some hesitation, tore out a leaf from his notebook.

Pencroff took the piece of paper and squatted in front of the fireplace. Several handfuls of grass, leaves, and dry moss were placed under the faggots and arranged so the air could easily circulate, letting the dead wood catch fire quickly.

Then Pencroff folded the paper in the form of a cone, as smokers do in a high wind, and placed it among the mosses. Next, taking a rather flat stone, he wiped it with care. With his heart beating fast, he gently rubbed the stone without breathing.

The first rubbing produced no effect. Pencroff had not applied enough pressure, afraid that he would scratch away the phosphorous.

“No, I can’t do it,” he said, “my hand trembles … The match didn’t catch fire … I can’t … I don’t want to,” and getting up he asked Harbert to take his place.

Certainly, in all his life, the lad had never been so nervous. His heart pounded. Prometheus going to steal fire from Heaven had not been more anxious. He did not hesitate, however, and quickly rubbed the stone. They heard a sputter, then a weak blue flame spurted out producing a sharp flame. Harbert gently turned the match so as to feed the flame, then he slipped it into the paper cone. The paper caught fire in a few seconds and then the moss began to burn.

Several moments later, the dry wood crackled, and a joyful flame, fanned by the sailor’s vigorous breath, began to glow in the darkness.

“Truly,” exclaimed Pencroff, getting up. “I was never so nervous in my life!”

The fire burned well on the fireplace of flat stones. The smoke went up easily through the narrow passage, the chimney drew the smoke, and a pleasant warmth soon filled the shelter.

As to the fire, they had to take care not to let it burn out and to always keep some embers under the ashes. But this was merely a matter of care and attention since there was no shortage of wood, and 
 their supply could always be renewed at their convenience. Pencroff first intended to use the fireplace to prepare a supper more nourishing than a dish of lithodomes. Harbert brought over two dozen eggs. The reporter, resting in a corner, watched these preparations without saying a word. Three thoughts were on his mind. Was Cyrus still 
 alive? If he was alive where could he be? If he had survived his fall, why had he not made his existence known? As for Neb, he prowled the beach like a body without a soul.
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“I was never so nervous in my life!”




Pencroff, who knew fifty two ways to make eggs, had no options at the moment. He had to be content to place them among the warm cinders and to let them cook at low heat.

In a few minutes, the cooking was done and the sailor invited the reporter to take his share of the supper. Such was the first meal of the castaways on this unknown shore. These hard eggs were excellent and, since eggs contain all the nutrients necessary for human nourishment, these poor men found themselves well off and felt strengthened.

Ah! If only one of them had not been missing at this meal! If only the five prisoners who had escaped from Richmond could all have been there under this pile of rocks in front of this bright crackling fire on this dry sand, what thanks they would have given to Heaven! But the most ingenious and the wisest among them, he who was their unquestioned chief, Cyrus Smith, was missing! And his body had not even had a decent burial!

So passed the day of March 25. Night had come. Outside, they heard the wind whistling and the monotonous surf beating against the shore. The pebbles, tossed around by the waves, rolled about with a deafening roar.

The reporter had lain down on the floor after having quickly noted the incidents of the day: the first appearance of this new land, the disappearance of the engineer, the exploration of the coast, the incident with the matches, etc.; and, helped by fatigue, he managed to fall sleep. Harbert slept well. As to the sailor, he spent the night with one eye on the fire and spared no fuel.

One of the castaways did not find rest in the Chimneys. It was Neb. Forlorn, without hope, and in spite of the pleadings of his companions, he wandered on the shore for the entire night calling for his master!


 
CHAPTER VI





T

 he inventory of objects possessed by these castaways from the sky, thrown down onto a coast that appeared to be uninhabited, was soon taken.

They had nothing except the clothes on their backs at the moment of the catastrophe. There was a notebook and a watch that Gideon Spilett had saved, inadvertently no doubt; but there was not a single weapon, not a tool, not even a pocket knife. The balloon passengers had thrown everything overboard in order to lighten their craft. The imaginary heroes of Daniel Defoe or of Wyss, as well as the Selkirks and the Raynals, castaways at Juan-Fernandez and the archipelago of Auckland,
1

 never found themselves so entirely helpless. These men had abundant resources of grain, animals, tools, and munitions drawn from their stranded vessels; or else some wreckage had washed up along the shore which allowed them to provide for the necessities of life. They were not, at the outset, so absolutely defenseless before the rigors of nature. They owned no instrument whatsoever, not a utensil. From nothing, the castaways would need to supply themselves with everything!

If only Cyrus Smith had been with them, if only the engineer had been able to apply his practical science and his inventive spirit to this situation, perhaps all hope would not have been lost. Alas! They could not count on seeing Cyrus Smith again. The castaways could only depend on themselves and on Providence who never abandons those whose faith is sincere.

But should they settle themselves on this part of the shore without trying to find out to what continent it belonged, if it was inhabited or only the beach of a deserted island?

It was an important question to be resolved quickly for the measures to be taken would depend on the answer. Pencroff advised that it would be best to wait a few days before undertaking an exploration since it was necessary to prepare provisions and get food more substantial than eggs and mollusks. The explorers, having endured long fatigue, without a shelter for sleeping, would need to refresh themselves before doing anything else.

The Chimneys offered sufficient refuge for the time being. The fire was lit and it would be easy to keep the cinders alive. For the moment, there was no lack of mollusks and eggs among the rocks and on 
 the beach. Using sticks or stones, they would surely find a way to kill some of these pigeons that flew about by the hundreds at the crest of the plateau. Perhaps the trees of the nearby forest would give them edible fruit? And, lastly, there was plenty of fresh water there. It was therefore agreed that, for the next few days, they would remain at the Chimneys to prepare for an exploration either of the coastline or the interior of the country.

This plan particularly suited Neb. As stubborn in his ideas as in his forebodings, he was in no hurry to leave this part of the coast, the scene of the catastrophe. He did not believe, he did not want to believe, that Cyrus Smith was lost. No, it didn’t seem possible that such a man met his end in so vulgar a fashion, carried off by a wave, drowned in the sea only a few hundred feet from shore. As long as the waves had not washed up the body of the engineer, as long as he, Neb, had not seen with his own eyes, touched with his own hands the corpse of his master, he would not believe that he was dead. This idea took root in his obstinate heart. An illusion perhaps, but a respected illusion nevertheless which the sailor did not wish to destroy. For him there was no more hope, and the engineer had indeed perished in the waves; but it was pointless to discuss this with Neb. He was like a dog that will not leave the place where his master died, and his grief was such that he probably would not survive him.

On the morning of March 26th, at dawn, Neb went back to the shore in a northerly direction, returning to the place where the sea had doubtless closed in on the unfortunate Smith.

Breakfast on this day was composed only of pigeon eggs and lithodomes. Harbert found some salt left behind in the crevices of the rocks by evaporation and this mineral substance was put to good use.

The meal finished, Pencroff asked the reporter if he wanted to accompany them to the forest where Harbert and he would try to hunt. However, on further reflection, it was decided that someone should stay behind to look after the fire and to help Neb, in the unlikely event that he would need it. The reporter remained behind.

“Let’s go hunting, Harbert,” said the sailor. “We’ll find our munitions along the way and we’ll fire our guns in the forest.”

But, when they were about to leave, Harbert noted that since they had no tinder, it would be prudent to replace it with another substance.

“What?” asked Pencroff.


 “Burnt linen,” replied the lad. “In a pinch, it can serve as tinder.”

The sailor found that this advice made sense, only it was a rather inconvenient necessity since it meant the sacrifice of a piece of his handkerchief. Nevertheless it was worth the trouble, and so a piece of Pencroff’s large square handkerchief was soon reduced to a half burnt rag. This inflammable material was placed in the central chamber at the bottom of a small cavity in a rock completely sheltered from wind and dampness.

It was then nine o’clock in the morning. The weather was threatening and the wind blew from the southeast. Harbert and Pencroff turned the corner of the Chimneys, glancing at the smoke which was twirling around the rocks. Then they went along the left bank of the river.

Arriving at the forest, Pencroff first broke off two sturdy branches which he transformed into sticks. Harbert ground them down to a point on a rock. Ah! If they only had a knife! Then the two hunters advanced in the tall grass following the riverbank. On leaving the bend, the river changed its course to the southwest; it grew narrower and its banks formed a channel enclosed by a double arc of trees. Pencroff, not wanting to get lost, decided to follow the water’s course which would always return him to his starting point. But the bank was not without some obstacles: trees whose flexible branches bent to the level of the water, and creepers or thorn bushes which they had to break with their sticks. Often, Harbert glided among the broken stumps with the agility of a young cat and disappeared into the brushwood. But Pencroff recalled him immediately, begging him not to venture too far away.

Meanwhile, the sailor carefully noted the surroundings. On the left bank, the soil was level and rose imperceptibly toward the interior. Sometimes moist, it then took on a marshy appearance. Everywhere they felt an underground network of streams which, by some subterranean fault, flowed toward the river. At some places, a brook flowed through the brushwood which they crossed without difficulty. The opposite bank was more varied. The hill, covered by trees of various sizes, formed a curtain which obstructed their vision. On the right bank, walking would have been difficult because of the holes in the ground and because of the trees which, bent to the surface of the water, were held in place only by their roots. Needless to say, both this forest and the riverbank showed no sign of human life. Pencroff 
 noted the fresh tracks of quadrupeds of a species he did not recognize. Most certainly—and this was also Harbert’s opinion—they had been left by dangerous wild beasts with which they would no doubt have to contend; but nowhere was found the mark of a hatchet on a tree trunk, nor the remains of an extinguished fire, nor a footprint. They 
 should perhaps congratulate themselves because, in this part of the Pacific, the presence of man was often more to be feared than desired.
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Pencroff noted the fresh animal tracks.




Harbert and Pencroff scarcely spoke because of the difficult path. They advanced slowly and, after an hour, they had scarcely gone a mile. Until then, the hunt had not been productive. Nevertheless, several birds were chirping and flying about under the branches, showing themselves to be very timid as if man instinctively inspired them with a justifiable fear. Among other winged creatures, Harbert saw, in a marshy part of the forest, a bird with a sharp and elongated beak which anatomically resembled a kingfisher. However it was distinguished by its rugged plumage coated with a metallic brilliance.

“That must be a jacamar,”
2

 said Harbert, trying to close in on the bird.

“It would be nice to have the opportunity to taste jacamar,” replied the sailor, “if this bird is in a mood to let himself be roasted!”

At this moment, the lad, skillfully and vigorously, threw a stone that struck the creature at the base of its wing. But it was not enough; the jacamar took to its legs, running away at full speed and disappearing in an instant. “I’m so clumsy,” Harbert shouted.

“Not at all, my boy,” replied the sailor. “It was a good throw and more than one person would have missed the bird completely. Come! Don’t feel frustrated. We’ll catch it another day.”

The exploration continued. As the hunters made headway, the trees became more spacious and magnificent. But none produced any edible fruit. Pencroff looked in vain for a few of those precious palm trees, which have so many uses in domestic life and which are found as far as the 40th parallel in the northern hemisphere and down to the 35th parallel in the southern hemisphere. But this forest revealed only conifers such as the deodars already recognized by Harbert, Douglas pines resembling those growing on the northwest coast of America, and admirable spruce measuring a hundred fifty feet in height.

At this instant, a flock of small birds with pretty plumage and long, glittering tails scattered among the branches, dropping their weakly attached feathers which covered the ground with a fine down. Harbert picked up a few of these feathers and, after having examined them:

“These are ‘couroucous’,”
3

 he said.

“I would prefer a guinea fowl or a grouse cock,” replied Pencroff, “but are they good to eat?”


 “They’re good to eat and their flesh is even tender,” replied Harbert. “Besides, if I am not mistaken, it is easy to approach them and kill them with a stick.”

The sailor and the boy slipped through the grass and arrived at the foot of a tree whose lower branches were covered with small birds. The couroucous were waiting for passing insects, which served as their nourishment. One could see their feathered feet strongly clenching the small branches which supported them.

The hunters then straightened up and, using their sticks like a scythe, they mowed down entire rows of these couroucous who did not think of flying away and stupidly allowed themselves to be beaten. A hundred littered the ground before the others decided to fly away.

“Well,” said Pencroff, “here’s game made for hunters such as ourselves. We’ve only to reach out for it.”

On a flexible stick the sailor strung up the couroucous like larks, and the exploration continued. They could see that the river took a gentle turn southward, but this detour probably did not extend very far because the river’s source was in the mountain and was fed by the melting snow covering the sides of the central peak.

The principal object of this excursion was to get the largest possible quantity of game. This goal had not been attained up to now. The sailor actively pursued his search, and how he complained when some animal that he did not even have time to recognize escaped among the tall grass. If only they had had the dog Top. But Top had disappeared at the same time as his master and had probably perished with him.

About three o’clock in the afternoon, they caught a glimpse of new flocks of birds who were pecking at the aromatic berries of certain trees, junipers among others. Suddenly, a trumpet-like sound resounded throughout the forest. It was the strange and loud fanfare made by gallinules, which are called “grouse” in the United States. Soon they saw several couples, with a variety of brown and fawn colored plumage, and with a brown tail. Harbert recognized the males by the two pointed fins formed by feathers raised on their neck. Pencroff judged it indispensable to get hold of one of these gallinules, as big as a hen, whose flesh is like that of a prairie chicken. But this was difficult because they would not allow themselves to be approached. After several fruitless attempts, which only seemed to frighten the grouse, the sailor said to the lad:


 “Well, since we can’t kill them in flight, we’ll try to take them with a line.”

“Like a fish?” shouted Harbert, very surprised at this suggestion.

“Like a fish,” the sailor replied seriously.

Pencroff found a half dozen grouses’ nests in the grass, each having two or three eggs. He took care not to touch these nests, knowing their proprietors would surely return. It was around these nests that he intended to stretch his lines—not collar traps but real hook lines. He took Harbert some distance away from the nests, and there he prepared his strange contraption with the care appropriate to a disciple of Isaac Walton.*
 Harbert watched this activity with understandable interest, though he doubted the probability of its success. The lines were made of thin creepers fastened to one another at a length of fifteen to twenty feet. Some large strong thorns with bent points, supplied by a dwarf acacia bush, were tied to the ends of the creepers to take the place of hooks. As for bait, some large red worms, which were crawling on the ground, were put on the thorns.

That done, Pencroff moved among the grass skillfully concealing himself, and placed the end of his lines with baited hooks near the grouses’ nests. Then he took the other end and hid with Harbert behind a large tree. Both then waited patiently. Harbert did not count on the success of inventor Pencroff.

A long half hour passed but, as predicted by the sailor, several pairs of grouse returned to their nests. They hopped, pecked the ground, and gave no sign that they suspected the presence of the hunters who had taken care to place themselves to the leeward of the gallinules.

Certainly at this moment the lad was very attentive. He held his breath. Pencroff was staring, his mouth open, his lips protruding as if he was about to taste a piece of grouse, hardly breathing. However the gallinules walked among the hooks without noticing them. Pencroff made small jerks which moved the bait as if the worms were still alive.

At this instant, the sailor no doubt felt as much emotion as a fisherman who, in contrast, does not see his prey approaching in the water.

The jerks soon attracted the attention of the gallinules, and they pecked at the hooks. Three of the grouse swallowed both bait and 
 hook. Suddenly, Pencroff sprung his trap, and flapping wings showed that the birds had been taken.
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“Hurrah!”




“Hurrah!” he shouted, dashing toward the game which he now mastered.

Harbert clapped his hands. It was the first time he had seen birds 
 taken with a line, but the sailor very modestly told him that it was not his first try and not his invention.

“And in any case,” he added, “in our situation, we must depend on measures such as these.”

The grouse were tied by their feet and Pencroff, happy that he was not returning with empty hands and seeing that the daylight was beginning to lessen, decided to return home.

The path to follow was clearly indicated by the river; there was no question about which direction to go. At about six o’clock, rather tired from their excursion, Harbert and Pencroff again entered the Chimneys.


*
 Celebrated author of a book on angling.
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CHAPTER VII





G

 ideon Spilett, motionless, his arms crossed, was on the beach looking at the sea whose horizon was obscured in the east by a large black cloud that was rapidly moving towards the zenith. The wind was already strong and becoming fresher with the decline of day. The sky looked bad and the first symptoms of a storm were apparent.

Harbert entered the Chimneys, and Pencroff went to the reporter. The latter, deeply absorbed, did not see him come.

“We’re going to have a bad night, Mr. Spilett!” said the sailor. “Rain and wind are the joy of petrels.”*


The reporter, then turning, saw Pencroff and his first words were these:

“At what distance from the coast would you say the basket was when it was struck by the wave which carried off our companion?”

The sailor had not expected this question. He reflected for a moment and replied:

“At two cables length at most.”

“But what is a cable length?”

“About 120 fathoms or 600 feet.”

“Then,” said the reporter, “Cyrus Smith disappeared 1200 feet at most from the shore?”


 “About,” replied Pencroff.

“And his dog also?”

“Also.”

“What astonishes me,” added the reporter, “is that our companion has perished, and Top has likewise met his end, but neither the body of the dog nor that of his master has been thrown on shore.”

“It isn’t astonishing with such a strong sea,” replied the sailor. “Besides, it’s possible that the current carried them further along the coast.”

“So it’s your opinion that our companion has perished among the waves?” the reporter asked again.

“That’s my opinion.”

“My opinion,” said Gideon Spilett, “much as I respect your experience, Pencroff, is that the double disappearance of Cyrus and Top, living or dead, is an inexplicable and improbable thing.”

“I wish I could think like you, Mr. Spilett,” replied Pencroff, “but, unfortunately, my mind is made up.”

That said, the sailor returned to the Chimneys. A good fire crackled on the hearth. Harbert threw an armful of dry wood on it, and the flames shed light into the gloomy parts of the passageway. Pencroff occupied himself at once with preparing dinner. It seemed best to introduce some “pièce de résistance” into the menu because everyone needed to renew his strength. The strings of couroucous were saved for the next day but they plucked two grouse, and soon the gallinules were roasting on a spit in front of a blazing fire.

At seven o’clock Neb had not yet returned. This prolonged absence only made Pencroff uneasy about the Negro. He feared that he had either met with some accident on this unknown land or that the poor wretch had given in to some act of despair. But Harbert drew totally different conclusions from this absence. In his opinion, if Neb had not yet returned, it was due to some new circumstance which caused him to prolong his search and anything new could only be to Cyrus Smith’s advantage. Why had Neb not returned unless some hope detained him? Perhaps he had found some indication, a footprint or the remains of a wreck which put him on the track. Perhaps, at this very moment, he was following a solid clue. Perhaps he was even near his master …

So the lad reasoned. His companions let him speak of it. The reporter alone approved with a gesture. But, for Pencroff, it was likely 
 that Neb had gone further than the previous day in his search along the coast and that he could not yet return.

However, Harbert was agitated by vague premonitions, and several times he wanted to go to meet Neb. Pencroff made him understand that it would be a useless course of action, that in this darkness and deplorable weather, he would find no trace of Neb, and it would be better to wait. If, by the next day, Neb had not reappeared, Pencroff would not hesitate to join Harbert in searching for him.

Gideon Spilett agreed that they must not separate, and Harbert had to give up his plan; but two large tears fell from his eyes. The reporter could not refrain from embracing the noble lad.

Bad weather had now definitely broken out. A windstorm of unparalleled violence passed over the coast from the southeast. They heard the sea, then at low tide, roaring against the leading edge of rocks on the beach. The rain, whipped by the storm, rose up like a wet mist. Ragged masses of fog swept along the shore where pebbles rattled noisily like cartloads of stone being emptied. Sand, lifted by the wind, became mixed with the rain, making the storm’s attack invincible. There was just as much mineral dust in the air as water vapor. Large whirlwinds swirled between the mouth of the river and the face of the wall, and strong gusts of air escaping from this maelstrom could find no exit other than through the narrow valley whose river was churned up with an irresistible violence. The smoke from the hearth, restricted by the narrow passageway, backed up frequently, filling the corridors and rendering them uninhabitable.

That is why, as soon as the grouse were roasted, Pencroff let the fire die down, conserving nothing but the embers buried under the cinders.

At eight o’clock Neb still had not reappeared. They could now assume that the awful weather alone prevented his return and that he had found refuge in some hollow to wait out the end of the storm or at least the return of day. To attempt to find him under these conditions was impossible.

The game formed the only dish for supper, and they gladly ate this excellent meat. Pencroff and Harbert, whose appetites were excited by their long excursion, were ravenous.

Everyone retired to the corner where he had rested the previous night. Harbert soon fell asleep near the sailor who stretched out along the hearth. Outside, as the night advanced, the storm took on formidable 
 proportions. It was a windstorm comparable to the one that carried the prisoners from Richmond to this land in the Pacific. Tempests are frequent during the seasons of the equinox. They produce terrible catastrophes throughout this vast area where no obstacles oppose their fury. One can therefore understand how a coast so exposed, 
 in direct line with the storm and struck headlong, was battered by a force that cannot be described.
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Pencroff crawled to the opening.




Fortunately, the pile of rocks which formed the Chimneys was sturdy. It was composed of enormous slabs of granite though a few, slightly off-balance, seemed to tremble at their base. Pencroff sensed this and, pressing his hand against the walls, felt the rapid vibrations. But he finally convinced himself, and rightly so, that there was nothing to fear and that his improvised retreat would not cave in. Nevertheless, he heard the clatter of the rocks which, detached from the summit of the plateau and uprooted by the swirling wind, fell on the beach. A few even rolled as far as the upper part of the Chimneys or broke into fragments when they fell straight down. Twice the sailor got up and crawled to the opening of the passageway to look outside. But these falling rocks did not constitute any danger and he returned to his place in front of the fire whose embers were sputtering under the cinders. Despite the furies of the storm, the roar of the tempest, and the thunder of the storm, Harbert was in a deep sleep. Even Pencroff finally closed his eyes in slumber, since a seaman’s life had accustomed him to such violent weather. Gideon Spilett alone was kept wide awake by his worries. He reproached himself for not having accompanied Neb. One could see that he too had not abandoned all hope and that he shared Harbert’s premonitions. His thoughts were concentrated on Neb. Why had Neb not returned? He tossed on his bed of sand hardly giving a thought to the battle of the elements. At times his eyes, heavy with fatigue, closed for an instant but some passing thought reopened them at once. The night advanced, however, and it must have been two o’clock in the morning when Pencroff, then in a deep sleep, was shaken vigorously.

“What is it?” he shouted, awakening and recollecting himself with the rapidity typical of seamen.

The reporter was leaning over him and said to him:

“Listen Pencroff, listen!”

The sailor cocked his ear but could not distinguish any sound other than the squall.

“It’s the wind,” he said.

“No,” replied Gideon Spilett, listening again. “I thought I heard …”

“What?”

“A dog barking!”


 “A dog!” shouted Pencroff, getting up in a single bound.

“Yes … barking …”

“That isn’t possible!” replied the sailor. “And besides, how with the roar of the storm …”

“Wait … Listen …” said the reporter.

Pencroff listened more attentively and in fact he thought he heard a distant barking in a quiet moment.

“Well? …” said the reporter, pressing the sailor’s hand.

“Yes … Yes! …” replied Pencroff.

“It’s Top! … It’s Top! …” shouted Harbert, just awakening, and all three dashed toward the entrance to the Chimneys.

They went outside with extreme difficulty. The wind drove them back. They finally succeeded, although they could not stand erect without leaning against the rocks. They saw but they could not speak.

The darkness was absolute. The sea, the sky, the ground were merged in equal darkness. It seemed that there was not an atom of light in the sky.

For several minutes the reporter and his two companions remained so, crushed by the storm, drenched by the rain, blinded by the sand. They heard the barking once again during a break in the storm, which came from far away. It could only be Top barking in this manner! But was he alone or with someone? Most likely he was alone because if Neb was with him, Neb would have rushed back toward the Chimneys.

Since he could not make himself heard, the sailor pressed the hand of the reporter as if to say: “Wait!” He re-entered the corridor.

An instant later he came out again with a lighted torch which lit up the gloom. He whistled sharply. This signal seemed expected. In response, the barking came much nearer and soon a dog dashed into the corridor. Pencroff, Harbert and Gideon Spilett followed him inside.

An armful of dry wood was thrown on the embers. A vivid flame lit up the corridor.

“It’s Top!” shouted Harbert.

It was indeed Top, a magnificent anglo-norman crossbreed who inherited from these two species both speed and odor sensitivity, the two prime qualities of a hunting dog.

It was Cyrus Smith’s dog.

But he was alone! Neither his master nor Neb was with him!
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 This signal seemed expected.




How had his instinct been able to lead him to the Chimneys which he knew nothing about? This appeared inexplicable, especially on such a dark night, and in such a storm! An even more inexplicable detail was that Top was neither tired nor exhausted, not even soiled with mud or sand! …


 Harbert approached him and took his head between his hands. The dog allowed him to do so and began rubbing his neck on the boy’s hands.

“If the dog has been found, the master will also be found!” said the reporter.

“May God will it!” replied Harbert. “Let’s leave! Top will guide us!”

Pencroff made no objection. He felt that Top’s arrival contradicted his earlier suppositions.

“Let’s go,” he said.

Pencroff carefully covered the embers of the fire. He placed several pieces of wood under the cinders so that the fire could be rekindled on their return. Then, preceded by the dog who seemed to invite them with crisp barks, and followed by the reporter and the lad, he dashed outside bringing along the remains of the supper.

The storm was at full strength and perhaps even at its maximum intensity. No moonlight filtered through the clouds since the moon was then new and in conjunction with the sun. It was difficult to follow a straight course. It was best to rely on Top’s instinct and they did so. The reporter and the boy followed behind the dog, and the sailor brought up the rear. They exchanged no words. The rain was not heavy but it was driven by blasts of wind. The storm was terrible.

One circumstance fortunately favored the sailor and his two companions. The wind blew from the southeast, and consequently it pushed them from behind. The sand which was violently thrown about and which would have been unbearable, struck them from the rear, and as long as no one turned around, it did not interfere with their journey. In fact, they often went faster than they wanted to and this affected their walk almost to the point of making them stumble. But an immense hope doubled their efforts, for this time they did not move randomly along the shore. They had no doubt that Neb had found his master and had sent the faithful dog to them. But was the engineer alive, or was Neb only summoning his companions to render the last rites to the body of the unfortunate Smith?

After passing by the smooth face of the cliff which they carefully side-stepped, Harbert, the reporter and Pencroff stopped to catch their breath. The angle of the cliff sheltered them from the wind, and they caught their breath after this march of a quarter of an hour which had been something of a race.


 They could now hear and speak to one another. The lad pronounced the name of Cyrus Smith. Top gave a few short barks as if he wanted to say that his master was rescued.

“Saved, is he?” repeated Harbert, “Saved, Top?”

And the dog barked as if in response.

The march was resumed. It was about half past two in the morning. The sea began to rise and, driven by the wind, the tide threatened to be very high. Large waves boomed against the edge of the reef and assailed it with such violence that they would very likely sweep over the islet, then completely invisible. This long breakwater would no longer protect the coast which was directly exposed to the onslaught of the open sea.

As soon as the sailor and his companions left the edge of the cliff, the wind struck them anew with extreme fury. Bent and straining their backs against the gusts of wind, they quickly followed Top who did not hesitate in his direction. They went north. On their right was an interminable crest of waves which broke with a deafening roar, and on their left a dark landscape it was impossible to make out. But they sensed that it was relatively flat because the wind now passed above them without being driven back as it had when it struck the face of the granite cliff.

At four o’clock in the morning, they estimated that a distance of five miles had been covered. The clouds were slightly higher and no longer at ground level. The wind, less humid, moving in very brisk currents, was drier and colder. Insufficiently protected by their clothing, Pencroff, Harbert, and Gideon Spilett must have suffered cruelly, but not a complaint escaped their lips. They had decided to follow Top wherever the intelligent animal wanted to lead them.

About five o’clock, day began to break. First, at the zenith, where the fog was not so dense, several grayish hues delineated the border of the clouds, and, soon after, beneath a dark band of clouds, a luminous streak of light clearly outlined the water’s horizon. The crest of waves had a light brown glimmer and their foam was white. At the same time, on their left, the hilly parts of the coastline began to loom up vaguely, gray on black.

At six o’clock, day broke. The clouds moved rapidly to a higher elevation. The sailor and his companions were then about six miles from the Chimneys. They followed a very flat shoreline bordered on the open sea by a line of rocks whose tops alone emerged. On the 
 left, the land was composed of several uneven dunes bristling with thistles, offering a rather savage appearance in this vast sandy region. The shoreline was relatively flat and offered no barrier to the ocean other than an irregular chain of hillocks. Here and there, one or two twisted trees could be seen, which were leaning toward the west with their branches extending in this direction. Well behind them, in the southwest, appeared the edge of the forest.

At this moment, Top gave obvious signs of agitation. He went on ahead and then returned to the sailor as if urging him to hasten his steps. The dog left the beach and, guided by his admirable instinct and without showing a moment’s hesitation, he ran into the dunes.

They followed him. The country appeared to be absolutely deserted. Not a living creature anywhere.

This very wide area of the dunes was composed of hillocks and scattered hills, like a miniature Switzerland in sand, and nothing less than a dog’s superb instinct was needed to find one’s way through it.

Five minutes after having left the beach, the reporter and his companions arrived in front of a sort of excavation hollowed out in the rear of a high dune. There Top stopped and barked loud and clear. Spilett, Harbert, and Pencroff dashed into the cave.

Neb was there, kneeling next to a body lying on a bed of grass … The body was that of the engineer Cyrus Smith.


*
 Sea birds who especially enjoy flying in storms.



CHAPTER VIII





N

 eb did not move. The sailor said only one word to him.

“Living?” he shouted.

Neb did not reply. Gideon Spilett and Pencroff turned pale. Harbert clasped his hands and remained still. But it was evident that the poor Negro, absorbed in his grief, had neither seen his companions nor heard the sailor’s words.

The reporter knelt down next to the motionless body and placed his ear on the engineer’s chest after having half-opened his garment. A minute—a century!—passed, during which he tried to detect some heartbeat.
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 The body was that of the engineer.




Neb had straightened up a bit and stared without seeing. Despair could not have changed a man’s face more. Neb was unrecognizable, exhausted by fatigue, broken by pain. He believed his master dead. Gideon Spilett got up after a long and careful examination.

“He lives!” he said.


 Pencroff, in his turn, knelt next to Cyrus Smith; his ear also detected a heartbeat and some breath that escaped from the engineer’s lips.

Harbert ran outside to look for water. A hundred feet away he found a clear stream, evidently very swollen by the rains of the previous evening, which filtered through the sand. But there was nothing he could use to carry this water, not a shell among these dunes. The boy had to content himself with dipping his handkerchief into the stream, and he ran back to the cave.

Fortunately the soaked handkerchief was sufficient for Gideon Spilett who wanted only to wet the engineer’s lips. These molecules of cool water produced an immediate effect. A sigh escaped from Cyrus Smith’s chest and it even appeared that he was trying to say a few words.

“We’ll save him!” said the reporter.

At these words, Neb recovered hope. He removed his master’s clothing to see if the body showed any wound. Neither the head nor torso nor limbs had any contusions, not even scratches—a surprising thing, since the engineer must have been tossed around among the rocks. Even the hands were intact, and it was difficult to explain how the engineer showed no trace of the efforts he must have made to get past the reef.

But the explanation of these circumstances would come later. When Cyrus Smith was able to speak, he would tell what happened. For the moment, they must recall him to life, and it was likely that vigorously rubbing his body might bring on this result. This is what was done with the sailor’s pea jacket. The engineer, warmed by this rough massage, moved his hands slightly, and his breathing began to be more regular. He was dying of exhaustion and no doubt, without the arrival of the reporter and his companions, it would have been all over for Cyrus Smith.

“You thought that your master was dead?” the sailor asked Neb.

“Yes! Dead!” replied Neb, “and if Top had not found you, if you hadn’t come, I would have buried my master, and I would have died beside him!”

One could see on what Cyrus Smith’s life had depended!

Neb related what had happened. The day before, after leaving the Chimneys at daybreak, he went along the coast in a northeasterly direction 
 and reached the point on the shore that he had already visited. There, admittedly without any hope, Neb searched along the shore, among the rocks, on the sand, for the least indication to guide him. He had especially examined the part of the shore that the high tide had not reached because, on the beach, the rise and fall of the tide had erased all signs. Neb no longer hoped to find his master living. His purpose was to discover the engineer’s body, a cadaver that he wanted to bury with his own hands!

Neb searched for a long time. His efforts remained fruitless. It did not seem that this deserted coast had ever been frequented by a human being. Those shells that the sea had not reached, and which could be seen by the thousands above the tideline, were intact—not a single one had been broken. In a space of two to three hundred yards,*
 there was no trace of a landing, either recently or in the distant past.

Neb then decided to go up the coast for several miles. It was possible that currents carried the body to a point further up. When a cadaver floats a short distance from a low shore, it is rare that the waves do not push it up onto the beach sooner or later. Neb knew this and he wanted to see his master one last time.

“I ran along the shore for two more miles. I visited the entire reef line at low tide, the entire beach at high tide, and I despaired of finding anything when yesterday, about five o’clock in the evening, I saw footprints in the sand.”

“Footprints?” shouted Pencroff.

“Yes!” replied Neb.

“And did these footprints begin at the reef?” asked the reporter.

“No,” replied Neb, “at the high water mark only, because those between the high water mark and the reef were washed away.”

“Continue, Neb,” said Gideon Spilett.

“When I saw these prints, I was nearly crazy with joy. They were very distinct and went toward the dunes. Running, I followed them for a quarter of a mile, taking care not to erase them. Five minutes later, as night was coming on, I heard a dog barking. It was Top, and Top led me here to my master.”

Neb finished his recital by telling them about his grief on finding this inanimate body. He tried to detect some sign of life. Now that 
 he had found him dead, he wanted him alive! All his efforts were useless. Nothing remained but to render the last rites to him whom he loved so much.

Neb then thought of his companions. Doubtless they would want to see the unfortunate man for one last time. Top was there. Couldn’t he count on the shrewdness of the faithful animal? Neb pronounced the reporter’s name several times, the one that Top knew best of the engineer’s companions. Then he pointed to the south and the dog darted off in that direction.

Guided by an instinct that might seem almost supernatural because the animal had never been to the Chimneys, Top nevertheless arrived there.

Neb’s companions listened carefully to this story. It astonished them that Cyrus Smith, after the efforts he must have made to escape the waves and get past the reef, did not even show a scratch. Also inexplicable was that the engineer had been able to get to this distant cave in the middle of dunes more than a mile from the coast.

“So, Neb,” said the reporter, “it wasn’t you who brought your master to this place?”

“No, it wasn’t I,” replied Neb.

“It’s obvious that Mr. Smith came here alone,” said Pencroff.

“It’s obvious,” noted Gideon Spilett, “but it’s unbelievable!”

They could only get an explanation from the engineer himself; they would have to wait until he was able to speak. Fortunately, life was already rapidly returning to him. The massage had improved his blood circulation. Cyrus Smith moved his arms again, then his head, and several incomprehensible words escaped from his lips.

Neb, bending over him, called him, but the engineer did not seem to hear and his eyes were still closed. Life revealed itself only by the slight movements of his body; his consciousness had not yet returned.

Pencroff regretted not having a fire, or the means for making one, because he had unfortunately forgotten to bring along the burnt linen which would have been easy to ignite by striking two flintstones together. As for the engineer’s pockets, they were absolutely empty except for his vest which contained his watch. They had to carry Cyrus Smith to the Chimneys as soon as possible. Everyone was in full agreement.

Meanwhile, the care they lavished on the engineer was making his 
 recovery more rapid than they had dared to hope. The water with which they wet his lips was reviving him little by little. Pencroff had the idea of mixing with this water some of the gravy from the flesh of the grouse that he had brought along. Harbert, running to the shore, returned with two large bivalve shells. The sailor made a sort of mixture and placed it between the lips of the engineer, who seemed eager to swallow it.

His eyes opened. Neb and the reporter were bent over him. “My master! My Master!” shouted Neb.

The engineer heard him. He recognized Neb and Spilett, then his two other companions, Harbert and the sailor, and his hand lightly pressed theirs.

Several words again escaped from his mouth, the same words that he had doubtless uttered earlier, expressing the thoughts that were, even then, troubling his mind. This time these words were understood. “Island or continent?” he murmured.

“Ah,” shouted Pencroff, “By all the devils, we couldn’t care less provided you’re alive, Mr. Cyrus! Island or continent? We’ll see later.”

The engineer made a slight affirmative sign and appeared to sleep. Taking care not to disturb him, the reporter immediately made arrangements to have the engineer transported under the best conditions. Neb, Harbert, and Pencroff left the cave and made their way toward a high dune crowned with some scraggy trees. On the way, the sailor could not help repeating:

“Island or continent! To think of that, with what might’ve been his final breath! What a man!”

Arriving at the top of the dune, Pencroff and his two companions, without any tools but their hands, stripped off the main branches from a rather stunted tree, a sort of maritime pine weakened by the wind. Then, with these branches, they made a litter which, once covered with foliage and grass, would allow them to transport the engineer.

It took about forty minutes, and it was ten o’clock when the sailor, Neb, and Harbert returned to Cyrus Smith whom Gideon Spilett had not left.

The engineer was then up from his sleep or rather from this stupor in which they had found him. The color returned to his cheeks which had held the pallor of death. He got up a little, looked around him, and seemed to ask where he was.


 “Can you listen to me without tiring yourself, Cyrus?” asked the reporter.

“Yes,” replied the engineer.

“I’d say,” the sailor then said, “that Mr. Smith could listen to you better if he had more of this grouse jelly—it really is grouse, Mr. Cyrus,” he added, presenting him some of this jelly to which this time he added some scraps of flesh.

Cyrus Smith chewed these bits of grouse, the remainder of which was distributed to his four companions who were very hungry and who found the meal rather meager.

“Good,” said the sailor, “we have provisions waiting for us at the Chimneys, because it’s well for you to know, Mr. Cyrus, we have down there in the south a house with rooms, beds, and a fireplace and in the pantry dozens of birds which our Harbert calls couroucous. Your litter is ready and, as soon as you feel strong enough, we’ll carry you to our shelter.”

“Thanks, my friend,” said the engineer, “in an hour or two we’ll be able to leave … and now, speak, Spilett.”

The reporter then told him all that had happened. He related those events not known to Cyrus Smith: the last fall of the balloon, setting foot on this unknown land which appeared deserted whether it be an island or a continent, the discovery of the Chimneys, the search to find the engineer, Neb’s devotion, all they owed to the intelligence of the faithful Top, etc.

“But,” Cyrus Smith asked in a voice still weak, “you didn’t pick me up at the beach?”

“No,” replied the reporter.

“And it wasn’t you who brought me to this cave?”

“No.”

“How far are we from the reef?”

“About half a mile,” replied Pencroff, “and if you’re astonished, Mr. Cyrus, we’re equally surprised to see you here!”

“Indeed,” replied the engineer, taking an interest in these details, “indeed, there is something peculiar in this!”

“But,” responded the sailor, “can you tell us what happened after you were carried away by the wave?”

Cyrus Smith tried to remember but he knew little. The wave had torn him from the ropes of the balloon. At first he sank several fathoms but when he returned to the surface of the sea, he felt a living 
 being moving near him in the semi-darkness. It was Top who had thrown himself into the water to come to his aid. On raising his eyes, he could no longer see the balloon which, relieved of his weight and that of the dog, had shot away like an arrow. He found himself in the midst of an angry sea at least a half mile from shore. He tried to battle the waves and swam vigorously. Top held him up by his clothes, but a strong current seized him and pushed him northward. After a half hour of struggling, he sank, dragging Top with him down into the abyss. From that time until the moment when he found himself in the arms of his friends, he remembered nothing.

“However,” said Pencroff, “you must have been thrown on the beach, and you must have had the strength to come here since Neb found your footprints!”

“Yes … that must be it …” replied the engineer, “And you didn’t see any traces of human beings along this shore?”

“Not a sign,” said the reporter. “Besides, if by chance some rescuer ran into you there, why would he have abandoned you after having plucked you from the waves?”

“You’re right, my dear Spilett. Tell me Neb,” added the engineer, turning to his servant, “it wasn’t you who … you didn’t have a forgetful moment … during which … No, that’s absurd … Are there any other footprints?” asked Cyrus Smith.

“Yes, master,” replied Neb, “here at the entrance, at the back of this dune, in a place sheltered from the wind and the rain. The others have been wiped away by the storm.”

“Pencroff,” said Cyrus Smith, “would you take my shoes and see if they positively fit these footprints?”

The sailor did as the engineer asked. Harbert and he, guided by Neb, went to check the footprints while Cyrus said to the reporter: “These events are inexplicable!”

“Inexplicable indeed!” replied Gideon Spilett.

“But let’s not dwell on it at the moment, my dear Spilett. We’ll discuss it later.”

An instant later the sailor, Neb and Harbert returned.

There was no doubt possible. The engineer’s shoes fit the remaining footprints exactly. Therefore, it was indeed Cyrus Smith who had left them in the sand.

“So then,” he said, “it was I who experienced this hallucination, not Neb! I must’ve walked up here like a sleepwalker, without being 
 conscious of my steps, and it was Top who instinctively led me here after having dragged me from the waves … Come Top! Come my dog!”
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He had to lean on the sailor.




The magnificent animal ran to his master, barking, and was spared no caresses.


 They agreed that there was no other explanation to be given to the events that led up to Cyrus Smith’s rescue and that all honor belonged to Top.

Around noontime, Pencroff asked Cyrus Smith if he was ready to travel. With an effort that attested to his very energetic will, Cyrus Smith responded by getting up. But he had to lean on the sailor or he would have fallen.

“Good! Good!” said Pencroff, “bring the engineer’s litter.”

The litter was brought. The transverse branches were covered with moss and long grass. They placed Cyrus Smith on it and started toward the coast, Pencroff carrying it at one end and Neb at the other.

There were eight miles to cover. Since they could not go fast and since it would be necessary to stop frequently, they would need at least six hours to get to the Chimneys. The wind was still strong but, fortunately, it was no longer raining. While lying down, the engineer rested on his arms and observed the coastline, especially the part opposite the sea. He did not speak but looked and this country with its rugged terrain, its forests, and its variety of flora impressed itself on his mind. However, after travelling for two hours, he was overcome by fatigue and he slept on the litter.

At five-thirty, the small group reached the cliff’s face, and a little later they were in front of the Chimneys. They stopped, and the litter was placed on the sand. Cyrus Smith was in a deep sleep and did not waken.

To his great surprise, Pencroff saw that the previous night’s frightful storm had altered the surroundings. A serious landslide had occurred. Large sections of rock were deposited on the beach, and a thick layer of seaweed, wrack and algae covered the entire shore. Evidently the sea, passing over the islet, had carried itself up to the very base of the enormous wall of granite. In front of the Chimneys the soil had deep holes due to the violent assault of the waves.

Pencroff had a premonition. He dashed into the corridor.

Almost immediately he came out, stood still, and looked at his companions.

The fire was extinguished. The drowned cinders were nothing but slime. The burnt linen, which was to have served as tinder, had disappeared. The sea had penetrated deeply into the passageways and had wrecked everything! All was demolished in the interior of the Chimneys!
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 Cyrus Smith was in a deep sleep.





*
 The yard is an American measure of length, equivalent to 0.99144 meters.


 
CHAPTER IX





I

 n a few words Gideon Spilett, Harbert and Neb were brought up to date. This accident which could have very serious consequences—at least Pencroff envisioned it so—produced different reactions from the honest sailor’s companions.

Neb, in his joy at having found his master, did not listen, or rather did not wish to concern himself with what Pencroff was saying. Harbert, to some degree, shared the sailor’s apprehensions. As to the reporter, he simply responded:

“Honestly, Pencroff, I don’t care!”

“But I repeat that we no longer have any fire!”

“Pooh!”

“Nor any means of relighting it.”

“No problem!”

“Nevertheless, Mr. Spilett …”

“Isn’t Cyrus Smith here?” replied the reporter. “Isn’t our engineer alive? He will easily find the means of making us some fire, he will!”

“And with what?”

“With nothing.”

What answer could Pencroff give to that? There was no reply because, deep down, he shared the confidence that his companions had in Cyrus Smith. The engineer was for them a microcosm of all science and all human intelligence. Better to find oneself with Cyrus on a deserted island than without Cyrus in the most industrialized city of the Union. With him, they could want for nothing. With him, they could not despair. If someone were to tell these brave people that a volcanic eruption would annihilate this land, that it would be thrown into the depths of the Pacific, they would have calmly replied: “Cyrus is here. Go see Cyrus!”

In the meanwhile, however, the engineer had once more relapsed into an unconscious state brought on by the journey, and they could not call on his ingenuity at the moment. Supper would be necessarily meager. In fact all the grouse meat had been eaten, and there was no means whatsoever of roasting any game. Besides, the couroucous which served as a reserve had disappeared. Before anything else, Cyrus Smith was carried into the central corridor. There, they managed to arrange a couch of algae and seaweed which had remained almost dry. 
 The deep sleep that took possession of him would doubtless do more to bring his strength back than any food.

Night came on, and the temperature dropped to freezing once more. Since the sea had destroyed Pencroff’s partitions, the air currents were strong, making the Chimneys barely habitable. The engineer would have found himself in a bad state if his companions, by removing their own jackets and waistcoats, had not carefully covered him. Supper that evening consisted only of the inevitable lithodomes amply gathered by Harbert and Neb on the shore. To these mollusks the boy added a certain quantity of edible algae that he collected on some high rocks that the sea could not reach except during extremely high tides. These algae belonged to the fucus family, being a species of sargassum which, when dry, furnishes a gelatinous material rather rich in nutrients. The reporter and his companions, after having eaten a considerable quantity of lithodomes, chewed on this sargassum which they found to have a good flavor. It should be said that, on Asiatic shores, they are an important food for the natives.

“No matter,” said the sailor, “Mr. Smith will soon help us.”

However, the cold became very intense and, unfortunately, they had no means of combatting it.

The sailor, truly vexed, looked for every possible way to make a fire. Neb even helped him with this. They found some dry moss and striking two pebbles they obtained some sparks; but the moss, not being sufficiently flammable, did not catch. Moreover, these sparks, which were only from incandescent flint, did not have the strength of those produced by a piece of steel in the ordinary tinder box, so the operation did not succeed.

Pencroff, although he had no confidence in the procedure, then tried rubbing two pieces of dry wood against each other the way the savages do. Certainly, if his and Neb’s physical efforts in this attempt had been transformed into heat, according to the latest theories, it would have been sufficient to fire the boiler of a steamer. But the result itself was negative. The wood heated up, that was all, and much less so than the operators themselves.

After working for an hour Pencroff was in a rage and he threw the pieces of wood away with disgust.

“When someone can make me believe that the savages make fire in this way” he said, “it will be hot even in winter! I could sooner light up my arms by rubbing them against each other!”
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 Pencroff rubbed two pieces of dry wood.




The sailor was wrong to belittle this technique. It is known that savages set fire to wood by means of a rapid rubbing. But all kinds of wood are not proper for this procedure and, in addition, one must have the “knack” for it, and Pencroff likely did not have the “knack.”

Pencroff’s ill humor did not last long. Harbert picked up the two 
 pieces and began to rub them. The robust sailor laughed on seeing the adolescent’s efforts to succeed where he had failed.

“Rub, my boy, rub!” he said.

“I am rubbing,” replied Harbert laughing, “but I don’t pretend to do anything except take my turn at warming myself instead of shivering. Soon I’ll be as warm as you, Pencroff!”

This was the case, but they finally had to give up on starting a fire for the night. Gideon Spilett repeated for the twentieth time that Cyrus Smith would not have been inconvenienced by such a trifle. And while waiting, he stretched out on a bed of sand in one of the corridors. Harbert, Neb, and Pencroff did likewise while Top slept at the foot of his master.

The next day, March 28th, when the engineer awoke about eight o’clock in the morning, he saw his companions nearby watching him sleep. As on the previous day, his first words were:

“Island or continent?”

One could see that he was fixated on this idea.

“Well” replied Pencroff, “we know nothing about it, Mr. Smith!”

“You still don’t know? …”

“But we will know,” added Pencroff, “when you will have guided us around this land.”

“I think I’m well enough to try it,” replied the engineer. Without too much effort, he got up and held himself erect.

“That’s good,” said the sailor.

“I was suffering especially from exhaustion,” replied Cyrus Smith. “My friends, a little food, and it will no longer show. You have a fire, don’t you?”

This question did not get an immediate response. But after a few moments:

“Alas! We have no fire,” said Pencroff, “or rather, Mr. Cyrus, we have it no longer!”

The sailor related all that had happened on the previous day. He amused the engineer with his story of the single match and his aborted attempt to make fire the way the savages do.

“We’ll think about it,” replied the engineer, “and if we don’t find a substance similar to tinder …”

“Then?” asked the sailor.

“Then we’ll make matches.”

“With chemicals?”
1




 “With chemicals.”

“It isn’t any more difficult than that,” shouted the reporter, slapping the sailor’s shoulder.

The latter did not find the thing so simple, but he did not protest. They all went out. The weather was fine once again. A bright sun was rising on the sea’s horizon, and its golden rays sparkled on the coarse refractive surface of the granite wall.

After casting a quick glance around him, the engineer sat down on a rock. Harbert offered him a few handfuls of mussels and seaweed saying:

“This is all we have, Mr. Cyrus.”

“Thanks, my boy,” replied Cyrus Smith, “this will suffice, for this morning at least.”

He ate this scanty meal and washed it down with a little fresh water drawn from the river in a large shell.

His companions looked at him without speaking. After assuaging his hunger as best he could, Cyrus Smith then crossed his arms and said:

“So my friends, you still don’t know if fate has thrown us on a continent or an island?”

“No, Mr. Cyrus,” responded the boy.

“We’ll know that tomorrow,” replied the engineer. “Until then, there’s nothing to do.”

“Except,” said Pencroff.

“What?”

“Fire,” said the sailor, who also had only one idea.

“We’ll make it, Pencroff,” replied Cyrus Smith. “While you transported me yesterday, didn’t I see in the west a mountain which overlooked this land?”

“Yes,” said Gideon Spilett, “a high mountain …”

“Good,” replied the engineer, “tomorrow we’ll climb to the top, and we’ll see if this land is an island or a continent. Until then, I repeat, there’s nothing to be done.”

“Yes, make a fire!” said the stubborn sailor.

“We’ll make a fire,” replied Gideon Spilett, “a little patience, Pencroff.”

The sailor looked at Gideon Spilett as if to say: “If it depended on you to make it, we wouldn’t soon taste any roasted meat.” But he was silent.


 However, Cyrus Smith did not reply. He seemed very little preoccupied with this question of fire. For several moments, he remained absorbed in his thoughts. Then he spoke again.

“My friends,” he said, “our situation is perhaps deplorable, but in any case it’s very simple. Either we’re on a continent and then, at the price of greater or less fatigue, we’ll eventually reach some inhabited part. Or else we’re on an island and, in that case, there are two possibilities: if the island is inhabited, we’ll get out of this situation with their help; if it’s deserted, we’ll have to do so alone.”

“Nothing is simpler,” replied Pencroff.

“But whether it is a continent or an island,” asked Gideon Spillet, “where do you think, Cyrus, this storm has thrown us?”

“In truth, I can’t say for sure,” replied the engineer. “But I presume that it’s a land in the Pacific. When we left Richmond, the wind blew from the northeast, and its very violence proves that its direction must not have varied much. If this direction was maintained from northeast to southwest, we crossed the states of North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, the Gulf of Mexico, the narrow part of Mexico, then a portion of the Pacific Ocean. I estimate that the distance covered by the balloon was not less than six to seven thousand miles. If the wind varied by as little as a few degrees, it would have carried us either to the archipelago of Marquesas or to the Tuamotu, and if it had a much larger speed than I suppose, even to New Zealand. If this latter hypothesis is the case, then our return home will be easy. British or Maoris, we’ll always find someone to speak to. If, on the contrary, this shore is a part of some deserted island of a micronesian archipelago—and we’ll perhaps learn this from the top of the mountain which overlooks this land—then we’ll have to plan on settling down here as if we’ll never leave it!”

“Never?” shouted the reporter. “You say never, my dear Cyrus?”

“Better to first put things in the worst,” replied the engineer, “and to save pleasant surprises for later.”

“Well spoken,” said Pencroff, “and let’s hope that this island, if it is one, won’t be situated outside the shipping lanes. That would really be a run of bad luck.”

“We’ll know what we are faced with after first climbing the mountain,” replied the engineer.

“But tomorrow, Mr. Cyrus,” asked Harbert, “will you be strong enough to make this climb?”


 “I hope so,” responded the engineer, “but on the condition that Master Pencroff and you, my boy, show yourselves to be intelligent and skillful hunters.”

“Mr. Cyrus,” replied the sailor, “since you’re speaking of game, if, on my return, I was as certain of being able to roast it as I am of bringing it back …”

“Bring it back all the same, Pencroff,” replied Cyrus Smith.

It was agreed that the engineer and the reporter would spend the day at the Chimneys examining the shore and the upper plateau. During this time, Neb, Harbert, and the sailor would return to the forest to renew the stockpile of wood and to lay hands on all beasts of feather or hair that would come within their reach.

They left about ten o’clock in the morning, Harbert confident, Neb joyful, and Pencroff mumbling to himself:

“If, on my return, I find fire, I’ll believe that thunder came in person to light it.”

All three went along the bank and arrived at the bend formed by the river. The sailor stopped and said to his companions: “Shall we begin by being hunters or woodsmen?”

“Hunters,” replied Harbert. “Top is already on the hunt.”

“Hunters then,” said the sailor. “Then we’ll return here to renew our supply of wood.”

That said, Harbert, Neb, and Pencroff tore off three sticks from the trunk of a young fir tree and followed Top who dashed in among the tall grass.

This time the hunters, instead of walking along the river’s edge, plunged directly into the depths of the forest. They still found the same trees belonging for the most part to the pine family. In certain less crowded areas, isolated in clusters, these pines were very large and seemed to indicate that this country was at a higher latitude than the engineer had conjectured. Some clearings, bristling with stumps rotted by time, were covered with dead wood, and formed an inexhaustible reserve of fuel. Then, beyond the clearing, the brushwood grew closer and became almost impenetrable.

Without a beaten path, it was rather difficult to find their way among these massive trees. From time to time the sailor marked out his route by breaking some boughs that would be easy to recognize. But perhaps they were wrong not to have followed the water’s course as Harbert and he had done during their first excursion because, after 
 an hour’s march, they still had no game to show. Top, moving under low branches, only gave warning of birds they could not get near. The couroucous themselves were absolutely invisible, and it was likely that the sailor would be forced to return to that marshy part of the forest in which he had so fortunately used his fishing line to capture the grouse.

“Well, Pencroff,” said Neb in a sarcastic tone, “if this is all the game you’ve promised to bring back, it won’t take a very big fire to roast it.”

“Patience, Neb,” replied the sailor, “it won’t be game that will be lacking on our return.”

“Have you no confidence in Mr. Smith?”

“Certainly.”

“But you don’t believe he’ll make a fire?”

“I’ll believe it when the wood is burning on the hearth.”

“It will burn since my master has said so.”

“We’ll see.”

The sun had not yet reached its highest point in the sky. The exploration therefore continued and was marked by a useful discovery, made by Harbert, of a tree whose fruit is edible. It was the pine kernel which produces an excellent almond, highly esteemed in the temperate regions of America and Europe. These almonds were perfectly ripe, and Harbert pointed this out to his two companions who were delighted by it.

“Well,” said Pencroff, “we have algae to take the place of bread, mussels for meat, and almonds for dessert. What a meal for people who don’t have a single match in their pocket!”

“It’s no use complaining,” replied Harbert.

“I don’t complain, my boy” said Pencroff. “Only I repeat that meat is a little too scant in this type of meal.”

“Top has seen something! …” shouted Neb. He ran toward a thicket in which the barking dog had disappeared. Peculiar growls mingled with Top’s barks.

The sailor and Harbert followed Neb. If they had some game here, this was not the time to discuss how to cook it but how to capture it.

The hunters had barely entered the thicket when they saw Top holding an animal by an ear. This quadruped was a kind of pig about two and a half feet long, blackish brown but not as dark on the underside, having tough but thin hair. The animal’s toes, which were then gripping the ground, seemed to be united by membranes. Harbert 
 thought he recognized this animal as a capybara, one of the largest rodents.
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They saw Top holding an animal.




However, the capybara was not struggling with the dog. It stupidly rolled its large eyes which were deeply imbedded in a thick layer of fat. Perhaps it was seeing men for the first time.
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 “Look!”




Neb, holding his stick firmly in his hand, ran to kill the rodent when the latter, being held only by the tip of his ear, tore himself away from Top’s teeth, gave a hearty grunt, plunged headlong on Harbert, knocking him half over, and disappeared into the woods.

“The rascal!” shouted Pencroff.


 Immediately all three ran after Top and, just as they caught up to him, the capybara disappeared under the waters of a large pond shaded by some large old pines.

Neb, Harbert, and Pencroff stopped at the water’s edge. Top threw himself into the water, but the capybara, lying at the bottom of the pond, was no longer visible.

“Let’s wait,” said the lad, “because he’ll soon come to the surface to breathe.”

“Won’t he drown?” asked Neb.

“No,” replied Harbert, “since his feet are webbed and he’s almost an amphibian. But watch for him.”

Top continued to swim. Pencroff and his two companions each occupied a different point on the bank in order to cut off all retreat for the capybara while the dog searched as he swam on the surface of the pond.

Harbert was not mistaken. After a few minutes, the animal emerged from the waters. Top was after him in a bound and prevented him from plunging again. An instant later the capybara, dragged to the bank, was killed by a blow from Neb’s stick.

“Hurrah!” shouted Pencroff in triumph. “If we can only get a hot fire going, this rodent will be gnawed to the bone.”

Pencroff loaded the capybara on his shoulder and, judging by the height of the sun that it was about two o’clock, he gave the signal to return.

Top’s instinct was of great usefulness to the hunters. Thanks to the intelligent animal, they were able to find the road they had already traveled. A half hour later, they arrived at the bend in the river.

As he had done the first time, Pencroff quickly made a raft of wood—even though the lack of a fire made it seem like a useless task—and with the raft moving downstream, they returned to the Chimneys.

But the sailor had not gone fifty steps when he stopped, once again let out a formidable hurrah, and pointed toward the corner of the cliff.

“Harbert! Neb! Look!” he shouted.

Smoke was rising and swirling above the rocks!



CHAPTER X




 
S

 everal moments later, the three hunters found themselves in front of a crackling hearth. Cyrus Smith and the reporter were there. Pencroff looked from one to the other without saying a word, his capybara in hand.

“Yes indeed, my good fellow,” shouted the reporter.

“Fire, real fire, that will perfectly roast this magnificent game which we’ll feast on within the hour.”

“But who kindled it? …” asked Pencroff.

“The sun!”

Gideon Spilett’s response was precise. It was the sun that had furnished this heat which amazed Pencroff. The sailor could not believe his eyes, and he was so speechless that he did not think of questioning the engineer.

“You had a lens, sir?” Harbert asked Cyrus Smith.

“No, my child,” he replied, “but I made one.”

And he showed him the apparatus that he had used as a magnifying glass. It was simply two glass crystals that he had removed from his watch and the reporter’s. After filling them with water and sealing their edges by means of a little clay, he had thus manufactured a real lens which, concentrating the sun’s rays on some very dry moss, produced combustion.

The sailor examined the apparatus, then he looked at the engineer without saying a word although his look spoke volumes. Yes, as far as he was concerned, if Cyrus Smith was not a god, he was assuredly more than a mere man. His speech finally returned, and he shouted:

“Note that, Mr. Spilett, note that in your book!”

“It’s noted,” replied the reporter.

Then, with Neb helping, the sailor arranged the spit, and the capybara, properly dressed, was soon roasting like a suckling pig over a bright and sparkling flame.

The Chimneys once more became habitable, not only because the corridors were warmed by the fire from the hearth but also because the partitions of stones and sand were once again put in place.

The engineer and his companion had employed their day well. Cyrus Smith had almost completely recovered his strength which he tested by climbing to the upper plateau. From this point, his eye, accustomed to evaluating heights and distances, had gazed for several 
 minutes at the mountain whose summit he wanted to reach the next day. The mountain, situated about six miles to the northwest, appeared to him to measure 3500 feet above sea level. Consequently, an observer posted at the summit would be able to see the surrounding area with a radius of at least fifty miles. It was probable that Cyrus Smith would easily resolve this question of “continent or island” which he justifiably gave precedence over all others.

They ate in style. The cabybara meat was excellent, and the seaweed and pine kernel almonds completed the meal admirably. But the engineer spoke little. He was preoccupied with the next day’s projects.

Once or twice, Pencroff mentioned some ideas about things it would be convenient to make, but Cyrus Smith, who evidently had a methodical mind, only shook his head.

“Tomorrow,” he repeated, “we’ll know what we’re up against, and we’ll act accordingly.”

The meal finished, some additional armfuls of wood were thrown on the fire and the guests of the Chimneys, including the faithful Top, fell into a deep sleep. No incident disturbed this peaceful night, and the next day, March 29th, they woke up fresh and hearty, ready to undertake this excursion which would decide their fate.

All was ready for the departure. The remains of the capybara would provide nourishment for Cyrus Smith and his companions for the next twenty four hours. Besides, they hoped to find provisions along the way. Since the glass crystals were now back on the engineer’s and the reporter’s watches, Pencroff burnt a little linen to serve as tinder. As to flint, there would be no shortage of that on terrain that was of volcanic origin.

It was seven thirty in the morning when the explorers, armed with clubs, left the Chimneys. Following Pencroff’s advice, it seemed best to take the road already used through the forest and to use another route on the return trip. It was also the most direct way to reach the mountain. They turned the south corner and followed the left bank of the river which they then left at the point where it curved toward the southwest. The footpath, already frayed under the green trees, was found and, at nine o’clock, Cyrus Smith and his companions reached the western edge of the forest. The ground, which was not too hilly up to that point, marshy at first, dry and sandy later, gradually sloped upward as they went from the coast toward the interior. Several fleeing animals had been glimpsed in the forest. Top promptly began to 
 chase them, but his master immediately called him back because the time had not come to pursue them. Later they would see. The engineer was not a man to let himself be distracted from his goal. He did not observe the country, neither its physical features nor its natural flora. His only objective was this mountain which he aspired to climb, and he made straight for it.

At ten o’clock, they halted for a few minutes. On leaving the forest, they could now see the orographical nature of the region.
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 The mountain was composed of two cones. The first, truncated at a height of about 2500 feet, was supported by winding foothills which seemed to spread out like immense claws gripping the ground. Between these foothills were narrow valleys, bristling with trees, the latter rising in clusters up to truncated summit. However, the vegetation seemed less abundant on the side of the mountain exposed to the northeast, and they could see there deep stripes made by flowing lava.

A second cone rested on the first cone, slightly rounded at the top, standing a bit askew. It was like a large hat cocked over the ear. It seemed to be formed of bare terrain punctuated in many spots by reddish rocks.

They agreed to reach the summit of the second cone and the ridge of the foothills offered the best way to get there.

“We’re on volcanic terrain,” said Cyrus Smith. His companions, following him, began to climb little by little up the side of a foothill whose winding path ended at the first plateau.

The ground was irregular and there was evidence of much volcanic activity. Random blocks, basaltic debris, pumice rocks, and volcanic glass were strewn all about. Several hundred feet below grew conifers, in thick isolated clusters, at the bottom of narrow gorges scarcely touched by the sun’s rays.

During the first part of this climb on the lower slopes, Harbert saw prints which indicated the recent passage of large animals.

“Perhaps these beasts won’t willingly give up their territory to us,” said Pencroff.

“Well,” replied the reporter, who had already hunted tigers in India and lions in Africa, “we’ll see about getting rid of them but, in the meantime, we must be on our guard.”

They gradually went higher. The route was long, made longer by the many detours and obstacles that could not be crossed directly. Also, at times, the ground suddenly fell away, and they found themselves at the edge of deep crevices that had to be skirted. Continually having to retrace their steps in order to find a more negotiable path took much time and energy. At noon, when the small troupe halted for lunch at the foot of a large cluster of spruce trees near a cascading brook, they found themselves still only half way to the first plateau, which they would not reach till nightfall.
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 The climbers struggled up a steep slope.





 From this altitude, the sea’s horizon was much broader but, on the right, their view was blocked by a sharp promontory in the southeast, and they could not determine whether the coastline was connected to some land beyond. To the left, their line of sight extended several miles to the north; but their view to the northwest was cut off by the ridge of an unusually-shaped spur which formed a powerful abutment to the central cone. They were still, thus, unable to answer the question that Cyrus Smith wanted above all to resolve.

At one o’clock, the climb was resumed. It was necessary to angle toward the southwest and move once again through thick brushwood. There, under the cover of the trees, several pairs of gallinules
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 of the pheasant family were flying about. They were “tragopans,”
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 adorned by fleshy wattles which hang from their throats and by two slender cylindrical horns set behind their eyes. Among this species, which are the size of a rooster, the female is uniformly brown while the male glitters in his red plumage sprinkled with small white teardrop shapes. Gideon Spilett, with a stone thrown skillfully and vigorously, killed one of these tragopans which Pencroff, now hungry, could not look at without coveting.

Upon leaving the brushwood, the climbers, by mounting on each other’s shoulders, struggled up a steep hundred foot slope and finally reached a higher terrace composed of volcanic ground with very few trees. They then went toward the east once more, moving on a winding path which made the very steep slopes more practical. Everyone had to carefully choose the spot where he placed his foot. Neb and Harbert were in front, Pencroff was in the rear, and Cyrus and the reporter were between them. The animals which frequented these heights—and there was no lack of their prints—belonged to those species of sure foot and supple backbone, the chamois and the izards. They saw several of them, but this was not the name that Pencroff gave them:

“Sheep!” he shouted.

Everyone stopped fifty feet from a half dozen of these large animals 
 with strong horns curving rearward and flat at the tip, with woolen fleece hidden under long silky buff colored hair. They were not ordinary sheep but a species generally found in the mountainous regions of the temperate zones which Harbert called mouflons.
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“Do they have legs and chops?” asked the sailor.

“Yes,” replied Harbert.

“Well, then they’re sheep,” said Pencroff.

These animals stood still among the basaltic debris and looked astonished as if they were seeing biped humans for the first time. Then their fear suddenly awakened and they disappeared in a bound among the rocks.

“Au revoir! Until we meet again!” Pencroff shouted to them in a tone so comic that Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett, Harbert, and Neb laughed.

The climb continued. On certain rock faces, they often saw traces of irregularly striated lava. They had to go around small volcanic areas of hot sulphur vapors which sometimes cut across their route. In several places, sulphur was present in crystalline form among other substances that generally precede lava flows, such as pozzuolanas, highly torrefied whitish cinders made by an infinity of small feldspar crystals.

As they neared the first plateau, formed by the truncated top of the lower cone, the difficulties of the climb became greater. Around four o’clock, they had passed the last zone of trees. There only remained, here and there, some emaciated pines which had managed to resist the strong blasts of the wind at this altitude. Fortunately for the engineer and his companions, the weather was magnificent and calm; a strong breeze at an altitude of 3000 feet would have severely affected their movement. They could feel the purity of the sky overhead through the transparent air. Around them reigned perfect calm. They could no longer see the sun, hidden by the vast screen of the upper cone which masked the western horizon. This enormous shadow, reaching to the shore, would lengthen as the radiant star descended in it daily trajectory. Several wisps of haze rather than clouds began to rise in the east, colored by all the colors of the spectrum under the action of the solar rays.

Only 500 feet separated the explorers from the plateau they wanted to reach in order to establish camp for the night, but these 500 feet were increased to more than 2000 by the zigzags they had to follow. The ground gave way underfoot. The incline was so steep that they 
 slipped on the lava strata when, worn smooth by the wind, it did not offer enough foothold. Evening came on little by little, and it was almost night when Cyrus Smith and his companions, tired from a climb of seven hours, finally reached the plateau of the first cone.

The first order of business was to set up camp and to regain their strength by eating first and then getting some sleep. This second tier of the mountain rose on a base of rocks where they would easily find shelter. Fuel was not abundant; however, they could make a fire with moss and dry brushwood which grew on certain portions of the plateau. While the sailor made his fireplace on rocks which he arranged for this purpose, Neb and Harbert occupied themselves with gathering fuel. They soon returned with a load of brushwood. The flint was struck, the burnt linen caught the sparks of the flint and, with Neb blowing, a crackling fire was soon growing in the shelter of the rocks.

The fire was only intended to combat the night’s temperature, which was a little cold. It was not used to roast the pheasant which Neb saved for the next day. The rest of the capybara and a few dozen pine kernel almonds made up the ingredients of supper. It was not past six thirty when everything was finished.

Cyrus Smith then thought of exploring, in the semi-darkness, this large circular foundation which supported the upper cone of the mountain. Before resting, he wanted to know if this cone could be walked around at its base, just in case its flanks were too steep, making the summit inaccessible. This question preoccupied him because it was possible that on the side toward which the hat inclined, that is to say toward the north, the plateau might not be climbable. On the one hand, if they could not ascend to the summit of the mountain and if, on the other hand, they could not go round the base of the cone, then it would be impossible to examine the western portion of the country and the purpose of the climb would be in part unfulfilled.

The engineer left Pencroff and Neb to organize the sleeping arrangements and Gideon Spilett to note the incidents of the day. Ignoring his fatigue, he began to follow the circular border of the plateau going northward. Harbert went with him.

The night was fine and tranquil and not yet fully dark. Cyrus Smith and the boy walked near each other without speaking. In certain places, the plateau was wide and they proceeded without difficulty. Other places, obstructed by debris, offered only a narrow path so that the two could not walk side by side. After a walk of twenty minutes, 
 Cyrus Smith and Harbert were forced to stop. From this point on, the slopes of the two cones were flush. No shoulder separated the two parts of the mountain. To go around it, along slopes of nearly 70° incline, was impossible.
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As they went higher into the crater.




But if the engineer and the boy had to give up the idea of following 
 a circular route, there was nevertheless the possibility that they could climb the cone directly.

In fact, there was before them a deep opening
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 in the solid block. It was the flare of the upper crater, the outlet so to speak, by which liquid eruptive material escaped at a time when the volcano was still active. The hardened lava and the encrusted slag formed a sort of natural staircase well designed for a climb, which would facilitate access to the summit of the mountain.

A glance sufficed for Cyrus Smith to recognize the situation. Without hesitation, and followed by the lad, he entered the enormous crevice. It was getting darker.

There was still 1000 feet to climb. Would the walls of the interior of the crater be scalable? They would see. The engineer would continue his climb as long as he could. Fortunately, the incline was gradual and winding, moving in a large spiral path along the interior of the volcano and favoring upward movement.

As to the volcano itself, there was no doubt that it was completely extinct. No smoke escaped from its interior. No flame revealed itself in the deep crevices. Neither growl, nor murmur, nor shudder came forth from this dark pit which perhaps extended to the very bowels of the earth. Even the atmosphere within the crater was not saturated with any sulphurous vapor. The volcano was more than slumbering; it was totally extinct.

Cyrus Smith’s attempt would most likely succeed. Little by little, he and Harbert ascended the inner walls and saw the crater enlarge above their heads. The radius of this circular portion of the sky, surrounded by the borders of the cone, became noticeably larger. With each step that Cyrus Smith and Harbert made, new stars entered their field of view. The magnificent constellations of the southern sky were shining brightly. At the zenith, the splendid Antares of Scorpio
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 was sparkling with a pure glare, and not far away was the ß of Centaurus which is thought to be the nearest star to the terrestrial globe. Then as they went higher, Fomalhaut
7

 of the Southern Fish appeared, the Southern Triangle, and finally near the southern pole of the sky, the sparkling Southern Cross which takes the place of the pole star of the northern hemisphere.

It was nearly eight o’clock when Cyrus Smith and Harbert set foot on the upper crest of the mountain, the summit of the cone. By then it was completely dark and they could not see more than two miles. 
 Did the sea completely surround this unknown land, or was it attached in the west to some continent of the Pacific? They still could not tell. Toward the west, a bank of clouds were clearly discernable on the horizon, adding to the darkness. They could not distinguish the line between sky and water.

But at one point on this horizon, a vague light suddenly appeared, slowly descending as the clouds rose to the zenith.

It was the slender crescent of the moon about to set. But its light was sufficient to clearly show the horizon then detached from a cloud, and the engineer was able to see its trembling image reflected for a moment on the liquid surface.

Cyrus Smith seized the boy’s hand and, with a solemn voice, said:

“An island!”

At that moment, the light of the lunar crescent was extinguished by the waves.



CHAPTER XI





A

 half hour later, Cyrus Smith and Harbert returned to camp. The engineer merely told his companions that the land where they had been thrown by chance was an island and that the next day they would discuss their options. Then each made the best sleeping arrangement he could, and in this crevice of basalt at a height of 2500 feet above sea level, the “islanders” enjoyed a deep sleep during a peaceful night.

The next day, March 30th, after a quick breakfast of roasted tragopan, the engineer wanted to climb to the volcano’s summit in order to carefully observe the island. He and his friends would perhaps be imprisoned for life here if this island was situated far from all land or if it was not near the lanes of ships visiting the archipelagos of the Pacific Ocean. This time, his companions followed him in this new exploration. They too wanted to see this island which they would ask to fulfill all their needs.

It was about seven o’clock in the morning when Cyrus Smith, Harbert, Pencroff, Gideon Spilett, and Neb broke camp, and none appeared uneasy about the situation. They had faith in themselves but it 
 should be noted that the basis of this faith was not the same in Cyrus Smith as in his companions. The engineer had confidence because he felt capable of wresting from this savage nature all that would be necessary for his life and the life of his companions; they feared nothing precisely because Cyrus Smith was with them. Pencroff especially, since the incident of the rekindled fire, would not despair for an instant even if he found himself on a bare rock, if the engineer was with him on this rock.

“Bah!” he said. “We left Richmond without permission from the authorities! It would be a devil of a thing if we didn’t succeed in leaving a place where no one was holding us back!”

Cyrus Smith followed the same path as the day before. They went around the cone by the plateau which formed the shoulder up to the opening of the enormous crevice. The weather was magnificent. The sun rose in a pure sky and its rays enveloped the entire eastern side of the mountain.

They reached the crater. It was just as the engineer had recognized it in the darkness, that is to say a vast crater that extended 1000 feet above the plateau. From the base of the crevice, broad thick flows of lava had meandered over the sides of the mountain, marking out the route of the eruptive material into the lower valleys which criss-crossed the northern portion of the island.

The interior of the crater, whose inclination was not more than thirty five to forty degrees, presented no difficulties or obstacles to climbing. They saw traces of very old lava which probably had poured out at the summit of the cone before this lateral crevice opened a new route.

As to the volcanic chimney which established communication between the subterranean levels and the crater, they could not estimate its depth by looking at it since it was lost in darkness. But there was no doubt that the volcano was completely extinct.

Before eight o’clock, Cyrus Smith and his companions were gathered at the summit of the crater on a conical elevation of the northern rim.

“The sea! The sea everywhere!” they said as if their lips could not hold back this word that made islanders of them. The sea was an immense circular expanse around them. Perhaps on climbing to the summit of the cone Cyrus Smith had hoped to discover some coast, some neighboring island, which he had not been able to see in the darkness 
 of the previous night. But nothing appeared on the horizon for a radius of over fifty miles. No land in sight. Not a sail. An immense desert. The island occupied the center of a circumference that seemed to extend to infinity in all directions.

The engineer and his companions, speechless, motionless, gazed at the ocean for several minutes. Their eyes strained to make out its furthest limits. Pencroff, who possessed a marvellous power of vision, saw nothing. If there was land anywhere on the horizon, even if it appeared as an imperceptible vapor, the sailor would undoubtedly have detected it because nature had truly placed two telescopes under his eyebrows.

After the ocean, their attention shifted to the island itself which they could see in its entirety. The first question was asked by Gideon Spilett:

“About how large is the island?”

It did not appear to be very substantial in the middle of this immense ocean.

Cyrus Smith reflected for several moments. He looked all around the island taking into account the height at which they were situated; then:

“My friends,” he said, “I believe I’m not mistaken in giving the shoreline of the island a perimeter of more than 100 miles.”*


“And its area?”

“That’s difficult to estimate,” replied the engineer, “because it’s outline is so irregular.”

If Cyrus Smith was not mistaken in his evaluation, the island was nearly as large as Malta or Zakynthos in the Mediterranean; but at the same time it was much more irregular and less rich in capes, promontories, points, bays, coves, or creeks. Its truly unusual shape surprised them, and when Gideon Spilett sketched its contours at the engineer’s suggestion, they found that it resembled some fantastic animal, a sort of monstrous pteropoda
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 which was sleeping on the surface of the Pacific.

This was the exact configuration of the island, a map of which was immediately and concisely sketched by the reporter:

The eastern portion of the coast on which the castaways had landed was curved on a large arc and bordered by a vast bay which ended 
 in the southeast by a sharp cape, a point hidden from Pencroff at the time of his first exploration. In the northeast, two other capes closed the bay and between them a narrow gulf was hollowed out which resembled the half opened jaw of some formidable shark.

From the northeast to the northwest, the coast was rounded like the flattened skull of a wild beast rising to a kind of indeterminate hump whose center was occupied by the volcanic mountain.

From this point on, the coastline was somewhat regular north and south, cut at two thirds of its length by a narrow creek, and it ended in a long tail resembling the caudal appendage of a gigantic alligator.

This tail formed a true peninsula which extended for more than thirty miles into the sea, counting the southeast cape of the island, already mentioned. The lower shore of this strangely-shaped piece of land curled around, creating a natural open harbor.

In it smallest width, that is to say between the Chimneys and the creek observed on the western coast, the island measured only ten miles. And its greatest length, from the jaw of the northeast to the end of the tail in the southwest, came to about thirty miles.

As to the interior of the island, its general appearance was thus: very wooded in all of its southern portion from the mountain up to the shore and dry and sandy in its northern part. Between the volcano and the east coast, Cyrus Smith and his companions were surprised to see a lake, bordered by green trees, whose existence they had not suspected. Seen from this height, the lake seemed to be at the same level as the sea but on reflection the engineer explained to his companions that the altitude of this small expanse of water must be 300 feet because the plateau which served as its basin was that high above the coast.

“Is this a fresh water lake?” asked Pencroff.

“Necessarily,” replied the engineer, “because it must be fed by waters which flow down from the mountain.”

“I see a small brook that flows into it,” said Harbert, pointing to a narrow creek which probably flowed from the foothills in the west.

“Yes,” replied Cyrus Smith, “since this stream feeds the lake, it’s likely that there exists an outlet by the sea where its overflow escapes. We’ll see this on our return.”

This winding watercourse and the river already noted, such was the hydrographic system they saw. It was possible, however, that beneath these masses of trees in the immense forest which made up two thirds of the island, other streams flowed toward the sea. They could assume so since this fertile and rich region showed the most magnificent specimens of flora of the temperate zones. As to the northern part, there was no indication of flowing water: perhaps some stagnant water in the marshy portions of the northeast, but that was all; there were dunes, sand, and a very pronounced aridity which vividly contrasted with the fertile soil in its larger portion.
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 “I see a small brook …”





 The volcano did not occupy the central part of the island. It stood in the northwest region and seemed to mark the boundary between the two zones. Toward the southwest, the south, and the southeast, the lower levels of the foothills disappeared under masses of vegetation. In the north, on the contrary, one could follow their contours which gradually faded into the plains of sand. It was also on this coast, during the time of volcanic eruptions, that the discharges had opened up a passage, and one broad path of lava extended to this narrow jaw forming a gulf in the northeast.

Cyrus Smith and his companions stayed for an hour on the summit of the mountain. The island revealed itself under their eyes like a relief map with various tints, greens for the forests, yellows for the sands, blues for the waters. They saw it in its entirety. The ground hidden under the immense vegetation, the bottom of the shaded valleys, the interior of the narrow sunken gorges which extended to the foot of the volcano, these alone escaped their searching eyes.

One serious question remained to answer which would singularly influence the future of the castaways.

Was the island inhabited?

It was the reporter who posed this question. It seemed they could already give a negative response after their minute examination of the island’s diverse regions.

Nowhere could be seen the work of human hands, no conglomeration of cabins, not an isolated hut, not a fishery on the shore. No smoke rose to betray the presence of man. It is true that a distance of approximately thirty miles separated the observers from the furthest points of the island, and it would be difficult even for Pencroff’s eyes to discover a habitation there. Neither could they lift up the screen of foliage which covered three quarters of the island to see if it did or did not hide some village. But the islanders of these narrow lands that emerge from the Pacific tend to live along the shore, and the shore appeared to be absolutely deserted.


 Until a more complete exploration, they would have to admit that the island was uninhabited.

But was it visited, at times, by natives from neighboring islands? It was difficult to answer this question. No land appeared within a radius of approximately fifty miles. But fifty miles could easily be crossed, either by Malaysian proas or by large Polynesian canoes. All depended on the position of the island, its isolation in the Pacific, and its proximity to the archipelagos. Would Cyrus Smith later be able to determine their latitude and longitude without instruments? That would be difficult. It would be best to take certain precautions against a possible visit from neighboring natives.

The exploration of the island was complete, its configuration determined, its outline noted, its area calculated, its hydrography and orography accounted for. The disposition of the forests and the plains were roughly sketched in on the map by the reporter. There was nothing left to do but descend the slopes of the mountain and explore the land for its mineral, vegetable and animal resources.

But before giving his companions the signal to depart, Cyrus Smith said to them in a calm and serious voice:

“Here, my friends, is the small corner of the world on which the hand of the Almighty has thrown us. It’s here that we’re going to live a long time perhaps. Maybe unexpected help will arrive if some vessel passes by chance … I say by chance because this island is not very important. It offers nothing which can serve as a port of call for ships, and I fear that it’s situated outside the ordinary shipping lanes. It’s too far south for the vessels which frequent the archipelagos of the Pacific, too far north for those that go to Australia by doubling Cape Horn. I wish to conceal nothing from you.”

“And you are right, my dear Cyrus,” the reporter replied eagerly. “You are dealing with men. They have confidence in you and you can count on them. Isn’t that so, my friends?”

“I will obey you in everything, Mr. Cyrus,” said Harbert.

“My master, always and everywhere!” said Neb.

“As for me,” said the sailor, “may I lose my name if I shirk my work. If you wish, Mr. Smith, we’ll make this island a Little America! We’ll build towns, railroads, telegraphs, and one fine day when it is transformed and civilized we’ll offer it to the government of the Union! I ask only one thing.”

“What’s that?” asked the reporter.


 “That we no longer think of ourselves as castaways but as colonists, here to colonize.”

Cyrus Smith could not restrain a smile and the sailor’s motion was adopted. Then he thanked his companions and added that he counted on their energy and on the blessing of Heaven.

“Well then, on to the Chimneys!” said Pencroff.

“One moment, my friends,” said the engineer. “It seems best to give a name to this island, and its capes, its promontories, and the watercourses that we saw below.”

“Very good,” said the reporter. “In the future, this will simplify the instructions that we’ll have to give or follow.”

“In fact,” replied the sailor, “it’s already something to be able to say where you’ve been and where you’re going. At least you have the feeling of having been somewhere.”

“The Chimneys, for example,” said Harbert.

“Right!” replied Pencroff. “This name was the most convenient, and it was the only one that came to me. Shall we keep this name for our first camp, Mr. Cyrus?”

“Yes, Pencroff, since you so baptized it.”

“Good! As to the others, that will be easy,” the sailor replied in good spirits. “Let’s use names like the Robinsons did. Harbert read their story to me more than once; ‘Providence Bay,’ ‘Cachalots Point,’ ‘Cape of Deceived Hope’ …”

“Or rather the names of Mr. Smith,” replied Harbert, “of Mr. Spilett, of Neb! …”

“My name!” said Neb, showing his sparkling white teeth.

“Why not?” replied Pencroff. “‘Port Neb’ would be very good. And ‘Cape Gideon.’”

“I would prefer names borrowed from our country” replied the reporter, “which would remind us of America.”

“Yes, for the main features,” said Cyrus Smith, “for those of the bays or the seas, I fully agree. We could give to this vast bay in the east the name Union Bay for example, to this large indentation in the south that of Washington Bay, to the mountain on which we’re now standing that of Mount Franklin, to the lake which extends beneath us that of Lake Grant;
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 nothing could be better, my friends. These names will remind us of our country and those great citizens who have honored it. But for the rivers, the gulfs, the capes, and the promontories which we see from the top of this mountain, let’s choose names which will recall their particular configuration. It will make them easier to remember, and it will be more practical at the same time. The shape of the island is strange enough so we’ll have no difficulty in imagining names by which to remember it. As to the watercourses that we don’t know, the various parts of the forest that we’ll explore later, the creeks that will be discovered in due time, we’ll name those when we discover them. What do you think, my friends?”
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 Gideon Spilett inscribed the names on his map.





 The engineer’s proposition was unanimously adopted. The island was there under their eyes like an open map, and they had only to specify names for all its features. Gideon Spilett would draw it to scale and the geographical nomenclature of the island would be formally adopted.

First they named Union Bay, Washington Bay, and Mount Franklin, as the engineer had proposed.

“Now,” said the reporter, “this peninsula which projects to the southwest of the island, I propose to give it the name of Serpentine Peninsula, and the name Reptile End to the curved tail at its end because it’s truly a reptile’s tail.”

“Adopted,” said the engineer.

“Now,” said Harbert, “for this other extremity of the island, this gulf which so singularly resembles an open jaw, let’s call it Shark Gulf.”

“Well done!” said Pencroff, “and we’ll complete the picture by giving the two parts of the jaw the name Mandible Cape.”

“But there are two capes,” observed the reporter.

“Well then,” replied Pencroff, “we’ll have North Mandible Cape and South Mandible Cape.”

“They’re so registered,” replied Gideon Spilett.

“How about the point at the southeast end of the island?” said Pencroff.

“You mean the end of Union Bay?” replied Harbert.

“Cape Claw,” Neb shouted out. He also wanted to be the godfather of some piece of this domain.

In truth, Neb had found an excellent name because this cape really represented the powerful claw of the fantastic animal which resembled the outline of the island.

Pencroff was delighted by this turn of events. And their somewhat overexcited imaginations had soon given:


 To the river, which furnished fresh water to the colonists near where the balloon had thrown them, the name of the Mercy, a true thanks to Providence;

To the islet, on which the castaways had first set foot, the name of Safety Island;

To the plateau, which crowned the high wall of granite above the Chimneys and from where they could see all of the vast bay, the name Grand View Plateau;

Finally to this massive impenetrable woods, which covered Serpentine Peninsula, the name Forests of the Far West.

The nomenclature of the visible and known parts of the island was finished, and later they would complete it with new discoveries as they went along.

As to the geographical orientation of the island, the engineer had determined it approximately by the height and position of the sun which put Union Bay and all of Grand View Plateau to the east. But the next day, by taking the exact time of sunrise and sunset and by determining the sun’s position at the midpoint between sunrise and sunset, he would calculate exactly the north of the island. Because they were located in the southern hemisphere, the sun, at the precise moment of reaching its highest point, would pass to the north and not to the south in its apparent movement, as it seems to do in locales in the northern hemisphere.

Everything was thus finished, and the colonists had only to climb down Mount Franklin to return to the Chimneys, when Pencroff said:

“What incredible dopes we are!”

“Why do you say that?” asked Gideon Spilett, who had closed his notebook and was getting ready to leave.

“What about our island itself? We’ve forgotten to name it.”

Harbert was going to propose the engineer’s name and all his companions would have applauded this choice, when Cyrus Smith simply said:

“Let’s name it after that great citizen, my friends, who now fights to defend the unity of the American republic. Let’s call it Lincoln Island.”
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Three hurrahs cheered the engineer’s proposition.

And that evening, before going to sleep, the new colonists spoke of the country they all longed for; they spoke of this terrible war which was staining it with blood; they could not doubt that the South 
 would soon be subdued and that the cause of the North, the cause of justice, could only triumph thanks to Grant and thanks to Lincoln.

So passed the 30th of March 1865. They could scarcely know that, two weeks and a day later, a horrible crime would be committed in Washington and that, on Good Friday, Abraham Lincoln would be murdered by a fanatic.


*
 Approximately 45 leagues of 4 kilometers.

o an oval.


CHAPTER XII





T

 he colonists of Lincoln Island cast one last glance around, then proceeded around the crater by its narrow ridge and, a half hour later, climbed down to the first plateau to their night camp.

Pencroff thought it was mealtime, and he raised the question of adjusting the two watches belonging to Cyrus Smith and the reporter.

Gideon Spilett’s watch had not been damaged by the sea water since the reporter had been thrown on the beach from the first, out of reach of the waves. It was an instrument of excellent accuracy, a real pocket chronometer, which Gideon Spilett had never forgotten to wind carefully each day.

As to the engineer’s watch, it had obviously stopped during the time Cyrus Smith spent on the dunes.

The engineer reset it, estimating approximately from the height of the sun that it was about nine o’clock in the morning. He set his watch to that hour.

Gideon Spilett was about to do the same when the engineer held him back saying:

“No, my dear Spilett, wait. You’ve kept the time of Richmond, haven’t you?”

“Yes, Cyrus.”

“Consequently your watch is set to the meridian of that city, a meridian which is very nearly that of Washington?”

“No doubt.”

“Very well, then keep that setting. Remember to wind it carefully but don’t touch the hands. This will be useful.”

“What good will that be?” thought the sailor.


 They ate so well that the supply of game and almonds was now completely exhausted. But Pencroff was not uneasy. They would resupply themselves en route. Top, whose portion was meager, would know how to find some new game under the cover of the brushwood. Moreover, the sailor simply intended to ask the engineer to make powder and one or two hunting guns, thinking this would present no difficulty for Cyrus Smith.

On leaving the plateau, Cyrus Smith proposed that they take a new road back to the Chimneys. He wanted to explore Lake Grant which was so magnificently surrounded by a border of trees. They followed the crest of one of the foothills where the creek*
 that fed the lake probably found its source. While chatting, the colonists were already using the proper names that they had chosen, and this facilitated the exchange of ideas. Harbert and Pencroff—the one young and the other like a small child—were delighted and, while walking along, the sailor said:

“Hey, Harbert, how things are coming along! We can’t possibly get lost, my boy, since whether we follow the road to Lake Grant or we rejoin the Mercy by crossing the woods of the Far West, we’ll necessarily arrive at Grand View Plateau and consequently at Union Bay.”

Even though they had not formed a compact group, the colonists would not wander too far from each other. Very certainly some dangerous animals inhabited the thick forests of the island, and it would be prudent to be on guard. As a rule, Pencroff, Harbert, and Neb went on ahead, preceded by Top who poked his nose into every corner. The reporter and the engineer went together. Gideon Spilett was ready to record every incident. The engineer was silent most of the time, wandering from the road only to pick up some mineral or vegetable substance, which he put into his pocket without making any comment.

“What the devil can he be picking up?” murmured Pencroff. “I’ve looked carefully and I don’t see anything worth bending over for.”

About ten o’clock, the small troop descended the last slopes of Mount Franklin. The soil was still scattered with only a few bushes and some sparse trees. They walked on yellowish calcinated ground forming a plain about a mile long which preceded the border of the 
 woods. Some large sections of basalt which, according to Bischof,
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 require three hundred fifty million years to cool, were strewn on the plain, very broken up in places. However, there were no traces of lava, which had poured down especially the northern slopes.
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They continued on, preceded by Top.




Cyrus Smith believed they could reach the creek without incident. 
 He was explaining that the creek would unfold under the trees at the edge of the plain, when he saw Harbert running towards him, while Neb and the sailor were hiding behind some rocks.

“What is it, my boy?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“Smoke,” replied Harbert. “We’ve seen smoke rising among the rocks about a hundred feet from us.”

“Men in this area?” said the reporter.

“Let’s avoid showing ourselves before we know who we’re dealing with,” replied Cyrus Smith. “I especially fear the natives if there are any on this island. Where’s Top?”

“Top’s up ahead.”

“And he doesn’t bark?”

“No.”

“That’s strange. Nevertheless, let’s try to call him back.”

In a few minutes, the engineer, Gideon Spilett, and Harbert joined their two companions and they all hid behind some basalt debris. From there, they could clearly see smoke with a characteristic yellow color twirling into the air.

Top was recalled by a low whistle from his master who, making a sign to his companions to wait for him, glided among the rocks.

The colonists were motionless, waiting for the result of this exploration with a certain anxiety, when a call from Cyrus Smith made them run up. They soon joined him and were at once struck by a very disagreeable odor. This recognizable odor allowed the engineer to guess at the identity of this smoke which had caused some anxiety.

“This fire,” he said, “or rather this smoke is the result of nature’s efforts alone. It’s due to a sulfuric spring, which will allow us to treat ourselves if we have laryngitis.”

“Good,” said Pencroff. “What a pity I don’t have a cold.”

The colonists went to the spot where the smoke escaped and saw a sulfuric salt spring pouring out abundantly among the rocks. The water gave off a vivid sulfuric acid odor after absorbing the oxygen fro

Cyrus Smith dipped his hand into it, finding these waters oily to the touch. He tasted it and found it to be a little sweet. As for its temperature, he estimated it at 95° Fahrenheit (35° Centigrade above zero). Harbert asked him how he made his evaluation.

“Very simple, my child.” he said. “On plunging my hand into this 
 water, I felt no sensation of either hot or cold. It’s the same temperature as the human body, around 95°.”
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The smoke was from a sulphuric spring.




Since the sulfuric spring was of no immediate benefit, the colonists went toward the thick border of the forest which grew a few hundred feet away.


 There, as they had guessed, the brisk clear waters of the stream ran between high banks of red ground, a color revealing the presence of iron oxide. This color immediately gave the watercourse the name of Red Creek.

It was only a large brook, deep and clear, formed by the mountain waters which, half stream and half torrent, flowed peacefully here on a sand bed, gurgling over the tops of the rocks or falling in a cascade. It flowed toward the lake a mile and a half away, and its width varied from thirty to forty feet. Its waters were fresh, which led them to believe that so were the waters of the lake. This would be a fortunate circumstance in the event they should find a dwelling on its border more agreeable than the Chimneys.

As to the trees which shaded the banks of the creek a hundred feet downstream, they appeared for the most part to be of a species which are abundant in the temperate zone of Australia and of Tasmania and not the same as the conifers which grew on that part of the island already explored a few miles from Grand View Plateau. At this time of the year, at the beginning of April, which corresponds to the month of October and early autumn in the northern hemisphere, the leaves had not yet begun to fall. This was especially so with the casuarinas and the eucalyptus, some of which would furnish next spring a sweet manna perfectly similar to the manna of the Orient. Some clusters of Australian cedars also grew in the clearings, covered with a tall grass called “tussock”
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 in Australia. However, the coconut which grows so abundantly in the archipelagos of the Pacific seemed to be missing on this island
3

 whose latitude was doubtless too low.

“What a pity” said Harbert, “a tree which is so useful and which has such beautiful nuts.”

As for the birds, they swarmed among the somewhat sparse branches of the eucalyptus and the casuarinas since these did not interfere with their wings. Black, white, or grey cockatoos, parrots and parakeets with a plumage tinged with all colors, “kings” with a bright green crowned with red, blue loris and “blue mountains” created a sight like looking through a prism. They flew amid a deafening clatter.

All at once, a strange concert of discordant voices resounded from a thicket. The colonists heard successively the singing of birds, the cries of quadrupeds and a sort of clapping which they would have believed escaped from the lips of a native. Neb and Harbert ran 
 toward this bush forgetting the most elementary principles of prudence. Very fortunately, there was no fearsome beast there, nor a dangerous native, but very simply a half dozen mocking and singing birds which they recognized as “mountain pheasants.” A few strokes of the stick, skillfully applied, ended this scene of mimicking and also procured some excellent game for the evening meal.

Harbert also pointed out some magnificent pigeons with bronze colored wings, some topped by a superb crest, others draped in green like their cousins from Port Macquarie; but it was impossible to catch them any more than the crows and magpies which flew away in flocks. A firing of small shot would have produced a great slaughter among these birds, but the hunters were still limited to stones for missiles and to sticks for hand held weapons, and these primitive devices were inadequate.

Their inadequacy was demonstrated more clearly again when a troop of hopping and bounding quadrupeds, making leaps of thirty feet, real flying mammals, ran away over the thicket so nimbly and at such a height that they seemed to pass from one tree to another like squirrels.

“Kangaroos!” shouted Harbert.

“Can we eat them?” replied Pencroff.

“Stewed,” responded the reporter, “they compare to the best venison! …”

Gideon Spilett had not finished this enticing statement when the sailor, followed by Neb and Harbert, rushed after the kangaroos. Cyrus Smith called them back but in vain. It was also in vain that the hunters chased this springy game which bounced like a ball. After five minutes of running, they were out of breath and the band of kangaroos disappeared in the brushwood. Top had no more success than his masters.

“Mr. Cyrus,” said Pencroff when they rejoined the engineer and the reporter, “Mr. Cyrus, you can see that it’s indispensable to make some guns. Will that be possible?”

“Perhaps,” replied the engineer, “but we’ll first begin by making some bows and arrows, and I don’t doubt that you’ll become just as skilled in their use as the Australian hunters.”

“Arrows, bows!” said Pencroff with a condescending pout. “That’s all well and good for children!”

“Don’t be proud, friend Pencroff,” responded the reporter. “Bows 
 and arrows sufficed for centuries to stain the earth with blood. Powder is only an invention of yesterday, but war is as old as the human race, unfortunately.”

“That’s very true, and you must excuse me, Mr. Spilett,” replied the sailor, “I always speak too hastily.”

Harbert however, engrossed in his favorite science of natural history, returned to the subject of the kangaroos by saying:

“Besides, we had an encounter there with a species that is difficult to capture. They were giant kangaroos with long grey fur, but if I am not mistaken, there also exist black and red kangaroos, rock kangaroos and rat kangaroos, which are much easier to catch. There are at least a dozen different species …”

“Harbert,” replied the sailor dogmatically, “for me there is only one species of kangaroo, the ‘kangaroo-on-the-spit,’ and that is precisely the one that we won’t be having this evening.”

They could not help laughing on hearing this new classification by Master Pencroff. The good sailor could not hide his regret at being reduced to a dinner of singing pheasants, but good fortune would once more accommodate him.

Top took a strong interest in the hunt, nosing about everywhere with an instinct increased by a ferocious appetite. It was even likely that, if he managed to catch some game, nothing would be left to the hunters because Top was now hunting for himself. Neb did well to watch him.

About three o’clock, the dog disappeared into the brushwood, and some muffled growlings soon indicated that he was fighting with some animal.

Neb dashed forward and, sure enough, he found Top greedily devouring a quadruped which, ten seconds later, would have been impossible to recognize. But, fortunately, the dog had fallen upon an entire brood. He had killed three, but two other rodents—the animals in question appeared to be of this order—were lying strangled on the ground.

Neb reappeared, triumphantly holding one of these rodents in each hand whose size exceeded that of a hare. Their yellow fur was mixed with greenish spots and their tail existed only as a rudimentary nub.

The citizens of the Union did not hesitate to give these rodents the name which befitted them. They were “maras,” a sort of agouti,
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 a 
 little larger than their cousins from the tropical countries, real American rabbits, with long ears and with five molars on each side of the jaws, which is the distinguishing characteristic of agoutis.

“Hurrah!” cried Pencroff. “The roast has arrived, and now we can go home!”

The march, momentarily interrupted, was resumed. The clear water of Red Creek rambled on under a canopy of casuarinas, banksias,
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 and gigantic gum trees. Superb liliaceous
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 plants grew to a height of twenty feet. Other species of trees, unknown to the young naturalist, leaned over the brook which they heard murmuring under these arches of foliage.

The watercourse was becoming noticeably wider, and Cyrus Smith was led to believe that they would soon reach its mouth. And, upon leaving a thick mass of beautiful trees, it suddenly appeared before them.

The explorers had arrived on the western shore of Lake Grant, an area worth examining. This expanse of water with a circumference of about seven miles and with an area of 250 acres was set within a border of various species of trees. Toward the east, the the sparkling horizon of the sea appeared. In the north, the lake traced a slightly concave curve which contrasted with the sharp outline of is lower point. Numerous aquatic birds frequented the banks of this small Ontario. The “Thousand Islands” of its American namesake were represented by a rock which emerged above the surface at several hundred feet from the southern bank. There, several pairs of kingfishers lived together, perched on a stone, solemn, motionless, on the lookout for passing fish, then, plunging into the water with a sharp cry, they would reappear with their prey in their beaks. Elsewhere on the banks and on the islet strutted wild ducks, pelicans, waterfowl, redbeaks, philedons with a tongue like a paintbrush, and one or two specimens of those splendid lyrebirds
7

 whose tail unfolds like the gracious motion of a harp.

As for the waters of the lake, they were sweet and clear. From the many concentric circles bubbling on its surface, they could not doubt but that it abounded in fish.

“This lake is truly beautiful,” said Gideon Spilett. “We could live on its shore.”

“We’ll live here!” replied Cyrus Smith.


 The colonists, who wanted to return to the Chimneys by the shortest way, went toward the angle formed in the south by the junction of the banks of the lake. With some difficulty, they cut a path through the thickets and brushwood where the hand of man had never made its mark, and so they went toward the shore, arriving at the north of Grand View Plateau. They crossed two miles in this direction when, after a last screen of trees, the plateau appeared, covered with a thick turf, and beyond that, the infinite sea.

In order to return to the Chimneys, it would have been sufficient to cross the plateau for a distance of a mile and to descend to the bend formed by the first detour of the Mercy. But the engineer wanted to find out how and where the overflow of water escaped from the lake. The exploration was prolonged under the trees for a mile and a half toward the north. It was probable that an outlet existed which went through a breach in the granite. In sum, the lake was only an immense basin which the creek gradually replenished, and it could well be that the overflow escaped to the sea by some falls. If such was the case, the engineer thought that it might be possible to utilize this waterfall’s force, now without profit to anyone. They continued to follow the banks of Lake Grant along the plateau; but after going another mile in this direction, Cyrus Smith had not been able to discover the outlet.

It was then half past four. The preparations for dinner required that the colonists go back to their dwelling. The small troop then retraced its steps along the left bank of the Mercy, and Cyrus Smith and his companions finally arrived at the Chimneys.

There, the fire was lit, and Neb and Pencroff took on the duty of chefs, the one by virtue of being a Negro, the other by virtue of being a sailor. And they skillfully prepared a meal of grilled agoutis to which they all did justice.

The meal completed, the time came for everyone to get ready for bed. Cyrus Smith took some small samples of different minerals from his pocket and said briefly:

“My friends, here’s iron ore, pyrites, clay, lime and coal. This is what nature gives us as its contributions to our efforts. Tomorrow we’ll do our share.”
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 Grilled agouti.





*
 Name which Americans give to a small, unimportant watercourse.



CHAPTER XIII




 “
 
W

 ell, Mr. Cyrus, where shall we begin?” Pencroff asked the engineer the next morning.

“At the beginning,” replied Cyrus Smith.

The colonists did indeed have to begin at the very beginning. They did not even possess the tools needed to make tools, and they did not find themselves in the position of Nature which, “having time, economizes on effort.” They had no time since they had to provide immediately for the needs of their very existence. And if, profiting from their acquired experience, they had nothing to invent, they nonetheless had everything to make. Their iron and steel was still only in the mineral state, their pottery was in the clay state, their linen and clothes were in the state of textile materials.

It must be said, however, that these colonists were “men” in the truest sense of the word. The engineer could not have been seconded by companions of more intelligence, devotion, or zeal. He had questioned them, and he knew their strengths.

Gideon Spilett, a reporter of great talent, having learned everything in order to speak about everything, could contribute with his mind and body to the island’s colonization. He would not recoil before any task and, being a passionate hunter, he would make a business out of what had been until then a sport for him.

Harbert, a courageous lad, already remarkably educated in the natural sciences, would make a substantial contribution to the common cause.

Neb was devotion personified. Skillful, intelligent, tireless, robust, with a constitution of iron, he understood a little about blacksmithing and would be very useful to the colony.

As for Pencroff, he had sailed on all the oceans, had been a carpenter in the Brooklyn dockyards, a tailor’s aide in the Navy, gardener, farmer during his furloughs, etc., and like a true man of the sea, he was prepared for anything and knew how to do everything.

It would truly be difficult to unite five men more suitable to battle fate and to be more assured of triumphing against it.

“At the beginning,” Cyrus Smith said. Now this beginning that the engineer referred to was the construction of an apparatus which would serve to transform natural substances. It is known that heat 
 plays a role in these transformations. Now the fuel, wood or coal, was available for immediate use and they must proceed to make a furnace for using it.

“What is the purpose of the furnace?” asked Pencroff.

“To make the pottery that we need,” replied Cyrus Smith.

“And with what will we make the furnace?”

“With bricks.”

“And the bricks?”

“With clay. Let’s go, my friends. In order to avoid transportation problems, we’ll establish our workshop at the very place of production. Neb will bring the provisions, and there will be no lack of fire for cooking food.”

“But,” replied the reporter, “if there’s to be no lack of food, then we’ll have to make some hunting weapons.”

“Ah! If we only had a knife,” shouted the sailor.

“What then?” asked Cyrus Smith.

“Then I would quickly make a bow and arrows, and there would be plenty of game in the pantry.”

“Yes, a knife, a sharp blade …,” the engineer said as if speaking to himself.

At this moment he turned his attention toward Top who was prowling around the beach.

Suddenly Cyrus Smith appeared to have an idea.

“Here, Top,” he said.

The dog ran up at his master’s call. He took Top’s head between his hands, detached the collar the animal carried on his neck and broke it in two parts, saying:

“Here are two knives, Pencroff!”

The sailor responded with two hurrahs. Top’s collar was made of a thin band of tempered steel. All that was needed was to first grind it on a sandstone so as to give it a keen sharp edge, and then to remove the burr on a finer sandstone. Now this type of sandy rock existed in abundance on the beach and, two hours later, the colony’s stock of tools was composed of two sharp blades which fit easily into sturdy handles.

The conquest of this first tool was saluted like a triumph, and one that had come just in time.

They left. It was Cyrus Smith’s intention to return to the eastern shore of the lake. On the previous day, he had noticed clay soil, and 
 taken a sample. They walked along the bank of the Mercy, crossed Grand View Plateau and, after a walk of five miles, they arrived at a clearing situated 200 feet from Lake Grant.

On the way, Harbert discovered a tree whose branches are used by the Indians of South America to make their bows. It was the “crejimba”
1

 of the palm tree family which bears no edible fruit. Some long straight branches were cut, stripped of leaves, pruned, made thicker in the center and thinner at the extremities, and all that remained was to find a suitable plant for the cord of the bow. This was a species belonging to the mallow family, the “hibiscus heterophyllus,”
2

 which furnishes fibers of remarkable tenacity that can be compared to the tendons of animals. Pencroff thus made some quite strong bows and now he only needed arrows. These were easy to make with some straight and rigid branches without knots. But it would not be very easy to find an iron-like substance to use on the points. But Pencroff said that he had done his share of the work, and chance would do the rest.

The colonists arrived on terrain that they recognized from the previous day. It was composed of this figuline clay which can be used to make bricks and tiles, and it would therefore be very useful in carrying out the operation. The manual labor required would not present any great difficulty. It sufficed to thin this clay with some sand, mold the bricks, and bake them in the heat of a wood fire.

Ordinarily, bricks are pressed into molds but the engineer was content to form them by hand. All that day and the following were employed with this work. The clay, mixed with water, was then puddled with the hands and feet of the men, and then divided into blocks of equal size. A skilled workman could make, without a machine, up to 10,000 bricks in twelve hours; but, in their two days of work, the five brickmakers of Lincoln Island made about 3,000 which were laid out alongside each other until the time, three or four days later, when they would be dry and ready for baking.

On April 2nd, Cyrus Smith determined the geographical position of the island.

On the previous evening, he had noted exactly the time when the sun disappeared below the horizon, taking into account refraction. This morning, he noted no less exactly the time when it reappeared. Between the setting and the rising, twelve hours less twenty four minutes elapsed. Thus six hours and twelve minutes after today’s sunrise, the sun would exactly pass the meridian and the point in the sky that it would occupy at that moment would be north.*
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 Three thousand bricks were laid out.





 At the indicated hour, Cyrus noted this point by lining up two trees with the sun which would serve as a reference mark. He thus obtained a fixed meridian for subsequent operations.

The men spent the two days preceding the baking of the bricks looking for fuel. They cut off branches around the clearing and gathered all the wood that had fallen under the trees. They also hunted a little in the vicinity, more efficiently since Pencroff possessed several dozen arrows armed with very sharp points. It was Top who had furnished these points. He brought in a porcupine, mediocre as food, but of incontestable value thanks to its quills. These quills were securely attached to the ends of the arrows and their stability was assured by a tail made with the feathers of cockatoos. The reporter and Harbert promptly became skillful archers. Game of both fur and feathers was abundant at the Chimneys: capybaras, pigeons, agoutis, heather cocks, etc. For the most part, these animals were killed in the part of the forest situated on the left bank of the Mercy which they gave the name Jacamar Woods in remembrance of the bird that Pencroff and Harbert had pursued during their first exploration.

This game was eaten fresh, but they saved the legs of the capybara which they smoked over a fire of green wood after having aromatized it with fragrant leaves. This food was fortifying, but it was always roast upon roast, and the diners would have been happy to hear the sound of beef boiling on the hearth. For this, however, they would have to wait until pots were made and consequently until the oven was built.

During these excursions, which were made only within a restricted radius around the brickyard, the hunters were able to verify the recent passage of large animals with powerful claws of a species they did not recognize. Cyrus Smith urged them to be extremely prudent because it was likely that the forest concealed several dangerous beasts.

And it was well that they did. One day, Gideon Spilett and Harbert saw an animal that resembled a jaguar. It was fortunate that this animal did not attack them because they might not have gotten away without some serious wounds. But as soon as they could get their 
 hands on a real weapon, such as one of the guns that Pencroff clamored for, Gideon Spilett vowed an intense war against the ferocious beasts in order to purge them from the island.

During these days, they did not make the Chimneys more comfortable because the engineer counted on discovering or building, if necessary, a more convenient dwelling. They were content to spread a fresh litter of moss and dry leaves on the sand of the passageways and, on these somewhat primitive beds, the weary workers slept a perfect sleep.

They also noted the days which passed on Lincoln Island from the time that the colonists first set foot there, and kept a regular count. April 5th, a Wednesday, was twelve days from the time that the storm had thrown the castaways on this shore.

On April 6th, at daybreak, the engineer and his companions gathered at the clearing where the brick baking operation would take place. Naturally, this kind of operation had to be done in the open air instead of in kilns or, rather, this conglomeration of bricks would become an enormous kiln that would bake itself. The fuel, made of well prepared faggots, was placed on the ground surrounded by several rows of dry bricks, soon forming a large cube, with air vents leading to the outside. This work lasted the entire day and only by evening did they set fire to the faggots.

That night no one slept. They carefully watched the fire.

The operation lasted forty eight hours and was a perfect success. It was necessary to let the smoking mass cool. During this time, Neb and Pencroff, guided by Cyrus Smith, used a rack of interlacing branches to transport several loads of limestone which they found to be abundant north of the lake. These stones, decomposed by the heat, produced a very viscous quicklime with a yield increased by slaking, as pure in the end as if it had been produced by the calcination of chalk or of marble. Mixed with sand, which has the effect of reducing the contraction of the paste when it solidifies, this limestone furnished an excellent mortar.

The result of these various tasks was that, on April 9th, the engineer had at his disposal a certain quantity of fully prepared lime and several thousand bricks.

Without losing an instant, they began the construction of a kiln which would bake the various pottery indispensable for domestic use. They succeeded without too much difficulty. Five days later, the kiln 
 was charged with coal which the engineer had discovered in an open bed near the mouth of Red Creek. The first smoke escaped from a chimney about twenty feet high. The clearing was transformed into a factory and Pencroff was not far from believing that this kiln would issue all the products of modern industry.

While waiting, the first thing that the colonists made was an ordinary pot but one very useful for cooking food. The main material was clay soil to which Cyrus Smith added a little lime and quartz. This paste constituted the real “pipe clay” from which they made pots, cups which had been molded to appropriate form on pottery wheels, plates, large jars and vats for holding water, etc. These objects were awkward and defective; but after they had been fired at a high temperature, the kitchen of the Chimneys held a certain number of utensils as precious as if the finest kaolin
3

 had been used in their composition.

Pencroff, desiring to know if this clay justified its name of “pipe clay,” made some rather rough pipes which he found charming. But tobacco was missing, alas!, and this constituted a large deprivation for Pencroff.

“But the tobacco will come, like everything else,” he repeated in his enthusiasm of absolute confidence.

These tasks lasted until April 15th, and this time was well spent. The colonists became potters, and did no other thing except pottery. When it would be convenient for Cyrus Smith to change them into forgers, they would be forgers. But the next day was Sunday, Easter Sunday in fact, and all agreed to sanctify this day by rest. These Americans were religious men, scrupulous observers of the precepts of the Bible, and the situation that they found themselves in could only develop their confidence in the Author of all things.

On the evening of the 15th of April, they returned permanently to the Chimneys. The rest of the pottery was carried away and the kiln was extinguished to await a new use. The return was marked by a happy incident; the engineer discovered a substance suited to replace tinder. It is known that this spongy and velvety pulp comes from a certain mushroom of the polypore genus.
4

 Properly prepared, it is extremely inflammable, especially when it has been previously saturated with cannon powder or boiled in a solution of nitrate or potassium chlorate. Up to that time, they had not found any of these polypores nor even morels which might replace them. On this day, the engineer recognized a certain plant that belongs to the artemisia genus, which counts among its principle species wormwood, citronella,
5

 tarragon, etc. He tore off several clumps and presented them to the sailor.
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 The colonists became potters.





 “Keep these, Pencroff,” he said. “Here’s something that will please you.”

Pencroff looked at the plant attentively, lined with a long and silky down, whose leaves were covered with a fluffy cotton.

“Well, what’s this, Mr. Cyrus?” asked Pencroff. “Good heavens, is it tobacco?”

“No,” replied Cyrus Smith, “it’s artemisia, Chinese artemisia for the scientists, but for us it will be tinder.”

And this artemisia, properly dried, furnishes a very inflammable substance, especially when later the engineer would impregnate it with potassium nitrate. The island possessed several beds of it. It is nothing more than saltpeter.

That evening, all the colonists were gathered in the main room and ate in style. Neb had prepared a broth of agouti, a fragrant capybara ham to which was added boiled tubercules of the “caladium macrorhizum,”
6

 a sort of herbaceous plant of the family of aroids which, in the tropical zone, take on an arborescent form. These rhizomes had an excellent taste, very nutritious, and nearly like the substance that is sold in England under the name of “Portland Sago.”
7

 This could, to a certain degree, replace bread which was still lacking to the colonists of Lincoln Island.

The supper was finished but, before going to sleep, Cyrus Smith and his companions went to get some fresh air on the beach. It was eight o’clock. The night promised to be magnificent. The moon, which had been full five days earlier, had not yet risen but already the horizon was silvered with the soft gentle hues that could be called the lunar dawn. At the southern zenith the polar constellations glistened and, among them, was the Southern Cross which the engineer had greeted several days earlier on the top of Mount Franklin.

Cyrus Smith observed this splendid constellation for some time, which had on its upper portion and on its lower portion two stars of the first magnitude, on its left arm a star of the second, and on its right arm a star of the third magnitude.

Then, after some thought,

“Harbert,” he asked the lad, “Isn’t this the 15th of April?”

“Yes, Mr. Cyrus,” replied Harbert.


 “Well then, if I’m not mistaken, tomorrow will be one of the four days in the year when the true time will coincide with the mean time. In other words, my child, tomorrow the sun will cross the meridian within some seconds of noon by the clock. If the weather is good, I think I’ll be able to obtain the longitude of the island to an approximation of several degrees.”

“Without instruments or a sextant?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“Yes,” replied the engineer. “Also, since the night is clear, I am going to try this very night to obtain our latitude by calculating the height of the Southern Cross, of the southern pole, above the horizon. You can well appreciate, my friends, that before undertaking serious work or getting settled, it would be good not only to know that this land is an island but also, if possible, at what distance it’s situated either from the American continent, or the Australian continent, or the principal archipelagos of the Pacific.”

“In fact,” said the reporter, “instead of constructing a house, we might be more interested in constructing a boat if, by chance, we’re only about a hundred miles from some inhabited coast.”

“That’s why,” replied Cyrus Smith, “I’m going to try this evening to determine the latitude of Lincoln Island, and tomorrow at noon I will try to calculate its longitude.”

If the engineer had possessed a sextant, an apparatus which permits, by reflection, the precise measurement of the angular distance between objects,
8

 the operation would have presented no difficulty. This night by the height of the pole, the next day by the sun’s crossing of the meridian, he would have obtained the coordinates of the island. But the apparatus was missing, so he had to create it.

Cyrus Smith therefore returned to the Chimneys. By the light from the hearth, he carved two small flat rulers that he attached together at their extremities so as to form a sort of compass whose branches could open or close. The point of attachment was secured by means of a strong thorn from an acacia which came from the dead wood in the woodpile.

This instrument completed, the engineer returned to the beach, but he had to take the height of the pole above a clearly defined horizon, in other words, the horizon of the sea. However, Cape Claw hid the southern horizon, so he would have to find a more convenient vantagepoint. The best would have been the shore exposed directly 
 to the south, but for this it would be necessary to cross the Mercy in the dark, which would be difficult.

Consequently, Cyrus Smith decided to make his observations from Grand View Plateau and to take into account its height above sea level, a height which he would calculate the next day by a simple procedure of elementary geometry.

The colonists therefore went to the plateau by ascending the left bank of the Mercy and stood on the edge oriented northwest to southeast, along the line of irregularly cut rocks which bordered the river.

This part of the plateau was fifty feet higher than the right bank, which sloped down to the extremity of Cape Claw and to the southern coast of the island. No obstacle interfered with their view and they were able to see the horizon from the Cape to Reptile Promontory. In the south, the horizon was illuminated from below by the first rays of the moon and was, thus, vividly delineated against the sky, enabling them to sight it with a certain precision.

At this moment, the Southern Cross presented itself in an upside down position, the star Alpha marking its base, closest to the southern pole.

This constellation is not situated as close to the Antarctic pole as the Pole Star is to the Arctic pole. The star Alpha is about 27 degrees from it, but Cyrus Smith knew this and would take account of this angle in his calculation. He was also careful to observe the moment when it passed its lowest meridian which would make his observation easier.

Cyrus Smith therefore lined up one branch of his wooden compass with the horizon of the sea, the other on Alpha, as he would have done with the circular eyepieces of a sextant, and the opening between the two branches gave him the angular distance that separated Alpha from the horizon. In order to fix immovably the angle obtained, he fastened the two slats of his apparatus with thorns and placed a third slat transversely so that their separation was firmly maintained.

That done, all that remained was to calculate the angle obtained by correcting the observation to the level of the sea so as to allow for the depression of the horizon caused by the height of the plateau. The value of this angle would give the height of Alpha and consequently that of the pole above the horizon; that is to say, it would give the 
 latitude of the island, since the latitude of any point on the globe is always equal to the height of the pole above the horizon at that point.

These calculations were left for the next day, and by ten o’clock everyone was in a deep sleep.


*
 In fact, at this time of year and at this latitude, the sun rises at 5:48 a.m. and sets at 6:12 p.m.



CHAPTER XIV





T

 he next day, April 16th, Easter Sunday, the colonists left the Chimneys at daybreak and proceeded to wash their linen and clean their clothes. The engineer counted on making soap as soon as he could procure the basic materials necessary for the saponification, soda or potash, fat or oil. The important question of making new clothing would also be treated in its proper time and place. In any case, their clothes would easily last six more months because they were well made and could resist the stress of manual labors.

But all would depend on the position of the island with respect to inhabited lands. This they would determine on this very day if the weather allowed it.

The sun rose on a clear horizon announcing a magnificent day, one of those beautiful days of autumn which are the final farewells to the warm season.

They completed the previous day’s observations by measuring the height of Grand View Plateau above sea level.

“Will you need an instrument like the one that you used yesterday?” Harbert asked the engineer.

“No, my child,” he answered, “we’ll proceed differently but in a manner almost as precise.”

Harbert loved instruction in all things. He followed the engineer, who turned away from the foot of the granite wall and went down to the edge of the beach. During this time Pencroff, Neb and the reporter were occupied with various other activities.

Cyrus Smith provided himself with a straight pole, twelve feet long, which he measured as accurately as possible by comparing it with his own height which he knew to the nearest inch. Harbert carried a plumb line that Cyrus Smith gave him, a simple stone fixed to the end of a flexible fiber.
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 They proceeded to wash their linen.




Arriving about twenty feet from the edge of the shore and about five hundred from the granite wall which rose perpendicularly, Cyrus Smith drove the pole two feet into the sand. Wedging it in with care, he succeeded, by means of the plumb line, in placing it perpendicular to the plane of the horizon.


 That done he backed up a distance so that when he lay down on the sand, his line of sight simultaneously skimmed the top of the pole and the top of the wall. He carefully marked this point with a stake.

He spoke to Harbert:

“Do you know the elementary principles of geometry?” he asked him.

“A little, Mr. Cyrus,” replied Harbert, not wishing to be too bold.

“Do you remember what are the properties of two similar triangles?”

“Yes,” replied Harbert. “Their corresponding sides are proportional.”

“Well, my child, I have constructed two similar right triangles. The first, the smaller one, has for its sides the perpendicular pole, the distance which separates the stake from the base of the pole, and my line of sight for a hypotenuse; the second has for sides the perpendicular wall, whose height we’re measuring, the distance that separates the stake from the base of this wall, and my line of sight also forming its hypotenuse which is the prolongation of the hypotenuse of the first triangle.”

“Ah, Mr. Cyrus, I understand!” exclaimed Harbert. “The distance from the stake to the pole divided by the distance from the stake to the base of the wall is equal to the height of the pole divided by the height of this wall.”

“That’s right, Harbert,” replied the engineer, “and when we’ve measured the first two distances, and since we know the height of the pole, we’ll only have a calculation to make of the ratio, which will give us the height of the wall and we’ll save the trouble of measuring it directly.”

The two horizontal distances were determined by means of the pole, whose length above the sand was exactly ten feet.

The first distance was fifteen feet between the stake and the point where the pole had been driven into the sand. The second distance, between the stake and the base of the wall, was five hundred feet.

These measurements completed, Cyrus Smith and the boy returned to the Chimneys.

There, the engineer took a stone plate which he had brought back from his previous excursions, a sort of shale slate, on which he could easily trace some numbers with a sharpened seashell. He established the following proportion:
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 A lesson in geometry.
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From this he calculated that the height of the granite wall measured 333 feet.*
 Cyrus Smith then took the instrument which he made the previous evening. Its two slats, by their separation, gave him the angular distance of the star Alpha above the horizon. He very accurately measured this angle against a circumference he had divided into 360 equal parts. This angle was found to be 10°. Consequently, the total angular distance between the pole and the horizon, adding the 27° between Alpha and the Antarctic pole and reducing it by the height above sea level of the plateau on which the observation was made, gave 37°. Cyrus Smith concluded that Lincoln Island was situated on the 37th degree south latitude, or, taking an error of 5° into account in view of the imperfection of these operations, that it was situated between the 35th and the 40th parallel.

It remained to calculate the longitude in order to completely determine the coordinates of the island. This the engineer would attempt to determine this very day at noon when the sun passed the meridian.

It was decided that on this Sunday they would take a walk to explore that part of the island situated between the north of the lake and Shark’s Gulf. Weather permitting, they would continue this reconnaissance up to the northern side of South Mandible Cape. They would eat on the dunes and return by evening.

At eight thirty in the morning the small troop followed the border of the channel. On the opposite shore, on Safety Island, numerous birds promenaded solemnly. They were the diving birds of the penguin species, very recognizable by their disagreeable cry which brings to mind the braying of the donkey. Pencroff could only think about them in terms of whether they were edible or not. He learned with satisfaction that their flesh, though blackish, was very fit to eat.

They could also see large amphibians crawling on the sand, seals no doubt, who seemed to have chosen the islet as a refuge. It was hardly possible to consider these animals from the alimentary point of view because their oily flesh is detestable; however, Cyrus Smith observed 
 them carefully and, without making his plans known, announced to his companions that they would soon pay a visit to the islet.

The shoreline was scattered with innumerable shellfish some of which would have given joy to an amateur of malacology.
1

 There were phasianella, terebratula, trigonia,
2

 etc. But what would be very useful was this vast oyster bed discovered by Neb among the rocks at low tide, located about four miles from the Chimneys.

“Neb will not have wasted his day,” shouted Pencroff, observing the bank of ostracodes which spread out to the open sea.

“It’s a fortunate discovery,” said the reporter, “and if, as is claimed, each oyster produces fifty to sixty thousand eggs each year, we’ll have an inexhaustible reserve.”

“Only I believe the oyster isn’t very nourishing,” said Harbert.

“No,” replied Cyrus Smith. “The oyster contains very little protein and if a man ate them exclusively he would need no less than fifteen to sixteen dozen each day.”

“Good,” said Pencroff. “We could devour dozens upon dozens before exhausting the bank. Shall we take some for lunch?”

Without waiting for an answer to his proposition, and knowing full well that it would be agreed to in advance, the sailor and Neb detached a certain quantity of these mollusks. They placed them in a sort of hibiscus fiber net that Neb had made and which already contained their meal; then they continued to walk along the shore between the dunes and the sea. From time to time, Cyrus Smith consulted his watch to prepare for the moment when the solar observation would take place. This had to be at noon precisely.

All of this portion of the island was very arid up to the point which closed Union Bay, now called South Mandible Cape. They saw only sand and shells mixed with the debris of lava. Several sea birds frequented this desolate coast, sea gulls, large albatrosses as well as wild duck who with good reason excited Pencroff’s appetite. He tried to shoot them with arrows, but without success because they hardly ever landed on the ground. It would have been necessary to shoot them on the wing.

This led the sailor to repeat to the engineer:

“You can see, Mr. Cyrus, that we need one or two fowling pieces.”

“Doubtless, Pencroff,” replied the reporter, “but it depends on you. Get us iron for the barrel, steel for the firing pins, saltpeter, carbon and sulphur for the powder, mercury and nitric acid for the detonater, 
 and finally lead for the balls, and Cyrus will make us guns of the highest quality.”

“Oh!” replied the engineer, “without doubt we could find all these things on the island, but a gun is a delicate instrument which requires tools of high precision. However, we’ll see later on.”

“Why,” shouted Pencroff, “did we throw overboard all the weapons the basket carried, our utensils, even our pocket knives?”

“But if we hadn’t thrown them out, Pencroff, it would be us that the balloon would’ve thrown to the bottom of the sea,” said Harbert.

“What you say is true, my boy,” replied the sailor.

Then passing to another thought:

“But think,” he added, “what must have been the bewilderment of Jonathan Forster and his companions when the next morning they found the square empty and the balloon flown away!”

“My last care is to know what they thought,” said the reporter.

“Nevertheless, it was I who thought of the idea,” said Pencroff, with a pleased look.

“A good idea, Pencroff,” replied Gideon Spilett laughing, “and one which has placed us where we are.”

“I would rather be here than in the hands of the Southerners,” exclaimed the sailor, “especially since Mr. Smith has been kind enough to come and join us.”

“And I also, truly,” replied the reporter. “Besides, what do we lack? Nothing!”

“Or rather … everything!” answered Pencroff, who roared with laughter, shaking his large shoulders. “But, one day or another, we’ll find a way to leave.”

“And perhaps sooner than you imagine, my friends,” the engineer said, “if Lincoln Island is only a moderate distance from an inhabited archipelago or a continent. In an hour we’ll know. I don’t have a map of the Pacific but I’ve a very clear memory of its southern portion. The latitude which I obtained yesterday placed Lincoln Island between New Zealand on the west and the coast of Chile on the east. But between these two lands, the distance is at least 6,000 miles. It remains to determine which point the island occupies on this large space of ocean, and the longitude will tell us within the hour with a sufficient approximation, I hope.”

“Isn’t the archipelago of Tuamotu the nearest to us in latitude?” asked Harbert.


 “Yes,” replied the engineer, “but the distance which separates us from it is more than 1,200 miles.”

“And that way?” said Neb, who followed the conversation with extreme interest, his hand pointing south.

“There, nothing,” replied Pencroff.

“Nothing, in fact,” added the engineer.

“Well, Cyrus,” asked the reporter, “if Lincoln Island is only two or three hundred miles from New Zealand or from Chile? …”

“Well,” replied the engineer, “instead of making a house, we’ll make a boat, and Master Pencroff will be in charge of maneuvering it …”

“To be sure, Mr. Cyrus,” exclaimed the sailor, “I’m ready to be captain … as soon as you’ll find a way to construct a vessel large enough to take to sea.”

“We’ll construct it, if necessary,” replied Cyrus Smith.

But while these men, for whom virtually nothing was in doubt, were chatting, the time approached for the observation. How would Cyrus Smith verify the sun’s passage on the meridian of the island without any instrument? Harbert could not guess.

The observers found themselves at a distance of six miles from the Chimneys, not far from the part of the dunes where the engineer had been found after his puzzling rescue. They halted in this area and everyone got ready to eat since it was eleven thirty. Harbert went to get some fresh water from a stream which flowed nearby. He carried it in a jug provided by Neb.

During these preparations, Cyrus Smith arranged everything for his astronomical observation. He chose a very flat place on the beach leveled by the receding tide. This very fine bed of sand was made as smooth as glass, without a single grain of sand higher than another. It was, however, of little importance whether this bed was horizontal or not and of no importance that the six foot rod be placed perpendicularly. On the contrary, the engineer even inclined it to the south, opposite the sun, because it should not be forgotten that since Lincoln Island was situated in the southern hemisphere, the colonists saw the radiant orb trace its diurnal arc above the northern horizon and not the southern horizon.

Harbert then understood how the engineer was going to determine the sun’s highest point, that is to say, its passage on the meridian of the island to determine the local noontime. It was by means of 
 the rod’s shadow projected on the sand which, in the absence of an instrument, would give him a sufficient approximation.
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The sun advanced slowly …




The moment when this shadow would attain its minimum length would be precisely noon, and one needed only to follow the end of this shadow in order to recognize the instant when, after having successively 
 diminished, it would begin to lengthen. By inclining the rod to the side opposite to the sun, Cyrus Smith produced a longer shadow and consequently his modification would make his determination easier. In fact, the larger the pointer of a sundial is, the easier it is to follow the displacement of its point. The shadow of the rod was nothing more than the pointer of a sundial.

When he thought that the moment had arrived, Cyrus Smith knelt on the sand and, by means of small wooden pegs that he stuck into the sand, he began to check off the successive decreases in the shadow of the rod. His companions, leaning over him, followed the operation with extreme interest.

The reporter held his chronometer in his hand ready to note the time when the shadow would be its shortest. Inasmuch as Cyrus Smith was doing this on the 16th of April, a day in which true time and mean time coincide, the time given by Gideon Spilett would be the true time then in Washington, which would simplify the calculation.

The sun advanced slowly; the shadow of the rod diminished little by little, and when it seemed to Cyrus Smith that it began to lengthen:

“What time is it?” he said.

“Five o’clock and one minute,” Gideon Spilett replied at once.

All that remained was to make the calculation. Nothing was easier. There was, as they saw in round figures, a difference of five hours between the meridian of Washington and that of Lincoln Island; in other words, it was noontime on Lincoln Island when it was already five o’clock in the afternoon in Washington. Now the sun, in its apparent movement around the earth, covers one degree every four minutes making 15° per hour. 15° multiplied by five hours gives 75°.

Since Washington is at 77° 3′ 11″ say 77° counting from the meridian of Greenwich—which the Americans and the British take as the longitude reference—it follows that the island was situated at 77° plus 75° to the west of the Greenwich meridian, that is to say at 152° west longitude.

Cyrus Smith announced this result to his companions and, taking into account the errors of observation as he had done for the latitude, he could affirm that the coordinates of Lincoln Island were between the 35th and 40th parallel and between the 150th and the 155th meridians to the west of the meridian of Greenwich.

The possible variations that he attributed to observational errors 
 were 5° in both directions which, at sixty miles per degree, gave an error of three hundred miles in latitude or in longitude for the exact location. But this error would have no influence on their decision. It was evident that Lincoln Island was at such a distance from all land or archipelagos that they could not cross it in a simple fragile boat.

This estimate placed it at least 1200 miles from Tahiti and the islands of the archipelago of Tuamotu, more than 1800 miles from New Zealand and more than 4500 miles from the American coast.

When Cyrus Smith searched his memory, he could not remember any island at all located in the part of the Pacific assigned to Lincoln Island.


*
 A British foot, which measures 30 centimeters.



CHAPTER XV





T

 he next day, April 17th, the sailor’s first words were directed to Gideon Spilett.

“Well sir,” he asked him, “what shall we do today?”

“Whatever pleases Cyrus,” replied the reporter.

Until then, they had been brickmakers and potters. Now the engineer’s companions would become metallurgists.

The previous day, after lunch, the exploration had been carried to the point of Cape Mandible, nearly seven miles away from the Chimneys. There, the long series of dunes ended and the soil took on a volcanic appearance. There were no longer any high walls such as Grand View Plateau but an outlandishly irregular border which surrounded the narrow gulf between the two capes and which was formed by mineral deposits vomited from the volcano. Arriving at this point, the colonists retraced their steps and, as night was falling, they again entered the Chimneys. They did not go to sleep before definitively deciding whether they should leave Lincoln Island or not.

The 1200 miles which separated the island from the Tuamotu archipelago was a considerable distance. A boat would not be sufficient to cross it especially with the storm season coming on. Pencroff had expressly said so. Now, to construct a simple boat, even having the necessary tools, was a difficult task and, the colonists not having any tools, they would have to begin by making hammers, axes, adzes, 
 saws, augers, planes, etc. which would take time. It was therefore decided that they would winter on Lincoln Island and that they would find a dwelling more comfortable than the Chimneys to pass the winter months.

First they would use the iron ore. The engineer had noted several beds in the northwest part of the island, and they could smelt this mineral into iron or steel. Soil does not generally contain metals in the pure state. For the most part, they are found combined with oxygen or sulphur. In particular, of the two specimens brought back by Cyrus Smith, one was magnetic iron, not carbonated, and the other was pyrites, otherwise known as ferric sulphide. It was the first, the iron oxide, that he would have to reduce with carbon, to remove its oxygen, in order to return it to a pure state. This reduction is done by subjecting the mineral to a high temperature in the presence of carbon, either by the rapid and easy “Catalan Method” which has the advantage of directly transforming the mineral into iron in a single operation, or by the blast furnace method, which first changes the mineral into cast iron, then the cast iron into iron by raising the amount of carbon combined with it to three or four percent.

Now what was it that Cyrus Smith needed? It was iron and not cast iron, and he had to look for the most rapid method of reduction. Besides, the mineral that he had collected was already very pure and very rich. It was ferrous oxide which is found in jumbled aggregates of a deep grey, giving a black dust crystallized in regular octahedrons. It makes natural lodestones and is used in Europe to make ferrous products of the highest quality. Sweden and Norway have an abundance of it. Not far from this bed were the seams of coal already exploited by the colonists. There the treatment of the mineral would be facilitated since the elements would be near each other. This is the same situation that makes for the lavish wealth of the United Kingdom where coal and metal are extracted from the same soil at the same time.

“So, Mr. Cyrus,” Pencroff said to him, “we’ll work the iron ore.”

“Yes, my friend,” replied the engineer, “and for that—this won’t displease you—we’ll begin with a seal hunt on the islet.”

“A seal hunt!” exclaimed the sailor, turning to Gideon Spilett, “Is a seal needed to make iron?”

“Since Cyrus said so,” replied the reporter.

But the engineer had already left the Chimneys, and Pencroff prepared for the seal hunt without having any other explanation.


 Soon Cyrus Smith, Harbert, Gideon Spilett, Neb, and the sailor had gathered on the shore at the point where the channel allowed a fordable passage at low tide. The sea was then at low tide, and the hunters could cross the channel without wetting themselves above the knees.

Cyrus Smith then set foot on the islet for the first time and his companions for the second time since it was there that the balloon had first thrown them.

At their arrival, a few hundred auks looked at them fearlessly. The colonists, armed with clubs, could have easily killed them but they would not dream of committing such a useless massacre. It was important not to frighten the amphibians who were lying on the sand several cable lengths away. They also respected certain innocent penguins whose wings, reduced to the state of stumps, were flattened in the form of fins and trimmed with feathers of a scaly appearance.

The colonists advanced carefully toward the north point, walking on soil riddled with small holes which formed nests for aquatic birds. Near the extremity of the islet appeared large black specks floating on the water. They resembled the top of a reef in motion.

They were the amphibians to be captured. It was necessary to let them land because, with their narrow pelvis, their close-cropped hair, and their slender shape, these seals, who were excellent swimmers, would be difficult to capture in the sea whereas on land their short webbed feet allowed them only a slow crawling movement.

Pencroff knew the habits of these amphibians, and he advised waiting until they had stretched out on the sand under the rays of the sun which would put them to sleep. They would then maneuver to cut off their retreat and dispatch them with a blow on the muzzle.

The hunters concealed themselves behind the rocks on the shore and they waited silently.

An hour passed before the seals came to frolic on the sand. They could count half a dozen. Pencroff and Harbert then went off around the point of the islet in order to take them from the rear and cut off their retreat. During this time Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett, and Neb, crawling along the rocks, glided toward the future theater of combat.

Suddenly the tall sailor emerged. Pencroff shouted. The engineer and his two companions quickly threw themselves between the sea and the seals. Two of these animals, struck vigorously, remained dead 
 on the sand, but the others were able to regain and retreat to the open sea.
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The colonists walked carefully through the nests.




“Here are the seals asked for, Mr. Cyrus,” said the sailor, advancing toward the engineer.

“Good,” replied Cyrus Smith. “We’ll make forge bellows of them.”
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 The animals were struck vigorously.




“Forge bellows!” cried Pencroff. “Well, these are lucky seals.”

It was in fact a blowing machine, necessary for the treatment of the mineral, that the engineer counted on making with the skin of these amphibians. They were of an average size at a length of no more than six feet. Their heads resembled dogs.


 Since it was pointless to burden themselves with the considerable weight of these two animals, Neb and Pencroff resolved to skin them on the spot while Cyrus Smith and the reporter explored the islet.

The sailor and the Negro did their work skillfully and, three hours later, Cyrus Smith had two seal skins which he planned on using in this state without subjecting them to any tanning.

The colonists had to wait for low tide. Crossing the channel, they returned to the Chimneys.

It was no small job to soften these skins on the wooden frames designed to spread them out, and to sew them up by means of fibers so as to be able to store air there without leaving any leaks. It was necessary to redo their work several times. Cyrus Smith had only the two steel blades from Top’s collar. Nevertheless, he was so skillful and his companions helped him with such intelligence that three days later the tool inventory of the small colony was increased by a blowing machine designed to inject air into a mineral subjected to heat—a condition indispensable for the success of the operation.

It was the morning, April 20th, that “the metallurgical period” began, so-called by the reporter in his notes. As mentioned, the engineer had decided to set up the work site near both the coal and the mineral beds. From his observations, these beds were situated at the base of the northeast foothills of Mount Franklin at a distance of six miles. They could not, therefore, think of returning each day to the Chimneys. It was agreed that the small colony would camp under a hut of branches so that the important operation could be followed night and day.

This decided, they left in the morning. Neb and Pencroff dragged the bellows on a sled, together with a certain quantity of vegetables and animal provisions which they planned to replenish along the way.

They followed a path through the Jacamar Woods which they crossed from the southeast to the northwest through its thickest part. It was necessary to blaze a trail which would later form the most direct artery between Grand View Plateau and Mount Franklin. The trees, belonging to species already recognized, were magnificent. Harbert again noted, among others, some dragon trees which Pencroff called “pretentious leeks”—because, in spite of their size, they were of the same family of liliaceous plants like the onion, chive, shallot, or asparagus. These dragon trees provided ligneous roots which are excellent 
 when cooked and which give a very agreeable liqueur when subjected to a certain fermentation. They gathered some.

The path across the woods was long. It lasted the entire day, but this permitted them to observe the fauna and the flora. Top, especially in charge of the fauna, followed a path through the grass and brushwood, indiscriminately flushing out every kind of game. Harbert and Gideon Spilett killed two kangaroos with arrows and also an animal that bore a strong resemblance to a hedgehog and an anteater; to the first because it rolled itself into a ball and bristled with quills; to the second because it had burrowing claws and a long slim snout with a bird’s beak at the end and an extendable tongue furnished with small quills which served to grab insects.

“And when it’s in a boiling pot,” Pencroff naturally asked, “what will it resemble?”

“An excellent piece of beef,” replied Harbert.

“We’ll not ask more of it,” replied the sailor.

During this excursion, they saw some wild boars who did not attempt to attack the small troop. It did not seem that they were going to encounter any savage beasts when, in a thick hedge, the reporter thought he saw, several feet away among the main branches of a tree, an animal which he took for a bear. He quietly took to sketching it. Very happily for Gideon Spilett the animal in question did not appear to be of this formidable family of plantigrades. It was only a koala, better known by the name of sloth,
1

 which was the size of a large dog with dull bristling hair. Its paws are armed with strong claws, permitting it to climb trees and eat the leaves. Since they had verified the animal’s identity, there was no need to disturb it. Gideon Spilett erased “bear” from the title of his sketch, put “koala” in its place and the journey was resumed.

At five o’clock in the evening, Cyrus Smith gave the signal to halt. They found themselves outside the forest at the base of those massive foothills which supported Mount Franklin on its eastern side. Red Creek flowed several hundred feet away and consequently fresh water was not far off.

Camp was immediately organized. In less than an hour, at the edge of the forest, a hut of branches intermingled with creepers and cemented with clay provided a sufficient shelter. They postponed the geological searches for the next day. Supper was prepared, a good fire burned in front of the hut, the spit turned, and at eight o’clock, while 
 one of the colonists watched the fire in the event some dangerous beast might prowl about, the others slept well.

The next day, the 21st of April, Cyrus Smith, accompanied by Harbert, went to look for those ancient mineral beds where he had earlier found a specimen of ore. He again discovered the bed, near the sources of the creek at the foot of one of the foothills on the north-east side. The very rich iron mineral, enclosed in a fusible gangue, was perfectly suitable for the reduction method that the engineer planned on using, that is to say the Catalan Method but simplified, as used in Corsica.

The Catalan Method requires the construction of kilns and crucibles in which the mineral and the coal are placed in alternate layers to be transformed and reduced. But Cyrus Smith intended to economize on these constructions. He wanted to simplify everything by forming a cubic mass of the mineral and coal into which he would direct the air from his bellows. This was the procedure doubtless employed by Tubal-Cain
2

 and the first metallurgists of the inhabited world. Now, this procedure which worked with the grandsons of Adam, which still gave good results in the countries rich in minerals and fuel, could not but succeed under the circumstances on Lincoln Island.

The mineral and coal were collected without difficulty and not far below the surface. First they broke the mineral into small pieces, and they removed by hand the impurities which contaminated its surface. Then the coal and mineral were placed in successive layers—as the charcoal burner does with wood that he wishes to carbonize. In this fashion, under the influence of the air forced in by the bellows, the coal would be transformed into carbonic acid, then into carbon monoxide, which in turn frees the oxygen from the iron oxide.

The engineer proceeded in this way. A tube of refractory clay, which had been previously made in the kiln, was used as an opening for the sealskin bellows. The latter was placed near the mineral heap. Moved by a mechanism whose parts consisted of a chassis, fiber cords, and counterweights, it injected air into the mass, raising the temperature and facilitating the chemical transformation which would yield pure iron.

The operation was difficult. It required all the patience and ingenuity of the colonists to conduct it well, but finally it succeeded and the result was a lump of iron reduced to a spongy state which would 
 have to be hammered and worked, that is to say forged, to drive out the liquified gangue. It was evident that these improvised blacksmiths lacked the first hammer; but in the end they found themselves in the same situation as the first metallurgist and they did what he must have done.
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The operation proved difficult.





 The first lump, attached to a club, served as a hammer to forge the second on an anvil of granite, and they finally obtained a coarse but usable metal.

On April 25th, after much effort and fatigue, several bars of iron were forged and transformed into tools, pliers, tongs, picks, pickaxes, etc. which Pencroff and Neb declared to be true gems.

This metal was not in the state of iron, i.e. steel, which would give the best service. Steel is a combination of iron and carbon derived either from cast iron by removing the excess carbon, or from iron by adding to it the carbon that it lacks. The first, obtained by decarbonization of cast iron yields natural or puddled steel; the second, produced by the carbonization of iron, yields case hardened steel.

It was this last method that Cyrus Smith preferred since he possessed iron in a pure state. He succeeded in heating the metal with carbon powder in a crucible made of refractory clay.

This steel, which is malleable hot and cold, was worked with a hammer. Neb and Pencroff, skillfully guided, made some axes which, when heated red hot and suddenly plunged into cold water, acquired an excellent temper.

Other devices, crudely fashioned it goes without saying, were made in the same way, plane blades, axes, hatchets, sheets of steel which would be transformed into saws and carpenter’s shears, then pickaxes, shovels, picks, hammers, nails, etc.

Finally, on May 5th, the first metallurgical period was ended, and the blacksmiths returned to the Chimneys. New work would soon authorize them to take on a new title.



CHAPTER XVI





I

 t was May 6th, a day which corresponds to November 6th in the northern hemisphere. The sky had been overcast for several days, and it was important to make plans for the winter. The temperature was not yet noticeably lower, and a centigrade thermometer transported to Lincoln Island would still have marked an average of ten to twelve degrees above zero. This average is not surprising since Lincoln Island, very probably situated between the 35th and 40th parallel, would likely find itself subject, in the southern hemisphere, to 
 the same climatic conditions as Sicily or Greece in the northern hemisphere. But, like Greece or Sicily, which occasionally suffer periods of cold that produce snow and ice, Lincoln Island too would no doubt encounter, at the height of winter, similar drops in temperature that it would be best to protect themselves against.

In any case, if the cold was not yet upon them, the rainy season was approaching. And on this isolated island, exposed to all the inclemencies of the vast Pacific Ocean, the bad weather would be frequent and probably harsh.

The question of a shelter more comfortable than the Chimneys had to be seriously considered and promptly resolved.

Pencroff naturally had some predilection for this retreat which he had discovered, but he well understood that it was necessary to look for another. Already the Chimneys had been inundated by the sea, and they could not risk a similar accident again.

“Besides,” added Cyrus Smith, who on this day spoke of these things with his companions, “we have several other precautions to take.”

“Why? The island isn’t inhabited,” said the reporter.

“That’s likely,” replied the engineer, “although we haven’t yet explored it in its entirety. But even if no human beings are present, I fear that there are many dangerous animals. It would be best to protect ourselves against a possible attack, and don’t forget that one of us must stay awake each night to keep up the fire. Furthermore, my friends, we must anticipate everything. We’re in a part of the Pacific that is often frequented by Malay pirates …”

“What,” said Harbert, “at such a distance from all land?”

“Yes, my child,” replied the engineer. “These pirates are hardy sailors as well as fearsome scoundrels, and we’ll have to take measures accordingly.”

“Oh well,” replied Pencroff, “we’ll fortify ourselves against both the two- and four-footed savages. But, Mr. Cyrus, shouldn’t we explore all parts of the island before doing anything?”

“That would be best,” added Gideon Spilett. “Who knows if we won’t find on the opposite shore one of those caverns that we’ve been searching for in vain here.”

“That’s true,” replied the engineer, “but you forget, my friends, that it would be best for us to settle near running water. And, from the summit of Mount Franklin, we saw neither brook nor river toward 
 the west. Here, on the contrary, we’re situated between the Mercy and Lake Grant, a considerable advantage we shouldn’t neglect. And besides, this coast, oriented to the east, is not as exposed as the other to the trade winds which blow from the northwest in this hemisphere.”

“Then, Mr. Cyrus,” replied the sailor, “we’ll build a house on the borders of the lake. Neither bricks nor tools are lacking now. After having been brickmakers, potters, founders, and blacksmiths, we’ll learn how to be masons, by heavens!”

“Yes, my friend, but before making a decision, we should go looking. A shelter made at nature’s expense would save us a lot of work and would doubtless offer us a safer retreat because it could be better defended against enemies, native or foreign.”

“Quite so, Cyrus,” replied the reporter, “but we’ve already examined all of this massive granite on the coast, and there’s not a hole, not even a crack.”

“No, not one,” added Pencroff. “Ah! If we could dig a shelter into this wall at such a height that would put it out of reach, how convenient that would be. I see it now, a facade that overlooks the sea, five or six rooms …”

“With windows to light them,” said Harbert laughing.

“And a staircase to climb to it,” added Neb.

“You laugh,” exclaimed the sailor, “but why? Is what I propose impossible? Don’t we have the picks and pickaxes? Doesn’t Mr. Cyrus know how to create the gunpowder to make a mine? It is true, isn’t it, Mr. Cyrus, that you can make us gunpowder whenever we need it?”

Cyrus Smith listened as Pencroff enthusiastically developed his fantastic projects. To attack this mass of granite, even through mining, was a herculean job, and it was unfortunate that nature could not help them in this task. But the engineer only replied to the sailor by proposing to examine more carefully the wall from the mouth of the river up to the corner where it ended in the north.

They then went out and explored it with extreme care over about two miles. But in no place could they see any cavity whatsoever in this smooth and straight wall. The nests of the rock pigeons which flew at its peak were in reality only holes bored in the crest itself or on the irregular broken edge of the granite.

It was a vexing circumstance. Excavating this massive wall sufficiently, either with pick or with powder, was unthinkable. It was quite by chance that on this entire coast, Pencroff had discovered the only 
 provisionally habitable shelter, the Chimneys, which nevertheless had to be abandoned.

The exploration ended, the colonists then found themselves at the northern corner of the wall, where it ended by an elongated slope that ran down to the beach. From this neighborhood up to its extreme limit in the west, it was no more than a kind of embankment, a thick conglomeration of stones, soil, and sand, bound together with plants, shrubs, and grass at an incline of forty five degrees. Here and there the granite still pierced through this cliff with its sharp points. Clusters of trees grew on its slopes and a rather thick grass carpeted it. But the vegetation did not venture further, and a long plain of sand, beginning at the foot of the slope, extended up to the shore.

Cyrus Smith thought, not without reason, that there had to be a cascade on this side from the lake’s overflow; the excess water furnished by Red Creek had to empty out somewhere. The engineer had not yet found this point along any part of the shore from the mouth of the stream in the west up to Grand View Plateau. So he proposed to his companions that they climb the slope now and return to the Chimneys by the heights, thereby exploring the northern and western banks of the lake.

The proposition was accepted and, in a few minutes, Harbert and Neb had already arrived at the upper plateau. Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett, and Pencroff followed them more sedately.

Two hundred feet away, beyond the foliage, the beautiful sheet of water shone under the rays of the sun. The landscape in this neighborhood was charming. The trees, now turning yellow, were wonderfully grouped and offered a feast for the eyes. Several large old trunks, downed by age, stood out with their blackish bark on the green carpet covering the soil. An entire population of noisy cockatoos chattered away, veritable mobile prisms, jumping from one branch to the next.

The colonists, instead of going directly to the north shore of the lake, went around the edge of the plateau so as to reach the mouth of the creek on its left bank. It was a detour of a mile and a half but an easy walk because the widely spaced trees allowed easy passage. They sensed that this was the limit of the fertile zone, and the vegetation was less vigorous here than in the area between the creek and the Mercy.

Cyrus Smith and his companions did not walk on this unknown soil without a certain caution. Bows, arrows, and spears fitted with 
 sharpened iron tips were their only weapons. However, they encountered no wild animals; it was probable that these animals frequented instead the thick forest of the south. But the colonists had the disagreeable surprise of seeing Top confront a large snake that measured fourteen to fifteen feet in length. Neb stunned it with his club. Cyrus 
 Smith examined this reptile and declared that it was not venomous because it belonged to a species of diamond serpents often eaten by the aborigines of New South Wales. But it was nevertheless possible that others existed whose bite was deadly, such as the deaf fork-tailed viper which rises up when stepped upon, or those hooded snakes with two small ears which strike with extreme rapidity. After the first moment of surprise passed, Top gave chase to these reptiles so obstinately that they feared for him. His master had to continually call him back.
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Top faced a large snake.




They soon reached the mouth of Red Creek, where it poured into the lake. The explorers recognized the opposite bank which they had visited on their descent from Mount Franklin. Cyrus Smith noted that the flow of water from the creek was considerable; it was therefore necessary that somewhere nature had provided an outlet for the overflow of the lake. It was this outlet that he was trying to discover because it no doubt formed a waterfall which could be used for mechanical power.

The colonists, moving freely but without separating too far from each other, began to walk around the very steep bank of the lake. The waters seemed full of fish, and Pencroff promised himself that he would make some fishing tackle in order to take advantage of this.

It was first necessary to round the sharp northeast point. One could suppose that the waters were discharged near there because the farthest corner of the lake extended to the very edge of the plateau. But nothing was there, and the colonists continued to explore the bank which, after curving slightly, then went parallel to the seashore.

On this side, the bank was less wooded, but a few clusters of trees, scattered here and there, added to the picturesque landscape. Lake Grant appeared then in all its expanse with no wind rippling over the water’s surface. Top, beating through the brushwood, drove out various flocks of birds which Gideon Spilett and Harbert greeted with their arrows. One of the birds was skillfully hit by the young lad and fell among the marshy grass. Top ran toward it and brought back a beautiful slate colored water fowl with a short beak, a very developed frontal area, toes broadened by a scalloped edge, and wings with a white border. It was a coot, the size of a large partridge, belonging to the group of macrodactyls
1

 which form the transition between the order of waders and that of palmipeds. In short, it was a sorry game and one whose taste leaves much to be desired. But Top would undoubtedly 
 be less finicky than his masters, and it was decided that the coot would serve as his supper.

The colonists then followed the east shore of the lake, and they were not long in reaching the portion already familiar to them. The engineer was very surprised because he saw no indication of an outlet for the water overflow. The reporter and the sailor spoke with him, and he did not conceal his astonishment from them.

At this moment Top, who had been calm until then, began to show signs of alarm. The intelligent animal ran back and forth along the bank, stopped suddenly and looked at the water with a raised paw as if he had been pointing at some invisible game; then he barked furiously, as if questioning, and then was suddenly silent.

Neither Cyrus Smith nor his companions at first paid any attention to Top’s antics; but the dog’s barking soon became so frequent that the engineer became concerned.

“What’s there, Top?” he asked.

The dog, showing a real uneasiness, made several bounds toward his master and ran again toward the shore. Then he suddenly threw himself into the lake.

“Here Top,” cried Cyrus Smith, who did not want his dog to venture into the suspicious waters.

“What’s going on down there?” asked Pencroff, while examining the surface of the lake.

“Top has sensed some amphibian,” replied Harbert.

“An alligator, doubtless,” said the reporter.

“I don’t think so,” replied Cyrus Smith. “Alligators are only met with in regions of lower latitude.”

Top, at his master’s call, came back to shore; but he was unable to remain still. He leaped around in the high grass and, with his instinct guiding him, he seemed to follow some invisible creature which was gliding along underwater, hugging the edge of the lake. But the water was calm, and no ripples disturbed its surface. Several times, the colonists stopped on the shore’s banks and observed carefully. Nothing appeared. There was a mystery here.

The engineer was intrigued.

“Let’s continue this exploration to its end,” he said.

A half hour later, they all arrived at the southeast corner of the lake on Grand View Plateau. At this point, their examination of the banks 
 had to be considered complete, and yet the engineer had not been able to discover where and how the water was discharged.

“Nevertheless, this opening exists,” he repeated, “and, since it’s not on the outside, it must be hollowed out inside this mass of coastal granite.”

“But what importance do you attach to knowing this, my dear Cyrus?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“A large one,” replied the engineer, “because, if the opening is through this solid rock, it’s possible that there’s a cavity located there and, after having channeled away the water, it would be easy for us to make it habitable.”

“But isn’t it possible, Mr. Cyrus, that the water escapes through the very bottom of this lake,” said Harbert, “and that it goes to the sea by a subterranean passage?”

“That may be,” replied the engineer, “and, if that is so, we’ll be obliged to build our house by ourselves since nature has not done the preliminary construction work for us.”

Because it was then five o’clock, the colonists were preparing to cross the plateau and return to the Chimneys when Top gave new signs of agitation. He was barking ferociously and, before his master could restrain him, he threw himself a second time into the lake.

Everyone ran toward the shore. The dog was already more than twenty feet away, and Cyrus Smith was sharply calling him back when an enormous head emerged from the surface of the shallow water.

Harbert recognized at once this species of amphibian which has a tapered head, large eyes, and a mustache decorated with long silky hair.

“A manatee!”
2

 he exclaimed.

It was not a manatee, but a specimen of this species of the order of cetaceans which carries the name of “dugong” because its nostrils are open at the upper part of its snout.
3



The enormous animal threw itself on the dog who vainly tried to escape and return to shore. His master could do nothing to save him, and even before it occurred to Gideon Spilett or to Harbert to arm their bows, Top, seized by the dugong, disappeared under the water.

Neb, his iron tipped spear in hand, wanted to help the dog by attacking the formidable animal in its own element.

“No, Neb,” said the engineer, restraining his courageous servant.

However a fight was now going on under the water; a rather inexplicable 
 fight because, under these conditions, Top obviously could not defend himself. Judging from the bubbles on the surface, it was a terrible battle which could only end with the death of the dog. But suddenly, in the middle of a circle of foam, Top reappeared. Thrown into the air by some unknown force, he rose ten feet above the surface 
 of the lake, falling back into the water. He soon regained the shore without any serious wounds, miraculously saved.
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Top, thrown into the air …




Cyrus Smith and his companions looked on in disbelief. And there was yet another inexplicable circumstance: the battle seemed to be still continuing beneath the water. Doubtless the dugong, attacked by some powerful animal after releasing the dog, was fighting for its life.

But this did not last long. The water became red with blood, the body of the dugong emerged from this widening expanse of scarlet, and it soon washed up onto a small beach on the southern corner of the lake.

The colonists ran toward this spot. The dugong was dead. It was an enormous animal, fifteen feet long, weighing three to four thousand pounds.
4

 There was a wound on its neck which seemed to have been made with a sharp blade.

What amphibian could have killed this formidable dugong with such a terrible blow? No one could say. Preoccupied with this incident, Cyrus Smith and his companions returned to the Chimneys.



CHAPTER XVII





T

 he next day, May 7th, Cyrus Smith and Gideon Spilett, leaving Neb to prepare breakfast, climbed to Grand View Plateau, while Harbert and Pencroff went up the river to replenish the wood supply.

The engineer and the reporter soon arrived at this small beach at the southern point of the lake where the amphibian was beached. Already flocks of birds were attacking the mass of flesh, and it was necessary to drive them away with stones because Cyrus Smith wanted to save the fat from the dugong and use it for the needs of the colony. As for the flesh of the animal, it would not fail to furnish excellent nourishment; in certain Malay regions, it is even reserved for the table of native princes. But that was Neb’s affair.

At the moment, Cyrus Smith had other thoughts on his mind. He had not forgotten the previous day’s incident and it continued to preoccupy him. He wished to pierce the mystery of this underwater combat 
 and to know what kind of mastodon or other marine monster had given the dugong so strange a wound.

He stood at the edge of the lake, looking and observing, but nothing appeared under the tranquil waters which glistened under the first rays of the sun.

Near this shallow beach where the dugong’s body lay, the water was not very deep; but, further out, the lake bottom gradually deepened, and it was probable that, at the center, the depth was considerable. The lake could be considered a large basin which was filled by the water from Red Creek.

“Well then, Cyrus,” said the reporter, “it seems to me that these waters don’t offer anything suspicious.”

“No, my dear Spilett,” replied the engineer, “and I really don’t know how to explain yesterday’s incident.”

“I acknowledge,” answered Gideon Spilett, “that the wound given to this amphibian is strange, to say the least, and I also cannot explain how Top was so vigorously thrown out of the water. One might really think that a powerful arm threw him out, and that this same arm then killed the dugong with a dagger.”

“Yes,” said the engineer, who became thoughtful. “There’s something here I can’t understand. But can you understand, my dear Spilett, how I myself was saved, how I was able to pull myself from the waves and cross the dunes? I sense some mystery here which we’ll doubtless discover one day. Let’s therefore acknowledge these singular incidents but not dwell on them in front of our companions. Let’s keep our remarks to ourselves and continue our work.”

The engineer still had not been able to discover where the excess waters of the lake escaped. Although he had never seen any indication that it overflowed anywhere, such an opening simply had to exist somewhere. Moreover, Cyrus Smith was surprised to see a rather pronounced current at this spot. He threw in some small pieces of wood, and they rapidly went toward the southern corner. Walking along the bank, he followed this current, and he arrived at the southern point of the lake.

A sort of depression was produced in the water there, as if it were abruptly emptying into some fissure in the ground.

Cyrus Smith listened, placing his ear at the level of the lake, and he very distinctly heard the noise of a subterranean waterfall.

“It’s there,” he said, getting up, “there that the water discharges. 
 It is no doubt by a conduit cutting through the granite mass that the water rejoins the sea, through some cavities which we’ll use to our benefit. Yes, I’ll uncover it.”

The engineer cut a long branch, removed its leaves, and plunging it in at the corner between the two banks, he found that there existed an open hole only a foot beneath the surface of the water. This hole was the opening to the passageway they sought. The force of the current was such that the branch was torn from the engineer’s hands and disappeared.

“There’s no longer any doubt now,” repeated Cyrus Smith. “There’s the entrance to the passageway, and I’ll uncover it.”

“How?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“By lowering the level of the lake three feet.”

“And how will you lower the lake’s level?”

“By making a larger opening than this one.”

“Where, Cyrus?”

“On the part of the bank that’s closest to the coast.”

“But it’s a bank of granite,” noted the reporter.

“Well,” replied Cyrus Smith, “then I’ll blow up this granite, and the water, by escaping, will uncover this opening …”

“And form a waterfall which will fall on the beach,” added the reporter.

“A waterfall which we’ll make good use of,” replied Cyrus. “Come, come!”

The engineer inspired his companion, whose confidence in Cyrus Smith was such that he did not doubt the enterprise would succeed. Nevertheless, how would he disintegrate this bank of granite rocks without gunpowder and with only crude tools? Wasn’t he attacking a problem that was beyond his resources?

When Cyrus Smith and the reporter returned to the Chimneys, they found Harbert and Pencroff occupied with unloading their wood.

“The woodsmen are finishing up, Mr. Cyrus,” said the sailor laughing, “and when you need masons …”

“Masons, no, but chemists,” replied the engineer.

“Yes,” added the reporter, “we’ll blow up the island …”

“Blow up the island!” exclaimed Pencroff.

“A part of it, at any rate,” replied Gideon Spilett.


 “Listen to me, my friends,” said the engineer.

And he made known to them the results of his observations. He explained that a more or less sizeable cavity existed inside the mass of granite that supported Grand View Plateau, and he intended to penetrate it. To do this, it was first necessary to clear the opening where the water ran through and then lower its level by making a larger opening. It was therefore necessary to manufacture an explosive substance which could make a large opening at another point on the bank. Cyrus Smith would attempt this by means of the minerals which nature had placed at his disposal.

Needless to say, everyone, and especially Pencroff, greeted this project with much enthusiasm. Great projects such as this—ripping open this granite, creating a waterfall—appealed to the sailor. And, since the engineer needed chemists, he could just as easily be a chemist as a mason or a bootmaker. He would be anything that was desired “even a professor of dance and deportment” he said to Neb, if that were ever necessary.

Neb and Pencroff were first asked to extract the fat from the dugong and save its flesh, which was intended for food. They soon left without even asking for an explanation. Their confidence in the engineer was absolute.

A few minutes later, Cyrus Smith, Harbert, and Gideon Spilett, dragging the sled and going up the river, went toward the bed of coal where schistous pyrites were abundant. This was located among the more recent transition terrains where Cyrus Smith had already discovered a sample.

The entire day was employed in carting these pyrites to the Chimneys. By evening they had several tons.

The next day, May 8th, the engineer began his work. Because these schistous pyrites were principally composed of carbon, silicone, aluminum and iron sulphide, the latter in excess, he had to isolate the iron sulphide and transform it into sulphate as quickly as possible. Once he obtained the sulphate, he could then extract sulfuric acid.

This was the goal. Sulfuric acid is one of the most commonly used agents, and the industrial importance of a nation can be measured by its consumption of it. Later, this acid would be very useful to the colonists in making candles, in the tanning of pelts, etc., but at the moment the engineer was reserving it for another use.


 Cyrus Smith chose a location behind the Chimneys where the ground was carefully leveled. On this ground, he placed a pile of branches and chopped wood on top of which he stacked lumps of schistous pyrite. Then he covered everything with a thin layer of pyrites previously reduced to walnut size.

That done, they set fire to the wood and the schists began to burn since they contained carbon and sulphur. Then new layers of crushed pyrites were put on to form an enormous pile. The exterior was covered with earth and grass after they arranged some air vents as if they were carbonizing a stack of wood to make charcoal.

Then they let the transformation proceed of its own accord. No fewer than ten to twelve days were required for the iron sulphide to change into iron sulphate and the aluminum into aluminum sulphate, these two substances being equally soluble, unlike the silicon, charcoal, and cinders which were not.

While this chemical activity was going on, Cyrus Smith proceeded with other operations. The men tackled them with zeal and unremitting determination.

Neb and Pencroff removed the fat from the dugong and collected it in large earthen jars. They now had to isolate one of its elements, glycerin, by saponifying it. To accomplish this, it sufficed to treat it with soda or lime. One or the other of these substances, after attacking the grease, would form a soap, thereby isolating the glycerin. It was precisely this glycerin that the engineer wished to obtain. Lime was not lacking, but the treatment with lime would only give a lime soap, which was insoluble and consequently useless, whereas the treatment with soda would furnish a soluble soap that could be used for domestic cleaning. Therefore, as a practical man, Cyrus Smith would rather try to create the soda. Was this difficult? No, because marine plants were plentiful on the shore: salicornia, ficoids and all those fucaceae which make up seaweed and wrack. They therefore collected a large quantity of these plants, dried them first, and burnt them in a pit in the open air. The combustion of these plants was kept up for several days so that the increased heat would fuse the cinders. The result of this incineration was a compact grayish mass which, for a long time, has been known by the name of “natural soda.”

The engineer then treated the grease with the soda, which produced both a soluble soap and this neutral substance, glycerin.

But this was not all. In view of his future mixture, Cyrus Smith still 
 needed another substance, nitrate of potash, which is better known under the name of potassium nitrate, or saltpeter.

Cyrus Smith would have been able to make this substance by treating potassium carbonate, which is easily extracted from the cinders of plants, using nitric acid. But nitric acid was lacking, and it was precisely this acid that he wished to create in the end. He was therefore caught in a vicious circle. Very fortunately, nature furnished him with the saltpeter without which he would have been at quite a loss. Harbert discovered a bed in the north of the island at the foot of Mount Franklin, and they had only to purify this salt.

These various activities lasted for about eight days. They were finished before the sulphide had completely transformed into iron sulphate. During the days which followed, the colonists had time to make refractory pottery from malleable clay and to construct a brick furnace for the specific purpose of distilling the iron sulphate once it was produced. All this was completed about May 18th, a little before the chemical transformations were ended. Gideon Spilett, Harbert, Neb, and Pencroff, ably directed by the engineer, became the most skillful workmen in the world. Of all masters, necessity is the one we listen to the most and the one who teaches us the best.

When the pile of pyrites had been entirely reduced by the fire, they had iron sulphate, aluminum sulphate, silica, and a residue of charcoal and cinders which were placed in a basin full of water. They shook this mixture, let it settle, and then, by decanting it, they obtained a clear liquid containing a solution of iron sulphate and aluminum sulphate, the other materials remaining as solids since they are insoluble. Finally, this liquid was vaporized in part, depositing the iron sulphate crystals. The original liquid, that is to say the nonvaporized portion which contained the aluminum sulphate, was thrown away.

Cyrus Smith thus had at his disposal a rather large quantity of iron sulphate crystals from which he would obtain sulfuric acid.

In industry, the manufacture of sulfuric acid usually requires a costly installation. It is necessary to have a large factory, special equipment, platinum apparatus, lead chambers which are not attacked by the acid, etc. The engineer did not have this equipment available, but he knew that in Bohemia, in particular, they make sulfuric acid by a simple means which also has the advantage of producing a high degree of concentration. It is known by the name of Nordhausen acid.
1



To produce sulfuric acid, Cyrus Smith had only one operation to 
 perform: to burn the iron sulphate crystals in a closed vessel so that the sulfuric acid would distill into a vapor, and the vapor would then create the acid by condensation.

For this process, they used the refractory pottery, in which they placed the crystals, and the forge, whose heat would distill the sulfuric acid. The operation was conducted perfectly, and on May 20th, twelve days after having begun, the engineer finally possessed the chemical agent that he planned to use later for many different purposes.

Now why did he want to have this chemical agent? Quite simply in order to produce nitric acid, which was easy since saltpeter, attacked by sulfuric acid, would distill into nitric acid.

But what would he ultimately do with this nitric acid? His companions were still ignorant of this because he did not tell them about this final step of his project.

However, the engineer was within sight of his goal, and one last operation would give him the substance that had taken so much effort.

After taking the nitric acid and placing it in the presence of the glycerin, which had been previously concentrated by evaporation in a boiler, he obtained, even without using a cooler, several pints of an oily and yellowish liquid.

This last procedure Cyrus Smith performed alone in a remote place far from the Chimneys because it presented the risk of explosion. But, when he returned, he brought a container of this liquid to his friends, saying simply:

“This is nitroglycerin!”

It was, in fact, this powerful substance whose explosive energy is perhaps ten times as strong as ordinary gunpowder which itself causes many accidents. However, a method has recently been found to transform it into dynamite by mixing it with a porous solid, clay, or sugar in order to stabilize it, and this dangerous liquid can now be used more safely. But dynamite was not yet known at the time the colonists were working on Lincoln Island.

“It is this liquid which will blow up our rock?” asked Pencroff, rather incredulously.

“Yes, my friend,” replied the engineer, “and this nitroglycerin will be even more effective because, within this hard granite, an even greater explosive force will be produced.”
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 “This is nitroglycerin!”




“And when will we see this, Mr. Cyrus?”

“Tomorrow, after we’ve dug a shaft,” replied the engineer.

The next day, May 21st, at daybreak, the miners returned to the point of land formed by the banks of Lake Grant, only 500 feet from the coast. At this spot, the plateau was lower than the water held in 
 place only by its granite border. It was obvious that, if they broke through this rock perimeter, the water would escape through this opening and form a stream which, after flowing along the inclined surface of the plateau, would fall to the beach. This would consequently lower the general level of the lake, which would then uncover the opening of the passageway, their final goal.

They must therefore break this granite barrier. Under the engineer’s direction, Pencroff, armed with a pick which he handled skillfully and vigorously, attacked the granite on its exterior face. The hole that he made took shape along a horizontal edge of the bank, excavated to produce a level appreciably lower than the lake water. In this way, the explosive force would break the rock, permitting the water to escape freely to the outside and consequently lower the lake’s level.

The work took much time because the engineer, wanting to produce a large blast, planned on using no less than ten liters of nitroglycerin for the operation. But Pencroff, relieved by Neb, did so well that by four o’clock in the afternoon, the hole was finished. There still remained the problem of igniting the explosive substance. Ordinarily nitroglycerin is ignited by means of a fulminate primer which, on bursting, sets off the explosion. Such a shock is needed to trigger the explosion because, if it is simply set aflame, the substance will burn without exploding.

Cyrus Smith would certainly have been able to make a primer. Lacking fulminate, he could easily have made a substance analogous to cottonpowder, since he had nitric acid. This substance, pressed into a cartridge and introduced into the nitroglycerin, would ignite by means of a fuze and set off the explosion.

But Cyrus Smith also knew that nitroglycerin has the property of detonating under shock. He decided to make use of this property, but would use another means if this one did not succeed.

In fact, the shock from a hammer on a few drops of nitroglycerin sprinkled on the surface of a hard stone suffices to induce the explosion. But the operator cannot be there to give the blow of the hammer without becoming victim to the operation. Cyrus Smith therefore thought of suspending, by means of a vegetable fiber, a several pound mass of iron on a post above the mine hole. Another long fiber, previously dipped in sulphur, was attached by one of its extremities to the middle of the first fiber while the other extremity trailed along the ground several feet from the hole. This second fiber would 
 be lit, and it would burn until it reached the first. This one, catching fire in its turn, would break, and the mass of iron would fall onto the nitroglycerin.
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Pencroff, armed with a pick …




This apparatus was so installed, and the engineer then asked his companions to move back. He filled the hole of the mine so that the 
 nitroglycerin came up to the top and he threw a few drops on the surface of the rock below the suspended mass of iron.
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Smith lit the fuze.




That done, Cyrus Smith took the end of the sulphurized fiber fuze, lit it, and quickly returned to his companions in the Chimneys.

The fiber was set to burn for twenty-five minutes and exactly 
 twenty-five minutes later a massive explosion resounded, impossible to describe. It seemed that the entire island trembled on its base. Rocks flew up as if vomited from a volcano. The vibration produced by the displaced air was such that the rocks at the Chimneys shook. The colonists, even though they were more than two miles from the mine, were thrown to the ground.

They got up, climbed to the plateau, and ran to the spot where the edge of the lake had been ripped open by the explosion…

They shouted three hurrahs! The granite barrier was split along a wide area. A rapid stream of water was escaping through it, flowing and foaming across the plateau and, upon reaching its edge, it fell from a height of three hundred feet onto the beach!



CHAPTER XVIII





C

 yrus Smith’s plan had succeeded. But, as was his custom, he remained motionless and betrayed no satisfaction, his lips tight, his gaze steady. Harbert was enthusiastic; Neb jumped for joy; Pencroff shook his large head and murmured these words:

“No doubt about it, our engineer’s all right!”

The nitroglycerin had indeed acted powerfully. The drain from the lake was so large that the volume of water which now escaped by this new passage was at least triple what it was before. As a result, the level of the lake would surely be lowered by at least two feet in a very short time.

The colonists returned to the Chimneys to get picks, iron tipped spears, fiber cords, flint and tinder; they then returned to the plateau. Top accompanied them.

On the way, the sailor could not refrain from saying to the engineer:

“Do you know, Mr. Cyrus, that with this charming liquid you’ve made, we could blow up our entire island?”

“Unquestionably. The island, the continents, and the Earth itself,” replied Cyrus Smith. “It’s only a question of quantity.”

“Couldn’t you then use this nitroglycerin to load weapons?” asked the sailor.


 “No, Pencroff, because it is too explosive. But it will be simple to make cotton powder or even ordinary gunpowder since we have nitric acid, saltpeter, sulphur and coal. Unfortunately, it’s the weapons we don’t have.”

“Oh, Mr. Cyrus,” replied the sailor, “with a little determination …”

Decidedly, Pencroff had erased the word “impossible” from the Lincoln Island dictionary.

The colonists, on arriving at Grand View Plateau, immediately went to the point on the lake near the opening of the old overflow which was now uncovered. The outlet had become passable since the water no longer rushed through it, and it would doubtless be easy to explore its interior. In a few moments, the colonists reached the lower corner of the lake and with a quick glance ascertained that the result had been achieved.

Within the granite wall of the lake, and now above the water level, the long-sought opening appeared. A narrow shoulder of rock, left bare by the retreating water, allowed entry. This orifice measured about twenty feet in length but only two feet in height. It was like the mouth of a sewer opening at the edge of a sidewalk. It would not allow the colonists an easy passage; but Neb and Pencroff took the pick and, in less than an hour, they had enlarged it to a sufficient height. The engineer then approached it and discovered that the upper surfaces of the passageway did not show a slope of more than 30 to 35°. It was therefore quite passable and, provided their angle did not increase, it would be easy to descend to sea level. If, as was very likely, some vast cavern existed inside this granite mass, they would perhaps find some way to use it.

“Well, Mr. Cyrus, why are we stopping?” asked the sailor, impatient to venture into the narrow corridor. “You see that Top is already ahead of us.”

“Well,” replied the engineer, “we must see clearly. Neb, go and cut down some resinous branches.”

Neb and Harbert ran toward the banks of the lake, shaded by pines and other green trees. They soon returned with branches that they fashioned into torches. These torches were kindled by sparks from the flint and, with Cyrus Smith at the head, the colonists entered the dark passageway which had been filled with water a short time before.

Contrary to what one might have expected, the diameter of the passageway increased so that, almost immediately, the explorers could stand 
 up while descending. The granite walls, worn away by the water since time immemorial, were slippery, so they had to guard against falls. The colonists were tied to one another by a cord as is done by mountain climbers. Fortunately, a few granite ledges, forming real steps, made the descent less perilous. Drops of water still dripping 
 from the rocks were iridescent under the flames of the torches, and it seemed that the walls were covered with innumerable stalactites. The engineer examined this black granite. He saw not a stratum, not a geological fault. The mass was compact and of an extremely close grain. This passageway dated from the very origin of the island. It was not the water which little by little had hollowed it. Pluto, not Neptune, had bored it and, on the wall, they could distinguish traces of eruptions which the flow of water had not been able to erase completely.
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The colonists descended slowly …




The colonists descended slowly. They were not without some emotion in venturing into the depths of this mass which human beings were evidently visiting for the first time. They did not speak and were lost in thought, and the thought which must have come to more than one of them was that some octopus or other gigantic cephalopod might occupy these interior cavities which communicated with the sea. It was hence necessary to advance with a certain prudence. Besides, Top was at the head of this small troop and they could depend on the dog’s wisdom. He would not fail to give the alarm should it be required.

After descending about a hundred feet by a rather winding path, Cyrus Smith, who was in the lead, stopped, and his companions caught up with him. The spot where they had stopped was hollowed out, forming a cavern of moderate dimensions. Drops of water fell from its arched ceiling, but they did not come from any leak through the massive rock. It was simply the last traces left by the torrent which had roared for so long through this cavity. The somewhat humid air did not emit any noxious emanation.

“Well, my dear Cyrus,” Gideon Spilett then said. “Here is an unknown retreat well hidden in these depths but, in sum, it is uninhabitable.”

“Why uninhabitable?” asked the sailor.

“Because it’s too small and too dark.”

“Can’t we enlarge it, hollow it out, and make openings to let in daylight and air?” replied Pencroff, who no longer doubted anything was possible.

“Let’s continue our exploration,” replied Cyrus Smith. “Perhaps lower down nature will have spared us this work.”

“We’re still only a third of the way down,” Harbert noted.

“About a third,” replied Cyrus Smith, “because we’ve descended 
 about a hundred feet from the opening, and it’s not impossible that a hundred feet lower down …”

“Where’s Top? …” asked Neb, interrupting his master.

They searched the cavern. The dog was not there.

“He probably continued along the path,” said Pencroff.

“Let’s catch up to him,” replied Cyrus Smith.

The descent was resumed. The engineer carefully observed the deviations of the passageway and, in spite of the detours, he could easily determine its general direction, which went toward the sea.

The colonists had gone down about another fifty feet when their attention was drawn to some remote sounds which came from the depths of the rock. They stopped and listened. These sounds, carried along the corridor like a voice along an acoustical tube, reached their ears clearly.

“It’s Top barking!” shouted Harbert.

“Yes,” replied Pencroff, “and our worthy dog is barking furiously.”

“We have our iron tipped spears,” said Cyrus Smith. “Let’s be on guard and advance.”

“This is getting to be more and more interesting,” murmured Gideon Spilett into the ear of the sailor, who made an affirmative sign.

Cyrus Smith and his companions ran to the dog’s assistance. Top’s barking became louder and they sensed in his staccato voice a strange rage. Was he at grips with some animal whose retreat he had disturbed? The colonists were now possessed by an irresistible curiosity and did not consider the danger to which they were exposed. They were not merely descending the corridor, they were allowing themselves to slide rapidly down its incline and, in a few minutes, sixty feet lower down, they rejoined Top. There the corridor materialized into a vast and magnificent cavern. There also was Top, rushing about and barking furiously. Pencroff and Neb, waving their torches, threw light into every crevice of the granite while Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett, Harbert, with spears uplifted, were ready for any eventuality.

The enormous cavern was empty. The colonists searched through all of it. There was nothing there, not an animal, not a living being. Nevertheless, Top continued to bark. Neither caresses nor threats could silence him.

“There must be some outlet the lake’s water used to reach the sea,” said the engineer.


 “Indeed,” replied Pencroff, “we should take care not to fall into a hole.”

“Go, Top, go!” shouted Cyrus Smith.

The dog, excited by his master’s words, ran toward the extremity of the cavern, and there his barking redoubled.

They followed him and, by the light of the torches, they discovered the orifice of a veritable well which opened into the granite. It was here that the water left after having entered the granite mass, but this time it was no longer a passable corridor but, rather, a deep well into which it was impossible to venture.

The torches were extended over the orifice. They saw nothing. Cyrus Smith detached a flaming branch and threw it into the abyss. The resinous fragment, burning brighter because of its rapid fall, illuminated the inside of the pit, but still nothing appeared. Then the flame extinguished with a slight hiss, indicating that it had reached the water down below, at sea level.

The engineer, calculating the time of fall, estimated the depth of the well at about ninety feet. The floor of the cavern was therefore situated ninety feet above sea level.

“Here’s our home,” said Cyrus Smith.

“But it was occupied by some creature,” replied Gideon Spilett, who did not find his curiosity satisfied.

“Well, whatever this creature, amphibian or otherwise, it has fled by this opening,” replied the engineer, “and he has surrendered this place to us.”

“In any event,” added the sailor. “I should like to have been Top a quarter of an hour ago, because he doesn’t bark without reason.”

Cyrus Smith looked at his dog, and his companions heard him murmur these words: “Yes, I really believe that Top knows a lot more about these things than we do.”

However, the wishes of the colonists were now in large part fulfilled. Chance, aided by the marvelous wisdom of their leader, had done them good service. They had here at their disposal a vast cavern whose size they still could not estimate from the light of their insufficient torches, but it would certainly be easy to divide into rooms by means of brick partitions, and to adapt it, if not like a house, at least into a spacious apartment. The water had abandoned it and could not return. The place was vacant.

Two difficulties remained: first, the question of lighting this excavation 
 hollowed out of solid block; second, the need for easier access. As to illumination, creating it from above was unthinkable because of the enormous thickness of granite over them; but perhaps they could pierce the outer wall which faced the sea. Cyrus Smith who, during their descent, had measured the length of the passageway and its approximate angle believed that the outside wall could not be very thick. If light was obtained in this way, there would also be access, because it would be just as easy to make a door and an outside ladder as to make windows.

Cyrus Smith shared his ideas with his companions.

“Let’s get to work then, Mr. Cyrus!” replied Pencroff. “I’ve got my pick, and I can soon bring daylight through this wall. Where should I strike?”

“Here,” replied the engineer, indicating to the hardy sailor a rather considerable recess in the wall which probably diminished its thickness.

Pencroff attacked the granite and, for a half hour, by the light of the torches, he made the splinters fly around him. The rock sparkled under his pick. Neb relieved him, then Gideon Spilett after Neb.

The work had already lasted for two hours and they began to believe that the wall at this spot exceeded the length of the pick when, with a last blow given by Gideon Spilett, the instrument passed through the wall and fell outside.

“Hurrah! Forever and ever hurrah!” cried Pencroff.

The wall there measured only three feet in thickness.

Cyrus Smith looked through the opening, which towered above the ground at a height of eighty feet. The beach extended before him, the islet, and beyond that the immense sea.

Since the rock had been broken up notably, light flooded in by this rather wide opening and produced a magical effect, inundating this splendid cavern. If, on its left side, it did not measure more than thirty feet in height and width and a hundred feet in length, on its right side, in contrast, it was enormous, and its dome was rounded at a height of more than eighty feet. In some places, irregularly disposed granite pillars supported arches like the nave of a cathedral. Resting on lateral columns, overlayed with arches here, rising on ogival ribs there, lost in obscure bays whose winding arches could barely be seen in the shadows, ornamented by a profusion of ledges which were formed like so many pendants, this vault offered a picturesque mixture of all the Byzantine, Roman, and Gothic architecture produced by the hand of man. But this was nevertheless the work of nature alone. It alone had hollowed out this magical Alhambra in the granite rock!
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 The cavern resembled a cathedral.





 The colonists were stupefied with admiration. Where they had expected to find only a narrow cavity, they found a marvelous palace, and Neb took off his hat as if he had been transported into a church.

Cries of admiration were heard from all lips. Hurrahs resounded as echo upon echo were repeated and lost in the depths of the somber naves.

“Ah, my friends,” shouted Cyrus Smith. “When we have lighted up the interior of this rock chamber, when we have arranged our rooms and our stores on the left side, this splendid cavern will still remain, which will be our study hall and our museum.”

“And we’ll call it? …” asked Harbert.

“Granite House,”*
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 replied Cyrus Smith, a name which his companions greeted with more hurrahs.

At this moment, the torches were nearly consumed. And, since they had to climb back up the corridor to return to the summit of the plateau, they decided to postpone until the next day the labor of furnishing their new home.

Before leaving, Cyrus Smith leaned once more over the dark pit which was hollowed out down to the level of the sea. He listened carefully. There was no noise, not even from the water whose surging vibrations sometimes agitate these depths. A burning resin was once more thrown in. The walls of the pit were lit up for a moment but, like the first time, it revealed nothing suspicious. If some marine monster had been unexpectedly surprised by the retreat of the water, it had by now regained the open sea by means of the subterranean passageway that went under the beach, before a new outlet was offered to it.

The engineer, however, remained motionless, listening carefully, with his gaze plunged deep into the chasm. He did not say a word.

The sailor then approached him and touched him.

“Mr. Smith?” he said.

“What do you wish, my friend?” replied the engineer, as if returning from the land of dreams.

“The torches will soon go out.”


 “Let’s go!” replied Cyrus Smith.

The small troop left the cavern and began to climb up the somber passageway. Top was at the rear still making those singular growls. The climb was a steep one. The colonists stopped for several moments at the upper grotto which formed a sort of landing at the midpoint of this long granite stairway. Then they began to climb again.

Soon they felt fresher air. The drops of water, dried by evaporation, no longer glistened on the walls. The light from the fading torches became smoky. The one carried by Neb went out and, in order to avoid total darkness, it was necessary to hurry their pace.

A little before four o’clock, just as the sailor’s torch also went out, Cyrus Smith and his companions emerged from the passageway.


*
 Palace of granite. The word “house” applies equally to palaces and homes, e.g., Buckingham House or Mansion House, in London.



CHAPTER XIX





T

 he next day, May 22nd, work was begun to take possession of their new dwelling. In fact, the colonists were looking forward to exchanging their insufficient shelter at the Chimneys for this vast and sound retreat cut into solid rock and sheltered from the waters of sea and sky. The Chimneys, however, would not be entirely abandoned; the engineer planned to make it into a workshop for the heavier work. Cyrus Smith’s first concern was to find out the precise position of Granite House from the outside. He went to the beach, to the foot of the enormous wall and, since the pick, when falling from the reporter’s hands, had to have fallen straight down, it sufficed to recover the pick in order to discover the place where the hole had been pierced through the granite.

The pick was easily found and, as expected, there was an opening about eighty feet directly above the point on the beach where it had driven itself into the sand. Some rock pigeons were already entering and leaving by this narrow opening. They apparently believed that Granite House had been discovered just for them!

It was the engineer’s plan to divide the right side of the cavern into several rooms, preceded by an entrance hallway, and to light it by means of five windows and a door pierced into the facade. Pencroff readily admitted the need for five windows but he could not understand 
 the need for the door since the old passageway offered a natural staircase that gave easy access into Granite House.

“My friend,” Cyrus Smith replied to him, “if it will be easy for us to reach our dwelling by the passageway, it will be just as easy for others. I intend to obstruct the passageway at its opening, to seal it hermetically and, if necessary, to completely conceal the entrance by raising the water of the lake with a dam.”

“And how will we enter?” asked the sailor.

“By an outside ladder,” replied Cyrus Smith, “a cord ladder which, once drawn up, will render access to our dwelling impossible.”

“But why so many precautions?” said Pencroff. “So far, the animals don’t seem to be very dangerous. As to natives, the island has none.”

“Are you sure of it, Pencroff?” asked the engineer, looking at the sailor.

“We won’t be totally sure, of course, until we have explored the entire island,” replied Pencroff.

“Yes,” said Cyrus Smith, “we still know only a small portion of it. But, in any case, if we have no enemies from within, they can still come from without because these parts of the Pacific are dangerous. Let us therefore take precautions against all possibilities.”

Cyrus Smith spoke wisely and, without making any further objection, Pencroff prepared to execute his orders.

The front of Granite House would be lighted by means of five windows and a door leading into what constituted “the apartment.” A large bay window and a “bull’s eye” window would permit abundant light to enter into this marvelous nave which would serve as a large hall. Eighty feet above the ground, it was facing east, and the rising sun greeted it with its first rays. It was situated on that portion of the rock face between the jutting corner at the mouth of the Mercy and a line drawn perpendicularly above the pile of rocks which formed the Chimneys. The cold winds from the northeast would only strike it aslant because it was protected by the angle of the jutting rockface. However, until the window frames were made, the engineer intended to close the openings with thick shutters which would allow neither wind or rain to pass through and which could be concealed if need be. The first job consisted of hollowing out these openings. Using a pick on this hard rock would have been very slow and it is known that Cyrus Smith was a man of spectacular methods. He still had a 
 certain quantity of nitroglycerin, and he put it to good use. The effect of the explosive was properly localized and, by its force, the granite was broken at the very places chosen by the engineer. Then the pick and the pickaxe completed the ogival design of the five windows, the spacious bay window, the bull’s eye window, and the door. They straightened out the frames, whose edges were irregular, and, a few days after commencing this work, Granite House was brightly illuminated by the light of the rising sun which penetrated its most secret recesses. Following the plan devised by Cyrus Smith, the apartment would be divided into five compartments, each having a view of the sea; to the right, an entryway with a door to which the ladder was attached, then a main kitchen thirty feet wide, a dining room forty feet wide, a sleeping room of equal size, and finally a “guest room,” requested by Pencroff, adjacent to the great hall.

These rooms, or rather this suite of rooms which formed the apartment of Granite House, would not occupy all the space of the cavern. There would also be a central corridor and a large storeroom in which tools, provisions, and reserves would easily find a place. All the products gathered on the island, the flora as well as the fauna, would be well-preserved and completely sheltered from dampness. There was no lack of space, and each item would be placed methodically. Beyond that, the colonists still had the small grotto situated above the large cavern, which would be like the garret of the new dwelling.

This plan decided on, it remained only to put it into execution. The miners became bricklayers once again. The bricks were carried and placed at the foot of Granite House.

Until then, Cyrus Smith and his companions had access to the cavern only through the old passageway. This entryway forced them first to climb up to Grand View Plateau after making a detour at the bank of the river, to descend 200 feet by the corridor, and then to climb up again when they wanted to return to the plateau. It cost them much time and considerable fatigue. Cyrus Smith therefore decided right away to have them make a sturdy cord ladder which, once drawn up, would render the entrance to Granite House completely inaccessible. This ladder was made with care. Its sides, formed of juncus fibers tightly braided by means of a winch, had the strength of a thick cable. As for its rungs, they were constructed from the wood of a species of red cedar whose branches are light but tough. And the apparatus was finished by the master hand of Pencroff.


 Other ropes were made with vegetable fibers in the same way, and a sort of large pulleyblock was installed at the door. In this way, the bricks could be easily lifted to the level of Granite House. The transport of material was thus simplified, and work on the interior soon began. There was no lack of lime, and several thousand bricks were there, ready to be used. They easily set up the partitions, in a very rudimentary way of course, and in a short time the apartment was divided into rooms and into a storehouse according to the plan.

These various works proceeded rapidly under the direction of the engineer, who himself handled the hammer and the trowel. Cyrus Smith was no stranger to manual labor, and he set the example for his intelligent and zealous companions. They worked with confidence, even merrily, Pencroff always with a funny word, sometimes as a carpenter, sometimes as a rope maker, sometimes as a mason, and communicating his good humor to all in this small colony. His faith in the engineer was absolute. Nothing could shake it. He believed him capable of undertaking everything and succeeding at everything. The question of clothing and shoes—a serious issue, assuredly—that of light during the winter nights, the farming of the fertile portions of the island, the transformation of this wild flora into cultivated vegetation, everything seemed easy to him with the help of Cyrus Smith, and everything would be done in its time. He daydreamed of canals to facilitate the transport of the soil’s riches, of exploiting quarries and working mines, of machines suitable for every industrial practice, of railroads (yes, of railroads!) whose network of tracks would certainly cover Lincoln Island one day.

The engineer let Pencroff speak. He did not contradict this bravehearted man’s exaggerations. He well knew that confidence is contagious. He even smiled to hear him speak and said nothing about the anxieties he sometimes had about the future. In this part of the Pacific, outside the shipping lanes, he feared that they would never be rescued. The colonists must rely on themselves, and themselves alone. The distance from Lincoln Island to any other land was such that, to risk themselves in a boat of necessarily mediocre construction, would be a serious and perilous thing. But, as the sailor said, they had accomplished a hundred times more than the Robinsons of a bygone time, for whom everything was done miraculously.

They had knowledge, and the man who has knowledge succeeds where others would vegetate and inevitably perish.
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 The ladder to Granite House.





 During these activities, Harbert distinguished himself. He was intelligent and active, he learned quickly, worked well, and Cyrus Smith became more and more attached to the lad. Harbert felt a strong and respectful regard for the engineer. Pencroff saw clearly the close affection that was forming between the two, but he was not jealous.

Neb was Neb. He was what he would always be, courageous, zealous, devoted, abnegation personified. He had the same faith in his master as Pencroff, but he manifested it with less noise. When the sailor was enthusiastic, Neb always took an attitude as if to say “but nothing is more natural.” Pencroff and he liked each other and did not take long to become friends. As for Gideon Spilett, he took part in the common work and showed himself to be far from untalented, which always astonished the sailor a little. A ‘newspaper man’ capable not only of understanding everything, but of doing everything as well.

The ladder was finally installed on May 28th. There were no less than a hundred rungs for this height of eighty feet. Fortunately, Cyrus Smith had been able to divide it into two parts, profiting from an overhang in the wall which formed a ledge forty feet above the ground. This ledge, carefully leveled with a pick, became a sort of landing on which they fixed the first ladder, whose swinging was thus diminished by half, and with a rope it was raised to the level of Granite House. As for the second ladder, its lower end was also attached to the ledge, but its upper end was connected to the door itself. In this way, the ascent was significantly easier. Moreover, Cyrus Smith planned on later installing a hydraulic elevator,
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 which would eliminate all fatigue and lost time for the inhabitants of Granite House.

The colonists promptly became accustomed to the ladder. They were nimble and skillful, and Pencroff, since he was a sailor and used to climbing the ratlines of ships’ shrouds, gave them lessons. But it was necessary to teach Top as well. The poor dog, with his four feet, was not built for this sort of exercise. But Pencroff was so zealous a teacher that Top learned to climb the ladder as well as his peers in the circus. Needless to say, the sailor was proud of his pupil. But, more than once, Pencroff put him on his back, and Top never complained.

It should be noted that, during this work which was actively carried on because the bad season was approaching, the question of food had not been neglected. The reporter and Harbert became the major purveyors to the colony, devoting several hours every day to hunting. They hunted only in Jacamar Woods, on the left of the river, 
 because they still could not cross the Mercy without a bridge or a boat. All those immense forests, to which they had given the name Forests of the Far West, remained entirely unexplored. This important excursion was reserved for the first good days of the coming spring. But Jacamar Woods was full of game; kangaroos and wild boar were abundant, and the hunters did wonders with the iron tipped spears and the bow and arrows. In addition, Harbert discovered a natural rabbit warren near the southwest corner of the lagoon, a sort of slightly moist meadow covered with willows and aromatic herbs which perfumed the air, such as thyme, serpolet, basil, savory, and all fragrant species of the labiate family of which rabbits are so fond. The reporter noted that, since the table was thus set with so much rabbit food, it would be astonishing if rabbits were lacking there. The two hunters carefully explored this warren. It produced an abundance of useful plants and a naturalist would have had a good opportunity there to study many specimens of the vegetable kingdom. Harbert therefore collected a certain quantity of basil shoots, rosemary, melissa, betony, etc., which possessed various therapeutic properties, some as cough mixtures, astringents, antifebriles, others as antispasmodics or antirhumatics. And, later, when Pencroff asked about this collection of herbs: “To take care of us,” replied the lad, “to treat us when we are ill.”

“Since there are no doctors on the island, why should we be sick?” replied Pencroff, very seriously.

There was nothing to say to this, but the lad nonetheless made his collection, which was very well received at Granite House. He was able to add to this stock of medicinal plants a quantity of didymous monardas, known in North America by the name of “Oswego Tea,”
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 an excellent beverage.

On that day, by looking carefully, the two hunters finally arrived at the true site of the rabbit warren. The ground was riddled with holes.

“Burrows!” shouted Harbert.

“Yes,” replied the reporter, “I see them.”

“But are they inhabited?”

“That’s the question.”

The question was not long in resolving itself. Almost at once, hundreds of small animals resembling rabbits fled in all directions, with such speed that even Top could not overtake them. Both hunters and dog chased in vain; these rodents easily escaped them. But the reporter resolved not to leave the place before capturing at least half a dozen of these quadrupeds. He wanted first to supply the pantry and then to domesticate those taken later. With several nooses spread at the openings of the burrows, the operation could not fail. But, at that moment, they had neither nooses nor a way to make them. They had to resign themselves to visiting each burrow, digging at it with a stick, and to do with patience what they could not do in any other way.
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 Hundreds of rabbits.





 Finally, after an hour of digging, four rodents were taken. They were rabbits resembling their European cousins, commonly known by the name of “American rabbits.”

The result of the hunt was brought to Granite House and was part of the evening meal. The hosts of this warren were not scorned because they were delicious. This was a valuable resource for the colony, and one which seemed to be inexhaustible.

On May 31st, the partitions were completed. Nothing remained but to furnish the rooms, which would be the work for the long winter. A chimney was built in the first room which served as the kitchen. The pipe, designed to conduct the smoke outside, provided some work for the improvised chimney makers. It seemed simpler to Cyrus Smith to make it out of brick clay. Since he could not consider making an opening to the upper plateau, they excavated a hole through the granite above the window of the kitchen, and ran the pipe to it, like that of an iron stove. It was possible, even doubtless, the chimney would smoke when the strong winds beat directly against the facade, but these winds were rare and, besides, Master Neb, the cook, did not mind it.

When these interior arrangements were finished, the engineer closed the opening to the old passageway leading up to the lake so as to prevent any access by this means. Lumps of rocks were hauled to the opening and firmly cemented. Cyrus Smith had not yet begun the project he had contemplated earlier, that of drowning this opening under the lake’s waters by building a dam. He contented himself with concealing the obstruction with grass, bushes, and brushwood which were planted in the crevices of the rocks and which would grow exuberantly next spring.

Nevertheless, he used the overflow to bring a stream of fresh water into the new dwelling. He made a small groove in its edge below water level and this pure and inexhaustible spring produced a flow of twenty five to thirty gallons a day. There would never be a shortage of water at Granite House.
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 A stream of fresh water.





 Finally, everything was completed, and it was just in time because winter was arriving. Thick shutters allowed them to close the windows of the facade while they waited for the time when the engineer could make plate glass.

Gideon Spilett, being artistically inclined, planted various species of plants and long flowing grass on the rock ledges and around the windows. In this way, the openings were framed in picturesque greenery, producing a charming effect.

The inhabitants of this solid, safe, and secure dwelling could only be delighted with their work. The windows gave them a view which extended along a limitless horizon from the two Mandible Capes in the north to Cape Claw in the south. All of Union Bay magnificently unfolded before them. Yes, these brave colonists had grounds for being satisfied, and Pencroff spared no praise of what he humorously called his “apartment on the fifth floor above the mezzanine.”



CHAPTER XX





T

 he winter season really began in June, which corresponds to the month of December in the northern hemisphere. It started with showers and gusts of wind which followed each other without a break. The occupants of Granite House appreciated the advantages of a dwelling beyond the reach of the harsh weather. The shelter of the Chimneys would really have been insufficient against the rigors of winter, and it was feared that the high tides, driven on by the winds from the open sea, would make further inroads there. Cyrus Smith even took precautions to preserve, as much as possible, the forge and furnace which were installed there.

During all of June, the time was employed with various activities which included hunting and fishing, so the reserves of the pantry were abundantly maintained. Pencroff, as soon as he had time, proposed to make traps, from which he expected great things. He made some snares of ligneous fibers, and not a day passed when the warren did not furnish its contingent of rodents. Neb employed nearly 
 all of his time salting or smoking these meats, which were excellently preserved.

The question of clothing was then very seriously discussed. The colonists had no other clothes than the ones they wore when the balloon threw them on the island. These clothes were warm and sturdy and, by taking care of them as well as their underwear, they had kept them in perfect condition. But they would soon have to be replaced. If the winter were rigorous, the colonists would suffer much from the cold.

On this subject, Cyrus Smith was at a loss. He had to take care of the most pressing needs first, making a home and assuring a food supply, and the cold weather was upon them before the question of clothing had been resolved. They would have to get through this first winter without complaining. When the spring came, they would conduct a serious hunt for those wild sheep whose presence had been noted during the exploration of Mount Franklin and, once the wool was collected, the engineer would be able to make warm and sturdy cloth … How? He would think about it.

“Well then, we’ll be free to roast our legs at Granite House,” said Pencroff. “There’s lots of fuel and no reason to spare it.”

“Besides,” replied Gideon Spilett, “Lincoln Island is not situated at a very high latitude and it’s likely that the winters won’t be bad here. Didn’t you tell us, Cyrus, that the 35th parallel corresponds to that of Spain in the other hemisphere?”

“Without doubt,” replied the engineer, “but certain winters are very cold in Spain. Snow and ice are not lacking there, and Lincoln Island might also have its share of such rigors. However, it’s an island and, as such, I hope that the temperature will be more moderate.”

“Why so, Mister Cyrus?” asked Harbert.

“Because the sea, my child, may be considered an immense reservoir which stores up the heat of summer. With the coming of winter, it returns this heat, which assures a moderate temperature to those regions adjacent to it, not as high in the summer, but not as low in the winter.”

“We’ll look forward to it,” replied Pencroff. “I don’t trouble myself as to whether it’s cold or not. But this much is certain, that the days are already short and the evenings long. May we give a little thought to the question of illumination?”

“Nothing is easier,” replied Cyrus Smith.


 “To consider?” asked the sailor.

“To solve.”

“And when do we begin?”

“Tomorrow, by organizing a hunt for seals.”

“To make wax candles?”

“For shame, Pencroff, tallow candles.”

Such was the engineer’s realistic plan, since he had lime and sulfuric acid, and the amphibians of the islet would furnish the fat necessary to make them.

It was June 4th, Pentecost Sunday, and they all agreed to observe this holiday. All work was suspended and prayers were directed to Heaven. But these prayers were now those of thanks. The colonists of Lincoln Island were no longer the unfortunate castaways thrown onto the islet. They no longer asked for anything; they gave thanks.

The next day, June 5th, amid rather uncertain weather, they left for the islet. It was still necessary to take advantage of the low tide to cross the channel, and it was agreed that they would construct, for better or for worse, a boat which would make communications easier and also allow them to ascend the Mercy when they were able to explore the southwest of the island during the early days of spring.

The seals were numerous and the hunters, armed with their iron tipped spears, easily killed half a dozen. Neb and Pencroff skinned them and brought only their fat and skins to Granite House, the skins to be made into sturdy footwear.

The result of the hunt was about 300 pounds of fat which would be entirely used for making candles.

The operation was simple and, if it did not yield absolutely perfect products, they were nonetheless usable. Cyrus Smith needed only sulfuric acid. Heating this acid with the neutral fatty material, such as seal’s fat, would enable him to isolate the glycerin; then, from this new mixture, it would be easy to separate the olein, the margarine, and the stearin
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 using boiling water. But, in order to simplify the operation, he preferred to saponify the fat by means of lime. He thereby obtained a sort of calcareous soap, easy to decompose with the sulfuric acid, which precipitated as sulphate of lime, freeing the fatty acids.

Of these three acids, olein, margarine, and stearin, the first, being liquid, was expelled by pressure. As for the other two, they formed the very substance which would be used in molding the candles.

The operation lasted only twenty four hours. The wicks, after several 
 attempts, were made of vegetable fibers and, soaked in the liquified substance, they formed real stearin candles, molded by hand, lacking only whiteness and polish. They doubtless did not offer the advantages which wicks impregnated with boric acid have, of vitrifying themselves as they burn so as to consume themselves entirely. But Cyrus Smith made a beautiful pair of candle snuffers, and these candles were greatly appreciated during the evenings at Granite House.

During all of this month, there was no lack of work on the interior of the new dwelling. The joiners had much work to do: they improved their rudimentary tools, and they also filled out their supply of them.

Among other implements, they made some scissors, and the colonists were finally able to cut their hair and their beards, or at least to trim them imaginatively. Harbert had no beard and Neb hardly any, but their companions were so overgrown as to justify the making of such scissors.

Making a saw, a sort of small handsaw, cost them infinite labor, but finally they produced an instrument which, when vigorously handled, could cut through the ligneous fibers of the wood. They made tables, benches, and wardrobe cabinets which furnished the main rooms, and bed frames whose bedding consisted entirely of mattresses of seawrack. The kitchen looked fine with its terra cotta utensils resting on shelves, its brick furnace, and its stone washstand, and Neb operated there as seriously as if he were in a chemist’s laboratory.

But the joiners were soon replaced by carpenters. The new overflow created by the nitroglycerin made it necessary to construct two bridges, one on Grand View Plateau and the other on the shore itself. The plateau and the shore were now cut transversely by a watercourse which they had to cross when they wanted to get to the north of the island. To avoid this, the colonists would have been obliged to make a considerable detour far westward beyond the springs of Red Creek. It was simpler to build two bridges, one on the plateau and one on the shore, twenty to twenty five feet in length, whose only frame was several trees squared up with an axe. This was the work of a few days. The bridges built, Neb and Pencroff then took advantage of them by going to the oyster bed, which had been discovered near the dunes. They pulled a large cart which replaced the old inconvenient sled, and they brought back several thousand oysters that quickly acclimatized themselves among the rocks at the mouth of the Mercy, becoming as 
 good as a natural oyster bed. These mollusks were of excellent quality and the colonists consumed them nearly every day.

Although the inhabitants of Lincoln Island had only explored a small portion of it, the island had already furnished nearly all their needs. And it was likely that, buried in its more secret retreats, over all of this wooded part that extended from the Mercy to Reptile Promontory, it would lavish even more new treasures.

The colonists of Lincoln Island still had one deprivation. Their diet did not lack protein, nor vegetable products which they modified for their use; the ligneous roots of the dragon trees, subjected to fermentation, gave them a sour beverage, a sort of beer, preferable to pure water; they even made sugar, without cane sugar or sugar beets, by collecting and distilling the sap of the “acer saccharum,”
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 a sort of maple tree of the aceraceae family, which prospers in all temperate zones and which were abundant on the island; they made a very agreeable tea by using the monarda brought back from the warren; lastly, they had an abundance of salt, the only mineral product which enters into the preparation of food … but they could not make bread.

Perhaps, at a later time, the colonists could have replaced this food with some equivalent, the flour of the sago tree or the starch of the breadfruit tree. And it was in fact possible that the southern forests contained these valuable trees but, up to this time, they had not seen them.

However, in this circumstance, it was Providence that came directly to the colonists’ aid, in an infinitesimal way it is true, but Cyrus Smith, with all his intelligence and all his ingenuity could never have produced that which Harbert, by the greatest chance, found one day in the lining of his vest which he was mending.

On this day it was raining in torrents. The colonists were in the main hall of Granite House when the lad suddenly shouted out:

“Look, Mr. Cyrus! A grain of wheat!”

And he showed his companions a grain, a single grain, which had lodged in the lining of his vest through a hole in his pocket. The presence of this seed was explained by Harbert’s habit, while in Richmond, of feeding some pigeons.

“A grain of wheat?” replied the engineer, with great interest.

“Yes, Mr. Cyrus, but only one, nothing but a single one.”

“Well, my boy,” cried Pencroff, smiling, “that’s really of great use to us! What could we possibly do with a single grain of wheat?”
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 “Do you know how many seeds …?”





 “We’ll make bread from it,” replied Cyrus Smith.

“Bread, cakes, pies!” replied the sailor. “Come now! The bread that this grain of wheat will provide won’t stuff our bellies very soon!”

Harbert, attaching no importance to his discovery, was about throw it away, but Cyrus Smith took it, examined it, saw that it was in good condition and, looking at the sailor:

“Pencroff,” he asked him tranquilly, “do you know how many shafts of wheat one seed can produce?”

“One, I suppose,” replied the sailor, surprised by the question.

“Ten, Pencroff. And do you know how many seeds a single shaft of wheat contains?”

“My word, no.”

“Eighty on the average,” said Cyrus Smith. “If we plant this seed, at the first harvest, we’ll gather eight hundred grains, which will produce at the second harvest six hundred forty thousand, at the third five hundred twelve million, at the fourth more than four hundred billion grains. There are the proportions.”

Cyrus Smith’s companions listened without replying. These figures stupefied them. They were exact, however.

“Yes, my friends,” continued the engineer. “Such are the geometric yields of a Nature who is fertile. And yet what is this grain of wheat whose shaft multiplies to only eight hundred grains, compared to the head of the poppy which gives thirty two thousand grains, or that of tobacco, which produces three hundred sixty thousand? In several years, without the numerous destructive events which arrest their growth, these plants would overrun the entire earth.”

But the engineer had not finished his little interrogation.

“And now, Pencroff,” he continued, “do you know how many bushels four hundred billion grains will yield?”

“No,” replied the sailor, “but what I do know is that I am a fool.”

“Well, it will make more than three million at a hundred thirty thousand per bushel, Pencroff.”

“Three million!” shouted Pencroff.

“Three million.”

“In four years?”

“In four years,” replied Cyrus Smith, “and even in two years if, as I hope, we’ll be able to get two harvests each year at this latitude.”

At this, following his custom, Pencroff could think of no reply other than a formidable hurrah.


 “So Harbert,” added the engineer, “you’ve made an extremely important discovery for us. Everything, my friends, everything can serve us in the condition we find ourselves. I beg you, don’t forget it.”

“No, Mr. Cyrus, we won’t forget it,” replied Pencroff, “and if ever I find one of these grains of tobacco which multiplies at three hundred sixty thousand, I assure you that I won’t throw it to the wind. And now, do you know what remains to be done?”

“We must plant this seed,” replied Harbert.

“Yes,” added Gideon Spilett, “and with all the respect due to it because it carries within itself our future harvests.”

“Provided it grows!” exclaimed the sailor.

“It will grow,” replied Cyrus Smith.

It was June 20th. The moment was thus propitious for sowing this unique and precious seed of wheat. They first discussed whether they should plant it in a pot; but after reflection, they decided to put themselves very boldly into Nature’s hands and to entrust it to the earth. That was done the very same day, and needless to say, all precautions were taken to make the operation a success.

The weather having cleared up, the colonists climbed to the heights of Granite House. There, on the plateau, they chose a spot well sheltered from the wind, where the noonday sun would shed all its warmth. The spot was cleared, carefully weeded, even searched for insects and worms; they placed a layer of good earth on it, enriched with a little lime; they surrounded it with a fence; then the seed was buried in the wet ground.

Did it not seem that the colonists were putting down the first stone of an edifice? Pencroff recalled the day when he had to light his single match and all the care that he carried to this operation. But, this time, it was an even more serious matter. The castaways would have managed to procure fire in one way or another; but no human power could restore this grain of wheat if, by accident or ill fortune, it should be lost.



CHAPTER XXI




 
F

 rom this moment, a day did not pass without Pencroff going to visit what he seriously called his “wheatfield.” And woe to the insects that ventured there, for he showed no mercy!

Toward the end of the month of June, after endless rains, the weather definitely began to turn cold and, on the 29th, a Fahrenheit thermometer would have registered only 20° above zero.

The next day, June 30th, a day which corresponds to December 31st of the northern year, was a Friday. Neb observed that the year ended on a bad day; but Pencroff replied that, naturally, the next year would begin on a good day, which was better.

In any event, it began with a very cold spell. Ice floes piled up at the mouth of the Mercy, and the lake froze completely over.

They had to renew their supply of fuel repeatedly. Pencroff, not waiting for the river to freeze, transported enormous raftloads of wood to their destination. The current was a tireless motor, and it carted the floating wood up to the moment when the cold closed it down. To the fuel furnished so abundantly by the forest, they also added several cartloads of coal which they had obtained at the base of the foothills of Mount Franklin. This powerful coal heat was well appreciated during the cold weather which, on July 4th, fell to 8° Fahrenheit. A second chimney had been installed in the dining room, and there they all worked together.

During this period of cold, Cyrus Smith had to congratulate himself for having diverted a small stream from Lake Grant to Granite House. Drawn from beneath the lake’s frozen surface, it flowed by the old passageway into an interior reservoir which had been excavated in a corner of the rear storeroom and any overflow escaped by the well to the sea.

During this period of extremely dry weather, the colonists, dressed as well as possible, decided to devote a day to the exploration of the southeast of the island between the Mercy and Cape Claw. It was a vast marshy terrain which would make for good hunting because of the many aquatic birds there.

They had to plan on an eight to nine mile trip to get there as well as to return, and consequently it would take up a full day. Since it was also an exploration of an unknown portion of the island, the entire 
 colony took part in it. On July 5th, at six in the morning, with dawn barely breaking, Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett, Harbert, Neb, and Pencroff, armed with spears, snares, bows and arrows, and supplied with sufficient provisions, left Granite House, preceded by Top who gamboled about in front of them.

They took the shortest route crossing the Mercy over the ice floes then blocking it.

“But,” the reporter justly noted, “this cannot replace a genuine bridge.”

So the construction of a “genuine” bridge was recorded as one of their tasks for the future.

It was the first time the colonists had set foot on the right bank of the Mercy, and they walked among tall, superb conifers which were then covered with snow.

But they had not gone half a mile when, from a thick bush, an entire family of quadrupeds fled from where they lived, provoked to flight by Top’s barks.

“Ah! They look like foxes!” exclaimed Harbert, when he saw the entire group dash off so quickly.

They were foxes, in fact, but very large foxes. They made a sort of barking sound that appeared to astonish Top himself, for he stopped in his pursuit, giving these rapid animals time to disappear.

The dog was right to be surprised since he did not know natural history. By their barks, these foxes with reddish grey fur and black tails that ended in a white tassel, revealed their origin. Harbert, without hesitating, gave them their true name of “colpeos.”
1

 These colpeos are found in Chile, the Falkland Islands, and in all regions of America between the 30th and 40th parallels. Harbert regretted that Top had not been able to get hold of one of these carnivores.

“Are they good to eat?” asked Pencroff, who never considered the fauna of the island except from his special point of view.

“No,” replied Harbert, “but zoologists have not yet determined if these foxes’ pupils are diurnal or nocturnal, and if they might be classified in the genus dog, properly called.”

Cyrus Smith could not prevent a smile on hearing the lad’s thoughts, which attested to his serious mind. As for the sailor, from the moment these foxes could not be classified in any edible genus, they were of little interest to him. Nevertheless, everyone agreed that it would be good to take some precautions against possible visits from these four-footed plunderers once they set up a poultry yard at Granite House.
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 The shortest route was to cross the Mercy.





 After circling Flotsam Point, the colonists found a long beach washed by the vast sea. It was then eight o’clock in the morning and the sky was clear from the prolonged and severe cold. Excited by their journey, Cyrus Smith and his companions did not feel the weather’s sting too vividly. Besides, the wind was not blowing, so the low temperatures were bearable. A brilliant sun with no appreciable heat then rose from the ocean, its enormous disk floating on the horizon. The surface of the sea was calm and as blue as a Mediterranean gulf when the sky is clear. Cape Claw, curved in the shape of a yataghan, was clearly visible about four miles away to the southeast. To the left, the edge of the marsh abruptly ended in a small point which the sun’s rays outlined with a fiery hue. Certainly in this part of Union Bay, with no cover from the open sea, not even a sandbank, ships battered by the winds from the east would have found no shelter. They sensed from the tranquility of the sea undisturbed by shallows, from its uniform color which had no trace of a yellowish nuance, and from the absence of any reef, that this coastline dropped off abruptly, and that the ocean covered up a deep abyss there. Behind them in the west, at a distance of four miles, the first line of trees of the Far West forests was visible. They might have believed that they were on the desolate coast of some Antarctic island overrun by ice floes. The colonists stopped here to have lunch. A fire was started with brushwood and dry seaweed, and Neb prepared a meal of cold meat and several cups of Oswego tea.

While eating, everyone looked around. This part of Lincoln Island was truly sterile and contrasted sharply with the entire western region. This led the reporter to observe that, if chance had first thrown the castaways on this shore, they would have had a terrible idea of their future habitation.

“I don’t think that we would have been able to reach it,” replied the engineer, “because the sea is too deep here and it would’ve offered us no rock for refuge. In front of Granite House at least, there were some reefs and an islet, which increased the chances of rescue. Here nothing but the abyss.”

“It’s rather strange,” observed Gideon Spilett, “that this relatively small island presents such varied terrains. This diversity belongs logically only on continents of a certain size. One could truly say that the 
 western part of Lincoln Island, so rich and so fertile, is washed by the warm waters of the Gulf of Mexico and that the shores of the north and the southeast reach out to a sort of Arctic Sea.”

“You’re right, my dear Spilett,” replied Cyrus Smith. “That’s an observation I’ve also made. I find this island strange in its form and nature. One would say, in short, that it has all the aspects of a continent, and it would not surprise me if it had been a continent once upon a time.”

“What! A continent in the middle of the Pacific?” cried Pencroff.

“Why not?” replied Cyrus Smith. “Why couldn’t Australia, New Ireland, and all that the British geographers call Australasia joined to the archipelagos of the Pacific have formed in the past a sixth part of the world as important as Europe or Asia, as Africa, or the two Americas? I don’t automatically reject the notion that all these islands, emerging from this vast ocean, are merely the mountaintops of a continent which, though now engulfed, was above water in prehistoric times.”

“The way Atlantis once was,” replied Harbert.

“Yes, my child … if it existed.”

“And was Lincoln Island part of this continent?” asked Pencroff.

“That’s possible,” replied Cyrus Smith, “and that would explain this diversity that we see on its surface.”

“And the considerable number of animals that still live here,” added Harbert.

“Yes, my child,” answered the engineer, “and you provide me there with yet another argument to support my thesis. It’s certain, from what we’ve seen, that there are numerous animals on the island and, what is even stranger, that the species are so extremely varied. That is why I think that Lincoln Island could once have been part of some vast continent which little by little sank below the Pacific.”
2



“Then one fine day,” asked Pencroff, who was not absolutely convinced, “the remainder of this ancient continent will disappear in its turn, and there will no longer be anything between America and Asia?”

“Yes,” replied Cyrus Smith, “but there will be new continents which millions upon millions of tiny animals are working to build at this moment.”

“And who are these masons?” asked Pencroff.

“The coral infusoria,” replied Cyrus Smith. “It is they who made, 
 by constant work, Reao Island, the atolls and other numerous coral islands of the Pacific Ocean. Forty seven million of these infusoria weigh a single grain;*
 but, with the ocean salt that they absorb, with the solid elements that they assimilate from the water, these animalcules produce lime, and this lime forms enormous submarine substructures whose hardness and compactness are equal to granite. In ancient times, during the first stages of creation, Nature, using fire, produced land by upheaval; but now she assigns the responsibility to these microscopic animals; they replace this force whose dynamic power in the interior of the globe has evidently diminished: this is proved by the large number of volcanoes on the surface of the earth that are currently extinct. I really believe that, in later centuries, as infusoria are added to infusoria, this Pacific will change one day into a vast continent which new generations will inhabit and civilize in their turn.”

“That will take long!” said Pencroff.

“Nature has all the time in the world,” replied the engineer.

“But what will be the good of new continents?” asked Harbert. “It seems to me that the current size of the habitable world is sufficient for humanity. Nature does nothing uselessly.”

“In fact nothing is useless,” replied the engineer, “but here is how one can explain the necessity for new continents in the future and precisely on this tropical zone occupied by the coral islands. At least this explanation seems plausible to me.”

“We’re listening, Mr. Cyrus,” answered Harbert.

“Here’s my idea: Scientists generally admit that one day our world will end, or rather that animal and vegetable life will no longer be possible on earth since it will be subjected to intense cold. What they’re not in agreement on is the cause of this cold. Some think that it will result from the lower temperature that the sun will experience after millions of years; others think that it will result from the gradual dying out of the interior fires of our globe which have a more pronounced influence on it than is generally supposed. I myself hold to this last hypothesis, and I base it on the fact that the moon is really a frozen star which is no longer habitable even though the sun continues to shed the same amount of heat on its surface. If the moon is cold, it is because these interior fires, to which all stars of the stellar 
 world owe their origin, are completely extinct. In short, whatever the cause, our globe will freeze one day, but this freezing will only occur little by little. What will then happen? The temperate zones, sooner or later, will be no more habitable than the polar regions are. The human populations, as well as animal life, will move to those latitudes more directly subject to the sun’s influence. An immense migration will occur. Europe, Central Asia, and North America will be abandoned little by little, as will Australasia and the lower parts of South America. Vegetation will follow the human emigration. The flora will recede to the equator at the same time as the fauna. The central parts of South America and Africa will become the best continents to live in. The Laplanders and the Samoyeds will find the climatic conditions of the polar sea on the shores of the Mediterranean. Who can say if, at this time, the equatorial regions will not be too small to contain terrestrial humanity and to nourish it? Why wouldn’t a prescient Nature, in order to give refuge to all of this vegetable and animal migration, lay the foundation, even now, of a new continent beneath the equator and arrange for the infusoria to construct it? I’ve often reflected on these things, my friends, and I seriously believe that the surface of our globe will one day be completely transformed; that, by raising new continents, the seas will cover the old ones; and that, in future centuries, Columbuses will discover the islands of Chimborazo,
3

 of the Himalayas or Mont Blanc, or those of America, Asia and Europe which were swallowed up. Then finally, these new continents in their turn will become uninhabitable; the earth’s heat will be extinguished like the heat from a body abandoned by the soul, and life will disappear, if not absolutely from the globe, at least for a time. Then perhaps our globe will rest and, in death, remake itself in order to revive one day under superior conditions! But all this, my friends, is the secret of the Author of all things, and in talking about the work of the infusoria, I’ve let myself be carried away a little too far perhaps in peering into the secrets of the future.”

“My dear Cyrus,” replied Gideon Spilett, “these theories are prophecies for me, and they will come true one day.”

“That is the secret of God,” said the engineer.

“All this is well and good,” Pencroff then said, having listened with all ears, “but tell me, Mr. Cyrus, was Lincoln Island constructed by your infusoria?”


 “No,” replied Cyrus Smith, “it is strictly of volcanic origin.”

“Then it will disappear one day?”

“That is likely.”

“I hope that we’ll no longer be here.”

“No, you can rest assured, Pencroff, that we’ll no longer be here since we’ve no wish to die here and that, in the end, we’ll manage to escape.”

“In the meanwhile,” said Gideon Spilett, “let’s make our home here as if for an eternity. One must never do anything half-way.”

That ended the conversation. The meal was completed. The exploration was continued and the colonists arrived at the marshy region.

It was a true marsh whose area, up to the rounded shore which marked the southeast end of the island, measured twenty square miles. The soil was formed of a silicious clay mixed with vegetative debris. Conferva, juncaceae, carex, bulrush, and some beds of grass here and there covered it with a thick carpet. In several spots, frozen ponds scintillated under the sun’s rays. Neither rains nor rivers swelled by a sudden rise could have formed these reservoirs of water. They naturally concluded that this marsh was fed by infiltrations from the soil, which was the case. They even feared that, during hot weather, the air in the vicinity would be filled with the miasmas that cause swamp fever.

Above the aquatic grass, on the surface of the stagnant waters, fluttered a world of birds. Marsh hunters and professional poachers would not have lost a single shot. Wild duck, pintail, teal and snipe lived there in flocks and these fearless birds could easily be approached.

A gunshot would certainly have hit several dozens of the birds, so tight were their ranks. They had to be content with arrows. The result was mediocre but the silent arrow had the advantage of not frightening these birds who would have dissipated to all corners of the marsh from the detonation of a gun. The hunters were content, for the time being, with a dozen duck who had white bodies and cinnamon waists, green heads, black, white and reddish wings and flattened beaks that Harbert recognized as “Tadorns.” Top skillfully helped capture these birds whose name was given to this marshy part of the island. Thus the colonists had an abundant reserve of water fowl. When the time came, they would exploit this, and it was likely that several of these 
 species could become, if not domesticated, at least acclimatized to the neighborhood of the lake, which would put them within the immediate reach of the consumers.

Around five o’clock in the evening, Cyrus Smith and his companions took the road back to their dwelling, crossing Tadorn’s Marsh and passing over the Mercy on the bridge of ice. At eight o’clock in the evening they were all back at Granite House.


*
 A grain weighs 59 milligrams.



CHAPTER XXII





T

 his intense cold lasted until August 15th and the temperature stayed very low. When the weather was calm, this low temperature was easily tolerated, but when the cold wind blew, it was hard on these insufficiently dressed men. Pencroff regretted that Lincoln Island had not given sanctuary to several families of bears instead of foxes or seals, whose fur left much to be desired.

“Bears,” he said, “are generally well dressed, and I’d ask nothing more of them than to borrow for the winter the warm cloaks on their bodies.”

“But,” replied Neb laughing, “perhaps these bears won’t consent to give you their cloaks. These animals are not Saint-Martins!”

“We’d require them to, Neb. We’d require them to,” replied Pencroff, in a very authoritative tone.

But these fearsome carnivores did not exist on the island, or at least they had not shown themselves until then.

Nevertheless, Harbert, Pencroff and the reporter made traps on Grand View Plateau and at the approaches to the forest. In the sailor’s opinion, every animal, whatever it may be, would be a good prize, and the rodents or carnivores who would enter these new traps would be well received at Granite House. These traps were, moreover, extremely simple: holes dug in the ground, a ceiling of branches and grass above to hide the opening, some bait at the bottom whose odor would attract the animals, that was all. These traps were not dug at random but at certain places where numerous footprints indicated the frequent passage of quadrupeds. They were checked every day. Three times during the first few days, they found specimens there 
 of the colpeos that had already been seen on the right bank of the Mercy.

“Are there nothing but foxes in this country?” complained a disappointed Pencroff, the third time that he pulled out one of these animals from the pit. “These animals are good for nothing.”

“But yes,” said Gideon Spilett. “They’re good for something.”

“And what’s that?”

“To make bait to attract others.”

The reporter was right, and the traps were henceforth baited with the corpses of foxes.

The sailor also made snares using juncus fibers, and the snares proved more profitable than the traps. It was rare that a day went by without some rabbit from the warren being caught. It was always rabbits; but Neb knew how to vary his sauces, and the dinner guests did not dream of complaining.

Once or twice, however, during the second week of August, the traps delivered other animals more useful than colpeos: the same wild boars which had already been seen north of the lake. Pencroff had no need to ask if these animals were edible. This was obvious from their resemblance to the pigs of America or Europe.

The sailor leaned over the trap. By the small appendage which serves as its tail, he took out one of these representatives of the suilline
1

 family.

“But these are not pigs. Let me warn you, Pencroff,” Harbert said to him.

“My boy,” replied the sailor, “let me believe that these are pigs.”

“And why?”

“Because it pleases me to think so.”

“You really like pigs, Pencroff?”

“I love pigs,” answered the sailor, “especially for their feet, and if they had eight feet instead of four, I would love them twice as much.”

As for the animals in question, they were peccaries
2

 belonging to one of the four genuses that make up that family. They were of the “tajacu” species,
3

 recognizable by their dark color and deprived of those long canine teeth that line the mouths of their cousins. These peccaries ordinarily live in groups, and likely were abundant in the wooded parts of the island. In any event, they were edible from head to toe, and Pencroff asked nothing more of them.

Around August 15th, the weather suddenly changed with the wind 
 shifting to the northwest. The temperature rose several degrees, and the accumulated vapor in the air was not long in changing to snow. The entire island was covered with a white blanket and showed itself to its inhabitants in a new light. This snow fell abundantly for several days and soon attained a thickness of two feet.
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“Let me believe …”





 The wind began to blow with an extreme violence and, from the heights of Granite House, they could hear the sea growling on the reef. Strong eddies of air and snow, forming into high whirling columns, resembled those spinning waterspouts which sea vessels attack by cannon fire. The storm, however, came from the northwest, striking the island from the rear. The orientation of Granite House protected it from a direct assault. But, during this snow blast which was as bitter as those produced in polar regions, neither Cyrus Smith nor his companions were able, in spite of their desire, to venture outside, and they remained shut up for five days, from the 20th to the 25th of August. They heard the tempest roaring through Jacamar Woods, which was sure to suffer from it. Doubtless many trees would be uprooted, but Pencroff consoled himself by thinking that it would save him the trouble of cutting them down.

“The wind is doing the job of a woodsman, let it work,” he repeated.

And besides, he had no way to restrain it.

What thanks the occupants of Granite House then gave to heaven for having made them this solid and steadfast retreat! Cyrus Smith deserved a legitimate part of these thanks but, after all, it was Nature that had excavated this vast cavern, and he had only discovered it. There, all were safe and the storms could not reach them. If they had constructed a house of bricks and wood on Grand View Plateau, it certainly would not have resisted the fury of this storm. As for the Chimneys, the noise made by the waves led them to believe that it was absolutely uninhabitable because the sea, passing over the islet, must be beating down upon it with all its force. But here, in Granite House, inside this block of rock, neither water nor air could harm them, and there was nothing to fear.

During these days of sequestration, the colonists did not remain inactive. Wood, cut into planks, was not lacking in the storeroom and, little by little, they completed the furniture. The tables and chairs were sturdy, to be sure, because material was not spared. This somewhat heavy furniture hardly justified its name since mobility is an essential condition, but Neb and Pencroff were proud of it and would not have exchanged it for any other.

Then the woodworkers became basketmakers, and they did well at this new task. They discovered, near a corner of the lake that projected northward, a prolific bed of willows where a large number of purple 
 osiers grew. Before the rainy season, Pencroff and Harbert had harvested these useful bushes and their branches, now seasoned, could be used to good advantage. The first attempts were shapeless but, thanks to the skill and intelligence of the workmen who, consulting each other, recalling the models they had seen, and rivaling each other 
 in their efforts, a number of large and small baskets were soon added to the stock of the colony. The storeroom was provided with them, and there Neb stored his harvest of rhizomes, pine almonds, and the roots of the dragon tree.
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From the heights of Granite House.




During the last week of August, the weather changed once more. The temperature dropped a little and it became calm. The colonists went outside. There was two feet of snow on the beach, but the snow’s surface was hard so they could walk on it without difficulty. Cyrus Smith and his companions climbed to Grand View Plateau.

What a change! These woods which they had left green, especially the neighboring parts where the conifers dominated, had disappeared under a uniform color. All was white from the top of Mount Franklin to the shore, the forests, the prairie, the lake, the river, and the beaches. The waters of the Mercy ran under a canopy of ice which broke up at each rise and fall of the tide, shattering loudly. Numerous birds fluttered on the solid surface of the lake, ducks and woodcocks, pintails and guillemots. Thousands were there. The rocks, through which the waterfall poured out on to the beach, bristled with ice. It appeared that the water escaped from a monstrous gargoyle carved with all the fantasy of a Renaissance artist. As for determining the damage done to the forest by the storm, they could not yet assess it; it would be necessary to wait until the immense white layer had melted.

Gideon Spilett, Pencroff, and Neb used this occasion to check their traps. They could not find them easily beneath the snow. They even had to take care not to fall into one of them, which would have been both dangerous and humiliating: to be caught in one’s own trap! But they avoided this unpleasantness, and found the traps to be perfectly intact. No animal had fallen in, but there were many footprints all about including some which clearly indicated claw marks. Harbert quickly affirmed that some carnivore of the feline genus had passed there. This justified the engineer’s opinion on the presence of dangerous beasts on Lincoln Island. Doubtless these animals ordinarily inhabited the thick forests of the Far West but, pressed on by hunger, they had ventured up to Grand View Plateau. Perhaps they had smelled the occupants of Granite House?

“In short, what kind of felines are these?” asked Pencroff.

“They’re tigers,” replied Harbert.

“I thought that these animals were found only in warm countries.”

“In the New World,” replied the lad, “they’re seen from Mexico to 
 the pampas of Buenos Aires. Now, since Lincoln Island is very nearly on the same latitude as the province of La Plata, it’s not surprising that we might encounter a few tigers here.”

“Good, we’ll keep an eye out for them,” answered Pencroff.

Meanwhile, the snow soon began melting due to the rising temperatures. Rain fell and, thanks to its dissolving action, the white mantle disappeared. In spite of the bad weather, the colonists renewed their supplies of vegetables and meat: pine almonds, dragon tree roots, rhizomes, and maple sap for the former; rabbits from the warren, agoutis, and kangaroos for the latter. This necessitated several excursions into the forest, and they observed that a certain quantity of trees had been thrown down by the last storm. The sailor and Neb even hauled the cart up to the coal bed to bring back several tons of fuel. They saw in passing that the chimney of the pottery furnace had been damaged by the wind and that at least six feet had been knocked off the top.

In addition to the coal, the provision of wood was also renewed at Granite House, and they took advantage of the Mercy’s current, which had become free, to bring in several loads. It was possible that the season of severe cold was not yet over.

A visit was also made to the Chimneys, and the colonists could only congratulate themselves that they had not been living there during the storm. The sea had left undeniable marks of its ravages. Driven by the open winds and passing over the islet, the sea had violently assaulted the passageways which were half buried in sand. Thick layers of seaweed covered the rocks. While Neb, Harbert, and Pencroff hunted or renewed their fuel supply, Cyrus Smith and Gideon Spilett cleaned up the Chimneys, finding the forge and the furnace almost intact, protected as they had been by the sand covering.

The fuel had not been replenished in vain, and the colonists had not seen the last of the rigorous cold. In the northern hemisphere, the month of February is notable for its large drops in temperature. It is the same in the southern hemisphere, and the end of August, which is February in North America, did not escape this climatic law. Around the 25th, after a new succession of alternating snow and rain, the wind blew from the southeast, and suddenly the cold became extremely brisk. According to the engineer’s estimate, the column of mercury on a Fahrenheit thermometer would have marked no more than 8° below zero. Rendered even more biting by the sharp wind, 
 this intense cold kept up for several days. The colonists were again shut up in Granite House. Since it was necessary to hermetically seal all openings of the facade, leaving only a small passage for ventilation, the consumption of candles was considerable. In order to economize, the colonists often used only the light from the fireplace, where they did not spare the fuel. Several times, one or the other of them descended to the beach amid the ice floes that piled up with each tide, but they soon climbed back to Granite House, and it was not without pain and suffering that their hands held on to the rungs of the ladder. With this intense cold, the rungs burnt their fingers.

It was again necessary to fill the leisure time imposed on the occupants of Granite House. Cyrus Smith then undertook an operation especially suited to the indoors.

The colonists had no sugar other than this liquid substance that they drew from the maple by making deep incisions in the tree. It sufficed for them to collect this sap into jars, and use it for various culinary dishes. Even better, it improved with age, becoming white and taking on a syrupy consistency.

But they could do better, and one day Cyrus Smith announced to his companions that they were going to become refiners.

“Refiners!” replied Pencroff. “That’s a somewhat warm profession, I believe.”

“Very warm,” replied the engineer.

“Then it will be in season,” answered the sailor.

The word refining should not bring to mind complicated factories, tools and workmen. No! To crystallize this liquid, it is only necessary to purify it by an extremely easy operation. Placed on a fire in large earthen vases, it began to evaporate and soon a scum rose to the surface. When it began to thicken, Neb took care to stir it with a wooden spatula, which accelerated its evaporation and at the same time prevented it from acquiring an empyreumatic taste.

After boiling for several hours on a good fire, which did as much good to the operators as to the substance operated on, it was transformed to a thick syrup. This syrup was poured into variously shaped clay molds which had previously been made in the same kitchen stove. The next day this syrup solidified, forming cakes and tablets. It was sugar of a slightly reddish color but nearly transparent and with a perfect taste.

The cold continued to mid-September and the prisoners of Granite 
 House began to find their captivity rather long. Nearly every day, they attempted several sorties, but they could not stay out for long. They therefore worked constantly on fixing up their dwelling. They chatted while working. Cyrus Smith instructed his companions in all things, mostly explaining the practical applications of science. The colonists did not have a library at their disposal, but the engineer was a book that was always ready, always open to the page needed, a book which answered all their questions and which they often leafed through. Time passed in this manner, and these brave men seemed to have no doubts about the future.

However, it was time for their confinement to end. All were in a hurry to see, if not the spring season, at least the end of this insupportable cold. If only they had been dressed in a way to be able to brave it, what excursions they would have made either to the dunes or to Tadorn Marsh. The game would have been easy to approach, and the hunt would have assuredly been fruitful. But Cyrus Smith was insistent that no one should compromise his health since he had need of all hands, and they followed his advice.

But the most impatient of the prisoners, after Pencroff of course, was Top. The faithful dog found Granite House too confining. He came and went from one room to the other, showing his boredom in being cooped up.

Cyrus Smith often remarked that when Top came near the dark well, which was in communication with the sea and whose opening was at the base of the storeroom, he made strange growls. Top circled this hole which had been covered with a wooden panel, and sometimes he even tried to slip his paws under this panel as if he wanted to lift it.
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 He then yapped in a particular way which indicated anger and uneasiness at the same time.

The engineer observed this behavior on several occasions. What was there in this abyss that could so affect the intelligent animal? The well led to the sea, that was certain. Did it also branch out through narrow passageways across the foundation of the island? Was it in communication with several other interior cavities? Did some marine monster come from time to time to breathe at the bottom of this well? The engineer did not know what to think, and he couldn’t help but imagine bizarre complications. Accustomed to dealing with scientific reality, he could not pardon himself for drifting into the domain of 
 the strange and almost supernatural. Top was one of those sensible dogs who did not waste his time barking at the moon, but how could he explain why the dog insisted on probing this abyss with his smell and hearing if there was nothing to arouse his uneasiness? Top’s conduct intrigued Cyrus Smith more than he found reasonable to admit to himself.

In any case, the engineer communicated his impressions only to Gideon Spilett, finding it pointless to tell his companions about these involuntary thoughts that arose within himself and which perhaps were due only to Top’s whims.

At last the cold ended. There was rain, gusts of wind mixed with snow, showers and windstorms, but this bad weather did not last long. The ice dissolved, the snow melted; the beach, the plateau, the banks of the Mercy and the forests became passable once again. The return of springtime delighted the occupants of Granite House and soon they spent time there only for sleeping and for meals.

They did much hunting thoughout the second half of September, which prompted Pencroff to ask again for firearms which he said had been promised by Cyrus Smith. The latter, knowing well that without special tools it was almost impossible to make a gun that would be of service, always held back and put off the operation for a later time. He noted, moreover, that Harbert and Gideon Spilett had become skillful archers, that all sorts of excellent game of both fur and feather—agoutis, kangaroos, capybaras, pigeons, bustards,
5

 wild duck, snipe—fell beneath their arrows and, consequently, firearms could wait. But the obstinate sailor would not hear of it and ceaselessly reminded the engineer about his unsatisfied desire. Besides, Gideon Spilett seconded Pencroff.

“If the island, as we have no reason to doubt,” he said, “contains ferocious animals, we should think of fighting them and exterminating them. A time may come when this will become our first duty.”

But at this period, it was not this question of firearms which preoccupied Cyrus Smith but the question of clothing. The colonists had passed the winter with those that they wore, but these would not last until the next winter. They would have to procure, at any price, the furs of some carnivores or the wool of ruminants. Since there was no lack of sheep, it would be advisable to start a flock which would be raised for the needs of the colony. An enclosure for domestic animals, 
 a poultry yard laid out for the fowl, to establish a sort of farm at some point on the island, such were two important projects that needed to be done during the spring season.

Consequently, and in view of these future projects, it became urgent to conduct a reconnaissance of all the unknown parts of Lincoln Island, the deep forests which extended on the right of the Mercy from its mouth to the end of Serpentine Peninsula, as well as all of the western shore. But better weather was needed, and another month would have to elapse before this exploration could be properly undertaken. They therefore waited with some impatience, when an incident took place which further excited the desire of the colonists to visit the entire island.

It was October 24th. On this day, Pencroff had gone to check the traps which he always kept properly baited. In one of these, he found three animals which would be welcome back home. It was a female peccary and her two young ones.

Pencroff returned to Granite House, enchanted with his capture and, as usual, the sailor made a big show of his hunt.

“Come! We’ll make a good meal, Mr. Cyrus,” he shouted. “And you too, Mr. Spilett, you’ll eat some as well!”

“I’m very willing to eat,” replied the reporter, “but what is it I’ll be eating?”

“Piglet.”

“Ah, really, piglet, Pencroff? To hear you speak, I would think you were bringing a young truffled partridge!”

“How’s this?” cried Pencroff. “Are you perchance turning up your nose at my piglet?”

“No,” replied Gideon Spilett, without showing any enthusiasm, “provided one doesn’t overdo it …”

“Very well, Mr. Newspaperman,” retorted the sailor, who did not like to hear his hunt being disparaged. “Now you’re being fussy! Seven months ago, when we landed on the island, you would’ve been more than happy to encounter such game! …”

“There, there,” replied the reporter. “Man is never happy nor content.”

“Well,” replied Pencroff, “I hope that Neb will do particular honor to these. Look! These two young peccaries are not even three months old! They will be as tender as quails. Come Neb, let’s go. I’ll oversee the cooking myself.”
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 The sailor, followed by Neb, went into the kitchen where they became absorbed in their culinary labors.

Neb and he prepared a magnificent meal, the two young peccaries, a kangaroo soup, a smoked ham, some pine almonds, dragon tree beverage, some Oswego tea, in short, the best of everything. But the best of all the dishes was the savory peccaries, prepared braised.

At five o’clock dinner was served in the hall of Granite House. The kangaroo soup was steaming on the table. They found it excellent.

After the soup came the peccaries which Pencroff wanted to slice himself. He served monstrous portions to each of his fellow diners.

These piglets were truly delicious and Pencroff was devouring his portion with gusto when, suddenly, a cry and a curse escaped his lips.

“What is it?” asked Cyrus Smith.

“It’s … It’s … I broke a tooth!” replied the sailor.

“So! Are there pebbles in your peccaries?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“I think so!” answered Pencroff, drawing from his mouth the object which had cost him a molar.
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It was not a pebble. It was a lead bullet.
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End of Part I
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 THE ABANDONED ONE








 
CHAPTER I





I

 t was seven months to the day since the balloon passengers had been cast onto Lincoln Island. During this time, despite their searching, no human had been found. Never had any smoke betrayed the presence of man on the surface of the island. Never had any handiwork attested to his passage either in the past or recently. Not only did the island seem uninhabited, but they believed that it had never been inhabited. And now this entire structure of deductions fell before a simple grain of metal found in the body of an inoffensive rodent!

It was a fact that this bullet had been fired from a gun, and who but a human could operate such a weapon?

When Pencroff placed the lead bullet on the table, his companions looked at it with profound amazement. They were immediately struck by the considerable consequences of this incident in spite of its apparent insignificance. The sudden appearance of a supernatural being would not have impressed them more.

Cyrus Smith did not hesitate to spell out the hypotheses resulting from this surprising and unexpected fact. He held the lead bullet between his index finger and thumb and turned it back and forth. Then:

“You’re absolutely sure,” he asked Pencroff, “that the peccary wounded by this lead bullet was barely three months old?”

“Barely, Mr. Cyrus,” replied Pencroff. “It was still being nursed by its mother when I found it in the trap.”

“Well then,” said the engineer, “this proves that a gun was fired on Lincoln Island three months ago at most.”

“And that a lead bullet struck this young animal, but not mortally,” added Gideon Spilett.

“Without doubt,” replied Cyrus Smith, “and this can be deduced from the incident: either the island was inhabited before our arrival or men came here in the last three months. Did these men come here voluntarily or involuntarily, by landing or by a shipwreck? This point can be cleared up later. As to who they are, European or Malayan, enemies or friends of our race, we can only guess. And if they still inhabit 
 the island or if they have left it, we also have no way of knowing. But these questions concern us too much to allow them to remain uncertain for long.”

“No, a hundred times no, a thousand times no,” shouted the sailor, rising from the table. “There are no men on Lincoln Island other than ourselves. After all! The island isn’t large, and if it had been inhabited, we would already have seen some of its inhabitants.”

“In fact, the contrary would be rather astonishing,” said Harbert.

“But it would be even more astonishing, I suppose,” observed the reporter, “if this peccary was born with a lead bullet in its body.”

“At least,” said Neb seriously, “if Pencroff didn’t have …”

“Come on, Neb!” retorted Pencroff. “Would I have had a lead bullet in my jaw for five or six months without knowing it? Where would I have concealed it?” added the sailor, opening his mouth to show the thirty two magnificent teeth which filled it. “Look carefully, Neb, and if you find a hollow tooth in this set, I’ll let you pull out a half dozen!”

“Neb’s hypothesis isn’t possible,” replied Cyrus Smith who, in spite of his grave thoughts, could not restrain a smile. “It’s certain that a gun has been fired on the island in the last three months at most. But I’m led to believe that these beings, whoever they were, landed on this shore only a short time ago, or that they were only passing through, because, if the island had been inhabited at the time we were examining it from atop Mount Franklin, we would’ve seen them or they would’ve seen us. It’s likely that, during the past few weeks, some castaways were thrown by a storm somewhere along this shore. Whatever the case, it’s important for us to be sure on this point.”

“I think we should act prudently,” said the reporter.

“That’s my advice,” replied Cyrus Smith, “because, unfortunately, I fear that Malayan pirates may have landed on the island.”

“Mr. Cyrus,” asked the sailor, “wouldn’t it be a good idea, before going on a reconnaissance, to make a small boat which would permit us either to go up the river or, if need be, to go around the coast? We must not be caught off guard.”

“Your idea is a good one, Pencroff,” replied the engineer, “but we can’t wait. At least a month would be needed to build a boat …”

“A real boat, yes,” replied the sailor, “but we don’t need a vessel destined to take to the sea. In five days at most, I am confident that I can construct a boat able to navigate on the Mercy.”
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 “Take a good look, Neb!”




“Make a boat in five days!” exclaimed Neb.

“Yes, Neb, one in the Indian fashion.”

“Of wood?” asked Neb, unconvinced.

“Of wood,” replied Pencroff, “or rather of bark. I repeat to you, Mr. Cyrus, in five days the matter can be settled.”


 “In five days, so be it!” answered the engineer.

“But from now on, we’d do well to be cautious,” said Harbert.

“Very much so, my friends,” replied Cyrus Smith, “and I beg you to limit your hunting to the neighborhood around Granite House.”

The dinner finished less gaily than Pencroff had hoped.

Thus, the island was or had been inhabited by others in addition to the colonists. After the incident of the lead bullet, this was an incontestable fact, and such a revelation could only make the colonists very uneasy.

Before retiring for the night, Cyrus Smith and Gideon Spilett discussed these matters at length. They wondered if, by chance, this incident had some connection with the unexplained circumstances of the engineer’s rescue and with the other strange events that had puzzled them on several occasions. However, after discussing the pros and cons of the question, Cyrus Smith ended

“In short, do you want to know my opinion, my dear Spilett?”

“Yes, Cyrus.”

“Well, it’s this: however minutely we explore the island, we’ll find nothing!”

The next day Pencroff went to work. He did not intend to make a ship with ribs and planking but simply a flat-bottomed boat which would be excellent for navigating the Mercy and especially for approaching its sources where the water was not deep. Some pieces of bark stitched together would suffice to form a lightweight vessel and, in the event it became necessary to carry it because of natural obstacles, it would be neither heavy nor cumbersome. Pencroff planned to close the seams of the bark strips by using nails which he would bend over on the inside, thereby assuring the water tightness of the apparatus.

He chose trees whose flexible and tenacious bark was suitable for this purpose. The last storm had knocked down a certain quantity of douglas fir, which is perfectly suitable for this type of construction. Several of these fir trees were stretched out on the ground, and they had only to remove their bark—a difficult task in view of the imperfect tools possessed by the colonists, but one which they nevertheless accomplished.

While Pencroff, helped by the engineer, immediately busied himself with this job, Gideon Spilett and Harbert did not remain idle. 
 They had become the principal suppliers of food for the colony. The reporter could not help but admire the lad who had acquired remarkable skill in handling the bow and spear. Harbert also showed daring and coolness which might justly be called the “reasoning of the brave.” The two hunting companions, keeping in mind Cyrus Smith’s recommendations, did not go beyond a two mile radius around Granite House. The first slopes of the forest furnished a sufficient tribute of agoutis, capybaras, kangaroos, peccaries, etc. and, if the yield from the traps was less important since the end of the frost, the warren nonetheless gave its accustomed share which would have been enough to feed the colony of Lincoln Island.

Often, during these hunts, Harbert chatted with Gideon Spilett about the incident of the lead bullet whose consequences the engineer had outlined for them. And one day—it was October 26th—he said to him:

“But, Mr. Spilett, don’t you find it extraordinary that, if some castaways landed on the island, they still haven’t shown up in the vicinity of Granite House?”

“Very astonishing if they’re still here,” replied the reporter, “but not at all astonishing if they’re no longer here.”

“So you believe that these people may have already left the island?” asked Harbert.

“That’s more than likely, my son, because if their stay had been prolonged and especially if they were still here, some incident would have eventually betrayed their presence.”

“But if they were able to leave,” the lad noted, “then they weren’t castaways.”

“No, Harbert, or at least they were what I’d call temporary castaways. In fact, it’s possible that a windstorm threw them onto the island without damaging their vessel, and that they returned to sea when the storm was over.”

“One thing must be acknowledged,” said Harbert, “Mr. Smith always seems to fear rather than to desire the presence of other human beings on our island.”

“Very true,” replied the reporter. “He visualizes only Malayans who might be roaming these seas, and those gentlemen are wicked rogues who are best avoided.”

“It’s not impossible, Mr. Spilett,” continued Harbert, “that one of 
 these days we’ll find some traces of their landing, and perhaps it will settle the matter.”

“You may be right, my boy. An abandoned camp or a burnt-out campfire would put us on the right track, and that’s what we’ll look for in our next exploration.”

On the day when the two hunters were chatting in this manner, they found themselves in a part of the forest near the Mercy, noted for its trees of great beauty. Among others, rising to a height of almost 200 feet above the ground, were several of those superb conifers which the natives of New Zealand call “kauris.”
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“Here’s an idea, Mr. Spilett,” said Harbert. “If I climb to the top of one of these kauris, perhaps I’ll be able to see the countryside over a large area.”

“A good idea,” replied the reporter, “but will you be able to climb to the top of these giants?”

“I can always try,” replied Harbert.

The agile and skillful lad darted up to the first branches whose arrangement made them easy to climb, and in several minutes he arrived at its summit which emerged above this immense expanse of verdure created by the forest’s foliage.

From this high point, the view extended over the entire southern portion of the island, from Cape Claw in the southeast to Reptile Promontory in the southwest. In the northwest, Mount Franklin rose, blocking out a good quarter of the horizon.

But Harbert, from the height of his observatory, could clearly see all of this still unknown portion of the island which could give or had given refuge to the strangers.

The lad looked carefully. First, on the open sea, there was nothing in sight. Not a sail either on the horizon nor on the approaches to the island. However, since the trees hid the shore and made it invisible to Harbert, it was possible that a vessel, especially a vessel with damaged masts, might have landed nearby.

There was also nothing amid the forests of the Far West. The forest formed an impenetrable dome measuring several square miles, without a clearing or an opening for light. It was even impossible to follow the course of the Mercy or to recognize the point of the mountain from which it took its source. Perhaps other creeks flowed toward the west, but that could not be determined.


 But if Harbert saw no indication of an encampment, could he at least detect some smoke in the air which would reveal the presence of man? The weather was clear, and the slightest vapor would show up distinctly against the background of the sky.

For a moment, Harbert thought that he saw a faint smoke rising in the west, but a more careful observation convinced him that he was mistaken. He examined it with extreme care, and his vision was excellent … No, decidedly, there was nothing there.

Harbert climbed down to the foot of the kauri, and the two hunters returned to Granite House. There, Cyrus Smith listened to the lad’s account, shook his head and said nothing. It was evident that they could answer this question only after a complete exploration of the island.

Two days later, on October 28th, another incident took place whose explanation also left something to be desired.

While roaming about the beach two miles from Granite House, Harbert and Neb were happy to capture a magnificent specimen of the order of Chelonia.
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 It was a tortoise of the genus mydas, whose shell had a green luster. Harbert saw this tortoise crawling among the rocks, trying to reach the sea.

“Help Neb, over here!” he shouted.

Neb rushed up.

“What a beautiful animal!” said Neb, “but how will we get hold of it?”

“Nothing is easier, Neb,” replied Harbert. “We’ll turn this tortoise over on its back and it won’t be able to escape. Take your spear and do as I do.”

The reptile, sensing danger, withdrew into its shell and breastplate. Its head and feet were no longer visible, and it became as still as a rock.

Harbert and Neb placed their sticks under the breast-bone of the animal and, working together, they succeeded in turning it over onto its back. This tortoise, which measured three feet in length, must have weighed at least 400 pounds.

“Good!” shouted Neb, “this will surely delight our friend Pencroff!”

Indeed, friend Pencroff could not help but be delighted because the flesh of these tortoises, which feed on seaweed, is extremely tasty. At that moment, all that could be seen was the tortoise’s small flat head, which widened further back by the large temporal fossa of the skull hidden under a bony arch.
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 “This will delight our friend Pencroff!”





 “And now, what will we do with our game?” asked Neb. “We can’t drag it to Granite House.”

“Let’s leave it here, since it can’t turn over,” replied Harbert, “and we’ll return to take it with the cart.”

“Agreed!”

Nevertheless, as an added precaution which Neb considered superfluous, Harbert took care to wedge in the animal with large stones. After that, the two hunters returned to Granite House following the beach that the low tide had, by then, uncovered. Harbert, wanting to surprise Pencroff, did not tell him anything about the “superb specimen of the chelonia order,” which they had turned over on the sand; but two hours later, Neb and he came back with the cart to the spot where they had left it. The “superb specimen of the chelonia order” was no longer there.

Neb and Harbert first looked at each other, then they looked around. It was, indeed, the exact spot where they had left the tortoise. The lad even found the stones which he had used and was therefore certain that he was not mistaken.

“So,” said Neb, “these animals can turn themselves over.”

“So it seems,” replied Harbert, who could not understand it. He looked at the stones scattered on the sand.

“Well, Pencroff won’t be happy.”

“And it will perhaps be difficult for Mr. Smith to explain this disappearance,” Harbert thought.

“Okay,” said Neb, who wanted to hide his misadventure, “we won’t speak about it.”

“On the contrary, Neb, we must speak about it,” replied Harbert.

And both, taking back the cart which they had hauled uselessly, returned to Granite House.

Going to the lumber room where the engineer and the sailor were working together, Harbert explained what had happened.

“What dolts!” exclaimed the sailor. “To let at least fifty bowls of soup escape!”

“But Pencroff,” replied Neb. “It’s not our fault if the animal escaped since I told you that we turned it over.”


 “Then you didn’t turn it over enough,” the intractable sailor jokingly retorted.

“Not enough!” cried Harbert.

And he told how he had taken care to wedge the tortoise with the stones.

“Then it was a miracle!” replied Pencroff.

“I thought, Mr. Cyrus,” said Harbert, “that tortoises, once placed on their back, can’t turn over, especially when they’re large.”

“That’s true, my child,” replied Cyrus Smith.

“Then how was it able …?”

“At what distance from the water did you leave the tortoise?” asked the engineer, who stopped working and reflected on this incident.

“About fifteen feet,” replied Harbert.

“And it was low tide at the time?”

“Yes, Mr. Cyrus.”

“Well,” replied the engineer, “what the tortoise couldn’t do on the sand, it was able to do in the water. It turned itself over when the tide came in and peacefully returned to the high seas.”

“Ah! What dolts we are!” shouted Neb.

“That’s precisely what I had the honor of telling you!” replied Pencroff.

Cyrus Smith had given this reasonable explanation, but was he convinced of the correctness of the explanation? One would not dare to say so.



CHAPTER II





O

 n October 29th, the bark boat was finished. Pencroff had kept his promise and, in five days, a sort of canoe, whose hull was ribbed with the flexible wood of the crejimba, had been constructed. A seat in the rear, a second seat in the middle to maintain the separation, a third seat in front, a flat board to support the oarlocks for two oars, and an oar in the stern to steer made up this twelve-foot long boat which did not weigh 200 pounds. The launching operation was simple. The light canoe was carried to the shore in front of Granite House, and the rising tide 
 lifted it up. Pencroff jumped in, began to scull, and declared that it was very suitable for whatever use they wanted to make of it.

“Hurrah!” shouted the sailor, celebrating his triumph. “With this we can make a tour …”

“Of the world?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“No, of the island. Some rocks for ballast, a mast up front and a bit of a sail which Mr. Smith will make for us one day, and we’ll go far. Well, Mr. Cyrus and you Mr. Spilett and you Harbert and you Neb, aren’t you going to try out our new boat? By heavens! Let’s see if it can carry all five of us.”

In fact, this was a necessary test. Pencroff, with a stroke of the scull, brought the boat to shore through a narrow passage among the rocks and it was agreed that they would try out the canoe on this very day by following the shoreline up to the first point where the rocks in the south came to an end. At the moment of embarking, Neb exclaimed:

“But your boat leaks, Pencroff!”

“That’s nothing, Neb,” replied the sailor. “The wood must become watertight. In two days it will no longer be apparent and our canoe will have no more water inside it than there is in the stomach of drunkard. Embark!”

They then got in, and Pencroff headed toward the sea. The weather was magnificent, the sea as calm as if its waters were contained within the narrow banks of a lake, and the canoe could confront the sea with as much security as if it were ascending the tranquil current of the Mercy.

Neb took one of the oars, Harbert the other, and Pencroff stayed in the rear of the boat to work the scull. The sailor first crossed the channel, grazing the southern point of the islet. A light wind blew from the south. There was no swell, either in the channel or on the sea. Several long waves, hardly felt by the canoe because it was heavily loaded, regularly swelled the surface of the sea. They went out about a half mile from shore in order to see all of Mount Franklin.

Pencroff then turned around, and they went along the shore to the mouth of the river. The canoe then followed the curving shoreline up to its very end, which hid all of the marshy Tadorns plain.

This point, whose distance was increased by the curvature of the coast, was about three miles from the Mercy. The colonists decided to go to its end and pass it only a little in order to take a quick look 
 at the coast up to Cape Claw. The canoe therefore followed the coast at a distance of about two cables, avoiding the rocks strewn on the shoreline, which were beginning to be covered by the rising tide. The cliff gradually became lower from the river’s mouth up to the promontory. It was a pile of granite blocks, randomly distributed, of an extremely savage aspect and very different from the facade that formed Grand View Plateau. One would have said that an enormous cartload of rocks had been emptied there. There was no vegetation on this very sharp jutting point which extended for two miles in front of the forest, and it very much resembled the arm of a giant emerging from a sleeve of foliage.

The canoe, propelled by the two oars, advanced without difficulty. Gideon Spilett, pencil in one hand, notebook in the other, sketched the coast in large strokes. Neb, Pencroff, and Harbert chatted while examining this new part of their domain. As the canoe moved southward, the two Mandible Capes appeared to shift and enclose Union Bay.

As for Cyrus Smith, he looked but said nothing. From his suspicious gaze it seemed as if he were observing some strange country.

However, after a navigation of three quarters of an hour, the canoe arrived at the end of the promontory. Pencroff prepared to go round it when Harbert, getting up, pointed to a black spot and said:

“What do I see over there on the beach?”

Everyone looked toward the indicated point.

“Indeed,” said the reporter, “something is there. One would say a piece of wreckage half buried in the sand.”

“Ah!” exclaimed Pencroff, “I see what it is!”

“What?” asked Neb.

“Barrels, barrels, which may be full!” replied the sailor.

“To shore, Pencroff,” said Cyrus Smith.

In a few strokes of the oar, the canoe landed in a small cove and the passengers leaped ashore.

Pencroff was not mistaken. Two barrels were there, half buried in the sand but still securely attached to a large chest which, held up by the water, had floated in this way until it had become stranded on the beach.

“Has there been a wreck hereabout on the island?” asked Harbert.

“Evidently,” replied Gideon Spilett.

“But what is in this chest?” shouted Pencroff, naturally impatient. 
 “What is in this chest? It’s locked and there’s nothing to break the lid. Well, a few blows with a rock then.”

The sailor, picking up a heavy block, went to break open one of the sides of the chest when the engineer stopped him.

“Pencroff,” he said to him, “can you restrain your impatience for only an hour?”

“But just think, Mr. Cyrus! Perhaps everything we need is inside!”

“We’ll soon know, Pencroff,” replied the engineer, “but believe me, don’t break this chest which may be useful to us. Let’s transport it to Granite House where we’ll open it more easily without breaking it. It’s fully prepared for the voyage and, since it has floated this far, it will also float to the river’s mouth.”

“You’re right, Mr. Cyrus, and I’m wrong,” replied the sailor. “But one is not always master of oneself!”

The engineer’s advice was sensible. The canoe would not be able to hold the objects which were probably enclosed in the chest. They had to be heavy since it was necessary to keep it afloat by means of two empty barrels. It would be better to tow it as is to the beach in front of Granite House.

Where did this wreckage come from? This was the important question. They carefully looked around and scoured the shore for a distance of several hundred feet. No other debris appeared.

The sea was also scrutinized. Harbert and Neb climbed to a high rock but the horizon was deserted. Nothing was in sight, neither a disabled ship nor a vessel under sail.

However, there could be no doubt that there had been a wreck. Perhaps this incident was associated with the incident of the lead bullet? Perhaps some strangers had landed on another part of the island? Perhaps they were still there? But the colonists could see that these strangers could not be Malayan pirates because the wreck was evidently of American or European origin.

Everyone returned to the chest which measured five feet in length by three in width. It was made of oak wood, very carefully closed and covered by a thick skin held in place with copper nails. The two large barrels, hermetically sealed but sounding empty, were tied with strong ropes and knotted by knots which Pencroff easily recognized as “sailor’s knots.” It appeared to be in a perfect state of preservation since it had run aground on a sandy beach and not on the reefs. On examining it carefully, they could even say that its sojourn on the sea had 
 not been long, and also that its arrival on the shore was recent. The water did not seem to have penetrated inside and the objects which it contained would be intact.
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“But what is in it?”




It was evident that this chest had been thrown overboard from a disabled vessel heading toward the island and that, with the hope that 
 it would reach the island where they could later recover it, the passengers had taken the precaution of lightening it by means of a floating apparatus.

“We’ll tow this wreckage to Granite House” said the engineer, “and we’ll make an inventory of it; then, if we find some survivors of this presumed wreck on the island, we’ll return the contents to them. If we find no one …”

“We’ll keep it for ourselves!” exclaimed Pencroff. “But, by God, what might there be inside?”

The tide was already beginning to reach the wreckage, which obviously could float in the open sea. One of the ropes attached to the barrels was partly unraveled and used to tie the floating apparatus to the canoe. Then Pencroff and Neb dug into the sand with their oars in order to facilitate the movement of the chest. Soon the boat, towing the chest, began to round the point which was given the name Flotsam Point. The towing was sluggish, and the barrels were barely enough to hold the chest above the water. The sailor feared that at any moment it would detach and sink to the bottom. But happily his fears were not realized and, an hour and a half after leaving—it took all this time to travel this distance of three miles—the canoe arrived at the beach in front of Granite House. Both canoe and chest were then hauled onto the sand and, since the tide was already going down, it was not long before they were high and dry. Neb brought tools to force open the chest in a way that would damage it as little as possible, and they proceeded to its inventory. Pencroff could not hide his excitement.

The sailor began by detaching the two barrels which, being in very good condition, they would obviously find useful. Then the locks were forced with a crowbar, and the lid was soon thrown back.

A double envelope of zinc lined the interior of the chest, which had evidently been designed so that the enclosed objects would be protected from the dampness under all circumstances.

“Ah!” exclaimed Neb, “what if there are preserves inside?”

“I hope not,” replied the reporter.

“If only there were …,” said the sailor in a low voice.

“What?” asked Neb, who overhead him.

“Nothing!”

The zinc cover was broken along its entire length, then turned down on the sides of the chest and, little by little various objects of 
 different kinds were extracted and placed on the sand. With each new object, Pencroff shouted out new hurrahs, Harbert clapped his hands, and the Negro Neb danced. There were books which made Harbert delirious with joy and kitchen utensils which Neb covered with kisses.

As to the remainder, the colonists were extremely pleased because the chest contained tools, arms, instruments, clothes, and books. Here is the exact inventory as written in Gideon Spilett’s notebook.

Tools: three knives with several blades, two woodsman’s axes, two carpenter’s axes, three planes, two adzes, one twibil, six cold chisels, two files, three hammers, three gimlets, two augers, ten sacks of nails and screws, three saws of various sizes, and two boxes of needles.

Arms: two flintlock guns, two percussion cap guns, two carbines with central ignition, five cutlasses, four sabers, two barrels of powder each containing 25 pounds, and twelve boxes of fulminate primers.

Instruments: one sextant, one pair of binoculars, one telescope, one box compass, one pocket compass, one Fahrenheit thermometer, one aneroid barometer, one box containing a complete photographic apparatus, objective, plates, chemicals, etc.

Clothing: two dozen shirts of a particular fiber resembling wool, but evidently of a vegetable origin, and three dozen hose of the same fiber.

Utensils: one iron pot, six galvanized copper saucepans, three iron plates, ten aluminum table settings, two kettles, one small portable stove and six table knives.

Books: one Bible containing the Old and New Testaments, one atlas, one dictionary of various Polynesian dialects, one dictionary on natural science in six volumes, three reams of blank paper, and two blank record books.

“It must be admitted,” said the reporter, after the inventory was completed, “that the owner of this chest was a practical man. Tools, arms, instruments, clothing, utensils, books, nothing is missing. One would say that he expected to be wrecked and that he prepared in advance.”

“Indeed, nothing is missing,” murmured Cyrus Smith thoughtfully.

“And it’s a sure bet,” added Harbert, “that the ship which brought this chest and the owner of it were not Malay pirates.”

“Unless,” said Pencroff, “the owner had been made a prisoner by the pirates …”
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 The colonists were delighted.





 “That’s not probable.” replied the reporter. “It’s more likely that an American or European ship had been drawn into these waters and that the passengers, wanting to save some essential things at least, prepared this chest and threw it into the sea.”

“Is that your opinion, Mr. Cyrus?” asked Harbert.

“Yes, my child,” replied the engineer, “it may have happened this way. It’s possible that, for a time, they expected to be wrecked, so they placed the most useful objects in this chest in order to retrieve it at some point on the coast …”

“Even the photography box!” noted the sailor rather incredulously.

“As to that apparatus,” answered Cyrus Smith, “I don’t quite see its utility. A more complete assortment of clothing or more ammunition would’ve been of greater value to us as well as to any other castaways.”

“But isn’t there some mark or address on these instruments, tools, or books which will tell us who made them?” asked Gideon Spilett.

Each item was carefully examined, especially the books, the instruments, and the arms. Neither the arms nor the instruments, contrary to custom, carried a manufacturer’s mark; they were, moreover, in perfect condition and seemed to have never been used. Especially the tools and utensils; everything was new, which proved, in short, that these items had not been taken at random and thrown into the chest but, on the contrary, that these items had been thoughtfully chosen and carefully arranged. This was further indicated by this second envelope of metal which had protected it from the dampness and which could not have been soldered in a moment of haste.

As for the dictionaries of natural science and Polynesian dialects, both were in English, but they did not carry the editor’s name or the date of publication.

The same applied to the Bible, printed in English in quarto, which was remarkable from a typographical point of view and appeared to have been leafed through often.

As for the atlas, it was a magnificent work in French, containing maps of the entire world and several planispheres based on the Mercator projection. But it also did not carry the date of publication or the name of the editor.

Among all these various items, there was no indication as to the country of origin and nothing therefore which might permit them 
 to guess the nationality of the vessel which had so recently passed through these waters. But regardless of where it came from, it made the colonists of Lincoln Island rich men. Until then, by transforming the products of Nature, they had made everything by themselves. Thanks to their intelligence, they had survived. But it now seemed that Providence wished to reward them by sending them these various products of human industry. Their thanks went unanimously to heaven.

However, one of them was not absolutely satisfied. It was Pencroff. It seemed that the chest did not enclose the one thing he wanted enormously and, as each of the items was taken out, his hurrahs diminished in intensity and, with the inventory completed, one heard him murmur these words.

“This is all good and well, but you can see that there’s nothing for me in this box!”

This brought Neb to say to him:

“So, friend Pencroff, what did you expect?”

“A half pound of tobacco,” Pencroff replied seriously, “and nothing would be lacking for my happiness.”

They could not help laughing at the sailor’s comment.

As a result of the discovery of this chest, it was now more than ever necessary to make a serious exploration of the island. It was therefore agreed that the next day, at daybreak, they would get underway and ascend the Mercy in order to reach the western shore. If some castaways had landed on this part of the coast, it was to be feared that they were without resources. In which case, help should be brought to them without delay.

During this day, the various items were carried to Granite House and methodically arranged in the large hall. This day, October 29th, was a Sunday and, before going to bed, Harbert asked the engineer if he would read to them some passage from the Bible.

“Gladly,” replied Cyrus Smith.

He took the sacred book and was going to open it when Pencroff stopped him and said to him:

“Mr. Cyrus, I’m superstitious. Open it at random and read the first verse that catches your eye. We’ll see if it applies to our situation.”

Cyrus Smith smiled at the sailor’s idea and, obliging him, he opened the Gospel exactly where a ribbon separated the pages.

Suddenly his attention was caught by a red cross made with a pencil and placed in front of chapter 7, verse 8 of the Gospel of Saint Matthew.
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 “Mr. Cyrus, I’m superstitious.”





 And he read this verse as follows:

“For every one that asketh receiveth; and he that seeketh findeth.”



CHAPTER III





T

 he next day, October 30th, all was ready for the proposed exploration which these latest events had rendered so urgent. Indeed, things had changed to such an extent that the colonists of Lincoln Island no longer imagined they needed help for themselves but, rather, hoped to bring it to others.

It was agreed that they would ascend the Mercy, as far as the river’s current would take them. A large part of the trip would thereby be completed without fatigue, and the explorers could transport their provisions and their arms to an advanced point on the west of the island.

It had been necessary to think not only of the things which they should carry with them but also of those which chance would perhaps permit them to bring back to Granite House. If there had been a wreck on the coast, as was generally supposed, there would be no lack of wreckage, which would be their lawful prize. In that event, the cart would, without doubt, be more useful than the fragile canoe. However, the cart was heavy and large, and they had to pull it. This led Pencroff to express the regret that the chest had not contained, besides his “half-pound of tobacco,” a pair of vigorous New Jersey horses, which would have been very useful to the colony!

The provisions, already loaded by Neb, consisted of preserved meat and several gallons of beer and fermented liquor, enough to sustain them for three days, the longest length of time Cyrus Smith estimated that the exploration would take. Moreover, they could count on reprovisioning en route, if need be, and Neb took care not to forget the small portable stove.

For tools, the colonists took the two woodsmen’s axes, which could be used to cut a path through the thick forest and, for instruments, the telescope and the pocket compass.


 For weapons, they chose the two flintlock rifles, which would be more useful on the island than the percussion fowling pieces, the first using only flint which would be easy to replace and the latter needing fulminating caps, the frequent use of which would soon exhaust their limited supply. However, they also took one of the carbines and several cartridges. As for gunpowder, of which there was about fifty pounds, it was necessary to take some of it, but the engineer planned on manufacturing an explosive substance which would permit them to husband it. In addition to the firearms, they added five cutlasses, well sheathed in leather. In this way, the colonists could venture forth into this vast forest with every means of defending themselves if necessary.

Needless to say, Pencroff, Harbert, and Neb were overjoyed at being so armed, even though Cyrus Smith had made them promise not to fire a single shot needlessly.

At six o’clock in the morning, the canoe was pushed into the water. Everyone got aboard, including Top, and they steered towards the mouth of the Mercy.

The tide had begun to rise only in the last half-hour. There would be several more hours of current which they had to take advantage of because, later, the ebb tide would make it more difficult to ascend the river. The tide was already strong, for there would be a full moon in three days. They only needed to keep the canoe in the mainstream where it moved swiftly between the two high banks, without needing to increase its speed with the aid of the oars.

In a few minutes the explorers arrived at the bend in the Mercy, at the same point where Pencroff had made his first raft of wood seven months earlier. After this rather sharp angle, the river widened out and flowed toward the southwest beneath the shade of evergreen conifers.

The scenery along the banks of the Mercy was magnificent. Cyrus Smith and his companions could only admire, without reservations, the beautiful effects so easily produced by Nature with some water and trees. As they advanced, the forest’s flora began to change. On the right bank of the river, there rose magnificent specimens of the ulmaceous species, those precious French elms so sought after by builders, which bear up well in water. Then there were numerous groups belonging to the same family, nettle trees
1

 among others, whose almond 
 produces a very useful oil. Further on, Harbert noted some lardizabalaceae
2

 whose flexible boughs, soaked in water, make excellent ropes, and two or three trunks of ebony trees, of a beautiful black color, containing irregular veins.

From time to time, in certain places where it was easy to land, the canoe stopped. Then Gideon Spilett, Harbert, and Pencroff, with gun in hand and preceded by Top, jumped to shore. Without expecting any game, they hoped to find some useful plant, and the young naturalist had his heart’s desire because he discovered a sort of wild spinach of the chenopodiaceae family
3

 and numerous specimens of crucifers of the cabbage family which it would certainly be possible to “civilize” by transplanting. There were cress, horse-radish, turnips and, finally, some small slightly rough branchy stems, a meter high, which produced seeds that were almost brown.

“Do you know what this plant is?” Harbert asked the sailor.

“Tobacco,” shouted Pencroff, who evidently had never seen his favorite plant except in the bowl of his pipe.

“No, Pencroff!” replied Harbert, “it’s not tobacco, it’s mustard.”

“What’s the good of mustard!” replied the sailor, “but if by chance a tobacco plant should present itself, my boy, don’t disregard it.”

“We’ll find it one day!” said Gideon Spilett.

“True,” cried Pencroff, “and on that day I will know that nothing is lacking on our island!”

These various plants, which were carefully uprooted, were carried to the canoe which Cyrus Smith, always absorbed in his thoughts, had not left.

The reporter, Harbert, and Pencroff went ashore several times, sometimes on the right bank of the Mercy, sometimes on the left. The former was less steep, but the latter was more wooded. By consulting his pocket compass, the engineer knew that the direction of the river from the first bend was essentially southwest to northeast, and that it was nearly straight for a length of about three miles. But he supposed that this direction would change further on and that the Mercy ascended to the northwest toward the foothills of Mount Franklin which fed these waters.

During one of these excursions, Gideon Spilett succeeded in getting hold of two couples of living gallinacea. They were birds with long slender beaks, long necks, short wings and without an apparent tail. Harbert correctly gave them the name of “tinamous,” and it was resolved that they would be the first occupants of the future poultry yard.
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 “Do you know what this is?”





 But, until then, the guns had not spoken, and the first detonation that resounded in this forest of the Far West was caused by the appearance of a beautiful bird which anatomically resembled a kingfisher.

“I recognize it!” exclaimed Pencroff, whose gun went off in spite of himself.

“What do you recognize?” asked the reporter.

“The bird that escaped us on our first excursion and whose name we’ve given to this part of the forest.”

“A jacamar!” added Harbert.

It was indeed a jacamar, a beautiful bird whose stiff plumage has a metallic luster. A few lead pellets brought it to the ground, and Top carried it to the canoe, as well as about a dozen “touraco lories,”
4

 a sort of parrot the size of a pigeon, all daubed in green with part of its wing of a crimson color and a narrow festooned crest with a white border. The honor of this skillful shot belonged to the boy, and he showed much pride in it. Lories make better game than jacamars, whose flesh is tough, but it was difficult to persuade Pencroff that he had not killed the king of edible birds.

It was ten o’clock in the morning when the canoe reached a second bend in the Mercy, about five miles from its mouth. Here they halted to eat lunch and, sheltered by large beautiful trees, remained for half an hour.

The river still measured sixty to seventy feet in width and five to ten feet in depth. The engineer had observed that numerous tributaries enlarged its flow, but they were simple unnavigable streams. As for the forest, which could be a part of the forests of the Far West as well as Jacamar Woods, it extended as far as the eye could see. In no part, neither under the tall tree clusters nor on the banks of the Mercy, was the presence of man revealed. The explorers could not find a single suspicious footprint, and it was obvious that the woodsman’s axe had never slashed these trees, that the pioneer’s knife had never cut these creepers stretching from one trunk to the other among the thick brushwood and tall grass. If several castaways had landed on the island, they still had not left the shore, and it was not under this thick cover that they should look for survivors of the presumed shipwreck. The engineer was therefore anxious to reach the western coast 
 of Lincoln Island, at least five miles away according to his estimate. The navigation was resumed and, although from its actual direction the Mercy seemed to flow not toward the shore but toward Mount Franklin, it was decided that they would make use of the canoe as long as they had sufficient water under its keel to keep it afloat. This would 
 prevent fatigue and would gain time as well because it would have been necessary to blaze a trail with an axe across the thick woods.
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Here they halted for lunch.




But soon the current failed completely, either because it was low tide at this hour or because it could no longer be felt at this distance from the mouth of the Mercy. So it was necessary to use the oars. With Neb and Harbert seated on their bench and Pencroff at the scull, they continued to go up the river.

The forest tended to become thinner on the Far West side. The trees here seemed less crowded and more isolated. But, precisely because they had more space, they took greater advantage of the pure and free air which circulated around them, and they were magnificent.

What splendid specimens of the flora of this latitude! Their presence here would certainly permit a botanist to identify without hesitation the latitude parallel that crossed Lincoln Island.

“Eucalyptus!” exclaimed Harbert.

They were indeed those superb trees, the last giants of the extratropical zone, cousins of the eucalyptus of Australia and New Zealand, both situated on the same latitude as Lincoln Island. Several rose to a height of 200 feet. Their trunks measured twenty feet around the base, and their bark, furrowed with a network of perfumed resin, measured up to five inches in thickness. Nothing was more marvelous nor more singular than these enormous specimens of the myrtaceae family, whose foliage turned sideways to the light, allowing the sun’s rays to strike the ground.

At the foot of these eucalyptus, a fresh grass covered the ground, and, from its tufts, small birds flew away shining in the luminous sunlight like precious stones on the wing.

“Those are trees!” shouted Neb, “but are they good for anything?”

“Pooh!” replied Pencroff. “Vegetable giants are like human giants, only good for showing at fairs.”

“I believe you’re in error, Pencroff,” replied Gideon Spilett. “The wood from eucalyptus is used to great advantage in cabinet making.”

“And I’ll add,” said the lad, “that these eucalyptus belong to a family that include many useful members: the guava-tree which gives guavas; the clove tree which produces cloves; the pomegranate tree which yields pomegranates; the “eugenia cauliflora” whose fruit makes a passable wine; the “ugni” myrtle which contains an excellent alcoholic liqueur; the caryophyllus myrtle whose bark makes an esteemed cinnamon; the “eugenia pimenta” from which comes Jamaica 
 pimento; the common myrtle whose berries can replace pepper; the “eucalyptus robusta” which produces a sort of excellent manna; the “eucalyptus gunei”
5

 whose sap transforms into beer by fermentation; and finally all those trees known under the name of “trees of life” or “ironbarks” which belong to this myrtaceae family that comprises forty six genuses and thirteen hundred species.

They let the lad go on. He delivered this mini-lesson in botany with much heartiness. Cyrus Smith smiled while listening to him, and Pencroff felt a pride impossible to express.

“Good, Harbert,” replied Pencroff, “but I’ll venture to say that all these useful specimens that you mentioned aren’t giants like these!”

“Indeed, Pencroff.”

“That supports what I said,” replied the sailor, “namely, that these giants are good for nothing!”

“You’re mistaken, Pencroff,” the engineer then said, “and these very giant eucalyptus which shelter us are good for something.”

“And what is that?”

“To cleanse the lands that they inhabit. Do you know what they’re called in Australia and New Zealand?”

“No, Mr. Cyrus.”

“They’re called ‘fever trees.’”

“Because they bring it on?”

“No, because they prevent it!”

“Very good. I’ll make a note of this,” said the reporter.

“Note then, my dear Spilett, that it now seems proven that the presence of eucalyptus trees serves to neutralize marsh miasmas. This natural preventive has been tried in several countries of southern Europe and North Africa whose soil is very unhealthy, and the health of their inhabitants has been improved little by little. No more intermittent fevers in those regions covered by forests of these myrtaceae. This fact is now beyond doubt, and it’s a fortunate circumstance for us colonists of Lincoln Island.”

“Ah! What an island! What a blessed island!” exclaimed Pencroff. “I tell you that it lacks nothing … except for …”

“That will come, Pencroff, it will be found,” replied the engineer, “but let’s get back to our navigation and push on as far as the river can carry our canoe!”

The exploration was continued for at least two miles amidst a 
 country covered with eucalyptus trees, which dominated all the woods in this portion of the island. They extended as far as the eye could see on each side of the Mercy whose winding bed cut between high verdant banks. This bed was often obstructed by tall grass and even sharp rocks, which made the navigation rather laborious. Rowing with the oars was thus hampered, and Pencroff had to push with a pole. They also felt the river bottom rising little by little and the moment was not far off when, for lack of water, they would be obliged to stop. Already the sun was low on the horizon, and the long shadows of the trees fell on the ground. Cyrus Smith, seeing that they could not reach the western shore of the island on this day, decided to camp at the very place where they would be forced to stop for lack of water. He estimated that there still remained five or six miles to the coast, and this distance was too much to try to cross during the night, in the midst of these unknown woods.

The boat was therefore relentlessly pushed through the forest, which was becoming thicker and which also seemed inhabited. If the sailor’s eyes did not deceive him, he thought he saw bands of monkeys running under the brushwood. Several times, two or three of these animals even stopped at some distance from the canoe and looked at the colonists without manifesting any terror as if, seeing men for the first time, they had not yet learned to fear them. It would have been easy to kill these quadrumanes
6

 with gunshots, but Cyrus Smith was opposed to this useless massacre which Pencroff found a little tempting. Besides, it was prudent because these vigorous monkeys, endowed with an extreme agility, could be formidable foes, and it would be better not to provoke them with unnecessary aggression.

The sailor, of course, considered the monkey from the purely alimentary point of view and, in fact, these animals are solely herbivores and make excellent game. But since provisions were abundant, it was inappropriate to use munitions wastefully.

About four o’clock, the navigation of the Mercy became difficult because its course was obstructed by aquatic plants and rocks. The banks rose little by little, and already the bed of the river was hollowed out between the first foothills of Mount Franklin. Its source could not be far away since it was fed by all the waters from the southern slopes of the mountain.
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 The monkeys studied the colonists.




“In a quarter of an hour,” said the sailor, “we’ll be forced to stop, Mr. Cyrus.”

“Well, then we’ll stop, Pencroff, and we’ll organize a camp for the night.”

“At what distance can we be from Granite House?” asked Harbert.


 “Nearly seven miles,” replied the engineer, “taking into account, however, the detours of the river which have carried us to the northwest.”

“Shall we continue to go forward?” asked the reporter.

“Yes, for as long as we can,” replied Cyrus Smith. “Tomorrow, at the break of day, we’ll abandon the canoe. In two hours, I hope, we’ll traverse the distance which separates us from the coast and we’ll have almost the entire day to explore the shore.”

“Forward!” responded Pencroff.

But soon the canoe scraped the stony bottom of the river whose width at that point did not exceed twenty feet. A thick verdure grew over the river’s bed and enveloped it in semi-obscurity. They also heard the rather distinct noise of a waterfall which indicated the presence of a natural barrier several hundred feet upstream.

At a last detour of the river, a cascade indeed appeared through the trees. The canoe hit bottom and, a few moments later, it was moored to a trunk near the right bank.

It was about five o’clock. The last rays of the sun passed through the thick branches and struck the small waterfall, whose wet spray glistened with the colors of the prism. Further on, the Mercy disappeared under the brushwood where it was fed by some hidden source. The various brooks which ran into it further downstream made it a true river, but here it was only a clear stream without any depth.

They camped in this very place, which was charming. The colonists landed, and a fire was lit under a group of large nettle trees among whose branches Cyrus Smith and his companions could find refuge for the night, if the need arose.

Supper was soon devoured because they were famished, and nothing remained to do but to sleep. Inasmuch as several roars of a suspicious nature had been heard before the end of the day, the fire was kept burning throughout the night so as to protect the slumberers with its crackling flames. Neb and Pencroff took turns at watch and did not spare the fuel. And they were perhaps not mistaken when they thought they saw the shadows of animals wandering around the encampment, either under the brushwood or among the branches. But the night passed without incident, and the next day, October 31st, at five o’clock in the morning, they were all on foot and ready to leave.


 
CHAPTER IV





I

 t was six o’clock in the morning when the colonists, after an early meal, continued their journey with the intention of reaching, by the shortest way possible, the western coast of the island. How much time would be needed to get there? Cyrus Smith had said two hours, but that obviously depended on the obstacles they would encounter. This part of the Far West seemed tightly wooded as if it were an immense copse composed of varied species. It was likely that they would have to blaze a trail through the grass, brushwood, and vines and march with axe in hand—and no doubt a gun as well, judging from the cries of the animals heard in the night.

The exact position of the encampment was calculated by the location of Mount Franklin and, since the volcano rose in the north at a distance of at least three miles, they had to take a straight route to the southwest to reach the western shore.

They left after carefully mooring the canoe. Pencroff and Neb carried the provisions which would feed the small troop for a least two days. Hunting was no longer necessary, and the engineer even advised his companions that they avoid any impulsive gunshots in order not to signal their presence to anyone on shore.

The first blows of the axe were made against the brushwood, among the mastic tree bushes a little above the waterfall. With compass in hand, Cyrus Smith indicated the direction to follow.

The forest was composed of trees already recognized in the neighborhood of the lake and Grand View Plateau. They were deodars, douglas firs, casuarinas, gum trees, eucalyptus, dragon trees, hibiscus, cedars and other species, generally of mediocre height because their number had hindered their growth. Accordingly, the colonists could only advance rather slowly along this path that they were blazing through this region which, in the engineer’s opinion, had to be linked further on to Red Creek.

Since their departure, the colonists had been descending the lower slopes that made up the orographical system of the island, on a very dry terrain but whose luxurious vegetation suggested the presence of an underground hydrographical network or the waters of some nearby stream. However, Cyrus Smith did not remember seeing, at the time of his excursion to the crater, any watercourses other than those of Red Creek and the Mercy.


 During the first hours of their journey, they again saw monkeys who seemed to show astonishment at the sight of men. Gideon Spilett asked humorously if these agile and robust quadrumanes did not consider his companions and him as degenerated brothers! And frankly, as simple pedestrians, obstructed at each step by underbrush, entangled by creepers, and barred by tree trunks, they did not distinguish themselves from these supple animals who bounded from branch to branch and stopped at nothing in their path. These monkeys were numerous but, very fortunately, they did not seem hostile.

They also saw several wild boar, agoutis, kangaroos, and other rodents as well as two or three koalas whom Pencroff would have willingly greeted with gunshots.

“But,” he said, “hunting season is not yet open. So cavort about, my friends, jump and fly in peace! We’ll have a few words to say to you on our return!”

At nine thirty in the morning, the road, which headed directly to the southwest, was suddenly barred by an unknown watercourse thirty to forty feet wide whose swift current, propelled by its steep incline and broken by numerous rocks, rushed down with a roar. The creek was deep and clear but it was absolutely unnavigable.

“We’re cut off!” exclaimed Neb

“No,” replied Harbert, “it’s only a stream, and we’ll be able to swim across.”

“What for?” replied Cyrus Smith. “It’s obvious that this creek runs to the sea. Let’s remain on its left, following the bank and I’ll not be surprised if it soon leads us right to the coast. Let’s go!”

“One moment,” said the reporter. “And the name of this creek, my friends? Let’s not leave our geography incomplete.”

“Right!” said Pencroff.

“Name it, my child,” said the engineer, addressing the lad.

“Wouldn’t it be better to wait until we reach its mouth?” noted Harbert.

“So be it,” replied Cyrus Smith. “Let’s follow it then without stopping.”

“Wait a moment,” said Pencroff.

“What is it?” asked the reporter.

“If hunting is prohibited, fishing is permitted, I assume,” said the sailor.

“We’ve no time to lose,” answered the engineer.


 “Oh! five minutes!” replied Pencroff. “I’m only asking for five minutes in the interest of our lunch!”

And Pencroff laid down on the bank, plunged his arms into the swift water, and soon stirred up several dozen nice crayfish crawling among the rocks.

“This will be good!” exclaimed Neb, coming to help the sailor.

“I tell you that, except for tobacco, there’s everything on the island!” murmured Pencroff with a sigh.

It did not take five minutes to complete an excellent catch because the crayfish swarmed about the creek. These shellfish, whose shell has a cobalt blue color, have a snout armed with a small tooth. They filled up a sack and continued on their way.

Since following the bank of the new watercourse, the colonists had been walking more easily and rapidly. Moreover, the banks were free of any human footprints. From time to time they picked up some prints left by large animals who came regularly to quench their thirst at this stream, but nothing more. It was not in this part of the Far West that the peccary had received the lead bullet which had cost Pencroff a molar.

However, considering how rapidly the current flowed toward the sea, Cyrus Smith was led to suppose that his companions and he were much further from the western coast than they thought. And indeed, at this hour, the tide was rising along the shoreline, and it should have turned back the creek’s current if its mouth was only several miles away. This was not happening, and the water’s flow was following its natural slope. The engineer must have been very astonished at this, and he frequently consulted his compass to assure himself that some detour in the river was not leading them into the interior of the Far West.

Meanwhile, the creek was becoming wider and, little by little, its waters became less tumultuous. The trees on the right bank were as crowded as those on the left bank, and it was impossible to see beyond. These woods were certainly deserted because Top did not bark, and the intelligent animal would have signalled the presence of any strangers in the neighborhood of the watercourse.

At ten thirty, to the great surprise of Cyrus Smith, Harbert, who was a little ahead, suddenly stopped and shouted:

“The sea!”

And several moments later, stopping at the edge of the forest, 
 the colonists saw the western shore of the island emerge before their eyes.
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“The sea!”




But what a contrast between this coast and the eastern coast on which chance had first thrown them! No granite wall, no reef, not even a sandy beach. The forest bordered the shoreline and its last trees, 
 battered by the waves, leaned over the water. It was not a shore such as Nature usually makes, either with a carpet of sand or various groupings of rocks; it was, rather, an admirable border of the most beautiful trees in the world. The bank was elevated so that it was higher than the highest tides, and the luxuriant soil was supported by a granite base. This splendid forest flora seemed to be as firmly planted as any in the interior of the island.

The colonists found themselves at the opening of a small cove which could not even hold two or three fishing boats, and which served as the narrow entrance to the new creek. But, curiously, the water, instead of reaching the sea by a gentle slope, fell from a height of more than forty feet, which explained why, at the time of high tide, it was not felt upstream. In fact, the tides of the Pacific, even at their maximum elevation, could never reach the level of the river whose bed was elevated, and doubtless millions of years would pass before the waters would erode away this wall of granite to make the river’s mouth accessible. They therefore agreed to give this watercourse the name of “Falls River.”

Beyond, toward the north, the forest-bordered shore extended for a distance of about two miles; then the trees became scarce and, beyond them, there were very picturesque heights following a nearly straight line which ran from north to south. In contrast, over the entire portion of the shore between Falls River and Reptile Promontory, there were only woods with magnificent trees, some straight, others bending over with the long waves of the sea bathing their roots. Now it was towards this coast, over the entire Serpentine Peninsula, that the exploration had to be continued because this part of the shore offered a refuge that the other, arid and savage, did not provide for any castaways whoever they were.

The weather was beautiful and clear, and the view extended quite far at the top of a cliff where Neb and Pencroff set out lunch. The horizon was perfectly distinct, and there were no sails there. Over all of this shore, as far as the eye could see, there was no vessel, not even wreckage. But the engineer would be sure of this only when he had explored the coast up to the very extremity of Serpentine Peninsula.

They quickly finished lunch and, at eleven thirty, Cyrus Smith gave the signal to leave. Instead of traveling along the edge of a cliff or along a sandy beach, the colonists would have to follow the line of trees running along the coast.


 The distance which separated the mouth of Falls River from Reptile Promontory was about twelve miles. On a more negotiable shore and without rushing, the colonists would have been able to cross this distance in four hours; but it would require twice this time to reach their goal, what with trees to go around, brushwood to cut, vines to break through, and the detours which would significantly lengthen the distance.

Moreover, there was nothing to indicate a recent wreck on this coast. It was true, as Gideon Spilett noted, that the sea was able to wash away anything and that they should not conclude that, because they found no traces, a vessel had not been beached on this part of Lincoln Island. The reporter’s reasoning was justified and besides, the incident of the lead bullet proved positively that, within the last three months at most, a gun had been fired on the island.

It was already five o’clock, and the extremity of Serpentine Peninsula was still two miles away. It was obvious that, after reaching Reptile Promontory, Cyrus Smith and his companions would no longer have the time to return before sundown to the encampment near the sources of the Mercy. It would thus be necessary to pass the night at the promontory itself. But provisions were not lacking, which was fortunate because there were no longer any furry game on this shore. In contrast, birds were abundant here: jacamars, couroucous, trogons, grouse, lorries, parakeets, cockatoos, pheasants, pigeons and a hundred others. There was not a tree without a nest and not a nest that was not full of flapping wings.

Around seven o’clock in the evening, the colonists, weary with fatigue, arrived at Reptile Promontory, a sort of volute strangely cut out of the sea. Here ended the forest of the peninsula. The entire southern part of the coast again took on the usual look of a shore with its rocks, reefs, and beaches. It was therefore possible that a disabled vessel could take refuge on this portion of the island, but, with night coming on, they would have to put off the exploration to the next day.

Pencroff and Harbert immediately began to look for a good place to establish a camp. The last trees of the forest of the Far West died out at this point and, among them, the lad recognized some thick bamboo clusters.

“Good!” he said. “Here’s a valuable discovery.”

“Valuable?” replied Pencroff.


 “Without doubt,” answered Harbert. “I can tell you, Pencroff, that bamboo bark, cut into flexible lath, serves to make baskets; that this bark, reduced to a paste and macerated, serves to make rice paper; that the stems are used, according to their size, for canes, pipes, and water conduits; that large bamboo makes an excellent construction material, light, sturdy, and never attacked by insects. I should even add that, by sawing the bamboo internodes and keeping for the bottom a portion which forms the node, sturdy and handy pots can be made which are very much in use in China! No? That does not convince you? But …”

“But? …”

“But I’ll tell you, in case you’re unaware of it, that in India they eat these bamboos like asparagus.”

“Asparagus thirty feet high!” exclaimed the sailor. “And are they good?”

“Excellent,” answered Harbert. “Only it’s not the thirty foot high stalks that they eat but the young bamboo shoots.”

“Perfect, my boy, perfect!” replied Pencroff.

“I’ll also add that the pith of the new stalks, pickled in vinegar, makes a very fine condiment.”

“Better and better, Harbert.”

“And finally, that these bamboos exude a sweet sap between their nodes from which a very agreeable beverage can be made.”

“Is that all?” asked the sailor.

“That’s all!”

“And anything to smoke, perchance?”

“Nothing to smoke, my poor Pencroff!”

Harbert and the sailor did not look long for a favorable place to pass the night. The high rocks on the shore—very broken up because they were violently battered by the sea under the influence of the winds from the southwest—contained hollows which would permit them to sleep sheltered from the weather. But, at the moment when they were about to enter one of these excavations, a frightful roar stopped them.

“Get back!” cried Pencroff. “We only have small shot in our guns, and beasts that roar like that would be as bothered by them as by a grain of salt!”

And the sailor, seizing Harbert by the arms, dragged him to the 
 shelter of the rocks just as a magnificent animal showed itself at the entrance to the cavern.

It was a jaguar of a size at least equal to its Asian cousins, measuring more than five feet from the extremity of its head to the beginning of its tail. Its fawn-colored fur was enhanced by several rows of regularly marked black spots, and it had white fur on its belly. Harbert recognized this ferocious rival of the tiger, as terrible as the cougar.

The jaguar advanced and looked around, fur bristling, eyes on fire, as if he had not sensed man for the first time.

At this moment, the reporter came around the high rocks and Harbert, thinking that he had not seen the jaguar, went toward him; but Gideon Spilett motioned to him with his hand and continued walking. This was not his first tiger, and he advanced to within ten feet of the animal and remained motionless, the carbine at his shoulder, not moving a muscle.

The jaguar gathered himself together and then pounced—but, at that very moment, a bullet struck him between the eyes, and he fell dead.

Harbert and Pencroff ran toward the jaguar. Neb and Cyrus Smith rushed up as well, and they all took a few moments to look at the animal stretched out on the ground. Its magnificent fur would make an ornament in the large hall of Granite House.

“Ah, Mr. Spilett. How I admire you and envy you,” exclaimed Harbert, in a burst of natural enthusiasm.

“Well, my boy,” replied the reporter, “you would’ve done just as well.”

“I! Such coolness …”

“Imagine, Harbert, that the jaguar is a hare, and you’ll shoot more calmly than anyone.”

“That’s all there is to it!” answered Pencroff. “It’s not more difficult than that!”

“And now,” said Gideon Spilett, “since the jaguar has left his den, my friends, I don’t see why we shouldn’t occupy it for the night.”

“But others may return!” said Pencroff.

“It will suffice to light a fire at the entrance to the cavern,” said the reporter, “and they won’t venture to cross the threshold.”

“To the jaguar’s house then!” replied the sailor, dragging the animal’s body behind him.
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 A bullet struck him between the eyes.




The colonists went toward the abandoned den and there, while Neb skinned the jaguar, his companions piled up on the threshold a large quantity of dry wood which the forest furnished abundantly.

But Cyrus Smith, seeing the bamboo clusters, went and cut down a certain quantity which he mixed with the fuel for the fire.


 That done, they installed themselves in the grotto whose sandy floor was strewn with bones; the guns were armed for any emergency, especially in case of a sudden attack; they had supper and then, when it came time to go to sleep, they set fire to the wood piled up at the entrance to the cavern.

Immediately, a crackling noise began to burst out. It was the bamboo, now aflame, which detonated like firecrackers. This noise alone would suffice to frighten away the most audacious beasts.

And this means of producing loud detonations was not the engineer’s invention. According to Marco Polo, the Tartars, for many centuries, had used it with great success to drive away from their campsites the fearsome beasts of central Asia.
1





CHAPTER V





C

 yrus Smith and his companions slept like young marmots in the cavern which the jaguar had so politely left at their disposal.

At sunrise, they were all on the shore at the very extremity of the promontory, looking toward the horizon which was visible for two thirds of its circumference. For one last time, the engineer could confirm that no sail, no remains of a vessel appeared on the sea, and the telescope did not show anything suspicious.

Neither was there anything on the shore, at least on the straight part that formed the southern coastline of the promontory for a distance of three miles, because beyond, an indentation of land concealed the remainder of the shore and, further, at the extremity of Serpentine Peninsula, they could not see Cape Claw which was hidden by high rocks.

The rest of the southern shore of the island remained to be explored. Should they try to undertake this exploration immediately and devote this day of November 2nd to it?

This was not part of their original plan. When they left the canoe at the sources of the Mercy, it had been agreed that, after observing the western coast, they would return to it and go back to Granite House via the Mercy. At the time, Cyrus Smith believed that the western 
 shore might offer refuge either to a boat in distress or to a vessel on its regular route; but, from the moment the coast showed no landing place, it became necessary to search the south of the island to find what they had not been able to find in the west.

It was Gideon Spilett who proposed to continue the exploration so that the question of the presumed wreck could be completely resolved. He asked at what distance Cape Claw could be from the extremity of the peninsula.

“About thirty miles,” replied the engineer, “if we take into account the curvature of the coast.”

“Thirty miles!” responded Gideon Spilett. “That will be a good day’s march. Nevertheless, I think that we should return to Granite House by the southern shore.”

“But,” noted Harbert, “it’s at least another ten miles from Cape Claw to Granite House.”

“Which makes it about forty miles in all,” replied the reporter, “but let’s go ahead and explore it. At least we will have observed this unknown coast and we won’t have to undertake this exploration again.”

“Quite right,” Pencroff then said. “But the canoe?”

“The canoe has remained alone for one day at the sources of the Mercy,” replied Gideon Spilett. “It can stay there just as well for two days. For the moment, we can hardly say that the island is infested with thieves!”

“Nevertheless,” said the sailor, “when I recall the story of the tortoise, I no longer have that confidence.”

“The tortoise! The tortoise!” replied the reporter. “Don’t you know that it was the sea that turned it over?”

“Who knows?” murmured the engineer.

“But …” said Neb.

It was obvious that Neb had something to say because he opened his mouth to speak but nothing came out.

“What did you want to say, Neb?” the engineer asked him.

“If we return via the shore to Cape Claw,” replied Neb, “after having doubled the cape, we will be stopped …”

“By the Mercy!” continued Harbert, “and, in fact, we’ll have neither a bridge or a boat with which to cross it!”

“Fine, Mr. Cyrus,” responded Pencroff, “with a few floating tree trunks we won’t be inconvenienced in crossing the river.”


 “Whatever the case,” said Gideon Spilett, “it will be useful to construct a bridge if we want to have easy access to the Far West.”

“A bridge!” exclaimed Pencroff. “Well, isn’t Mr. Smith the best engineer in his profession? He’ll make us a bridge when we want to have a bridge. As for transporting you this evening to the other side of the Mercy without wetting a stitch of your clothing, I’ll be responsible for that. We still have a day’s provisions and that’s all we need and, besides, we may have more game today than we had yesterday. Let’s go!”

The reporter’s proposition, very strongly supported by the sailor, gained general approval because everyone wanted very much to have no more doubt on this question and, by returning via Cape Claw, the exploration would be complete. But there wasn’t an hour to lose; forty miles was a long trip, and they could not count on reaching Granite House before nightfall.

At six o’clock in the morning, the small troop was on its way. As a precaution against any undesirable encounters with animals on two or four feet, the guns were loaded with ball, and Top, who was in the lead, was ordered to scour the edge of the forest.

On leaving the extremity of the promontory which formed the tail of the peninsula, the coast curved for a distance of five miles, which was rapidly traversed, and the most minute investigations showed no trace of a landing either in the distant past or recently—neither a wreck, nor the remainder of an encampment, nor the cold cinders of a campfire, nor a footprint.

The colonists arrived at the corner where the curvature of the coast ended. They continued toward the north-east and Washington Bay. From this vantage point, they were able to observe the entire length of the southern shore of the island. Twenty five miles away, the coast ended at Cape Claw which was slightly blurred by the morning fog. A mirage made it seem suspended between land and sea. Between the spot occupied by the colonists and the end of the immense bay, the shore was composed of a very smooth and flat beach bordered by trees. Further along, the shore became very irregular with sharp points projecting into the sea, and finally several blackish rocks were piled up in picturesque disorder ending at Cape Claw.

Such was the topography of this part of the island that the explorers saw for the first time. They quickly took it in at a glance, having stopped for a moment.


 “A vessel that put in here,” Pencroff said, “would inevitably be lost. This beach of sand extends up to the sea and the reefs beyond! Dangerous waters!”

“But at least something of this vessel would remain,” the reporter noted.

“Some pieces of wood would remain on the reefs, but nothing on the sand,” replied the sailor.

“Why so?”

“Because the sand is even more dangerous than the rocks, engulfing everything that is thrown upon it, and only a few days would be needed for the hull of a vessel of several hundred tons to disappear there entirely!”

“So, Pencroff,” asked the engineer, “if a vessel ran aground on these banks, it would not be unusual if there is no longer any trace of it?”

“No, Mr. Smith, with the help of time or tempest. Still, it would be surprising, even in this case, if some debris of the masts and spars were not thrown on the bank beyond the reach of the sea.”

“Then let’s continue our search,” replied Cyrus Smith.

An hour after noon, the colonists arrived at the beginning of Washington Bay after having covered a distance of twenty miles. They halted for lunch.

There, the coast became irregular, strangely chopped up, and was covered by a long line of reefs behind which were banks of sand. The tide was low at the moment but would not be long in covering it. They saw the supple waves of the sea breaking against the tops of rocks and then turning into long foamy curls. From this point up to Cape Claw, the beach was very narrow, confined between the edge of reefs and that of the forest.

The trip would thus be more difficult because of the innumerable rocks which encumbered the shore. The granite wall also tended to rise higher and higher, and they could see only the green tops of trees that crowned it, undisturbed by any wind.

After resting for a half hour, the colonists continued their journey, and not a single point on the reefs or the beach escaped their attention. Pencroff and Neb even ventured among the reefs when some object caught their eye. But there was no wreckage—they had been misled by some bizarre shape of rocks. They did note, however, that edible shellfish were plentiful in these waters, which they could not profitably exploit until communication was established between the 
 two banks of the Mercy and also until they had perfected an appropriate means of transport. There was no trace on this shore of the presumed wreck, notwithstanding the fact that the hull of a vessel was an object of some importance and should have been visible. Some of the debris should have carried to shore, such as the chest found less than twenty miles from this spot. But there was nothing here.

About three o’clock, Cyrus Smith and his companions arrived at a narrow, well enclosed inlet which did not contain a watercourse. It formed a real small natural port, invisible from the sea, which could be reached by a narrow passage between the reefs.

At the rear of this inlet, some violent convulsion had torn up the rocky shore and a breach led to a gentle slope which gave access to the upper plateau. This plateau was situated less than ten miles from Cape Claw and consequently four miles in a straight line from Grand View Plateau.

Gideon Spilett proposed to his companions that they make a halt there. They accepted because the journey had sharpened everyone’s appetite and, though it was not dinner time, no one could refuse a piece of venison. This meal would permit them to wait for supper until they had reached Granite House.

A few minutes later, the colonists were seated at the foot of a magnificent cluster of maritime pines, devouring the food Neb had taken from his knapsack.

This spot was fifty or sixty feet above sea level. Their view was now considerably broadened, passing above the last rocks of the cape and stretching as far as Union Bay. But neither the islet nor Grand View Plateau was visible, nor could they be from that position because the level of the ground and the screen of trees abruptly cut off the northern horizon.

Needless to say, in spite of the expanse of sea that could now clearly be observed by the explorers, and although the engineer’s telescope swept from point to point across this entire horizon where the sky and water blended, no vessel could be seen. Likewise, along all this part of the shore that still remained to be explored, the telescope examined with the same care, from the beach to the reefs, but no wreck appeared within the field of view of the instrument.

“Come,” said Gideon Spilett, “we must resign ourselves to the inevitable and take comfort in the thought that no one will come to dispute our possession of Lincoln Island.”


 “But what about the lead bullet?” said Harbert. “It certainly wasn’t imaginary!”

“By God, no!” exclaimed Pencroff, thinking of his missing molar.

“Then what can we conclude?” asked the reporter.

“This,” replied the engineer, “that in the last three months at most, a vessel, voluntarily or not, landed …”

“What! You would accept, Cyrus, that it sank without leaving any trace?” exclaimed the reporter.

“No, my dear Spilett, but note that it’s certain that a human being has set foot on this island, and it appears equally certain that he has now left it.”

“Then, if I understand you, Mr. Cyrus,” said Harbert, “the vessel went away? …”

“Evidently.”

“And we’ve lost a chance to leave?” said Neb.

“Past all hope, I’m afraid.”

“Well! Since the chance is lost, let’s be on our way,” said Pencroff, who was already homesick for Granite House.

But hardly had he gotten up when Top came out of the woods barking loudly and holding in his mouth a scrap of cloth soiled with mud.

Neb tore this scrap from the dog’s mouth. It was a piece of heavy cloth.

Top continued to bark and, by his coming and going, he seemed to be inviting his master to follow him into the forest.

“Here’s something which may explain my lead bullet!” cried Pencroff.

“A castaway!” replied Harbert.

“Wounded perhaps!” said Neb.

“Or dead!” added the reporter.

Everyone followed the dog among the large pines which formed the leading edge of the forest. Cyrus Smith and his companions loaded their guns for any eventuality.

They had to advance rather deeply into the woods but, to their great disappointment, they still did not see any footprints. Brushwood and vines were intact and it was even necessary to cut them with the axe as they had done in the thickest part of the forest. It was difficult to imagine that a human creature had already passed there. Still Top came and went, not as a dog who searched at random, but as a being endowed with a will, following up an idea.
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 It was a piece of heavy cloth.





 After seven or eight minutes, Top stopped. The colonists arrived at a sort of clearing bordered by large trees. They looked around but saw nothing either under the brushwood or among the tree trunks.

“But what is it, Top?” asked Cyrus Smith.

Top barked louder, jumping at the foot of a gigantic tree. Suddenly Pencroff shouted:

“Ah! Fine! Perfect!”

“What is it?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“We’ve been looking for a wreck on sea or on land!”

“Well?”

“Well, it’s in the sky!”

And the sailor pointed to a huge mass of whitish cloth hanging from the top of the pine. Top had brought them a piece that had fallen to the ground.

“But this isn’t a wreck,” exclaimed Gideon Spilett.

“I beg your pardon!” replied Pencroff.

“What? It’s …”

“It’s all that remains of our flying boat, of our balloon, which beached itself up there at the top of this tree.”

Pencroff was not mistaken, and he let out a magnificent hurrah and added:

“There is good cloth! It will furnish us with linen for years. With this we can make handkerchiefs and shirts! Hey! Mr. Spilett, what do you think of an island where shirts grow on trees?”

It was truly a fortunate circumstance for the colonists of Lincoln Island that the balloon, after having made its last leap into the sky, fell back again on the island, and that they had this luck to find it. Either they could keep the envelope in its present form if they wanted to attempt another escape by air, or they could make good use of these several hundred yards of cotton cloth of good quality, after removing the varnish. As might be imagined, Pencroff’s joy was unanimously and enthusiastically shared by all.

But it was necessary to remove this envelope from the tree where it hung and put it in a secure place, and this was no small job. Neb, Harbert, and the sailor, climbed to the top of the tree and used all their dexterity to disengage the enormous deflated balloon.

The operation lasted nearly two hours. They brought down not 
 only the envelope with its valves, its springs, its copper trimmings, but also the rigging with its considerable mass of rope, the retaining ring, and the anchor of the balloon. The envelope, except for the tear, was in good condition, and only its lower portion was ripped.
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The operation lasted nearly two hours.




It was a veritable fortune that had fallen from the sky.


 “All the same, Mr. Cyrus,” said the sailor, “if we ever decide to leave the island, it won’t be in a balloon, will it? They don’t go where one wants, these vessels of the sky, and we know something about that! Take my word, we’ll build a good boat of about twenty tons, and you’ll allow me to cut a foresail and a jib out of this cloth. As to the rest, it will serve to clothe us.”

“We’ll see, Pencroff,” replied Cyrus Smith, “we’ll see.”

“In the meantime, we must put it all in a safe place,” said Neb.

Indeed, they could not think of transporting this load of cloth, rope, and rigging, whose weight was considerable, to Granite House. And, while waiting for a proper vehicle to cart it, it was important not to leave these riches to the mercy of the first storm that might pass. The colonists, uniting their efforts, succeeded in dragging everything to the shore where they discovered a rather large rocky cavern which was situated so that neither wind nor rain nor the sea could get to it.

“We needed an armoire. And we now have an armoire,” said Pencroff. “But since it doesn’t lock, it would be prudent to conceal the opening. I don’t say this for two-footed thieves but for thieves on four feet!”

By six o’clock in the evening, everything was stored away. After giving the well-justified name of “Port Balloon” to this small indentation which formed the cove, they started out again to Cape Claw. Pencroff and the engineer chatted about various projects which would be useful to begin without delay. Before anything else, it was necessary to build a bridge over the Mercy in order to establish easy contact with the south of the island; then the cart would come back to get the balloon since the canoe could not transport it; then they would construct a decked boat, then Pencroff would rig it as a cutter, and they could undertake some voyages around the island, then, etc. However, night came on and the sky was already dark when the colonists reached Cape Claw in the very same place where they had discovered the precious chest. But there, as everywhere else, nothing indicated any wreck whatsoever. They had to assume that Cyrus Smith’s earlier theory was indeed correct.

From Cape Claw to Granite House, there still remained four miles which were rapidly crossed. It was after midnight when, after following the shore up to the mouth of the Mercy, the colonists arrived at the first bend formed by the river. There, the bed measured eighty 
 feet in width and it was a difficult crossing, but Pencroff had made himself responsible for overcoming this difficulty, and he intended to do so.

Admittedly, the colonists were exhausted. The day’s march had been a long one, and the incident of the balloon had not rested their arms and legs. They were therefore in a hurry to get back to Granite House, to eat and to sleep, and, if a bridge had already been constructed, they would have found themselves in their home in a quarter of an hour.

It was very dark. Pencroff then prepared to keep his promise by making a sort of raft that could cross the Mercy. Neb and he, armed with axes, chose two trees near the bank to use in making the raft. They began to chop away.

Cyrus Smith and Gideon Spilett, seated on the bank, were waiting for the time when they could help their companions, while Harbert came and went without wandering too far away.

Suddenly the lad, who had ascended the river, came running back and pointed upstream:

“What’s that floating there?” he shouted.

Pencroff interrupted his work and vaguely saw a moving object in the shadows.

“A boat!” he said.

All approached and saw, to their extreme surprise, a boat moving in the stream.

“Ahoy boat!” shouted the sailor from professional habit, without thinking if it would perhaps be better to keep silent.

No answer. The boat still drifted. It was not more than a dozen feet away when the sailor shouted:

“But it’s our canoe! It broke its mooring and followed the current. It certainly arrived in the nick of time.”

“Our canoe? …” murmured the engineer.

Pencroff was right. It really was the canoe, whose mooring had doubtless broken and returned all by itself from the headwaters of the Mercy. It was thus important to seize it before it was dragged beyond the mouth by the river’s rapid current and Neb and Pencroff skillfully did so with a long pole.

The canoe was brought to the shore. The engineer, being the first to embark, seized the mooring and assured himself, by fingering it, that the mooring had really worn away by rubbing against the rocks.


 “Now this is what can be called a coincidence …,” the reporter said to him in a low voice.

“Strange!” replied Cyrus Smith.

Strange or not, it was fortunate. Harbert, the reporter, Neb, and Pencroff climbed aboard in their turn. There was no doubt that the mooring had worn away, but the most astonishing thing about the affair was that the canoe had arrived just at the moment when the colonists could seize it in passing, because a quarter of an hour later it would have been lost at sea.

If they had lived in the time of genies, this incident would have given them reason to think that the island was haunted by a supernatural being who placed his power at the service of the castaways.

A few strokes of the oar brought the colonists to the mouth of the Mercy. The canoe was towed up onto the beach at the Chimneys, and everyone headed toward the ladder of Granite House. But at this moment Top barked in anger and Neb, who was looking for the first rung, let out a cry…

The ladder was no longer there.



CHAPTER VI





C

 yrus Smith had stopped without saying a word. In the dark, his companions searched the cliff’s face, in the event that the wind displaced the ladder, and along the ground, in case it had become detached. But the ladder had absolutely disappeared. As for ascertaining whether a gust of wind had raised it up to the first landing at the center point of the wall, it was impossible to determine on such a dark night.

“If it’s a joke,” cried Pencroff, “it’s a very poor one. To arrive home and not find the stairway to your room, that’s nothing to laugh at for tired men!”

Neb could only utter exclamations.

“This wasn’t done by the wind!” said Harbert.

“I’m beginning to think that peculiar things are happening on Lincoln Island,” said Pencroff.

“Peculiar?” replied Gideon Spilett. “No, Pencroff, nothing is more 
 natural. Someone has come during our absence, taken possession of our dwelling and drawn up the ladder.”

“Someone!” exclaimed the sailor, “but who? …”

“Perhaps the hunter with the lead bullet,” answered the reporter. “What other explanation can there be for this misfortune?”

“Well, if there is someone up there,” replied Pencroff swearing and becoming impatient, “I’ll call to him and he’d better answer.”

And with a thunderous voice the sailor let out a prolonged “Ahoy” whose echoes reverberated powerfully.

The colonists listened and thought that they heard from the height of Granite House a sort of mocking laughter they could not recognize. But no voice answered Pencroff, and he repeatedly called in vain.

This truly was something to perplex even the most indifferent men in the world, and the colonists were far from indifferent. Given their situation, every incident was serious. And, certainly, during the seven months that they had lived on the island, none was so surprising as this one.

Forgetting their fatigue and intrigued by this strange event, they remained at the foot of Granite House not knowing what to think, not knowing what to do, asking questions without answers, and offering hypotheses each more implausible than the last. Neb was disconsolate and very disappointed at not being able to get back to his kitchen, especially since the provisions were used up and they currently had no means of getting more.

“My friends,” Cyrus Smith then said, “there’s only one thing for us to do, wait for daybreak, and then act as circumstances dictate. But while waiting, let’s go to the Chimneys. There, we’ll have shelter, and, if we can’t eat, then at least we will be able to sleep.”

“But who is this ill-mannered fellow who played this trick on us?” Pencroff asked once more, unable to play along with this joke.

Whoever the “fellow” was, the only thing to do, as the engineer said, was to go to the Chimneys and await the return of day. Nevertheless, Top was ordered to remain under the windows of Granite House, and when Top received an order, he executed it without comment. The worthy dog remained at the foot of the wall, while his master and his companions found refuge among the rocks.

To say that the colonists, despite their weariness, slept well on the sand of the Chimneys would be untruthful. Not only were they very anxious about this new incident, be it the result of natural causes 
 which would be apparent during the day or, on the contrary, be it the work of a human being, but also they had to bed down in very poor sleeping quarters. Whatever the case, their home was occupied at the moment, and they could not enter it.
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Top was ordered to remain on guard.




Further, Granite House was more than their dwelling. It was their 
 storehouse. It had all the material of the colony, arms, instruments, tools, munitions, food reserves, etc. If all this were to be plundered, the colonists would have to begin again to make arms and tools. This was a serious concern! So, yielding to anxiety throughout the night, they often went out to see if Top was guarding it well. Cyrus Smith alone waited with his usual patience, exasperated at this absolutely inexplicable event and indignant at the thought that around him, above him perhaps, there was a power which he could not identify. Gideon Spilett fully shared his opinion, and both repeatedly spoke in whispers of these inexplicable circumstances which were beyond their understanding and experience. There surely was a mystery on this island, but how could they discover it? Harbert did not know what to imagine and wanted to question Cyrus Smith. As for Neb, he dismissed the matter by telling himself that all this was not his concern, that it was his master’s business, and, if it were not for his respect for his companions, the worthy Negro would have slept that night just as well as if he had been lying in his bed in Granite House.

Lastly, more than the others, Pencroff was infuriated.

“It’s a practical joke,” he said, “it’s a joke that someone is playing on us. Well, I don’t like practical jokes and woe be unto the joker if I lay my hands on him!”

When the first light of day glimmered in the east, the well-armed colonists went along the shore at the edge of the reef. In direct line with the rising sun, Granite House would light up at dawn and, indeed, before five o’clock, the windows, whose shutters were closed, began to appear through their curtains of foliage.

From this vantage point, all seemed to be in order. But a cry escaped from the colonists when they saw the wide open door which they had closed before their departure.

Someone was in Granite House. There was no longer any doubt of that.

The upper ladder, ordinarily attached to the landing at the door, was in its place, but the lower ladder had been drawn up to the landing. It was entirely obvious that the intruders wanted to be protected from any surprise.

As to discovering who and how many there were, this was still impossible to know because none of them had shown themselves.

Pencroff shouted again.

No reply.


 “The rascals!” shouted the sailor. “There they sleep quietly as if they were in their own home. Ahoy! Pirates, bandits, privateers, sons of John Bull!”

When Pencroff, as an American, labeled someone a “son of John Bull,” he had given the ultimate insult.

It was now full daylight, and the facade of Granite House was illuminated by the sun’s rays. But the inside was as quiet and calm as the outside.

The colonists began to wonder if Granite House was or was not occupied, but the position of the ladder showed that it was, and certainly the occupants, whoever they were, had not been able to flee. But how could they get to them?

Harbert then had the idea of attaching a rope to an arrow and shooting this arrow so that it would pass between the first rungs of the ladder which hung from the landing outside the door. By means of the rope, they could then unravel the ladder to the ground and re-establish contact between the ground and Granite House.

There was evidently nothing else to do and, with a little skill, it might well succeed. Very fortunately, bows and arrows had been placed in a corridor of the Chimneys where they also found a few hundred feet of light hibiscus rope. Pencroff unraveled this rope which he attached to a feathered arrow. Then Harbert, after placing the arrow on his bow, took careful aim at the hanging end of the ladder.

Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett, Pencroff, and Neb remained in the background in order to observe what happened at the windows of Granite House. The reporter, his carbine at his shoulder, took aim at the door.

The bow was released, the arrow hissed through the air, reached the rope, and passed between the last two rungs.

The operation had succeeded.

Harbert immediately seized the end of the rope; but as soon as he was about to pull the ladder to the ground, a hand reached out between the wall and the door, seized it and pulled it back into Granite House.

“Triple rascals!” shouted the sailor, “if a bullet will make you happy, you won’t have long to wait.”

“But who was it?” asked Neb.

“Who? Didn’t you recognize? …”


 “No.”

“It was an ape, a macaco, a sapajou, a guenon, an orang, a baboon, a gorilla, a saki!
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 Our dwelling has been invaded by apes who climbed up the ladder during our absence!”

And, at this moment, as if to prove the sailor right, three or four quadrumanes pushed aside the shutters and showed themselves at the windows. They greeted the true owners of the premises with a thousand contortions and grimaces.

“I knew full well that this was only a joke!” exclaimed the sailor, “but one of these jokers will pay for the others!”

The sailor, gun to his shoulder, took a quick aim at one of the apes and fired. All disappeared, except one who, mortally wounded, fell to the ground.

This ape, of a large size, belonged to the first order of quadrumanes, there was no mistake about that. Whether a chimpanzee, an orang, a gorilla, or a gibbon, it was definitely a member of these anthropomorphs, so named because of their resemblance to the human race. However, Harbert, being well-versed in zoology, declared that it was an orangutan.
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“A magnificent beast!” shouted Neb.

“Magnificent, as you wish!” replied Pencroff, “but I still don’t see how we’ll be able to enter our home.”

“Harbert was a good archer,” said the reporter, “and his bow is here. He’ll begin again …”

“Fine! But these apes are clever,” exclaimed Pencroff. “They won’t show themselves again at the windows, and we won’t be able to kill them. And when I think of all the damage they can do to the rooms and to the storeroom …”

“Be patient,” answered Cyrus Smith. “These animals can’t keep us stalemated for very long!”

“I’ll be sure of that when they’re buried,” replied the sailor. “And do you know, Mr. Smith, how many dozens of these jokers are up there?”

It would be difficult to reply to Pencroff. When the boy tried again, it was not easy because the lower end of the ladder had been pulled inside the door and when they pulled again on the rope, it broke, and the ladder did not come down.

It was a truly vexing case. Pencroff raged. The situation had a certain comic side to it that he did not find at all funny. It was obvious that the colonists would eventually regain their dwelling and chase out the intruders, but when and how? That they could not say.
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 The ape fell, mortally wounded.





 Two hours passed during which the apes avoided showing themselves; but they were still there, and three or four times, a nose or a paw passing by the door or windows was greeted with a gunshot.

“Let’s hide,” the engineer then said. “Perhaps the apes will think that we’ve left, and they’ll expose themselves again. Then Spilett and Harbert can lie in wait behind the rocks and fire on all that appear.”

The engineer’s orders were acted upon and, while the reporter and the boy, who were the two best marksmen of the colony, posted themselves at easy range but out of sight of the apes, Neb, Pencroff, and Cyrus Smith went to the plateau so as to reach the forest and kill some game because mealtime had come and no provisions remained.

After a half-hour, the hunters returned with a few rock pigeons which they roasted for better or for worse. No ape had reappeared.

Gideon Spilett and Harbert went to take their part in the meal while Top watched under the windows. Then, after eating, they returned to their post.

Two hours later, the situation still had not changed. The quadrumanes no longer gave any sign of existence and it seemed that they had disappeared; but what appeared more probable was that, frightened by the death of one of their own, terrified by the detonations from the guns, they remained quiet on the floor of the rooms of Granite House or even in the storeroom. And, when the men thought of the riches enclosed in this storeroom, the patience advised by the engineer soon degenerated into a powerful and entirely justified irritation.

“Decidedly, this is very stupid,” the reporter said finally, “and there’s really no way to end this!”

“We must send these vagabonds packing!” exclaimed Pencroff. “We’ll get to the end of this even if it takes twenty days, even if we have to fight them hand to hand! But is there no way to get to them?”

“Yes,” replied the engineer, who suddenly had an idea.

“One?” said Pencroff. “Well, it’s got to be a good one, since there are no others. And what is it?”

“Let’s try to redescend into Granite House by the old passageway at the lake,” replied the engineer.


 “Ah! Of course!” shouted the sailor. “Why didn’t I think of that?”

It was, in fact, the only means of penetrating into Granite House in order to fight the band of apes and drive them out. It is true that the opening of the overflow was now closed by a wall of cemented rocks which it would be necessary to sacrifice, but they could always build it again. Fortunately, Cyrus Smith still had not completed his project of hiding this opening by submerging it beneath the waters of the lake because he had not yet had the time to do so.

It was already past noon when the colonists, well-armed and provided with picks and pickaxes, left the Chimneys. They passed under the windows of Granite House after ordering Top to remain at his post. They intended to ascend the left bank of the Mercy in order to reach Grand View Plateau.

But they had not gone fifty paces in this direction when they heard the dog barking furiously. It was like a desperate call.

They stopped.

“Run!” said Pencroff.

Everyone descended the bank as fast as they could. Rounding the bend, they saw that the situation had changed.

The apes, terrorized by some unknown cause, were trying to get out. Two or three ran and jumped from one window to the other with the agility of clowns. They did not even think of lowering the ladder which would have facilitated their descent; in their fright, they had perhaps forgotten this means of escape. Soon, five or six were in a position to be fired upon, and the colonists, having them easily in their sights, fired. Some apes, wounded or dead, fell back into the rooms uttering sharp cries. Others, falling outside, were killed by their fall. In a few moments, the colonists could suppose that there were no longer any living quadrumanes in Granite House.

“Hurrah!” cried Pencroff. “Hurrah! Hurrah!”

“Not so many hurrahs!” said Gideon Spilett.

“Why not? They’re dead,” replied the sailor.

“Agreed, but this doesn’t give us the means of returning to our home.”

“Let’s go to the overflow passage,” replied Pencroff.

“No doubt,” said the engineer. “However, it would be better if …”

At this moment, as if in response to Cyrus Smith’s comment, they saw the ladder glide onto the threshold of the door. Then it unraveled and fell to the ground.


 “Ah! By George! That’s convenient!” cried the sailor, looking at Cyrus Smith.

“Too convenient!” murmured the engineer, stepping on the first rung of the ladder.

“Take care, Mr. Cyrus!” shouted Pencroff, “there may still be several of these apes …”

“We’ll soon know,” replied the engineer, without stopping.

All his companions followed and, in a minute, they arrived at the threshold of the door.

They looked everywhere. No one was in the rooms or in the storeroom which had been spared by the band of quadrumanes.

“So, and the ladder?” exclaimed the sailor. “Who then was the gentleman who returned it to us?”

But at this moment a cry was heard and a large ape, who had taken refuge in the passageway, rushed into the hall, pursued by Neb.

“Ah! The bandit!” cried Pencroff.

And, with hatchet in hand, he was about to crack the animal’s skull, when Cyrus Smith stopped him and said to him:

“Spare him, Pencroff.”

“Show mercy to this blackamoor?”

“Yes! It was he who threw us the ladder.”

And the engineer said this in so strange a voice that it was difficult to know if he spoke seriously or not.

Nevertheless, they threw themselves on the ape who, after defending himself valiantly, was thrown to the ground and tied.

“Whew!” cried Pencroff.

“And now what will we make of him?” “A servant!” replied Harbert.

And, in speaking so, the boy really was not joking because he knew that good use could be made of this intelligent race of quadrumanes.

The colonists then approached the ape and looked at him. He belonged to that species of anthropomorphs whose facial angle is not significantly less than that of the Australians and the Hottentots. It was an orang who, as such, had neither the ferocity of the baboon, nor the thoughtlessness of the macaco, nor the filthy ways of the saguin, nor the impatience of the Barbary ape, nor the bad instincts of the cynocephalus.
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 That family of anthropomorphs has many traits indicating a quasi-human intelligence. Employed in homes, they can serve at tables, clean rooms, care for clothes, polish shoes, skillfully handle a knife, a spoon and a fork, and even drink wine … as well as the best housekeeper on two feet without feathers. It is said that Buffon
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 possessed one of these apes, who served him for a long time as a faithful and zealous servant.
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 The ape was thrown to the ground and tied.





 The one that was tied up in the large hall of Granite House was a large fellow, six feet tall, with an admirably proportioned body, a large chest, a head of average size, a facial angle of sixty five degrees, a rounded cranium, a prominent nose, a skin covered with a sleek, gentle and glossy coat—in short, a well-developed type of anthropomorph. His eyes, a little smaller than human eyes, glowed with a lively intelligence, his white teeth glistened under his moustache, and he had a small, curly, hazel-colored beard.

“A fine fellow!” said Pencroff. “If only we knew his language, we could speak to him.”

“Are you serious, master?” said Neb. “We are going to take him on as a housekeeper?”

“Yes, Neb,” replied the engineer, smiling. “But don’t be jealous!”

“And I hope that he will make an excellent servant,” added Harbert. “He seems to be young, his education will be easy, and we won’t be obliged to use force to subjugate him, nor to pull his teeth as is sometimes done in similar circumstances. He’ll become very attached to his masters if we’re good to him.”

“And that we’ll be,” replied Pencroff, who had completely forgotten his grudge against “the jokers.”

Then, approaching the orang:

“Well, my boy,” he asked him. “How goes it?”

The orang replied with a small grunt that did not seem to indicate too bad a temper.

“Do we wish then to become a part of the colony,” asked the sailor, “to enter the service of Mr. Cyrus Smith?”

The ape made another approving grunt.

“And we’ll be content with food for our only wages?”

A third affirmative grunt.

“His conversation is a little monotonous,” observed Gideon Spilett.

“Good!” replied Pencroff, “the best servants are those who speak the least. So then, no wages! Do you understand my boy? To begin with, we’ll give you no wages but, later on, we will double it if we’re satisfied with you!”

In this manner, the colony increased its size by one new member 
 who was to render it more than one service. As to his name, the sailor asked that he be called Jupiter, or Jup for short,
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 in memory of another ape he had known.
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“Well, my boy …”




And so, without further ado, Master Jup joined the colonists of Granite House.


 
CHAPTER VII





T

 he colonists of Lincoln Island had thus regained their dwelling place without having to use the old passageway, saving them some masonry work. It was truly fortunate that, at the moment when whey were getting ready to use the passageway, the band of apes had been terrified by something, as sudden as it was inexplicable, which had driven them from Granite House. Had these animals somehow sensed that a serious assault was going to be launched against them from another direction? This was about the only way to explain their retreat.

During the final hours of that day, the bodies of the apes were carried to the woods where they were buried; then the colonists repaired the disorder caused by the intruders—disorder but not damage because, if they had upset the furniture in the rooms, at least they had broken nothing. Neb rekindled his stoves, and the reserves in the pantry furnished a substantial meal to which all did justice.

Jup was not forgotten, and he ate with great appetite the pine almonds and the rhizome
1

 roots which were abundantly provided for him. Pencroff had untied his arms but he judged it best to leave the fetters on his legs until the time when they could count on his submissiveness.

Then, before going to bed, Cyrus Smith and his companions, seated around the table, discussed several projects that urgently needed to be done.

The most important and the most pressing was the establishment of a bridge over the Mercy in order to link the southern part of the island with Granite House, then the construction of a corral intended to house the sheep and other wool-bearing animals they agreed to capture.

These two projects solved the question of clothing, which was then the most serious. The bridge would also make it easy to transport the envelope of the balloon which would give them linen, and the corral would furnish a collection of wool which would give them winter clothing. As for the corral, Cyrus Smith intended to build it at the very headwaters of Red Creek, where the ruminants would find fresh and abundant pasture for their nourishment. Already the route between Grand View Plateau and the sources had been partly blazed, 
 and with a cart better built than the first one, the haul would be much easier, especially if they managed to capture some beast of burden.

But, if there was no disadvantage of having the corral somewhat far from Granite House, such was not the case with the poultry yard, which Neb pointed out to the colonists. It was necessary that the birds be within the reach of the kitchen chef, and no location seemed more favorable than that portion of the banks of the lake that bordered on the old overflow. The waterfowl would know how to prosper there as well as the others. The tinamou couple, taken during the last excursion, would serve as a first attempt at domestication.

On the next day, November 3rd, they began to construct the bridge, and all hands were required for this important task. Saws, axes, chisels, and hammers were placed on the colonists’ shoulders who, now transformed into carpenters, descended toward the shore.

There Pencroff had a thought.

“What if, during our absence, Master Jup takes a fancy to draw up the ladder which he gallantly threw down yesterday?”

“Let’s tie it down at its lower end,” replied Cyrus Smith.

This was done by means of two stakes well buried in the sand. Then the colonists ascended the left bank of the Mercy and soon arrived at the bend formed by the river.

There they stopped in order to see if the bridge could be built at this point. The spot seemed suitable.

From this point to Port Balloon, discovered the previous day on the southern shore, it was only three and a half miles. From bridge to port it would be easy to blaze a path fit for a cart, which would make for easy movement between Granite House and the south of the island.

Cyrus Smith then acquainted his companions with a project both very simple to execute and very advantageous, which he had thought about for some time. It was to completely isolate Grand View Plateau in order to shelter it from any attack by quadrupeds or quadrumanes. By this means, Granite House, the Chimneys, the poultry yard, and the entire upper part of the plateau that was destined to be cultivated, would be protected from the attack of animals.

Nothing was easier to accomplish than this project, and here is how the engineer planned to do it.

The plateau was already defended on three sides by watercourses, be they artificial or natural:


 In the northwest, by the shore of Lake Grant, from the corner located at the opening of the old overflow to the cut made on the east shore for the escape of the waters;

In the north, from this cut to the sea, by the new watercourse which had created a channel for itself on the plateau and on the beach, upstream and downstream from the waterfall; in fact, simply deepening the bed of this creek would keep animals from crossing it;

On the eastern shore by the sea itself, from the mouth of the aforesaid creek to the mouth of the Mercy;

Finally on the south, from this mouth to the bend in the Mercy where they would establish the bridge.

There still remained the western part of the plateau, between the bend in the river and the southern corner of the lake, a distance less than one mile, which was open to any who might come. But nothing was easier than to dig a wide and deep trench, which would then be filled by the waters of the lake and whose overflow would spill into the Mercy by a second waterfall. The level of the lake would doubtless be lowered a little as a result of this new discharge, but Cyrus Smith knew that the flow of Red Creek was sufficient to allow for it.

“In this way,” added the engineer, “Grand View Plateau will be a veritable island, surrounded by water on all sides, and it will be connected to the rest of our domain only by the bridge which we’re going to build across the Mercy, by the two smaller bridges already in place upstream and downstream from the waterfall, and finally by two other bridges yet to be constructed, one over the trench that I propose to excavate and the other on the left bank of the Mercy. Now if these bridges can be raised at will, Grand View Plateau will be protected against any surprise.

In order to help his companions better understand his plan, Cyrus Smith made a map of the plateau, and his project was immediately grasped in its entirety. It was approved unanimously and Pencroff, brandishing his carpenter’s axe, exclaimed:

“First to the bridge!”

This work was the most urgent. The trees were chosen, cut down, branches removed, and cut into small beams, thick planks, and boards. This bridge, stationary on the right bank of the Mercy, would be movable on the left bank, in such a way that it could be raised by means of counterweights as is done with certain floodgates.

It should be understood that this was a large undertaking, and, if it was done efficiently, it still required a great deal of time because the Mercy measured approximately eighty feet wide. It was necessary to sink the piles into the riverbed to support the platform of the bridge and to set up a pile driver to pound down the piles, so as to form two arches to support heavy loads.
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 It was a large undertaking.





 Very fortunately, they lacked neither the tools to work the wood, nor the ironwork to put it together, nor the knowledge of what was to be done, nor finally the zeal of those who, during the past seven months, had necessarily acquired much manual dexterity. Even Gideon Spilett was far from being awkward and his skillfulness rivaled the sailor himself, who never would have expected this from “a mere newspaperman.”

The construction of the bridge over the Mercy took three weeks of steady work. They ate at the worksite itself, the weather was magnificent then, and they only returned to Granite House for supper.

During this period, Master Jup was quickly becoming familiar with his new masters whom he looked upon with extreme curiosity. As a precaution, Pencroff still did not allow him complete freedom of movement, preferring to wait, rightly so, until the limits of the plateau were made inaccessible by these proposed projects. Top and Jup got on well and played together, but Jup was always serious.

The bridge was finished on the November 20th. Its movable portion, balanced by the counterweights, moved easily, and it required little effort to raise it. Between the hinge and the crossbeam on which it would rest when closed, there was a twenty foot interval which would be sufficient to prevent any animals from crossing.

It was then a question of going to get the envelope of the balloon, which the colonists were anxious to secure. But, in order to transport it, they had to get a cart over to Port Balloon and, accordingly, to blaze a trail across the thick forest of the Far West. That would require time. Neb and Pencroff went to the port to reconnoitre and, since they found that the “linen supply” would not suffer in the grotto where it had been stored, it was decided that the work relative to Grand View Plateau would be continued without pause.

“That,” noted Pencroff, “will allow us to set up our poultry yard under the best conditions since we won’t have to fear either a visit from the foxes or aggression from other dangerous animals.”

“Not to mention,” added Neb, “we’ll be able to clear the plateau to transplant wild plants there …”
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 Pencroff’s frightful scarecrows.




“And to prepare our second wheatfield!” exclaimed the sailor triumphantly.

The first wheatfield, sowed with a single grain, had indeed prospered admirably, thanks to Pencroff’s care. It had produced the ten ears predicted by the engineer and each one carried eighty seeds. In six 
 months, the colony had obtained eight hundred seeds, which promised two harvests each year.

These 800 seeds, less 50 which were prudently put aside, would be sowed in a new field with no less care than that bestowed on the single grain.

The field was prepared and then surrounded by a strong wooden fence, high and sharp, that quadrupeds would find difficult to cross. As for the birds, some noisy whirligigs and frightful scarecrows, dreamed up by Pencroff’s fantastic imagination, sufficed to scatter them. The 750 seeds were then planted in small very regular furrows, and Nature was left to do the rest.

On November 21st, Cyrus Smith began preparing the trench that would enclose the plateau from the west, from the southern corner of Lake Grant to the bend in the Mercy. This ground had two feet of topsoil and, under that, granite. He had to make some more nitroglycerin, and the nitroglycerin produced its usual effect. In less than fifteen days they dug a trench into the hard ground of the plateau, a dozen feet wide and six feet deep. A new drain was, by the same means, cut into the rocky shore of the lake. The water fell into this new bed and formed a small watercourse called “Glycerin Creek” which became a tributary of the Mercy. As predicted by the engineer, the level of the lake was lowered but by an insignificant amount. Finally, to complete the enclosure, the bed of the brook on the beach was considerably enlarged, and they held the sand in place by means of a double fence.

In the first half of December, these activities were finished and Grand View Plateau, that is to say a sort of irregular pentagon having a perimeter of about four miles, was surrounded by water and absolutely protected against all aggression.

It was very hot during this month of December. However, the colonists did not want to delay these projects any longer because it was urgent to set up a poultry yard.

Needless to say, since the plateau had now been enclosed, Master Jup had been given his liberty. He did not leave his masters and showed no wish to escape. He was a gentle animal, though very strong and extraordinarily agile. When he climbed the ladder to Granite House, he had no rival! They had already used him for several tasks: he dragged loads of wood and carted away stones that had been extracted from the bed of Glycerin Creek.


 “He’s not yet a mason, but he’s already an ape!” said Harbert jokingly, making allusion to the nickname of “ape” that masons give to their apprentices. And if ever the name was justified, his surely was.

The poultry yard occupied an area of two hundred square yards on the southeast bank of the lake. They surrounded it with a wooden fence and they built different shelters for the animals that would populate it. These were shacks made of branches and divided into compartments, which would soon receive their occupants.

The first were the tinamou couple, who soon had numerous young. For companions, they had a half dozen ducks who had frequented the borders of the lake. Some of them belonged to this Chinese species whose wings open like a fan and who rival the gilded pheasants with the brilliance and brightness of their plumage. Several days later, Harbert got hold of a gallinaceous couple with a rounded tail and a crest of long feathers, and magnificent “alectorides,” who soon became quite tame. As to the pelicans, the kingfishers, and the waterfowl, they came on their own to the waterside of the poultry yard. This entire little world, after much cooing, cheeping, and clucking, eventually came to terms with each other and multiplied in proportions which were reassuring for the alimentary future of the colony.

Cyrus Smith, wanting to complete his plan, established a pigeon house in a corner of the poultry yard. A dozen of those pigeons that frequented the high rocks of the plateau were lodged there. These birds easily became accustomed to returning to their new dwelling each evening and showed more of a tendency to become domesticated than their cousins, the wood pigeons, who, besides, would only reproduce in the wild state.

Finally the time came for them to use the envelope of the balloon to make linen. As for keeping it intact and risking themselves in a hot air balloon in order to leave the island, above an apparently limitless ocean, that was not a possibility for people who were destitute of everything. Cyrus Smith, being practical, could not dream of it.

They took steps then to bring the envelope to Granite House and to make their heavy cart lighter and more manageable. But if a vehicle was not lacking, the motor had still to be found. Did there exist on the island some native ruminant species that could replace the horse, donkey, ox, or cow? That was the question.

“The truth is,” said Pencroff, “that a beast of burden would be very 
 useful to us while waiting for Mr. Smith to construct a steam cart or even a locomotive, because certainly one day we will have a railroad from Granite House to Port Balloon with a branch line to Mount Franklin!”

And the honest sailor, in so saying, believed what he said. Oh! The power of imagination, when faith is blended with it!

But a simple quadruped which could be harnessed would have done well for Pencroff’s purpose, and Providence soon favored him.

One day, December 23rd, they heard Neb shouting and Top barking at the same time. The colonists, occupied at the Chimneys, ran to them immediately, fearing some violent incident.

What did they see? Two large handsome animals who had imprudently ventured onto the plateau while the bridges were down. They seemed like two horses, or at least two donkeys, male and female, finely shaped, with dove colored fur, white legs and tail, with black stripes on the head, neck, and body. They advanced calmly without showing any uneasiness and looked with a sharp eye on these men whom they still did not recognize as their masters.

“They’re onagers,” exclaimed Harbert, “quadrupeds which are midway between the zebra and the quagga.”
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“Why not donkeys?” asked Neb.

“Because they don’t have long ears and the shape of their bodies is more graceful.”

“Donkeys or horses,” laughed Pencroff, “they’re ‘motors,’ as Mr. Smith would say, and, as such, they’re worth capturing.”

The sailor, without frightening the two animals, crept among the grass to the bridge over Glycerin Creek, swung it up, and the onagers were prisoners.

Now should they roughly seize them and force them to submit to domestication? No. It was decided that, for several days, they would let them come and go freely on the plateau where there was abundant grass, and immediately the engineer made a stable near the poultry yard where the onagers could find good litter and refuge for the night.

The magnificent pair were allowed complete freedom of movement, and the colonists even avoided frightening them by coming too near. Several times however, the onagers seemed to feel the need to leave the plateau, which was too small for them, accustomed as they were to the large areas of the deep forests. The colonists saw them follow the belt of water that was impossible to cross, braying 
 sharply, galloping among the grass, and then, becoming calm, gazing for hours at the woods that were denied to them forever.

Meanwhile, harnesses and straps were made of vegetable fiber, and some days after capturing the onagers not only was the cart ready to be harnessed, but a straight road, or rather a trail, had been made across the forest of the Far West from the bend in the Mercy to Port Balloon. They could now take the cart there, and toward the end of December they tried the onagers for the first time. Pencroff had already coaxed the animals so that they came to eat from his hand, and the colonists could approach them without difficulty. But, once harnessed, they reared and kicked, and were difficult to control. However, they were not long in yielding to this new service. The onager, less rebellious than the zebra, is frequently harnessed in the mountainous regions of South Africa and even in some relatively cold zones of Europe.

On this day, the entire colony got into the cart except for Pencroff who marched at the head of the animals and they took the road to Port Balloon. They were bounced and jolted all along the way, but the vehicle arrived without any accident and, later that day, they were able to load up the envelope and various riggings of the balloon.

At eight o’clock that evening, the cart, coming back over the Mercy bridge, descended the left bank of the river and halted on the beach. The onagers were unharnessed and then brought back to their stable. And, before going to sleep, Pencroff heaved a sigh of satisfaction which echoed throughout Granite House.



CHAPTER VIII





T

 he first week in January was devoted to making the linen needed by the colony. The needles found in the chest were handled by vigorous if not delicate fingers, and the sewing was done very solidly.

There was no lack of thread thanks to Cyrus Smith’s idea of reusing that which had already served to sew up the balloon. These long threads were unraveled by Gideon Spilett and Harbert with admirable patience. Pencroff had to give up this work which irritated him beyond measure; but when it came to sewing, he 
 had no equal. No one can deny the fact that sailors have a remarkable aptitude for the sewing profession.
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White linen shirts.




The cloth that composed the envelope of the balloon was then stripped of its varnish by means of soda and potassium obtained from the incineration of plants so that the unvarnished cotton regained its 
 suppleness and its natural elasticity. Then, bleached in the sun, it acquired a perfect whiteness.

Several dozen shirts and socks—the latter unknitted, of course, but made of sewn cloth—were then made. What a pleasure it was for the colonists to dress again in white linen—very rough linen, doubtless, but they were not troubled by so small a matter—and to sleep between sheets which made the bunks of Granite House into quite acceptable beds.

It was also about this time that they made sealskin shoes, which replaced the shoes and the boots brought from America. These new shoes were wide and long and never pinched their feet.

The heat was still with them at the beginning of the new year of 1866, but it did not hinder their hunting in the woods. Agoutis, peccaries, capybaras, kangaroos, various game of fur and feather was abundant, and Gideon Spilett and Harbert were good marksman who did not waste a shot.

Cyrus Smith recommended that they economize on munitions, and he took measures to replenish the powder and the lead shot found in the chest which he wished to save for the future. Who could know what hazards they might face one day in the event they left their domain? They must prepare for future uncertainties by using their munitions sparingly and by substituting for them other easily renewable substances.

To replace the lead which Cyrus Smith had found no trace of on the island, he used small iron shot which were easy to make. These shot were not as heavy as the lead, so they made them larger. Each charge accordingly contained fewer of them, but the skill of the hunters made up for this deficiency. As for the powder, Cyrus Smith would have been able to make it since he had saltpeter, sulphur, and coal, but this preparation required extreme care and, without special tools, it was difficult to produce in good quality.

Cyrus Smith preferred to make pyroxyle, i.e., guncotton, a substance in which cotton is not necessary except for the cellulose.
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 Cellulose is nothing more than the elementary tissue of plants, and it is found in a nearly perfect state of purity not only in cotton but in the fibrous textiles of hemp and flax, in paper, old linen, elder pith, etc. Now elder trees were abundant on the island near the mouth of Red Creek. The colonists had already used the berries of these shrub-like trees of the honeysuckle family as a kind of coffee.


 They only needed to collect the elder pith, that is, the cellulose. The only other substance necessary for making pyroxyle was fuming nitric acid. Since Cyrus Smith had sulfuric acid, he had already easily produced nitric acid by reducing the saltpeter which was furnished by Nature.

He decided to make and use pyroxyle although he was well aware of its rather serious disadvantages: i.e., its large variation in effect, an excessive inflammability since it ignites at 170° instead of 240°, and finally a too rapid detonation which could damage the guns. On the other hand, the advantages of pyroxyle are that it is not affected by humidity, it does not foul up the gun, and its explosive force is quadruple that of ordinary powder.

To make pyroxyle, one must submerge the cellulose into fuming nitric acid for a quarter of an hour, then wash it with water and dry it over a large fire. Nothing is easier.

Cyrus Smith only had ordinary nitric acid and not fuming nitric acid or monohydrate, the kind which emits white vapors on contact with humid air. But the engineer could obtain the same result by mixing ordinary nitric acid with sulfuric acid in the ratio of three to five by volume. This he did. The hunters soon had a perfectly prepared substance which, when used with some care, gave excellent results.

About this time, the colonists cleared three acres of Grand View Plateau, and the remainder was left in the prairie state for use by the onagers. Several excursions were made into the Jacamar and Far West forests, and they brought back a true harvest of wild vegetables, spinach, cress, horse-radish, and turnips which would soon be cultivated. This would improve their diet. They also brought back large quantities of wood and coal. Each excursion had, at the same time, served to improve the roadway, which was packed down little by little under the wheels of the cart.

The warren continued to furnish its quota of rabbits for the Granite House pantry. Since it was located just beyond Glycerin Creek, its hosts could not penetrate the guarded plateau nor ravage the newly made plantation. As for the oyster bed, located among the rocks of the beach and always growing, it yielded excellent mollusks on a daily basis. Fishing either in the waters of the lake or in the Mercy was worthwhile because Pencroff had made some lines equipped with iron hooks which frequently caught fine trout and other extremely savory fish whose silvery sides were covered with small yellow spots. 
 In this way Master Neb, in charge of the culinary department, was able to agreeably vary the menu at each meal. Bread alone was still missing from the colonists’ table, and it was a privation keenly felt.

About this time, they also hunted the tortoises which frequented the beaches of Cape Mandible. In this region, the shore bristled with small mounds covering perfectly spherical eggs with a hard white shell whose albumin does not coagulate like bird eggs. The sun made them hatch and there was a considerable number since each tortoise can lay up to 250 annually.

“A real egg field,” said Gideon Spilett, “and we’ve only to collect them.”

But they did not content themselves with these products alone. They also hunted for the producers, a hunt which allowed them to carry back to Granite House a dozen of these chelonians, truly valuable from the alimentary point of view. Tortoise soup enhanced with aromatic herbs and cruciferae often earned its preparer, Master Neb, merited praise.

Another happy circumstance took place which allowed them to make additional provisions for the winter. Schools of salmon ventured into the Mercy and ascended the watercourse for several miles. This was the season when the females, seeking suitable places for spawning, precede the males and noisily churn upstream through the fresh water. A thousand of these fish, which measured up to two and a half feet in length, crowded the river, and they caught a large quantity by setting up several dams. Several hundred were salted and put in reserve for the time when winter, freezing the watercourse, would make all fishing difficult.

It was also at this time that the very intelligent Jup was promoted to the rank of valet. He had been dressed in a jacket, short breeches of white cloth, and an apron with pockets. He especially loved the pockets, slipping his hands deep into them and refusing to allow anyone to search them. The skillful orang had been well trained by Neb, and one would almost say that the Negro and the ape understood each other when they chatted. Moreover, Jup seemed to feel a real affection for Neb, and Neb reciprocated. Unless they had need for his services, be it to haul some wood or climb to the top of some tree, Jup spent most of his time in the kitchen trying to imitate Neb in everything that he saw him do. The master showed patience and even an extreme zeal in instructing his pupil, and the pupil showed a remarkable 
 intelligence in profiting from the lessons given to him by his master.
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Jup spent most of his time in the kitchen.




One can judge the satisfaction that he gave to the hosts of Granite House when one day, without any previous announcement, he came with a table napkin on his arm, ready to serve at the table. Skillful 
 and attentive, he performed his duties perfectly: changing the napkins, carrying the plates, pouring the drinks, all with a seriousness that amused the colonists immensely and delighted Pencroff.

“Jup, some soup!”

“Jup, a little agouti!”

“Jup, a napkin!”

“Jup! Worthy Jup! Honest Jup!”

Without becoming upset, Jup responded to everyone and observed everything. He nodded his intelligent head when Pencroff, alluding to his joke on the first day, said to him:

“Decidedly Jup, we must double your wages!”

Needless to say, the orang had become completely acclimatized to Granite House, and he often accompanied his masters into the forest without ever manifesting any desire to escape. At such times, he marched in the most amusing fashion, with a cane that Pencroff had given him, carrying it on his shoulder like a gun. If they had to pluck some fruit from the top of a tree, how quickly he was up there! If the wheel of the cart became stuck in the mud, how vigorously Jup got it back on the road with a single shove!

“What a strong rascal!” Pencroff often exclaimed. “If he was as mischievous as he is good, there would be no holding him back.”

It was toward the end of January when the colonists undertook a large task in the central part of the island. It had been decided that, at the foot of Mount Franklin near the headwaters of Red Creek, they would build a corral designed to hold the ruminants whose presence near Granite House would have been a nuisance, especially those wild sheep which could furnish the wool they expected to make into winter clothing.

Each morning the colony, sometimes in its entirety, though more often represented only by Cyrus Smith, Harbert, and Pencroff, went to the headwaters of the creek with the aid of the onagers. This was a trip of about five miles under a dome of verdure along this newly-constructed route which now took the name of “Corral Road.”

There, a large piece of ground was chosen on the very flank of the southern part of the mountain. It was a prairie where clusters of trees grew, situated at the very foot of a mountain spur which closed it in on one side. A small brook, having its source among the slopes, flowed diagonally across the area and fed into Red Creek. The grass grew well, and the few trees allowed the air to circulate freely. All that 
 was necessary to enclose this prairie was to build a nearly circular palisade around it, each end of which would be joined to the buttress. The fence being rather high, the most agile animals would not be able to cross it. Such an enclosure could contain, at any given time, about a hundred horned animals, wild sheep or goats, with young that would be born in time.

The perimeter of the corral was marked off by the engineer, and they then proceeded to cut the trees needed to construct the stockade; but, since making the road had already required the sacrifice of many trees, these were carted to the site and made into sharpened posts which were firmly planted in the ground.

At the front of the stockade, they built a rather wide entrance, which was closed by two swinging doors made of very thick planks strengthened by exterior cross bars.

The construction of the corral required about three weeks’ work because, in addition to the work on the palisade, Cyrus Smith built large planked sheds where the ruminants could find shelter. It had been necessary to make them very sturdy because wild sheep are robust animals, and, when first penned in, show fearful violence. The posts, pointed on top and hardened in fire, were strengthened further by means of regularly placed braces fastened with iron bolts, which assured the solidity of the entire structure.

The corral finished, a game drive was then undertaken at the foot of Mount Franklin amid the pastures frequented by the ruminants. This was done on February 7th, a fine summer day, and everyone took part in it. The two onagers, well domesticated by this time, were mounted by Gideon Spilett and Harbert and rendered excellent service.

The maneuver consisted simply of encircling the sheep and goats and, little by little, closing the circle in around them. Cyrus Smith, Pencroff, Neb, and Jup posted themselves at various points in the woods, while the two horsemen and Top galloped within a radius of a half a mile around the corral.

The wild sheep were numerous in this portion of the island. These fine animals were large as deer, with horns stronger than those of a ram and with gray fleece blending with long hair like that of argalis.
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The day of hunting proved to be very tiring. What comings and goings, racing backwards and forwards, and all the shouting! Of the hundred wild sheep surrounded, more than two thirds escaped; but, in the end, thirty of these ruminants and a dozen wild goats, driven 
 little by little toward the corral whose open door seemed to offer an outlet, rushed inside and were imprisoned.

In sum, the result was satisfying, and the colonists could not complain. For the most part, these wild sheep were females, several of whom would not be long in giving birth. It was certain that the flock would not only provide wool but also hides in the not too distant future.

That evening, the hunters returned to Granite House exhausted. However, they returned the next day to visit the corral. The prisoners had been trying to turn over the walls of the stockade, but they had not succeeded, and it was not long before they began to calm down.

During the month of February, no other important event occurred. They attended to their daily tasks. At the same time, as they improved the roads to the corral and to Port Balloon, a third was begun from the enclosure to the western shore. The deep woods which covered Serpentine Peninsula were still an unknown portion of Lincoln Island. Gideon Spilett planned on purging from his domain the wild beasts that took refuge there.

Before the return of the cold season, the most careful attention was given to the cultivation of the wild plants that had been transplanted from the forest to Grand View Plateau. Harbert hardly ever returned from an excursion without bringing back some useful vegetable. One day, it was a specimen of the chicoriaceae species whose seed, under pressure, makes an excellent oil; on another day, it was the common sorrel whose antiscorbutic properties are not to be disdained; on another, some of these valuable tubercles which have been cultivated at all times in South America, these potatoes which nowadays count more than 200 species. The kitchen garden, now in good repair, well watered and well defended against birds, was divided into small plots where lettuce, kidney beans, sorrel, turnips, horse-radish, and other cruciferous plants grew. The earth of the plateau was very fertile, and they could hope that the harvest would be abundant.

A variety of beverages was no longer lacking and, on the condition that one did not ask for wine, the most difficult people would have no cause to complain. To the Oswego tea furnished by the didymous monarda and the fermented liqueur extracted from the dragon tree roots, Cyrus Smith had added a real beer; he made it with the young shoots of the “abies nigra”
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 which, after having been boiled and fermented, 
 gave a particularly healthy and pleasant beverage which the Anglo-Americans call “spring beer,”
4

 that is to say, spruce beer.

Toward the end of the summer, the poultry yard possessed a fine pair of bustards who belonged to the “houbara”
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 species characterized by a sort of apron of feathers, a dozen wild ducks whose upper jaw is extended on each side by a membranous appendage, and some magnificent black crested cocks with a wattle and epidermis resembling the cocks of Mozambique, who strutted on the banks of the lake.

Thus, everything was successful thanks to the activity of these courageous and intelligent men. Providence had no doubt done much for them; but faithful to the well-known axiom, they had first helped themselves, and Heaven then helped them accordingly.

At the end of a warm summer’s day, when work was finished and a breeze came up from the sea, they loved to sit at the edge of Grand View Plateau under a sort of veranda covered with climbing plants that Neb built with his own hands. There they chatted, they instructed one another, they made plans, the sailor’s good humor always entertaining this small world in which perfect harmony never ceased to reign.

They also spoke of their country, of the dear and great America. What of the War of Secession? It certainly could not have continued. Surely, Richmond had fallen promptly into the hands of General Grant! The capture of the Confederate capital had to be the last act of this deadly struggle. Now the North had no doubt justly triumphed. Ah! How a newspaper would have been welcomed by the exiles of Lincoln Island! For eleven months, all communication between them and the rest of humanity had been cut off, and soon March 24th would mark the anniversary of the day when the balloon had thrown them on this unknown shore. Then they were only castaways, not even knowing if they could wrest a miserable existence from the elements. Now, thanks to the knowledge of their chief, thanks to their own intelligence, they had become true colonists with arms, tools and instruments, who had transformed to their benefit the animals, plants, and minerals of the island, the three kingdoms of Nature.

Yes! They often spoke of these things and made additional plans for the future!

As for Cyrus Smith, silent for the most part, he listened to his companions 
 more often than he spoke. Now and then, he smiled at some of Harbert’s thoughts or at some of Pencroff’s witticisms but, always and above all, he reflected upon some of the inexplicable events, upon this strange enigma whose secret still escaped him.



CHAPTER IX





T

 he weather changed during the first week of March. There had been a full moon at the beginning of the month, and the heat was excessive. The atmosphere felt charged with electricity, and they feared an extended period of stormy weather.

On March 2nd, thunder boomed with extreme violence. The wind blew from the east, and hail directly attacked the Granite House facade, crackling like a volley of grape-shot. They had to completely seal the door and the window shutters, otherwise all would have been flooded inside the rooms.

Upon seeing these hailstones fall, some the size of a pigeon’s egg, it occurred to Pencroff that his wheatfield was in serious danger. So he ran to his field where the sprouts were already beginning to raise their little green heads and, with a large cloth he protected his harvest. He himself was pelted, but he did not complain.

This bad weather lasted for eight days during which the thunder did not cease. Between storms, they still heard it rumbling beyond the limits of the horizon; then it returned with new fury. The lightning hit several trees on the island, including an enormous pine that grew near the lake at the edge of the forest. Two or three times, the lightning struck the shore, melting the sand and vitrifying it. On recovering these fulgurites, the engineer was led to believe that it would be possible to make thick and sturdy window panes which would resist the wind, rain, and hail.

The colonists, with no pressing work to do outside, took advantage of the bad weather by perfecting the furnishings of Granite House day by day. The engineer made a potter’s wheel which allowed him to turn out several articles for their clothing and for the kitchen, in particular some buttons which they needed badly. A rack was made to hold the weapons which were maintained with extreme care, and 
 neither shelves nor closets left anything to desire. They sawed, they planed, they filed, they turned the potter’s wheel, and, throughout this entire period of bad weather, they heard only the grinding of the tools or the rumbling of the wheel answering the roar of the thunder.
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Pencroff ran to his wheat field.




Master Jup had not been forgotten, and he occupied his own room 
 near the storeroom, a sort of cabin with a cot filled with good litter which suited him perfectly.

“With worthy Jup, never a recrimination,” Pencroff often repeated, “never an improper answer! What a servant, Neb, what a servant!”

“My pupil,” replied Neb, “and soon to be my equal!”

“Your superior,” retorted the sailor laughing, “because you talk and he does not!”

It goes without saying that Jup was now perfectly familiar with all the details of his work. He beat the clothes, he turned the spit, he swept the rooms, he served at the table, he arranged the wood and—a detail which enchanted Pencroff—he never went to sleep without coming to tuck the worthy sailor in his bed.

As for the health of the members of the colony, bipeds or bimanes, quadrumanes or quadrupeds, it left nothing to be desired. With this life in the open air, on this wholesome soil, under this temperate zone, working with body and mind, they could not believe that illness would ever affect them.

All went well. In fact, Harbert had already grown two inches in a year. His appearance was becoming more masculine, and he promised to become a man who was accomplished in body and in spirit. Moreover, he profited by teaching himself during the spare time left to him after his manual labors. He read the few books found in the chest, and, after the practical lessons learned from the very necessity of their situation, he learned about the sciences from the engineer and about languages from the reporter, masters who were pleased to complete his education.

The engineer wished to transmit to the boy all that he knew, to instruct by example as well as by word, and Harbert learned his professor’s lessons well.

“If I die,” thought Cyrus Smith, “it is he who will take my place.”

The storm finally ended around March 9th, but the sky remained covered with clouds during all of this last month of summer. The atmosphere, violently troubled by these electrical disturbances, could not recover its former purity, and it was nearly always rain and fog except for three or four fine days which favored excursions of all sorts.

About this time, the female onager gave birth to a young one which belonged to the same sex as her mother and which did well. At the corral, there was also an increase in the flock, and several lambs 
 were already bleating under the hangars to the great joy of Neb and Harbert who each had their favorites among the new-born.

They also tried to domesticate the peccaries, an attempt which was a complete success. A pen was constructed near the poultry yard, and they soon counted several young in a mood to be civilized and fattened under Neb’s care. Master Jup, responsible for bringing them their daily nourishment, dishwater, kitchen scraps, etc. did this job conscientiously. Now and then, he amused himself at the expense of his young boarders by pulling their tails, but it was mischievousness and not malice because these small wriggling tails amused him like a toy, and his instinct was that of a child.

One day in March, Pencroff, chatting with the engineer, reminded Cyrus Smith of a promise that the latter still had not had time to keep.

“You spoke of a sort of device to replace the long ladders of Granite House, Mister Cyrus,” he said. “Won’t you make it some day?”

“You mean a sort of elevator?” replied Cyrus Smith.

“Let’s call it an elevator, if you wish,” answered the sailor, “the name means nothing provided that it can lift us to our home without fatigue.”

“Nothing will be easier, Pencroff, but would it be useful?”

“Certainly, Mr. Cyrus. Now that we have the necessities, let’s think a little about comfort. For people, it might well be a luxury; but, for things, it is indispensable! It isn’t easy to climb up a long ladder when one is heavily loaded.”

“Well, Pencroff, we’ll try to satisfy you,” replied Cyrus Smith.

“But you don’t have an engine.”

“We’ll make it.”

“A steam engine?”

“No, a water engine.”

In fact, to move his apparatus, a natural force was readily available for the engineer to use without difficulty.

He merely needed to increase the flow of the small diversion from the lake which furnished water to the interior of Granite House. The opening made between the stones and grass at the upper end of the passageway was enlarged producing a strong waterfall at the bottom of the corridor, whose overflow spilled into the inside well. Below the waterfall, the engineer installed a cylinder with paddles which connected to the outside with a strong cable wound around a wheel and 
 supporting a basket. By means of a long rope reaching to the ground, which could engage and disengage with the hydraulic motor, they could raise the basket to the door of Granite House.

It was March 17th when the elevator functioned for the first time and gave universal satisfaction. Henceforth all the loads, the wood, coal, provisions, and the colonists themselves were hoisted by this simple system which replaced the primitive ladder that no one missed. Top was particularly delighted with this improvement because he did not and could not have Master Jup’s skill in climbing ladders, and often he had made the climb to Granite House either on Neb’s back or on that of the orang himself.

About this time, Cyrus Smith also tried to make glass. First he had to adapt the old pottery furnace to this new application. This presented some difficulties, but, after several unproductive attempts, he finally succeeded in adapting it to glassworks, which Gideon Spilett and Harbert, the natural assistants of the engineer, did not leave for several days.

As to the substances that enter into the composition of glass, they are only sand, chalk, and soda (carbonate or sulphate). The shore could furnish the sand, the lime could furnish the chalk, the marine plants could furnish the soda, the pyrites could furnish the sulfuric acid, and the soil could furnish the coal to heat the furnace to the desired temperature. So Cyrus Smith thus found all the materials necessary for the operation.

The tool whose manufacture would offer the most difficulty was the glass blower, an iron tube five or six feet long which would collect the material at one end and keep it in the fused state. But by means of a long and thin sheet of iron which was rolled up like a gun barrel, Pencroff soon succeeded in fashioning this blower.

On March 28th, the furnace was heated up. A substance composed of one hundred parts of sand, thirty five of chalk, forty of sodium sulphate, mixed with two or three parts of powdered coal, was placed in fired clay crucibles. When the high temperature of the furnace had reduced it to the liquid state, or at least to the consistency of a paste, Cyrus Smith collected a certain quantity of it with the blower; he worked and reworked it on a previously-made plate of metal so as to give it a suitable shape for blowing; then he passed the blower to Harbert and told him to blow through the other end.

“Like making soap bubbles?” asked the lad.
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 Pencroff produced the most amusing shapes.




“Exactly,” replied the engineer.

And Harbert, puffing up his cheeks, blew into the blower, taking care to turn it continually. His breath dilated the glassy mass. More fused material was added to the first batch, and it soon resulted in a bubble that measured a foot in diameter. Then Cyrus Smith took the 
 blower from Harbert’s hands and swung it like a pendulum, which elongated the malleable bubble and gave it a cylindrical-conical form.

The blowing operation had thus created a glass cylinder with two hemispherical domes on each end which were easy to detach by means of a sharp iron dipped in cold water; then by the same procedure this cylinder was split along its length. They made it malleable by a second heating, stretched it out on a plate, and flattened it with a wooden roller.

The first pane of glass was thus made, and it was only necessary to repeat the operation fifty times to make fifty panes. The windows of Granite House were shortly provided with transparent panes, not very clear perhaps, but sufficiently transparent.

As for cups, glasses, and bottles, making them was very easy indeed. Regardless of their form, the colonists welcomed whatever came from the end of the blower. Pencroff asked for the privilege of “blowing” when his turn came, and it was a pleasure for him, but he blew so hard that his products took on the most amusing shapes, which he admired greatly.

During one of their excursions, a new tree was discovered whose produce was added to the food supply of the colony. Cyrus Smith and Harbert, while hunting, had ventured one day into the forest of the Far West on the left bank of the Mercy and, as always, the boy asked a thousand questions of the engineer, to which he gladly replied. But they did not have their minds on the hunting and they therefore had no success. Since Cyrus Smith was not a hunter and since Harbert, on the other hand, spoke about chemistry and physics, many a kangaroo, capybara, and agouti within easy reach escaped the lad’s shots. As a result, with the day nearly over, the two hunters would probably have come home empty-handed, when Harbert stopped and uttered a joyous cry:

“Ah! Mr. Cyrus, do you see this tree?”

And he showed him a shrub rather than a tree because it was only composed of a single stem, covered with a scaly bark, which carried striped leaves with small parallel veins.

“And what is this tree which resembles a small palm tree?” asked Cyrus Smith.

“It’s a sago palm whose picture I have in our natural history dictionary.”

“But I don’t see any fruit on this bush.”


 “No, Mr. Cyrus,” replied Harbert, “but its trunk has a flour that nature has already ground for us.”

“It’s a breadfruit tree?”

“Yes! A breadfruit tree!”

“Well, my boy,” replied the engineer, “this is a very valuable discovery while we’re waiting for our wheat harvest. Let’s get to work and I hope that you’re not mistaken.”

Harbert was not mistaken. He broke a stem of a sago which had a glandular texture enclosing a certain quantity of floury pith, traversed by ligneous bundles, separated by rings of the same substance arranged concentrically. This flour was mixed with a gummy sap of disagreeable taste, but it would be easy to remove by pressure. This cellular substance formed an extremely nourishing flour of superior quality whose exportation was formerly prohibited by Japanese laws.

Cyrus Smith and Harbert, after having studied the area of the Far West where the sago grew, took down some reference points and returned to Granite House where they explained their discovery.

The next day, the colonists came to harvest them, and Pencroff, becoming more and more enthusiastic about his island, said to the engineer:

“Mr. Cyrus, do you believe that there are islands for castaways?”

“What do you mean by that, Pencroff?”

“Well, I mean islands created especially for people to be shipwrecked on, where these poor devils can always manage.”

“That’s possible,” replied the engineer, smiling.

“It’s certain, sir,” replied Pencroff, “and it’s all the more certain that Lincoln Island is one of them!”

They returned to Granite House with an ample harvest of sago stems. The engineer made a press to extract the gummy sap mixed with the flour, and he obtained a significant quantity of flour which, in Neb’s hands, were transformed into cakes and puddings. It still was not real wheat bread, but it was close.

During this period, the onager, the goats, and the sheep of the corral furnished daily milk. The cart, or rather a sort of light wagon which replaced it, made frequent trips to the corral. When it was Pencroff’s turn to go, he took Jup along and had him drive it, and Jup, cracking his whip, accomplished this task with his usual intelligence.

Everything was prospering at Granite House and at the corral, and the colonists, though they were far from their native land, truly had 
 nothing to complain of. They had become so well adapted to this life and so accustomed to this island that they would not have left its hospitable soil without regret.

And yet, such is the love of one’s country in the heart of man, that if some vessel had unexpectedly appeared in view of the island, the colonists would have signaled it, they would have attracted its attention, and they would have left! While waiting for this moment, they lived a happy existence, and they feared rather than desired any event which might come to disturb it.

But who could believe that fortune would always be so favorable and never turn against them?

Be that as it may, this Lincoln Island on which the colonists had lived for more than a year was often the subject of their conversation, and one day an observation was made which would later have serious consequences.

It was April 1st, Easter Sunday, which Cyrus Smith and his companions had observed with rest and prayer. It was a fine day, like an October day in the northern hemisphere. After dinner, toward evening, all were gathered under the veranda at the edge of Grand View Plateau, and they looked at night coming on along the horizon. Neb served several cups of this beverage of elder tree berries, which took the place of coffee. They were chatting about the island and its isolated position in the Pacific, when Gideon Spilett was led to say:

“My dear Cyrus, since you’ve had this sextant which we found in the chest, have you taken any more bearings of our island?”

“No,” replied the engineer.

“But wouldn’t it perhaps be wise to do so, with this instrument which is more accurate than the one you used?”

“What’s the good?” said Pencroff. “The island is doing right well where it is!”

“Doubtless,” replied Gideon Spilett, “but the imperfection of the apparatus has affected the accuracy of the observations which can easily be verified exactly …”

“You’re right, my dear Spilett,” replied the engineer, “and I should have made this verification sooner, but, if I have committed some error, it shouldn’t be more than 5° in longitude or in latitude.”

“Well, who knows?” replied the reporter, “who knows if we aren’t much nearer to inhabited land than we think?”

“We’ll know tomorrow,” answered Cyrus Smith, “and we would 
 know it already if it weren’t for all those occupations which left me no leisure time.”
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They chatted about the island and its remoteness.




“Fine!” said Pencroff. “Mr. Cyrus is too good an observer to be mistaken, and, if the island has not budged from its place, then it’s just where he put it.”


 “We’ll see.”

The next day, the engineer made the necessary observations with the sextant to verify the coordinates that he had already obtained and this was the result:

His first observation had given him the following for the position of Lincoln Island:

In west longitude: from 150° to 155°

In south latitude: from 30° to 35°

The second observation gave exactly:

In west longitude: 150° 30′

In south latitude: 34° 57′

So, in spite of the imperfection of his apparatus, Cyrus Smith had calculated with such precision that his error had not exceeded five degrees.

“Now,” said Gideon Spilett, “since we possess an atlas as well as a sextant, let’s see, my dear Cyrus, the exact position that Lincoln Island occupies in the Pacific.”

Harbert went to find the atlas, which had been published in France and which consequently was written in the French language.

They opened up the map of the Pacific, and the engineer, compass in hand, prepared to determine its position.

Suddenly the compass stopped in his hand and he said:

“But an island already exists in this part of the Pacific!”

“An island,” cried Pencroff.

“Ours, doubtless,” replied Gideon Spilett.

“No,” replied Cyrus Smith. “This island is situated at 153° longitude and 37° 11′ latitude, at two and a half degrees further west and two degrees further south than Lincoln Island.”

“And what island is this?” asked Harbert.

“Tabor Island.”

“An important island?”

“No, a small islet lost in the Pacific, and which has likely never been visited.”

“Well, we’ll visit it,” said Pencroff.

“We?”

“Yes, Mr. Cyrus. We’ll construct a decked boat and I’ll be in charge of sailing it. At what distance are we from this Tabor Island?”

“About 150 miles to the northeast,” replied Cyrus Smith.


 “150 miles! What’s that?” replied Pencroff. “In forty-eight hours and with a good wind, we’ll be there!”

“But what would be the use?” asked the reporter.

“We don’t know yet. We’d have to see it first!”

And, following this response, they decided to construct a seaworthy boat that would take to the sea in October when good weather returned.



CHAPTER X





W

 hen Pencroff got a plan in his head, he could not rest until it was carried out. He wanted to visit Tabor Island and, since a boat of a certain size was necessary for this trip, he would construct such a boat.

The following is the blueprint which was drawn up by the engineer in agreement with the sailor.

The keel of the boat would measure thirty five feet and the beam nine feet—which would make it a fast vessel provided its bottom and underwater lines were well made—and it would not draw more than six feet, a level of water sufficient to prevent leeward drift. It would be decked along its entire length, pierced by two hatchways which would give access to two cabins separated by a partition, and rigged as a sloop with a spanker, a staysail, a foresail, a forestaysail, and a jib. These are very manageable sails which do well in squalls and hold firm when close-hauled. Finally, its hull would be carvel-built, i.e., the planking would be flush instead of overlapped. As for its ribs, they would be heat-pressed into place after adjusting the planking, which would be mounted on dummy frames.

What wood would be employed in the construction of this boat, elm or fir, both being abundant on the island? They decided on the fir, a wood which is a little “cracked,”
1

 as the carpenters would say, but easy to work, and which can withstand the water as well as the elm.

These details concluded, it was decided, since the return of good weather was six months away, that only Cyrus Smith and Pencroff would work on the boat. Gideon Spilett and Harbert would continue to hunt, and neither Neb nor Master Jup, his assistant, would abandon the domestic activity that had become their responsibility.
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 A keel, thirty-five feet in length.





 As soon as the trees had been chosen, they were felled, their branches removed, and they were sawed into planks. Eight days later, in a recess of land between the Chimneys and the wall, a shipyard was built; a keel thirty five feet in length, with a sternpost at the rear and a stem up front, was stretched out on the sand.

Cyrus Smith was not treading in the dark in this new activity. He knew as much about maritime construction as he knew about nearly everything else, and first he made the design for the boat on paper. Moreover, he was ably seconded by Pencroff, who had worked for several years in a Brooklyn shipyard and knew the trade well. It was only after hard calculations and mature thought that the dummy frames were fitted to the keel.

Pencroff was all afire to complete his new enterprise, and he didn’t wish to abandon it for a moment. Only one thing could tear him away from his shipyard, and only for a day. It was the second harvest of wheat, which was done on April 15th. It was as successful as the first and yielded the proportion of grain previously estimated.

“Five bushels, Mr. Cyrus,” said Pencroff, after scrupulously measuring his riches.

“Five bushels,” replied the engineer, “and at one hundred thirty thousand grains per bushel, that makes six hundred fifty thousand grains.”

“Well, we’ll sow it all this time,” said the sailor, “less a little reserve, however.”

“Yes, Pencroff, and if the coming harvest gives a proportional yield, we’ll have four thousand bushels.”

“And we’ll eat bread?”

“We’ll eat bread.”

“But we’ll have to make a mill.”

“We’ll make a mill.”

The third wheatfield was far more extensive than the first two, and the ground, prepared with extreme care, received the precious seed. That done, Pencroff returned to his work.

During this time, Gideon Spilett and Harbert hunted in the neighborhood. They ventured rather deeply into the still unknown parts of the Far West, their guns loaded with shot, ready for any unpleasant encounter. They found an inextricable tangle of magnificent trees 
 growing close against each other because of a lack of space. The exploration of these thick wooded masses was difficult, and the reporter never went there without carrying the pocket compass; because the sun could hardly be seen through the thick branches, it would have been hard to find one’s way. It happened, naturally, that game was more rare in these regions where there was little liberty of movement. However, three large herbivores were killed during these last two weeks of April. These were koalas, which the colonists had already seen to the north of the lake, who stupidly allowed themselves to be killed among the large branches of some trees on which they had sought refuge. Their hides were brought to Granite House and, with the aid of sulfuric acid, were tanned and made usable.

A discovery, quite valuable from a different point of view, was also made during one of these excursions thanks to Gideon Spilett.

It was April 30th. The two hunters had pushed their way into the southwest of the Far West when the reporter, preceding Harbert by some fifty paces, arrived at a sort of clearing in which the trees, less tightly spaced, were penetrated by sunlight.

At first, Gideon Spilett was surprised by the odor emanating from certain plants with straight cylindrical branchy stems which produced very small clustered berries. The reporter tore off one or two of these stems and returned to the lad, saying to him:

“What can this be, Harbert?”

“And where did you find this plant, Mister Spilett?”

“There, in the clearing, where it’s growing abundantly.”

“Well, Mr. Spilett,” said Harbert, “this is a discovery that will assure you of Pencroff’s eternal gratitude.”

“It’s tobacco then?”

“Yes, and if it is not of the first quality, it’s nonetheless tobacco.”

“Ah! Worthy Pencroff! How happy he’ll be! But he will not smoke it all, the devil! He’ll give us our share!”

“Ah! I have an idea, Mr. Spilett,” replied Harbert. “Let’s not say anything to Pencroff. We’ll take the time to prepare these leaves and then, one fine day, we’ll present him with a full pipe.”

“And on that day, Harbert, our good friend will have nothing more to wish for in this world!”

The reporter and the boy took a sizeable quantity of the precious plant, and they returned to Granite House where they “smuggled” it 
 in with as much precaution as if Pencroff had been the most severe of customs inspectors.

Cyrus Smith and Neb were taken into confidence, and the sailor suspected nothing during the rather long time that was needed for drying the leaves, chopping them up, and subjecting them to a certain torrefaction over some hot stones. This required two months, but all these procedures were done without Pencroff’s knowledge because, occupied with the construction of the boat, he only returned to Granite House when it was time to go to bed.

One time, however, his favorite activity was interrupted, on May 1st, by a fishing adventure in which all the colonists took part.

For several days, they had observed an enormous animal swimming in the waters of Lincoln Island, two or three miles out to sea. It was a whale of the largest size, belonging to a southern species called “Cape Whale.”

“How lucky it would be if we could get hold of it,” exclaimed the sailor. “Ah! If we had a suitable boat and a working harpoon, I would say: ‘Let’s chase the beast! It’s well worth the trouble!’”

“Well, Pencroff,” said Gideon Spilett, “I would like to see you handle the harpoon. That would be interesting.”

“Very interesting and not without danger,” said the engineer, “but, since we don’t have the means to attack this animal, it’s useless for us to preoccupy ourselves with it.”

“I am astonished,” said the reporter, “to see a whale in this relatively high latitude.”

“Why so, Mr. Spilett?” asked Harbert. “We are precisely in that part of the Pacific that British and American fisherman call the “Whale Field.” It’s here, between New Zealand and South America, that the whales of the southern hemisphere are encountered in the greatest number.”

“Nothing is more true,” replied Pencroff, “and what surprises me is that we’ve not seen any others. But this is of little importance since we can’t get near it.”

And Pencroff returned to his work, but not without a sigh of regret because in every sailor there is a fisherman, and if the pleasure of fishing is in direct ratio to the size of the animal, one can image what a whaler feels in the presence of a whale.

Further, it was not only for the sheer pleasure of the hunt. They 
 all recognized that such a prey would be very profitable to the colony because of the oil, the blubber, and the whalebones which would be of great use.
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“What a monster!” exclaimed Neb.




The whale seemed to have no wish to leave the waters of the island. Harbert and Gideon Spilett, when they were not hunting, and Neb 
 while watching his stoves, did not leave the telescope and observed all the movements of the animal, either from the windows of Granite House or from Grand View Plateau. The cetacean, remaining in Union Bay, rapidly plowed its waters from Cape Mandible to Cape Claw, propelled by its very powerful caudal fin at a speed that sometimes approached up to twelve miles per hour. Sometimes it also approached so near to the island that they could observe it in detail. It was definitely a southern whale, entirely black, and its head was more slumped than that of the northern whale.

They also saw it spouting through its blow-holes, a high cloud of water vapor … or perhaps water, because, strange as it seems, naturalists and whalers are still not in agreement on this subject. Is it air or is it water which is ejected? It is generally admitted that it is vapor which, condensing upon sudden contact with the cold air, then falls down as droplets of rain.

However, the presence of this marine mammal preoccupied the colonists. It especially agitated Pencroff and distracted him during his work. He ended by yearning for this whale like something forbidden to a child. At night, he talked about it in his sleep, and if he had had the means to attack it, if the boat had been ready to take to sea, he would not have hesitated to go out in pursuit.

But what the colonists could not do, chance did for them. On May 3rd, Neb’s shouts from his kitchen window announced that the whale was stranded on the shore.

Harbert and Gideon Spilett, who were about to go hunting, left their guns, Pencroff threw away his ax, Cyrus Smith and Neb joined their companions, and everyone quickly ran to where the whale was beached.

The stranding occurred at Flotsam Point, three miles from Granite House, at high tide. It was likely that the cetacean could not easily disentangle himself, but they had to hurry in order to cut off its retreat if this should become necessary. They ran with picks and iron spears, crossed the bridge over the Mercy, descended the right bank of the river, took to the shore, and, in less than twenty minutes, the colonists were near the enormous animal above which a host of birds already swarmed.

“What a monster!” exclaimed Neb.

The expression was appropriate because this was a southern whale, eighty feet long, a giant of its species, which would weigh about 
 one hundred fifty thousand pounds. However, the stranded monster did not move nor did it struggle to get back to the sea while it was still high tide. The colonists soon had the explanation for its immobility when, at low tide, they were able to go around the animal.

It was dead, with a harpoon protruding from its left side.

“So there are whalers in our waters?” Gideon Spilett immediately observed.

“Why do you say that?” asked the sailor.

“Since this harpoon is still there …”

“Ah! Mr. Spilett, that proves nothing,” replied Pencroff. “Whales can travel thousands of miles with a harpoon in their sides, and this one could have been struck in the North Atlantic and come to die in the South Pacific. That would not be surprising!”

“However …,” said Gideon Spilett, not satisfied with Pencroff’s answer.

“That’s perfectly possible,” replied Cyrus Smith, “but let’s examine this harpoon. Perhaps, as is customary, the whalers have engraved the name of their vessel on it.”

Pencroff pulled out the harpoon from the animal’s side and read this inscription on it:

Maria-Stella

Vineyard
2



“A vessel from the Vineyard! A vessel from my country!” he shouted. “The Maria-Stella! A fine whaler, believe me! I know that ship! Ah! My friends, a vessel from the Vineyard, a whaler from the Vineyard.”

And the sailor, brandishing the harpoon, repeated with emotion this name which had touched his heart, this name from his native land.

But since they could not wait for the Maria-Stella to come and reclaim the harpooned animal, they decided to cut it up before it began to decompose. Various birds of prey, who had been watching this rich quarry for several days, wanted to take possession of it without further delay, and they had to scare them away with gunshots.

This whale was a female whose breasts would furnish a large quantity of milk which, in the opinion of the naturalist Dieffenbach,
3

 can pass as cow’s milk, since it differs from it neither in taste, color, or density.


 Pencroff had formerly served on a whaling vessel and he was able to supervise the butchering—a rather unpleasant operation which lasted three days, but which none of the colonists avoided, not even Gideon Spilett whom, as the sailor said, would eventually become “a very good castaway.”

The blubber, cut into parallel slices two and a half feet thick, then divided into pieces weighing a thousand pounds each, was melted in large earthen vases carried to the very spot—because they did not want to smell up the approaches to Grand View Plateau—and, through this process, it lost about a third of its weight. But there were lavish quantities: the tongue alone gave 6,000 pounds of oil and the lower lip 4,000. Then, along with this blubber which would provide stearin and glycerin for a long time, they still had the whalebones which would find several uses though there were no umbrellas or corsets at Granite House. The upper part of the mouth of the cetacean was furnished, on both sides, with 800 elastic horned blades of a fibrous texture and tapered like two large combs with teeth six feet long, used to catch the thousands of animalcule, small fishes, and mollusks on which the whale fed.

With the operation completed to the great satisfaction of the operators, the remains of the animal were then left to the birds, who would soon make every last vestige of it disappear. And the daily work routine was then resumed at Granite House.

However, before returning to the shipyard, Cyrus Smith had the idea of making certain contrivances which excited the curiosity of his companions. He took a dozen of the whalebones and cut them into six equal parts, sharpening their ends.

“To what use will you put these, Mister Cyrus?” asked Harbert.

“To kill wolves, foxes, and even jaguars,” replied the engineer.

“Now?”

“No, this winter, when we have ice.”

“I don’t understand” replied Harbert.

“You will understand, my child,” replied the engineer. “This device is not my invention, and it is frequently used by Aleutian hunters in Russian America. These slivers of whalebone that you see, my friends, when it’s below freezing, I’ll bend them, sprinkle them with water until they are entirely coated with a layer of ice which will keep them curved, and then I’ll scatter them on the snow after covering them with a layer of blubber. Now, what will happen if a hungry animal 
 swallows one of these? The heat from his stomach will melt the ice and the whalebone will expand and pierce it with its sharp ends.”

“That’s ingenious!” said Pencroff.

“And it will save us powder and shot!” replied Cyrus Smith.

“This will be better than traps!” added Neb.

“Let’s wait then for winter!”

“Yes, let’s wait for winter.”

Meanwhile, the construction of the boat was progressing well, and, toward the end of the month, half of the planking was completed. Already they could see that it would have an excellent shape and that it would take well to the sea.

Pencroff worked with unparalleled zest, and his robust nature resisted all fatigue. But his companions were secretly preparing a reward for his toil, and on May 31st he experienced one of the greatest joys of his life.

On this day, when he finished dinner and was about to leave the table, Pencroff felt a hand on his shoulder.

It was the hand of Gideon Spilett who said to him:

“One moment, Master Pencroff, don’t leave just yet! You’ve forgotten your dessert.”

“Thanks, Mr. Spilett,” replied the sailor, “I’m returning to work.”

“Well, a cup of coffee, my friend?”

“Nothing else.”

“A pipe then?”

Pencroff stood up suddenly, and his fine homely face paled when he saw the reporter presenting him with a pipe full of tobacco and Harbert offering him a light.

Speechless, the sailor seized the pipe and carried it to his lips, lit it, and drew five or six long puffs one after another.

A fragrant, bluish cloud filled the air, and from within the depths of this cloud, they heard a delirious voice which kept repeating:

“Tobacco! Real tobacco!”

“Yes, Pencroff,” replied Cyrus Smith, “and excellent tobacco at that!”

“Oh! Divine Providence! Sacred Author of all things!” shouted the sailor. “Nothing is lacking on our island!”

And Pencroff smoked and smoked and smoked.

“And who made this discovery?” he finally asked. “You, Harbert, no doubt?”
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 “Tobacco! Real tobacco!”





 “No, Pencroff, it was Mr. Spilett.”

“Mr. Spilett!” exclaimed the sailor, squeezing the chest of the reporter who had never before experienced such an embrace.

“Oof! Pencroff,” replied Gideon Spilett, recovering his breath which, for a moment, had been cut off, “give a share of your thanks to Harbert who recognized this plant, to Cyrus who prepared it, and to Neb who took great pains to guard our secret!”

“Well, my friends, I will repay you some day!” answered the sailor. “In life and death, I am eternally grateful to you!”



CHAPTER XI





W

 inter arrived with the month of June which is December in the northern hemisphere and the main occupation was making warm and sturdy clothing.

The sheep at the corral had been divested of their wool, and it was now a matter of transforming this valuable textile material into fabric.

It goes without saying that Cyrus Smith, not having either a carding machine, nor a wool-combing machine, nor a smoothing machine, nor a drawing machine, nor a twisting machine, nor a “Mule-Jenny,”
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 nor a “self-acting” machine to spin the wool, nor a loom to weave it with, had to proceed in a simpler way that would save time in the spinning and weaving. In fact, he intended simply to make use of the property that wool filaments have when pressed in all directions, that of becoming entangled and criss-crossed into a material called felt. This felt could be obtained by a simple pressing, an operation which, although it diminished the softness of the fabric, significantly increased its heat insulating properties. The wool furnished by the sheep was made of very short strands which was good for felting.

The engineer, aided by his companions including Pencroff—who had to abandon his boat once more—began the preliminary operations of ridding the wool of its oily and greasy substance called suint. This degreasing was done by immersing the wool in wash-tubs for twenty four hours at a temperature of seventy degrees. Then it was thoroughly washed in a soda bath. Later it would be squeezed dry, 
 becoming compressed and producing a firm felt, rather rough and doubtless of no value in the industrial centers of Europe or America but which would be highly appreciated in the “markets of Lincoln Island.”

This kind of material has been known from the earliest times, and the first wool fabric was made by this very procedure that Cyrus Smith was going to use.

His abilities as an engineer would be needed in the construction of a machine to press the wool, because he knew how to take advantage of the unused mechanical force inherent in the water falling on the beach to power a pressing machine.

Nothing was more rudimentary. A shaft, provided with lifters which would raise and lower vertical hammers on each revolution, troughs to receive the wool on which the hammers would fall, a strong timber housing to support the entire system and hold it together: such was their machine and such it has been throughout the centuries, until the hammers were replaced by compressing cylinders which no longer subjected the material to a beating but to a real rolling action.

The operation, well supervised by Cyrus Smith, succeeded exactly as they had hoped. The wool, soaked in a soapy solution intended on the one hand to facilitate its sliding, compression, and softening and, on the other hand, to prevent its alteration from the beating, left the mill as a thick layer of felt. The streaks and coarseness with which the strands of wool are naturally provided were so well intertwined with one another that they formed a fabric equally suited to making clothing as well as blankets. It obviously was not merino, nor muslin, nor Scottish cashmere, nor worsted, nor repp, nor Chinese satin, nor Orleans cloth, nor alpaca, nor flannel! It was “lincolnian felt,” and Lincoln Island now had one more industry.

Thus, with good clothing and thick blankets, the colonists could face the winter of 1866–67 without fear.

The severe cold began to really bear down around June 20th, and to his great regret, Pencroff had to suspend the construction of the boat which would certainly be finished before the following spring.

The sailor’s obsession was to make a reconnaissance trip to Tabor Island, although Cyrus Smith did not approve of such a voyage for curiosity’s sake because there evidently was nothing useful to find on this semi-arid and deserted rock. A voyage of 150 miles in a relatively 
 small boat on an unknown sea could only cause him apprehension. If the vessel, once at sea, could not reach Tabor Island and, if it could not return to Lincoln Island, what would become of it in this Pacific so full of disasters?

Cyrus Smith often spoke about this project with Pencroff, and he found in the sailor a strange stubbornness to make this voyage, a stubbornness which he was perhaps not fully aware of himself.

One day the engineer said to him, “My friend, after having said so many nice things about Lincoln Island, after having indicated so many times that you would be sorry to leave it, you’re the first to want to go!”

“To leave it for several days only,” replied Pencroff. “For several days only, Mr. Cyrus! Time to come and go, to see what’s on the islet.”

“But it can’t be as good as Lincoln Island!”

“I know that in advance.”

“Then why venture there?”

“To know what is happening on Tabor Island.”

“But nothing happens there! Nothing can happen there.”

“Who knows?”

“And what if you’re caught in a storm?”

“We needn’t fear that in the spring,” replied Pencroff. “But, Mr. Cyrus, since we must think of everything, I ask your permission to take Harbert with me on this voyage.”

“Pencroff,” replied the engineer, placing his hand on the sailor’s shoulder, “do you think that we could ever forgive ourselves if some harm came to you or to this lad whom chance has made our son?”

“Mr. Cyrus,” replied Pencroff with firm confidence, “we won’t cause you such chagrin. Besides, we’ll speak again about this voyage when the time comes to make it. By then, I imagine, when you see our boat well rigged, with good topsides, when you see how well it takes to the sea, when we make a tour of our island—because we’ll do it together—I imagine, as I said, that you’ll no longer hesitate to let me leave. I will not hide from you that your boat will be a real masterpiece!”

“At least say ‘our boat,’ Pencroff,” replied the engineer, momentarily disarmed.

The conversation ended in this way, to begin again later without changing the mind of either the sailor or the engineer.

The first snow fell toward the end of June. Earlier, the corral had 
 been well provisioned, and daily visits were no longer necessary. But it was decided that they would not let a week go by without returning there.

The traps were set again, and they tried out the devices made by Cyrus Smith. The whalebones were bent, encased in a sheath of ice, covered with a thick layer of blubber and placed at the edge of the forest where animals usually passed on their way to the lake.

To the great satisfaction of the engineer, this invention, repeatedly used by Aleutian fishermen, succeeded perfectly. A dozen foxes, some wild boars, and even a jaguar were taken. They found these animals dead, their stomachs pierced by the straightened whalebones.

It was around this time that the colonists made their first attempt to communicate with their fellow men.

Gideon Spilett had already thought several times either of throwing into the sea a message enclosed in a bottle which the current could perhaps carry to some inhabited shore, or to entrust it to a pigeon. But how could they seriously hope that pigeons or bottles could cross the distance which separated the island from land 1200 miles away? It was pure folly. But on June 30th they captured an albatross which Harbert’s shot had slightly wounded in the leg. It was a magnificent bird of that family of great flyers whose extended wings measure ten feet and who can cross seas as wide as the Pacific.

Harbert would have preferred to keep this superb bird whose wound had promptly healed; he intended to tame it. But Gideon Spilett made him understand that they could not neglect this opportunity to try to correspond, by means of this courier, with the lands of the Pacific. Harbert had to agree because, if the albatross had come from some inhabited region, he would surely return there when he was set free.

Perhaps, deep down, Gideon Spilett, still a newsman at heart, was not unhappy to entrust to the four winds an article about the adventures of the colonists of Lincoln Island. What fame for the New York Herald
 reporter as well as for the issue that contained the story if ever it reached the address of its editor, the honorable John Bennett!
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Gideon Spilett wrote a concise article which he put into a strong bag of gummed cloth, with an earnest request to anyone who should find it, that it be forwarded to the offices of the New York Herald.
 This small sack was attached to the neck of the albatross rather than its foot because these birds are in the habit of resting on the surface of the sea; then this rapid messenger of the skies was set free, and it was not without some emotion that the colonists saw it disappear far into the haze in the west.
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 A small bag was attached to the albatross’s neck.





 “Where’s he going?” asked Pencroff.

“To New Zealand,” replied Harbert.

“Bon voyage!” shouted the sailor who did not expect any great result from this method of correspondence.

With the winter, work was resumed inside Granite House, mending the clothes and making sails for the boat which were cut from the seemingly inexhaustible envelope of the balloon.

During the month of July, the cold was intense but they spared neither wood nor coal. Cyrus Smith had installed a second chimney in the great hall, and they passed the long evenings there. Chatting while they worked and reading when not working, the time passed profitably for everyone.

It was a real satisfaction for the colonists when, in this room well lighted by candles, well heated by coal, after a good dinner followed by steaming cups filled with elderberry coffee and the fragrant smoke of their pipes, they heard the tempest roaring outside! Their sense of well-being was complete, if such well-being could ever truly exist for those who are far away from their fellow men and cut off from all contact with them. They often chatted about their country, of the friends they had left behind, of the grandeur of the American republic whose influence in the world would only increase. And Cyrus Smith, who had been very involved with the affairs of the Union, offered stories, observations, and predictions which keenly interested his listeners.

One day, while listening to him, Gideon Spilett had occasion to say:

“But in the end, my dear Cyrus, all this industrial and commercial development which you predict will continually grow, is it not in danger of coming to a complete halt sooner or later?”

“To a halt? And why so?”

“By a lack of coal which can rightly be called the most precious of minerals.”

“Yes, indeed the most precious,” replied the engineer, “and it seems to me that Nature wished to emphasize this by creating from it the diamond, which is pure carbon alone in the crystallized state.”

“You don’t mean, Mister Cyrus,” added Pencroff, “that they’ll burn diamonds the way coal is burned in furnaces?”
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 The time passed profitably for everyone.





 “No, my friend,” replied Cyrus Smith.

“Nevertheless,” said Gideon Spilett “you can’t deny that one day all the coal will be used up.”

“The world’s coal deposits are still considerable, and a hundred thousand miners removing five million metric tons annually do not come close to exhausting them.”

“But, with an increase in the consumption of coal,” replied Gideon Spilett, “it is foreseeable that these one hundred thousand will soon become two hundred thousand and double that amount will be mined.”

“Doubtless; but after the mines of Europe, which new machines will soon exploit to even greater depths, the mines of America and Australia will continue to furnish the needs of industry for a long time to come.”

“How long?” asked the reporter.

“At least 250 or 300 years.”

“That’s reassuring for us,” replied Pencroff, “but rather disturbing for our descendants!”

“They’ll find something else,” said Harbert.

“I hope so,” replied Gideon Spilett, “because without coal, no more machines, and without machines, no more railroads, no more steamships, no more factories, no more of those basics that are essential to the progress of modern life.”

“But what will they find to replace it with?” asked Pencroff. “Can you imagine that, Mr. Cyrus?”

“I believe so, my friend.”

“And what will they burn in the place of coal?”

“Water,” replied Cyrus Smith.

“Water!” exclaimed Pencroff. “Water to heat steamships and locomotives, water to heat water?”

“Yes, but water decomposed into its basic elements,” replied Cyrus Smith, “by means of electricity which will have become a powerful and manageable force, because all great discoveries, by some unexplainable law, seem to coincide and complement each other at the same time. Yes, my friends, I believe that water will one day serve as our fuel, that the hydrogen and oxygen which compose it, used alone or together, will supply an inexhaustible source of heat and light,
3

 burning with an intensity that coal cannot equal. One day, in the place of coal, the coal bunkers of steamers and the tenders of locomotives 
 will be loaded with these two compressed gases which will burn in furnaces with an enormous heating power. So there is nothing to fear. As long as this earth is inhabited, it will provide for the needs of its inhabitants, and neither light nor heat will ever be lacking for the continued growth of the vegetable, mineral, and animal kingdoms. I believe that when the coal mines have been exhausted, we will both heat and be heated with water. Water is the coal of the future.”

“I would like to see that!” said the sailor.

“You came of age too soon, Pencroff,” replied Neb, who entered into the discussion with only these few words.

It was not, however, Neb’s words which ended the conversation but Top’s sudden barking, carrying the peculiar tone that had previously concerned the engineer. Top began to pace around the opening of the well located at the end of the inner corridor.

“Why is Top barking that way again?” asked Pencroff.

“And Jup growling so?” added Harbert.

Indeed the orang, along with the dog, gave unmistakable signs of agitation, and, curiously, these two animals appeared to be more alarmed than irritated.

“It’s obvious,” said Gideon Spilett, “that this well is in direct contact with the sea and that some marine animal comes from time to time to breathe at the bottom.”

“That must be so,” replied the sailor, “because there’s no other explanation that can account for it … Quiet down, Top!” added Pencroff, turning toward the dog. “And you, Jup, go to your room!”

The ape and the dog became silent. Jup went to bed, but Top remained in the room and continued to make muffled grunts throughout the evening.

No more attention was given to this incident. But it worried the engineer.

During the remainder of the month of July, the weather alternated between rain and cold. The temperature did not drop as far as it had the preceding winter, no lower than eight degrees Fahrenheit. But if this winter was less frigid, it was also swept by more tempests and windstorms. Once again, violent assaults by the sea jeopardized the Chimneys. It almost seemed as if a powerful underwater force, created by some convulsion beneath the surface, lifted these monstrous waves and threw them against the wall of Granite House.

When the colonists, looking down from their windows, saw these 
 enormous masses of water crashing before their eyes, they could not but admire the magnificent spectacle of the ocean’s fury, unable to reach them. The waves broke asunder in mountains of dazzling foam, the beach completely disappeared under this angry deluge, and the cliff seemed to emerge from the sea itself, whose sprays rose to a height of over 100 feet.

During these storms, it was difficult, even dangerous, to venture out on the island’s trails because trees were constantly falling. Nevertheless, the colonists did not let a week pass without visiting the corral. This enclosure, fortunately sheltered by the southern spur of Mount Franklin, did not suffer much from the violence of the storm which spared the trees, the sheds, and the fence. But the poultry yard, built on Grand View Plateau and directly exposed to the winds from the east, received considerable damage. The roof of the pigeon house was twice ripped away, and the fence was also demolished. They had to rebuild everything more sturdily, for it was clear that Lincoln Island was situated in the worst waters of the Pacific. Indeed, it seemed that the island formed the central point of a vast cyclone which whipped it like a spinning top. Only, in this case, it was the top that was stationary and the whip that spun round it.

During the first week of August, the squalls abated little by little, and the atmosphere recovered the calm that it seemed to have lost forever. With the calm, the temperature dropped, the frigid cold returned, and the thermometer fell to eight degrees Fahrenheit below zero.

On August 3rd, an excursion which had been planned for several days was made to the southeast of the island toward Tadorn Marsh. The hunters were drawn by the waterfowl which had established their winter quarters there. Wild duck, snipe, pintail, teal, and grebe were in abundance there, and it was decided that they would spend the day hunting these birds.

Not only Gideon Spilett and Harbert, but Pencroff and Neb also took part in the expedition. Only Cyrus Smith, on the pretext of some work, remained at Granite House.

The hunters promised to return in the evening and took the Port Balloon Road to reach the marshes. Top and Jup accompanied them. After they passed over the Mercy Bridge, the engineer raised it and returned with the thought of doing something which he wanted to do alone.


 His plan was to minutely explore the inside of the well whose orifice opened at the level of Granite House and which communicated with the sea.

Why did Top pace so often around this orifice? Why these strange barks when a sort of uneasiness drew him toward the well? Why did Jup share Top’s anxiety? Did this well have other tunnels in addition to the one connected to the sea? Did it extend out to other portions of the island? This is what Cyrus Smith wanted to discover and, at least for the present, to be the only one to know. On this occasion, therefore, he decided to explore the well while his companions were away.

It was easy to descend to the bottom of the well by using the rope ladder that had not been in service since the installation of the elevator and whose length was sufficient. The engineer dragged the ladder up to the opening, whose diameter measured about six feet, and he let it unfurl after firmly securing its upper end. Then, lighting a lantern, taking a revolver, and putting a cutlass into his belt, he descended the first rungs. The wall was solid throughout; but there were several projections of rock here and there and by means of these projections it would have been possible for an agile person to climb up to the well’s opening.

The engineer made a mental note of this; but, on casting the light of his lantern on these projections, he could discern no footprint nor any fracture which would make him think that it had been used as a staircase either recently or in the past.

Cyrus Smith descended deeper, lighting up every part of the wall.

He saw nothing suspicious there.

When the engineer reached the lowest rungs of the ladder, he encountered the surface of the water which was then perfectly calm. Neither at this level nor at any other part of the well was there any lateral corridor branching out through the rock. The wall, which Cyrus Smith struck with the handle of his cutlass, sounded solid—solid granite through which no living being could make his way. In order to reach the bottom of the well and then ascend to its opening above, it would be necessary to travel through the submerged channel, which led to the sea through the rocky subsoil under the beach, a feat possible only for marine animals. As to the question of where the channel ran, at what point on the shore and at what depth under the waves, that could not be determined.
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 He saw nothing suspicious.




Having completed his exploration, Cyrus Smith then climbed back up, drew up the ladder, and covered the opening of the well. As he returned to the large hall of Granite House, he was very pensive, saying to himself,

“I have seen nothing, yet something is there.”

by saying:

 
CHAPTER XII





T

 hat same evening the hunters returned literally loaded down with game. They carried all that four men could carry. Top had a string of pintail around his neck and Jup a belt of snipe around his body.

“Here master,” exclaimed Neb, “here’s something to employ our time with! Preserves, pies, we’ll have plenty to choose from! But someone must help me. I am counting on you, Pencroff.”

“No, Neb,” replied the sailor, “the job of rigging the boat will take all my time, and you must do without me.”

“And you, Mr. Harbert?”

“Me, Neb, I must go to the corral tomorrow,” replied the lad.

“Then will it be you, Mr. Spilett, who will help me?”

“To oblige you, Neb, I will,” replied the reporter. “But I warn you that, if you reveal your recipes to me, I’ll publish them!”

“Whenever you choose, Mr. Spilett!” answered Neb. “Whenever you choose!”

And that was how, the next day, Gideon Spilett became Neb’s assistant and joined him in his culinary laboratory. Earlier, the engineer had explained to the reporter the results of the exploration he had made the day before, and the reporter agreed with Cyrus Smith that although nothing was found, a secret still remained.

The cold persisted for yet another week, and the colonists did not leave Granite House except to look after the poultry yard. The dwelling was filled with fragrant odors emitted by the talents of Neb and the reporter; but not all of the products of the marsh hunt were transformed into preserves and, since the game kept well in this intense cold, the wild ducks and others were eaten fresh and declared superior to all other waterfowl of the known world.

During this week, Pencroff, aided by Harbert who was skillful with the sailmaker’s needle, worked with such ardor that the boat’s sails were completed. There was no lack of hemp rope, thanks to the rigging which had been recovered from the balloon. The cables and the cordage of the net made excellent rope which the sailor put to good use. The sails had their edges stitched with strong bolt-ropes, and there still remained enough to make halyards, shrouds, sheets, etc. As to the tackles, Cyrus Smith made the necessary pulleys, with Pencroff’s 
 counsel, by means of a lathe that he had set up for this purpose. And so the rigging was completely ready before the boat was finished. Pencroff even made a red, white, and blue flag whose colors had been furnished by tinctorial plants which were very abundant on the island. Except that, instead of the thirty seven stars representing the thirty seven states of the Union which adorn the flags of American yachts, the sailor had added a thirty eighth, the star of “Lincoln State,” because he considered his island already a part of the great republic.

“Since,” said he, “it is in spirit, if not yet in fact!”

The flag was unfurled at the main window of Granite House and the colonists saluted it with three hurrahs.

Meanwhile, the end of the cold season neared, and it seemed that this second winter would pass without any serious incident when, during the night of August 11th, Grand View Plateau was threatened with complete devastation.

After a very full day, the colonists were in a deep sleep when, about four o’clock in the morning, they were awakened by Top’s barking.

This time, the dog was not barking near the well’s opening but at the threshold of the door, and he threw himself upon it as if he wanted to push it open. Jup, too, uttered sharp cries.

“What, Top?” shouted Neb, who was the first to awaken.

But the dog continued to bark more furiously.

“What’s the matter?” asked Cyrus Smith.

Everyone dressed hurriedly and ran to open the room’s windows.

Below them was a layer of snow whose whiteness was barely perceptible in this very dark night. The colonists saw nothing, but they heard strange barks coming from the darkness. It was evident that the shore had been invaded by a certain number of animals that they could not distinguish.

“What are they?” exclaimed Pencroff.

“Wolves, jaguars, or apes!” replied Neb.

“Cursed beasts! They can get to the top of the plateau!” said the reporter.

“And our poultry yard?” shouted Harbert. “And our gardens …?”

“How did they get through?” asked Pencroff.

“They must have crossed the bridge on the shore,” replied the engineer, “that one of us forgot to close.”

“In fact,” said Spilett, “I remember leaving it open …”


 “A fine thing you did there, Mr. Spilett!” shouted the sailor.

“What’s done is done,” replied Cyrus Smith. “What shall we do now?”

Such were the questions and answers rapidly exchanged between Cyrus Smith and his companions. It was certain that the bridge had been crossed, that the beach had been invaded by some animals, and that they, whatever they were, could ascend the left bank of the Mercy to reach Grand View Plateau. They had to hurry to overtake them, and fight them if need be.

“But what kind of animals are they?” Pencroff asked a second time just as the barks became louder.

These barks made Harbert shudder and he remembered having already heard them during his first visit to the sources of Red Creek.

“They’re colpeos, foxes!” he said.

“Let’s go!” shouted the sailor.

And everyone, armed with axes, carbines and revolvers, rushed into the elevator and soon were on the beach.

These colpeos are dangerous animals in numbers and when driven by hunger. Nevertheless, the colonists did not hesitate to charge into the midst of the band and their first revolver shots, lighting up the darkness, threw back the leading assailants.

It was important above all else that they prevent these plunderers from reaching Grand View Plateau because the gardens and the poultry yard were at their mercy and immense damage, perhaps irreparable, would inevitably result, especially to the wheatfield. But since the invasion of the plateau could only be accomplished by passing the left bank of the Mercy, it would suffice to stop the colpeos with an insurmountable barrier on this narrow section of the beach between the river and the granite wall. That was everyone’s opinion and, upon Cyrus Smith’s order, they reached the designated place while the colpeos were dashing about in

Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett, Harbert, Pencroff, and Neb positioned themselves to form an uncrossable line. Top, with open jaws, preceded the colonists and he was followed by Jup, armed with a knotty cudgel, which he swung like a club.

It was extremely dark. Only by the light of their gunfire could they see the invaders. They must have numbered at least a hundred, their eyes shining like hot coals.

“They must not pass,” shouted Pencroff.


 “They shall not pass,” replied the engineer.

But if they did not pass, it was not for lack of effort. Those to the rear pushed against those in front, and it was a continuous struggle with revolvers and axes. Many of the colpeos’ cadavers were already scattered on the ground, but the band did not seem to diminish in size. Others renewed their ranks continually by crossing the bridge on the shore.

Soon the colonists were forced to fight hand to hand, and they received some wounds, but fortunately only light ones. Harbert, with a single shot, dispatched a colpeo who had leaped onto Neb’s back like a wildcat. Top was fighting furiously, lunging at the throats of the foxes and strangling them. Jup, armed with his club, was hitting them with all his might, and it was in vain that they tried to make him stay to the rear. Endowed no doubt with vision that permitted him to see through the darkness, he was always in the thickest part of the battle, uttering from time to time a sharp cry which for him was a sign of jubilation. At one point, he advanced so far forward that, from the light of a revolver, they could see him surrounded by five or six large colpeos, defending himself with unusual sang-froid.

The battle ended to the colonist’s advantage, but only after they had fought for two long hours. The first rays of dawn doubtless made their adversaries decide to retreat. They scampered off toward the north passing over the bridge which Neb immediately raised.

When day lighted up the field of battle, the colonists could count fifty bodies scattered on the beach.

“And Jup!” shouted Pencroff. “Where’s Jup?”

Jup had disappeared. His friend Neb called him and, for the first time, Jup did not respond to his friend’s call.

Everyone set out to look for Jup, fearing that they might find him among the dead. They cleared away the bodies which stained the snow with their blood, and Jup was found in the middle of a veritable pile of colpeos with smashed jaws and broken backs, bearing testimony to the terrible cudgel of the fearless animal. Poor Jup still had his hand on the stump of his broken club; but, deprived of his weapon, he had been overwhelmed by their numbers and there were deep wounds in his chest.

“He’s alive!” cried Neb, leaning over him.

“And we’ll save him,” replied the sailor, “we’ll nurse him as one of us!”


 It seemed that Jup understood because he inclined his head on Pencroff’s shoulder as if to thank him. The sailor himself was hurt, but his wounds, as well as those of his companions, were insignificant. Thanks to their guns, they had almost always kept their assailants at a distance. It was not so with the orang whose condition was serious.

Jup, carried by Neb and Pencroff, was brought to the elevator, groaning feebly. They lifted him gently to Granite House, he was placed on a borrowed mattress on one of the bunks, and his wounds were washed with the greatest care. It appeared that no vital organs had been injured, but Jup was weak from the loss of blood and his fever was rather high.

They put him to bed after dressing his wounds; a strict diet was imposed on him “just like a real person,” as Neb said; and they made him drink a few cups of a refreshing beverage with ingredients furnished by the vegetable pharmacy of Granite House.

At first, Jup’s sleep was agitated, but gradually his breathing became more regular, and they let him sleep quietly. From time to time, Top came “on tip toe” to visit his friend and seemed to approve of all the attention lavished upon him. One of Jup’s hands hung outside the bed, and Top licked it in sympathy.

That same morning, they proceeded to drag the dead to the forest of the Far West for burial.

This attack, which might have had serious consequences, was a lesson for the colonists and henceforth they did not go to sleep without one of them being sure that all the bridges were raised and that no invasion was possible.

Meanwhile Jup, after giving them serious concern for a few days, made a vigorous comeback. His constitution prevailed, the fever went down little by little, and Gideon Spilett, who was something of a doctor, soon considered him well out of danger. On August 16th, Jup began to eat. Neb prepared some good sugary dishes for him which the patient savored with great delight because, if he had a weakness, it was that he was a bit of a gourmand, and Neb had never tried to correct this fault in him.

“What am I to do?” Neb said to Gideon Spilett, who reproached him several times for spoiling him. “He has no other pleasure than to eat, poor Jup, and I’m very happy to be able to reward his services in this way!”


[image: img]



 Top came to visit his friend.





 Ten days after having been put to bed, on August 21st, Master Jup got up. His wounds had healed, and they could well see that he would soon recover his suppleness and his usual vigor. Like all convalescents, he was then consumed by a devouring hunger, and the reporter let him eat whatever his heart desired because he trusted this instinct which is very often lacking in rational beings and which would protect the orang from any excess. Neb was overjoyed to see his pupil’s appetite return.

“Eat, dear Jup,” he said to him. “Have anything you wish! You have shed your blood for us, and the least I can do is to help you recover.”

Finally on August 25th they heard Neb calling his companions.

“Mr. Cyrus, Mr. Gideon, Mr. Harbert, Pencroff, come! Come!”

The colonists, gathered in the large hall, got up at Neb’s call.

“What is it?” asked the reporter.

“Look!” replied Neb, bursting into laughter.

And what did they see? Master Jup smoking tranquilly and seriously, squatting like a Turk by the door of Granite House.

“My pipe!” shouted Pencroff. “He has taken my pipe! Ah! My brave Jup, I give it to you as a present. Smoke, my friend, smoke!”

And Jup gravely exhaled thick puffs of smoke, which seemed to give him unmatched satisfaction.

Cyrus Smith showed no astonishment about this incident, and he cited several examples of tame apes who had become familiar with the use of tobacco.

But from this day on, Master Jup had a pipe of his own, the sailor’s ex-pipe, which hung in his room near a supply of tobacco. He filled it himself, lit it with a burning coal and appeared to be the happiest of quadrumanes. This common interest could only tighten the bonds of close friendship that already united the worthy ape and the honest sailor.

“Perhaps he’s a man?” Pencroff sometimes said to Neb. “Would it astonish you if one day he spoke to us?”

“My word, no,” replied Neb. “What astonishes me is that he hasn’t already spoken because all he lacks is speech.”

“It would amuse me all the same,” said the sailor, “if one fine day he said to me, ‘suppose we change pipes, Pencroff.’”

“Yes,” replied Neb, “What a pity he was born mute.”

By September, the winter was completely over and the work was resumed with ardor.


 The construction of the boat advanced rapidly. It was already completely decked and the inside was fitted
1

 with a framework, made pliable with steam, so as to bind together all the parts of the hull and to ensure exact dimensional tolerances.

Since there was no lack of wood, Pencroff proposed to the engineer that they build a double hull on the inside with a watertight inner planking which would completely assure the strength of the boat.

Cyrus Smith, not knowing what the future might have in store, approved the sailor’s idea of making the boat as strong as possible.

The inner planking and the bridge of the boat were completed around September 15th. To caulk the seams, they packed them with dry seaweed, which was hammered in between the planking of the hull, the inner planking, and the bridge; then these seams were covered with boiling tar abundantly furnished by the pine trees of the forest.

The fitting of the boat was very simple. First, it was ballasted with heavy pieces of granite cemented in a bed of lime; about 12,000 pounds of this was stowed away. A deck was built above the ballast, and the interior was divided into two rooms, with two benches extending along its length to serve as chests. The foot of the mast supported the partition which separated the two rooms, with access to the bridge through two covered hatchways.

Pencroff had no trouble finding a tree suitable for the mast. He chose a young fir, very straight and without knots, which he squared at the base and rounded at the top. The ironwork for the mast, the rudder, and the hull had been crudely but firmly made on the forge at the Chimneys. Finally yardarms, topmast, boom, spars, oars, etc., were all finished in the first week of October, and it was agreed that they would make a trial run of the boat in the coastal waters of the island in order to know how well it took to the sea and to what degree they could depend on it.

During all this time, the other work had not been neglected. The corral was rearranged because the flock of sheep and goats now included a certain number of young which had to be lodged and nourished. The colonists also continually visited the oyster bed, the warren, the coal and iron beds, and several still unexplored parts of the forests of the Far West which were full of game.

Certain indigenous plants were also discovered and, if they did not have any immediate use, they still would contribute to a diversification 
 of the vegetable reserves of Granite House. One was a species of Hottentot’s fig, resembling those of Capetown, with fleshy edible leaves, others producing seeds which contained a sort of flour.

On October 10th, the boat was launched. Pencroff was radiant and the operation succeeded perfectly. The fully-rigged boat was pushed on rollers to the edge of the shore and was lifted by the rising tide to the colonists’ applause, especially Pencroff who showed no modesty on this occasion. Moreover, his vanity would outlast the completion of the boat since, after having constructed it, he would be called upon to command it. The rank of captain was awarded to him by unanimous consent.

To satisfy Captain Pencroff, it was first necessary to give the boat a name and, after several proposals were discussed at length, the voters agreed on the name of Bonadventure,
 
2

 which was the baptismal name of the honest sailor.

As soon as the Bonadventure
 was lifted by the rising tide, they could see that it would be perfectly seaworthy and that it would be easy to navigate at all speeds.

Its maiden voyage was to take place on that very day, with an excursion just off the coast. The weather was fine, the breeze fresh, and the sea smooth, especially off the southern shore where the wind had already been blowing from the northwest for an hour.

“Get aboard! Get aboard!” shouted Captain Pencroff.

But they had to eat lunch before leaving, and it seemed best to carry some provisions on board in case the excursion went into the evening.

Cyrus Smith was also looking forward to trying out the boat whose design had originated with him although, on the sailor’s advice, he had modified some parts. But he did not have as much confidence in it as Pencroff did and, since the latter no longer spoke of the voyage to Tabor Island, Cyrus Smith hoped that the sailor had forgotten about it. He was reluctant in fact, to see two or three of his companions venture so far in this small boat of no more than fifteen tons.

At ten thirty everyone was on board, even Jup and Top. Neb and Harbert raised the anchor which was buried in the sand near the mouth of the Mercy, the spanker sail was hoisted, the Lincolnian flag waved at the top of the mast, and the “Bonadventure
 ” commanded by Pencroff took to the open sea.
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 The
 Bonadventure.



In order to leave Union Bay, it was first necessary to sail before the wind, and they could see that the speed of the vessel was satisfactory.

After having doubled Flotsam Point and Cape Claw, Pencroff had to sail close to the wind in order to coast along the southern shore of the island. After navigating by a series of tacks, he saw that the 
 Bonadventure
 could sail at about five points from the wind and that it could suitably hold itself against the drift. It tacked very well, having “the knack” as the sailors would say, and it even gained in its turns.

The passengers of the Bonadventure
 were truly delighted. They had here a good boat which could, if need be, be of great service to them. With this fine weather and the good breeze, the excursion proved to be an excellent one.

Pencroff sailed three or four miles from shore, in the vicinity of Port Balloon. The island then appeared in its entirety and from a new perspective: the varied panorama of its shore from Cape Claw to Reptile Promontory, its nearest forests in which the green conifers stood out from the other trees whose young foliage was barely blooming, and Mount Franklin, with its summit of white snow, dominating the whole scene.

“How beautiful it is!” exclaimed Harbert.

“Yes, our island is beautiful and good,” replied Pencroff. “I love it as I loved my poor mother. She received us, poor and lacking everything, and what has she denied to the five children who fell upon her from the sky?”

“Nothing!” replied Neb. “Nothing, Captain!”

And the two worthy gentlemen gave three formidable hurrahs in honor of their island.

During this time, Gideon Spilett, leaning against the mast, was drawing the panorama which spread out before his eyes.

Cyrus Smith looked on in silence.

“Well, Mr. Cyrus,” asked Pencroff, “what do you think of our boat?”

“She seems to conduct herself well,” replied the engineer.

“Good! And do you think it could undertake a voyage of some duration?”

“What voyage, Pencroff?”

“To Tabor Island, for example.”

“My friend,” replied Cyrus Smith, “I believe that, if need be, we should not hesitate to put our trust in the Bonadventure,
 even for a longer trip; but as you know, it would pain me to see you leave for Tabor Island since nothing requires you to go there.”

“Everyone likes to know his neighbors,” replied Pencroff stubbornly. “Tabor Island is our neighbor and it’s the only one! Politeness requires that we go there, at least to pay it a visit.”


 “My!” said Gideon Spilett. “Our friend Pencroff is a stickler for etiquette!”

“I’m not a stickler about anything,” retorted the sailor, a bit vexed by the engineer’s opposition but not wishing to cause him any pain.

“Think, Pencroff,” replied Cyrus Smith. “You can’t go to Tabor Island alone.”

“One companion will be sufficient.”

“So be it,” replied the engineer. “That means you’ll risk depriving the Lincoln Island colony of two colonists out of five.”

“Out of six!” replied Pencroff. “You forget Jup!”

“Out of seven!” added Neb. “Top is as worthy as any other!”

“There’s no great risk, Mr. Cyrus,” replied Pencroff.

“That’s possible, Pencroff; but I repeat to you that we’ll expose ourselves without necessity.”

The stubborn sailor did not reply and dropped the conversation deciding to pick it up again later. But he hardly suspected that an incident would take place to help his cause and to change into an act of humanity what was, after all, a capricious endeavor.

After having sailed out a distance, the Bonadventure
 now approached the shore, heading toward Port Balloon. It was important to note the channels among the banks of sand and reefs in order to put out buoys if need be, since this small inlet would be the boat’s official port.

They were only a half mile from the coast and had to tack to make headway against the wind. The speed of the Bonadventure
 was then only moderate because the breeze, partly blocked by the high land, hardly filled the sails, and the sea, smooth as glass, rippled only to an occasional small gust.

Harbert had stationed himself at the bow in order to indicate the route to follow among the channels when, suddenly, he shouted:

“Luff, Pencroff, luff!”

“What is it?” replied the sailor, springing up. “A rock?”

“No … wait,” said Harbert … “I don’t see well … luff again … good … over a little …”

And while saying this, Harbert, leaning over the edge, quickly plunged his arms into the water and then stood up saying:

“A bottle!”

He held in his hand a sealed bottle seized a few cable-lengths from shore.
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 “Luff, Pencroff, luff!”





 Cyrus Smith took the bottle. Without saying a single word, he pulled out the cork and took out a wet paper on which was written these words:

“Castaway … Tabor Island: 153° W. Long.—37° 11′ S. Lat.”



CHAPTER XIII




“
 
A

 castaway!” shouted Pencroff, “Abandoned a few hundred miles from us on this Tabor Island! Ah! Mr. Cyrus, now you can no longer oppose my trip!”

“No, Pencroff,” replied Cyrus Smith, “and you’ll leave as soon as possible.”

“As soon as tomorrow?”

“As soon as tomorrow.”

The engineer held in his hand the paper which he had taken from the bottle. He considered it for a few moments, then spoke again:

“From this document, my friends,” he said, “and from the very form in which it’s composed, we must conclude the following: first, that the castaway of Tabor Island is a man having a rather advanced knowledge of navigation, since he gives the latitude and the longitude of the island, confirming what we have found, and to within a minute. Second, that he is British or American since the document is written in the English language.”

“That’s perfectly logical,” replied Gideon Spilett, “and the presence of this castaway explains the arrival of the chest on the shores of our island. There’s been a shipwreck since there’s a castaway. As to the latter, whoever he is, it’s a lucky thing for him that Pencroff had the idea of constructing this boat and of trying it out this very day because, one day later, this bottle could have been broken on the reefs.”

“In fact,” said Harbert, “it’s lucky that the Bonadventure
 passed by here while the bottle was still floating.”

“And doesn’t that seem strange to you?” Cyrus Smith asked Pencroff.

“It seems fortunate to me, that’s all,” replied the sailor. “Do you see something extraordinary in this, Mr. Cyrus? This bottle had to go someplace and why not here as well as elsewhere?”


 “Perhaps you’re right, Pencroff,” answered the engineer, “and yet …”

“But,” noted Harbert, “there’s nothing to prove that this bottle has been floating long in the sea.”

“Nothing,” replied Gideon Spilett, “and the document itself appears to have been recently written. What do you think, Cyrus?”

“That’s difficult to verify and, besides, we’ll soon know,” replied Cyrus Smith.

During this conversation Pencroff had not remained idle. He had turned the boat around, and the Bonadventure
 cast off, all sails hoisted, rapidly running toward Cape Claw. Everyone was thinking of this castaway from Tabor Island. Was there still time to save him? This was an important event in the life of the colonists. They themselves were no more than castaways, but they feared that the other might not have been as lucky as they, and their duty was to hasten to help him. Cape Claw was rounded and, about four o’clock, the Bonadventure
 was anchored at the mouth of the Mercy.

That very evening, the details concerning the new expedition were arranged. It seemed appropriate that Pencroff and Harbert, who knew how to handle a boat, would undertake this voyage by themselves. By leaving the next day, October 11th, they could arrive on the 13th during the day because, with the prevailing wind, not more than forty eight hours were needed to make this crossing of 150 miles. A day on the island, three or four days to return, they could then count on returning to Lincoln Island by the 17th. The weather was fine, the barometer was rising steadily, the wind seemed as if it would continue; everything favored these brave men who were being taken far from their island by the duties of humanity.

It had been agreed that Cyrus Smith, Neb, and Gideon Spilett would remain at Granite House; but a protest was lodged and Gideon Spilett, not forgetting his duties as a reporter for the New York Herald,
 declared that he would rather swim than miss such an opportunity, and he was allowed to take part in the voyage.

In the evening they put on board the Bonadventure
 the bedding, utensils, arms, munitions, a compass, and provisions needed for a journey of eight days. This loading was quickly accomplished, and the colonists then went back to Granite House.

The next day, at five o’clock in the morning, they said their goodbyes, not without a certain emotion on everyone’s part, and Pencroff, filling the sails, sailed toward Cape Claw which he had to round in order to take a direct southwest route.
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 Smith and Neb waved goodbye.





 The Bonadventure
 was already a quarter of a mile from the coast when its passengers saw on the heights of Granite House two men waving goodbye. They were Cyrus Smith and Neb.

“Our friends!” exclaimed Gideon Spilett. “This is our first separation in fifteen months! …”

Pencroff, the reporter, and Harbert waved a final goodbye and Granite House soon disappeared behind the high rocks of the cape.

During the first hours of the day the Bonadventure
 remained continually in view of the southern coast of Lincoln Island which soon appeared as a simple green strip of land from which Mount Franklin emerged. Its heights, diminished by the distance, gave it an appearance not likely to attract vessels to its shores.

About ten miles out, they passed Reptile Promontory at about one o’clock, and it was no longer possible to distinguish anything on the western coast extending up to the foothills of Mount Franklin. Three hours later, the entirety of Lincoln Island had disappeared below the horizon.

The Bonadventure
 conducted herself perfectly. She rose easily with the waves and moved rapidly. Pencroff had set the topmast and, with all sails hoisted, he sailed in a straight line by his compass.

From time to time, Harbert took his turn at the helm and the lad’s hand was so firm that the sailor could find no reproach.

Gideon Spilett chatted with one, with the other and, when it was necessary, he took his turn at the helm. Captain Pencroff was absolutely satisfied with his crew and spoke of rewarding them with nothing less than “a quarter liter of wine by watch!”

At sunset, the crescent of the moon, which would not be in the first quarter until the 16th, appeared in the twilight and soon disappeared. The night was dark but full of stars which promised a fine day for the morrow.

Pencroff prudently lowered the topsail, not wanting to be surprised by some gust of wind. It was perhaps an excess of caution on so calm a night, but Pencroff was a careful sailor and one could not blame him.

The reporter slept part of the night. Pencroff and Harbert took turns at the helm every two hours. The sailor trusted Harbert as he would himself, and his confidence was justified by the coolness and 
 intelligence of the lad. Pencroff gave him directions like a commander to his helmsman, and Harbert did not allow the Bonadventure
 to deviate a single point.

That night and the next day of October 12th passed without incident. The southwesterly direction was steadfastly maintained during the entire day and, so long as the Bonadventure
 had not been subjected to some unknown current, Tabor Island would be directly in its path.

As for the sea, it was absolutely empty. At times some large bird, an albatross or a frigate, passed within gun range, and Gideon Spilett wondered if one of these powerful flyers
1

 was not the one to whom he had confined his last dispatch addressed to the New York Herald.
 These birds appeared to be the only ones frequenting this part of the ocean between Tabor Island and Lincoln Island.

“However,” Harbert noted, “this is the season when the whalers ordinarily head toward the southern part of the Pacific. In truth, I don’t believe that there is a more deserted sea than this one!”

“It’s not altogether deserted,” replied Pencroff.

“What do you mean by that?” asked the reporter.

“Because we’re here! Do you take our boat for driftwood and us for porpoises?”

And Pencroff laughed at his joke.

By evening, they estimated that the Bonadventure
 had covered approximately a distance of 120 miles since their departure from Lincoln Island thirty six hours earlier, a speed of three and a third miles per hour. The breeze was weak and was tending to die down. Nevertheless, they could hope that the next day, at daybreak, if the estimate was correct and the direction true, they would sight Tabor Island.

Neither Gideon Spilett, nor Harbert, nor Pencroff slept during the night of October 12th to the 13th. In anticipation of the next day, they could not help but feel strong emotions. There was so much uncertainty in this enterprise. Were they near Tabor Island? Was the island still inhabited by this castaway whom they were coming to rescue? Who was this man? Might not his presence disturb the small colony that had been so united until then? Moreover, would he consent to exchange his own island prison for another one? All these questions, which would doubtless be answered the next day, kept them awake and, at the first rays of dawn, they examined all points of the western horizon.

“Land!” shouted Pencroff about six o’clock in the morning.
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 “Land!” shouted Pencroff.




And since it was impossible that Pencroff could be mistaken, land was indeed there.

One can imagine the joy of the small crew of the Bonadventure.
 In a few hours, they would be on the shore of the island!

Tabor Island’s coast was low, barely emerging from the waves, and 
 it was no more than fifteen miles away. The Bonadventure,
 which was heading a bit to the south of the island, was put in direct line with it, and as the sun rose in the east, several high points of its topography appeared here and there.

“This island is much smaller than Lincoln Island,” Harbert noted, “but it also probably resulted from some underwater volcanic activity.”

At eleven o’clock in the morning, the Bonadventure
 was only two miles away and Pencroff, looking for a channel toward shore, sailed with extreme caution through these unknown waters.

Their view now encompassed the entire islet. Clusters of verdant gum trees and other large trees of the kind that grew on Lincoln Island were clearly visible. But it was rather astonishing that there was no rising smoke to indicate that the islet was inhabited. No signal appeared at any point whatsoever along the coast.

And yet the document had been precise: there was a castaway here, and the castaway should have been on watch.

Nevertheless, the Bonadventure
 slowly advanced through the twisting channels of the reefs, with Pencroff paying careful attention to the slightest turn. Placing Harbert at the helm and positioning himself in the bow, he examined the water, halyard in hand, ready to drop sail. Gideon Spilett scrutinized the shore with his telescope but saw nothing.

Finally, about noon, the keel of the Bonadventure struck the sandy beach. The anchor was thrown out, the sails lowered, and the crew of the small boat set foot on land.

And there was no doubt that this was really Tabor Island since, according to the most recent maps, no other island existed in this portion of the Pacific between New Zealand and the American coast.

The boat was firmly moored so that the ebbing tide could not carry it off; then Pencroff and his two companions, well armed, ascended the shore towards a small hill, 250 to 300 feet high, which rose a half mile away.

“From the top of this hill,” said Gideon Spilett, “we will doubtless have a bird’s eye view of the islet, which will facilitate our search.”

“Which is what Mr. Cyrus first did on Lincoln Island,” observed Harbert, “by climbing Mount Franklin.”

“Exactly,” replied the reporter, “and it’s the best way to proceed.”

While chatting, the explorers advanced, following the edge of a 
 grassy prairie which ended at the very foot of the hill. Groups of rock pigeons and sea swallows, resembling those of Lincoln Island, took flight before them. In the woods which lined the prairie on the left, they heard rustlings in the brushwood and caught glimpses of movement in the grass which indicated the presence of fleeing animals; but nothing until then indicated that the islet was inhabited.

Arriving at the foot of the hill, Pencroff, Harbert, and Gideon Spilett quickly climbed it and, in a few moments, they were able to survey the entire perimeter of the island.

It was really an islet, measuring no more than six miles in circumference, an elongated oval hardly fringed by any capes or promontories, coves, or creeks. Encircling it was the absolutely deserted sea, extending to the limits of the horizon. There was no other land nor any sail in view.

This islet, wooded over all its surface, did not offer the diversity of Lincoln Island, arid and wild on one part but fertile and rich on the other. Here it was a uniform mass of foliage dominated by two or three slightly elevated hills. Obliquely crossing the oval of the islet, a creek flowed through a wide prairie, reaching the sea on the western coast through a narrow mouth.

“The land is very limited,” said Harbert.

“Yes,” replied Pencroff, “it would have been a little too small for us!”

“And what’s more,” added the reporter, “it seems uninhabited.”

“Indeed,” replied Harbert, “nothing reveals the presence of man.”

“Let’s go down and search,” said Pencroff.

The sailor and his two companions returned to the shore where they had left the Bonadventure.
 They decided to walk around the islet before venturing into the interior so that their investigation would miss nothing.

The shore was easy to follow except for a few places blocked by large rocks which they easily went around. The explorers went southward causing the flight of numerous waterfowl and seals who dashed into the water when they saw them from afar.

“These animals,” the reporter noted, “are not seeing men for the first time. They fear them, so they know them.”

An hour after their departure, they arrived at the southern point of the islet, ending in a sharp cape. They then proceeded north, walking 
 along the western shore which was also made up of sand and rocks bordered by a thick woods.

Nowhere around the perimeter of the island, which they covered in four hours, did they find any trace of a dwelling, nowhere a human footprint.

This was extraordinary, and they were compelled to believe that Tabor Island was not or was no longer inhabited. Perhaps, after all, the document was already several months or years old and, in that event, it was possible that the castaway had either been rescued or had died of privation.

Pencroff, Gideon Spilett, and Harbert, discussing various plausible hypotheses, dined rapidly on board the Bonadventure
 so as to be able to continue their excursion until evening.

It was five o’clock in the evening when they ventured into the woods.

Numerous animals fled at their approach, mostly goats and pigs which, it was easy to see, were of the European species. Doubtless some whaler had landed them on the island where they rapidly multiplied. Harbert promised himself that he would capture one or two living couples in order to bring them to Lincoln Island.

There was then no longer any doubt that men at some time had visited this islet. And this appeared to be still more evident when, on crossing the forest, they saw traces of footpaths, of tree trunks felled with an axe, and everywhere the mark of the human hand; but these trees, which were rotting, had been cut down several years ago, the notches made by the axe were velvety with moss, and long thick grass overran the footpaths which were difficult to discern.

“But,” observed Gideon Spilett, “this proves that men not only landed on this islet, but that they lived here for a certain period of time. Now, who were these men? How many were there? How many remain?”

“The document,” said Harbert, “spoke only of a single castaway.”

“Well, if he’s still on the island,” replied Pencroff, “we’ll find him!”

They continued to explore. The sailor and his companions followed the route that cut diagonally across the islet, and soon were walking along the creek that ran to the sea.

If the animals of European origin and the work done by human hands proved incontestably that man had already come to this islet, 
 several specimens from the vegetable kingdom proved it even more. In certain places among clearings, they saw that the land had been cultivated with garden vegetables some distant time ago.

Harbert was overjoyed when he discovered potatoes, chicory, sorrel, carrots, cabbage, and turnips. He began to collect their seeds so as to enrich the soil of Lincoln Island.

“Good, well done!” exclaimed Pencroff. “This will delight Neb and profit all of us. If we don’t find the castaway, at least our voyage will not have been in vain, and God will have rewarded us!”

“Doubtless,” replied Gideon Spilett, “but to look at the condition of these gardens, one is led to believe that the islet hasn’t been inhabited for a long time.”

“Indeed,” added Harbert, “an inhabitant, whoever he was, would not have neglected something so important.”

“Yes,” said Pencroff, “the castaway has left! … We must assume that …”

“That the document was written a long time ago?”

“Evidently.”

“And that this bottle only just arrived at Lincoln Island after having floated on the sea for a very long time?”

“Why not?” replied Pencroff. “But night is coming on,” he added, “and I think that it would be best to suspend our search.”

“Let’s return on board, and tomorrow we’ll begin again,” said the reporter.

This very wise advice was about to be followed when Harbert, pointing to a confused mass among the trees, shouted:

“A dwelling!”

All three began at once to head toward the dwelling that Harbert had pointed out. In the twilight, it was possible to see that it had been constructed of planks covered with a thick tarred canvas.

The half-closed door was pushed open by Pencroff, who quickly entered …

The dwelling was empty!


[image: img]



 “A dwelling!”






CHAPTER XIV




 
P

 encroff, Harbert, and Gideon Spilett stood silent in the darkness.

Pencroff called out; there was no response.

The sailor then struck the flint and lit a twig. For an instant, the light illuminated a small room which appeared to be totally abandoned. To the rear, there was a crude fireplace with a few cold cinders supporting an armful of dry wood. Pencroff threw the burning twig on it; the wood crackled and began to burn brightly.

The sailor and his two companions then saw an unmade bed, with wet and yellowish covers proving it had not been used for a long time; in a corner of the fireplace, there were two kettles covered with rust and an overturned pot; a wardrobe contained some sailor’s clothes, half covered with mold; on the table, tin kitchen utensils and a Bible rotted by the dampness; in a corner, some tools, a shovel, a pickaxe, a pick, two hunting rifles, one of which was broken; on a plank serving as a shelf, a barrel of powder that was still intact, a barrel of shot, and several boxes of primers; all were covered with a thick layer of dust which had perhaps accumulated over long years.

“There’s no one here,” said the reporter.

“No one,” replied Pencroff.

“It’s been a long time since this room was occupied,” Harbert observed.

“Yes, a very long time!” replied the reporter.

“Mr. Spilett,” Pencroff then said, “instead of returning on board, I think that it would be best to spend the night here.”

“You’re right, Pencroff,” replied Gideon Spilett, “and if its owner returns, perhaps he won’t be sorry to find the place occupied.”

“He won’t come back,” said the sailor, shaking his head.

“You believe that he has left the island?” asked the reporter.

“If he’d left the island, he would’ve taken his arms and his tools,” replied Pencroff. “You know the value castaways attach to these things, the last remains from their shipwreck. No!” repeated the sailor, wholly convinced, “No! He hasn’t left the island. If he escaped in a boat that he’d made, it’s even less likely that he would’ve left behind these essential things. No, he’s on the island!”

“Alive? …” asked Harbert.


 “Alive or dead. But if he’s dead, he could not have buried himself,” replied Pencroff, “and we’ll at least find his remains.”

It was agreed that they would spend the night in the abandoned dwelling. A supply of wood found in a corner provided sufficient warmth. With the door closed, Pencroff, Harbert, and Gideon Spilett, seated on a bench, spoke little and remained deep in thought. They were in a frame of mind to accept any eventuality as they listened carefully to the noises outdoors. If the door were to open suddenly and a man should appear before them, they would not have been surprised despite all the evidence that showed the dwelling to be abandoned. Their hands were ready to clasp the hands of this man, this castaway, this unknown friend whose friends were waiting for him!

But no noise was heard, the door did not open, and the hours slowly went by.

How long this night seemed to the sailor and his two companions! Harbert alone slept for two hours because, at his age, sleep is a necessity. All three were anxious to continue the previous day’s exploration and to search the most secret corners of the islet. The conclusion reached by Pencroff seemed wholly justified, and it was near certain that, since the house was abandoned yet the tools, utensils, and weapons were still there, its host had perished. They agreed to look for his remains and at least give him a Christian burial.

Daylight appeared. Pencroff and his companions immediately examined the dwelling.

It had been built in a very good location atop a small hill near five or six magnificent gum trees. In front of it and around the trees, a large clearing had been made with the axe, which allowed a view to the sea. A small lawn, surrounded by a now ruined wooden fence, led to the shore with the mouth of the creek to the left.

This dwelling had been constructed of planks and it was easy to see that these planks came from the hull or the bridge of a vessel. It was likely that a disabled ship had been thrown onto the coast of the island, that at least one man of the crew had been saved and that, using the debris from the vessel, this man, having found some tools, had constructed this dwelling. And this was even more evident when Gideon Spilett, as he walked around the dwelling, discovered on a plank—probably one of those which had been part of the hull of the wrecked vessel—the following half-erased letters:

BR .TAN . . A


 “Britannia!” exclaimed Pencroff, whom the reporter had called to examine it. “It’s a very common name for vessels but I can’t say if it’s British or American.”
1



“It’s of little importance, Pencroff.”

“Of little importance, indeed,” replied the sailor, “and if the crew’s survivor still lives, we’ll save him regardless of his nationality. But, before continuing our exploration, let’s return on board the Bonadventure.
 ”

A sort of uneasiness took hold of Pencroff concerning his boat. If perchance the islet was inhabited, and if some inhabitant took possession of it … but he shrugged his shoulders at such an unlikely supposition.

Still the sailor was not sorry to return and breakfast on board. The route, now clearly marked, was not long, hardly a mile. They got back on the road again, all the while looking carefully at the woods and the underbrush from which the goats and the pigs fled by the hundreds.

Twenty minutes after leaving the dwelling, Pencroff and his companions again saw the eastern shore of the island and the Bonadventure,
 held by its anchor buried deep in the sand.

Pencroff could not hold back a sigh of satisfaction. After all, this boat was his child, and fathers have the right to be anxious more often than reason might dictate.

They came on board and ate a hearty breakfast so that there would be no need to eat again until much later in the day; once the meal was finished, the exploration was resumed and conducted with great care.

In short, it was very probable that the sole inhabitant of the islet had perished. It was therefore for a dead person rather than a living one that Pencroff and his companions were searching. But their search was in vain and, for half a day, they scoured the thick woods that covered the islet. They were forced to admit that, if the castaway was dead, there no longer remained any trace of his body and doubtless some beast had devoured it down to the last bone.

“We’ll leave tomorrow at daybreak,” said Pencroff to his two companions who, at about two o’clock in the afternoon, were momentarily reclining in the shadow of a cluster of pines.

“I think that we need not hesitate to take with us the utensils which belonged to the castaway,” added Harbert.


 “I believe that too,” answered Gideon Spilett. “And these weapons and tools will add to the stores of Granite House. If I’m not mistaken the supply of powder and shot is considerable.”

“Yes,” replied Pencroff, “but let’s not forget to capture one or two pairs of these pigs which we don’t have on Lincoln Island …”

“Nor to collect those seeds,” added Harbert, “which will give us all the vegetables of both the Old and New Worlds.”

“It would then perhaps be best to stay another day longer on Tabor Island,” said the reporter, “to collect everything that can be useful.”

“No, Mr. Spilett,” replied Pencroff. “I’d prefer to leave tomorrow at daybreak. The wind seems to be shifting to the west and, after having had a good wind for coming, we will have a good wind for returning.”

“Then let’s not waste any time!” said Harbert, getting up.

“Yes, let’s not waste any time,” replied Pencroff. “You, Harbert, collect the seeds which you know better than we. Meanwhile, Mr. Spilett and I will hunt for some pigs and, even in Top’s absence, I dare say that we will succeed in capturing a few.”

Harbert took the footpath that would bring him to the cultivated part of the islet while the sailor and the reporter went directly into the forest.

Many specimens of the pig family fled from them and these animals, oddly agile, did not appear in a humor to be approached. However, after a half hour of pursuit, the hunters succeeded in getting hold of a couple who were hiding in a thick brushwood. Suddenly, they heard shouts a few hundred feet away toward the north of the islet. These shouts were mingled with some horrible hoarse sounds that had nothing human about them. Pencroff and Gideon Spilett sprang up and the pigs took advantage of this movement by escaping just when the sailor was ready to tie them.

“That’s Harbert’s voice!” said the reporter.

“Hurry!” cried Pencroff.

And soon the sailor and Gideon Spilett were running as fast as their limbs could carry them to the place where they heard the shouts.

They did well to hurry because, turning onto the footpath near a clearing, they saw that the boy had been thrown to the ground by a savage being, a gigantic ape doubtless, who was about to do him harm.
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 Harbert was thrown to the ground.




In an instant, Pencroff and Gideon Spilett pounced upon this monster, threw him to the ground, wrenched Harbert out of his grasp, and held him down firmly. The sailor had a herculean strength and the reporter was also robust and, in spite of the monster’s resistance, he was firmly pinned down so that he could not move.


 “You aren’t hurt, Harbert?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“No! No!”

“Ah! If this ape had hurt you! …” shouted Pencroff.

“But this not an ape!” replied Harbert.

At these words Pencroff and Gideon Spilett looked at this strange being who lay on the ground.

In truth, it was not an ape! It was a human creature. It was a man! But what a man! A savage in all the horrible meaning of the word, and even more dreadful, he seemed to have fallen into the last stages of brutishness.

With a bristling head of hair, an unkempt beard that came down to his chest, an almost nude body except for a rag covering his loins, fierce eyes, enormous hands, long fingernails, skin as dark as mahogany, feet as hard as hooves, such was the miserable creature that was nevertheless a man. But they truly had the right to ask themselves if there still was a soul in this body or if the vulgar instinct of the brute alone survived in him.

“Are you sure that this is a man, or that he once was?” Pencroff asked the reporter.

“Alas! There’s no doubt of it,” replied the latter.

“Is this, then, the castaway?” asked Harbert.

“Yes,” replied Gideon Spilett, “but the poor man no longer has anything human about him.”

The reporter spoke the truth. It was evident that if the castaway had ever been a civilized being, loneliness had made him a savage and perhaps worse, a veritable creature of the woods. Hoarse sounds issued from his throat and from his teeth which had the sharpness of carnivore’s teeth intended for the chewing of raw meat. Memory had abandoned him long ago, and it doubtless had been a long time since he had used tools, arms, or made a fire. One could see that he was nimble and agile, but also that his physical faculties had developed in proportion to the loss of his moral qualities.

Gideon Spilett spoke to him. He did not seem to understand nor even to hear … And yet, looking into his eyes, the reporter felt that there nevertheless remained a remnant of human reason within him.

Meanwhile, the prisoner neither struggled nor tried to break his bonds. Was he overcome by the presence of these men whom he had once resembled? Did some fleeting memory of humanity return to a corner of his brain? If freed, would he try to escape or would he stay? 
 They did not know, but they did not put it to the test. After carefully inspecting the wretched person:

“Whatever he is,” said Gideon Spilett, “and whatever he has been and whatever will become of him, it’s our duty to take him with us to Lincoln Island.”

“Yes!” replied Harbert. “And perhaps, by caring for him, we’ll be able to awaken some glimmer of intelligence in him.”

“The soul is not dead,” said the reporter, “and it would be a great satisfaction to save this creature of God from complete savagery.”

Pencroff shook his head doubtfully.

“We ought to try, in any case,” added the reporter. “Humanity requires it of us.”

It was indeed their duty as civilized beings and Christians. The three of them understood this, and they well knew that Cyrus Smith would approve of their decision.

“Shall we keep him tied?” asked the sailor.

“Perhaps he’ll walk if we free his feet,” said Harbert.

“Let’s try,” replied Pencroff.

The prisoner’s feet were freed but his hands remained firmly bound. He got up by himself but showed no desire to escape. His dry eyes looked sharply at the three men who walked beside him, but nothing showed any memory that he was their fellow being or at least that he once was so. A continual hissing sound escaped from his lips, and his demeanor looked fierce, but he did not resist.

At the reporter’s suggestion, they brought the poor wretch to his dwelling. Perhaps the sight of those objects which belonged to him would make some impression on him. Perhaps they would act as a spark to revive his dormant consciousness, to rekindle his extinct soul.

The dwelling was not far and, in a few minutes, they all arrived there. But, once inside, the prisoner recognized nothing, and it seemed that he had lost all awareness of these things.

What could they conclude about the level of brutishness to which this miserable being had fallen? It was doubtless due to the long duration of his imprisonment on the islet and, after having arrived there a rational person, loneliness had reduced him to this state.

The reporter then had the idea that the sight of fire might produce some reaction in him; and, in an instant, one of those lovely fires that attract animals was lit in the fireplace.


 The sight of the flames at first seemed to catch the attention of the unfortunate man; but he soon drew back, and his vacant look turned elsewhere.

Evidently there was nothing more to do for the moment except to return on board the Bonadventure.
 They did so, and he remained there in Pencroff’s custody.

Harbert and Gideon Spilett went back to the islet and, a few hours later, they returned to the shore carrying the utensils and arms, a collection of vegetable seeds, some game, and two pairs of pigs. Everything was put on board, and the Bonadventure
 was made ready to raise anchor with the next morning’s rising tide.

The prisoner had been placed in the forward cabin where he remained calm and silent, in all appearance deaf and dumb.

Pencroff offered him food, but he pushed away the cooked meat that was presented to him and which doubtless no longer suited him. And indeed, when the sailor showed him one of the ducks that Harbert had shot, he threw himself upon it like a beast and devoured it.

“You think he will recover?” asked Pencroff, shaking his head.

“Perhaps,” said the reporter, “it’s not impossible that our care will produce a reaction in him because it is loneliness that has made him what he is and, henceforth, he will no longer be alone.”

“It has no doubt been a long time that the poor man has been in this state,” said Harbert.

“Perhaps,” replied Gideon Spilett.

“How old could he be?” asked the lad.

“That’s difficult to say,” replied the reporter, “because it’s impossible to see his features under the thick beard which covers his face. But he is no longer young, and I suppose he’s at least fifty years old.”

“Have you noticed, Mister Spilett, how deeply set his eyes are?” asked the boy.

“Yes, Harbert, and I must say that they’re more human than one might surmise from his overall appearance.”

“Well, we’ll see,” replied Pencroff. “And I’m curious to know what Mr. Smith will think of our savage. We went in search of a human creature and we’re bringing back a monster! But we did what we could.”

The night went by and they did not know whether or not the prisoner slept; in any event, although he had been unbound, he did not stir. He was like those beasts who are stunned by their first moments of capture, but who go into a rage later.


 At daybreak the next day—October 15th—the change in weather that Pencroff had predicted took place. The wind, now blowing northwest, favored the return of the Bonadventure;
 but, at the same time, it was getting stronger and would make navigation more difficult.

Anchor was weighed at five o’clock in the morning. Pencroff took in a reef in his mainsail and headed east northeast directly toward Lincoln Island.

The first day’s passage was not marked by any incident. The prisoner stayed calm in the forward cabin and, since he had been a sailor, it seemed that the motion of the sea had a beneficial effect on him. Did some memory of his former trade come back to him? In any case, he remained quiet, astonished rather than dejected.

The next day—October 16th—the wind blew much stronger and more from the north, a direction less favorable to the Bonadventure
 which bounded on the waves. Pencroff soon was required to sail close to the wind and, without saying anything, he began to become uneasy at the condition of the sea which now violently slapped against the bow of his boat. If the wind did not change, it would certainly take longer to reach Lincoln Island than it did to get to Tabor Island.

On the morning of the 17th, forty eight hours since the Bonadventure
 had left to return home, nothing indicated that they were near the island. Moreover, it was impossible to determine where they were or to estimate it because their direction and speed had been too irregular.

Twenty four hours later, still no land in sight. The wind was blowing directly ahead, and the sea was wretched. They had to quickly maneuver the sails of the boat—parts of which the waves now swept over—taking in the reefs, changing the tack, etc. On the 18th, the Bonadventure
 was completely submerged by a huge wave and, if the passengers had not taken the precaution in advance of lashing themselves to the bridge, they would have been carried away.

On this occasion, Pencroff and his companions, who were very busy in clearing things away, received unexpected assistance from the prisoner who sprang through the hatchway and, as if his sailor’s instinct had returned to him, broke the rail using a spar in order to allow the water which filled the bridge to escape more quickly. Then, once the deck was cleared, he went down to his room without saying a word.


 Pencroff, Gideon Spilett, and Harbert were totally awestruck, and let him proceed.

Nevertheless, the situation was bad, and the sailor had reason to believe that they were lost on this immense sea without any possibility of getting back to their course.

The night of the 18th was dark and cold. Around eleven o’clock, however, the wind calmed and the sea’s surging diminished. The Bonadventure,
 now less jolted, began to acquire a greater speed and handled the sea marvelously.

Neither Pencroff, nor Gideon Spilett, nor Harbert thought of taking an hour’s sleep. They watched carefully because either Lincoln Island could not be far off and they would discover it at daybreak, or the Bonadventure,
 because of the currents and the wind, had drifted far off course, and it would be almost impossible to correct its direction.

Pencroff, extremely uneasy, did not despair however, because he had a well tempered spirit. Seated at the helm, he endeavored obstinately to see through the darkness surrounding him.

About two o’clock in the morning, he suddenly got up:

“A light! A light!” he shouted.

And a bright flame indeed had appeared about twenty miles to the northeast. Lincoln Island was there and this fire, evidently lit by Cyrus Smith, indicated the route to follow.

Pencroff, sailing too much to the north, altered his direction and steered directly toward this fire which gleamed on the horizon like a star of the first magnitude.



CHAPTER XV





T

 he next day—October 20th
1

 —at seven o’clock in the morning, after a voyage of four days, the Bonadventure
 gently slid onto the beach at the mouth of the Mercy.

Cyrus Smith and Neb, very anxious about the bad weather and the prolonged absence of their companions, had climbed to Grand View Plateau at daybreak and had finally seen the boat which had been so long in returning.

“God be praised! There they are!” Cyrus Smith exclaimed.

Neb, in his joy, had begun to dance and to spin around, clapping his hands and shouting: “Oh! My master!”—an exhibition more touching than the finest speech.
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 “A light! A light!”





 The engineer’s first thought, on counting the people that he could see on the bridge of the Bonadventure,
 was that Pencroff had not found the castaway of Tabor Island or that, at least, the unfortunate man had refused to leave his island to exchange one prison for another.

And indeed, Pencroff, Gideon Spilett and Harbert were alone on the bridge of the Bonadventure.


At the moment when the boat came ashore, the engineer and Neb were waiting on the beach and, before the passengers could jump to the sand, Cyrus Smith said to them:

“We’ve been very uneasy at your delay, my friends. Have you met with any difficulty?”

“No,” replied Gideon Spilett, “on the contrary, everything went well. We’ll tell you about it.”

“However,” continued the engineer, “have you failed in your search? There are only three of you, the same as when you left!”

“Excuse me, Mr. Cyrus,” replied the sailor, “we’re four!”

“You found this castaway?”

“Yes.”

“And you brought him back?”

“Yes.”

“Alive?”

“Yes.”

“Where is he? What is he?”

“He is,” replied the reporter, “or, rather, he was a man. That Cyrus, is all that we can tell you!”

The engineer was soon brought up to date on what had occurred during the trip. They explained how the search had been conducted, how the only dwelling on the islet had long been abandoned, how they finally captured a castaway who no longer seemed to belong to the human species.

“And the point is,” added Pencroff, “that I don’t know if we were right in bringing him here.”

“Certainly you were right, Pencroff,” replied the engineer earnestly.

“But this poor man no longer has his reason.”

“That’s possible, now,” answered Cyrus Smith. “But, scarcely several 
 months ago, this poor wretch was a man like you or me. And who knows what will become of the last survivor among us after a long solitude on this island? It’s a misfortune to be alone, my friends, and it seems that loneliness has quickly destroyed his sanity since you found this poor soul in such a condition.”

“But, Mr. Cyrus,” asked Harbert, “what leads you to believe that the brutishness of this unfortunate occurred only a few months ago?”

“Because the document we found was written recently,” replied the engineer, “and only the castaway could have written it.”

“Assuming,” said Gideon Spilett, “that it wasn’t composed by a companion of this man, since dead.”

“That’s impossible, my dear Spilett.”

“Why?” asked the reporter.

“Because the document would have mentioned two castaways,” answered Cyrus Smith, “but it only spoke of one.”

Harbert briefly related the events of the return crossing and noted especially this strange, temporary return of the prisoner’s senses when, for a moment, he once again became a sailor at the height of the storm.

“Well, Harbert,” replied the engineer, “you’re right to attach great importance to this fact. This unfortunate man is not incurable; it’s despair that has made him what he is. But now he is among his fellow beings and, since he still has a soul within him, this soul we’ll save!”

The castaway of Tabor Island, to the great pity of the engineer and to the great astonishment of Neb, was then escorted from the forward cabin that he occupied on the Bonadventure.
 Once on land, his first impulse was to flee.

But Cyrus Smith approached him, put his hand on his shoulder with a gesture full of authority, and looked at him with infinite gentleness. Immediately, the poor wretch, submitting to a kind of instantaneous domination, became calmer little by little, his eyes lowered, his head dropped forward, and he made no more resistance.

“This poor forsaken man!” murmured the engineer.

Cyrus Smith looked at him carefully. Judging from his appearance, the castaway no longer had anything human about him, but Cyrus Smith, as the reporter had done earlier, detected in his eyes an elusive glimmer of intelligence.

They decided that the castaway, or rather the stranger—because this is what his new companions would henceforth call him—would remain in one of the rooms of Granite House from which he could not escape. They escorted him there without difficulty and, with good care, they hoped that one day he would join them as another companion among the colonists of Lincoln Island.
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 Cyrus Smith put a hand on his shoulder.





 During a breakfast that Neb quickly prepared since the reporter, Harbert, and Pencroff were famished, they explained in detail to Cyrus Smith all the events concerning the exploration of the islet. He agreed with his friends that the stranger had to be either British or American because the name Britannia suggested this, and moreover, under his unkempt beard, under this hairy growth, the engineer thought that he recognized the characteristic features of an Anglo-Saxon.

“But,” said Gideon Spilett to Harbert, “you didn’t tell us how you encountered this savage, and all we know is that he would have strangled you if we didn’t luckily arrive in time to save you.”

“Dear me,” replied Harbert, “I’m not sure I can say exactly what happened. I was, I believe, busy collecting some plants when I heard a noise like an avalanche falling from a tree. I scarcely had time to turn around … This poor creature was doubtless hiding in a tree and fell upon me in less time than I can tell you about it and, without Mr. Spilett and Pencroff …”

“My child,” said Cyrus Smith, “you put yourself in real danger, but if you hadn’t, perhaps this unfortunate man would’ve remained in hiding, and now we would not have an additional companion.”

“You hope then, Cyrus, to rehabilitate him?” asked the reporter.

“Yes,” replied the engineer.

At the meal’s end, Cyrus Smith and his companions left Granite House and returned to the beach where they unloaded the Bonadventure.
 The engineer examined the arms and the tools, but he saw nothing that would establish the identity of the stranger.

The capture of the pigs was deemed to be of great profit for Lincoln Island, and these animals were taken to the stables to which they would easily became accustomed.

The two barrels containing powder and shot, as well as the primer caps, were also very well received. They agreed to establish a small arsenal either outside Granite House or even in the upper cavern where there was no fear of the effects of an explosion. Nevertheless, the use of pyroxyle would be continued because this substance gave excellent results, and there was no reason to substitute ordinary powder for it.


 When they finished unloading the boat:

“Mr. Cyrus,” said Pencroff, “I think that it would be prudent to moor our Bonadventure
 in a secure place.”

“Isn’t it safe here at the mouth of the Mercy?” asked Cyrus Smith.

“No, Mr. Cyrus,” replied the sailor. “Half the time, she is aground on the sand which puts a great strain on her. She’s a good boat, as you can see, and she behaved well during the windstorm that struck us so violently on our way back.”

“Can’t we leave her afloat on the river?”

“Doubtless, Mister Cyrus, we could do that, but it’s unsheltered, and with the winds from the east, I believe that the Bonadventure
 would suffer much from the sea.”

“Well, where would you like to moor her, Pencroff?”

“At Port Balloon,” replied the sailor. “This small creek, protected by the rocks, seems to me to be just the port we need.”

“Isn’t it a little far?”

“Bah! It’s not more than three miles from Granite House, and we have a fine straight road to take us there.”

“Very well, Pencroff. Take your Bonadventure
 there,” replied the engineer. “Nevertheless I would much prefer to have it under closer watch. When we have the time, we must make a small port for it.”

“Wonderful!” exclaimed Pencroff. “A port with a lighthouse, a breakwater, and a repair dock! Ah, truly, with you Mister Cyrus, everything becomes easy!”

“Yes, my worthy Pencroff,” replied the engineer, “but on the condition, however, that you help me because you are good for three quarters of all our work!”

Harbert and the sailor then went back on board the Bonadventure.
 The anchor was raised, the sail hoisted, and the wind rapidly brought it to Cape Claw. Two hours later, it was resting on the tranquil waters of Port Balloon.

During the first few days that the stranger spent at Granite House, did he give them reason to think that his savage nature was changing? Did some intense spark shine deep within his darkened mind? Would the soul return to the body? Yes, assuredly, and Cyrus Smith and the reporter began to wonder if human reason had ever totally forsaken him.

Since he was accustomed to the wide open spaces and unlimited liberty of Tabor Island, the stranger at first reacted to his new home 
 with muted fury, and they feared that he would leap from one of the windows of Granite House to the beach below. But, little by little, he became calm and they were able to permit him to move about freely.

They had good reason for hope. Already forgetting his carnivorous instincts, the stranger soon accepted a less bestial form of nourishment than that which had kept him alive on the islet. Cooked meat no longer produced in him the revulsion that he had manifested on board the Bonadventure.


Cyrus Smith took advantage of a moment when he was asleep to cut his hair and unkempt beard which had grown like a kind of mane about his face, giving him a savage appearance. He also removed the rag which covered him and dressed him in more appropriate clothing. As a result, the stranger now appeared more like a human being, and it even seemed that his eyes grew more gentle. Once animated by intelligence, the face of this man must have certainly been handsome.

Each day Cyrus Smith made a point of spending a few hours in his company. He worked near him and occupied himself with various tasks to capture his attention. A single spark would suffice to reignite the light of reason in this man; a single memory crossing his mind would help to bring back his sanity. They had clearly witnessed this on board the Bonadventure
 during the storm.

The engineer also spoke to him in a loud voice so as to penetrate, via both sight and sound, the depths of his dulled consciousness. Sometimes, one or more of his companions would join him, and they would often speak of matters pertaining to the sea which would be of most interest to a sailor. At times, the stranger seemed to pay some attention to what was said, and the colonists soon concluded that he partly understood them. Sometimes, his expression appeared to be deeply pained, proving that he suffered inwardly. Although his face clearly indicated his torment, and although there were many moments when they believed he had some words at the tip of his tongue, he did not speak.

Be that as it may, the poor soul continued to remain calm and sad. But was his calm only apparent? Was his sadness only the consequence of his being confined? They could not be sure. Seeing only certain objects in a limited space and having contact only with the colonists, having no needs to satisfy, having better food and better clothing, it was natural that his physical nature should gradually change. But 
 did this signify a new life for him or, rather, to use a word which might well apply to him, was he merely becoming tame like an animal in the presence of his master? This was an important question that Cyrus Smith wanted to resolve quickly, yet he did not wish to rush his patient. For him, the stranger was indeed a patient. Would he ever become a convalescent?

The engineer observed him constantly. If one can express it thus, he laid in wait for the man’s soul to show itself, and he was ready to seize it!

The colonists followed with sincere interest all the phases of this cure undertaken by Cyrus Smith. They also helped him with this humane work, and all, except perhaps for the incredulous Pencroff, soon began to share his hope and his faith.

The stranger’s silence was deep, but he exhibited a kind of attachment to the engineer who had a visible influence on him. Cyrus Smith decided to test this by taking him to other surroundings: to this ocean which he had formerly contemplated so often, and to the edge of the forest which might remind him of places where he spent many years of his life.

“But,” said Gideon Spilett, “can we hope that, once given his freedom, he won’t escape?”

“That’s an experiment we must make,” replied the engineer.

“All right,” said Pencroff. “But, when this fellow finds open spaces in front of him, and he inhales the fresh air, he’ll be off as fast as his legs can carry him!”

“I don’t believe that,” replied Cyrus Smith.

“Let’s give it a try,” said Gideon Spilett.

“Yes, let’s try it,” answered the engineer.

This day was October 30th, nine days since the castaway from Tabor Island had become a prisoner at Granite House.
2

 It was warm, and a bright sun cast its rays on the island.

Cyrus Smith and Pencroff went to the room occupied by the stranger and found him leaning out the window looking at the sky.

“Come, my friend,” the engineer said to him.

The stranger immediately got up. With his eyes fixed on Cyrus Smith, he followed him. The sailor, having little confidence in the result of this experiment, walked behind him.

Arriving at the door, Cyrus Smith and Pencroff made him take his place in the elevator while Neb, Harbert, and Gideon Spilett waited for them below at the foot of Granite House. The basket descended and, in a few moments, all were together on the shore. The colonists moved away from the stranger so as to give him some liberty.
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 He gave a deep sigh.





 The latter took a few steps, advancing toward the sea. His eyes shone with extreme animation, but he did not seek to escape. He looked at the small waves which, broken by the islet, died away on the sand.

“This is still only the sea,” noted Gideon Spilett, “and it’s possible that it doesn’t inspire him with the desire to escape.”

“Yes,” replied Cyrus Smith, “we must take him to the plateau, to the edge of the forest. There the experiment will be more conclusive.”

“Besides, he can’t escape,” observed Neb, “since the bridges are raised.”

“Oh!” said Pencroff, “a man like this won’t be inconvenienced by a stream such as Glycerin Creek. He’ll cross it in a single bound.”

“We’ll soon see,” Cyrus Smith briefly replied, not taking his eyes away from those of his patient.

The latter was taken to the mouth of the Mercy, and they all ascended the left bank of the river, reaching Grand View Plateau.

Arriving at the outskirts of the forest, whose handsome trees were gently rustling in the breeze, the stranger seemed to drink in the intoxicating scent that permeated the air, and he gave a deep sigh.

The colonists remained some paces behind, ready to seize him if he should try to escape.

And the poor man was indeed on the point of plunging into the creek that separated him from the forest; for a moment, his legs were ready to spring … Then, almost at once, he stepped back, dropped to his knees, and large tears flowed from his eyes!

“Ah!” said Cyrus Smith, “since you are crying, you have once again become a man!”



CHAPTER XVI




 
Y

 es, the unfortunate man had cried! No doubt, some memory had crossed his mind and, to use Cyrus Smith’s expression, he had once again, by his tears, become a man.

The colonists left him for a moment on the plateau and even drew back a little so that he would feel perfectly free; but he no longer thought of taking advantage of this liberty, and Cyrus Smith soon decided to bring him back to Granite House.

Two days after this event, the stranger seemed to want to take part, little by little, in the community life. It was evident that he heard and that he understood, but it was clear that he was unusually obstinate in not speaking to the colonists because, one evening, Pencroff put his ear to the door of his room and heard these words escape from his lips:

“No! here! me! never!”

The sailor related these words to his companions.

“There’s some painful mystery here,” said Cyrus Smith.

The stranger had begun to make use of their tools and worked in the garden. When he paused in his work, which was often, he remained somewhat self-absorbed; but, on the engineer’s recommendation, they respected this isolation which he apparently wished to protect. If one of the colonists approached him, he recoiled, and his chest appeared to heave with choked sobs.

Was he overcome by remorse? It seemed so, and Gideon Spilett could not refrain one day from making this observation:

“If he doesn’t speak, it’s because, I believe, that he has on his mind things which are too terrible to talk about.”

They would have to be patient and wait.

Several days later, November 3rd, the stranger, working on the plateau, stopped and let his spade fall to the ground. Cyrus Smith, who observed him a little distance away, saw the tears flow from his eyes once more. An irresistible sense of pity drew him toward the man, and he gently touched his arm.

“My friend,” he said.

The stranger tried to avoid his gaze and, when Cyrus Smith attempted to take his hand, he withdrew.


 “My friend,” said Cyrus Smith in a firm voice, “I want you to look at me.”

The stranger looked at the engineer and seemed to be under his spell like a person under the gaze of a hypnotist. He wanted to flee. But then his countenance suddenly changed; his eyes flashed; words which he could no longer hold back rose to his lips. Finally he crossed his arms and, in a hollow voice, he asked Cyrus Smith:

“Who are you?”

“Castaways, like yourself,” replied the engineer, with deep emotion. “We’ve brought you here to be with your fellow men.”

“My fellow men! … I don’t have any!”

“You’re among friends …”

“Friends! … me! friends!” The stranger exclaimed, hiding his head in his hands. “No … never … leave me alone … leave me alone!”

Then he ran to the edge of the plateau which overlooked the sea and remained there, motionless, for a long time.

Cyrus Smith rejoined his companions and related what had occurred.

“Yes. There is a definitely mystery in this man’s life,” said Gideon Spilett, “and it seems that he will return to humanity only by the path of remorse.”

“I hardly know what kind of man we’ve brought back here,” said the sailor. “He has secrets …”

“Which we will respect,” Cyrus Smith instantly replied. “If he has committed some wrong, he has expiated it in the most severe way, and, in our eyes, he is absolved.”

For two hours, the stranger remained alone, obviously struggling with the memories of his past—a sinister past, no doubt—and the colonists, without losing sight of him, did not disturb his privacy.

After two hours, however, he seemed to have come to a decision, and he went to find Cyrus Smith. His eyes were red from tears, but he was no longer crying. His entire countenance reflected a profound humility; he appeared apprehensive and ashamed, with his eyes lowered to the ground.

“Sir,” he said to Cyrus Smith, “your companions and you, are you British?”

“No,” replied the engineer, “we’re Americans.”

“Ah!” said the stranger, and he murmured these words:

“I much prefer that.”
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 “Who are you?” he asked Smith.





 “And you, my friend?” asked the engineer.

“British,” he answered immediately.

And, as if these few words had been very hard for him to utter, he paced the shore between the falls and the mouth of the Mercy in a state of extreme agitation.

Then, passing near Harbert at one moment, he stopped, and in a strangled voice:

“What month?” he asked him.

“December,”
1

 replied Harbert.

“What year?”

“1866.”

“Twelve years! twelve years,” he exclaimed. Then he abruptly turned away.

Harbert related this incident to the colonists.

“This poor man,” Gideon Spilett observed, “completely lost track of the months and years.”

“Yes,” added Harbert, “and he’d already been on the islet for twelve years when we found him there.”

“Twelve years!” replied Cyrus Smith. “Twelve years of isolation, perhaps after a wicked life; that could deprive any man of his sanity.”

“I can’t help thinking,” Pencroff then said, “that this man didn’t reach Tabor Island as a castaway but that, following some crime, he was abandoned there on purpose.”

“You may be right, Pencroff,” replied the reporter. “And if that’s so, it’s not impossible that those who left him there will return to look for him one day.”

“And they’ll no longer find him,” said Harbert.

“In which case,” suggested Pencroff, “we should return and …”

“My friends,” said Cyrus Smith, “let’s not consider this question before we know what we’re dealing with. I believe that this unfortunate man has suffered, that he has paid bitterly for his crimes, whatever they may have been, and that he’s struggling with the need to open his heart to someone. Let’s not prod him to explain his past. He’ll doubtless tell us sooner or later. And, when we’ve learned it, we’ll see what course of action is best to follow. Besides, he alone can tell us if, beyond mere hope, he had reason to believe that he’d be rescued one day, but I doubt it!”

“And why?” asked the reporter.

“Because, if he had been assured of being released within a certain 
 period of time, he would have waited for the hour of his deliverance and would not have thrown this document into the sea. No, it’s likely that he was condemned to die on this islet, to never see his own kind again.”

“But,” noted the sailor, “there’s one thing I can’t figure out.”

“Which is?”

“If this man was abandoned on Tabor Island twelve years ago, then we may safely suppose that he had already been, for many years, in the savage state in which we found him.”

“That’s likely,” replied Cyrus Smith.

“It would, therefore, have been many years since he wrote this document.”

“Without a doubt … and yet the document seems to have been written recently! …”

“Further, it’s highly improbable that the bottle which contained the document would’ve taken several years to go from Tabor Island to Lincoln Island.”

“That’s not absolutely impossible,” said the reporter. “Couldn’t it have been a long time in the vicinity of the island?”

“No,” replied Pencroff, “because it was still floating. We can’t even assume that, after laying on the beach for a time, it might’ve been carried back out to the sea because there are so many rocks on the southern coast that it would’ve surely broken.”

“That’s true,” answered Cyrus Smith, who remained absorbed in thought.

“What’s more,” added the sailor, “if the document was written several years ago, and if it indeed remained in this bottle for all that time, it would’ve certainly been damaged by the dampness. But that’s not the case at all; we find it in perfect condition!”

The sailor was right. It was an inexplicable fact, because when the colonists found the document in the bottle, it seemed to have been recently written. In addition, its precision on the position of Tabor Island in latitude and in longitude implied that its author had a rather complete knowledge of hydrography which a simple sailor could not have.

“Once again, we have a mystery here,” said the engineer. “But let’s not compel our new companion to speak just yet. When he wishes it, my friends, we’ll be ready to listen to him.”

During the days which followed, the stranger did not say a word 
 nor did he at any time leave the confines of the plateau. He worked in the garden, constantly and without rest, but always in solitude. At mealtimes, he did not join them at Granite House, although invited several times to do so; he preferred to remain alone and ate uncooked vegetables. In the evening, he did not go back to the room which had been assigned to him but, rather, stayed outside under a cluster of trees or, when the weather was bad, curled up in some cavity among the rocks. Thus, he again reverted to his earlier life when there had been no other shelter than the forests of Tabor Island. Since any attempt to get him to change was in vain, the colonists waited patiently. But the time would finally come when his conscience would force him to confess his terrible crimes.

On November 10th, at dusk about eight o’clock in the evening, the stranger unexpectedly approached the colonists gathered under the veranda. His eyes were blazing strangely and his entire person had taken on the fierce aspect of his former days.

Cyrus Smith and his companions were taken aback on seeing him under the influence of this terrible emotion, his teeth chattering like someone with a fever. What was wrong with him? Was the sight of his fellow men unbearable? Had he had enough of this honest existence? Did he wish to return to his brutish life? They were led to think so, as they heard him blurt out, in broken sentences:

“Why am I here? … What right did you have to drag me from my islet? … Is there any bond between you and me? … Do you know who I am … what I’ve done … why I was there … alone? And how do you know that I wasn’t abandoned there … that I wasn’t condemned to die there? … Do you know my past? … How do you know that I’m not a thief, a murderer … that I’m not a wretch … an evil person … fit to live like a wild beast … away from everyone … speak … do you know this?”

The colonists listened without interrupting the unfortunate man who was half confessing in spite of himself. Cyrus Smith, wanting to calm him, approached, but he drew back.

“No!, no!” he shouted. “One word only … am I free?”

“You’re free,” replied the engineer.

“Goodbye then!” he cried, and fled like a madman.

Neb, Pencroff and Harbert immediately ran to the edge of the forest … but they returned alone.

“He needs to get away,” said Cyrus Smith.


 “He’ll never return …” exclaimed Pencroff.

“He’ll return,” replied the engineer.

And many days passed. But Cyrus Smith—was it a kind of premonition?—persisted in the firm belief that the poor man would come back sooner or later.

“It’s the last struggle of his wild nature,” he said, “which has now been touched by remorse and will be terrified by a new isolation.”

Meanwhile, work of all kinds was continued, both at Grand View Plateau as well as at the corral where Cyrus Smith intended to build a farm. It goes without saying that the seed collected by Harbert on Tabor Island had been carefully planted. The plateau became a large kitchen garden, well designed and well maintained, and the colonists were kept very busy tending it. As the vegetables multiplied, they had to enlarge the beds which tended to grow into real fields, replacing the prairie. But forage was plentiful in other parts of the island, and the onagers never had to fear a rationing of their food. Moreover, it was better to transform Grand View Plateau into an enclosed garden, protected as it was by its perimeter of deep creeks, and to leave the prairie grasslands on the outside since they did not need to be defended against the ravages of quadrumanes and quadrupeds.

On November 15th, they had their third harvest. The field had indeed grown in the eighteen months since their first wheat seed had been planted. The second harvest of 600,000 grains this time produced 4,000 bushels, more than 500 million grains. The colony was rich in wheat because they would sow only about ten bushels each year to assure the constant nourishment of everyone, both man and beast.

The wheat harvest was finished, and they devoted the last half of November to making bread.

They had the grain but not the flour, so the construction of a mill was necessary. Cyrus Smith could have used the second waterfall which overflowed into the Mercy for his motor power, the first being already used to drive the rammers of the fulling mill; but, after discussion, it was decided that they would build a simple windmill on the heights of Grand View. Constructing one did not offer any more difficulty than constructing the other, and they were also sure that there would be no lack of wind on this plateau exposed as it was to the open sea.


 “What’s more,” said Pencroff, “this windmill will be picturesque and will add much to the landscape!”

They began the work by choosing timber for the framework of the housing and for the mechanism of the mill. Several large sandstones found to the north of the lake were easily transformed into grindstones, and the inexhaustible envelope of the balloon furnished the necessary cloth for its sails.

Cyrus Smith made up the plans, and the mill was built a little to the right of the poultry yard, near the banks of the lake. The housing rested on a pivot, held in place by heavy timbers, so that it could turn, along with the entire mechanism which it contained, toward any quarter of the wind.

This work was quickly accomplished. Neb and Pencroff had become very skillful carpenters, and they had only to follow the plans furnished by the engineer. A sort of cylindrical turret, in the shape of a giant pepperpot topped with a high pitched roof, soon rose at the designated place. The four frames which made up the windmill’s arms were firmly implanted into a shaft at the correct angle and were fixed to it by means of iron bolts. As to the various parts of the internal mechanism—the box destined to contain the two grindstones, the stationary stone and the turning stone, the hopper which was a sort of square spout, large on top and narrow at the base, which would permit the grains to fall on the grindstones, the oscillating spout designed to regulate the flow of grain whose perpetual tic-tac would give it the name of “blabbermouth,” and finally the sieve which, by the operation of the sifter, separated the bran from the flour—all these were constructed without difficulty. The tools were good and the work was easy because, in short, the mechanics of a mill are quite simple and required only the time to build it. With everyone working on it, the windmill was completed on December 1st.

As always, Pencroff was delighted with his handiwork, and he had no doubt that his apparatus was perfect.

“Now for a good wind,” he said, “and we’ll merrily grind our first harvest.”

“A good wind, so be it,” replied the engineer, “but not too much wind, Pencroff.”

“Bah! our mill will only turn faster.”

“It’s not necessary that it turn very fast,” added Cyrus Smith. “It’s 
 known from experience that a mill produces the most when the number of rotations of the arms per minute is six times the speed of the wind in feet per second. With a moderate breeze of twenty four feet per second, it will impart sixteen revolutions per minute to the arms, which is all we need.”
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Pencroff was delighted with his handiwork.





 “As a matter of fact,” exclaimed Harbert, “right now there’s a nice breeze blowing from the northeast which will do perfectly!”

There was no reason to delay the inauguration of the mill because the colonists were anxious to taste the first piece of bread from Lincoln Island. That afternoon, two or three bushels of wheat were ground and the next day, at lunch, a magnificent loaf, a bit compact perhaps even though raised with brewer’s yeast, appeared on the table of Granite House. Everyone ate to his heart’s content and with the greatest pleasure.

Meanwhile, the stranger had not reappeared. Several times, Gideon Spilett and Harbert had gone to the forest in the neighborhood of Granite House without encountering him or finding any trace of him. They were very concerned about this prolonged disappearance. Certainly the former savage from Tabor Island would have no difficulty keeping alive in these forests of the Far West that were so full of game, but wasn’t it to be feared that he would return to his old habits and that this independence would revive his wild instincts? But Cyrus Smith, almost as if he could foresee the future, persistently assured them that the fugitive would indeed return.

“Yes, he’ll return,” he repeated with a confidence which his companions could not share. “When this unfortunate man was on Tabor Island, he knew he was alone. But, here, he knows that his fellow beings await him. Since he has partially spoken of his past life, he is on the road to repentance, and he’ll no doubt return to tell us the entire story. On that day, he’ll be one of us!”

The following event showed that Cyrus Smith was right.

On December 3rd, Harbert left Grand View Plateau to go fishing on the southern bank of the lake. He carried no weapons and, until then, no precaution had been needed since the dangerous animals had not shown themselves on this part of the island.

During this time, Pencroff and Neb were working at the poultry yard while Cyrus Smith and the reporter were at the Chimneys making soda, their supply of soap having run out.

Suddenly, shouts were heard:

“Help! Help me!”

Cyrus Smith and the reporter, too far away, could not hear them. Pencroff and Neb, however, quickly abandoned the poultry yard and rushed toward the lake.

As they arrived they saw the stranger, whose presence in this neighborhood 
 no one suspected, jumping across Glycerin Creek which separated the plateau from the forest.
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He seized the jaguar by the throat.




There, Harbert was face to face with a formidable jaguar which resembled the one that had been killed at Reptile Promontory. Taken by surprise, he stood with his back against a tree while the animal, 
 crouching on his haunches, prepared to pounce upon him … But the stranger, without any weapon other than a knife, rushed toward the fearsome beast who then turned toward this new adversary.

The battle was a short one. The stranger had strength and prodigious skill. With one hand, as powerful as a vice, he seized the jaguar by the throat without heeding the beast’s claws which tore at his flesh, and, with the other, he plunged his knife into the animal’s heart.

The jaguar fell. The stranger kicked it aside and was about to flee just as the colonists reached the field of battle. Harbert held him back shouting:

“No! No! You mustn’t go away!”

Cyrus Smith went toward the stranger who frowned when he saw him approach.
2

 The blood was flowing under his torn shirt but he took no notice of it.

“My friend,” Cyrus Smith said to him, “we’re indebted to you. You risked your life to save our child.”

“My life!” murmured the stranger. “What’s it worth? Less than nothing.”

“You’re wounded.”

“That’s of little importance.”

“Will you give me your hand?”

And, as Harbert tried to grasp the hand that had saved him, the stranger crossed his arms, his chest heaved, his look became clouded, and he appeared to want to flee. But, making a violent effort to control himself, he said in an abrupt tone:

“Who are you?” he asked. “And what do you claim to be to me?”

He was asking for the colonists’ story for the first time. Perhaps, if this story was related, would he tell his own?

In a few words, Cyrus Smith explained all that had occurred since their departure from Richmond, how they had managed to survive, and what resources were now available to them.

The stranger listened carefully.

The engineer told him who they all were, Gideon Spilett, Harbert, Pencroff, Neb, and himself, and then added that the greatest joy that they had experienced since their arrival on Lincoln Island was their return from the islet where they had discovered an additional companion.

At these words, the latter blushed, bowed his head to his chest, and seemed very confused.


 “And now that you know about us,” added Cyrus Smith, “will you give us your hand?”

“No,” replied the stranger in a hollow voice, “no! You, you’re honest men! Whereas I …”



CHAPTER XVII





T

 hese last words justified the colonists’ premonitions. There was some sinister past in this poor wretch’s life, expiated perhaps in the eyes of men, but his conscience had still not absolved him. The criminal felt remorse, he had repented, but this hand that was asked of him, which his new friends would have cordially grasped, he did not feel worthy to offer honest men. Nevertheless, after the episode with the jaguar, he did not return to the forest and, from that day forward, remained within the grounds of Granite House.

What was his mystery? Would the stranger speak of it one day? Only time would tell. In the interim, it was agreed that they would never ask him about his secret and that they would live with him as if they suspected nothing.

For several days, the community life continued as it had always been. Cyrus Smith and Gideon Spilett worked together sometimes as chemists and sometimes as physicists. The reporter left the engineer only to hunt with Harbert because it would not have been prudent to let the lad roam the forest alone, and they had to be on guard. As for Neb and Pencroff, spending one day at the stables or the poultry yard, another at the corral, not counting the many tasks at Granite House, they had no lack of work.

The stranger worked alone, and he resumed his usual existence, never present at mealtime, sleeping under some trees on the plateau, and never mingling with his companions. It truly seemed that the society of those who had saved him was unbearable to him.

“But then,” observed Pencroff, “why did he ask for the help of his fellow men? Why did he throw this document into the sea?”

“He’ll tell us,” Cyrus Smith invariably replied.

“When?”

“Perhaps sooner than you think, Pencroff.”
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 Ayrton.




And indeed, the day of confession was very near.

On December 10th, a week after his return to Granite House, Cyrus Smith saw the stranger coming to him. With a calm voice and a humble tone he said to him:

“Sir, I have a request to ask of you.”


 “Speak,” replied the engineer, “but, first, let me ask you a question.”

At these words, the stranger blushed and was ready to turn away. Cyrus Smith understood what transpired in the guilty man’s soul. He was doubtless afraid that the engineer would question him about his past.

Cyrus Smith held him back.

“Comrade,” he said to him, “not only are we your companions, but we’re also your friends. I wanted to say this to you, and now I will listen to you.”

The stranger passed his hands over his eyes. He trembled and, for a few moments, he could not say a word.

“Sir,” he said finally, “I came to beg you to grant me a favor.”

“What?”

“Four or five miles from here, at the foot of the mountain, you have a corral for your domestic animals. These animals need to be cared for. Will you permit me to live there with them?”

Cyrus Smith looked at the unfortunate man for a few moments with a sentiment of deep compassion. Then:

“My friend,” he said, “the corral only has stables hardly fit for animals …”

“It will be good enough for me, sir.”

“My friend,” replied Cyrus Smith, “we’ll never interfere with you on anything. If you wish to live at the corral, so be it. You will, however, always be welcome at Granite House. But, since you wish to live at the corral, we will make the necessary arrangements for your comfort.”

“That’s not important. I’ll manage well enough.”

“My friend,” replied Cyrus Smith, who purposefully used this cordial title, “you must allow us to be the judge of that.”

“Thank you, sir,” replied the stranger, leaving.

The engineer immediately told his companions about the proposition that had been made to him, and it was decided that they would construct a wooden house at the corral and that they would make it as comfortable as possible.

That very day, the colonists went to the corral with the necessary tools and, in less than a week, the house was ready to receive its guest. It had been raised some twenty feet above the stables where it would be easy to watch over the mouflon flocks which then counted more 
 than eighty head. Some furniture, a bed, a table, a bench, a wardrobe, and a chest were made, and some weapons, munitions and tools were brought to the corral.

The stranger, however, had not gone to see his new dwelling; he had allowed the colonists to work there without him, while he occupied himself on the plateau wanting to finish his work. As a result, thanks to him, all the fields had been plowed and were ready for sowing as soon as the time should come.

On the 20th of December, everything had been completed at the corral. The engineer announced to the stranger that his dwelling was ready to receive him, and the latter replied that he would sleep there that very night.

That evening, the colonists were gathered in the large hall of Granite House. It was then eight o’clock, the hour that their companion was to leave. Not wanting to inconvenience him by the need to say goodbye, which would perhaps be difficult for him, they had left him alone and had gone up to Granite House.

They had been chatting for a few moments in the hall when a light knock was heard on the door. Almost immediately the stranger entered and, without any further introduction:

“Gentlemen,” he said, “before I leave you, it is best that you know my story. Here it is.”

These simple words did not fail to impress Cyrus Smith and his companions.

The engineer got up.

“We ask nothing of you, my friend,” he said. “You have the right to remain silent …”

“It’s my duty to speak.”

“Be seated then.”

“I will remain standing.”

“We’re ready to listen to you,” replied Cyrus Smith.

The stranger stood in a corner of the room, partly in the shadows. His head was bare, his arms crossed on his chest, and in this posture, in a monotone voice like someone who was forcing himself to speak, he related the following story which his listeners did not once interrupt.

“On the 20th of December 1854, a steam pleasure yacht, the Duncan,
 belonging to the Scottish nobleman, Lord Glenarvan,
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 dropped anchor off Cape Bernouilli on the western coast of Australia near the 37th parallel. On board this yacht were Lord Glenarvan, his wife, a major of the British army, a French geographer, a young girl, and a young boy. These last two were the children of Captain Grant whose vessel, the Britannia,
 had been lost at sea the previous year. The Duncan
 was commanded by Captain John Mangles
2

 and carried a crew of fifteen men.
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 “It is my duty to speak.”




“This 
 is the reason that the yacht was off the coast of Australia at this time.

“Six months earlier, a bottle containing a document written in English, in German, and in French had been found in the Irish Sea and picked up by the Duncan.
 This document stated, in essence, that there were three survivors from the wreck of the Britannia,
 that these survivors were Captain Grant and two of his men, and that they had found refuge on a land whose latitude was given in the document but whose longitude was no longer legible, having been erased by the sea water.

“This latitude was 37°11′ South. The longitude being unknown, if they followed this thirty seventh parallel across the continents and the seas, they were certain to reach the land inhabited by Captain Grant and his two companions.

“The British admiralty hesitated to undertake this search, so Lord Glenarvan decided to attempt to find the captain himself. Mary and Robert Grant
3

 had been put in touch with him. His yacht, the Duncan,
 was equipped for a long voyage in which the lord’s family and the captain’s children would take part, and the Duncan,
 leaving Glasgow, crossed the Atlantic, passed through the Straits of Magellan, and went up the Pacific to Patagonia where, according to a first interpretation of the document, they thought Captain Grant was a prisoner of the natives.

“The Duncan
 left its passengers on the western coast of Patagonia and departed in order to pick them up again on the eastern coast at Cape Corrientes.
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“Lord Glenarvan crossed Patagonia following the thirty seventh parallel and, finding no trace of the captain, he embarked again on the 13th of November, to pursue his search across the ocean.

“After unsuccessfully visiting the islands of Tristan de Acunha and Amsterdam, situated along his course, the Duncan
 then arrived at Cape Bernouilli on the Australian coast on the 20th of December 1854.


 “It was the intention of Lord Glenarvan to cross Australia as he had crossed America and he landed. A few miles from the shore was a farm belonging to an Irishman who offered his hospitality to the travelers. Lord Glenarvan explained to this Irishman what had brought them to these parts, and he asked him if he knew about the three masted British vessel, the Britannia,
 which was lost less than two years earlier on the western coast of Australia.

“The Irishman had never heard anyone speak about this wreck; but, to the great surprise of all present, one of the Irishman’s employees intervened and said:

“‘My lord, praise and thank God. If Captain Grant is still living, he is living on Australian soil.’

“‘Who are you?’ asked Lord Glenarvan.

“‘A Scotsman like yourself, my lord,’ replied this man, ‘and I am one of the companions of Captain Grant, one of the castaways of the Britannia.
 ’

“This man was called Ayrton.
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 He was, in fact, the first mate of the Britannia,
 as his papers proved. But, separated from Captain Grant at the moment when the vessel was wrecked on the reef, he had believed until then that his captain had perished along with the entire crew and that he, Ayrton, was its only survivor.

“‘Only,’ he added, ‘it was not on the west coast but on the east coast of Australia that the Britannia
 was lost and, if Captain Grant is still living, as the document indicates, then he is a prisoner of the Australian natives, and it is on the other coast that you must look for him.’

“This man spoke with a clear voice and with an assured look. They did not doubt his words. The Irishman, in whose service he had been for a year, vouched for him. Lord Glenarvan believed in this man’s honesty and thanks to his advice, he resolved to cross Australia following the 37th parallel. Lord Glenarvan, his wife, the two children, the major, the Frenchman, Captain Mangles, and several crewmen made up the small group under Ayrton’s direction while the Duncan,
 commanded by the second mate, Tom Austin, went on to Melbourne, there to await Lord Glenarvan’s instructions.

“They left on the 23rd of December 1854.

“It is time to say that this Ayrton was a traitor. He was, in fact, the first mate of the Britannia,
 but, after a dispute with his captain, he had tried to stir the crew to mutiny and seize the vessel. As a result, 
 Captain Grant put him ashore on the western coast of Australia on the 8th of April 1852 and sailed off without him, which was only right.

“So this wretch knew nothing about the wreck of the Britannia.
 He had just learned of it from Glenarvan’s story! Since being abandoned, he had become, under the name of Ben Joyce,
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 the leader of some escaped convicts. If he brazenly maintained that the wreck had taken place on the eastern coast, if he could get Lord Glenarvan to go in this direction, it was because he hoped to separate him from his vessel, seize the Duncan
 himself, and make this yacht a pirate ship in the Pacific.”

Here the stranger stopped for a moment. His voice trembled, but he continued with these words:

“The expedition left and began to cross Australia. It was naturally full of misfortune, since Ayrton—or Ben Joyce, if you wish—was leading it, sometimes preceded or sometimes followed by his band of convicts, who had been previously informed about the plot.

“Meanwhile, the Duncan
 had been sent to Melbourne for repairs. He tried to convince Lord Glenarvan to order the Duncan
 to leave Melbourne and sail to the eastern coast of Australia where it would be easy to seize. After having led the expedition near this coast, in the middle of vast forests where all resources were lacking, Ayrton obtained a letter which he was to carry to the second mate of the Duncan,
 a letter which gave the order for the yacht to proceed immediately to the eastern coast, to Twofold Bay, which was a few days travel from the place where the expedition had halted. It was there that Ayrton expected to rendez-vous with his accomplices.

“Just at the moment when the letter was about to be given to him, the traitor was unmasked and had to flee. But this letter, which would put the Duncan
 under his control, he had to have at all costs. Ayrton managed to get hold of it and, two days later, he arrived at Melbourne.

“Up to that point, the criminal’s odious plan had succeeded. If he could lead the Duncan
 to Twofold Bay where it would be easy for the convicts to seize it and massacre its crew, Ben Joyce would become the master of the seas … But God was to stop him before these sinister designs could be realized.

“Ayrton, arriving at Melbourne, gave the letter to the second, Tom Austin, who, obeying its instructions, departed immediately; 
 but imagine the disappointment and rage of Ayrton when, the day after weighing anchor, he found that the second was taking the vessel not to the eastern coast of Australia, to Twofold Bay, but rather to the eastern coast of New Zealand! He objected, but Austin showed him the letter. Thanks to a providential error made by the French geographer who had drafted the letter, the eastern coast of New Zealand was indicated as the destination.

“Ayrton’s plans had miscarried. He rebelled. They locked him up. He was taken to the coast of New Zealand not knowing what became of his accomplices or Lord Glenarvan.

“The Duncan
 cruised along the coast until the 3rd of March. On that day Ayrton heard gunfire. It was the Duncan
 ’s cannon firing, and soon Lord Glenarvan and all his party came on board.

“This is what had happened:

“After innumerable fatigues and dangers, Lord Glenarvan had been able to complete his journey and arrive at the eastern coast of Australia at Twofold Bay. No Duncan!
 He telegraphed Melbourne. They replied: ‘Duncan
 left on the 18th of this month. Destination unknown.’

“Lord Glenarvan could think of only one explanation: that the good yacht had fallen into the hands of Ben Joyce and had become a pirate vessel!

“Lord Glenarvan did not wish, however, to abandon his undertaking. He was a dauntless and noble man. He took passage on a merchant vessel to the western coast of New Zealand, and he crossed along the 37th parallel without finding any trace of Captain Grant. But on the other coast, to his great surprise and by the will of Heaven, he again found the Duncan
 under the command of the second mate, who had been waiting for him for five weeks!

“It was the 3rd of March 1855. Lord Glenarvan was now on board the Duncan,
 but Ayrton was also there. He was summoned to appear before the lord who wanted to extract from the bandit all that he knew on the subject of Captain Grant. Ayrton refused to speak. Lord Glenarvan told him that, at the next port, they would put him in the hands of British authorities. Ayrton remained silent.

“The Duncan
 resumed its journey along the 37th parallel. Meanwhile, Lady Glenarvan attempted to overcome the bandit’s obstinacy. Her influence finally swayed him, and Ayrton, in exchange for what he could tell, proposed to Lord Glenarvan that they abandon him 
 on one of the islets of the Pacific instead of delivering him to British authorities. Lord Glenarvan, anxious to learn all that he could concerning Captain Grant, consented.

“Ayrton then recounted his entire past, and he stated that he knew nothing from the day that Captain Grant had put him ashore on the Australian Coast.

“Lord Glenarvan nevertheless kept the promise he had made. The Duncan
 continued on its way and arrived at Tabor Island. It was there that Ayrton was to be left, and it was there also that, by a true miracle, they found Captain Grant and his two men, precisely on the 37th parallel. The convict was to take their place on this desert islet and, just as he was leaving the yacht, Lord Glenarvan spoke to him in these words:

“‘Here, Ayrton, you will be far from all land and without any possible communication with your fellow men. You will not be able to escape from this islet where the Duncan
 is leaving you. You will be alone, under the eye of God, who reads the very depths of our hearts, but you will be neither lost nor neglected as was Captain Grant. However unworthy you are to be remembered by men, men will remember you. I know where you are, Ayrton, and I know where to find you. I will never forget it!’

“And the Duncan
 got underway and soon disappeared.

“This was on the 18th of March 1855.*


“Ayrton was alone but he lacked neither munitions, nor weapons, nor tools, nor seed. The convict had available to him the house constructed by the honest Captain Grant. It only remained for him to expiate in seclusion the crimes that he had committed.

“Gentlemen, he repented, he was ashamed of his crimes and he suffered. He told himself that if, one day, men came to look for him on the islet, he must be worthy to return among them. How the wretch suffered! How he labored to redeem himself through work! How he begged for redemption through prayer!

“And so it was for two or three years. Ayrton, crushed by loneliness, 
 ever on the watch for some vessel to appear on the horizon, and constantly wondering if his period of expiation would soon be over, suffered as no one has ever suffered. Ah! how hard is solitude on a soul consumed by remorse!

“But doubtless Heaven did not consider him sufficiently punished. Little by little, the wretch felt himself becoming a savage and his animal instincts overcoming him. He cannot say if it was after two or four years of his imprisonment, but finally he became the beast that you found.

“I have no need to tell you, gentlemen, that Ayrton, Ben Joyce, and I are the same person.”

Cyrus Smith and his companions arose at the conclusion of this narrative. It is impossible to describe to what degree they were moved. Such misery, so much suffering and despair, laid out before them in all its raw detail!

“Ayrton,” Cyrus Smith then said, “you have been a hardened criminal, but Heaven must certainly consider that you have expiated your crimes. This is proven since you have now been returned to your fellow men. Ayrton, you are pardoned! And now, do you wish to be our companion?”

Ayrton drew back.

“Here is my hand,” said the engineer.

Ayrton rushed toward the hand that Cyrus Smith offered him and large tears flowed from his eyes.

“Do you want to live with us?” asked Cyrus Smith.

“Mr. Smith, give me a little more time,” replied Ayrton. “Let me remain alone in the hut at the corral”

“As you wish, Ayrton,” replied Cyrus Smith.

Ayrton was about to leave when the engineer addressed one last question to him:

“One final word, my friend. Since your intention was to live in isolation, why did you throw into the sea this document which put us on your trail?”

“A document?” answered Ayrton, who did not appear to understand what they were talking about.

“Yes, a document in a bottle which we found, which gave the exact position of Tabor Island.”

Ayrton passed his hand over his forehead. Then, after having thought about it:
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 “Here is my hand,” said the engineer.





 “I never threw any document into the sea!” he replied.

“Never?” exclaimed Pencroff.

“Never!”

And Ayrton bowed his head, went to the door, and left.


*
 The events which have been briefly related here are taken from a work which some of our readers have doubtless read and which is entitled The Children of Captain Grant.
 They will note on this occasion, as well as later, a certain contradiction in the dates; but also later, they will understand why the real dates could not have been given originally. (Editor’s note)
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CHAPTER XVIII





H

 arbert went to the door. He saw Ayrton slide down the elevator’s rope and disappear into the darkness.

“The poor man!” he said after he returned.

“He’ll come back,” said Cyrus Smith.

“So, Mr. Cyrus,” exclaimed Pencroff, “what do you say to that? If Ayrton didn’t throw this bottle into the sea, then who did?”

Surely, if ever a question had to be asked, this was it.

“It was he,” replied Neb, “only the poor soul was already half mad.”

“Yes!” said Harbert, “and he was no longer conscious of what he was doing.”

“That’s the only way to explain it, my friends,” Cyrus Smith answered at once, “and now I understand how Ayrton was able to indicate the exact position of Tabor Island since all the events that preceded his abandonment on the island were known to him.”

“However,” Pencroff noted, “if he still was not a brute when he wrote his document and if it has been seven or eight years since he threw it into the sea, why wasn’t the paper affected by the dampness?”

“That proves,” replied Cyrus Smith, “that Ayrton was deprived of his reason much more recently than he thinks.”

“That’s the way it must have happened,” observed Pencroff. “We can’t explain it otherwise.”

“Indeed, inexplicable,” agreed the engineer, who did not seem to want to prolong the conversation.

“But has Ayrton told the truth?” asked the sailor.

“Yes,” replied the reporter. “The story that he has told is true on all points. I clearly recall the accounts in the newspapers of Lord Glenarvan’s undertaking and the results he obtained.”

“Ayrton has told the truth,” added Cyrus Smith, “don’t doubt it, 
 Pencroff, because it was bitter for him. A man always tells the truth when accusing himself in this way.”

The next day—December 21st—the colonists descended to the beach. They climbed to the plateau and no longer found Ayrton there. Ayrton had reached his house at the corral during the night, and the colonists judged it best not to disturb him with their presence. Time would doubtless do what repeated encouragement had not been able to do.

Harbert, Pencroff, and Neb then resumed their usual occupations. On this day, Cyrus Smith and the reporter were together in the workshop at the Chimneys.

“Do you know, my dear Cyrus,” said Gideon Spilett, “that the explanation you gave yesterday on the subject of the bottle has not satisfied me at all. How can we admit that the poor fellow was able to write this document and throw the bottle into the sea without having any memory of it?”

“It wasn’t he who threw it in, my dear Spilett.”

“Then you still believe …”

“I believe nothing, I know nothing!” replied Cyrus Smith, interrupting the reporter. “I’m content to rank this incident among those which I haven’t been able to explain to this day!”

“Truthfully, Cyrus,” said Gideon Spilett, “these things are unbelievable! Your rescue, the chest thrown up on the beach, Top’s adventures, and now this bottle … Will we ever have some explanation to these enigmas?”

“Yes!” the engineer strongly asserted. “Yes! Even if I have to search the very bowels of this island!”

“Chance perhaps will give us the key to this mystery!”

“Chance, Spilett? I believe in chance no more than I believe in the mysteries of this world. There’s a reason for every unexplainable event that has occurred here and I’ll find it. But while waiting, let us watch and work.”

The month of January arrived, and the year 1867 began. Summer activities were carried on industriously. During the days which followed, Harbert and Gideon Spilett went to the corral and assured themselves that Ayrton had taken possession of the dwelling they had prepared for him. He busied himself with the numerous flocks confined to his care, saving his companions the trouble of coming every 
 two or three days to visit the corral. However, in order not to leave Ayrton alone for too long a time, the colonists visited him often.

As a result of certain suspicions shared by the engineer and Gideon Spilett, they felt that this part of the island should be subject to a certain surveillance and that Ayrton would be sure to inform the inhabitants of Granite House of any unexpected incident.

Any such incident might occur quickly however, and the engineer would need to be apprized immediately. Aside from those relating to the mystery of Lincoln Island, other events might take place which would call for the prompt intervention of the colonists, such as the appearance of a passing vessel on the open sea in view of the western coast, a wreck on the western shore, the possible arrival of pirates, etc.

Cyrus Smith therefore resolved to put the corral into instantaneous communication with Granite House.

On January 10th he told his companions about his plan.

“So, how do you intend to proceed, Mr. Cyrus?” asked Pencroff. “Are you by any chance thinking of installing a telegraph?”

“Precisely,” replied the engineer.

“Electric?” exclaimed Harbert.

“Electric,” answered Cyrus Smith. “We have all the elements necessary for making a battery; the most difficult part will be in drawing the iron wire, but, by means of a drawplate, I think that we can manage it.”

“Well, after this,” replied the sailor, “I expect someday to see us riding along in a railroad!”

They got to work and began with the most difficult task, the manufacture of the wires, because, if that should fail, it would be useless to make the battery and the other accessories.

The iron of Lincoln Island was of excellent quality and consequently very suitable for being drawn. Cyrus Smith made a drawplate, that is to say a steel plate pierced by conical holes of various sizes which would successively bring the wire to the desired diameter. This piece of steel, after having been tempered “to maximum hardness” as they would say in metallurgy, was firmly fastened to a frame dug into the ground only a few feet from the large falls, whose force the engineer was going to use once again.

Although not then in use, the fulling mill was still there, and its 
 main shaft, which turned with great power, would serve to draw the wire and roll it into coils.

The operation was delicate and required much care. The iron, previously prepared in long thin columns whose ends had been thinned with a file, was introduced into the largest caliber of the drawplate, drawn out by the shaft and rolled to a length of twenty five to thirty feet, then unrolled and successively introduced into holes of smaller diameter. The engineer finally obtained wires forty to fifty feet long, which were easy to splice together so they could extend over the five miles which separated the corral from the Granite House enclosure.

Only a few days were needed to carry out this work and, once the machine was put in operation, Cyrus Smith left his companions to work as wire drawers while he made his battery.

It was necessary to construct a battery of constant current. The elements of modern batteries are generally composed of retort carbon, zinc, and copper. The engineer had no copper at all; despite his repeated searches, he had found no trace of it on Lincoln Island, and he would have to do without it. They could produce retort carbon, this hard graphite which is found in the retorts of gas works after coal has been dehydrogenated, but it would require the installation of a special apparatus which would have been a considerable task. As to the zinc, the chest found at Flotsam Point had a double envelope of this metal which could not have found a better use under these circumstances.

After some thought, Cyrus Smith decided to make a very simple battery based on one invented by Becquerel
1

 in 1820 which uses only zinc. As to the other materials, nitric acid and potassium, he had these.

This is how the battery was made. Its current came from a chemical reaction between the acid and the potassium. A certain number of glass jars were made and filled with nitric acid. The engineer sealed them with cork lids and inserted glass tubes through each one. Each tube was sealed at its lower end with a clay plug held in place with a cloth and then immersed into the acid. The tube was then filled with a potassium solution, obtained by burning various plants, and, by this means, the acid and the potassium reacted with each other through the clay.

Cyrus Smith then took two strips of zinc. One was immersed in the nitric acid and the other in the potassium solution, which immediately 
 produced a current which ran between them. They were connected with a metallic wire, and the strip in the tube became the positive pole and that in the bottle the negative pole. Each jar produced an equal current which, when combined, sufficed to produce all the current needed to power the electric telegraph.
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The engineer sealed them with cork lids.





 Such was the ingenious yet very simple apparatus constructed by Cyrus Smith, an apparatus which would allow him to establish telegraphic communication between Granite House and the corral.

On February 6th, they began to erect the poles, furnished with glass insulators, to support the wire which would follow the route to the corral. A few days later, the wire was stretched along them, now ready to carry the electric current which the ground would return to its starting point at a speed of 100,000 kilometers per second.
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Two batteries had been made, one for Granite House, the other for the corral. If the corral was to be in communication with Granite House, it might also be useful for Granite House to be able to communicate with the corral.

As for the receiver and the key, they were very simple. At the two stations, the wire was wrapped as an electro-magnet, a piece of soft iron wound with a wire. A circuit was established between the two poles by the current which, leaving the positive pole, traversed the wire, passed through the electro-magnet which it temporarily magnetized, and returned through the ground to the negative pole. When the current was interrupted, the electro-magnet would immediately demagnetize. It sufficed then to place a bar of soft iron below the electro-magnet which, attracted during the passage of the current, would fall back when the current was interrupted. The movement of the bar thus obtained, Cyrus Smith then simply attached a pointer mounted on a dial, which was inscribed with the letters of the alphabet and, in this way, they could communicate from one station to the other.
3



Everything was completely installed on February 12th. On this day, Cyrus Smith, turned on the current along the wire, asked if all was going well at the corral and, a few moments later, received a satisfactory response from Ayrton.

Pencroff was overjoyed. Each morning and each evening he sent a telegram to the corral, which never went unanswered.

This mode of communication presented two very real advantages: first, it permitted them to verify the presence of Ayrton at the corral, and, second, it did not leave him completely isolated. In addition, Cyrus Smith never allowed a week to go by without going to see him, and Ayrton came to Granite House from time to time where he was always well received.

Summer passed in this way amidst their usual activity. The resources 
 of the colony had increased from day to day, particularly with vegetables and grain, and the plants that had been brought over from Tabor Island were doing especially well. Grand View Plateau presented a very reassuring sight. The fourth wheat harvest had been admirable, even if no one counted to see if there were indeed 400 billion grains produced. Pencroff considered doing so, but Cyrus Smith informed him that, even if he could count 150 grains per minute, making 9,000 per hour, he would need about 5,500 years to complete this operation, and the worthy sailor decided to give up the idea.

The weather was magnificent and the temperature was very warm in the daytime; in the evening, the breezes from the open sea moderated the summer’s heat and brought cool nights for the inhabitants of Granite House. They did have, however, a few storms which, if they were not of long duration, did nevertheless strike Lincoln Island with extraordinary force. For several hours at a time, the lightning lit up the sky, and the thunder did not let up.

During this time, the small colony was very prosperous. The guests of the poultry yard had increased to excess, and it became urgent to reduce the population to a more moderate number. The pigs had already produced young ones, and the care given to these animals absorbed a large part of Neb’s and Pencroff’s time. The onagers, who had two pretty offspring, were often ridden by Gideon Spilett and Harbert, who became an excellent horseman under the reporter’s supervision. They also harnessed them to the cart either to carry wood and coal to Granite House or to carry the various mineral products used by the engineer.

They made several trips into the depths of the forests of the Far West. The explorers could venture there without having to fear the excess temperature because the sun hardly pierced the thick branches above them. They also visited the left bank of the Mercy which bordered the route that went from the corral to the mouth of Falls River.

During these excursions, the colonists were careful to remain well armed because they frequently encountered very savage and ferocious wild boars with whom they had some serious battles.

During this time, they also declared war on the jaguars against whom Gideon Spilett had a special grudge. His pupil, Harbert, seconded him. Armed as they were, they hardly needed to fear an encounter with one of these beasts. Harbert’s fearlessness was superb 
 and the reporter’s coolness was astonishing. About twenty magnificent skins already decorated the large hall of Granite House and, if this continued, the jaguar race would soon become extinct on the island, a goal avidly desired by the hunters.

The engineer sometimes took part in these various reconnaissances made into the unknown portions of the island, which he observed in minute detail. He looked for tracks other than those made by animals in the thickest portions of these vast woods, but never did he see anything suspicious. Neither Top nor Jup, who accompanied him, indicated that there was anything extraordinary there, although, more than once, the dog barked at the opening of the well which the engineer had already explored without result.

At this time, Gideon Spilett, assisted by Harbert, took several pictures of the most picturesque parts of the island by means of the photographic apparatus that had been found in the chest and which had not been used until then.

This apparatus, which contained a powerful lens, was very complete. Of the materials necessary for photographic reproduction—collodion to prepare the glass plate, silver nitrate to sensitize it, sodium hyposulphate to fix the image obtained, ammonium chloride to wash the paper intended to give the positive print, sodium acetate and gold chloride to soak the latter—nothing was missing. Even the paper was there, all chlorinated, and before placing them on the frame over the negative prints, it sufficed to steep them for a few minutes in the silver nitrate diluted with water.

In a short time, the reporter and his assistant became skillful photographers, and they obtained rather beautiful prints of the countryside, such as a full view of the island taken from Grand View Plateau, with Mount Franklin in the background, the mouth of the Mercy so picturesquely surrounded by high rocks, the glade and the corral against the first high land of the mountain, all the unusual topography of Cape Claw, Flotsam Point, etc.

The photographers did not forget to take portraits of all the inhabitants of the island, without exception.

“Its people,” as Pencroff was fond of saying.

And the sailor was delighted to see his picture, faithfully reproduced, decorating the walls of Granite House. He joyfully stared at this display as if he were in front of the richest store windows of Broadway.
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 Master Jup posed for his photograph.




But it must be said that the most successful portrait of all was incontestably that of Master Jup. Master Jup had posed with a gravity impossible to describe, and his picture expressed him perfectly.

“One would say that he’s about to make a face!” exclaimed Pencroff.


 If Master Jup had not been happy with it, it would be because he was too hard to please; but he was very content, and he contemplated his image with a sentimental air that bordered on conceit.

The intense summer heat ended in March. They occasionally had rainy weather, but the air was still warm. This month of March, which corresponds to the month of September in the northern latitudes, was not as pleasant as they had hoped. Perhaps it was a harbinger of an early and rigorous winter.

One morning—the 21st—they almost believed that the first snowfall of the year had made its appearance. Harbert had gone to one of the Granite House windows early that day and exclaimed:

“Look there! The islet is covered with snow!”

“Snow at this time of the year?” replied the reporter, joining the lad.

Their companions were soon beside them, and they saw that not only the islet but also the entire beach at the foot of Granite House was covered with a white mantle uniformly spread across on the ground.

“It really is snow!” said Pencroff.

“Or it resembles it very much!” replied Neb.

“But the thermometer reads 58°,” noted Gideon Spilett.

Cyrus Smith looked at the white covering without saying anything because he really did not know how to explain this phenomenon at this time of the year and at this temperature.

“A thousand devils!” cried Pencroff, “our crops will be frozen!”

And the sailor was about to descend when he was preceded by the agile Jup who slid down the rope to the ground.

But the orang had scarcely touched the ground when the enormous layer of snow rose up and scattered into the sky in such innumerable flocks that the light from the sun was blocked out for a few minutes.

“Birds!” exclaimed Harbert.

It was indeed swarms of sea birds with brilliant white plumage. They had set down on the islet and on the shore by the hundreds of thousands, and they disappeared in the distance, leaving the colonists dumbfounded as if they had witnessed an abrupt change from summer to winter in a fantastic theater decor. Unfortunately, that change had been so sudden that neither the reporter nor the boy could knock down one of these birds of a species they did not recognize.
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 Hundreds of thousands of sea birds.





 March 24th came a few days later, and it was now two years since the castaways from the sky had been thrown upon Lincoln Island.



CHAPTER XIX





T

 wo years already! For two years the colonists had had no contact with their fellow men. They were without news from the civilized world, lost on this island just as surely as if they had been on some tiny asteroid of the solar system.

What was taking place in their country during this time? The image of their native land was always before them, this land which was being torn asunder by civil war at the moment when they left it and which perhaps was still being bloodied by the South’s rebellion. This was painful for them, and they spoke of it often. But they never doubted that the cause of the North must triumph for the honor of the American Union.

Throughout these two years, not a single vessel had passed in sight of the island or, at least, no sail had been seen. It was obvious that Lincoln Island was outside the customary shipping lanes and even that it was totally unknown—the maps proved this—because, though there was no port, vessels would have landed there to renew their provision of fresh water. But the sea which surrounded them was always empty, and they would have to count only on themselves if they wished to return home.

One chance for salvation existed, however, and this chance was discussed one day in the first week of April when the colonists were together in the large hall of Granite House.

They were speaking of their native land, America, and wondering if there were any hope of seeing it again.

“Undoubtedly, we have only one way,” said Gideon Spilett, “only one way of leaving Lincoln Island, and that is to construct a vessel large enough to take to the open sea for several hundred miles. It seems to me that if we can make a boat, we can just as well make a ship.”

“Which would go to the Tuamotus,” added Harbert, “the way we went to Tabor Island.”


 “I won’t say it’s not possible,” replied Pencroff, who always had the deciding vote on maritime questions, “although a short journey isn’t the same as a long one. If our boat had been threatened by bad weather during our voyage to Tabor Island, we would have known that shelter was not far off in either direction; but to cross twelve hundred miles, that’s quite a trip, and the nearest land is at least that distance!”

“In that case, would you not risk it, Pencroff?” asked the reporter.

“I will risk anything that is required, Mr. Spilett,” replied the sailor, “and you well know that I’m not a man to hold back.”

“Remember too that we now have another sailor amongst us,” noted Neb.

“Who?” asked Pencroff.

“Ayrton.”

“That’s right,” replied Harbert.

“If he would consent to come,” observed Pencroff.

“Do you really believe,” asked the reporter, “that, if Lord Glenarvan’s yacht had returned to Tabor Island while Ayrton was still living there, he would have refused to leave?”

“You forget, my friends,” Cyrus Smith said, “that Ayrton no longer had his sanity during the last years of his stay. But that is not the question. We must know if we can count on the Scottish vessel as one of our chances for rescue. Lord Glenarvan promised Ayrton he would come to take him from Tabor Island when he judged that his crimes had been sufficiently expiated, and I believe that he will return.”

“Yes,” said the reporter, “and I’ll add that he’ll return soon because it’s been twelve years that Ayrton has been abandoned.”

“Well,” replied Pencroff, “I agree that the lord will return, even soon. But where will he land? At Tabor Island and not at Lincoln Island!”

“That’s surely the case,” replied Harbert, “since Lincoln Island isn’t even on the map.”

“So, my friends,” replied the engineer, “we must take the necessary steps to announce our presence and that of Ayrton at Lincoln Island.”

“Evidently,” replied the reporter, “and nothing could be easier than leaving a message in the cabin used by Captain Grant and Ayrton that gives the position of our island, a message which Lord Glenarvan and his crew can’t miss.”


 “It’s unfortunate,” noted the sailor, “that we forgot to take this precaution on our first voyage to Tabor Island.”

“And why should we have taken this precaution?” answered Harbert. “At the time we didn’t know Ayrton’s history. We didn’t know that they would come one day to rescue him, and when we knew his story the season was too far advanced to allow us to return to Tabor Island.”

“Yes,” Cyrus Smith replied, “it was too late, and we must make this trip next spring.”

“But if the Scottish yacht comes in the meantime?” said Pencroff.

“That’s not likely,” assured the engineer, “because Lord Glenarvan would not choose the winter season to venture into these distant seas. Either he has already returned to Tabor Island while Ayrton was with us during the past five months, and has left, or he’ll come later, and there will be time during the first good weather of October to go to Tabor Island and leave a message there.”

“I must admit,” said Neb, “that it would be very unfortunate if the Duncan
 has returned to these seas in the last few months.”

“I hope that isn’t so,” answered Cyrus Smith, “and that Heaven has not taken from us the best chance that remains.”

“I believe,” observed the reporter, “that, in any case, we will know where we stand when we return to Tabor Island, because if the Scots have been there, they would have left some trace of their passage.”

“That’s true,” replied the engineer. “So, my friends, since we have this chance for being rescued, let’s wait patiently, and if it’s taken from us we’ll decide then what we must do.”

“In any case,” said Pencroff, “it’s well understood that if we leave Lincoln Island by one means or another, it won’t be because she has mistreated us!”

“No, Pencroff,” answered the engineer, “it will be because we’re far from all that a man cherishes most in the world, his family, his friends, and his native land.”

Everything having been thus decided, there was no longer any question of building a vessel large enough to sail either to the archipelagos in the north or to New Zealand in the west. They occupied themselves only with their usual work, with the view to wintering in Granite House for the third time.

Nevertheless, it was decided that they would use the boat to take 
 a trip around the island before winter came on. The complete reconnaissance of the coasts had still not been accomplished, and the colonists had only an imperfect idea of the western and northern shores, from the mouth of Falls River to the Mandible Capes, including the narrow bay laying between them like the jaw of a shark.

The proposal for this excursion was first suggested by Pencroff, and Cyrus Smith gave his full approval. He wanted to see for himself all of this portion of his domain.

The weather at the time was variable, but the barometer did not fluctuate with sudden changes, and they could count on moderate conditions. More precisely, during the first week of April, after a large barometric drop, a rising barometric pressure was indicated by a strong west wind which lasted five to six days; then the needle of the instrument once again became steady at twenty nine point nine inches (759.45 mm), and the circumstances seemed favorable for the exploration.

The departure day was fixed for April 16th, and the Bonadventure,
 casting off from Port Balloon, was provisioned for a cruise that could be of lengthy duration.

Cyrus Smith told Ayrton about the proposed expedition and suggested that he take part in it, but since Ayrton preferred to remain on land, it was decided that he would come to Granite House during the absence of his companions. Master Jup would keep him company, and he made no objection.

On the morning of April 16th, all the colonists, including Top, went on board. A fine breeze blew from the southwest, and the Bonadventure
 had to sail into the wind on leaving Port Balloon in order to reach Reptile Promontory. Of the ninety miles that comprised the perimeter of the island, there were about twenty from the port to the promontory. It would be necessary to sail close-hauled for these twenty miles because the wind was dead ahead.

They needed an entire day to reach the promontory because the boat, on leaving port, had only two hours of ebb tide and had, on the other hand, six hours of rising tide which made it difficult to make headway. It was thus night when they finally rounded the promontory.

Pencroff then proposed to the engineer that they continue the journey at reduced speed with two reefs in his sail. But Cyrus Smith preferred to anchor a few cables from land in order to see this part of 
 the coast again during the daytime. It was even agreed that, since they were conducting a careful exploration of the island, they should not sail at night but, weather permitting, they would anchor near land at the end of each day.

The night passed at anchor at the promontory and the wind, having died down at night, did not disturb the silence. The passengers, with the exception of the sailor, did not sleep quite as well on board the Bonadventure
 as they did in their rooms at Granite House, but at last they fell asleep.

The next day, April 17th, Pencroff weighed anchor at daybreak. By going on the larboard tack, he was able to draw near the western shore.

The colonists knew this magnificent wooded coast since they had already crossed its edge on foot, but it nevertheless renewed their admiration. Slowing down, they skirted the shore as close as possible to observe everything, taking care not to collide with several tree trunks that were floating here and there. They even anchored several times, and Gideon Spilett took photographs of the superb scenery.

Around noon, the Bonadventure
 arrived at the mouth of Falls River. Further on the right bank, the trees were more scattered and, three miles beyond, they stood in isolated clusters among the mountain’s western buttresses whose arid backbones extended down to the shore.

What a contrast between the southern portion and the northern portion of this coastline! As much as one was wooded and verdant, the other was harsh and wild. They could refer to the latter as “the iron coast” as it is called in certain countries. Its tortured topography seemed to indicate sudden crystallization of the basalt while it was still molten in geological times. Piled up in a frightening way, it would have scared the colonists if they had first been thrown on this part of the island. From the summit of Mount Franklin, they had not been able to recognize the deeply sinister aspect of this coast because they were too high; but, now seen from the sea, this shore presented a strange character without equivalent perhaps in any corner of the world.

The Bonadventure
 sailed a half mile along this coast. It was composed of blocks of rock of all dimensions, from twenty feet to three hundred feet in height, and of all forms, cylindrical as if made on a lathe, prismatic like steeples, pyramidic like obelisks, and conical like 
 a factory smokestack. Icebergs in the polar sea could not have been thrown together in more frightful confusion. Here, bridges thrown from one rock to another; there, arches arranged like the nave of a cathedral into whose depths the eye could not penetrate; in one place, there were large excavations whose vaults presented a monumental aspect; in another, a conglomeration of sharp corners, pyramids, and arrows such as no gothic cathedral ever had. All the caprices of Nature, still more varied than those of the imagination, were arranged along this grandiose coast which extended for a distance of eight to nine miles.

Cyrus Smith and his companions looked at all of this with a surprise that bordered on stupefaction. But if they remained silent, Top was not so inhibited, and his continual barking created echoes that were repeated by the thousands among these basalt walls. The engineer even noted that these barks had something strange about them, like those that the dog had made at the opening of the well in Granite House.

“Let’s come alongside,” he said.

And the Bonadventure
 grazed as close as possible to the rocks on the coast. Perhaps there was some grotto here worth exploring? But Cyrus Smith saw nothing, not a cavern nor a fracture which would serve as a retreat for any being whatsoever because the foot of these rocks was washed by the very surf of the water. Top soon stopped barking and the boat returned to a few cable lengths from shore.

In the northwest portion of the island, the shore became flat and sandy. A few rare trees grew above the low and marshy land and, in sharp contrast with the other coast which was so deserted, here there was much life in the form of myriads of aquatic birds.

That evening, the Bonadventure
 anchored near land in a slight recess of the northern shoreline where the water was deep. The night passed peacefully because the wind died out with the last rays of daylight, and started up again only at the first glimmerings of dawn.

The next morning, since it was easy to land, the appointed hunters of the colony, Harbert and Gideon Spilett, went ashore for two hours and returned with several strings of duck and snipe. Top had hunted especially well, and no game was lost thanks to his zeal and his skill.

At eight o’clock, the Bonadventure
 weighed anchor and moved rapidly toward North Mandible Cape because the wind was aft and becoming stronger.


 “I shouldn’t be surprised,” said Pencroff, “if we end up having a squall from the west. Yesterday the sun set on a very red horizon and now this morning these ‘cat-tails’ forebode nothing good.”

These cat-tails were slender cirrus clouds scattered at the zenith whose height is never less than five thousand feet above sea level. They resembled flimsy pieces of cotton whose presence ordinarily announces some approaching trouble in the weather.

“Very well,” said Cyrus Smith, “let’s carry as much sail as we’re able and seek refuge in Shark Gulf. I think that the Bonadventure
 will be safe there.”

“Perfectly,” replied Pencroff, “and besides, the north shore is only dunes and of little interest.”

“I shall not be unhappy,” added the engineer, “to spend the night and all day tomorrow in this bay, which deserves to be carefully explored.”

“I believe that we’ll be forced to do that whether we like it or not,” replied Pencroff, “because the horizon in the west is now becoming threatening. See how it’s darkening over!”

“In any event, we have a good wind for getting to Cape Mandible,” noted the reporter.

“A very good wind,” answered the sailor, “but to enter the gulf, we will have to tack, and I would rather have a clear view of these unknown waters.”

“Waters which may be full of rocks,” added Harbert, “if we are to judge by what we saw of the southern coast of Shark Gulf.”

“Pencroff,” Cyrus Smith then said, “do what is best. We leave it to you.”

“Rest assured, Mr. Cyrus,” replied the sailor, “I won’t take any unnecessary risks. I would rather have a knife in my belly than a rock in the vital organs of my Bonadventure!
 ”

What Pencroff called vital organs was the part of his vessel’s hull located below the water line, and that he loved more than his own skin.

“What time is it?” asked Pencroff.

“Ten o’clock,” replied Gideon Spilett.

“And at what distance are we from the cape, Mr. Cyrus?”

“About fifteen miles,” answered the engineer.

“That’s a matter of two hours and a half,” the sailor then said, “and we’ll come alongside the cape between noontime and one o’clock. 
 Unfortunately, the tide will be reversing at that moment and the ebb will be leaving the gulf. I fear that it will be difficult to enter it with both the wind and the sea against us.”
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They returned with duck and snipe.




“What’s more, the moon is full today,” noted Harbert, “and these April tides are very strong.”
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 “I never lit any fire!”





 “Well, Pencroff,” asked Cyrus Smith, “can you anchor at the cape’s point?”

“Anchor near land with bad weather coming on?” exclaimed the sailor. “Do you really think so, Mr. Cyrus? That would surely ground us!”

“Then what would you do?”

“I shall try to keep in the open sea until the flood tide, until seven o’clock this evening, and if there is still some daylight, I’ll try to enter the gulf; otherwise we’ll stand off during the entire night and enter it tomorrow at sunrise.”

“As I said, Pencroff, we’ll leave it up to you to decide,” answered Cyrus Smith.

“Ah!” said Pencroff, “if there only was a lighthouse on this coast, it would be much easier for navigators.”

“Yes,” replied Harbert, “and this time we won’t have an obliging engineer to light a fire to guide us into port!”

“Incidentally, my dear Cyrus,” said Gideon Spilett, “we never thanked you, but, without that fire, we frankly never would have been able to reach …”

“A fire? …” asked Cyrus Smith, astounded at the reporter’s words.

“We mean to say, Mr. Cyrus,” replied Pencroff, “that we were in serious trouble on board the Bonadventure
 during the final hours preceding our return, and we would have passed windward of the island if not for the precaution you took in lighting a fire on Granite House Plateau during the night of the 19th and 20th of October.”

“Yes, yes! … That was a fortunate idea that I had,” replied the engineer.

“And this time,” added the sailor, “unless the idea happens to occur to Ayrton, there will be no one to do us this small favor.”

“No! No one!” answered Cyrus Smith.

And a few moments later, alone with the reporter in the bow of the boat, the engineer bent over and whispered to him:

“If there’s one thing certain in this world, Spilett, it is that I never lit any fire during the night of the 19th and 20th of October, neither on the plateau of Granite House nor on any other part of the island!”



CHAPTER XX




 
P

 encroff’s predictions proved, as usual, to be well founded. The wind became stronger, changing from a light breeze into a true squall and acquiring a velocity of forty to forty five miles per hour. A ship on the high seas would have been obliged to reef its sails and lower its topgallant sails. About six o’clock, the Bonadventure
 was opposite the gulf, but the ebb tide was strong at this moment, and it was impossible to enter. They were compelled to remain on the open sea because, even if they had wanted to, Pencroff would not have been able to reach the mouth of the Mercy. After setting his jibsail on the mainmast to act as a storm-jib, he waited, his bow pointing toward land.

Very fortunately, even if the wind was very strong, the sea, being protected by the coast, was not very rough. They thus had nothing to fear from the waves which are so dangerous to small boats. Doubtless the Bonadventure
 would not have capsized because she was well ballasted; but the enormous sheets of water falling on board could have damaged her if the panels of her deck had not resisted. As a skillful sailor, Pencroff was ready for any eventuality. Of course, he had every confidence in his vessel, but he nevertheless waited for the return of day with some anxiety.

During this night, Cyrus Smith and Gideon Spilett had no opportunity to speak together, but the words whispered in the reporter’s ear by the engineer certainly warranted further discussion about this mysterious influence which seemed to reign over Lincoln Island. Gideon Spilett did not stop thinking about this new inexplicable incident, the appearance of the fire on the coast of Lincoln Island. He, as well and his companions, Harbert and Pencroff, had seen it. This light had indicated the location of the island on that dark night, and they did not doubt that it was the engineer who had lit it; yet here was Cyrus Smith expressly declaring that he had done no such thing!

Gideon Spilett promised himself that he would revisit this incident after the Bonadventure
 returned home, and that he would urge Cyrus Smith to inform their companions about these strange events. Perhaps they would then undertake a complete investigation of all parts of Lincoln Island.

Be that as it may, on this evening, there was no fire lit on these 
 still unknown shores which formed the entrance to the gulf, and the small vessel continued to remain on the open sea throughout the entire night.

When the first rays of dawn appeared on the eastern horizon, the wind, diminishing a little, shifted two points on the compass and allowed Pencroff to easily enter the narrow entrance to the gulf. About seven o’clock in the morning, the Bonadventure,
 leaving North Mandible Cape behind, carefully entered the channel and ventured into these waters bordered by the strangest lava formation.

“Here,” said Pencroff, “is a bit of sea that would make an admirable harbor where fleets could maneuver at their ease.”

“What is especially curious,” observed Cyrus Smith, “is that this gulf has been formed by two lava flows spewed up by the volcano, which accumulated from successive eruptions. The result is that this gulf is completely protected on all sides, and I believe that, even in the worst winds, the sea is as calm here as on a lake.”

“Without doubt,” replied the sailor, “since the wind has access only by this narrow bottleneck between the two capes, and the north cape protects the south cape in such a way as to make it difficult for squalls to enter. In truth, our Bonadventure
 could remain here from one year to the other without even pulling on its anchors.”

“It’s a little too large for it,” observed the reporter.

“Well, Mr. Spilett,” replied the sailor, “I agree that it’s too large for the Bonadventure,
 but if the navies of the Union have need of a safe harbor in the Pacific, I believe that they’ll never find one any better than this!”

“We’re in the shark’s mouth,” Neb then noted, making allusion to the shape of the gulf.

“All the way into the mouth, my brave Neb,” replied Harbert, “but you’re not afraid that it will close on us, are you?”

“No, Mr. Harbert,” answered Neb, “but nevertheless this gulf doesn’t please me much! It has a wicked look.”

“So!” exclaimed Pencroff. “Now Neb is putting down my gulf just as I was thinking of making a gift of it to America!”

“But are its waters deep enough?” asked the engineer. “What’s enough for the hull of the Bonadventure
 would not be sufficient for those of our ironclad vessels.”

“That’s easy to verify,” replied Pencroff.


 And the sailor took the end of a long cord which would serve as a sounding line, to which he attached an iron weight. This line measured about fifty fathoms, and it unrolled to its very end without reaching bottom.

“So then,” said Pencroff, “our ironclads can come here. They won’t be grounded.”

“Indeed,” agreed Cyrus Smith, “this gulf is a real abyss; but taking account of the volcanic origin of the island, it’s not astonishing that the bottom of the sea has similar depressions.”

“One would say,” noted Harbert, “that these walls were cast perpendicularly, and I believe that even with a line five or six times longer, Pencroff would not have found bottom.”

“That’s all very good,” the reporter then said, “but I must tell Pencroff that his harbor lacks one important thing.”

“Which is, Mr. Spilett?”

“An opening, any breach whatever to give access to the interior of the island. I don’t see any place on which to set foot.”

And, in fact, the sheer walls of lava did not offer a single ledge for disembarking anywhere along the entire perimeter of the gulf. Although more barren, it was an insurmountable curtain of rock which resembled the fiords of Norway. The Bonadventure
 skirted these high walls without finding even a protrusion which would permit the passengers to leave the deck.

Pencroff consoled himself by saying that, with the help of a mine, they would surely know how to make an opening in this wall if necessary but since, obviously, there was nothing to do in the gulf, he sailed his boat toward its entrance and, about two o’clock in the afternoon, left the gulf behind.

“Whew!” said Neb, letting out a sigh of satisfaction.

One could truly say that the worthy Negro did not feel at ease in this enormous jaw.

There were barely eight miles between Cape Mandible and the mouth of the Mercy. The bow was then pointed toward Granite House, and the Bonadventure,
 under full sail, descended the coast a mile offshore. The enormous lava rocks were soon succeeded by those capricious dunes where the engineer had been so mysteriously rescued and which the sea birds frequented by the hundreds.

About four o’clock, Pencroff, passing the point of the islet on his 
 left, entered the channel which separated it from the coast and, at five o’clock, the Bonadventure
 ’s anchor gripped the sandy bottom at the mouth of the Mercy.

The colonists had been away from home for three days. Ayrton was waiting for them on the beach, and Master Jup joyously came to meet them, making loud grunts of satisfaction.

An entire exploration of the coasts of the island had thus been made, and nothing suspicious had been found. If some mysterious being resided there, he could only be under the cover of the impenetrable woods of Serpentine Peninsula, where the colonists still had not carried out their investigations.

Gideon Spilett spoke about these things with the engineer and it was agreed that they would draw the attention of their companions to the strange character of certain incidents which had occurred on the island, the last being the most inexplicable.

Returning again to the incident of a fire lit on the shore by an unknown hand, Cyrus Smith could not restrain himself from asking the reporter for the twentieth time:

“But are you sure of having seen it? Was it not some partial eruption of the volcano or some meteor?”

“No, Cyrus,” replied the reporter, “it was certainly a fire lit by the hand of man. Besides, ask Pencroff and Harbert. They also saw it and they’ll confirm my words.”

A few days later, on the evening of April 25th, when the colonists were together on Grand View Plateau, Cyrus Smith said:

“My friends, I feel that I must bring to your attention certain events which have occurred on the island and I should be very glad to have your advice. These events are almost supernatural …”

“Supernatural!” exclaimed the sailor, letting out a puff of smoke. “Can our island be supernatural?”

“No, Pencroff, but surely mysterious,” replied the engineer, “unless you can explain to us what Spilett and I haven’t been able to understand up to now.”

“Speak, Mr. Cyrus,” answered the sailor.

“Well then, do you understand,” the engineer then said, “how it was that after having fallen into the sea, I was found a quarter of a mile into the interior of the island without remembering being moved there?”

“Perhaps unconsciously …” said Pencroff.
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 “That isn’t possible,” replied the engineer. “But let’s pass on. Have you understood how Top was able to discover your retreat, five miles from the grotto where I was lying?”

“A dog’s instinct …” replied Harbert.

“A singular instinct!” noted the reporter. “In spite of the rain and wind which had been raging during that night, Top arrived at the Chimneys dry and without a speck of mud on him.”

“Let’s pass on,” continued the engineer. “Have you understood how our dog was so strangely catapulted out of the waters of the lake following his fight with the dugong?”

“No, not really, I admit,” answered Pencroff, “and the wound which the dugong had in its side, a wound which seemed to have been made with a sharp instrument, that also can’t be understood.”

“Let’s continue then,” replied Cyrus Smith. “Have you understood, my friends, how a lead bullet could be found in the body of the young peccary, how the chest so fortunately washed up without there being any trace of a wreck, how the bottle which enclosed the document was in so convenient a place during our first sea excursion, how our canoe, having broken its mooring, was moved by the Mercy’s current and rejoined us precisely at the moment when we needed it, how after the invasion of the apes, the ladder was so opportunely thrown down to us from Granite House, and finally how the document which Ayrton maintains he never wrote, fell into our hands?”

Cyrus Smith had enumerated the strange events that occurred on the island, without overlooking a single one. Harbert, Pencroff, and Neb looked at each other not knowing what to say because the succession of these incidents, grouped this way for the first time, utterly astounded them.

“On my word,” Pencroff finally said, “you’re right, Mr. Cyrus. It’s difficult to explain these things.”

“Well, my friends,” stated the engineer, “a last fact has been added to these, and it’s just as incomprehensible as the others.”

“What, Mr. Cyrus?” Harbert asked anxiously.

“When you returned from Tabor Island, Pencroff,” continued the engineer, “you said that you saw a fire on Lincoln Island?”

“Certainly,” replied the sailor.

“And are you certain that you saw this fire?”

“Just as I see you.”

“You also, Harbert?”


 “Ah! Mr. Cyrus,” exclaimed Harbert, “this fire shone like a star of the first magnitude.”

“But was it not a star?” asked the engineer insistently.

“No,” replied Pencroff, “because the sky was covered with thick clouds and a star, in any case, wouldn’t have been so low on the horizon. But Mr. Spilett also saw it and can confirm our words.”

“I’ll add,” said the reporter, “that this fire was very intense and that it reflected on the water like an electric light.”

“Yes! yes! Exactly …” answered Harbert, “and it was certainly placed on the Granite House heights.”

“Well, my friends,” replied Cyrus Smith, “during the night of the 19th and 20th of October, neither Neb nor I lit any fire on the coast.”

“You didn’t …?” exclaimed Pencroff, full of astonishment, not even able to finish his sentence.

“We didn’t leave Granite House,” replied Cyrus Smith, “and if a fire appeared on shore, it was lit by some other hand than ours.”

Pencroff, Harbert and Neb were stupefied. No illusion was possible. They had really seen a fire during the night of the 19th and 20th of October.

Yes! They had to agree that there was a real mystery here. An inexplicable power, evidently favorable to the colonists, but irritating to their curiosity, was present on Lincoln Island and was intervening on their behalf, and always at the right moment. Was there some being hidden away in its deepest recesses? This, they had to know at any price.

Cyrus Smith also reminded his companions about the strange behavior of Top and Jup around the opening of the well which linked Granite House with the sea, and he told them that he had explored this well without discovering anything suspicious there. All members of the colony finally agreed to search the entire island once spring returned.

But from this day on, Pencroff seemed to become uneasy. This island that he had made his personal property seemed no longer to belong to him entirely. He felt that he shared it with another master to whom, for better or worse, he was subject to. Neb and he often spoke of these inexplicable things and both, by their very nature, prone to believing in miracles, were not very far from thinking that Lincoln Island was under the influence of some supernatural power.


 The bad weather came on in May, November in the northern zones. It seemed that the winter would be both early and harsh. Preparations for this season were undertaken without delay.

The colonists were well prepared to endure this winter, however hard it might prove to be. There was no lack of felt clothing, and the numerous sheep very abundantly furnished the wool needed for making this warm material.

It goes without saying that Ayrton had been provided with these comfortable clothes. Cyrus Smith invited him to come and pass the winter at Granite House where he would be better lodged than at the corral, and Ayrton promised to do so as soon as his final work at the corral was completed. This he did about mid-April. From that time on, Ayrton shared in the common life and made himself useful on every occasion; but, always humble and sad, he never took part in his companions’ pleasures.

During the greater part of this third winter that the colonists passed on Lincoln Island, they remained confined to Granite House. There were large storms and terrible squalls which seemed to shake the rocks to their foundations. Immense tidal waves covered large parts of the islet, and certainly any vessel anchored in the vicinity would have been lost, crew and all. Twice during one of these storms, the Mercy rose to such a height that they feared the bridge would not hold, and it was even necessary to strengthen the bridge along the shore which disappeared under sheets of water when the sea beat against the beach.

As one might surmise, such violent storms, comparable to waterspouts mixed with rain and snow, caused much damage to Grand View Plateau. The mill and the poultry yard particularly suffered. The colonists often had to make urgent repairs, without which the poultry would have been seriously jeopardized.

During this bad weather, several jaguars and bands of quadrumanes ventured to the edge of the plateau, and it was always to be feared that the stronger and more audacious, driven by hunger, would succeed in crossing the brook which would offer them easy passage when frozen. Except for continual surveillance, gardens and domestic animals would have been destroyed without fail, and they often had to fire their guns to keep these dangerous visitors at a respectable distance. There was thus no lack of winter work.
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 Even setting aside 
 the many outdoor tasks, there were always a thousand things to do at Granite House.

During the severe cold spells, they conducted several hunts on the vast Tadorn marshes. Gideon Spilett and Harbert, aided by Top and Jup, did not waste a shot among the myriads of duck, snipe, teal, pintail, and plovers. Access to the game of this territory was easy and, whether they took the road to Port Balloon by crossing over the Mercy bridge, or they rounded the rocks at Flotsam Point, the hunters were never far from Granite House.

So passed the four very rigorous months of winter: June, July, August and September. But Granite House did not suffer much from the bad weather; nor did the corral which, being less exposed than the plateau and protected in large part by Mount Franklin, only received what remained of the wind already broken up by the forests and the high rocks on shore. The damage was less severe there, and Ayrton’s skill and energy were sufficient to repair it promptly when he returned to spend a few days at the corral during the second half of October.

Throughout the winter, there were no new inexplicable incidents. Nothing strange occurred even though Pencroff and Neb watched for the most insignificant event that might have a mysterious cause. Top and Jup themselves no longer prowled around the well nor gave any sign of uneasiness. This series of supernatural incidents seemed to have abruptly ceased, even though they often spoke of them during the evenings at Granite House, and it was fully agreed that the island should be searched even in those parts most difficult to explore. But an event of the greatest gravity and whose consequences could be disastrous, distracted Cyrus Smith and his companions from their plans.

It was the month of October. The spring had returned in full measure. Nature was renewing itself beneath the warm rays of the sun. Among the evergreen conifers which formed the border of the woods, new foliage was already appearing on the nettle trees, banksias, and deodars.

Gideon Spilett and Harbert, as mentioned, had taken several photographs of Lincoln Island at various times. Now, on the October 17th, about three o’clock in the afternoon, Harbert, fascinated by the clearness of the sky, decided to photograph all of Union Bay facing Grand View Plateau from Mandible Cape to Cape Claw.
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 The engineer examined the speck.




The horizon was admirably clear, and the sea, undulating under a gentle breeze, seemed as still as the waters of a lake, broken here and there with a white spray.

The lens of the camera was placed at one of the windows of the large hall in Granite House, overlooking the beach and the bay. Harbert 
 proceeded in his usual way. After he obtained the negative, he went to fix it with substances stored in a dark room in Granite House.

Returning to full light, Harbert examined it carefully. He saw a small imperceptible blemish on the sea’s horizon. He tried to make it disappear by washing it a few times, but he did not succeed.

“It’s a defect in the lens,” he thought.

And then, out of curiosity, he examined this imperfection with a strong magnifying lens removed from one of the telescopes.

He had barely glanced at it when he suddenly uttered a cry, and the photographic plate almost fell from his hands.

Running immediately to the room where Cyrus Smith was, he held out the plate and the lens to the engineer, indicating to him the small speck.

Cyrus Smith examined it; then, seizing the telescope, he ran toward the window.

The telescope, after slowly sweeping the horizon, finally stopped at the suspicious point. Then Cyrus Smith, lowering the instrument, uttered one single word: “Ship!”

And, indeed, there was a ship in sight of Lincoln Island!


End of Part II


the dark.

 
III
 THE SECRET OF THE ISLAND








 
CHAPTER I





I

 t had now been two and a half years since the castaways from the balloon had been thrown upon Lincoln Island. Throughout this entire time, they had had no contact with their fellow men. The reporter had once attempted to establish communication with the inhabited world by fastening to a bird a message which explained their situation, but it was impossible to count on such a means succeeding. Ayrton alone, in the circumstances already related, had come to join the members of the small colony. Now, on this day, October 17th, other men unexpectedly appeared within sight of the island, on this sea that had always been so deserted!

There could be no doubt about it: a vessel was indeed there! But would it sail out to sea, or would it put into port? In a few hours, the colonists would obviously know what to expect.

Cyrus Smith and Harbert immediately called Gideon Spilett, Pencroff, and Neb into the large hall of Granite House and told them what had happened. Pencroff, seizing the telescope, rapidly scanned the horizon and stopped on the speck which had made the nearly imperceptible blemish on the photographic negative:

“A thousand devils! It really is a ship!” he said in a voice that did not denote extraordinary satisfaction.

“Is she coming toward us?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“Impossible to tell,” replied Pencroff, “because only her masts appear above the horizon; her hull can’t be seen yet.”

“What should we do?” asked the lad.

“Wait,” answered Cyrus Smith.

And, for a long time, the colonists remained silent, immersed in all the thoughts, emotions, fears, and hopes that this incident—the most significant thing to occur since their arrival on Lincoln Island—created within them.

Of course, the colonists were not in the situation of abandoned castaways on a sterile island, struggling for their miserable existence against a cruel Nature and constantly devoured by their need to see civilization again. Pencroff and Neb especially, who were so happy 
 and prosperous, would have regretted leaving their island. They were suited to this new life in a country that their intelligence had civilized! Still, this vessel would bring them news of the world. It was perhaps a fragment of their country coming to meet them! It was carrying other human beings to them, and it is understandable that their hearts might be thrilled at this prospect!

From time to time, Pencroff took the telescope and positioned himself at the window. There he carefully examined the ship which was at a distance of twenty miles to the east. The colonists still had no way to signal their presence. A flag would not have been perceived; an explosion would not have been heard; a fire would not have been visible.

However, it was certain that the island, dominated by Mount Franklin, could not escape the attention of the vessel’s lookout. But why was this ship stopping here? Was it simply chance that brought it to this part of the Pacific, where the maps only mentioned Tabor Island, which was itself outside the routes ordinarily followed by ocean-going vessels from the Polynesian archipelagoes, New Zealand, and the American coast?

To this question, an answer was suddenly offered by Harbert.

“Can it be the Duncan?
 ” he exclaimed.

The Duncan,
 of course, was Lord Glenarvan’s yacht, which had abandoned Ayrton on the islet and which was one day to come back for him. The islet was not so far from Lincoln Island that a ship en route to one might not pass in view of the other. They were separated by only 150 miles in longitude and 75 in latitude.

“Let’s call Ayrton,” said Gideon Spilett, “and tell him immediately. He alone will be able to tell us if it’s the Duncan.
 ”

Everyone agreed, and the reporter went to the telegraphic apparatus which linked the corral with Granite House and sent the following telegram:

“Come with all possible speed.”

Several moments later, the wire clicked in response.

“I’m on my way,” answered Ayrton.

Then the colonists continued to watch the vessel.

“If it’s the Duncan,
 ” said Harbert, “Ayrton will easily recognize her since he was aboard her for so long.”

“And if he recognizes her,” Pencroff added, “it will have quite an effect on him!”


 “Yes,” replied Cyrus Smith, “but Ayrton is now worthy to return on board the Duncan,
 and may Heaven grant that it’s Lord Glenarvan’s yacht because I’d be suspicious of any other vessel! These seas are rarely traveled, and I’m always afraid of the effect on our island of a visit by some Malay pirates!”

“We’ll defend it!” exclaimed Harbert.

“No doubt, my boy,” replied the engineer smiling, “but it would be better not to have to defend it.”

“One simple observation,” said Gideon Spilett. “Lincoln Island is unknown to navigators since it’s not even indicated on the most recent maps. Wouldn’t you say, Cyrus, that this is enough of a reason for a vessel, finding itself unexpectedly in sight of this new land, to visit it rather than to run from it?”

“Certainly,” replied Pencroff.

“I agree,” added the engineer. “One could even say that it’s the duty of a captain to note down and to then explore all lands or islands that aren’t already catalogued, and that’s the case with Lincoln Island.”

“Well,” Pencroff then said, “let’s suppose that this vessel lands and anchors here, a few cable lengths off our island, what will we do?”

This blunt question remained at first without an answer. Then, after reflection, Cyrus Smith replied with his usual calm tone:

“What we’ll do, my friends, what we’ll have to do is this: We’ll communicate with the vessel, we’ll take passage on board, and we’ll leave our island after taking possession of it in the name of the United States. Then we’ll return here with all those who wish to follow us, colonize it, and endow the American Republic with a useful port in this part of the Pacific Ocean!”

“Hurrah,” shouted Pencroff, “and it will be no small gift which we’ll make to our country! The colonization is almost completed, names have already been given to all parts of the island, it has a natural port, fresh water, roads, a telegraph line, a foundry, and a factory. Nothing has to be done except to inscribe Lincoln Island on the ma

“But if someone takes it from us during our absence?” Gideon Spilett asked.

“A thousand devils!” exclaimed the sailor. “I’d prefer to stay here all alone to guard it and, you can trust Pencroff, no one will steal it from me like a watch from a tourist’s pocket!”


 For an hour, it was impossible to say with certainty if the ship was or was not heading directly toward Lincoln Island. It was getting closer, but in what direction was it sailing? This Pencroff could not determine. However, since the wind was blowing from the northeast, it was likely that the vessel was sailing on starboard tack. Moreover, the breeze blew straight to the shores of the island and, with this calm sea, it need not fear to approach even though the soundings were not listed on the map.

At about four o’clock—a hour after he had been summoned—Ayrton arrived at Granite House. He entered the large hall, saying:

“I’m at your service, gentlemen.”

Cyrus Smith took his hand, as was his custom, and led him to the window:

“Ayrton,” he said to him, “we’ve asked you to come for an important reason. A ship is in sight of the island.”

At first Ayrton paled slightly and his eyes seemed troubled for a moment. Then he leaned out the window and surveyed the horizon, but he saw nothing.

“Take this telescope,” said Gideon Spilett, “and look carefully, Ayrton, because it’s possible that this vessel is the Duncan
 coming to these waters to take you home.”

“The Duncan!
 ” murmured Ayrton. “Already!”

This last word escaped Ayrton’s lips as if despite himself, and his head fell into his hands.

Did not twelve years of abandonment on a desert islet seem to him to be sufficient expiation? Could it be that the repentant criminal still did not feel pardoned neither in his own eyes nor in the eyes of others?

“No,” he said, “no! It can’t be the Duncan.
 ”

“Look, Ayrton,” the engineer then said, “it’s important that we know in advance what we are dealing with.”

Ayrton took the telescope and pointed it in the indicated direction. For a few minutes, he observed the horizon without moving, without saying a word. Then:

“It’s a vessel, all right,” he said, “but I don’t believe that it’s the Duncan.
 ”

“Why not?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“Because the Duncan
 is a steam yacht, and I don’t see any trace of smoke either above or near this ship.”

“Perhaps they’re using the sails only?” noted Pencroff. “The wind 
 is right for the direction they seem to be going in, and it would be in their interest to conserve their coal being so far from all land.”
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Ayrton took the telescope.




“It’s possible you’re right, Mr. Pencroff,” replied Ayrton, “and that this vessel has indeed put out its fires. Let it come closer to shore and we’ll soon know what to expect.”


 That said, Ayrton sat down in a corner of the large hall and remained silent. The colonists continued their discussion with respect to the unknown vessel, but Ayrton took no part in it.

All found themselves in a mood that would not permit them to continue their work. Gideon Spilett and Pencroff were especially nervous, coming and going and unable to stand still. Harbert felt curious. Neb alone maintained his usual calm. Wasn’t his country wherever his master was? As to the engineer, he remained absorbed in his thoughts and deep down he feared rather than desired the arrival of this vessel.

The ship soon came a little closer to the island and, with the help of the telescope, they could see that it was an ocean-going ship and not one of these Malayan proas customarily used by the pirates of the Pacific. They began to believe that the engineer’s apprehensions were not justified and that the presence of this ship in the waters of Lincoln Island did not constitute any danger. After a careful look, Pencroff observed that this vessel was rigged as a brig and that it was sailing to the coast on a starboard tack, under its lower sails, topsails, and topgallant sails. This was confirmed by Ayrton.

But if it continued in this southwest direction, it would soon disappear behind Cape Claw and, if they wanted to observe it, they would have to climb up to Washington Bay heights near Port Balloon. This was unfortunate because it was already five o’clock in the afternoon, and twilight would soon make all observation quite difficult.

“What shall we do when night comes?” asked Gideon Spilett. “Shall we light a fire in order to signal our presence on this shore?”

It was an important question and, despite the engineer’s serious misgivings, an affirmative response seemed warranted. During the night, the vessel could disappear forever and, with this vessel gone, would another ever come to Lincoln Island? Who could tell what was in store for the colonists in the future?

“Yes,” said the reporter, “we should let this vessel know, whatever it may be, that the island is inhabited. We will regret it if we neglect this opportunity that is offered to us.”

It was decided that Neb and Pencroff would go to Port Balloon and that, when night came, they would light a large fire to attract the attention of the ship’s crew.

But just as Neb and the sailor were preparing to leave Granite 
 House, the ship changed its direction, sailing directly toward Union Bay. This brig was a fast ship, and it approached rapidly.

Neb and Pencroff put off their departure and the telescope was put into Ayrton’s hands so he could say for sure whether or not this vessel was the Duncan.
 The Scottish yacht was also rigged as a brig like this one. They needed to determine if there was a chimney between the two masts of this ship, now no more than ten miles away.

The horizon was still very clear. The verification was easy and Ayrton soon put the telescope down saying:

“It’s not the Duncan.
 It can’t be! …”

Pencroff took the telescope and again brought the brig within its field of view. He saw that this brig of 300 to 400 hundred tons was well shaped and firmly masted, admirably built for speed on the open sea. But to which nation did it belong? That was difficult to say.

“And yet,” added the sailor, “a flag is flying from the truck of the mast but I can’t distinguish its colors.”

“In a half-hour we’ll know,” replied the reporter. “Besides, it’s evident that the captain of this vessel intends to land and, as a result, we’ll make his acquaintance if not today then tomorrow at the latest.”

“Nevertheless,” said Pencroff. “It’s better to know whom we are dealing with, and I prefer to know the colors of this fellow!”

And, while speaking, the sailor did not lower his telescope.

Dusk began to fall and, with the end of day, the wind from the open sea diminished. The brig’s flag, now limp and resting in the halyard, became more and more difficult to observe clearly.

“It’s not the American flag,” Pencroff said from time to time, “nor the British whose red could easily be seen, nor the French colors, nor the German, nor the white flag of Russia, nor the yellow of Spain … One would say that it’s of a uniform color … Let’s see … in these seas … what does one usually find? … the Chilean flag? but it’s tricolor … Brazilian? it’s green … Japanese? it’s black and yellow … while this one …”

At that moment, a breeze opened the unknown flag. Ayrton seized the telescope that the sailor had put down, raised it to his eye and, in a hollow voice, cried out:

“The black flag!”

Indeed, a dark banner unfurled from the peak of the brig’s mast, and it was with good reason that they should now consider this a suspicious vessel.
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 “The black flag!”




Were the engineer’s misgivings justified? Was it a pirate ship? Did it scour these lower seas of the Pacific in competition with the Malayan proas that still infested these parts? What were they seeking on the shores of Lincoln Island? Did they see in this unknown land a possible hiding place for their stolen cargoes? Had they come looking 
 for a port of refuge for the winter months? Would the colonist’s honest home be transformed into an criminal refuge—a sort of piracy capital in the Pacific?

Instinctively these thoughts occurred to the colonists. There was no doubt about the significance of the color of the hoisted flag. It certainly was one of these pillagers of the sea. This is what would have become of the Duncan
 if the convicts had succeeded with their sinister plans.

They lost no time in discussing it.

“My friends,” said Cyrus Smith, “perhaps this vessel only wishes to observe the shore of the island. Perhaps its crew won’t land. There’s a chance of that. Whatever the case, we must do everything to conceal our presence here. The windmill on Grand View Plateau is easy to recognize. Let Ayrton and Neb take down the arms. Let’s also hide the windows of Granite House under thick branches. Let all fires be extinguished. Nothing must betray the presence of man on this island.”

“And our boat?” said Harbert.

“Oh!” replied Pencroff, “she’s sheltered in Port Balloon, and I defy these scoundrels to find her there.”

The engineer’s orders were immediately executed. Neb and Ayrton climbed the plateau and took the necessary measures to conceal any indications of human habitation. While they were occupied with this task, their companions went to the border of Jacamar Woods and brought back a large quantity of branches and vines which, from a distance, would look like natural foliage, to conceal the windows in the granite wall. At the same time, the munitions and the weapons were placed so they could be used at a moment’s notice in case of an unexpected attack.

When all these precautions had been taken:

“My friends,” said Cyrus Smith—and they sensed the emotion in his voice—“if these wretches attempt to seize Lincoln Island, we’ll defend her, will we not?”

“Yes, Cyrus,” replied the reporter, “and, if need be, we’ll die in her defense!”

The engineer extended his hand to his companions who shook it with feeling.

Ayrton alone remained in his corner, not joining the colonists. Perhaps the former convict still felt unworthy.


 Cyrus Smith understood what was passing in Ayrton’s soul and he went to him.

“And you, Ayrton,” he asked him, “what will you do?”

“My duty,” replied Ayrton.

Then he stationed himself near the window and looked through the foliage.

It was seven thirty. The sun had set about twenty minutes earlier behind Granite House and, as a result, the eastern horizon was gradually becoming darker. The brig nevertheless continued to advance toward Union Bay. It was now not more than eight miles away and exactly opposite Grand View Plateau because, after having changed direction off Cape Claw, it had gone north taking advantage of the current produced by the rising tide. One could even say that, at this distance, it had already entered the vast bay because its starboard quarter was to the west of a straight line drawn from Cape Claw to Cape Mandible.

Would the brig go well into the bay? That was the first question. Once in the bay, would it anchor there? That was the second. Would they merely be content to observe the shore and return to sea without putting the crew ashore? This they would know in an hour. The colonists could only wait.

Cyrus Smith had watched the suspicious vessel unfurl its black flag with deep anxiety. Was it not a direct menace against the work that his companions and he had accomplished so well up to that time? Had the pirates—there could be no doubt that such was the crew of the brig—already frequented this island, since they had raised their colors upon coming within sight of land? Had they been here previously, which might explain certain mysteries that still had no explanation? Did there exist some accomplice of theirs in the still unexplored portions of the island who was ready to contact them?

Cyrus Smith did not know how to reply to all these questions that he asked himself silently; but he sensed that the colony’s survival could only be gravely compromised by the arrival of this brig.

However, his companions and he were committed to resisting them to the very end. Were these pirates numerous and better armed than the colonists? It would be very important to know this! But how could they get this information?

It was night. The new moon, carried away with the sun’s rays, had disappeared. A deep obscurity enveloped the island and the sea. 
 Heavy clouds had accumulated on the horizon, allowing no light to filter through. The wind had fallen completely at twilight. Not a branch stirred among the trees and not a wave murmured on the beach. They saw nothing of the vessel because all its lights were hidden, and if it was still in view of the island, they did not know where it was.

“Who knows?” Pencroff then said. “Perhaps this cursed ship will have gone on its way during the night, and we’ll no longer find it there at daybreak.”

As if in response to the sailor’s remark, a bright flash appeared at sea and a cannon resounded.

The vessel was still there and it had artillery on board.

Six seconds elapsed between the flash and the roar. The brig was thus approximately a mile and a quarter from shore.

At the same time they heard the noise of chains grating through its hawse-holes.

The vessel had anchored in sight of Granite House!



CHAPTER II

 
1





T

 here was no longer any doubt about the pirates’ intentions. They had dropped anchor a short distance from the island, and it was obvious that the next day they would come ashore on their landing boats.

Cyrus Smith and his companions were ready to act but, determined as they were, they had to be prudent. Perhaps their presence could still be concealed if the pirates simply landed on shore without venturing into the island’s interior. Their only purpose might be to draw fresh water from the Mercy, and it was possible that the bridge, located a mile and a half upstream, and their installations at the Chimneys, might escape their notice.

But why was this flag flying from the truck of the brig’s mast? Why did they fire the cannon? Pure boasting, unless it indicated they were taking possession of the island! Cyrus Smith now knew that the vessel was well armed. What did the colonists of Lincoln Island have to reply to the pirates’ cannon? Merely a few guns.

“Nevertheless,” Cyrus Smith noted, “we’re in an impregnable position here. The enemy won’t discover the opening of the passageway 
 at the lake now that it’s hidden under reeds and grass, and it will be impossible for them to penetrate into Granite House.”

“But our gardens, our poultry yard, our corral, everything!” exclaimed Pencroff, stamping his foot. “They can ravage everything, destroy it all in a few hours!”

“Everything, Pencroff,” replied Cyrus Smith, “and we have no way to prevent it.”

“Are they numerous? That’s the real question,” the reporter then said. “If there are only a dozen or so, we’ll know how to stop them, but forty, fifty, more perhaps …”

“Mr. Smith,” Ayrton then said, advancing toward the engineer, “will you grant me leave?”

“For what, my friend?”

“To go to the vessel to determine the size of her crew.”

“But Ayrton …” replied the engineer, hesitating, “you’ll risk your life …”

“Why not, sir?”

“That’s more than your duty.”

“I have more than my duty to do,” replied Ayrton.

“You’ll go to the vessel with the canoe?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“No, I’ll swim. A man can slip between the waves while a canoe cannot.”

“Do you realize that the brig’s a mile and a quarter from shore?” said Harbert.

“I swim well, Mr. Harbert.”

“I tell you that you’d be risking your life,” the engineer repeated.

“My life is of no value,” replied Ayrton. “Mr. Smith, I ask this of you as a favor. It is perhaps a way for me to gain self-respect.”

“Go then, Ayrton,” replied the engineer, who sensed that a refusal would deeply hurt the former convict, who was now an honest man.

“I’ll accompany you,” said Pencroff.

“You mistrust me?” Ayrton replied quickly.

Then more humbly:

“Alas!”

“No, no,” Cyrus Smith said, “no, Ayrton! Pencroff does not mistrust you. You misinterpret his words.”

“Actually,” continued the sailor, “I propose to accompany Ayrton only as far as the islet. It’s possible, though not likely, that one of these rascals has set foot there and, in that case, it may take two men to prevent 
 him from warning the others. I’ll wait for Ayrton on the islet, and he will go alone to the vessel since this is his wish.”

This agreed, Ayrton made preparations for his departure. His plan was daring, but it might succeed thanks to the darkness of the night. Once he reached the ship, Ayrton could climb either the bob-stays or the shroud chains. He could determine their number and perhaps overhear the intentions of the convicts.

Ayrton and Pencroff, followed by their companions, descended to the beach. Ayrton undressed and rubbed himself with grease so as to lessen the effect of the water’s cold temperature since he might be obliged to remain in it for several hours.

During this time, Pencroff and Neb went to find the canoe, moored a few hundred feet higher up on the banks of the Mercy. When they returned, Ayrton was ready to leave.

A cloak was thrown over Ayrton’s shoulders, and the colonists each came to shake his hand.

Ayrton got into the canoe with Pencroff.

It was ten thirty in the evening when the two disappeared into the darkness. Their companions went to the Chimneys to wait for them.

The channel was easily crossed, and the canoe reached the opposite shore of the islet. This was done cautiously in case some pirates were prowling about, but it appeared that the islet was deserted. Ayrton, followed by Pencroff, quickly crossed it, scaring off some birds nesting in the cavities of the rocks. Then, without hesitation, Ayrton dove into the water and swam noiselessly toward the vessel, a few of whose lights had now been lit, indicating its exact position.

As for Pencroff, he crouched among some rocks along the shoreline and waited for his companion’s return.

Ayrton swam with vigorous strokes and glided across the sheet of water without producing the slightest ripple. His head barely emerged and his eyes were fixed on the dark mass of the brig whose lights reflected in the water. He thought only of the task that he had promised to accomplish. He did not consider the dangers not only on board the vessel but also in the waters which were frequented by sharks. The current carried him and he rapidly moved away from the shore.

A half-hour later Ayrton, without having been seen or heard, drew alongside the vessel and grasped the bob-stays of the bowsprit. He took a breath, climbed the chains, and reached the top of the cutwater. 
 There, several pairs of sailors’ trousers were drying. He put on a pair; then, settling down, he listened.
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He took a breath and climbed the chains.




No one was asleep on board the brig. On the contrary, they were talking, singing, and laughing. And the following words, accompanied by much swearing, were overheard by Ayrton:


[image: img]



 Ayrton listened.




“Our brig’s a fine prize!”

“Yes, the Speedy
 sails well. She merits her name!”
2



“She could outdistance the entire navy of Norfolk!”

“Hurrah for its commander!”

“Hurrah for Bob Harvey!”
3




 What Ayrton felt on hearing this fragment of conversation can only be understood if one realizes that Bob Harvey was one of his former companions in Australia, an audacious sailor who had continued to pursue criminal activities. In the waters around Norfolk Island, Bob Harvey had seized this brig which was destined for the Sandwich Islands and was loaded with arms, munitions, utensils, and tools of all sorts. His entire gang went on board and, adding piracy to their other crimes, they now scoured the Pacific, destroying vessels, and massacring their crews with more ferocity than the Malays themselves.

While drinking heavily, the convicts spoke loudly, boasting about their deeds, and this is what Ayrton discovered:

The actual crew of the Speedy
 was composed solely of British prisoners who had escaped from Norfolk. Norfolk Island is located at 29° 2′ south latitude and 165° 42′ east longitude, to the east of Australia. It is a small island six leagues in circumference, dominated by Mount Pitt, rising 1100 feet above sea level. Norfolk Island is the headquarters of a prison system containing the most intractable convicts of the British penitentiaries. There are 500 prisoners there, subject to an iron discipline and terrible punishments, and guarded by 150 soldiers and 150 employees under the authority of a governor. It would be difficult to imagine a worse group of criminals. Sometimes—although rare, and despite the prison’s tight surveillance—a few manage to escape by seizing a ship by surprise, and then begin terrorizing the Polynesian Archipelagoes.

This is what Bob Harvey and his companions had done; this is what Ayrton had once wished to do. Bob Harvey had seized the Speedy,
 anchored in sight of Norfolk Island; the entire crew had been massacred, and, for the past year, this pirate ship had been marauding the Pacific under the command of Harvey. Formerly a master mariner and now a pirate of the seas, Ayrton knew him well.

The convicts were for the most part gathered on the poop deck to the rear of the ship, but a few were stretched out on the bridge, talking noisily.

Ayrton learned that chance alone had brought the Speedy
 within sight of Lincoln Island. Bob Harvey had never set foot on it but, as Cyrus Smith had feared, finding himself near an unknown land that was unmarked on any map, he decided to visit it, and, if suitable, he would make it the brig’s home port.


 As for the black flag unfurled from the Speedy
 ’s mast and the firing of the cannon, that was pure bragging on the part of the pirates, following the example of warships when they lower their colors. It was not a signal, and there was no intended communication between the escapees of Norfolk and Lincoln Island.

The colonists’ home was therefore in great danger. Obviously, the island, with its easy access to fresh water, its small port, its resources of all sorts so increased in value by the colonists, and the hidden retreat of Granite House, would be more than suitable for the convicts. In their hands, it would become an excellent refuge and, because it was unknown, it would assure them, for a long time perhaps, both impunity and security. It was also obvious that the colonists’ lives would not be spared and that the first order of business of Bob Harvey and his companions would be to massacre them all without mercy. Cyrus Smith and his men did not even have the option of fleeing and hiding themselves on the island since the convicts intended to live there and, even if the Speedy
 were to leave on an expedition, it was likely that some of the crew would remain on land to look after things. Thus, it would be a struggle for life and death with these wretches, and the colonists would have to destroy them to the last man. They deserved no pity, and any means used against them would be justified.

Those were Ayrton’s thoughts, and he well knew that Cyrus Smith would share his viewpoint.

But was resistance and victory possible? That depended on the brig’s armament and the number of men she carried.

Ayrton resolved to determine this at any cost. An hour after his arrival, things began to quiet down and a good number of the convicts were already in a drunken stupor. Ayrton did not hesitate to venture onto the deck of the Speedy
 which the extinguished lanterns then left in deep darkness.

He hoisted himself on the cutwater and, by the bowsprit, he climbed to the brig’s forecastle, creeping quietly among the convicts stretched out here and there. He made a tour of the ship and discovered that the Speedy
 was armed with four cannons which could fire balls of eight to ten pounds. By touching them he even verified that these cannons were breech loaders. They were modern weapons, easy to use and terrible in effect.

As to the men lying about the deck, they numbered about ten, but there were surely others, more numerous, who were sleeping inside 
 the brig. Listening to their conversations, Ayrton had gathered that there were about fifty on board; a large number compared to the six colonists of Lincoln Island! But thanks to Ayrton’s devotion, Cyrus Smith at least would not be surprised; he would know the strength of his adversaries and make arrangements accordingly.

All that remained for Ayrton to do now was to return to Granite House to give an account of the mission. And he prepared to go to the forward part of the brig in order to slip down into the sea.

But to this man, who wished to do more than his duty, there came a heroic thought, one which would require the sacrifice of his life but which would save the island and the colonists. Cyrus Smith obviously could not resist fifty well-armed bandits who, whether they invaded Granite House by force or starved out the besieged, would eventually overcome them. He then thought of his saviors who had remade him into a man and an honest man at that, to whom he owed everything. They would be killed without pity, their work utterly destroyed, their island changed into a pirate’s retreat! He told himself that he was the original cause of these disasters since his old comrade, Bob Harvey, could not have otherwise carried out Ayrton’s own plans. A sentiment of horror then took hold of his entire being, and he was seized by an irresistible desire to blow up the brig, himself and all those that it carried. Ayrton would perish in the explosion, but he would have done his duty.

Ayrton did not hesitate. It was easy to reach the powder room which is always situated to the rear of a ship. There would be no lack of powder on such a vessel, and a spark would suffice to annihilate it in an instant.

Ayrton carefully lowered himself down between decks where numerous men were lying about, unconscious more from drunkenness than slumber.

There was a lighted lantern at the foot of the grand mast around which was suspended a rack containing firearms of all sorts.

Ayrton took a revolver from the rack and assured himself that it was loaded and primed. He needed nothing more to accomplish his work of destruction. He then crept toward the stern so as to arrive under the poop deck where the storeroom ought to be.

However, between decks, it was very dark and difficult to move about without jostling some dozing convict and provoking both swears and blows. More than once, Ayrton was forced to stop. But 
 he finally reached the partition that enclosed the rear compartment, and he found the door that would open into the very place he was searching for.

It was necessary to force it open, and Ayrton set about the task. To accomplish this without noise was difficult because he had to break a padlock. But under Ayrton’s vigorous hand the padlock was sprung and the door was opened…

At this moment, Ayrton felt an arm on his shoulder.

“What are you doing here?” asked a tall man in a harsh voice who, standing in the shadows, projected the light of a lantern onto Ayrton’s face.

Ayrton drew back. In the lantern’s glow, he quickly recognized his former accomplice, Bob Harvey. But the latter could not have recognized him, believing him to be long since dead.

“What are you doing here?” asked Bob Harvey again, seizing Ayrton by the belt of his trousers.

But without replying, Ayrton shoved the pirate chief back and tried to get into the storeroom. One shot of the revolver into these tons of powder, and all would be over!

“Help, lads!” shouted Bob Harvey.

Two or three pirates, awakened by his voice, threw themselves on Ayrton, trying to bring him down. Ayrton shook them off. Two shots from his revolver resounded, and two convicts fell; but he could not escape a knife stab that cut a gash on his shoulder.

Ayrton realized that he could not carry out his plan. Bob Harvey had reclosed the door of the storeroom, and Ayrton sensed that everyone on board was awakening. Ayrton had to save himself to fight by Cyrus Smith’s side. All he could do now was escape.

But was escape still possible? It was doubtful, but Ayrton intended to do everything in his power to rejoin his companions.

He still had four shots left. He fired two, one aimed at Bob Harvey. It did not hit him, at least not seriously. But his adversaries briefly drew back, and Ayrton instantly ran toward the ladder leading up to the deck of the brig. Passing in front of a lantern, he broke it with the butt of his revolver; the darkness would help his escape.

Two or three pirates, aroused by the noise, were coming down the ladder at this moment. A fifth shot from Ayrton’s revolver dropped one, and the others moved back, not understanding what was going on. In two bounds, Ayrton was on the deck of the brig and, three 
 seconds later, after discharging his revolver for the last time into the face of a pirate who was about to seize him by the throat, be leaped over the bulwarks and plunged into the sea.
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“What are you doing here?”




Ayrton had not made six strokes when bullets were crackling all around him like a hailstorm.
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 He leaped over the bulwarks.




One can imagine the emotions of Pencroff, hiding behind a rock on the islet, and those of Cyrus Smith, the reporter, Harbert and Neb who were huddled together at the Chimneys, when they heard this gunfire on board the brig. They ran to shore and, with their weapons to their shoulders, stood ready to repel any attack.


 For them, no doubt remained. Surprised by the pirates, Ayrton had been murdered, and these wretches were perhaps now getting ready to land on the island under the cover of night.

A half hour passed in extreme apprehension. The gunfire had ceased, but neither Ayrton nor Pencroff had reappeared. Had the islet been invaded? Should they run to bring help to Ayrton and to Pencroff? But how? The high tide made it impossible to cross the channel. The canoe was no longer there. Cyrus Smith and his companions felt terribly uneasy.

Finally, about a half hour past midnight, a canoe carrying two men drew alongside the shore. It was Ayrton, slightly wounded in the shoulder, and Pencroff, safe and sound, who were received with open arms.

Everyone immediately took refuge in the Chimneys. There Ayrton related what had occurred, including his plan to blow up the brig.

They all grasped Ayrton’s hand in gratitude, and he did not conceal from them how serious the situation was. The pirates had now been forewarned. They knew that Lincoln Island was inhabited, and they would come ashore only in great numbers and well-armed. They would respect nothing and, if the colonists fell into their hands, they could expect no mercy!

“Well, we’ll know how to die like men,” said the reporter.

“Let’s return to our posts and keep watch,” replied the engineer.

“Do we have some chance of pulling through, Mr. Cyrus?” asked the sailor.

“Yes, Pencroff.”

“Hm! Six against fifty!”

“Yes, six … not counting one more …”

“Who?” asked Pencroff.

Cyrus did not reply, but he pointed toward the sky.


 
CHAPTER III





T

 he night passed without incident. The colonists remained on constant alert, not abandoning their post at the Chimneys. The pirates did not seem to have made any attempt to land. After the last shots had been fired at Ayrton, there was no more gunfire, not even a noise to reveal the presence of the brig in the waters. They were tempted to believe that the pirates, under the impression that they had to deal with a powerful opponent, had raised anchor and were now far from these waters.

But that was not so. At daybreak, the colonists were able to catch a glimpse of a dark hulk through the morning fog. It was the Speedy.


“Here, my friends,” the engineer then said, “are the preparations which seem to me best to make before the fog lifts completely. The fog hides us from the eyes of the pirates, so we must act without arousing their attention. What’s especially important is to lead the convicts to believe that there are many inhabitants on the island capable of resisting them. I therefore propose that we divide into three groups, the first posted here at the Chimneys, and the second at the mouth of the Mercy. As for the third, I think that it would be wise to post it on the islet in order to repel or at least to delay any landing attempt. We have two carbines and four rifles. Each of us will thus be armed and, since we’re well provided with powder and shot, we won’t spare our ammunition. We have nothing to fear from their rifles or even from the brig’s cannons. What can they do against these rocks? And since we won’t be shooting from the windows of Granite House, the pirates won’t think of firing any shells there, which could cause irreparable damage. What’s to be feared is that hand-to-hand combat may become necessary since the convicts have numbers on their side. We must resist any of their attempts to land, but without revealing our positions. So don’t economize on the ammunition. Fire often but accurately. Each of us has eight or ten enemies to kill, and kill them we must.”

Cyrus Smith had outlined the situation clearly, speaking in a calm voice as if he were supervising some job rather than directing a battle. His companions approved of these preparations without saying a word. He had no need to tell everyone to go to their posts before the fog had completely lifted.


 Neb and Pencroff immediately went to Granite House and brought back sufficient munitions. Gideon Spilett and Ayrton, both excellent marksmen, were armed with the two carbines which were accurate to nearly a mile. The four other guns were distributed to Cyrus Smith, Neb, Pencroff, and Harbert.

The posts were assigned as follows:

Cyrus Smith and Harbert were to remain at the Chimneys so as to command the shore at the foot of Granite House over a large radius.

Gideon Spilett and Neb went to crouch among the rocks at the mouth of the Mercy—the bridge there as well as the other bridges had been lifted—with the task of repelling any passage by boat and even any landing on the opposite shore.

As for Ayrton and Pencroff, they crossed the channel with the canoe to occupy two separate posts on the islet. In this way, there would be gunfire from four different points, and the convicts would think that the island was well populated and would be vigorously defended.

In the event that they were unable to repel a landing, or if they were at risk of being outflanked by some boat from the brig, Pencroff and Ayrton would return with the canoe to strengthen the most threatened area.

Before going to their posts, the colonists shook hands for a last time. Pencroff managed to master his emotions when he embraced Harbert, his child! … then they parted.

A few minutes later, Cyrus Smith and Harbert on the one side and the reporter and Neb on the other, had disappeared behind some rocks. Five minutes later, Ayrton and Pencroff successfully crossed the channel, landed on the islet, and hid themselves along its eastern shore.

None of them could have been seen, since they themselves could still barely distinguish the brig in the fog.

It was six thirty in the morning.

Little by little, the fog began to break up, and the truck of the brig’s mast emerged from the mist. For a few moments, large patches of fog still moved across the surface of the sea; then a breeze rapidly dissipated the haze.

The Speedy
 appeared in full view, moored with two anchors, its bow pointed north, presenting its portside quarter to the island. 
 Cyrus Smith estimated that it was not more than a mile and a quarter from shore.

The sinister black flag flew from the mast.

With his telescope, the engineer could see that the four cannons which comprised the vessel’s artillery had been pointed toward the island. They were ready to fire at the first signal.

However, the Speedy
 remained silent. One could see about thirty pirates moving about on the bridge. Several had gone up to the poop deck; two others, posted at the large topgallant and provided with telescopes, were carefully observing the island.

Bob Harvey and his crew must have been greatly puzzled by what had happened on board during the night. This half-naked man who came to force the door of the powder storeroom, against whom they had fought, had discharged his revolver six times, killed one of their number and wounded two others; had this man escaped their fire? Had he been able to swim back to shore? Where did he come from? How did he get on board? Was his intent really to blow up the brig as Bob Harvey thought? All this had to be very confusing for the convicts. But one fact they could no longer doubt, that the unknown island where the Speedy
 had thrown anchor, was indeed inhabited, and perhaps an entire colony stood ready to defend it. Nevertheless, no one could be seen, either on shore or on the heights. The shore appeared to be absolutely deserted, and there was no trace of a dwelling. Had the inhabitants fled to the interior?

Such were the questions which the pirate chief asked himself, and, as a prudent man, he had doubtless decided to first reconnoitre the island before committing his forces.

For an hour and a half, there was no indication on board the brig of an impending attack or a landing. It was obvious that Bob Harvey was hesitating. His best telescopes had evidently not permitted him to perceive any of the colonists crouching among the rocks. It was also unlikely that he had noticed the covering of green branches and vines which hid the windows of Granite House and which stood out on the bare wall. Indeed, how could he imagine that a dwelling had been hollowed out, at this height, into this block of granite? From Cape Claw to the Mandible Capes, over the entire perimeter of Union Bay, there was nothing to indicate that the island was inhabited.

At eight o’clock, however, the colonists saw some activity on 
 board the Speedy.
 They were hauling out the tackle, and a boat was being lowered to sea. Seven armed men descended. One of them placed himself at the tiller, four at the oars and the other two, crouching up front, ready to fire, examined the island. Their purpose was no doubt to perform a preliminary reconnaissance, but not to land, because, in the latter case, they would have come in greater numbers.

A few pirates, perched in the topgallant mast, had evidently been able to see that an islet protected the coast and was separated from it by a channel about a half mile wide. By observing the direction followed by the boat, Cyrus Smith soon realized that they would not move directly into the channel but would, more prudently, first land on the islet.

Pencroff and Ayrton, hidden among the rocks there, saw them coming straight toward them, and they waited for the right moment.

The boat advanced carefully. The oars dipped into the water only at long intervals. They could also see that one of the convicts in the bow held a sounding line in his hand and that he was trying to discover the channel hollowed out by the Mercy’s current. This indicated that Bob Harvey intended to bring his brig as close to shore as he could. About thirty pirates, hanging in its rigging, kept a close eye on the boat and took the bearings of certain landmarks which would allow them to land without danger.

The boat was not more than two cables from the islet when it stopped. The man at the helm, standing up, was looking for the best point at which to land.

In an instant two gunshots were heard. Smoke twirled above the rocks on the islet. The man at the tiller and the man with the sounding line fell back into the boat. Ayrton’s and Pencroff’s bullets had both struck at the same instant.

Almost immediately, a more violent detonation was heard. A bright puff of smoke arose from the brig’s broadside, and a cannonball struck the top of the rocks which sheltered Ayrton and Pencroff, bursting it into splinters but not touching the two marksmen.

Horrible threats were heard from the boat which quickly resumed its course. The man at the tiller was immediately replaced by one of his comrades, and the oars began to vigorously churn the water.

Instead of returning on board, as one might have expected, the boat continued along the shore of the islet, heading toward its southern point. The pirates were pulling the oars hard in order to put themselves outside the range of the weapons.
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 A cannonball struck the rocks.





 They advanced in this way until they were within five cable lengths of the shore which ended at Flotsam Point. Following a semi-circular path, they went toward the mouth of the Mercy, all the while protected by the brig’s cannons.

The pirates’ intention was to enter the channel and get behind the colonists posted on the islet. The latter, whatever their number, would then be caught in a cross-fire between the boat and the brig and would find themselves in a very disadvantageous position.

A quarter of a hour passed, and the boat advanced in this direction in absolute silence.

Pencroff and Ayrton well understood that they risked being surrounded, but they did not leave their post, not wanting to expose themselves either to their assailants or to the Speedy
 ’s cannons. They counted on Neb and Gideon Spilett, on guard at the mouth of the river, and on Cyrus Smith and Harbert, posted among the rocks at the Chimneys.

Twenty minutes after the first gunshots, the boat was at least two cable lengths off the Mercy’s entrance. Since the tide had begun to rise with its usual swiftness, increased by the narrow opening, the convicts felt themselves drawn toward the river and only by rowing hard did they manage to stay in the middle of the channel. But, as they passed within easy range of the mouth of the Mercy, two shots greeted them, and two more of their number fell into the boat. Neb and Spilett had not wasted their rounds.

The brig immediately fired a second round at the post betrayed by the smoke of their firearms, but only succeeded in shattering some rocks.

At this moment, the boat held only three able bodied men. Carried by the strong current, it moved along the channel with the rapidity of an arrow, passing in front of Cyrus Smith and Harbert who, out of easy range, remained silent. Then, with its two remaining oars, it rounded the northern point of the islet and headed back to the brig.

So far, the colonists had no cause to complain. The engagement had gone badly for their enemy. The latter already counted four men seriously wounded, dead perhaps; while they, on the contrary, with no casualties, had not wasted a shot. If the pirates continued to attack 
 them in this way, if they continued to attempt to land by the use of boats, the colonists would destroy them one by one.

One can understand how advantageous were the preparations made by the engineer. The pirates could only believe that they were dealing with numerous well-armed adversaries whom they could not easily rout.

A half hour passed before the boat, which had to struggle against the current coming in from the open sea, rejoined the Speedy.
 Howls of rage were heard when it returned on board with the wounded, and the cannons were fired three or four times to no avail.

But then about twelve other convicts, filled with anger and perhaps still drunk from the previous evening, got into the boat. A second boat was also lowered to the sea with eight men aboard. While the first one moved straight for the islet to flush out the colonists, the second went to force the entrance to the Mercy.

The situation had evidently become very perilous for Pencroff and Ayrton. They realized that they must get back to the mainland.

However, they still waited for the first boat to come within range, and two well-placed bullets produced a turmoil among its crew. Then Pencroff and Ayrton abandoned their post, exposing themselves to a dozen or so shots, crossed the islet as fast as their limbs could carry them, threw themselves into the canoe, crossed the channel, and ran to hide at the Chimneys just as the second boat reached the southern point. They had scarcely rejoined Cyrus Smith and Harbert when the islet was completely overrun by the pirates from the first boat.

At nearly the same moment, new detonations burst forth from the post at the Mercy which the second boat rapidly approached. Two of the eight men it carried were mortally wounded by Gideon Spilett and Neb, and the boat itself, not being able to avoid the reef, broke up at the mouth of the Mercy. But the six survivors, raising their weapons above their heads so as to preserve them from contact with the water, succeeded in setting foot on the right bank of the river. Then, finding themselves exposed to close fire from the post, they fled with all possible speed in the direction of Flotsam Point.

The situation was as follows: on the islet there were a dozen convicts, some doubtless wounded but still with their boat available; on the island, six had landed but they had no chance of reaching Granite House because they could not cross the river whose bridges were raised.


 “So far, so good!” Pencroff said, rushing into the Chimneys, “What now, Mr. Cyrus? What do you think?”

“I think,” replied the engineer, “that the battle will take a new turn because we can’t assume the convicts will be so stupid as to continue fighting under conditions that are so unfavorable to them.”

“Anyhow, they won’t get across the channel!” said the sailor. “Ayrton’s and Mr. Spilett’s carbines are there to hold them in check. You know that they have a range of more than a mile.”

“Doubtless,” replied Harbert, “but what can two carbines do against the brig’s cannons?”

“Well, the brig’s not yet in the channel …” replied Pencroff.

“And if it comes there?” asked Cyrus Smith.

“That’s impossible because it would risk stranding itself there and foundering.”

“It is possible,” Ayrton disagreed. “The convicts could take advantage of the high tide to enter the channel, and then leave before the low tide strands it. Then, under direct fire from their cannons, our position would no longer be tenable.”

“By the thousand devils of hell!” exclaimed Pencroff. “In truth, it seems that the scoundrels are getting ready to raise anchor!”

“Perhaps we’ll be forced to seek refuge in Granite House,” noted Harbert.

“Let’s wait,” replied Cyrus Smith.

“But Neb and Mr. Spilett? …” said Pencroff.

“They’ll know enough to rejoin us at the right time. Get ready, Ayrton. It’s your and Spilett’s carbines that must do the talking now.”

The Speedy
 began to lift anchor with the intention of approaching the islet. The tide would still be high for an hour and a half, and with the tide’s current now at a standstill, it would be easy to maneuver the brig. But as for entering the channel, Pencroff, contrary to Ayrton, did not believe that they would dare to attempt it.

During this time, the pirates who occupied the islet moved over to the opposite bank little by little, and only the channel now separated them from the mainland. They were armed with simple weapons that could not harm the colonists lying in wait at the Chimneys and at the mouth of the Mercy. Not realizing that the colonists had long range carbines, they did not think that they were exposed. They were thus in the open as they walked around the islet and along the shore.

Their illusion was brief. Ayrton’s and Gideon Spilett’s carbines 
 then spoke and doubtless said some disagreeable things to two convicts, because they immediately fell backwards to the ground.

Chaos ensued. The other ten men did not even take the time to pick up their companions, wounded or dead; they ran with all possible speed to the other side of the islet, threw themselves into the boat which had brought them there and rapidly rowed away.

“Eight down!” shouted Pencroff. “Mr. Spilett and Ayrton certainly work well together!”

“Gentlemen,” replied Ayrton, reloading his carbine, “this is becoming most serious. The brig is getting under weigh.”

“The anchor is up! …” shouted Pencroff.

“Yes, and she’s already moving!”

They distinctly heard the clicking of the pawl on the windlass as it was turned by the ship’s crew. The Speedy
 was first pulled toward its anchor; then, when the latter had been wrenched from the bottom, the brig began to drift toward land. The wind blew from the open sea; the large jib and the small topsail were hoisted and, little by little, the vessel came nearer to shore.

At their two posts at the Mercy and the Chimneys, the colonists, without moving but not without a certain anxiety, saw the brig maneuver. It would be a terrible situation if they were exposed to the fire from the brig’s cannons at short range, without being able to respond in kind. How then could they prevent the pirates from landing?

Cyrus Smith knew this, and he wondered what could be done. Before long, he would be forced to make a decision. But what? Enclose themselves in Granite House, let themselves be besieged for weeks, months even, since they had abundant supplies there? Possibly. But afterwards? The pirates would still be masters of the island, they would ravage it as they saw fit and, in the end, they would certainly overcome the prisoners of Granite House.

One chance still remained: that Bob Harvey not risk his vessel in the channel and that he remain on the other side of the islet. A half mile still separated it from shore and, at this distance, its cannon fire would not be extremely harmful.

“Never,” repeated Pencroff, “if this Bob Harvey is a good sailor, he’ll never enter the channel. He well knows that he risks the brig because it takes very little for the sea to become rough. And what would he become without his ship?”

However, the brig approached the islet and they could see that it 
 was trying to reach its lower extremity. There was a light breeze and, since the current had then lost much of its force, Bob Harvey could maneuver his vessel as he wanted.

The earlier boats had allowed him to familiarize himself with the channel, and he was making for it with the greatest audacity. His plan was quite clear: he wanted to bring the vessel broadside in front of the Chimneys and, from there, reply to the gunfire which had decimated his crew with shell and cannon balls.

Soon the Speedy
 reached the islet’s point; it turned with ease; the spanker sail was then full and the brig, propelled by the wind, found itself facing the Mercy.

“The bandits are coming!” shouted Pencroff.

At this moment, Cyrus Smith, Ayrton, the sailor, and Harbert were joined by Neb and Gideon Spilett.

The reporter and his companion had judged it best to abandon the post at the Mercy where they could no longer do anything against the ship, and they were wise to do so. It was better for the colonists to be together at the moment when the decisive action was about to take place. Gideon Spilett and Neb had moved behind the rocks, dodging a hail of bullets which had not harmed them.

“Spilett! Neb!” shouted the engineer. “You aren’t wounded?”

“No,” replied the reporter, “a few bruises only from the ricochet! But the cursed brig has entered the channel!”

“Yes,” answered Pencroff, “and, in less than ten minutes, it will have anchored in front of Granite House!”

“Do you have a plan, Cyrus?” asked the reporter.

“We must take refuge in Granite House while there’s still time and the convicts can’t see us.”

“That’s my opinion also,” replied Gideon Spilett, “but once inside …”

“We’ll consider our options,” answered the engineer.

“Let’s go then, and hurry!” said the reporter.

“Do you want Ayrton and me to remain here, Mr. Cyrus?” asked the sailor.

“For what purpose, Pencroff?” replied Cyrus Smith. “No! We won’t separate!”

There was not an instant to lose. The colonists left the Chimneys. An angle in the rock face protected them from being seen; but two or three detonations and the shattering of shells against the rocks informed them that the Speedy
 was near at hand.
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 There was not an instant to lose.
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 The brig, violently raised aloft …





 They quickly threw themselves into the elevator, hoisted themselves to the door of Granite House where Top and Jup had been shut up since the previous evening, and rushed into the large hall.

They did so just in time because the colonists, through the branches, now saw the Speedy
 moving through the channel, wreathed by gunsmoke, firing incessantly, and the balls from its four cannons crashing blindly on their earlier post at the Mercy and the Chimneys. Rocks were shattered, and hurrahs accompanied each detonation.

They still hoped that Granite House might be spared thanks to the fact that Cyrus Smith had concealed the windows, when a cannon ball grazed the doorway and crashed into the hallway.

“The wretches! Have they found us?” shouted Pencroff.

The colonists had perhaps not yet been seen, but it was certain that Bob Harvey had judged it appropriate to fire a shot through the suspicious foliage that covered this portion of the high wall. And he soon increased his fire when a ball tore apart this screen of foliage, exposing a large opening in the granite.

The situation was now desperate for the colonists. Their retreat had been discovered. They could not protect themselves against these projectiles nor prevent damage to the stone whose splinters were flying all around them like grape-shot. They could only take refuge in the upper passageway of Granite House and abandon their dwelling to complete destruction when, suddenly, they heard a rumbling sound followed by terror-stricken cries.

Cyrus Smith and his companions ran to one of the windows.

The brig, violently raised aloft by a sort of waterspout, had just split in half! And, in less than ten seconds, it had sunk to the bottom with all of its criminal crew!


 
CHAPTER IV




“
 
T

 hey’ve blown up!” exclaimed Harbert.

“Yes! Blown up just as if Ayrton had ignited their powder,” replied Pencroff, jumping into the elevator along with Neb and the lad.

“But what happened?” asked Gideon Spilett, still stupefied by this unexpected denouement.

“Ah! This time we’ll know …” answered the engineer.

“What will we know? …”

“Later! Come Spilett. The important thing is that these pirates have been killed!”

And Cyrus Smith, accompanied by the reporter and Ayrton, joined Pencroff, Neb and Harbert on the beach.

Nothing of the brig could be seen, not even its mast. After having been raised by this waterspout, it was thrown on its side and had foundered in this position, doubtless due to some enormous leak in its hull. But inasmuch as the channel at this point measured less than twenty feet in depth, it was certain that the sides of the sunken brig would reappear at low tide.

Some wreckage was floating on the surface of the sea. They saw spare masts and yards, poultry cages with their occupants still living, crates and barrels which little by little rose to the surface after escaping through the hatchways. But there was no other drifting debris, neither planking from the deck nor timber from the hull, and the sinking of the Speedy
 seemed more inexplicable.

However, the two masts, which had broken a few feet above the partner after having snapped their stays and shrouds, soon rose to the surface of the channel with their sails, some unfurled and others rolled up. It was best not to wait until the ebb tide carried away all these riches, so Ayrton and Pencroff quickly got into the canoe with the intention of lashing all the wreckage either to the shore of the island or to the islet.

But just as they were about to depart, a thought from Gideon Spilett stopped them.

“What about the six convicts who went ashore on the right bank of the Mercy?” he asked.

Indeed, they could not forget that the six men whose boat had broken up on the rocks had come ashore at Flotsam Point.


 They looked in that direction, but none of the fugitives were to be seen. It was likely that, after seeing the brig engulfed by the waters of the channel, they had fled into the island’s interior.

“We’ll concern ourselves with them later,” Cyrus Smith then said. “They could still be dangerous because they are armed, but now, with six against six, the odds are even. Let’s attend to the most urgent business first.”

Ayrton and Pencroff got into the boat and vigorously paddled to the wreckage.

The tide was then slack and very high since there had been a new moon two days earlier. It would be at least an hour before the hull of the brig would emerge from the water.

Ayrton and Pencroff used this time to tie down the masts and the spars with ropes whose ends were anchored at the Granite House beach. From there, the colonists, working together, managed to haul the wreckage onto shore. Then, with the canoe, they collected everything that was floating—poultry cages, barrels, and crates—which were immediately transported to the Chimneys.

A few bodies were floating on the surface. Among others, Ayrton recognized that of Bob Harvey. He pointed him out to his companion, saying with a voice full of emotion:

“That’s what I have been, Pencroff!”

“But what you are no longer, my good Ayrton!” replied the sailor.

It was rather strange that so few bodies were afloat in the channel. They barely counted five or six which the ebb tide was already beginning to carry out to the open sea. Most likely the convicts, taken by surprise, had not had time to escape and, with the vessel lying on its side, most of them had been caught under the bulwarks. The tide would drag the bodies of these wretches to the high seas and save the colonists the unpleasant task of burying them in some corner of the island.

For two hours, Cyrus Smith and his companions were busy hauling the spars onto the beach and stretching out the perfectly intact sails to dry. They spoke little, since their work absorbed them, but what thoughts were on their minds! The brig contained a true fortune in cargo. In fact, a ship is like a small but complete world, and the colony would gain many useful items. It would be, on a larger scale, like the trunk found at Flotsam Point.

“And moreover,” thought Pencroff, “why would it be impossible 
 to refloat this brig? If it’s only a water leak, that can be sealed. A vessel of three or four hundred tons is a real ship compared to our Bonadventure.
 We could go quite a distance with it, wherever we want! Mr. Cyrus, Ayrton and I must look into this. It would be well worth the trouble.”
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“That’s what I have been, Pencroff!”





 In fact, if the brig could be made seaworthy, then the colonists’ chances of returning to their native land would be enormously increased. But to decide this important question, they must closely examine every part of the hull at low tide.

With the wreckage secured on shore, Cyrus Smith and his companions devoted a few moments to eating. They were literally famished. Fortunately, the kitchen was not far off, and Neb could pass for a ship’s cook if need be. So they dined near the Chimneys and, during this meal, they thought about the unexpected event which had so miraculously saved the colony.

“Miraculously is the word,” repeated Pencroff, “because it must be admitted that these rascals were blown up at a most opportune time. Granite House was becoming rather uninhabitable!”

“And can you imagine, Pencroff,” asked the reporter, “what might have occurred to trigger the brig’s explosion?”

“Well, Mr. Spilett, nothing is simpler,” replied Pencroff. “A pirate ship is not run like a warship. Convicts are not sailors! It’s certain that the powder room of the brig was open since they were firing on us without letup. One imprudent or careless fellow would suffice to blow up the works!”

“Mr. Cyrus,” said Harbert, “what astonishes me is that this explosion did not produce a greater effect. The detonation was not powerful, and there is little debris or torn planking. It would seem that it foundered rather than blew up.”

“Does that astonish you, my child?” asked the engineer.

“Yes, Mr. Cyrus.”

“And me too, Harbert,” replied the engineer, “it astonishes me as well. But, when we examine the brig’s hull, we’ll doubtless find the explanation for this event.”

“So then, Mr. Cyrus,” said Pencroff, “you are not going to claim that the Speedy
 simply sank like a ship that struck a rock?”

“Why not?” noted Neb. “If there are rocks in the channel …”

“That’s true, Neb,” answered Pencroff. “But you didn’t have your eyes open at the right moment. An instant before it went down, I clearly saw the ship being raised by an enormous wave, and it then fell back on its port side. Now, if it had only struck a rock, it would have foundered tranquilly like an honest vessel going to the bottom.”

“But it wasn’t an honest vessel, strictly speaking,” replied Neb.

“We’ll see, Pencroff,” said the engineer.


 “Yes, we’ll see,” added the sailor, “but I’d bet my head that there are no rocks in the channel. Look here, Mr. Cyrus, to speak frankly, would you say that there was something strange in this event?”

Cyrus Smith did not reply.

“In any case,” said Gideon Spilett, “impact or explosion, you’ll agree, Pencroff, that it happened just in time.”

“Yes! … yes! …” replied the sailor, “…but that is not the question. I ask Mr. Smith if he sees anything supernatural in this.”

“I don’t know, Pencroff,” said the engineer. “That’s all I can say to you.”

This reply did not satisfy Pencroff. He insisted on “an explosion” and would not change his mind. He could not accept that this channel, formed by a bed of sand like the beach itself and which he had often crossed at low tide, contained some unknown rock reef. And besides, it was high tide when the brig sank; there was enough water to safely cross over any rocks that did not appear at low tide. Therefore there could not have been any impact. Therefore the vessel had not run aground. Therefore it had blown up.

It must be admitted that the sailor’s reasoning did have a certain logic to it.

About one thirty, the colonists got into the canoe and went to the place where the sinking had occurred. It was regrettable that the two boats from the brig had not been salvaged; but one had been broken up at the mouth of the Mercy and was absolutely useless; the other had disappeared when the brig went down and had doubtless been crushed.

At this moment, the Speedy
 ’s hull was beginning to show itself above the water. The brig had done more than fall on its side because, after having snapped its masts under the weight of the falling ballast, it lay with its keel in the air. It had truly been turned upside down by the inexplicable but powerful underwater explosion which had, at the same time, produced the enormous waterspout.

The colonists made a tour of the hull and, as the tide continued to go out, they were able to discover, if not the cause of the catastrophe, at least the effect.

Up front, on both sides of the keel, seven or eight feet before the beginning of the stem, the sides of the brig had been frightfully torn up for a length of at least twenty feet. There were two large water leaks which would be impossible to plug up. Not only had the copper bottom 
 and the sheathing disappeared, doubtless pulverized to dust, but there was no longer any trace of the framework itself, nor of the iron bolts and treenails which fastened them. Along the entire length of the hull up to the stern, the strakes were torn to shreds, no longer sea worthy. The false keel had been separated with an inexplicable violence and the keel itself, torn from the keelson at several points, was broken along its entire length.

“A thousand devils!” shouted Pencroff. “Here’s a vessel which will be difficult to refloat.”

“It will even be impossible,” said Ayrton.

“In any case,” Gideon Spilett said to the sailor, “the explosion, if it was an explosion, has produced some odd effects. It has damaged the inside of the hull instead of blowing up the deck and the upper structure. These large openings appear to have been made by a collision with a reef rather than by the explosion of the powder room.”

“There’s no reef in this channel!” insisted the sailor. “I’ll admit to anything you wish, except a collision with a reef!”

“Let’s try to get inside the brig,” said the engineer. “Perhaps we’ll then know what caused its destruction.”

That was the best thing to do, and it was agreed to inventory all the riches contained on board and to get them ready to be transported ashore.

Access to the brig’s interior was easy. The tide was low, and they reached the lower side of the deck, which had now become the upper side because the hull had turned over. The ballast, composed of heavy pig iron, was smashed in several places. They heard the splashing sea flowing in through several fissures in the hull.

Cyrus Smith and his companions, with axes in hand, advanced along the half broken deck. Chests of all sorts were strewn about the deck and, since they had been in the water for only a short time, their contents might not be damaged.

They then set to work putting all of this cargo in a secure place. The tide would not return for several hours, and this time was used profitably. Ayrton and Pencroff fastened a tackle to an opening in the hull and hoisted up the barrels and the chests. The canoe transported them immediately to the beach. They took everything without discrimination, leaving for later the task of sorting out these objects.

The colonists were very pleased to see that the brig carried a quite 
 varied cargo, an assortment of articles of all sorts, utensils, manufactured products and tools like those found on ships which trade with Polynesia. They would probably find there a little of everything, and they agreed that that was precisely what the colony of Lincoln Island needed.
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They found about twenty copper-lined barrels.





 Nevertheless, and Cyrus Smith noted this in astonished silence, not only had the brig’s hull suffered enormously from the shock, whatever its cause, but its interior was also devastated, especially toward the bow. Bulkheads and stanchions were broken as if some formidable shell had burst inside the brig. By removing the crates as they went along, the colonists could now move easily from bow to stern. These crates were not heavy cargo containers whose removal would have been difficult, but simple boxes.

The colonists then reached that part of the brig’s stern which was formerly above the poop deck. It was there that, according to Ayrton, the powder room was located. Cyrus Smith thought that if it had not exploded, it was possible that a few barrels could be salvaged and that the powder, which is ordinarily enclosed in metal envelopes, would not have suffered from contact with the water.

They found, along with a large quantity of ammunition, about twenty copper-lined barrels which they carefully removed. Pencroff was convinced by his own eyes that the Speedy
 had not been destroyed by an explosion. The portion of the hull near the powder room had actually suffered the least.

“Possibly,” replied the stubborn sailor. “But as for a rock, there’s no rock in the channel!”

“Then what happened?” asked Harbert.

“I just don’t know,” replied Pencroff, “Mr. Cyrus doesn’t know, no one else knows, and perhaps we’ll never know!”

Several hours passed during these various activities, and the tide was beginning to rise. It was necessary to suspend the salvage work. They need not fear that the brig’s remains would float out to sea because it was already sunk into the mud as firmly as if it had been moored with its anchors.

They could easily wait for the next ebb tide to resume their operations. But the ship itself was a total loss, and it would even be necessary to make haste in salvaging the debris from the hull because it would soon disappear into the shifting sand of the channel.

It was five o’clock in the evening. The day had been an exhausting one for the workers, and they sat down to dinner with great appetite. But, after their meal and in spite of their fatigue, they could not resist the temptation to inspect the crates which comprised the cargo of the Speedy.


For the most part, they contained clothing which, as may be imagined, 
 were very well received. There was enough to clothe the entire colony, with linen for every use and shoes for every foot.

“Now we’re too rich!” exclaimed Pencroff. “What are we going to do with all of this?”

And at each instant, hurrahs burst forth from the happy sailor when he recognized barrels of rum, cases of tobacco, firearms and bladed weapons, bales of cotton, farming tools and tools for the carpenter, cabinet maker and blacksmith, and all varieties of seeds. Their short stay in the water had not damaged them. Ah! If these things had come only two years earlier. But even now, when these industrious colonists already had tools of their own, these riches would be useful.

The storerooms of Granite House had plenty of space but, on this day, they did not have enough time to store everything. They could not forget that six survivors from the Speedy
 ’s crew had set foot on the island, that they were truly scoundrels of the first order, and that they had to be on their guard. Even though the bridge across the Mercy and the smaller bridges were raised, the convicts would not be inconvenienced by a river or a brook, and driven by despair, rascals such as these could be very dangerous.

They would see later what steps it would be best to take in this matter; but, in the meantime, they had to keep watch over the crates and packages piled up near the Chimneys, and the colonists took turns doing so throughout the night.

The night, however, passed without the convicts attempting any attack. Master Jup and Top, on guard at the foot of Granite House, would have given some signal.

The three days which followed, the 19th, 20th and 21st of October, were used to salvage everything that could have any value or use, either from the cargo or from the rigging of the brig. At low tide, they removed everything from the hold; at high tide, they stored what they had salvaged. A large part of the copper lining had been torn off the hull which each day was sinking deeper into the sand. But, before the sand had engulfed the heavy objects that sunk to the bottom, Ayrton and Pencroff had several times plunged down to the bed of the channel to recover the chains and anchors of the brig, the pig iron of its ballast and even four cannons which, lightened by empty barrels, they were able to bring ashore.

The colony’s arsenal gained as much from the salvage as had the 
 pantry and storerooms of Granite House. Pencroff, always enthusiastic about his projects, already spoke of constructing a battery which would command the channel and the mouth of the river. With four cannons, they could prevent any navy “however powerful it might be” from venturing into the waters of Lincoln Island.

Nothing now remained of the brig but a useless carcass; bad weather completed its destruction. Cyrus Smith had intended to blow it up in order to recover the debris on the shore, but a strong northeast wind and a strong sea permitted him to economize his powder.

In fact, on the night of the 23rd, the hull of the brig completely broke up, and part of its wreckage washed up on the beach.

As for any papers on board, needless to say, Cyrus Smith could find no trace at all, even though he carefully searched the closets of the poop deck. The pirates had evidently destroyed every reference to the captain and owner of the Speedy,
 and since the homeport was not given on any aft nameplate, they had no clue as to its nationality. However, from the shape of its bow, Ayrton and Pencroff thought that the brig was British.

Eight days after the catastrophe, or rather after the fortunate but inexplicable denouement to which the colony owed its salvation, they could no longer see anything of the vessel, not even at low tide. Its debris had been dispersed, and Granite House was enriched by nearly all that the brig had contained.

However, the mystery of its strange destruction would doubtless never have been cleared up if, on the 30th of November, Neb, while roaming about the beach, had not found a thick piece of an iron cylinder which bore the traces of an explosion. This cylinder was twisted and broken as if it had been subjected to the action of an explosive substance.

Neb brought this piece of metal to his master who was then occupied with his companions at the Chimneys workshop.

Cyrus Smith examined this cylinder carefully and then, turning to Pencroff:

“You persist, my friend,” he said to him, “in maintaining that the Speedy
 did not perish as a result of a collision?”

“Yes, Mr. Cyrus,” replied the sailor, “you know as well as I do that there are no rocks in the channel.”

“But if it had run up against this piece of iron?” said the engineer, showing him the broken cylinder.
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 “This?” replied Pencroff.




“What, this stump of pipe?” shouted Pencroff, with a completely incredulous tone.

“My friends,” said Cyrus Smith, “do you recall that, before foundering, the brig was lifted up by a kind of waterspout?”

“Yes, Mr. Cyrus,” replied Harbert.


 “Well, do you want to know what brought on this waterspout? It was this,” said the engineer, showing the broken tube.

“This?” replied Pencroff.

“Yes! This cylinder is all that remains of a torpedo.”

“A torpedo!” exclaimed the engineer’s companions.

“And who put this torpedo there?” asked Pencroff.

“All that I can tell you is that it wasn’t I!” answered Cyrus Smith. “But it was there, and you were all able to see the effects of its incomparable power!”



CHAPTER V





S

 o this torpedo explained the underwater explosion. Cyrus Smith, who during the war of the Union had had occasion to experiment with these terrible engines of destruction, was not mistaken. Because this cylinder had been loaded with an explosive substance—nitroglycerin, picrate, or other material of like nature—the water of the channel had erupted like a waterspout. The brig had been struck from below and had foundered instantly, and that’s why it was impossible to refloat the vessel because its hull had been subjected to extensive damage. Against this torpedo, which could have destroyed an armored frigate as easily as a mere fishing boat, the Speedy
 offered but little resistance.

Yes! Everything was explained…except, of course, the presence of this torpedo in the waters of the channel!

“My friends,” Cyrus Smith then said, “we can no longer doubt the presence of a mysterious being, a castaway like ourselves perhaps, abandoned on our island. I say this in order that Ayrton may be brought up to date on the strange events that have occurred during these two years. Who is this unknown benefactor who has intervened on our behalf in so many ways? I can’t imagine. What interest does he have in acting so and in concealing himself after rendering these services? I don’t understand it. But these services are nevertheless real, and only a man possessing prodigious power could have accomplished them. Ayrton is just as indebted to him as we are because, if it was the stranger who saved me from the waves after the fall of the balloon, it was obviously he also who wrote the document and put 
 this bottle along the route of the channel which told us of our companion’s situation. I’ll add that this chest, so conveniently containing everything that we needed, was brought to and beached at Flotsam Point by him; that it was he who lighted the fire on the heights of the island which permitted you to reach land; that it was he who fired the lead bullet found in the body of the peccary; that it was he who placed this torpedo in the channel which destroyed the brig; in a word, all these inexplicable events are due to this mysterious being. Whoever he is, castaway or exile on this island, we would be ingrates if we thought ourselves free of any obligation toward him. We’re indebted to him, and I hope that we’ll be able to repay him one day.”

“You’re right in speaking this way, my dear Cyrus,” replied Gideon Spilett. “Yes, there is a being, almost all powerful, hidden in some part of the island, whose influence has been especially useful for our colony. I will add that this stranger seems to have powers which border on the supernatural, if the supernatural were acceptable to the events of practical life. Is it he who has been in secret communication with us by means of the well in Granite House, and does he therefore know all our plans? Was it he who put this bottle within our reach when the boat made its first sea excursion? Was it he who threw Top out of the waters of the lake and gave the mortal wound to the dugong? Was it he, as we are all led to believe, who saved you from the waves, Cyrus, under circumstances in which no other man could have acted? If it is indeed he, then he possesses a power which renders him master of the elements.”

The reporter’s observations were undeniably true, and everyone agreed with him.

“Yes,” replied Cyrus Smith, “if it is a human being, I agree that he has powers outside those available to humanity. That’s also a mystery; but if we discover the man, the mystery will also be solved. The question, then, is this: should we respect the privacy of this generous being, or should we do everything we can to find him? What’s your opinion in this matter?”

“My opinion,” observed Pencroff, “is that whoever he is, he’s a brave man and he has my esteem.”

“That’s so,” replied Cyrus Smith, “but that isn’t an answer, Pencroff.”

“My master,” Neb then said, “my opinion is that we can search as 
 much as we want for the gentleman in question, but we won’t find him until he wishes us to.”

“What you say, Neb, is very true,” replied Pencroff.

“I agree with Neb,” added Gideon Spilett, “but that’s no reason not to try. Whether we find this mysterious being or not, we’ll at least have done our duty toward him.”

“And you, my boy, give us your opinion,” said the engineer, turning toward Harbert.

“Ah!” exclaimed Harbert, whose eyes brightened, “I would like to thank him. It was he who first saved you and who saved us afterwards.”

“Well said, my lad,” replied Pencroff, “and I also, and all of us! Not that I’m curious, but I would give one of my eyes to see this particular person face to face. It seems to me that he must be handsome, tall, strong, with a fine beard, hair like sunbeams, and that he must be lying on the clouds with a large ball in his hand!”

“But Pencroff,” observed Gideon Spilett, “that’s the portrait of God, the Father, that you’ve given us.”

“Possibly, Mr. Spilett,” answered the sailor, “but that’s how I visualize him.”

“And you, Ayrton?” asked the engineer.

“Mr. Smith,” replied Ayrton, “I can hardly give you my advice on this matter. Whatever you do will be fine with me. When you wish me to join your search, I’ll be ready to follow you.”

“I thank you, Ayrton,” said Cyrus Smith, “but I would like a more direct response to the question which I’ve asked. You’re our companion; several times already you have shown your devotion to us and, like everyone here, you should be consulted when we’re making an important decision. Speak then.”

“Mr. Smith,” replied Ayrton, “I think that we should do everything to find this unknown benefactor. Perhaps he’s alone? Perhaps he is ill? Perhaps there’s a life to renew? I also, as you have said, owe him a debt of gratitude. It was he, it could only be he, who came to Tabor Island, who found this wretch that you’ve come to know, who made you aware that there was an unfortunate to save … It’s therefore thanks to him that I’ve become a man once again. No, I’ll never forget him.”

“It’s decided,” Cyrus Smith then said. “We’ll begin our search as 
 soon as possible. We’ll not leave any part of the island unexplored. We’ll pry into its most secret retreats, and I hope that our unknown friend will pardon our intentions.”

For several days, the colonists worked hard in hay making and harvesting. Before executing their plan to explore the still unknown parts of the island, they wanted to complete all necessary tasks. It was also the season for gathering the various vegetables grown from the Tabor Island plants. Everything was stored and, fortunately, there was no lack of space at Granite House where they could put all the riches of the island. The products of the colony were there, methodically arranged and in a secure place, protected as much from beasts as from men. No dampness was to be feared in the middle of this thick mass of granite. Several natural excavations situated in the upper passageway were enlarged and widened, either with the pickaxe or with explosives, and Granite House thus became a general warehouse containing the provisions, the munitions, the tools, and the spare utensils, in a word all the supplies of the colony.

As for the cannons from the brig, they were fine pieces cast in steel which, at Pencroff’s urging, were hoisted by means of winding tackle and cranes to the very level of Granite House; recesses were made in the windows and soon one could see the shining muzzles of the cannons through the granite wall. From this height, these muzzles truly commanded all of Union Bay. It was like a miniature Gibraltar, and any vessel which would moor in sight of the islet would inevitably be exposed to fire from this raised battery.

“Mr. Cyrus,” Pencroff said one day—it was November 8th—“now that this armament is in place, we should try our guns for range.”

“Do you believe that this is useful?” replied the engineer.

“It’s more than useful, it’s necessary! Without it, how can we know how far we can send one of these fine balls with which we have been provided?”

“Let’s try it then, Pencroff,” answered the engineer. “Nevertheless I think that we should not use ordinary powder whose supply I would like to leave intact, but pyroxylin which we’ll never lack.”

“Can these cannons withstand the explosion of pyroxylin?” asked the reporter, who was no less desirous than Pencroff to try out the Granite House artillery.

“I think so. Besides,” added the engineer, “we’ll proceed carefully.”
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 How many hours he spent cleaning them!





 The engineer, an expert in these matters, had reason to believe that these cannons were of excellent manufacture. Made with forged steel and breech loading, they could withstand a considerable charge and, as a result, they probably had enormous range. In fact, for best accuracy, the trajectory of the ball should be as flat as possible, and this flatness can only be obtained if the projectile is given a very large muzzle velocity.

“Now,” said Cyrus Smith to his companions, “the muzzle velocity is a function of the amount of powder used. In the manufacture of these pieces, the question comes down to using the strongest possible metal, and steel is incontestably the strongest of all metals. I therefore have reason to believe that our cannons will withstand the expansion of the pyroxylin gases without danger and will give excellent results.”

“We’ll be more certain of that when we try it,” agreed Pencroff.

It goes without saying that the four cannons were in perfect condition. After they had been salvaged from the water, the sailor had polished them conscientiously. What hours he had spent rubbing them, lubricating them, cleaning the obturator mechanism, the locking bolt, and the pressure screw! And now these pieces were as shiny as those on board a frigate of the United States Navy.

On this day then, in the presence of all the personnel of the colony, Master Jup and Top included, the four cannons were tried in turn. They loaded them with pyroxylin, taking into account its explosive power which is quadruple that of ordinary powder; the projectile to be used was cylindro-conical.

Pencroff, holding the fuze cord, stood ready to fire.

On a sign from Cyrus Smith, the shot was fired. The ball, directed toward the ocean, passed over the islet and was lost at sea at a distance that they could not determine accurately.

The second cannon was pointed toward the extreme rocks at Flotsam Point and the projectile, striking a sharp rock nearly three miles from Granite House, made it fly into splinters.

It was Harbert who had aimed the cannon and fired it, and he was quite proud of his success. Only Pencroff was even prouder, for the honor of this shot belonged to his dear child.

The third projectile, fired this time over the dunes which formed the upper coast of Union Bay, struck the sand at a distance of at least four miles; then after having ricocheted, it lost itself at sea in a cloudy spray.


 For the fourth piece, Cyrus Smith overloaded it a bit, in order to test it at maximum range. Everyone took cover in case it exploded, and the fuze was ignited with a long cord.

A violent detonation was heard, but the cannon held. Running to the window, the colonists could see the projectile chip the rocks of Cape Mandible nearly five miles from Granite House and disappear into Shark Gulf.

“Well, Mr. Cyrus,” shouted Pencroff, whose hurrahs rivaled the detonations produced, “what do you think of our battery? All the pirates of the Pacific have only to present themselves in front of Granite House. Now not one will land without our permission!”

“Believe me, Pencroff,” replied the engineer, “it would be better not to have the experience.”

“On the same subject,” continued the sailor, “what shall we do with the six rascals who are roaming the island? Will we let them prowl about our forests, our fields, and our prairies? Pirates like these are real jaguars and it seems to me that we should not hesitate to treat them as such. What do you think, Ayrton?” said Pencroff, turning to his companion.

At first Ayrton hesitated to reply, and Cyrus Smith regretted that Pencroff had been so thoughtless in asking him this question. He was very moved when Ayrton replied in a humble tone:

“I’ve been one of these jaguars, Mr. Pencroff, and I don’t have the right to speak …”

And he quietly withdrew.

Pencroff understood.

“Stupid beast that I am!” he exclaimed. “Poor Ayrton! He nevertheless has the right to speak as much as anyone here …”

“Yes,” said Gideon Spilett, “but his reserve does him honor, and we must respect his feelings about his sad past.”

“Agreed, Mr. Spilett,” replied the sailor, “I won’t do that again. I would rather devour my own tongue than cause Ayrton any sorrow. But let’s return to the question. It seems to me that these bandits have no right to any pity, and that we must rid the island of them as soon as possible.”

“Is that really your opinion, Pencroff?” asked the engineer.

“It is definitely my opinion.”

“And, before pursuing them mercilessly, wouldn’t you wait until they had done something hostile against us?”


 “Haven’t they already done enough?” asked Pencroff, who could not understand these hesitations.

“They could change their ideas,” said Cyrus Smith, “and perhaps repent …”

“Repent, they!” shouted the sailor, raising his shoulders.

“Pencroff, think of Ayrton!” Harbert then said, taking the sailor’s hand. “He became an honest man again.”

Pencroff looked at each of his companions. He had not thought that his proposal would have encountered any hesitation whatsoever. His rough nature could not imagine that they might compromise with the rascals who had landed on the island, the accomplices of Bob Harvey, the assassins of the Speedy
 ’s crew. He looked upon them as wild beasts whom he must destroy without hesitation and without remorse.

“So!” he said. “I have everyone against me. You want to deal mercifully with these scoundrels? So be it. Let’s hope we don’t eventually regret it!”

“What danger do we run,” asked Harbert, “if we take care to keep up our guard?”

“Hm!” said the reporter, who had not spoken much. “They are six and well armed. If each of them lay in ambush and fired on one of us, they would soon be masters of the colony.”

“Then why haven’t they done so already?” countered Harbert. “Doubtless because they couldn’t see any advantage in it. Besides, we’re also six.”

“Good! good!” replied Pencroff, whom no amount of reasoning could convince. “Let’s allow these worthy men to go about their business, and we’ll worry about them no more!”

“Come, Pencroff,” said Neb. “You’re not as hard-hearted as all that. If one of these unfortunates were here, in front of you, in easy range of your gun, wouldn’t you fire over …”

“I would fire on him as if he were a mad dog, Neb!” Pencroff stated coldly.

“Pencroff,” the engineer then said, “you’ve often shown much respect for my opinions. Won’t you, in this circumstance, trust me once again?”

“I’ll do as you wish, Mr. Smith,” replied the sailor, unconvinced.

“Well then, let’s wait, and attack only if we are attacked.”

Their plan regarding the pirates was thus decided, even though 
 Pencroff could foresee no good result. They would not attack them, but they would remain on guard. After all, the island was large and fertile. If some sentiment of honesty remained in the depths of their souls, these wretches could perhaps reform. Under these living conditions, was it not in their best interests to start a new life? In any case, humaneness required that they wait. The colonists would perhaps no longer be able to come and go as before without being cautious. Until then, they only needed to guard against wild animals; and now, six convicts, perhaps of the worst kind, were roaming their island. It was doubtless serious and, for men less brave than they, it might have compromised their security.

Whatever the case, for the present, the colonists felt right in outvoting Pencroff. Would they be right in the future? That remained to be seen.



CHAPTER VI





T

 he main preoccupation of the colonists was now to conduct a complete exploration of the island, an exploration which had two goals: first, to discover the mysterious being whose existence was no longer in doubt and, at the same time, to find out what had become of the pirates, what retreat they had chosen, what life they were leading, and what they might have to fear from them.

Cyrus Smith wanted to leave without delay; but for an expedition that would last several days, they would need to load up the cart with various supplies needed for the encampments and equipment which would facilitate their journey. At this time, one of the onagers had hurt his leg and could not be harnessed; he needed a few days of rest, and they decided to put off the departure for a week until November 20th. The month of November, under this latitude, corresponds to the month of May in the northern zones, and they therefore had fine weather. The sun was positioned over the Tropic of Capricorn, giving them the longest days of the year. The time was favorable for the planned expedition which, if it did not attain its main goal, could nevertheless produce fruitful discoveries, especially in terms of the island’s natural resources. Cyrus Smith proposed that they explore 
 those thick forests of the Far West which extended up to the extremity of Serpentine Peninsula.

During the nine days that preceded their departure, it was agreed that they would put the finishing touches on their work on Grand View Plateau.

Meanwhile, it was necessary for Ayrton to return to the corral where the domestic animals needed care. It was decided that he would pass two days there and that he would return to Granite House after stocking the stables.

As he was about to leave, Cyrus Smith asked him if he wanted someone to accompany him, observing that the island was less secure than before.

Ayrton replied that it wasn’t necessary, that he could do the work alone and that, moreover, he feared nothing. If some incident occurred at the corral or in the neighborhood, he would immediately inform the colonists with a telegram.

Ayrton therefore left on the 9th at daybreak, leading the cart harnessed to only one onager and, two hours later, the telegraph announced that he had found everything in order at the corral.

During these two days, Cyrus Smith was occupied with a project which would protect Granite House from any surprise. He wanted to completely conceal the upper opening of the old passageway which had already been sealed and half hidden under grass and plants at the southern corner of Lake Grant. Nothing would be easier since all he needed to do was raise the level of the lake by two or three feet so that the opening would be completely submerged.

Now to raise this level, he had only to build a dam at the two trenches of the lake which fed Glycerin Creek and Grand Falls Creek. The colonists commenced this work and they quickly built two dams, not exceeding seven or eight feet in length and three in height, made of cemented lumps of rock.

With this work completed, it was impossible to guess where their subterranean passage existed.

It goes without saying that the small diversion of water which served to supply the Granite House reservoir and drive the elevator had been carefully spared and that there would be no lack of water. Once the elevator was raised, this secure and comfortable retreat defied any surprise attack.

This task had been finished quickly so that Pencroff, Gideon Spilett, 
 and Harbert found the time for a trip to Port Balloon. The sailor wanted very much to know if the small cove in which the Bonadventure
 was anchored had been visited by the convicts.
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The colonists set to work …




“You see,” he explained, “these gentlemen landed on the southern coast and, if they followed the shoreline, it is to be feared that they 
 may have discovered the little port, in which case I wouldn’t give a half-dollar for our Bonadventure.
 ”

Pencroff’s apprehensions were not without foundation, and a visit to Port Balloon seemed to be very appropriate.

The sailor and his companions therefore left after lunch on November 10th. They were well armed. Pencroff, while conspicuously sliding two balls into each barrel of his gun, nodded his head with satisfaction, which did not augur anything good for whomever came too close, be it “man or beast,” as he said. Gideon Spilett and Harbert also took their weapons, and all three left Granite House at about three o’clock.

Neb accompanied them up to the bend in the Mercy and, after they had passed, he raised the bridge. It was agreed that a gunshot would announce the return of the colonists and that, at this signal, Neb would return to reestablish the link between the two banks of the river.

The small troop took the port route which led straight toward the southern coast of the island. It was only a distance of three and a half miles, but Gideon Spilett and his companions took two hours to walk it. They searched all along the road, including the edges of the thick forest which bordered Tadorn’s marsh. They found no trace of the fugitives who, not knowing how many colonists there were nor their means of defense, undoubtedly had fled to the less accessible portions of the island.

On reaching Port Balloon, Pencroff saw with extreme satisfaction that the Bonadventure
 was quietly anchored in the narrow creek. Port Balloon was so well hidden among these high rocks that it could not be seen either from land or from sea, except if one were higher up or within the cove.

“So then,” said Pencroff, “these wretches still haven’t been here. Snakes prefer tall grass, so it’s likely that we’ll find them in the Far West.”

“And that’s very fortunate because, if they had managed to find the Bonadventure,
 ” added Harbert, “they would have taken her and fled, and that would have prevented us from returning to Tabor Island as we had planned.”

“Indeed,” agreed the reporter, “it’s important that we leave a document there which will make our situation on Lincoln Island and Ayrton’s 
 new residence known, in case the Scottish yacht comes back for him.”

“Well, the Bonadventure
 is still here, Mr. Spilett,” replied the sailor. “It and its crew are ready to leave at the first signal.”

“I think, Pencroff, that we should do this as soon as our exploration of the island is completed. It’s possible, after all, that this stranger, if we succeed in finding him, knows a great deal about Lincoln Island and about Tabor Island. Let’s not forget that he is the certain author of the document, and perhaps he knows about the return of the yacht.”

“A thousand devils!” exclaimed Pencroff, “who can this fellow be? This person knows us and we don’t know him. If he’s a simple castaway, why does he hide himself? We’re worthy people, I think, and the society of worthy people isn’t disagreeable to anyone. Did he come here voluntarily? Perhaps he leaves the island whenever it pleases him? Is he still here? Is he no longer here? …”

While chatting, Pencroff, Harbert and Gideon Spilett went on board and walked along the deck of the Bonadventure.
 The sailor examined the bitt on which he had fastened the anchor cable and suddenly said:

“Ah! What’s this?” he shouted. “This is strange!”

“What is it, Pencroff?” asked the reporter.

“I didn’t make this knot!”

And Pencroff pointed to the cord which held the anchor cable fast to the bitt itself, to prevent it from slipping.

“What, it wasn’t you?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“No! I swear it. This is a reef knot and I’m in the habit of making a double half-hitch*
 …”

“You could’ve been mistaken, Pencroff.”

“I’m not mistaken,” affirmed the sailor. “My hand does it naturally; this knot is second nature with me.”

“Then have the convicts been on board?” asked Harbert.

“I don’t know,” answered Pencroff, “but this much is certain, that the anchor of the Bonadventure
 was raised and then lowered anew. And hold on! Here’s another proof. The cable of the anchor was 
 payed out and its trimming*
 is no longer positioned at the hawse-hole. I say again that someone used our boat!”

“But if the convicts had come aboard, they would either have ransacked it or fled …”

“Fled! … to where? … to Tabor Island? …” replied Pencroff. “Do you think that they would have taken a chance with such a light boat?”

“Besides, that would assume that they even knew about this islet,” added the reporter.

“Be that as it may,” said the sailor, “as sure as my name is Bonadventure Pencroff of the Vineyard, our Bonadventure
 has sailed without us!”

The sailor said this so positively that neither Gideon Spilett or Harbert could question his word. It was evident that the boat had been moved since Pencroff had brought it to Port Balloon. As for Pencroff, he had no doubt whatsoever that the anchor had been raised and then dropped later to the bottom. Now what was the purpose of these two maneuvers if the boat had not been used for some expedition?

“But how could we not have seen the Bonadventure
 pass in sight of the island?” noted the reporter, who tried to raise all possible objections.

“Well, Mr. Spilett,” replied the sailor, “if it left at night with a good breeze, in two hours, it would’ve been out of sight.”

“Well then,” continued Gideon Spilett, “I ask again what purpose would the convicts have in sailing the Bonadventure
 and why, after having used her, would they return her to port?”

“Well, Mr. Spilett,” replied the sailor, “let us add this to the list of those inexplicable incidents and think no more about it. The important thing is that the Bonadventure
 left and came back. Unfortunately, if the convicts take her a second time, they may not return!”

“Then Pencroff,” said Harbert, “perhaps it would be prudent to put the Bonadventure
 in front of Granite House?”

“Yes and no,” said Pencroff, “or rather no. The mouth of the Mercy is a bad place for a boat; the sea is rough there.”


 “But we could haul it up on the sand to the very foot of the Chimneys …”

“Perhaps … yes …,” replied Pencroff. “In any case, since we must leave Granite House for a rather long expedition, I think that the Bonadventure
 will be more secure here during our absence and that we’ll do well to leave her here until such time as the island is purged of these scoundrels.”

“That’s also my opinion,” said the reporter. “At least in case of bad weather, it won’t be as exposed as it would be at the mouth of the Mercy.”

“But what if the convicts come again to pay her a visit …?” asked Harbert.

“Well, my son,” replied Pencroff, “if they didn’t find her here, they would be quick to look for her in front of Granite House, and, during our absence, nothing would prevent them from seizing her. I think therefore, as Mr. Spilett does, that she should be left at Port Balloon. But when we return, if we have not rid the island of these criminals, it would be prudent to bring our boat back to Granite House until such time as we need no longer fear any unpleasant visit.”

“Agreed. Let’s be on our way,” said the reporter.

When they returned to Granite House, Pencroff, Harbert, and Gideon Spilett informed the engineer about what had happened, and the latter approved of their arrangement for the present and for the future. He even promised the sailor that he would examine the portion of the channel situated between the islet and the shore to see if they could create an artificial port by means of a dam. In this way the Bonadventure
 would always be close by, in view, and, if need be, under lock and key.

That same evening, they sent a telegram to Ayrton asking him to bring a couple of goats which Neb wanted to acclimatize to the prairies of the plateau. It was strange that Ayrton did not acknowledge the dispatch as he usually did. This surprised the engineer. Perhaps, at that moment, Ayrton was not at the corral or was even on his way back to Granite House. Two days had already passed since his departure, and it had been decided that, on the evening of the 10th or the morning of the 11th at the latest, he would return.

The colonists therefore waited for Ayrton to show himself at the Grand View heights. Neb and Harbert waited at the bridge in order to lower it as soon as their companion presented himself.


 By ten o’clock in the evening, Ayrton still had not arrived. They therefore agreed to send a new dispatch asking for an immediate response.

The Granite House telegraph remained silent.

The colonists then became very uneasy. What had happened? Was Ayrton no longer at the corral or, if he was still there, was he no longer free to move about? Should they go to the corral on this dark night?

They discussed it. Some wanted to leave, others to stay.

“But,” asked Harbert, “perhaps the telegraphic apparatus is no longer functioning?”

“That may be,” agreed the reporter.

“Let’s wait until tomorrow,” said Cyrus Smith. “It’s possible, in fact, that Ayrton hasn’t received our dispatch or that we haven’t received his.”

They waited and, as may be imagined, not without a certain anxiety.

At daybreak on November 11th Cyrus Smith again sent an electric message across the wire and received no response.

He tried again; the same result.

“Let’s set off at once to the corral!” he said.

“And well armed,” added Pencroff.

They decided that Granite House should not be deserted and that Neb would remain there. He would accompany his companions to Glycerin Creek, raise the bridge and, hiding behind a tree, watch either for their or for Ayrton’s return.

In case the pirates presented themselves and tried to cross, he would attempt to stop them with gunfire, and, as a last resort, he would take refuge inside Granite House where, once the elevator was raised, he would be safe.

Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett, Harbert, and Pencroff would go directly to the corral and, if they did not find Ayrton there, they would scour the woods in the neighborhood.

At six o’clock in the morning, the engineer and his three companions crossed Glycerin Creek and Neb posted himself behind a low cliff which overlooked some large dragon trees on the left bank of the creek.

After leaving Grand View Plateau, the colonists immediately took the road to the corral. They carried their guns in their arms ready to 
 fire at the first sign of hostility. The two carbines and the two rifles had been loaded with ball.

On each side of the road, the woods were thick and could easily hide the malefactors who, thanks to their weapons, would be truly formidable.

The colonists moved quickly and silently. Top preceded them, sometimes on the road, sometimes making a detour into the woods, but always silent and not appearing to suspect anything unusual. They could count on the faithful dog to bark at the least appearance of danger and prevent any surprises.

While they walked along the road, Cyrus Smith and his companions also examined the telegraphic wire which linked the corral and Granite House. After traveling for about two miles, they still did not find any break in it. The poles were in good condition, the insulators intact, and the wire evenly stretched. However, beyond this point, the engineer saw that the tension of the wire seemed to diminish and finally at post No. 74, Harbert, who was ahead of the others, stopped and shouted:

“The wire is broken!”

His companions quickened their pace and arrived at the place where the boy had stopped.

The pole was thrown down across the road. The break in the wire thus confirmed, it was evident that the dispatches from Granite House had not been received at the corral nor those from the corral to Granite House.

“It wasn’t the wind that knocked down this pole,” noted Pencroff.

“No,” agreed Gideon Spilett. “The ground has been dug up around its base, and it was pulled out by the hand of man.”

“Further, the wire is broken,” added Harbert, showing the two ends of the iron wire that had been violently torn apart.

“Is the break a recent one?” asked Cyrus Smith.

“Yes,” replied Harbert. “It was certainly broken a short time ago.”

“To the corral! to the corral!” shouted the sailor.

The colonists were then midway between Granite House and the corral. There still remained two and a half miles for them to cover.

They rushed along the road, fearing that something serious had occurred at the corral. Ayrton might have sent them a telegram which had not arrived, but that was not the main reason for their anxiety; the more inexplicable concern was that Ayrton had promised to return on the previous evening and had not done so. Lastly, someone had a motive in breaking off all communication between the corral and Granite House, and who, besides the convicts, had any interest in doing so?


[image: img]



 “It wasn’t the wind.”





 The colonists therefore hurried, their hearts gripped with fear for their new companion to whom they now felt very close. Would they find him wounded by the very men he had once commanded?

Soon they arrived at the place where the road skirted along the small stream leading into Red Creek, which irrigated the prairies of the corral. They then slowed their steps in order not to find themselves out of breath just when a battle might become necessary. The guns did not have their safety catches on and were cocked and ready. Each of them surveyed a side of the forest. Top made some muffled growls which did not auger any good.

Finally the walls of the stockade appeared through the trees. They saw no trace of damage. The door was closed as usual. A profound silence reigned in the corral. Neither the bleating of the sheep nor Ayrton’s voice was heard.

“Let’s enter,” said Cyrus Smith.

And the engineer advanced while his companions were on the lookout, twenty feet behind him, ready to fire.

Cyrus Smith lifted the inner latch of the gate and was going to push open one of the swing doors when Top barked violently. Suddenly, there was a burst of gunfire from above the stockade, and a cry of pain was heard!

Harbert, struck by a bullet, had fallen to the ground!


*
 A sort of knot familiar to sailors which has the advantage of always remaining tight.


*
 The trimming is a piece of old cloth covering the cable of the anchor so that it will not wear out on the section which passes through the hawse-hole.



CHAPTER VII





A

 t Harbert’s cry, Pencroff dropped his weapon and sprang toward him.

“They’ve killed him!” he shouted. “My child! They’ve killed him!”

Cyrus Smith and Gideon Spilett rushed toward Harbert. The reporter tried to hear if the poor child’s heart was still beating.

“He lives!” he said. “But he must be carried …”


[image: img]



 A burst of gunfire and cry of pain!





 “To Granite House? That’s impossible!” replied the engineer.

“To the corral then!” shouted Pencroff.

“One moment,” said Cyrus Smith.

And he ran to the left to get around the corner of the enclosure. There he saw a convict who, aiming at him, sent a ball through his hat. A few seconds later, before he had time to fire his second round, he fell, struck through the heart by Cyrus Smith’s dagger, a weapon even more reliable than his gun.

During this time, Gideon Spilett and the sailor hoisted themselves up the corner of the stockade, went over the top, removed the bars which shut the inner door, ran to the house which was empty, and soon poor Harbert was lying on Ayrton’s bed.

A few moment’s later, Cyrus Smith was by his side.

On seeing Harbert unconscious, the sailor’s pain was terrible. He sobbed, he cried, he wanted to knock his head against the wall. Neither the engineer or the reporter could calm him. They themselves were choking with emotion and could not speak.

They did all that they could to save this poor child who was dying beneath their eyes. Gideon Spilett, who had experienced many incidents such as this during his life, was not without some practical knowledge about current medicine. He knew a little about everything, and he had already encountered many a circumstance in which he had attended wounds produced either by bare arms or by firearms. Assisted by Cyrus Smith, he hastened to give the medical care required by Harbert’s condition.

First of all, the reporter was struck by the general stupor which overwhelmed the boy, a stupor which was due either to hemorrhage or shock, as if the bullet had struck a bone with sufficient force to cause such a violent reaction.

Harbert was extremely pale and his pulse was so weak that Gideon Spilett felt it beat only at long intervals, as if it were on the point of stopping altogether. Gideon Spilett, based on his instinct and knowledge, concluded that these symptoms were very serious.

Harbert’s chest was bared and, after stopping the bleeding with handkerchiefs, his chest was then washed with cold water.

The contusion, or rather the wound, became visible. There was an oval hole in his chest between the third and fourth ribs; there the bullet had struck Harbert.


 Cyrus Smith and Gideon Spilett then turned the poor child over. He groaned so weakly that they thought it was his last sigh.

Another wound had bloodied Harbert’s back, where the bullet had exited.

“God be praised!” said the reporter, “the bullet didn’t remain in the body, and we won’t have to extract it.”

“But the heart? …” asked Cyrus Smith.

“The heart hasn’t been touched, otherwise Harbert would be dead!”

“Dead!” shouted Pencroff, with a roar.

The sailor had only heard the reporter’s last word.

“No, Pencroff!” replied Cyrus Smith. “No! He isn’t dead. His pulse still beats. He’s even uttered a sigh. But, in the interests of your child, calm yourself. We must maintain our composure; don’t lose it, my friend!”

Pencroff was silent but large tears rolled down his face.

Meanwhile, Gideon Spilett tried to recall what he knew so that he could proceed methodically. From what he could see, the bullet had entered from the front and exited at the rear. What ravages had this bullet caused in its passage? What vital organs had it reached? Even a professional surgeon would have had difficulty answering these questions at that moment, much less a reporter.

However, he knew one thing: he would have to keep down the inflammation as well as the fever which would ensue from this wound, a mortal wound perhaps. Now what topical medications, what antiphlogistics should be used? By what means could he reduce this inflammation?

In any event, it was important that they dress the two wounds without delay. It did not seem necessary to Gideon Spilett to bring on a new flow of blood by washing the wounds in lukewarm water and by using compresses. The hemorrhage had already been abundant, and Harbert was very weak from the loss of blood.

The reporter therefore felt that he must simply wash the two wounds in cold water.

Harbert was placed on his left side and kept in that position.

“He must not move,” said Gideon Spilett. “He’s in the best position for his back and chest wounds to suppurate in time, and absolute rest is required.”

“What? Can’t we carry him to Granite House?” asked Pencroff.


 “No, Pencroff,” replied the reporter.

“Damn!” shouted the sailor, with his fist turned toward the sky.

“Pencroff!” said Cyrus Smith.

Gideon Spilett again examined the wounded child carefully. Harbert was so frightfully pale that the reporter was troubled.

“Cyrus,” he said, “I’m not a doctor … I’m terribly perplexed … You must help me with your advice and your experience …”

“Keep your calm …, my friend,” replied the engineer, seizing the reporter’s hand. “Try to judge coolly … Think only of this: Harbert must be saved!”

Hearing these words, Gideon Spilett regained his confidence which, in a moment of discouragement and amid feelings of acute responsibility, he had lost. He sat down beside the bed. Cyrus Smith remained standing. Pencroff had torn off his shirt and, with mechanical gestures, was making bandages.

Gideon Spilett then explained to Cyrus Smith that, before anything else, he must stop the hemorrhaging. But he must not close the two wounds, nor encourage their immediate cicatrization, because the boy had an interior perforation and the suppurated matter must not be allowed to accumulate in his chest.

Cyrus Smith approved completely, and it was decided that they would dress the two wounds without trying to close them entirely. Very fortunately, it did not seem that an incision was necessary.

And now, did the colonists possess any effective agent to quell the inflammation which would follow?

Yes! They had one, because nature had generously provided it. They had cold water, the most powerful sedative that can be used against the inflammation of wounds, the most effective therapeutic agent in these serious cases and now used by all doctors. Moreover, cold water leaves the wound at absolute rest and protects it from any premature dressing, a considerable advantage, since it has been demonstrated that contact with air is disastrous during the first few days.

Gideon Spilett and Cyrus Smith reasoned thus with their simple good sense, and they acted as the best surgeon would have. Cloth compresses were applied to poor Harbert’s two wounds, and they were constantly soaked in cold water.

The sailor had lit a fire in the fireplace of the dwelling which did not lack the necessities for life. Some maple sugar and medicinal herbs—the very ones that the lad had gathered on the banks of Lake Grant—allowed 
 them to make some refreshing drinks which they made him drink without his being aware of it. His fever was extremely high, and the entire day and night passed without his regaining consciousness. Harbert’s life hung by a thread and that thread could break at any moment.
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Harbert’s eyes opened.





 The next day, November 12th, Cyrus Smith and his companions recovered some hope. Harbert came out of his long stupor. He opened his eyes and recognized Cyrus Smith, the reporter, and Pencroff. He said two or three words. He knew nothing of what had happened. They told him, and Gideon Spilett asked him to remain absolutely at rest, telling him that his life was not in danger and that his wounds would heal in a few days. Moreover, Harbert was suffering very little since the cold water, which was applied continually, prevented any inflammation of the wounds. The suppuration established itself in a regular way; the fever did not go higher; and they could finally hope that this terrible wound would not become a catastrophe. Pencroff felt his heart little by little return to normal. He was like a Sister of Charity, like a mother at the bed of her child.

Harbert fell unconscious again, but his sleep seemed to be better.

“Tell me again that you’re hopeful, Mr. Spilett!” said Pencroff. “Tell me again that you’ll save Harbert.”

“Yes, we’ll save him!” replied the reporter. “The wound is serious, and perhaps the bullet has even gone through the lung, but the perforation of this organ isn’t fatal.”

“May God grant it!” answered Pencroff.

As one can well imagine, during the twenty four hours that they were at the corral, the colonists had no other thought than to care for Harbert. They did not concern themselves either with the danger they might face if the convicts returned or with precautions to take for the future.

But while Pencroff watched at the bed of the patient, Cyrus Smith and the reporter spoke to each other about what it would be best to do.

First of all, they searched the corral. There was no trace of Ayrton. Had the unfortunate man been dragged away by his former accomplices? Had they surprised him in the corral? Had he fought back and succumbed in battle? This last hypothesis was only too likely. When Gideon Spilett had scaled the stockade enclosure, he clearly saw one of the convicts fleeing from Top along the southern buttress of Mount Franklin. He was among those whose boat had broken up on the rocks at the mouth of the Mercy. Moreover, the one that Cyrus Smith had killed, whose body was found outside the enclosure, certainly belonged to Bob Harvey’s gang.

As for the corral, it had not been subjected to any devastation. 
 Since the doors were closed, the domestic animals had not been able to wander away into the forest. They no longer saw any trace of a battle, nor any damage either in the dwelling or at the stockade. Only Ayrton’s munitions had disappeared along with him.

“The poor fellow was taken by surprise,” said Cyrus Smith, “and, since he was a man to defend himself, it’s likely he was killed.”

“Yes. That’s to be feared,” answered the reporter. “Then, the convicts undoubtedly settled in at the corral where they found everything in abundance, and they took flight only when they saw us coming. It’s also quite obvious that Ayrton, dead or alive, is no longer here.”

“We must search the forest,” said the engineer, “and rid the island of these scoundrels. Pencroff was not mistaken in his forebodings when he suggested we hunt them down like wild beasts. That would certainly have spared us these misfortunes.”

“Yes,” replied the reporter, “but now we have the right to act without pity.”

“In any case,” said the engineer, “we must remain at the corral until we can carry Harbert to Granite House without danger.”

“But Neb?” asked the reporter.

“Neb is safe.”

“And what if, growing uneasy at our absence, he risks coming here?”

“He must not come!” Cyrus Smith said strongly. “He’d be murdered on the way!”

“It’s very likely that he’ll try to join us.”

“Ah! If the telegraph were still working, we could warn him. But now that’s impossible. As for letting Pencroff and Harbert stay here alone, we can’t do that! … Well, I’ll go to Granite House alone.”

“No, no! Cyrus,” replied the reporter, “you must not expose yourself! Your courage will accomplish nothing. These wretches are no doubt watching the corral, lying in wait in the thick woods which surround it. If you leave, we’ll soon have two misfortunes to regret instead of one.”

“But Neb?” repeated the engineer. “It’s twenty four hours since he has had any news from us. He’ll want to come.”

“And since he’ll be less on his guard than we ourselves would be,” replied Gideon Spilett, “he’ll be struck down …”

“Isn’t there any way to prevent it?”


 While the engineer was thinking, he noticed Top who, by his going to and fro, seemed to say:

“Am I not here?”

“Top!” shouted Cyrus Smith.

The animal rushed forward at his master’s call.

“Yes, Top will go!” said the reporter, who understood the engineer. “Top can go where we cannot. He’ll carry news from the corral to Granite House, and he’ll bring it back to us from Granite House.”

“Quickly!” urged Cyrus Smith. “Quickly!”

Gideon Spilett rapidly tore out a page from his notebook and he wrote these lines:

“Harbert wounded. We’re at the corral. Be on your guard. Don’t leave Granite House. Have the convicts appeared in the neighborhood? Reply by Top.”

This laconic note contained all Neb had to know and, at the same time, asked him all that the colonists needed to know. It was folded and attached to Top’s collar so as to be plainly visible.

“Top! my dog,” the engineer then said, caressing the animal. “Neb, Top! Neb! Go!”

Top dashed forward at these words. He understood what was required of him. He was familiar with the road to the corral. In less than a half-hour, he could make this trip which neither Cyrus Smith nor the reporter could risk without danger. Top, running among the tall grass or at the edge of the wood, would pass unnoticed.

The engineer went to the doors of the corral and opened one.

“Neb! Top, Neb!” the engineer repeated once more, extending his hand in the direction of Granite House.

Top dashed out and disappeared almost immediately.

“He’ll get there!” said the reporter.

“Yes, and the faithful animal will return.”

“What time is it?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“Ten o’clock.”

“In an hour he’ll be here perhaps. Let’s be on the lookout for his return.”

They closed the door of the corral and the engineer and the reporter returned to the house. Harbert was then in a deep sleep. Pencroff continually kept his compresses wet. Gideon Spilett, seeing that he had nothing to do at the moment, prepared some nourishment, 
 all the while carefully watching that part of the enclosure facing the buttress, from which an attack might come.
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“Neb, Top! Neb! Go!”




The colonists waited for Top’s return with some anxiety. A little after eleven o’clock, Cyrus Smith and the reporter, with carbine in hand, were behind the door ready to open it at the first bark from 
 their dog. They had no doubt that, if Top had been able to arrive at Granite House, Neb would immediately send him back.

They were both there for about ten minutes when they heard a detonation soon followed by repeated barking.

The engineer opened the door and, seeing smoke still curling up a hundred feet into the woods, he fired in that direction.

Almost immediately Top rushed into the corral and they quickly closed the door behind him.

“Top, Top!” shouted the engineer, taking the fine large head of the dog into his arms.

A note was attached to his neck and Cyrus Smith read these words, written out in Neb’s large handwriting:

“No pirates in the area of Granite House. I won’t stir. Poor Mr. Harbert!”



CHAPTER VIII





S

 o the convicts were still there, spying on the corral, and intent on killing the colonists one by one! All that could be done was to treat them like the wild beasts they were. But many precautions had to be taken. At the moment, these wretches had the advantage: they could see while not being seen, and they could attack by surprise while not being subject to such surprise attacks.

Cyrus Smith made arrangements to reside at the corral where the provisions would suffice for a long time. Ayrton’s house had been provided with all that was necessary for life, and the convicts, frightened by the arrival of the colonists, had not had time to pillage it. It was likely, as the reporter noted, that things had happened as follows: The six convicts, landing on the island, had followed the southern shore and after rounding Serpentine Peninsula and not in the humor to venture into the woods of the Far West, they reached the mouth of Falls River. Once at this point, they went up the right bank of the watercourse and reached the foothills of Mount Franklin. It was natural that they would search for some hideout there, and they soon discovered the corral, then uninhabited. So there they dug in, waiting for the right moment to their put into action their terrible 
 plans. Ayrton’s arrival had surprised them, but they had succeeded in overpowering the unlucky fellow and … the rest can be imagined.
1



At present, the convicts—reduced to five it is true, but well armed—were roaming the woods. In venturing there, the colonists would certainly expose themselves to their fire.

“We must wait. There’s nothing else we can do,” observed Cyrus Smith. “When Harbert has recovered, we’ll then be able to search the island and track down these convicts. That will be the object of our expedition, while at the same time …”

“We’ll search it for our mysterious protector,” added Gideon Spilett, finishing the engineer’s sentence.

“Ah, it must be admitted, my dear Cyrus, that his protection has failed us this time at the very moment when we’re most in need of it.”

“Who knows …?” replied the engineer.

“What do you mean?” asked the reporter.

“That we’re not at the end of our troubles, my dear Spilett, and that his powerful intervention may yet make itself felt. But that’s not our greatest worry right now. Harbert’s life is.”

This was the colonists’ most painful concern. Several days passed, and the poor lad’s condition had fortunately not grown worse, which was at least something. The cold water, always maintained at a suitable temperature, had prevented the inflammation of the wounds. It even seemed to the reporter that this water, which was a little sulphurous due to the proximity of the volcano, improved the cicatrization. The suppuration was much less pronounced and, thanks to the constant care, Harbert had returned to consciousness and his fever had abated. Because of his limited diet, he was still very weak, but there was no lack of healthful beverages, and absolute rest did him much good.

Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett, and Pencroff became very proficient at dressing the young invalid’s wounds. All the linen in the dwelling had been used to this purpose. Harbert’s wounds were covered again with compresses and linen, neither too tight nor too loose, so as to allow their cicatrization without bringing on an inflammatory reaction. Aware of their importance, the reporter applied these dressings with extreme care, and he repeated to his companions what most physicians willingly acknowledge: that it is perhaps rarer to see a dressing well done than an operation well done.
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 “I’m still very weak, dear Pencroff.”




At the end of ten days, November 22nd, Harbert was definitely improving. He began to take some nourishment. The color returned to his cheeks, and he smiled at his nurses. He chatted a little, though Pencroff tried to keep him from doing so by constantly telling him the most unbelievable stories. Harbert questioned him on the subject of 
 Ayrton. He was puzzled not to see him close by, thinking that he must be at the corral. But the sailor, not wanting to distress his patient, answered only that Ayrton had rejoined Neb in order to defend Granite House.

“These pirates” he said, “are gentlemen who have no right to any consideration. To think that Mr. Smith wanted to appeal to their feeling! I’ll appeal to their feelings with bullets!”

“And have they been seen again?” asked Harbert.

“No, my child,” replied the sailor, “but we’ll find them again, and when you recover, we’ll see if these back-shooting cowards will dare to attack us face to face.”

“I’m still very weak, dear Pencroff.”

“Well, your strength will come back little by little. What’s a bullet through the chest? A small matter indeed! I’ve seen much worse, and I’m still going strong!”

In sum, things were working out for the best and, barring any complications, Harbert’s complete recovery would be assured. But what would have been the colonists’ situation if his condition had been worse? if, for example, the bullet had remained in the body? or if his arms or his legs had had to be amputated?

“The very possibility,” Gideon Spilett said, “makes me shudder to think about it.”

“And yet, if it had been necessary to do it,” Cyrus Smith asked him one day, “would you have hesitated?”

“No, Cyrus!” said Gideon Spilett, “but thank God we were spared this complication.”

As in many other such circumstances, the colonists had appealed to simple common sense which had served them well. And once again, thanks to their general knowledge, they had triumphed. But would there come a time when all their learning would be of no use? They were alone on this island and, in any society, men both complement and need each other. Cyrus Smith knew this well, and sometimes he wondered if some circumstance might arise that they would be powerless to overcome.

Moreover, it seemed to him that his companions and he, so fortunate until now, had entered an ill-fated period. During the more than two and a half years since they had escaped from Richmond, it might be said that everything had gone their way. The island had furnished them abundantly with minerals, vegetables, and animals. 
 And, if Nature had been exceedingly generous to them, their knowledge had also allowed them to make the best of what was offered. The material well being of the colony was at its height. Then again, at certain times, a mysterious power had come to their aid, one they could perhaps no longer rely on.

In short, Cyrus Smith thought that luck was turning against them. The convicts’ vessel had appeared in the waters of the island and, although these pirates had been miraculously destroyed, six of them had nevertheless escaped the catastrophe. They had landed on the island, and the five who survived were very nearly unassailable. Ayrton doubtless had been massacred by these wretches whose firearms had also nearly killed Harbert. Were these then the first signs of a contrary fortune directed against the colonists? That is what Cyrus Smith wondered, and he often spoke of it with the reporter. It seemed to them that this strange but potent intervening force, which had served them so well in the past, had now abandoned them. This mysterious being, whoever he was but whose existence they could not deny, had he left the island? Had he perhaps died?

No response was possible to these questions. But it must not be imagined that, simply because Cyrus Smith and his companion spoke of these matters, that they were men on the verge of despair. Far from it! They confronted the situation, analyzed their chances, and prepared for any eventuality. They stood firm and undaunted before the future. Should adversity finally decide to strike at them, it would find men fully prepared to fight to the end.



CHAPTER IX





T

 he convalescence of the young patient progressed steadily. All that remained to hope for was that his condition would soon allow him to be taken to Granite House. Although the dwelling at the corral was livable and well-provisioned, it could not compare with the comfort of their home in the solid rock. Moreover, it did not offer the same security. Despite their continual surveillance, they were always under the threat of gunfire from the convicts. In contrast, in the impregnable and inaccessible mass of Granite House, they would 
 have nothing to fear; any attack against them would inevitably fail. They therefore waited impatiently for the time when Harbert could be taken there without danger to his wounds. They had decided to make this move even though travel across Jacamar Woods was very difficult.

They were without news from Neb but did not worry about him. The courageous Negro, well entrenched within the depths of Granite House, would not allow himself to be surprised. Top had not been sent back to him; it seemed pointless to expose the faithful dog to gunfire which might deprive the colonists of their most useful ally.

The colonists therefore waited, anxious to be reunited at Granite House. It troubled the engineer to see his forces divided because it played into the pirates’ hands. Since Ayrton’s disappearance, it was now only four against five because Harbert could no longer be counted. And this was not the least of the good lad’s concerns for he well understood that he was the cause of their difficult situation

On November 29th, during a moment when Harbert was unconscious and could not hear them, Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett, and Pencroff discussed in detail how they should deal with the convicts.

“My friends,” said the reporter, after they had spoken of Neb and the impossibility of communicating with him, “I believe as you do that, if we venture onto the corral road, we risk being shot at without being able to return fire. Don’t you think that the best thing to do now would be to flush out these scoundrels?”

“That’s what I was thinking,” replied Pencroff. “We’re not afraid of taking a bullet and, for my part, if Mr. Cyrus approves, I’m ready to charge into the forest. The devil! One man’s equal to another!”

“But is he equal to five?” asked the engineer.

“I would join Pencroff,” added the reporter, “and the two of us, well armed and accompanied by Top …”

“My dear Spilett, and you Pencroff,” answered Cyrus Smith, “let’s reason this out clearly. If the convicts were hidden at some known spot on the island, and it were only a matter of dislodging them, then I would understand a frontal attack. But shouldn’t we fear, on the contrary, that they have positioned themselves so as to fire the first round?”

“Well, Mr. Cyrus,” exclaimed Pencroff, “a bullet doesn’t always reach its destination!”

“The one that struck Harbert didn’t go astray, Pencroff,” said the 
 engineer. “Besides, bear in mind that if you both leave the corral, I would be here all alone to defend it. Can you assure me that, when the convicts see you leave, they won’t simply let you go into the forest and then attack during your absence, knowing that no one is here except a wounded child and one man?”

“You’re right, Mr. Cyrus,” replied Pencroff, his chest swelling with a muted rage, “you’re right. They would do anything to recapture the corral since they know it’s well stocked. And, by yourself, you wouldn’t be able to hold out against them. Ah! if we were only at Granite House!”

“If we were at Granite House,” observed the engineer, “the situation would be very different. There, I wouldn’t be afraid to leave Harbert with one of us while the other three went to search the forests of the island. But we’re at the corral, and it’s best to remain here until we can leave it together.”

There was no arguing with Cyrus Smith’s logic, and his companions understood this well.

“If only Ayrton was still with us,” said Gideon Spilett. “Poor man! His return to society was short lived!”

“If he’s dead …” added Pencroff in a rather strange tone.

“Do you think then, Pencroff, that these scoundrels spared him?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“Yes, if it had been in their interest to do so!”

“What! Do you suppose that Ayrton, on finding himself with his former accomplices, would forget everything he owes us …?”

“Who knows?” answered the sailor, with some hesitation.

“Pencroff,” said Cyrus Smith, taking the sailor by the arm, “that is an unworthy thought, and you’ll cause me much distress if you persist in speaking this way. I guarantee Ayrton’s loyalty!”

“And I also,” the reporter strongly agreed.

“Yes … yes! … Mr. Cyrus … I’m wrong,” replied Pencroff. “Indeed, that was an unworthy thought I had there, and wholly unjustified! But what can I say? I’m no longer in total control of myself; this imprisonment at the corral is beginning to get to me; I’ve never felt so on edge as I do right now.”

“Be patient, Pencroff,” said the engineer. “How much time, my dear Spilett, do you think it will be until Harbert can be transported to Granite House?”

“That’s difficult to say, Cyrus,” replied the reporter, “because one 
 careless move could bring on fatal consequences. However, if his convalescence continues apace and if, a week from now, his strength has returned to him, well, we’ll see.”

A week! That would put off the return to Granite House until the first days of December.

Spring was already two months old. The weather was fine and becoming hotter. The forests of the island were in full foliage, and the time was approaching for the customary harvesting. The return to Grand View Plateau would then be followed by hard agricultural work which would only be interrupted by the planned exploration of the island.

This imprisonment at the corral was, therefore, understandably harmful to the colonists. And if they were obliged to bow to necessity, they did so with much impatience.

Once or twice the reporter took a chance and walked around the outside perimeter of the stockade. Top accompanied him, and Gideon Spilett had his carbine loaded and ready.

He had no ill encounters and found nothing suspicious. The dog would have alerted him to any danger. Since Top did not bark, he could conclude that there was nothing to fear, for the moment at least, and that the convicts were busy on another part of the island.

However, on his second sortie on November 27th, Gideon Spilett, who had ventured a quarter of a mile into the woods to the south of the mountain, noticed that Top sensed something. The dog’s pace was no longer at random; he went to and fro rummaging through the grass and undergrowth as if his sense of smell had been aroused by some suspicious object. Gideon Spilett followed Top, encouraging him and urging him on, all the while remaining on the alert, with his carbine raised, and using the shelter of the trees to cover himself. It was not likely that Top sensed the presence of a man because in that case he would have announced it with short barks and with a sort of muted anger. Since he heard no such growling, then the danger was neither imminent nor nearby.

About five minutes went by in this way, with Top rummaging and the reporter prudently following him, when suddenly the dog dashed toward a thick bush and drew out a stuffed rag.

It was a piece of torn and stained clothing. Gideon Spilett took it to the corral at once.

There, the colonists examined it, and they immediately recognized 
 it as a piece of Ayrton’s jacket, made of that felt produced only at the Granite House workshop.
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Spilett’s carbine was loaded and ready.




“You see from this, Pencroff,” noted Cyrus Smith, “the strong resistance that poor Ayrton made. The convicts dragged him off in spite of his efforts. Do you still doubt his loyalty?”


 “No, Mr. Cyrus,” replied the sailor. “I long ago gave up my momentary suspicion! But it seems to me that there’s one conclusion that can be drawn from this fact.”

“Which is?” asked the reporter.

“It is that Ayrton was not killed at the corral! Since he resisted, it means that he was still alive when they dragged him away! So perhaps he’s still alive!”

“Perhaps,” replied the engineer, who remained pensive.

That thought could give Ayrton’s companions some hope. They had been led to believe that, attacked by surprise at the corral, Ayrton had fallen under gunfire, as Harbert had. But if the convicts had not killed him, if they had instead taken him away alive to some other part of the island, was it not be possible that he was still their prisoner? Perhaps one of them had found again in Ayrton his former companion from Australia, Ben Joyce, the chief of the escaped convicts? And who knows if they did not conceive the impossible hope of getting Ayrton to rejoin them! He would obviously be very useful to them, especially if they could make a traitor of him!

This incident at the corral was thus considered a favorable sign, and it no longer seemed impossible that they would find Ayrton again. To his credit, if he was a prisoner, Ayrton would doubtless do everything in his power to escape from these bandits, and his return would be a powerful aid to the colonists.

“In any case,” Gideon Spilett observed, “if by luck Ayrton succeeds in escaping, he’ll go immediately to Granite House. He won’t know of Harbert’s attempted murder, and consequently won’t be aware that we’re currently imprisoned at the corral.”

“Ah! I wish that he was there at Granite House,” exclaimed Pencroff, “and that we were there as well! For if those rascals can do nothing against our home, they can still pillage the plateau, our gardens, and our poultry yard!”

Pencroff had become a real farmer, strongly attached to his crops. But it was Harbert who was more impatient than anyone else to return to Granite House because he knew how necessary it was for the colonists to return there. And it was he who kept them at the corral. Only one idea was on his mind: to leave the corral, to leave it by any means! He felt that he was strong enough for the trip to Granite House, and he was sure that his strength would return even faster in his room with the fresh air and the view of the sea.


 Several times he begged Gideon Spilett. But the latter, justifiably fearing that Harbert’s partially cicatrized wounds would reopen during the trip, did not give the order to leave.

However, an incident then occurred which would force Cyrus Smith and his two friends to yield finally to the lad’s wishes, and God knows what pain and sorrow this decision would cause!

It was November 29th, seven o’clock in the morning. The three colonists were chatting in Harbert’s room when they heard Top’s loud barks.

Cyrus Smith, Pencroff, and Gideon Spilett seized their guns, always loaded and ready to fire, and went out of the house.

Top ran to the foot of the stockade wall, jumped about, and barked; but it was with happiness, not anger.

“Someone is coming.”

“Yes!”

“It isn’t an enemy.”

“Neb perhaps?”

“Or Ayrton?”

Hardly had these words been exchanged between the engineer and his two companions when a body bounded over the wall and fell on to the ground in the corral.

It was Jup! Master Jup in person! Top him gave a hearty welcome.

“Jup!” shouted Pencroff.

“It’s Neb who sent him!” said the reporter.

“Then,” replied the engineer, “he must have some note on him.”

Pencroff rushed toward the orang. Obviously, if Neb had wanted to send some important information to his master, he could not have used a more reliable and rapid messenger who could pass where neither the colonists nor Top himself could.

Cyrus Smith was not mistaken. A sack hung from Jup’s neck, and in this sack they found a note traced out in Neb’s hand.

Imagine their despair when Cyrus Smith and his companions read these words:

“Friday, 6 o’clock in the morning. Plateau invaded by the convicts! Neb.”

They looked at each other without saying a word, then went back to the house. What should they do? The convicts were on Grand View Plateau! It was disaster, devastation, ruin!

When Harbert saw the engineer, the reporter, and Pencroff reenter 
 the house, he understood that the situation had just worsened. And when he saw Jup, he no longer had any doubt that some danger threatened Granite House.

“Mr. Cyrus,” he said, “I want to leave. I can endure the trip. I want to leave.”

Gideon Spilett approached Harbert. After looking at him, he said, “Let’s leave then.”

They quickly decided whether Harbert would be carried on a stretcher or in the cart which had been brought to the corral by Ayrton. The stretcher would have a gentler motion for the patient, but it would necessitate two bearers, and two fewer guns for defense if there should be an attack along the way. In contrast, if they used the cart, putting Harbert on a mattress to absorb the shocks and advancing carefully, they would have all hands free.

The cart was brought out. Pencroff harnessed the onager to it. Cyrus Smith and the reporter picked up Harbert’s mattress and put it on the bottom of the cart between the two rails.

The weather was fine. The strong rays of the sun filtered down through the trees.

“Are the weapons ready?” asked Cyrus Smith.

They were. The engineer and Pencroff, each armed with a double-barreled gun, and Gideon Spilett, holding his carbine, were ready to leave.

“Are you well, Harbert?” asked the engineer.

“Ah, Mr. Cyrus,” replied the lad, “rest assured. I won’t die on the way!”

In hearing him speak thus, they saw that the poor child had called up all his energy and was, by supreme willpower, mustering together all his ebbing strength.

The engineer felt a grievous pang. He still hesitated to give the signal for departure. But remaining would drive Harbert to such despair, it could kill him.

“Let’s go!” said Cyrus Smith.

The door of the corral was opened. Jup and Top, who knew that they must be silent, rushed on ahead. The cart rolled out, the door was closed, and the onager, directed by Pencroff, advanced slowly.

Certainly it would have been better to take a route other than the one which went directly from the corral to Granite House, but it would have been very difficult for the cart to move through the 
 woods. Thus, it was best to follow the regular path, even though it was well known to the convicts.
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Pencroff harnessed the onager.




Cyrus Smith and Gideon Spilett walked on either side of the cart ready to respond to any attack. It was not likely that the convicts had yet abandoned Grand View Plateau. Neb’s message had evidently 
 been written and sent as soon as the convicts had shown themselves. This note had been dated six o’clock in the morning, and the agile orang, used to going to the corral frequently, could hardly have taken more than three quarters of an hour to cross the five miles which separated it from Granite House. The road was therefore safe at the moment and, if there was to be any exchange of gunfire, it would probably occur closer to Granite House.

However, the colonists remained strictly on guard. Top and Jup—the latter armed with his cudgel, sometimes in front, sometimes beating the woods at the edge of the road—did not signal any danger.

The cart advanced slowly under Pencroff’s direction. They had left the corral at seven thirty. One hour later, four of the five miles had been traveled without incident.

The road was deserted, as was the entire area of Jacamar Woods which extended from the Mercy to the lake. They encountered no one, and the region seemed to be as empty as on the day when the colonists first set foot on the island.

They approached the plateau. One more mile and they would see the bridge over Glycerin Creek. Cyrus Smith did not doubt that this bridge would be in place because, either the convicts had entered the plateau at this spot or, after having crossed one of the watercourses which encircled the enclosure, they would have lowered the bridge in order to beat a retreat.

An opening in the last trees finally allowed them to see the sea’s horizon. But the cart continued on, for none of its defenders would think of abandoning it.

After a moment, Pencroff halted the onager and cried out in a terrible voice.

“Ah, the wretches!”

And he pointed to the thick smoke that was curling up from the mill, the stables, and the poultry yard.

A man was dashing about amidst the smoke.

It was Neb.

His companions shouted to him. He heard them and ran toward them…

The convicts had left the plateau about a half-hour earlier, after devastating it.

“And Mr. Harbert?” cried Neb.


 Gideon Spilett returned for a moment to the cart.

Harbert had lost consciousness.



CHAPTER X





I

 t was no longer a question of the convicts, of the dangers which menaced Granite House, or of the ruins which covered the plateau. Harbert’s condition was the most important. Had the trip been lethal to him by provoking some internal rupture? The reporter could not say, but his companions and he were driven to despair.

The cart was brought to the bend in the river. There, a few branches were arranged in the form of a stretcher which received the mattress on which Harbert was lying unconscious. Ten minutes later Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett, and Pencroff were at the foot of the wall, and Neb brought the cart back to Grand View Plateau.

The elevator was raised, and soon Harbert was lying on his bed in Granite House.

The cares which were lavished on him brought him back to life. He smiled for a moment on finding himself once again in his room, but he could barely murmur a few words because he was so feeble.

Gideon Spilett examined his wounds. He feared that they had opened since they had cicatrized imperfectly … but that was not the case. Where did this sudden prostration come from? Why had Harbert’s condition grown worse?

The lad lapsed into a sort of feverish sleep, and the reporter and Pencroff remained near his bed.

During this time, Cyrus Smith brought Neb up to date on what had occurred at the corral, and Neb related to his master those events he had witnessed on the plateau.

During the preceding night, the convicts had appeared at the edge of the forest at the approaches to Glycerin Creek. Neb, who was on the watch near the poultry yard, had not hesitated to fire on one of these pirates who was about to cross the watercourse; but the night was dark, and he did not know if he had hit the wretch. In any case, the gang did not scatter, and Neb had only enough time to get back to Granite House where he was at least safe.
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 The elevator was raised.





 But what could he do then? How could he prevent the convicts from devastating the plateau? Did Neb have some means of warning his master? And moreover, what was the situation of the corral’s occupants themselves?

Cyrus Smith and his companions had been gone since November 11th and it was now the 29th. It had been nineteen days since Neb had had any news other than that which Top had brought him, disastrous news: Ayrton disappeared, Harbert seriously wounded, the engineer, the reporter, the sailor imprisoned in the corral!

What could he do, poor Neb wondered? For himself personally, he had nothing to fear because the convicts could not get into Granite House. But the buildings, the crops, and all their improvements would be at the mercy of the pirates! Shouldn’t he let Cyrus Smith judge what it would be best to do by at least warning him of this danger?

Neb then thought of using Jup by entrusting him with a note. He knew of the orang’s extreme intelligence, which had often been demonstrated. Jup knew the word corral, which had often been mentioned in his presence, and Neb remembered that Jup had often driven the cart there in Pencroff’s company. Day had still not dawned. The agile orang would know how to pass through the woods unnoticed. Besides, the convicts would think that he was one of its natural inhabitants.

Neb did not hesitate. He wrote the note, attached it to Jup’s neck, escorted the ape to the Granite House door and unrolled a long rope to the ground; then he repeated these words several times:

“Jup! Jup! Corral! Corral!”

The animal understood, seized the rope, quickly let himself down to the beach, and disappeared into the darkness without arousing the attention of the convicts.

“You did well, Neb,” replied Cyrus Smith, “but, if you hadn’t warned us, perhaps you would have done even better.”

In saying this, Cyrus Smith was thinking of Harbert, since the trip seemed to have so seriously compromised his convalescence.

Neb finished his narrative. The convicts had not shown themselves on the beach. Not knowing the number of inhabitants on the island, they could suppose that Granite House was defended by a large troop. They probably remembered that, during the brig’s attack, many gunshots 
 had greeted them from low level rocks and from the higher ones, and doubtless they did not wish to expose themselves. But Grand View Plateau was open to them and not in the line of fire from Granite House. They therefore indulged their destructive instincts by pillaging, burning, and doing as much damage as they could, and leaving only a half hour before the arrival of the colonists whom they thought were still confined at the corral.

Neb rushed out of his retreat. He ascended the plateau and, at the risk of being shot, he tried to extinguish the fire which was burning the poultry yard buildings. He had been fighting a losing battle against the fire when the cart suddenly appeared at the edge of the woods.

Such had been the calamitous events of the day. The presence of the convicts constituted an ongoing threat to the Lincoln Island colonists, so fortunate until now. And they could expect even greater troubles in the future.

Gideon Spilett and Pencroff remained at Granite House near Harbert, while Cyrus Smith, accompanied by Neb, went to judge for himself the extent of the disaster.

It was fortunate that the convicts had not advanced to the base of Granite House. The workshop at the Chimneys would have been destroyed. But perhaps this damage would have been easier to repair than the ruins on Grand View Plateau.

Cyrus Smith and Neb went toward the Mercy and went up the left bank without encountering any trace of the convicts. On the other side of the river, they saw nothing suspicious in the thick woods.

In all probability, the convicts either knew about the return of the colonists to Granite House, having seen them on the road from the corral, or else, after destroying the plateau, they had followed the Mercy upstream and fled into Jacamar Woods, and were unaware of their return.

In the first case, they would return to the undefended corral now, which contained precious resources for them.

In the second, they would go back to their encampment and await an opportunity to renew the attack.

They could, therefore, track them down; but any plan to rid the island of them was still secondary to Harbert’s condition. Cyrus Smith did not have enough manpower, and no one could leave Granite House at the moment.


 The engineer and Neb reached the plateau. Desolation was everywhere. The fields had been trampled down. The shafts of wheat, which were about to be harvested, were crushed to the ground. The other crops had suffered just as much. The kitchen garden was wrecked. Fortunately Granite House possessed a reserve of seed which would allow the damage to be repaired.

As to the mill, the building at the poultry yard, and the onager’s stable, the fire had destroyed everything. Several frightened animals were wandering across the plateau. The birds, who had taken refuge on the waters of the lake, were already returning to their usual places on the banks. Everything would have to be redone.

Cyrus Smith’s face, more pale than usual, expressed an interior anger which he could hardly control, but he did not say a word. He looked at the devastated fields one final time, the smoke still rising from the ruins, and then he returned to Granite House.

The days which followed were the saddest that the colonists had ever spent on the island. Harbert’s weakness was visibly worsening. It seemed that he was in the grips of a more dire illness, resulting from the serious physical trauma that he had gone through. And Gideon Spilett sensed that he would be powerless against his deteriorating condition.

Harbert remained unconscious almost continuously, and symptoms of delirium began to manifest themselves. The medicinal beverages were the only remedies available to the colonists. The fever was still not very high, but it appeared to be rising at regular intervals.

Gideon Spilett recognized it on December 6th. The poor lad, whose fingers, nose, and ears became extremely pale, was first seized by fits of shivers and trembling. His pulse was weak and irregular, his skin dry, and his thirst intense. This episode was soon followed by a period of high temperature; his face became flushed, his skin red, and his pulse accelerated. Then he sweated profusely, after which the fever appeared to diminish. The attack had lasted about five hours.

Gideon Spilett remained at Harbert’s side throughout this intermittent fever. It was only too obvious that they had reduce this fever at any cost before it became more serious.

“And to reduce it,” said Gideon Spilett to Cyrus Smith, “we need a febrifuge.”

“A febrifuge! …” answered the engineer. “We have neither cinchona nor sulphate of quinine!”
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 “No,” said Gideon Spilett, “but there are willows on the borders of the lake and willow bark can sometimes replace quinine.”

“Let’s try it then, and without losing a moment!” replied Cyrus Smith.

Willow bark has, indeed, been used as a substitute for cinchona, as has horse chestnut, the leaf of holly, and snake root. They obviously had to try this substance, even though it was not as effective as cinchona, and to use it in its natural state since they lacked the means to extract the alkaloid, i.e., the salicin.
2



Cyrus Smith himself went to cut off some pieces of bark from the trunk of a black willow; he took them to Granite House, reduced them to a powder, and this powder was administered to Harbert that very evening.

The night passed without serious incidents. Harbert had some delirium, but the fever did not reappear during the night and did not return on the following day.

Pencroff began to take hope. Gideon Spilett said nothing. It could be that the character of the fever was not daily but intermittent, and that it would return the next day. They awaited the next day with the greatest anxiety.

It was also noted that, during the apyretic period, Harbert continued to remain exhausted, with his head feeling heavy and giddy. Another symptom which frightened the reporter even more was that Harbert’s liver became congested, and soon a very intense delirium showed that his brain was also being affected.

Gideon Spilett was overwhelmed by this new complication. He drew the engineer aside.

“It’s a pernicious fever!” he told him.

“A pernicious fever!” exclaimed Cyrus Smith. “You must be mistaken, Spilett. A pernicious fever doesn’t begin spontaneously; it must have a germ! …”

“I’m not mistaken,” replied the reporter. “Harbert may have contracted this germ in the marshes of the island, and that would be enough. He’s already experienced a first attack. If a second attack follows, and if we don’t succeed in preventing the third … he’s lost! …”

“But this willow bark? …”

“It’s insufficient,” replied the reporter, “and a third attack of pernicious fever that isn’t treated with quinine is always fatal!”


 Fortunately Pencroff heard nothing of this conversation, or he would have gone mad.

One can understand the engineer’s and the reporter’s anxieties during this day of December 7th and during the night which followed.

About mid-day, the second attack came on. The crisis was terrible. Harbert felt that he was lost! He held out his arms to Cyrus Smith, to Spilett, and to Pencroff. He did not want to die! … This scene was heart-rending. They had to send Pencroff away.

The attack lasted five hours. It was obvious that Harbert would not survive a third.

The night was frightful. In his delirium, Harbert said things that nearly broke his companions’ hearts. He rambled, he fought against the convicts, he called to Ayrton! He entreated this mysterious being, this now-disappeared protector whose image obsessed him … Then he fell back in a deep prostration that overwhelmed him completely … Several times Gideon Spilett thought that the poor boy had perished!

The next day, December 8th, was a succession of fainting fits. Harbert’s emaciated hands clenched the bedsheets. They administered additional doses of powdered bark but the reporter expected no result from it.

“If he doesn’t receive a stronger febrifuge before tomorrow morning,” said the reporter, “Harbert will die!”

Night came on, undoubtedly the last night of this good, intelligent, courageous lad, so superior for his age, and whom everyone loved like their son! The only remedy that existed to counter this terrible pernicious fever, the only drug that could defeat it, was not to be found on Lincoln Island!

During this night of the 8th to the 9th of December, Harbert was again seized by a very intense delirium. His liver was horribly congested, his brain affected, and already it was impossible for him to recognize anyone.

Would he live to the next day, until the third attack which would certainly carry him off? That was no longer likely. His strength was gone, and in the intervals of fever, he lay as one dead.

At about three o’clock in the morning, Harbert let out a frightful cry. He seemed to writhe in a terrible convulsion. Neb, who was near him, rushed, frightened, into the next room where his companions were still awake.
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 Suddenly, Pencroff pointed to an object on the table.





 At this moment Top barked in a strange way.

Everyone immediately returned to Harbert’s bedside, and they succeeded in holding down the dying lad who was struggling to throw himself off his bed, while Gideon Spilett felt his pulse, which was growing weaker little by little.

It was five o’clock in the morning. The rays of the rising sun began to shine into the rooms of Granite House. It promised to be a fine day, and this day would be poor Harbert’s last…

A ray of light slowly moved to the table near the bed.

Suddenly Pencroff uttered a cry and pointed to an object that had been placed on the table…

It was a small oval box with these words on it: “Sulphate of Quinine.”

ps!”


CHAPTER XI





G

 ideon Spilett took the box and opened it. It contained about 200 grains of a white powder. He put a few particles to his lips. The extreme bitterness of this substance could not be mistaken. It was indeed the precious alkaloid of cinchona, the supreme antiperiodic.

He had to administer this powder to Harbert without delay. How it got there, they would discuss later.

“Some coffee,” said Gideon Spilett.

A few moments later Neb brought over a lukewarm cup of the beverage. Gideon Spilett added to it about eighteen grains*
 of quinine, and Harbert drank the mixture.

There was still time because the third attack of the pernicious fever had not yet returned. And it must not return!

Everyone recovered hope. The mysterious power had once again arrived in a moment of deepest despair!

After a few hours Harbert was resting peacefully. The colonists could then discuss this incident. The intervention of the stranger was more evident than ever. But how had he been able to get into Granite 
 House during the night? It was absolutely inexplicable and, in truth, the means used by the “ghost of the island” were no less strange than the ghost himself.

Throughout the day, the sulphate of quinine was administered to Harbert every three hours.

The next day, Harbert showed a certain improvement. He had not yet fully recovered, and intermittent fevers are subject to frequent and dangerous recurrences, but he had no lack of care. Moreover, the needed drug was there and, doubtless not far away, he who had brought it! In short, an immense hope returned to everyone’s heart.

This hope was not disappointed. Ten days later, on December 20th, Harbert began his convalescence. He was still weak, and he had to follow a strict diet, but there had been no further attack. The docile child voluntarily submitted to all the prescriptions which were imposed on him. He yearned to get better.

Pencroff was like a man who had been snatched from the bottom of an abyss. His paroxysms of joy bordered on delirium. After the time for the third attack had passed, he seized the reporter in his arms and hugged him. From then on, he only called him Doctor Spilett.

It remained to discover the real doctor.

“We’ll find him,” repeated the sailor.

And certainly this man, whoever he was, could expect a similar rugged embrace from the worthy Pencroff.

The month of December ended, and with it this year of 1867 during which the colonists of Lincoln Island had been so sorely tried. They began the year 1868 with magnificent weather, warmth, and a tropical temperature which fortunately was cooled by sea breezes. Harbert revived, and from his bed placed near one of the Granite House windows, he inhaled the wholesome salty air which restored his health. He began to eat and what delicious, light, and savory dishes Neb prepared for him!

“It’s enough to make one wish for an illness,” said Pencroff.

During all of this time, the convicts had not once appeared in the vicinity of Granite House. Of Ayrton there was no news and, if the engineer and Harbert still had any hope of finding him again, their companions did not doubt that the unfortunate had perished. These uncertainties, however, could not continue. As soon as the lad was able bodied again, this important expedition would be undertaken right away. But they would have to wait a month perhaps, because it would take all the available manpower of the colony to defeat these convicts.


[image: img]



 The young convalescent got up.





 Meanwhile, Harbert was getting better. The congestion of the liver had disappeared and the wounds were definitely cicatrized.

During the month of January, important work was done at Grand View Plateau; but it consisted only in saving what they could of the devastated harvests of wheat and vegetables. The seeds and plants were gathered to furnish a new harvest for the coming half-season. As for rebuilding the poultry yard, the mill, and the stables, Cyrus Smith preferred to wait. While his companions and he were in pursuit of the convicts, the latter might well pay a new visit to the plateau to pillage and burn. They would see about rebuilding when they had purged the island of these scoundrels.

The young convalescent began to get up during the second half of January, first an hour each day, then two, and three. His strength returned visibly, so vigorous was his constitution. He was then eighteen years old. He was tall and would doubtless become a noble man with a commanding presence. His recovery, though still requiring care—and Doctor Spilett showed himself to be very strict—proceeded on schedule.

Toward the end of the month, Harbert had already been to Grand View Plateau and the beach. A few sea baths taken in the company of Pencroff and Neb did him a world of good. Cyrus Smith decided he could now set the day of departure, which was fixed for February 15th. The nights, which were very clear at this time of the year, would facilitate their search of the entire island.

The preparations for this exploration were thus begun. They were lengthy because the colonists had sworn that they would not enter Granite House again until their double purpose had been attained: on the one hand, to destroy the convicts and find Ayrton again if he was still alive; on the other, to discover who it was that had been watching over the fortunes of the colony so effectively.

The colonists were well acquainted with all of the eastern shore from Cape Claw to the Mandible Capes, the vast Tadorns marsh, the neighborhood of Lake Grant, Jacamar Woods between the corral and the Mercy, the courses of the Mercy and Red Creek, and finally the foothills of Mount Franklin where they had established the corral.

They had explored, but only partially, the vast coastline of Washington Bay from Cape Claw to Reptile Promontory, the forested and 
 marshy west coast, and those endless dunes which ended at the mouth of Shark’s Gulf.

But they knew nothing of the large wooded portions which covered Serpentine Peninsula, all of the right bank of the Mercy, the left bank of Falls River, and the network of foothills and ravines which supported three quarters of the base of Mount Franklin in the west, the north and the east where so many retreats surely existed. In sum, several thousand acres of the island had still not been

It was therefore decided that the expedition would extend across the Far West to include everything situated on the right bank of the Mercy.

Perhaps it would have been better to go first to the corral which the convicts had probably either pillaged or used as a refuge. But either the corral was, by now, already destroyed and it was too late to prevent it, or the convicts had entrenched themselves there and could be dislodged at a later time.

After discussion, they held to the original plan, and the colonists resolved to reach Reptile Promontory by going through the woods. They could blaze a trail with the ax and lay the foundation for a road that would put Granite House in contact with the extremity of the peninsula over a length of sixteen to seventeen miles.

The cart was in perfect condition. The onagers, being well rested, could make a long trip. Provisions, camping equipment, a portable stove, and various utensils were loaded into the cart as well as arms and munitions chosen with care from the now complete Granite House arsenal. But they must not forget that the convicts were perhaps roaming the woods and that, in these thick forests, a gun could quickly be fired and reach its mark. It would therefore be necessary for the small troop of colonists to stay together and not separate for any reason.

It was also decided that no one would remain at Granite House. Top and Jup themselves would take part in the expedition. The inaccessible dwelling could guard itself.

February 14th, the day before the departure, was a Sunday.
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 It was devoted entirely to rest and sanctified by thanks addressed to the Creator. Although entirely recovered, Harbert was still rather weak, and a place in the cart was reserved for him. The next day, at dawn, Cyrus Smith took the measures necessary to protect Granite House against any invasion. The ladders, formerly used for climbing, were brought to the Chimneys and buried deep in the sand to be used on their return. The basket of the elevator was dismantled, and nothing remained of the apparatus.
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 Pencroff lowered himself.





 Pencroff stayed to the last in Granite House to finish this work, and he lowered himself by means of a double rope held firmly from below and which, once thrown to the ground, would allow no communication between the upper landing and the beach.

The weather was magnificent.

“It will be a hot day,” said the reporter, laughing.

“Bah, Dr. Spilett,” replied Pencroff, “we’ll move along sheltered by the trees, and we’ll not even see the sun.”

“Let’s go!” said the engineer.

The cart was waiting on the beach in front of the Chimneys. The reporter insisted that Harbert take his place there, at least during the early hours of the trip, and the lad yielded to his doctor’s prescriptions.

Neb walked beside the onagers. Cyrus Smith, the reporter and the sailor positioned themselves in front. Top frisked about joyously. Harbert offered Jup a seat in his vehicle, and Jup accepted without formality. The moment for departure had arrived and the small troop took to the road.

The cart first turned the corner at the river’s mouth then, after having ascended the left bank of the Mercy for a mile, it crossed the bridge where the route to Port Balloon began. There the explorers left the road on their left and plunged into the cover of these immense woods which formed the region of the Far West.

For the first two miles, the well-spaced trees allowed the cart to move freely. From time to time, the colonists had to chop away at vines and brushwood, but no serious obstacle opposed their passage.

The thick branches kept the ground in the cool shade. Deodars, douglas firs, casuarinas, banksias, gum, dragon trees, and other wellknown species were plentiful as far as the eye could see. Present also were all the species of birds indigenous to the island: grouse, jacamars, pheasant, lories as well as countless members of the noisy family of cockatoos, parakeets and parrots. Agouti, kangaroo and capybara ran about the grass, reminding the colonists of their first excursions upon arriving on the island.

“Nevertheless,” noted Cyrus Smith, “I notice that these animals, quadrupeds and birds, are more fearful than they used to be. The convicts 
 have recently passed through these woods, and they must certainly have left signs of their passage.”

And, indeed, they soon recognized here and there evidence of the men’s passage: cuts made on trees, perhaps to mark out the road, cinders from an extinguished fire, and some footprints preserved on clay ground. But, in short, nothing seemed to indicate a permanent encampment.

The engineer suggested to his companions that they refrain from hunting. The noise from firearms would warn the convicts who were perhaps roaming nearby in the forest. Furthermore, the hunters would necessarily distance themselves from the cart, and wandering off alone was strictly forbidden.

During the second part of the day, about six miles from Granite House, forward progress became difficult. In order to pass certain thickets, they had to chop down some trees to make a road. Before doing that, Cyrus Smith took care to send Top and Jup into the thick underbrush. They accomplished their task conscientiously and, when the dog and the orang returned without giving any signal, they knew that there was nothing to fear, neither from the convicts nor from the wild beasts—two members of the animal genus whose ferocious instincts put them on the same level.

During the night of this first day, the colonists camped about nine miles from Granite House on the banks of a small tributary of the Mercy of whose existence they had been unaware. This was a part of the hydrographic system which gave the soil its astonishing fertility.

The colonists ate heartily and with great appetite. Measures were taken to pass the night without disturbance. If the engineer had had to deal only with ferocious animals, jaguars or others, he would simply have lit a fire around the encampment which would have sufficed to protect it; but the convicts would more likely be alerted by the flames than frightened by them, and it was best in this case to surround themselves by darkness.

The watch was carefully organized. Two of the colonists would watch together, and it was agreed that, every two hours, they would wake up their companions. In spite of his protests, Harbert was exempted from this duty. Pencroff and Gideon Spilett would take turns with the engineer and Neb in guarding the approaches to the encampment. Besides, the night would last only a few hours. The darkness was due more to the thickness of the branches above them than to the disappearance of the sun. The silence was unbroken save by the raucous howls of the jaguars and the derisive laughter of the apes which seemed particularly to irritate Master Jup.
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 The watch.





 The night passed without incident. The next day, February 16th, they resumed their slow journey through the forest.

They were able to make only six miles on this day because, at every instant, they had to blaze a trail with the ax. Being true “settlers,” the colonists spared the large trees whose felling would have cost them enormous fatigue. They sacrificed the small ones; so the route did not follow a straight line and was lengthened by numerous detours.

During this day, Harbert discovered new species which had not been previously seen on the island: the tree fern with hanging branches that were shaped like water flowing out of a vase, and the carob whose long pods the onagers nibbled on eagerly and which would furnish a sweet pulp of excellent taste. There, the colonists also found some magnificent kauri trees, arranged by groups, with cylindrical trunks crowned by a cone of verdure rising to a height of two hundred feet. These were the “king of trees” of New Zealand, as famous as the cedars of Lebanon.

As for the fauna, there were no species that had not been previously recognized by the hunters. Though unable to get near them, they nevertheless caught a glimpse of a couple of large birds peculiar to Australia, cassowaries, which go under the name of emus, and which are five feet tall with brown plumage, belonging to the order of grallatory birds.
2

 Top dashed after them as fast as his four legs could carry him, but the cassowaries easily outdistanced him, such was their speed.

The colonists found more signs left by the convicts. Near a fire which appeared to have been recently extinguished, they noticed footprints which they carefully examined. By measuring each against the others according to their length and width, they easily identified the prints of five men. The five convicts had evidently camped in this area. But, after minutely inspecting all of them, they could not discover a sixth footprint which might have been made by Ayrton.

“Ayrton wasn’t with them!” said Harbert.

“No,” replied Pencroff, “and, if he wasn’t with them, it’s because these wretches have already killed him! Don’t these scoundrels have a den where we can track them down like tigers?”

“No,” replied the reporter. “It’s likely they go about at random, 
 and it’s in their interest to roam around this way until they become the masters of the island.”

“The masters of the island!” exclaimed the sailor. “The masters of the island! …” he repeated, and his voice was choked as if an iron collar had seized his throat. Then in a calmer voice:

“Do you know, Mr. Cyrus,” he said, “what bullet this is that I’ve loaded into my weapon?”

“No, Pencroff.”

“It’s the bullet that went through Harbert’s chest, and I promise you that it won’t miss its mark!”

But this just retaliation would not bring Ayrton back to life. And, from the footprints left on the ground, they had to conclude that they could no longer hope to see him alive.

That evening they camped forty miles from Granite House, and Cyrus Smith estimated that they were at most five miles from Reptile Promontory.

The next day, they reached the extremity of the peninsula. The forest had been crossed over its entire length. But they could discover no sign of the hidden retreat of the convicts nor of the no less secret sanctuary of the mysterious stranger.


*
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CHAPTER XII





T

 he next day, February 18th, was devoted to the exploration of all of the wooded part which formed the shore from Reptile Promontory to Falls River. The colonists could thoroughly examine this forest because, extending between the two shores of Serpentine Peninsula, its width was only three to four miles. The trees, by their height and their thick foliage, bore witness to the fertility of the soil which was more astonishing here than on any other portion of the island. It was like a corner of the virgin forests of America or central Africa transported to this temperate zone. They were led to the conclusion that these superb plants found a warmth in this soil, moist on the surface but heated below due to volcanic fires, which did not belong to the temperate climate. The dominant species were kauris and eucalyptuses which took on gigantic dimensions.


 But the goal of the colonists was not to admire these magnificent plants. They already knew that, in this regard, Lincoln Island deserved to rank with the Canaries group which was first called Fortune Islands. But now, alas! their island no longer belonged only to them; others had taken possession of it, criminals who trampled everything underfoot and who must be destroyed to the last man.

However carefully they looked, they found no additional traces of them on the western coast. No more footprints, no more cuts on the trees, no more cold cinders, no more abandoned camps.

“This doesn’t astonish me,” said Cyrus Smith to his companions. “The convicts landed on the island near Flotsam Point and they immediately dashed into the forests of the Far West after crossing the Tadorn marshes. They then followed very nearly the same route that we have since leaving Granite House. This explains the signs that we recognized in the woods. But on arriving at the coastline, the convicts realized that they would find no suitable retreat there, and it was then that they headed north and discovered the corral …”

“Where they have perhaps returned …” said Pencroff.

“I don’t think so,” replied the engineer, “because they must have assumed that our search would take us in that direction. The corral is only a storehouse for them and not a fixed camp.”

“I agree with Cyrus,” said the reporter, “and, in my opinion, it’s among the foothills of Mount Franklin that the convicts have found a retreat.”

“Then, Mr. Cyrus, let’s go straight to the corral!” exclaimed Pencroff. “We must finish the job and, up until now, we’ve been wasting our time!”

“No, my friend,” answered the engineer, “you forget that we had an interest in knowing if the forests of the Far West concealed some dwelling. Our exploration has a double purpose, Pencroff. If, on the one hand, we must punish a crime, on the other, we owe a debt of gratitude.”

“You’re right, Mr. Cyrus,” replied the sailor. “Nevertheless, it’s my opinion that we’ll find this gentleman only when he wishes it.”

And Pencroff was only expressing everyone’s opinion. It was likely that the stranger’s retreat was no less mysterious than was he himself!

That evening, the cart halted at the mouth of Falls River. Sleeping arrangements were made, and they took the usual precautions for the night. Harbert again became the vigorous youth that he had been before 
 his illness, profiting from this existence in the open air with the ocean breezes and the vivifying atmosphere of the forests. His place was no longer in the cart but at the head of the caravan.

The next day, February 19th, the colonists abandoned the shoreline at the point where the basalt slabs of all shapes were so picturesquely piled up, and they ascended the left bank of the watercourse. The route had been partly cleared during previous excursions from the corral to the west coast. The colonists then found themselves six miles from Mount Franklin.

The engineer’s plan was as follows: to examine carefully the entire valley whose bottom formed the bed of the river, and to approach cautiously the area of the corral; if the corral was occupied, they would take it by force; if it was not, they would move into it and make it the center of operations with the object of exploring Mount Franklin.

This plan was unanimously approved by the colonists who were impatient to regain complete possession of their island.

They traveled along the narrow valley which separated the two largest foothills of Mount Franklin. The trees, pressed together on the banks of the river, became rarer toward the upper zones of the volcano. The hilly ground was suitable for ambushes, and they moved with care. Top and Jup walked ahead as scouts, dashing to the right and left into the thick brushwood, a task they did with both intelligence and skill. But nothing indicated that the banks of the watercourse had been visited recently, and nothing announced the proximity of the convicts.

At five o’clock in the evening, the cart stopped about six hundred feet from the corral’s stockade. A semicircular curtain of large trees still concealed it.

They now had to search the corral to know if it was occupied. To go there openly in full daylight, with the convicts very likely in ambush, would invite the same tragedy that struck Harbert. It would be better to wait for nightfall.

Gideon Spilett, however, wanted to search the approaches to the corral without delay, and the impatient Pencroff offered to accompany him.

“No, my friends,” advised the engineer. “Wait for night. I won’t allow any of you to expose yourself in full daylight.”

“But, Mr. Cyrus …” urged the sailor, almost unwilling to obey.


 “I beg you, Pencroff,” said the engineer.

“So be it!” replied the sailor, who vented his anger at the convicts with the harshest epithets in his maritime repertoire.

The colonists remained near the cart and carefully surveyed the neighboring parts of the forest.

Three hours passed. The wind died out and an absolute silence reigned under the large trees. A twig breaking, the noise of footsteps on dry leaves, or any movement through the grass would have been heard without difficulty. But everything was quiet. Top, lying on the ground with his head resting on his paws, gave no sign of concern.

At eight o’clock, the evening had come, and the reconnaissance could be made under ideal conditions. Gideon Spilett declared that he was ready to leave, accompanied by Pencroff. Cyrus Smith gave his consent. Top and Jup had to remain with the engineer, Harbert, and Neb because, if they barked or cried out at an inappropriate time, this would give the alarm.

“Don’t do anything imprudent,” Cyrus Smith cautioned the sailor and the reporter. “You are not to take possession of the corral but only discover if it’s occupied or not.”

“Agreed,” replied Pencroff.

They both left.

Beneath the trees, thanks to their thick foliage, the darkness had already made objects nearly invisible beyond a range of thirty to forty feet. The reporter and Pencroff, stopping for any noise that aroused their suspicion, advanced very carefully.

They walked at a distance from each other in order to offer less of a target for any gunfire. And, indeed, they expected a gunshot at any moment.

Five minutes after leaving the cart, Gideon Spilett and Pencroff reached the clearing in front of the stockade.

They stopped. Dim light still bathed the prairie, devoid of trees. The door of the corral, thirty feet away, seemed to be closed. These thirty feet to be crossed between the edge of the woods and the enclosure constituted the killing zone, to use an expression borrowed from ballistics. In fact, one or more bullets fired from the top of the palisade would strike anyone who ventured into this zone.

Gideon Spilett and the sailor were not men to recoil before danger, but they knew if they became the first victims, it would affect their companions. If they were killed, what would become of Cyrus Smith, Neb and Harbert?
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 “In a few minutes it will be completely dark.”





 But Pencroff, excited by being near the corral where he supposed that the convicts had found refuge, was going to move forward when the reporter held him back with a firm hand.

“In a few minutes it will be completely dark,” murmured Gideon Spilett into Pencroff’s ear, “and that will be the moment to act.”

Pencroff convulsively gripped the stock of his gun, restraining himself, waiting and fuming.

Soon the last glimmer of twilight was completely gone. The darkness seemed to leave the thick forest and fill the clearing. Mount Franklin rose like an enormous screen in front of the western horizon, and darkness came on rapidly as it does in regions of lower latitude. This was the moment.

From the instant that they had posted themselves at the edge of the woods, the reporter and Pencroff had not lost sight of the stockade. The corral seemed to be absolutely deserted. The top of the palisade formed a line a little darker than the surrounding environment. However, if the convicts were inside, one of them would surely be posted to guard against any surprise.

Gideon Spilett seized the hand of his companion and they both advanced, crawling toward the corral with their guns cocked and ready.

They reached the door in near total darkness.

Pencroff tried to push the door which, as the reporter and he had supposed, was closed. The sailor noticed, however, that the exterior bars were not in place.

They could therefore conclude that the convicts were occupying the corral and that they had barred the door from the inside so that it could not be forced open.

Gideon Spilett and Pencroff listened.

There was no noise from inside the enclosure. The sheep and the goats, most likely asleep in their stables, did not disturb the calm night.

The reporter and the sailor, hearing nothing, wondered if they should climb the stockade wall and enter the corral. That would be contrary to Cyrus Smith’s instructions.

It was true that they might succeed, but they might also fail. If the convicts suspected nothing, if they had no knowledge of the expedition, if there existed at this moment a chance to attack them by surprise, 
 should they jeopardize this chance by thoughtlessly climbing over the palisade?

That was not the reporter’s opinion. He felt it best to wait until the colonists were all together before attempting to get into the corral. This much was certain: they could come right up to the stockade wall without being seen, and the enclosure did not appear to be guarded. All that remained to do now was to return to the cart.

Pencroff probably agreed with this assessment of the situation because he offered no resistance and followed the reporter when the latter retreated to the woods.

A few minutes later, the engineer was brought up to date.

“Well,” he said after some thought, “I now believe that the convicts are not at the corral.”

“We’ll surely know that,” replied Pencroff, “when we’ve scaled the enclosure.”

“To the corral, my friends!” said Cyrus Smith.

“Shall we leave the cart in the woods?” asked Neb.

“No,” replied the engineer, “it is our ammunition and supply wagon and, if need be, it can serve as our defense bulwark.”

“Forward then!” said Gideon Spilett.

The cart left the woods and began to roll noiselessly toward the stockade wall. It was just as dark and quiet as when Pencroff and the reporter had been crawling on the ground. The thick grass completely muffled the noise of their footsteps.

The colonists were ready to fire. On Pencroff’s order, Jup stayed behind. Neb held Top on a leash so that he would not rush forward.

Soon the clearing appeared. It was deserted. Without hesitating, the small troop went toward the enclosure. Soon the killing zone was crossed and no shot had been fired. When the cart reached the palisade, it stopped. Neb, at the head of the onagers, reined them in and held them steady. The engineer, the reporter, Harbert, and Pencroff then went to the door to see if it was barricaded from the inside … One of the doors was open!

“What were you saying?” the engineer asked, turning toward the sailor and Gideon Spilett.

Both were stupefied.

“Upon my soul,” said Pencroff, “this door was closed a moment ago!”

The colonists then hesitated. Had the convicts been in the corral 
 when Pencroff and the reporter had made their reconnaissance? That could not be doubted since the door, closed at the time, could only have been opened by them. Were they still there, or had one of them gone out?

All these questions instantly crossed everyone’s mind, but what should they do?

At his moment Harbert, who had advanced a few feet into the enclosure, rushed out and seized Cyrus Smith’s hand.

“What is it?” asked the engineer.

“A light!”

“In the house?”

“Yes!”

All five advanced toward the door and, indeed, through the panes of the window, they saw a feeble flickering light.

Cyrus Smith quickly made his decision.

“This is a unique opportunity,” he said to his companions, “to find the convicts in the house expecting nothing. They are ours! Forward!”

The colonists quietly slipped inside the enclosure, with weapons ready to fire. The cart had been left outside, guarded by Jup and Top, who were tied to it.

Cyrus Smith, Pencroff, and Gideon Spilett on the one side and Harbert and Neb on the other ran along the inside wall, observing that this part of the corral was absolutely dark and deserted.

In a few minutes, all were at the house, facing a closed door.

Cyrus Smith signaled to his companions to hold back while he approached the window pane feebly lit by an inside light.

He looked into the one room which constituted the ground floor of the house.

On the table was a lighted lamp. Near the table was the bed formerly used by Ayrton.

A man lay on the bed.

Cyrus Smith suddenly drew back and in a choked voice:

“Ayrton!” he cried.

Immediately the door was burst open, and the colonists rushed into the room.

Ayrton seemed to be sleeping. His appearance showed that he had suffered long and cruelly. They saw large bruises on his wrists and ankles.
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 “But they’re coming!” shouted Ayrton.





 Cyrus Smith leaned over him.

“Ayrton!” shouted the engineer, seizing the arms of their companion whom they had found again so unexpectedly.

On hearing his name, Ayrton opened his eyes, looked at Cyrus Smith, and then at the others:

“You,” he answered, “you?”

“Ayrton! Ayrton!” repeated Cyrus Smith.

“Where am I?”

“In the house at the corral!”

“Alone?”

“Yes!”

“But they’re coming!” shouted Ayrton. “Defend yourself! Defend yourself!”

And Ayrton fell back exhausted.

“Spilett,” the engineer then said, “we may be attacked at any moment. Bring the cart into the corral. Then barricade the door and come back here.”

Pencroff, Neb, and the reporter hastened to carry out the engineer’s orders. There was not a moment to lose. Perhaps the cart itself was already in the hands of the convicts!

In an instant, the reporter and his two companions crossed the corral and reached the door of the stockade behind which they heard Top growling lowly.

The engineer, leaving Ayrton for a moment, exited the house and stood ready to fire. Harbert was at his side. They both surveyed the hilltop which overlooked the corral. If the convicts were in ambush there, they could kill the colonists one by one.

At that moment, the moon suddenly appeared in the east, above the black curtain of the forest, and a white sheet of light slowly spread out over the interior of the enclosure. The corral was now fully illuminated, with its cluster of trees, the small stream which watered it, and its wide carpet of grass. The house and a part of the palisade stood out in white against the side of the mountain. On the opposite side, toward the door, the enclosure remained dark.

A black mass soon appeared. It was the cart which entered the circle of light, and Cyrus Smith could hear the door creaking when his companions closed it, firmly fastening the bars on the inside.

But at that instant, Top broke his leash, barked furiously, and rushed toward the back of the corral to the right of the house.


[image: img]



 Five bodies lying on the bank!





 “Be ready, my friends, take aim!” shouted Cyrus Smith.

The colonists put their guns to their shoulders and waited for the moment to fire. Top barked without letup, and Jup ran after the dog, making sharp hisses.

The colonists followed them and reached the small stream overshadowed by large trees.

And there, in full moonlight, what did they see?

Five bodies lying on the bank!

They were the convicts who, four months earlier, had set foot on Lincoln Island!



CHAPTER XIII





W

 hat had happened? Who had struck down the convicts? Was it Ayrton? No, since he had dreaded their return only a moment earlier.

But Ayrton was now deeply unconscious, and it was impossible to rouse him. After the few words that he had uttered, an overwhelming weakness took possession of him and he fell back motionless onto his bed.

The colonists, still very tense and prey to a thousand confused thoughts, waited all night without leaving Ayrton’s house and did not return to the place where the bodies of the convicts were lying. Ayrton could tell them nothing about the circumstances surrounding the convicts’ death since he did not even know that he was at the corral. But at least he would be able to tell about the events that had led up to this terrible execution.

The next day, Ayrton awoke from his sleep, and his companions heartily expressed their joy on finding him again safe and sound after one hundred and four days of separation.

Ayrton then related in a few words what had happened, or at least as much as he knew.

The day after his arrival at the corral, November 10th, at nightfall, he was surprised by the convicts who had scaled the stockade wall. They tied and gagged him; then he was taken away to some obscure 
 cavern at the foot of Mount Franklin where the convicts had taken refuge.

They were going to kill him the next day, but one of the convicts recognized him and called him by the name he had borne in Australia. These wretches wanted to murder Ayrton! But they respected Ben Joyce!

But from that time on, Ayrton was the target of his former accomplices’ repeated demands. They wanted him to join them. They counted on him to take over Granite House, to get into this inaccessible dwelling, to become masters of the island after murdering the colonists.

Ayrton resisted. The former convict, now repentant and pardoned, would rather die than betray his companions.

Ayrton, tied up, gagged and under constant guard, lived in this cavern for four months.

The convicts, who had discovered the corral a short time after their arrival on the island, had been using its reserves but did not live there. On November 11th, two of these bandits, suddenly surprised by the arrival of the colonists, fired on Harbert. One of them returned boasting that he had killed one of the inhabitants of the island, but he returned alone. His companion, as we know, fell under Cyrus Smith’s dagger.

One can imagine Ayrton’s despair and anxiety when he heard this news of Harbert’s death! The colonists were now only four in number and at the mercy of the convicts!

After this event, and during the time the colonists were detained at the corral by Harbert’s illness, the pirates did not leave their cavern, even after they had pillaged Grand View Plateau.

The ill treatment inflicted on Ayrton was then redoubled. His hands and feet still carried the bloody marks of the bonds which restrained him day and night. He awaited death at any moment, from which it seemed he could not escape.

This continued until the third week in February. The convicts, always on the lookout for a favorable occasion, rarely left their retreat except to hunt in the interior of the island or on the southern coast. Ayrton no longer had any news of his friends nor did he expect to see them again.

Finally the unfortunate man, weak from ill-treatment, fell unconscious 
 and saw or heard nothing. From that time on, that is to say for the past two days, he could not say what had happened.

“But, Mr. Smith,” he added, “since I was imprisoned in this cavern, how did I arrive here?”

“And how is it that we find the convicts lying out there dead in the middle of the corral?” replied the engineer.

“Dead!” shouted Ayrton who, in spite of his weakness, got up a bit.

His companions helped him up. He wanted to stand. They let him do so and everyone went toward the small creek.

It was broad daylight.

There on the bank, in the same position as when they had met their instant death, lay the five bodies of the convicts.

Ayrton was dumfounded. Cyrus Smith and his companions looked at him without saying a word.

On a sign from the engineer, Neb and Pencroff examined the bodies already stiff from the cold.

They showed no apparent trace of a wound.

Only after they had been carefully examined, Pencroff saw on the face of one, the chest of another, the back of this one, the shoulder of that one, a small red mark, a barely visible contusion whose origin was impossible to guess.

“That’s how they were struck down!” said Cyrus Smith.

“But with what kind of weapon?” asked the reporter.

“A weapon, acting like lightning, whose secret we don’t have.”

“And who struck them? …” asked Pencroff.

“The avenger of the island,” answered Cyrus Smith, “he who brought you here, Ayrton; he whose influence is still present; he who does for us everything that we can’t do for ourselves and who then conceals himself from us.”

“Let’s search for him, then!” shouted Pencroff.

“Yes, let’s search for him,” replied Cyrus Smith. “But the mysterious being who accomplishes such wonders will not be found until it finally pleases him to call us to his side.”

This invisible protection, which made their own efforts seem insignificant, both irritated and awed the engineer. The relative inferiority that it implied wounded his proud spirit. Such generosity, which refused every token of gratitude, demonstrated a kind of disdain for 
 those it helped, which, in Cyrus Smith’s view, detracted from the value of the kindness itself.

“Let’s search,” he resumed, “and, God willing, one day we may be permitted to prove to this haughty protector that he isn’t dealing with ingrates! What I wouldn’t give to be able to repay him and to render him some important service, even at the risk of our lives!”

From this day forward, this search was the unique preoccupation of the inhabitants of Lincoln Island. All tried to discover the hint of an answer to this enigma, any hint, if only the name of the man endowed with this truly inexplicable and superhuman power.

After a few moments, the colonists reentered the house in the corral, and their cares soon restored to Ayrton his moral and physical energy.

Neb and Pencroff carried the bodies of the convicts into the forest at some distance from the corral and buried them.

Ayrton was brought up to date on what had occurred during his imprisonment. He was told about Harbert’s experiences and the series of tribulations that the colonists had endured. Among them, they had no longer expected to see Ayrton again and had feared that the convicts had massacred him without pity.

“And now,” said Cyrus Smith, ending his narrative, “one duty remains for us. Half our task is completed, but if the convicts are no longer to be feared, it isn’t because of ourselves that we’ve again become masters of the island.”

“Well,” replied Gideon Spilett, “let’s search every inch of this labyrinth around the foothills of Mount Franklin! Let’s leave no excavation or hole unexplored. No reporter ever found himself in the presence of so exciting a mystery, I can tell you that, my friends!”

“And we’ll return to Granite House,” replied Harbert, “only when we’ve found our benefactor!”

“Yes,” said the engineer, “we’ll do everything humanly possible … but, I repeat, we won’t find him until he wishes it!”

“Shall we stay at the corral?” asked Pencroff.

“Yes, let’s stay here,” answered Cyrus Smith. “There are abundant provisions here, and we’re at the center of our circle of investigations. Besides, if necessary, the cart can quickly take us to Granite House.”

“Good,” replied the sailor. “I offer only one observation.”

“Which is?”


 “Spring is getting on, and we must not forget that we have a trip to make.”

“A trip?” asked Gideon Spilett.

“Yes! The one to Tabor Island!” replied Pencroff. “We must leave a message there which indicates the position of our island and where Ayrton actually is, in case the Scottish yacht comes to bring him back. Who knows if it is not already too late?”

“But Pencroff,” asked Ayrton, “how do you plan to make this trip?”

“On the Bonadventure!
 ”

“The Bonadventure!
 ” exclaimed Ayrton. “It no longer exists!”

“My Bonadventure
 no longer exists!” yelled Pencroff jumping up.

“No!” replied Ayrton. “The convicts discovered it in its small port, barely eight days ago, they took it to sea, and …”

“And?” said Pencroff with his heart palpitating.

“And not having Bob Harvey to maneuver it, they ran it aground on the rocks, and the boat was completely destroyed.”

“Ah! the wretches! the bandits! the infamous scoundrels!” shouted Pencroff.

“Pencroff,” said Harbert, taking the sailor’s hand, “we’ll make another Bonadventure,
 a larger one. We have all the ironwork and all the rigging from the brig.”

“But do you realize,” replied Pencroff, “that it will take at least five to six months to construct a boat of thirty to forty tons?”

“We’ll take our time,” answered the reporter, “and we’ll give up our trip to Tabor Island for this year.”

“We must make the best of it, Pencroff,” said the engineer, “and I hope this delay won’t be too detrimental to us.”

“Ah! my Bonadventure!
 my poor Bonadventure!
 ” groaned Pencroff, truly disheartened by the loss of his boat to which he had become so attached.

Obviously, the destruction of the Bonadventure
 was a regrettable fact for the colonists, and it was agreed that this loss had to be remedied as soon as possible. But for now, they would concentrate their efforts on a thorough exploration of the most secret portions of the island.

The search was begun on that very day, February 19th. It lasted an entire week. The base of the mountain, with its foothills and numerous ravines, formed a veritable labyrinth of valleys and bluffs. It was evident that the best place to begin their search was at the bottom of 
 these narrow gorges, perhaps even pursuing them into the interior of Mount Franklin itself. No part of the island would be a better place to conceal a dwelling whose host wished to remain unknown. But such was the irregularity of these foothills, that Cyrus Smith had to explore them in a strictly methodical way.

The colonists first visited all of that valley which opened up to the south of the volcano, which fed the waters of Falls River. It was there that Ayrton showed them the cavern where the convicts had taken refuge and in which he had been imprisoned until he had been taken to the corral. This cavern was in the same condition as when Ayrton left it. They found there a certain quantity of munitions and provisions that the convicts had built up with the intention of creating a reserve.

The entire valley adjacent to the cave, shaded by beautiful trees dominated by conifers, was explored with extreme care. After rounding the southwest foothill, the colonists came upon a more narrow gorge which led to the picturesque entanglement of basalt rocks on the coast.

There were fewer trees here, and stone replaced grass. Wild goats and sheep walked about among the rocks. Here, the arid part of the island began. They saw that, of the numerous valleys at the base of Mount Franklin, only three were wooded and rich in pastures like those of the corral which was bordered on the west by Falls River valley and on the east by Red Creek valley. These two brooks changed into rivers lower down as they absorbed several tributaries formed by all of the mountain’s waters, and they thus accounted for the fertility of the southern portion of the island. As for the Mercy, it was more directly fed from abundant springs hidden under the cover of Jacamar Woods and from other similar springs which, overflowing from a thousand outlets, watered the soil of Serpentine Peninsula.

Any one of these three valleys, where there was no lack of water, could serve as a retreat for some recluse who would find there all the things necessary for life. But the colonists had already explored them, and nowhere had they been able to affirm the presence of man.

Was it then at the bottom of these arid gorges, among the debris of rocks in the rugged ravines of the north, between the paths of lava, that they would find this retreat and its occupant?

The base of the northern part of Mount Franklin was composed of only two valleys, broad, not too deep, without vegetation, erratic 
 blocks scattered about, long moraines paved with lava, hills of large mineral deposits interspersed with volcanic glass and labradorites. This part called for a long and difficult exploration. It was criss-crossed by a thousand cavities, doubtless not very hospitable, but absolutely concealed and difficult to access. The colonists even 
 visited dark tunnels which plunged into the heart of the mountain and dated from the volcanic period, still black from the former fires. They walked through dark galleries carrying resin torches, probing the smallest excavations and sounding the shallowest depths. But there was silence and darkness everywhere. It did not seem that any human being had ever trod these ancient passageways. No hand had ever moved a single block of stone within them. They were still there, just as the volcano had thrown them up above the water at the time that the island emerged.
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The colonists explored the dark tunnels.




Nevertheless, if these substructures seemed completely empty and their darkness total, Cyrus Smith had to acknowledge that, within them, silence did not reign absolute.

At the end of one of these dark cavities extending several hundred feet into the interior of the mountain he was surprised to hear muffled rumblings increased in intensity by the resonance of the rocks.

Gideon Spilett, who was with him, also heard these distant murmurs, which indicated a revival of the subterranean fires. Several times, they both heard it, and they agreed that some chemical reaction was going on in the bowels of the earth.

“The volcano isn’t totally extinct, then?” asked the reporter.

“It’s possible that since our exploration of the crater,” replied Cyrus Smith, “there has been some activity in the lower levels. Any volcano, although considered fully extinct, can evidently become active again.”

“But if Mount Franklin is getting ready for an eruption,” asked Gideon Spilett, “would it not pose a danger for Lincoln Island?”

“I don’t think so,” replied the engineer. “The crater, that is to say the safety valve, exists and the overflow of vapor and lava will escape by its accustomed outlet.”

“Provided the lava doesn’t blaze a new passage toward the fertile parts of the island!”

“Why, my dear Spilett,” asked Cyrus Smith, “why would it not follow its natural route?”

“Well! Volcanoes are capricious!” replied the reporter.

“Notice,” observed the engineer, “how the entire configuration of Mount Franklin favors the flow of eruptive matter toward the valleys which we’re exploring at this moment. It would take an earthquake, changing the center of gravity of the mountain, to modify this flow.”

“But an earthquake is always to be feared under these conditions,” noted Gideon Spilett.
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 “The volcano isn’t totally extinct, then?”




“Always,” replied the engineer, “especially when the subterranean forces begin to awaken and the bowels of the earth have been obstructed after a long repose. Also, my dear Spilett, an eruption would be a serious thing for us, and it would be best if the volcano did not have the urge to awaken! But we can do nothing about it, can we? 
 In any case, whatever comes, I don’t think that our domain at Grand View will be seriously threatened. Between there and the mountain, the land is rather concave, and if ever the lava takes a path toward the lake, it will be channeled toward the dunes and the neighboring portions of Shark Gulf.”

“We still haven’t seen any smoke at the top of the mountain which would indicate an approaching eruption,” said Gideon Spilett.

“No,” replied Cyrus Smith, “no vapor is escaping from the crater. I observed the summit only yesterday. But it’s possible that, in the lower part of the chimney, time has accumulated rocks, cinders and hardened lava and that this safety-valve, as I call it, is temporarily blocked. At the first serious pressure, all obstacles will soon disappear. Nevertheless, you may be certain, my dear Spilett, that neither the island, which is the boiler, nor the volcano, which is the chimney, will crack under the pressure of the gas. Still, I repeat, it would be better if there were no eruption.”

“And yet we aren’t mistaken,” added the reporter. “We can definitely hear muffled rumblings in the very bowels of the volcano!”

“Indeed,” agreed the engineer, who listened again carefully, “there’s no mistaking it … A reaction is going on there whose importance and final outcome we can’t yet estimate.”

Cyrus Smith and Gideon Spilett then left and returned to their companions who were informed about the state of things.

“Well!” shouted Pencroff, “this volcano wants to do us in! But if it tries, it will find its master! …”

“Who?” asked Neb.

“Our genie, Neb, our good genie, who will put a gag in the mouth of the crater if it even hints at opening up!”

One could see that the sailor’s confidence toward the special deity of his island was absolute, and certainly the occult power, which had manifested itself up to that time by so many inexplicable acts, appeared to be without limits. And it had also escaped the minute search conducted by the colonists because, in spite of their many efforts, in spite of the zeal and the tenacity with which they carried on their exploration, the strange retreat had still not been discovered.

From the 19th to the 25th of February, the circle of exploration was extended to all of the northern region of Lincoln Island, whose most secret recesses were searched. The colonists ended by sounding each rocky wall, as the police do to the walls of a suspicious house. The 
 engineer made an exact survey of the mountain itself and carried his search down to the very foundations which supported it. They even explored the top of the truncated cone which ended the first stage of rocks and the upper edge of this enormous cap, at the bottom of which the crater opened.
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They visited the abyss of the crater.





 They did more: they visited the still-extinct abyss within the crater itself, from whose depths they could distinctly hear rumblings. However, there was no smoke, nor vapor, nor any heat from the walls to indicate an approaching eruption. Neither there nor at any other part of Mount Franklin could the colonists find any trace of the person they were looking for.

The investigation was then directed toward the entire dunes region. They carefully examined the high lava walls of Shark Gulf, from top to bottom, even though it was extremely difficult to reach the level of the gulf. There was no one! Nothing!

These few words summarize so much fatigue, so much tenacious effort which produced no result, and Cyrus Smith and his companions began to feel a tinge of angry frustration at their continuing lack of success.

They now had to think of returning home, because these searches could not be pursued indefinitely. The colonists were forced to conclude that the mysterious being did not reside on the surface of the island, and the strangest hypotheses soon began to haunt their overexcited imaginations. Pencroff and Neb, in particular, did not limit themselves to the strange, but allowed their imaginations to wander fully into the realm of the supernatural.

On February 25th the colonists again entered Granite House. By means of a double rope, carried by an arrow to the door’s landing, they once again established a connection between their domain and the ground below.

One month later, on March 25th, they celebrated the third anniversary of their arrival on Lincoln Island.
1





CHAPTER XIV





T

 hree years had gone by since the prisoners from Richmond had escaped, and many times during these three years they had spoken of their homeland, always present in their thoughts!

They had no doubt that the Civil War was now at an end and it seemed impossible to them that the just cause of the North had not been victorious. But what were the costs of this terrible war? How much blood had been spilled? Which of 
 their friends had perished in battle? They often spoke of these things, without knowing when they would see their country again. To return there, if only for a few days, to renew social ties with the inhabited world, to establish communication between their native land and their island, to pass the longest, perhaps the best part of their lives in this colony that they had founded and then turn it into a metropolis, was this then an unrealistic dream?

There were only two ways to make this dream come true: either a vessel would show up some day in the waters of Lincoln Island, or the colonists would themselves construct a boat large enough to take to sea and reach the nearest land.

“Unless,” said Pencroff, “our good genie himself furnishes us with the means to repatriate ourselves.”

And, indeed, if someone told Pencroff and Neb that a vessel of 300 tons was waiting for them in Shark Gulf or at Port Balloon, they would not even have shown any surprise. In their state of mind they expected anything.

But Cyrus Smith, being less confident, advised them to return to reality by proposing that they construct a boat. It was a truly urgent task since they had to take a document to Tabor Island as soon as possible, one which would indicate Ayrton’s new residence.

The Bonadventure
 no longer existed. Six months at least would be necessary for the construction of a new vessel. Now, with winter coming on, the voyage could not be made before the following spring.

“We therefore have time to prepare for the good weather,” said the engineer, who chatted about these things with Pencroff. “I think, my friend, that since we have to make a boat again, it would be best to give it larger dimensions. The arrival of the Scottish yacht at Lincoln Island is very uncertain. Perhaps it even came in the last few months and left again after having looked in vain for some trace of Ayrton. Would it not therefore be appropriate to construct a vessel which, if need be, could carry us to the Polynesian archipelagoes or to New Zealand? What do you think?”

“I think, Mr. Cyrus,” replied the sailor, “I think that you’re just as capable of making a large boat as a small one. Neither the wood nor the tools are lacking. It’s only a question of time.”

“And how much time would be required for the construction of a vessel of 250 to 300 tons?” asked Cyrus Smith.


 “Seven or eight months at least,” answered Pencroff. “But let’s not forget that when winter comes, wood is difficult to work in the frost. Let’s therefore count on a few idle weeks and, if our boat is ready by next November, we should consider ourselves lucky.”

“Well,” observed Cyrus Smith, “that will be the best time to undertake a crossing either to Tabor Island or a further land.”

“Indeed, Mr. Cyrus,” replied the sailor. “So draw up your plans; the workers are ready, and I imagine that Ayrton will lend us a helping hand in these circumstances.”

The colonists were consulted and approved of the engineer’s project as the best thing to do. It was true that the construction of a vessel of two to three hundred tons was a large undertaking, but the colonists had a confidence in themselves justified by their earlier successes.

Cyrus Smith made the plans for the vessel. During this time, his companions felled and carted the trees which would provide the curved wood, the ribs, and the planking. It was the Forest of the Far West which produced the best species of oaks and elms. They took advantage of the path already made at the time of the last excursion to open a practical route which they dubbed the Far West Road. The trees were transported to the Chimneys where a shipyard was established. As for the Far West Road itself, it winded capriciously through the forest—the choice of wood determined its path—but it facilitated access to a large portion of Serpentine Peninsula.

It was important that the wood be promptly cut and sawed because they could not use it while it was still green, and time must be allowed for it to harden. The carpenters therefore worked feverishly during the month of April, which was troubled only by a few rather violent seasonal windstorms. Master Jup helped them either by climbing to the top of a tree to attach the felling ropes or by using his robust shoulders to carry the lopped off trunks.

All this wood was piled up under a large shed constructed near the Chimneys, and there it remained until it would be put to use.

The month of April was rather fine, as the month of October often is in the northern zone. At the same time, the agricultural work was actively carried on, and soon all trace of the devastation had disappeared from Grand View Plateau. The mill was rebuilt and new buildings rose where the poultry yard had been. It seemed necessary to construct it to larger dimensions because the avian population had increased considerably. The stables now housed five onagers, four who 
 were vigorous and well trained for harness or riding, and a young one recently born. The colony’s equipment had been increased with the addition of a plow, and the onagers were employed to pull it, like true oxen from Yorkshire or from Kentucky. Each of the colonists shared in the work, and no hands were idle. The laborers were in fine health and in fine humor. They animated the evenings at Granite House by forming a thousand plans for the future.

It goes without saying that Ayrton completely shared in the common existence and no longer lived at the corral. Nevertheless he was always sad, not very communicative, and joined in the work rather than in the pleasures of his companions. But he was an excellent worker, vigorous, skillful, ingenious, and intelligent. He was esteemed and loved by everyone, and he could not but be aware of it.

The corral, however, was not abandoned. Every two days, one of the colonists, taking the cart or riding one of the onagers, went to look after the flock of sheep or goats and carry back milk for Neb’s pantry. At the same time, these excursions were occasions for hunting. Harbert and Gideon Spilett—with Top in front—took the road to the corral more often than any of their companions. And, with their excellent weapons, large game such as capybara, agouti, kangaroo, wild boar, and wild pig as well as small game such as duck, grouse, heath fowl, jacamar, and snipe were never lacking at home. The products of the rabbit warren, those of the oyster bed, some turtles which were prized, a new catch of excellent salmon which still came to swarm in the waters of the Mercy, the vegetables from Grand View Plateau, the natural fruits from the forest … it was riches upon riches and Neb, the master cook, could barely manage to store it all.

The telegraphic wire between the corral and Granite House was repaired, and it was used whenever one or another of the colonists found himself at the corral and judged it necessary to pass the night there. Moreover, the island was secure now, and no aggression was to be feared, at least from men.

However, what had happened once could happen again. An attack by pirates and even by escaped convicts was still a serious concern. It was possible that those companions and accomplices of Bob Harvey who were still detained at Norfolk might be in on his secret plans, and that they would attempt to imitate him. The colonists checked the approaches to the island every day, and their telescope continually swept the large horizon which enclosed Union Bay and Washington 
 Bay. When they went to the corral, they examined with no less care the western part of the ocean and, by climbing the foothills, their gaze could cover a rather large sector of the western horizon.

Nothing suspicious appeared, but still they had to always be on guard.

One evening, the engineer told his friends about his plans to fortify the corral. It seemed prudent to increase the height of the stockade’s wall and to flank it with a sort of blockhouse in which, if need be, they could hold out against an enemy force. Granite House could be considered impregnable by its very position. The corral with its structures, its reserves, and the animals it enclosed, would always be the objective of pirates, whoever they were. If they were to land on the island, and if the colonists were forced to barricade themselves in the corral, they could hold out there without being at a disadvantage.

However, they had to put off the execution of this project until the coming spring.

Around May 15th the keel of the new vessel stretched out over the shipyard, and soon the stem and the sternpost, squared at each end, were erected almost perpendicularly. This keel, of good oak, measured 110 feet in length, giving the main beam a width of 25 feet. But this was all the carpenters could do before the arrival of the cold and the bad weather. During the following week, they managed to put the first rear frames in place; but then they had to suspend work.

During the final days of the month, the weather was very bad. The wind blew from the east, at times with the violence of a storm. The engineer had some uneasiness about the sheds at the shipyard. The sheds could not have been built nearer Granite House because the islet protected the shore only imperfectly against the furies of the sea and, during major storms, the waves beat directly at the foot of the granite wall.

But, fortunately, Cyrus Smith’s fears were not realized. The wind blew more often from the southeast and, under these conditions, the Granite House shore was completely protected by the promontory of Flotsam Point.

Pencroff and Ayrton, the two most zealous workers on the new boat, pursued their labors as long as they could. They were not men to be inconvenienced by the wind which twisted their hair, nor by the rain which seemed to penetrate to their very bones, and a blow from a hammer is worth as much in bad weather as in good. But when a 
 very cold spell succeeded this wet period, the wood, whose fibers acquired the hardness of iron, became extremely difficult to work, and around June 10th they definitely had to abandon the construction of the boat.

Cyrus Smith and his companions noticed that the temperature was severe during the winters at Lincoln Island. The cold was comparable to New England, situated at very nearly the same distance from the equator. In the northern hemisphere, or at least in the part occupied by Canada and the north of the United States, the smooth topography of the territories offer no obstructions to the wintry winds from the extreme north, but no such explanation would suffice here in the case of Lincoln Island.

“It has even been observed,” Cyrus Smith said one day to his companions, “that at similar latitudes, islands and coastal regions are less subject to the cold than Mediterranean countries. I have often heard it said that the winters of Lombardy, for example, are more vigorous than those of Scotland, which is due to the fact that, during the winter, the sea restores the heat that it has received during the summer. Islands are in the best position to take advantage of this payback.”

“But then, Mr. Cyrus,” asked Harbert, “why does Lincoln Island not conform to this usual rule?”

“That’s difficult to explain,” replied the engineer. “However, I’m inclined to admit that this singularity is due to the position of the island in the southern hemisphere which as you know, my child, is colder than the northern hemisphere.”

“Indeed,” said Harbert, “floating ice is encountered under lower latitudes in the South Pacific than in the north.”

“That’s true,” agreed Pencroff, “and when I worked as a whaler, I saw icebergs at Cape Horn.”

“That would perhaps explain,” said Gideon Spilett, “the rigorous cold which strikes Lincoln Island, because of the nearby ice floes.”

“In fact, your hypothesis is very likely, my dear Spilett,” answered Cyrus Smith, “and it’s evident that we owe our rigorous winters to the proximity of the ice pack. There is also a physical cause which renders the southern hemisphere colder than the northern hemisphere. Since the sun is nearer to this hemisphere in the summer, it’s necessarily further away during the winter. This, therefore, explains the extremes of temperature in the two seasons and, if we find the winters 
 very cold at Lincoln Island, let’s not forget that the summers, on the contrary, are very warm.”

“But why then, Mr. Smith, if you please,” asked Pencroff frowning, “why is our hemisphere, as you said, treated so badly? That isn’t fair!”

“Friend Pencroff,” replied the engineer smiling, “fair or not, we must accept the situation. And here’s why this particularity comes about. The earth does not move in a circle around the sun but rather in an ellipse, according to the laws of celestial mechanics. The sun occupies one of the foci of the ellipse. As a consequence, at a certain point in its orbit, the earth is at its apogee, that’s to say at its greatest distance from the sun, and at another point, its perigee, its shortest distance. Now it so happens that it’s precisely during the winter in the southern countries that the earth is at its greatest distance from the sun and, consequently, subject to greater cold. Nothing can be done about that, Pencroff, and men, however learned they may be, will never be able to change the cosmology established by God Himself!”

“Nevertheless,” added Pencroff, who was slow to resign himself to these facts, “the world is very learned! What a big book one could make, Mr. Cyrus, with all that is known.”

“And what a still larger book with what isn’t known,” answered Cyrus Smith.

Finally, for one reason or another, the month of June again brought the cold weather with its usual storms, and the colonists were often confined to Granite House.

This captivity seemed to be hard on everyone and perhaps most particularly on Gideon Spilett.

“I’ll tell you what,” he said one day to Neb, “I’ll give you, by notarized deed, all the inheritances that will come to me one day if you would be so good as to go, anywhere, and subscribe me to any newspaper whatsoever. What I really miss most is knowing every morning what has happened the day before in the outside world!”

Neb laughed.

“My word,” he replied, “my daily tasks are all that concern me.”

The truth was that, inside or outside, there was no lack of work.

The colony of Lincoln Island found itself at the height of its prosperity, and three years of hard work had made it so. The incident of the destroyed brig had been a new source of riches, and its complete rigging which would be used for the vessel under construction, utensils and tools of all sorts, arms and munitions, clothing and instruments now crowded the storerooms of Granite House. It was no longer even necessary to make the crude felt material. If the colonists had suffered from the cold during their first winter, now the bad weather could come without their needing to dread its rigors. Linen was plentiful also, and they took good care of it. From sodium chloride, which is nothing more than sea salt, Cyrus Smith had easily extracted the soda and the chlorine. The soda, easily transformed into sodium carbonate, and the chlorine which was made into bleaching powder, was employed for many domestic uses, in particular for bleaching linen. Moreover, they now had laundry days no more than four times a year, as was formerly practiced by families of long ago. And Pencroff and Gideon Spilett, the latter still waiting for the postman to bring him his newspaper, proved themselves to be excellent launderers.
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 “I’ll tell you what,” said Spilett.





 So passed the winter months, June, July and August. They were very rigorous, and the average temperature did not rise above 8°F (13.33°C below zero). It was lower than the temperature of the preceding winter. What warm fires burned continuously in the Granite House fireplaces, with the smoke making long black stripes on the granite walls. They spared no fuel, which could be found in a natural state a short distance away. Moreover, the excess wood intended for the construction of the vessel allowed them to economize the coal whose transportation was more tedious.

Men and animals were in good health. Master Jup was a little chilly. That was perhaps his only shortcoming, and they had to make him a well-padded dressing gown. But what a servant he was; with his skill, zeal, strength, discretion, and silence, they could rightly propose him as a model for all his biped colleagues of the old and new worlds.

“After all,” said Pencroff, “when someone has four hands to work with, he can be expected to perform well!”

And the intelligent quadrumane did indeed perform well.

During the seven months which had passed since the last search conducted around the mountain, until the month of September which finally brought back the fine weather, there was no trace of the genie of the island. He had not intervened in any event. It is true that 
 it would have been wasted effort, since no incident had occurred to put the colonists in a troublesome position.

Cyrus Smith even observed that if, by chance, communication between the stranger and the occupants of Granite House had ever existed through the granite surrounding them, as Top’s instincts had earlier warned them, it was no longer so during this period. The dog’s growling had ceased completely, as well as the orang’s uneasiness. The two friends—because such they were—no longer prowled around the orifice of the inside well, and they did not bark nor growl in this strange way which had put the engineer on the alert at the beginning. But could he be sure that the last word had been said about this riddle and that they would never have the answer? Could he say definitively that some combination of events would not cause the mysterious personage to act once again? Who could tell what the future would hold?

At last, winter ended. But an event whose consequences might well prove serious took place during those first days of spring.

On September 7th, Cyrus Smith, looking at the top of Mount Franklin, saw smoke rising from the crater and curling up into the atmosphere!



CHAPTER XV





T

 he colonists, called by the engineer, stopped their work and looked in silence at the top of Mount Franklin.

The volcano had awakened, and its gases had broken through the mineral layer piled up at the bottom of the crater. But would these subterranean fires trigger a violent eruption? This they could not predict.

However, even if there were an eruption, it was unlikely that the entirety of Lincoln Island would suffer from it. The outpouring of volcanic material is not always disastrous and the island had already been subjected to this experience, as evidenced by the lava flows which streaked the northern slopes of the mountain. Besides the form of the crater itself, the break in its upper fringe would project the vomited material to the side opposite the fertile portions of the island.

Nevertheless, the past does not necessarily speak for the future. At the top of volcanoes, old craters often close and new ones open. This has occurred in both the Old and the New worlds—at Etna, at Popocatepetl, and at Orizaba—and, on the eve of an eruption, there is everything to fear. An earthquake, a phenomenon which sometimes accompanies volcanic outpourings, might change the interior disposition of the mountain and blaze new paths for the incandescent lava.
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 They looked in silence at Mount Franklin.





 Cyrus Smith explained these things to his companions and, without exaggerating the situation, he outlined the pros and cons.

After all, they could do nothing about it. Barring the upheaval from an earthquake, Granite House did not seem to be threatened. But there was everything to fear for the corral if some new crater should open in the southern wall of Mount Franklin.

From this day on, the smoke continued to pour out from the top of the mountain, increasing in height and thickness but without any flames among the heavy spirals. The phenomenon was still concentrated in the lower part of the central chimney.

Meanwhile, with the good weather, work was resumed. They pressed on as much as possible with the construction of the vessel and by means of the waterfall on the beach, Cyrus Smith succeeded in making a hydraulic saw which rapidly cut up the tree trunks into boards and planks. The mechanism of this apparatus was as simple as that used in the rustic saws of Norway. The wood moves horizontally, and the saw moves vertically—that is all that is needed. The engineer succeeded in building it by means of a wheel, two cylinders and pulleys suitably arranged.

Toward the end of the month of September, the frame of the vessel, which would be rigged as a schooner, rose up over the shipyard. The ribs were almost completely finished and, with all these timbers supported in a temporary arch, they could already appreciate its shape. This schooner, slender at the bow and streamlined at the stern, would evidently be appropriate for a rather long voyage if need be; but the layout of the bulwarks, the inner planking and the deck, would still require considerable time. Fortunately, the ironwork from the old brig had been saved after the underwater explosion. From the planks and the mutilated ribs, Pencroff and Ayrton had extracted bolts and a large quantity of copper nails. This saved much time for the smiths, but provided the carpenters with much to do.

The construction activity had to be interrupted for a week for the harvesting of hay and the various crops which abounded on Grand View Plateau. Once this task was ended, every moment was henceforth devoted to finishing the construction of the schooner.

When night arrived, the laborers were truly exhausted. In order to lose no time, they changed their mealtimes: they dined at noon and supped only when there no longer was any daylight. At that time, they ascended to Granite House and later hurried off to sleep.


 Sometimes however, when the conversation concerned some interesting subject, they delayed a little in going to bed. The colonists then spoke of the future, and they openly chatted about the changes that a voyage with the schooner to the nearest land would bring about. But these plans were always dominated by the thought of a subsequent return to Lincoln Island. Never would they abandon this colony, founded with so much labor and success, and which would develop even further once in contact with America.

Pencroff and Neb especially hoped to end their days here.

“Harbert,” the sailor would say, “will you ever abandon Lincoln Island?”

“Never, Pencroff, and especially if you choose to remain here!”

“That was decided long ago, my boy,” Pencroff would reply. “I’ll wait for you here! You’ll bring me your wife and your children, and I’ll make jolly fellows of them!”

“That’s my intention,” answered Harbert, smiling and blushing at the same time.

“And you, Mr. Cyrus,” resumed Pencroff enthusiastically, “you’ll always be the governor of the island. Now then, how many inhabitants can it support? Ten thousand at least!”

They chatted in this way, allowing Pencroff to run on and on. And, with one thing leading to another, the reporter eventually ended up founding a newspaper, the New Lincoln Herald!


Such is the heart of man. The need to do something which endures, which survives him, is the sign of his superiority over all living things. This is the source of his domination, and this gives it meaning over the entire world.

Beyond that, who knows if Top and Jup themselves did not also have some small dream of the future!

Ayrton, silent, said to himself that he would like to see Lord Glenarvan again and show himself rehabilitated.

One evening, October 15th, the conversation on such questions was prolonged more than usual. It was nine o’clock in the evening. Already poorly concealed yawns announced bedtime, and Pencroff was about to turn in when the electric bell, placed in the room, suddenly rang.

All were there, Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett, Harbert, Ayrton, Pencroff and Neb. None of the colonists were at the corral.


 Cyrus Smith got up. His companions looked at each other, thinking that they had not heard correctly.

“What is that thing trying to tell us?” exclaimed Neb. “Is it the devil who’s calling us?”

No one answered.

“The weather is stormy,” noted Harbert. “Couldn’t the influence of the electricity …”

Harbert did not finish his sentence. The engineer, to whom all eyes were turned, shook his head.

“Let’s wait,” Gideon Spilett then said. “If it’s a signal, whoever made it will ring again.”

“But who could it be?” asked Neb.

“Perhaps,” replied Pencroff, “it’s the one who …”

The sailor’s sentence was cut short by a new vibration of the bell.

Cyrus Smith went toward the apparatus and, turning on the current, sent this request to the corral:

“What do you wish?”

A few moments later the needle moved across the alphabetical dial and gave this response to the occupants of Granite House:

“Come to the corral with all possible speed.”

“At last!” exclaimed Cyrus Smith.

Yes! At last! The mystery was about to be revealed! This consuming curiosity, which would take the colonists toward the corral, made all their fatigue and need for sleep instantly disappear. Without saying a word, they left Granite House and, in a few moments, they found themselves on the beach. Only Top and Jup remained behind. They could do without them.

The night was dark. The moon, new that very day, had disappeared at the same time as the sun. As Harbert had noted, large storm clouds formed a low heavy canopy which hid the light from the stars. A few lightning flashes from a distant storm lit up the horizon.

It was possible that, a few hours later, the lightning would strike the island itself. It was a threatening night.

But the darkness, as deep as it was, could not hinder these men who were familiar with the route to the corral. They ascended the left bank of the Mercy, reached the plateau, passed the bridge over Glycerin Creek, and advanced through the forest.

They moved rapidly, impelled by strong emotions. They had no doubt that they were going to discover the long-sought answer to the 
 enigma: the name of the mysterious being who had been so deeply intertwined in their lives, so generous in his influence, so powerful in his deeds! Was it not a fact that the stranger had become involved with their lives, that he knew the smallest details about them, that he had listened to everything that was said at Granite House in order to intervene in the nick of time?

Each one, lost in his own thoughts, pressed on. Under the cover of the trees, it was so dark they could not even see the edge of the road. There was no sound from the forest. Quadrupeds and birds, affected by the heaviness of the atmosphere, were still and silent. No wind ruffled the leaves. Only the colonists’ footsteps sounded in the darkness on the hard ground.

During the first quarter hour of their trip, the silence was interrupted only by this observation from Pencroff.

“We should have brought a lantern.”

And by this response from the engineer:

“We’ll find one at the corral.”

Cyrus Smith and his companions had left Granite House at twelve minutes after nine o’clock. At forty seven minutes after nine, they had traveled three of the five miles which separated the mouth of the Mercy from the corral.

At this time, great flashes of lightning erupted in the sky over the island, illuminating the black border of the foliage. These intense bursts were dazzling and blinding. Obviously, the storm would not be long in loosing its fury upon them. Gradually, the flashes of lightning became more frequent and brighter. There were distant rumblings in the depths of the sky. The air was stifling.

The colonists pushed forward as if driven by some irresistible force.

At a quarter past ten, a bright flash of lightning showed them the stockade wall, and they had scarcely passed the door when a clap of thunder boomed forth with formidable violence.

The corral was crossed in an instant, and Cyrus Smith found himself in front of the house.

It was possible that it was occupied by the stranger since it was from the house itself that the telegram must have been sent. Nevertheless, no light appeared in the window.

The engineer knocked on the door.

There was no response.


 Cyrus Smith opened the door, and the colonists entered the very dark room.

Neb struck a light, and an instant later a lantern was lit and directed into every corner of the room…

No one was there. Things were exactly as they had left them.

“Have we been the victims of an illusion?” murmured Cyrus Smith.

No! It was not possible! The telegram had clearly said:

“Come to the corral with all possible speed.”

They approached the table where the telegraph sat. Everything was in place, the battery and the box which housed it, as well as the receiver and the transmitter.

“Who was here last?” asked the engineer.

“I was, Mr. Smith,” replied Ayrton.

“And that was? …”

“Four days ago.”

“Ah! a message!” shouted Harbert, pointing to a sheet of paper on the table.

On this sheet were written these words in English:

“Follow the new wire.”

“Forward!” shouted Cyrus Smith, who understood that the dispatch had not been sent from the corral but rather from the mysterious retreat, using a supplementary wire attached to the old wire that communicated directly with Granite House.

Neb took the lighted lantern, and they all left the corral.

The storm was approaching with extreme fury. The interval which separated each flash of lightning and each clap of thunder rapidly diminished. Before long, the gale would encompass Mount Franklin and the entire island. During the intermittent flashes, they could see the summit of the volcano with its plume of smoke.

There were no telegraph poles in any part of the corral which separated the house from the stockade wall. But, upon leaving the house, the engineer, going straight to the nearest post, saw by the light of a flash that a new wire went from the insulator to the ground.

“There it is!” he said.

This wire was stretched out on the ground, and, along its entire length, it was surrounded with an insulating material as is done with submarine cables to assure the unobstructed transmission of the current. 
 From its direction, it seemed to be going across the woods and the southern foothills of the mountain, running toward the west.

“Let’s follow it!” said Cyrus Smith.

And by the glow from the lantern and the flashes of lightning, the colonists rushed along the route traced out by the wire.

The thunder was then continuous, and its roar was such that no word could be heard. But there was no need to speak; they used all their strength to continue moving forward.

Cyrus Smith and those with him first went to the foothill which rose up between the valley of the corral and that of Falls River, which they crossed in its narrowest part. The wire, sometimes spread out on the lower tree branches, sometimes lying on the ground, guided them without fail.

The engineer had supposed that the wire would perhaps end at the bottom of the valley and that the unknown retreat would be there.

But not so. They had to reclimb the southwest foothill and descend onto the arid plateau which ended at the wall of basalt rocks so strangely piled up. From time to time, one or another of the colonists stooped down to feel for the wire with his hand and, if need be, to correct their direction. But there was no longer any doubt that this wire was running directly to the sea. There, doubtless, in the depths of these igneous rocks, was the hollowed out dwelling which they had, until then, searched for in vain.

The sky was on fire, with one flash of lightning after another. Some struck the top of the volcano, crashing into the crater amidst the thick fumes. At times, it was as if the mountaintop was spewing out flames.

A few minutes before eleven o’clock, the colonists arrived at the high bluff which overlooked the ocean to the west. The wind had risen, and the surf roared 500 feet below.

Cyrus Smith estimated that his companions and he had traveled a mile and a half from the corral.

At this point, the wire went in among the rocks, following the steep slope of a narrow and irregularly-shaped ravine.

The colonists ventured in, risking a landslide from the poorly balanced rocks and being dashed into the sea. The descent was extremely perilous, but they were not concerned with the danger. They were no longer masters of themselves, and an irresistible attraction drew them toward this mysterious point, like a magnet attracts iron.


 Almost unconsciously, they descended this ravine which, even in full daylight, would have been very nearly impassable. The stones rolled and glistened like fiery balls as they crossed through the gleams of light. Cyrus Smith was at the head. Ayrton was at the rear. On they went, step by step, sometimes slipping on a smooth rock, then getting up and continuing on their way.

Finally the wire, turning a sharp corner, reached the rocks on shore, a veritable seedbed of broken reefs, battered by the high tides. The colonists had arrived at the lower limit of the basaltic wall.

There, they found a narrow shelf which ran parallel to the sea. The wire led along it, and the colonists followed. They had not gone a hundred feet when the shelf, sloping down, reached the very level of the waves.

The engineer seized the wire, and he saw that it ran into the sea.

His companions, stopping near him, were stupefied.

A cry of disappointment, nearly a cry of desperation, escaped from them! Must they then throw themselves under the waves to find some submarine cavern there? In the agitated moral and physical state that they were in, they would not have hesitated to do so!

A thought from the engineer stopped them.

Cyrus Smith led his companions to one of the hollows among the rocks:

“Let’s wait,” he said. “The tide’s high. At low tide, the pathway will open up.”

“But what makes you think? …” asked Pencroff.

“He would not have called for us if there were no means for getting to him!”

Cyrus Smith spoke with such conviction that no objection was raised and, moreover, his observation made sense. They had to admit to the possibility that an opening, passable at low tide but covered by the waves at the moment, might indeed exist at the foot of the wall.

There were a few hours to wait. The colonists remained crouched and silent under a sort of deep porch cut into the rock. The rain then began to fall which soon became torrents condensed from the clouds and wrenched loose by the thunderbolts. The echoes repeated the roar of the thunder in sonorous reverberations.

The emotions of the colonists were extreme. A thousand strange and supernatural thoughts crossed their minds, and they could only imagine some grand and superhuman apparition which corresponded to the image that they had formed of the mysterious genie of the island.
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 The echoes of the thunder.





 At midnight Cyrus Smith, carrying the lantern, descended to beach level in order to observe the rocks. It was already two hours into low tide.

The engineer had not been mistaken. The arch of a vast excavation began to appear above the water. The wire, bending at a right angle, went into this gaping mouth.

Cyrus Smith returned to his companions and said simply:

“In an hour the opening will be accessible.”

“It exists then?” asked Pencroff.

“Did you doubt it?” replied Cyrus Smith.

“But this cavern will be partially filled with water,” noted Harbert.

“Either the cavern will be completely dry,” answered Cyrus Smith, “and in that case we’ll proceed on foot; or it won’t be dry, and some means of transportation will be provided to us.”

An hour passed. Everyone descended in the rain to the level of the sea. In three hours, the sea had dropped fifteen feet. The top of the arch was now at least eight feet high. It was like the arch of a bridge beneath which the foamy water flowed.

Leaning over, the engineer saw a black object floating on the surface of the sea. He drew it toward him.

It was a rowboat, moored by a rope to some interior projection of the wall. The boat was made of riveted sheet iron. The oars were lying in its bottom, under the seats.

“Let’s get aboard,” said Cyrus Smith.

A moment later, the colonists were in the boat. Neb and Ayrton took the oars, with Pencroff at the rudder. Cyrus Smith was at the bow with the lantern, lighting the way.

The ceiling of the arch, very low when the boat first passed under it, then rose sharply. But darkness surrounded them, and the light from the lantern was insufficient for them to recognize the extent of this cavern, its length, its height, or its depth. In the midst of this basaltic substructure, there reigned an imposing silence. No sound from the outside could penetrate here, and the flashes of lightning could not pierce its thick walls.

These immense caverns exist in several parts of the world. They are natural crypts which date from geological times. Some are invaded by the waters of the sea; others contain entire lakes within their walls. Such is Fingal’s Cave on the island of Staffa, one of the Hebrides; such are the caves of Morgat, on the bay of Douarnenez in Brittany; the caves of Bonifacio in Corsica; those of Lyse-Fjord in Norway; and such is the immense cavern of Mammoth in Kentucky, 500 feet high and more than 20 miles long. At several points of the globe, nature has hollowed out these crypts and preserved them for the admiration of man.
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 Smith stood at the bow.





 Did this cavern extend to the very center of the island? For a quarter of an hour the boat advanced, making such detours as the engineer briefly indicated to Pencroff.

“More to the right,” he commanded.

The boat, changing its direction, soon approached the right wall. The engineer wanted to determine if the wire was still running along the wall.

The wire was there, fastened to the outcroppings of rock.

“Forward!” said Cyrus Smith.

The two oars plunged into the dark waters, propelling the boat ahead.

The boat advanced for another quarter of an hour, and they must have crossed a distance of half a mile from the cavern’s opening when Cyrus Smith’s voice was heard anew.

“Stop!” he said.

The boat stopped, and the colonists saw a vivid light which illuminated this enormous crypt hollowed out deep in the bowels of the island.

It was then possible to examine this cavern whose existence they had never suspected.

An immense vault rose to the height of a hundred feet, supported by basalt columns which seemed to have been cast from the same mold. Irregular arches and ogival ribs sprung from thousands of columns which Nature had erected during the first eras of the earth’s formation. These basaltic pillars, crowded close to one another, measured forty to fifty feet in height, and the water, calm in spite of tumult outside, quietly lapped at their base. The bright light seemed to infuse each prismatic outcropping of rock with fire, penetrating the walls as if they were transparent, and changing the smallest projections into brilliant gemstones.

The water reflected these various patterns of light on its surface, and the boat seemed to float between two zones of sparkling radiance.


 There was no doubt about the nature of the light emanating from this central source whose straight, clear rays illuminated all corners and angles of the crypt. This light came from electricity, and its white color betrayed its origin. It was the sun of this cavern, and filled it entirely.

On a sign from Cyrus Smith, the oars were plunged again into the water, producing a veritable shower of jewels, and the boat slowly glided toward the source of luminous energy. Soon, they were less than half a cable-length from it.

At this point, the sheet of water measured about 350 feet across. They could see, beyond the brilliance, an enormous basaltic wall which blocked any exit from that side. Here, the cavern widened considerably, and the sea formed a small lake. But the vault above, the lateral walls, the rising cliff beyond, all these prisms, cylinders, and cones were bathed in an electrical fluid and glowed with a radiance that seemed to emanate from them. Like the facets of expensive diamonds, they seemed to ooze with light.

At the center of the lake, a long fusiform object floated on the surface of the water, silent and still. The light escaped from its sides like two openings from a blast furnace that has been heated to a white heat. This object, which looked like the body of an enormous whale, was about 250 feet long and rose from ten to twelve feet above the level of the sea.

The boat approached it slowly. In the bow stood Cyrus Smith who examined it with growing excitement. Then he suddenly seized the reporter’s arms.

“But it is he! It can only be he!” he exclaimed. “He! …”

Then he fell back onto his seat, murmuring a name that only Gideon Spilett heard.

Doubtless the reporter recognized this name because it had a powerful effect on him, and he answered in a muted voice:

“He! An outlawed man!”

“He!” said Cyrus Smith.

On the engineer’s order, the boat approached this strange floating apparatus. The boat came alongside the left quarter from which a beam of light escaped through a thick glass.

Cyrus Smith and his companions climbed onto the deck. An open hatchway was there, and they all hurried down into it.

At the base of the ladder, there was an interior gangway lighted by electricity. At the end of this gangway Cyrus Smith pushed open a door.
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 A long fusiform object floated on the surface.





 The colonists entered a richly ornamented room which led into a library with a ceiling that poured out a torrent of light.

At the rear of the library there was a large door, also closed. The engineer opened it.

Before the colonists’ eyes a vast salon suddenly appeared—a kind of museum crowded with all the mineral treasures of nature, works of art, and the marvels of industry—and they almost believed that they had been magically
1

 transported into a dream world.

They saw a man lying on a rich sofa who did not seem to be aware of their presence.

Then Cyrus Smith spoke, and to the extreme surprise of his companions, he pronounced these words:

“Captain Nemo,
2

 you have summoned us. We are here.”



CHAPTER XVI





A

 t these words, the reclining man raised himself up, and his face appeared in the full light: a magnificent head, high forehead, fiery eyes, white beard, and long hair flowing to his shoulders.

This man steadied himself with his hand on the back of the sofa from which he had just risen. He appeared perfectly calm. One could see that some lingering illness had weakened him, but his voice still seemed strong when he said in English and in a surprised tone:

“I have no name, sir!”

“I know you,” answered Cyrus Smith.

Captain Nemo gave the engineer a searing look as if he had wished to annihilate him.

Then he fell back onto the cushions of the sofa.

“After all, it doesn’t matter,” he murmured. “I will soon be dead!”

Cyrus Smith approached Captain Nemo, and Gideon Spilett took his hand which he found to be burning. Ayrton, Pencroff, Harbert, and Neb respectfully stood to one side in a corner of this magnificent salon whose air was flooded with electrical light.
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 “Captain Nemo, we are here.”





 Captain Nemo immediately withdrew his hand, and he motioned the engineer and the reporter to be seated.

Everyone looked at him with profound emotion. Here was the person they called the “genie of the island,” the powerful being whose intervention in so many circumstances had been so effective, this benefactor to whom they were so much indebted! Before their eyes, they beheld only a man, where Pencroff and Neb thought they would find almost a god, and this man was near death.

But how was it that Cyrus Smith knew Captain Nemo? Why had the latter stood up so abruptly upon hearing this name which he believed known to no one? …

The captain resumed his place on the sofa and, leaning on its arm, he looked at the engineer seated next to him.

“You know the name which I carried, sir?” he asked.

“I know it,” replied Cyrus Smith, “just as I know the name of this admirable submarine apparatus.”
1



“The Nautilus
 ?” said the captain, half smiling.

“The Nautilus.
 ”

“But do you know … do you know who I am?”
2



“I do.”

“Nevertheless it’s been thirty years since I’ve had any communication with the inhabited world, thirty years during which I have lived in the depths of the sea, the only place where I have found independence! Who then could have betrayed my secret?”

“A man who never pledged loyalty to you, Captain Nemo, and who consequently cannot be accused of treason.”

“The Frenchman who was cast by chance on board my vessel sixteen years ago?”

“The same.”

“Then this man and his companions didn’t perish in the maelstrom in which the Nautilus was trapped?”

“They didn’t perish, and a book appeared under the title of Twenty Thousand Leagues Under the Seas
 which contains your story.”
3



“The story of a few months only, sir!” the captain quickly replied.

“That’s true,” agreed Cyrus Smith, “but several months of this strange life have sufficed to make you known …”

“As a great criminal, no doubt?” answered Captain Nemo, with a disdainful smile. “Yes, a rebel, perhaps outlawed by humanity!”

The engineer did not reply.
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 “Wait until you’ve heard me,” he said.




“Well, sir?”

“It is not for me to pass judgment on Captain Nemo,” continued Cyrus Smith, “at least as it concerns his past life. I’m ignorant, as is the entire world, of what motivated this strange existence, and I can’t judge the effects without knowing the causes. But this much I know, 
 that a helping hand has always been extended to us since our arrival on Lincoln Island. We all owe our lives to a good, generous, and powerful being, and this powerful, generous, good being is you, Captain Nemo!”

The captain simply replied, “It is I.”

The engineer and the reporter got up. Their companions had drawn near, and the gratitude which overflowed from their hearts was about to be expressed by gestures, by words…

But Captain Nemo stopped them with a motion of his hand. And, with a voice doubtless more emotional than he had intended:

“Wait until you’ve heard me,” he said.*


And the captain, in a few concise sentences, made his entire life known to them.

His story was brief, yet he had to concentrate all his remaining energy to finish it. It was obvious that he was struggling against extreme weakness. Several times Cyrus Smith urged him to rest, but he shook his head like a man who has no tomorrow. And when the reporter offered him some medical assistance:

“It’s useless,” he said, “my hours are numbered.”

Captain Nemo was an Indian, Prince Dakkar, son of a rajah of the then-independent territory of Bundelkhand
5

 and nephew of the Indian hero, Tippo Saïb.
6

 His father sent him to Europe when he was ten years old so that he could receive a complete education, but with the secret intention that he might fight on equal terms one day against those whom he considered to be the oppressors of his country.

From the age of ten to thirty, Prince Dakkar, a gifted student of noble heart and strong spirit, instructed himself in all things, and in the sciences, letters, and the arts, his studies were both profound and far-reaching.

Prince Dakkar traveled throughout Europe. His noble birth and his fortune made his company much sought after, but the temptations of the world never had any attraction for him. Young and handsome, 
 he remained serious, gloomy, ravenous in his thirst for knowledge, and with an implacable anger fixed in his heart.

Prince Dakkar hated. He hated the only country where he never wished to set foot, the only nation whose overtures he constantly refused: he hated England, and all the more so because, in some ways, he admired her.

This Indian man summed up in his own person all the fierce hatred of the vanquished against their conquerors. The invader could expect no sympathy from the invaded. The son of one of those sovereigns from whom the United Kingdom could force only nominal obedience, this prince from the family of Tippo Saïb, raised on the ideas of vindication and vengeance and having a powerful love for his idyllic country now burdened by British chains, never wanted to set foot on this cursed land to which India owed its enslavement.

Prince Dakkar became an artist with a noble appreciation of the marvels of art, a scientist who was no stranger to the most advanced sciences, a statesman trained in the many courts of Europe. To those who observed him superficially, he perhaps seemed like one of those cosmopolitans, curious about knowledge but disdaining its use, one of those opulent travelers with a fiery and platonic spirit who move about the world incessantly but who call no country home.

This was not the case. This artist, this scientist, this man had remained Indian to the heart, Indian by his desire for vengeance, Indian by his hope of one day reclaiming the rights of his country by driving out the foreigner and restoring its independence.

Consequently, Prince Dakkar returned to Bundelkhand in the year 1849. He married a noble Indian woman whose heart bled as his did at her country’s misfortunes. He had two children whom he cherished. But his domestic happiness could not make him forget India’s enslavement. He waited for an opportunity. It soon came.

The British yoke had weighed perhaps too heavily on the Hindu population. Prince Dakkar became the spokesman for the malcontents. He instilled in them all the hatred that he felt for the foreigners. He traveled not only to the still independent areas on the Indian Peninsula but also to those regions directly subject to British administration. He recalled the great days of Tippo Saïb who had died heroically at Seringapatam in the defense of his country.

In 1857, the great Sepoy revolt broke out. Prince Dakkar was its 
 soul. He organized the immense uprising, and he devoted both his talents and his wealth to this cause. He sacrificed himself. He fought in the front lines; he risked his life like the humblest of those heroes who had risen up to free their country; he was wounded ten times in twenty encounters but could not find death when the last soldiers of the fight for independence fell under British bullets.

Never had British rule in India been in such danger. If the Sepoys had received the outside help which they hoped for, the United Kingdom’s influence over and domination of Asia would have perhaps ended.

The name of Prince Dakkar was then illustrious. The heroes who supported him did not hide but fought openly. A price was put on his head, and, although he was not betrayed by any traitor in his midst, his father, mother, wife and children paid the ultimate price before he realized the danger he had put them in.

This time again, might made right. But civilization never goes backward, and her laws are made from necessity. The Sepoys were vanquished, and the land of the ancient rajahs again fell under the even harsher domination of England.

Prince Dakkar, who could not find death, returned to the mountains of Bundelkhand. There, henceforth alone, he was filled with disgust against all who carried the name of man; he felt a hatred and a horror of the civilized world and wanted to flee from it forever. He collected the remains of his fortune, gathered together twenty of his most trustworthy companions, and one day disappeared.

Where then had Prince Dakkar gone to find this independence which the inhabited world refused him? Under the water, in the depths of the sea, where none could follow him.

The man of war became the scientist. On a deserted island in the Pacific, he built a shipyard and there a submarine vessel was constructed based on his plans. By means which will one day be known, he used the incomparable force of electricity, which he drew from inexhaustible sources, for all the necessities of his vessel, for movement, lighting, and heating. The sea, with its infinite treasures, its myriads of fish, its harvest of seaweed and sargassum, its enormous mammals, and not only everything put there by Nature but also everything that mankind had lost there, would amply fulfill the needs of the prince and his crew. And thus he accomplished his heart’s desire, no longer 
 wishing to have any communication with the earth. He named his submarine ship the Nautilus,
 he called himself Captain Nemo, and he disappeared beneath the seas.

For many years, the captain visited all the oceans from one pole to the other. An outcast from the inhabited world, he gathered up admirable treasures from the unknown world. The millions lost in Vigo Bay in 1702 by the Spanish galleons furnished him with an inexhaustible mine of riches which he always gave, anonymously, to those people who fought for the independence of their country.*


He had been, for a long time, out of contact with his fellow beings when, during the night of the 6th of November 1866, three men were thrown upon his deck. They were a French professor, his servant, and a Canadian fisherman. These three men had been cast into the sea during a collision between the Nautilus
 and the United States frigate, the Abraham Lincoln,
 which had been pursuing it.

Captain Nemo learned from the professor that the Nautilus,
 sometimes mistaken for a giant mammal of the cetacean family, sometimes for a submarine apparatus containing a crew of pirates, was being hunted in every sea.

Captain Nemo could have thrown back into the ocean these three men that chance had thrust into the path of his mysterious existence. But, instead, he kept them as prisoners and, for seven months, they were able to contemplate all the marvels of a voyage which covered twenty thousand leagues under the seas.

One day, June 22nd, 1867, these three men, who knew nothing of Captain Nemo’s past, seized the Nautilus
 ’s dinghy and escaped. But since, at that moment, the Nautilus
 was trapped in a whirling maelstrom off the Norwegian coast, the captain assumed that the fugitives had drowned in the frightful vortex, finding death at the bottom of the whirlpool. He was unaware that the Frenchman and his two companions had been miraculously thrown upon the coast, that fishermen from the Lofoten Islands had saved them, and that the professor, on his return to France, had published a book in which this strange and adventurous seven-month journey aboard the Nautilus
 was narrated and offered to a curious public.

Captain Nemo still continued to live this way, cruising beneath 
 the seas, for many years. But, one after another, his companions died and went to their rest in their coral cemetery at the bottom of the Pacific. The Nautilus
 became empty, and finally Captain Nemo alone remained of all those who had taken refuge with him in the depths of the ocean.

Captain Nemo was then sixty years old. Alone, he managed to bring his Nautilus
 to one of the submarine ports which served him in former days as a safe harbor. One such port was hollowed out under Lincoln Island, and this one now provided refuge for the Nautilus.


For six years the captain remained there, no longer navigating, awaiting death and the moment when he would be reunited with his companions. Then, by chance, he witnessed the fall of the balloon carrying the prisoners of the Confederates. Wearing his diving suit, he was walking under the water a few cable-lengths from shore when the engineer was thrown into the sea. Moved by a sudden feeling of compassion, the captain saved Cyrus Smith’s life.

At first he wanted to run from these five castaways, but his port of refuge was closed: as a consequence of the volcanic action, the cavern’s basalt rock had moved, and he could no longer pass through the entrance to the crypt. There was still enough water for a small boat to pass, but no longer enough for the Nautilus
 which was a vessel of considerable draught.

Captain Nemo therefore remained to observe these men, cast without resources on a deserted island, but he did not wish to be seen. Little by little, as he discovered their honesty, energy, and their fraternal devotion to one another, he became interested in their efforts. In spite of himself, he learned all the secrets of their existence. By means of the diving suit it was easy for him to reach the bottom of the inside well of Granite House and climb up to the upper opening, using the projections in the rock. He overheard the colonists relating their past and discussing the present and the future. From them he learned of the immense effort to abolish slavery with American fighting American. Yes! These were men worthy of reconciling Captain Nemo with the humanity that they so honestly represented on the island.

Captain Nemo had saved Cyrus Smith. It was also he who brought the dog to the Chimneys, who threw Top out of the waters of the lake, who left at Flotsam Point this chest which contained so many things useful to the colonists, who put the canoe back into the Mercy’s current, who threw down the cord from the top of Granite House when 
 the apes attacked it, who made Ayrton’s presence on Tabor Island known by means of the document contained in the bottle, who capsized the brig with the explosion of a torpedo placed at the bottom of the channel, who saved Harbert from certain death by bringing the sulphate of quinine, and finally who killed the convicts with these secret electrical bullets which he used for submarine hunting.
7

 This then explained these many incidents which seemed supernatural, and all attested to the generosity and power of the captain.

However, the noble misanthrope still yearned to do good. There remained some useful information for him to impart to his proteges and, with death approaching, he yielded to the dictates of his heart and summoned the colonists of Granite House by means of the wire linking the corral to the Nautilus
 which was itself equipped with a telegraphic apparatus. Perhaps he would not have done so if he had known that Cyrus Smith knew enough of his history to address him by the name of Nemo.

The captain ended the story of his life. Cyrus Smith then spoke; he recalled all the incidents which had exerted such beneficial influences on the colony and, on behalf of his companions as well as himself, he thanked the generous being to whom they owed so much.

But Captain Nemo had no thought of putting a price on the services which he had rendered. One last thought was on his mind and, before shaking the hand that the engineer offered him:

“Now, sir,” he said, “now that you know my life, what is your judgment?”

In so speaking, the captain evidently alluded to a tragic incident which had been witnessed by the three strangers on board—an incident which the French professor had necessarily related in his book and which no doubt had caused a terrible sensation.

In fact, a few days before the professor and his two companions escaped, the Nautilus,
 pursued by a frigate in the North Atlantic, had rushed upon her like a battering ram and sunk her without mercy.

Cyrus Smith understood the allusion and remained silent.

“It was a British frigate, sir,” Captain Nemo exclaimed, becoming again Prince Dakkar for a moment, “a British frigate, do you hear me? It attacked me! I was restricted to a narrow shallow bay … I had to pass, and … I passed.”

Then, in a calmer voice:

“I had justice and right on my side,” he added. “I always did good 
 when I could, and did evil when I had to. All justice is not in forgiveness.”

A few moments of silence followed this response and Captain Nemo again asked:

“What do you think of me, gentlemen?”

Cyrus Smith held out his hand to the captain and, as requested, he replied in a solemn voice:

“Captain, your error was in believing that you could bring back the past, and you have fought against progress, which is ineluctable. It was one of those errors that some admire and others blame, but which God alone can judge and which human reason must forgive. We may fight against someone who makes a mistake for a cause he believes to be just, but we do not cease to esteem him. Your error is not one that excludes such admiration, and your name has nothing to fear from the judgment of history. History loves heroic madness, while condemning the consequences that result from it.”

Captain Nemo’s chest heaved and he pointed to heaven.

“Was I wrong, was I right?” he murmured.

Cyrus Smith replied:

“All great deeds return to God from whence they came! The honest men here, those whom you have saved, shall always mourn you, Captain Nemo!”

Harbert drew near to the captain. Kneeling down, he took his hand and kissed it.

A tear glistened from the eyes of the dying man.

“My child,” he said, “bless you! …”


*
 For example, the uprising of the Candiots whom Captain Nemo indeed aided under these conditions.


*
 Captain Nemo’s story has in fact been published under the title of Twenty Thousand Leagues Under the Seas.
 The same observation applies here that was made on the subject of Ayrton’s adventures concerning the discrepancy of several dates. Readers may wish to refer to the note already published on this matter. (Editor’s note)
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CHAPTER XVII





D

 ay returned. No rays of light penetrated into this deep crypt. High tide obstructed the entrance at the moment. But the artificial light which escaped in a long beam over the sides of the Nautilus
 had not diminished, and the sheet of water around the floating vessel was still aglow.

An extreme fatigue then overcame Captain Nemo and he fell back onto the sofa. There was no thought of carrying him to Granite 
 House because he had expressed his wish to remain among the Nautilus
 ’s priceless treasures, awaiting death which would not be long in coming.

During the rather long prostration which kept him nearly unconscious, Cyrus Smith and Gideon Spilett carefully observed the patient’s condition. It was obvious that the captain was slowly dying. There was no strength left in this formerly robust body, now the frail envelope of a soul about to escape. All life was concentrated in the heart and in the head.

The engineer and the reporter spoke in low tones. Was there something they could do for the dying man? Could they, if not save him, at least prolong his life for a few days? He himself had said that there was no remedy, and he quietly waited for the death he did not fear.

“Can we do nothing?” said Gideon Spilett.

“But what is he dying of?” asked Pencroff.

“Of old age,” replied the reporter.

“However,” asked the sailor, “if we carry him to the open air in full sunlight, perhaps he will revive?”

“No, Pencroff,” answered the engineer, “nothing can be done. Besides, Captain Nemo would not consent to leave his vessel. He has lived on board the Nautilus
 for thirty years, and it’s on the Nautilus
 that he wishes to die.”

Doubtless Captain Nemo heard Cyrus Smith’s reply because, rising a little and in a feeble but ever intelligent voice, he said:

“You’re right, sir. I must and I wish to die here.
1

 And therefore I have a favor to ask of you.”

Cyrus Smith and his companions drew close to the sofa and arranged the cushions to best support the dying man.

They could see that his attention was directed toward all the marvels of the salon, lighted by the electric rays which softened the arabesques of an illuminated ceiling. He looked, one after the other, at the paintings hanging from the splendid wall tapestries, these masterpieces of the Italian, Flemish, French and Spanish masters, the miniatures of marble and bronze mounted on their pedestals, the magnificent organ against the rear wall, then the glass cases arranged around a central fountain in which were blooming the most admirable products of the sea, marine plants, zoophytes and pearls of priceless value. Finally he looked at the motto inscribed on the fronton of this museum, the motto of the Nautilus:



 MOBILIS
 IN
 MOBILI
 
2



It seemed that, for one last time, he wanted to caress with his eyes these masterpieces of art and of nature to which he had limited his world for so many years in the depths of the seas.

Cyrus Smith respected Captain Nemo’s silence. He waited for the dying man to speak again.

After a few moments during which he was no doubt reflecting on his life, Captain Nemo turned toward the colonists and said to them:

“You feel, gentlemen, that you’re indebted to me? …”

“Captain, we would give our lives to prolong yours!”

“Good,” replied Captain Nemo, “good! … Promise me that you’ll carry out my last wishes, and I’ll be repaid for all that I’ve done for you.”

“We promise you that,” answered Cyrus Smith.

And with this promise, he was obligating his companions as well as himself.

“Gentlemen,” replied the captain, “tomorrow I shall die.”

With a gesture, he stopped Harbert, who wanted to protest.

“Tomorrow I shall die, and I wish to have no other tomb than the Nautilus.
 It’s my coffin. All my friends have found their rest at the bottom of the sea. I wish to rest there also.”

Captain Nemo’s words were received in deep silence.

“Hear me well, gentlemen,” he continued. “The Nautilus
 is imprisoned in this grotto whose entrance has been raised. But if it can’t leave its prison, it can at least sink into the abyss which will cover and protect my mortal remains.” The colonists listened religiously to the words of the dying man.

“Tomorrow, after my death, Mr. Smith,” continued the captain, “you and your companions, you’ll leave the Nautilus
 because all the riches it contains must disappear with me. One souvenir only will remain for you of Prince Dakkar whose history you now know. This chest … there … contains several million in diamonds, for the most part souvenirs from a time when, as father and husband, I almost believed in happiness, and it contains a collection of pearls gathered by my friends and myself from the bottom of the sea. With this treasure, you’ll be able to do good deeds one day. In the hands of people like you and your companions, Mr. Smith, this money will never be used to do evil. I shall always be associated with your good works, and I’ve no fears about that.”
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 “This chest contains several million in diamonds.”





 After resting a few moments because of his extreme weakness, the captain continued:

“Tomorrow, you’ll take this chest, leave the salon and close the door; then you’ll climb up to the deck of the Nautilus
 and push down the main hatch which you’ll fasten by means of its bolts.”

“We’ll do that, Captain,” replied Cyrus Smith.

“Good. Then you’ll get into the boat that brought you here. But, before abandoning the Nautilus,
 go to the rear and open two large valves you’ll find at the water line. The water will penetrate into the ballast reservoirs, and the Nautilus
 will slowly sink beneath the waves and come to rest at the bottom of the abyss.”

And, on a gesture from Cyrus Smith, the captain added:

“Have no fear! You’ll only be burying a dead man!”

Neither Cyrus Smith nor any of his companions felt obliged to say a word. Captain Nemo had made his last wishes known, and they would carry them out.

“I have your promise, gentlemen?” asked Captain Nemo.

“You have it, Captain,” replied the engineer.

The captain made a sign of thanks and asked the colonists to leave him alone for a few hours. Gideon Spilett wished to remain by his side in case of emergency, but the dying man refused, saying:

“I shall live until tomorrow, sir.”

Everyone left the salon, crossed the library and the dining room, and went forward to the engine room where the electrical motors which furnished the mechanical force for the Nautilus
 as well as its heat and light were located.

The Nautilus
 was truly a masterpiece containing masterpieces, and the engineer was amazed.

The colonists climbed to the deck which was seven or eight feet above the water. There, they sat down near a thick double convex lens which sealed a sort of large eye, from which streamed a beam of light. Behind this eye was a cabin housing the wheel of the helm where the helmsman steered the Nautilus
 through the waters, with the electric rays lighting the way ahead for a considerable distance.

Cyrus Smith and his companions remained silent for a time because they were deeply impressed with all they had seen and heard. Their hearts ached when they thought of the man who had helped them so many times, this protector whom they had barely known for a few hours and who was now on the eve of his death.


 What judgement would be pronounced by posterity on the acts of this person’s life who was almost super-human? Prince Dakkar would always remain one of those extraordinary individuals who could not be forgotten.

“What a man!” said Pencroff. “It’s incredible to think that he really lived at the bottom of the ocean! And to think that he possibly didn’t find any more peace there than elsewhere!”

“The Nautilus,
 ” Ayrton then noted, “would’ve perhaps enabled us to leave Lincoln Island and reach some inhabited land.”

“Heaven forbid!” exclaimed Pencroff, “I for one would never take the risk of piloting such a boat! To sail on the seas, good! but under the seas, no!”

“I think,” replied the reporter, “that it would be very easy to maneuver a submarine such as the Nautilus,
 Pencroff, and that you would soon get used to it. No storms or collisions to fear. A few feet below the surface of the ocean, the water is as calm as a lake.”

“Possibly,” retorted the sailor, “but I much prefer a good wind aboard a well rigged vessel. A boat is made to sail on the seas, not under it!”

“My friends,” observed the engineer, “it’s pointless, at least as it concerns the Nautilus,
 to discuss this question of submarine vessels. The Nautilus
 isn’t ours and we have no right to use it. Besides, it could not help us in any case. It can’t leave this cavern now blocked by the basaltic rocks. Captain Nemo wants it to sink with him after his death. His desires on this matter are clear, and we will follow them.”

Cyrus Smith and his companions conversed a while longer, then descended once more inside the Nautilus.
 There, they took some nourishment and again entered the salon.

Captain Nemo had somewhat recovered from his prostration, and his eyes had regained their brilliance. They saw something of a smile on his lips.

The colonists drew near to him.

“Gentlemen,” the captain said to them, “you’re courageous men, honest and good. You have all devoted yourselves, without reservation, to your common cause. I’ve often observed you. I’ve been very fond of you, I’m fond of you still! … Your hand, Mr. Smith!”

Cyrus Smith offered his hand to the captain who clasped it warmly.

“That’s good!” he murmured.

Then, continuing:


 “But enough about me! I must speak about you and about Lincoln Island on which you have found refuge … You count on leaving it?”

“And to come back to it, captain,” Pencroff immediately replied.

“To come back to it? … Indeed, Pencroff,” observed the captain, smiling, “I know how much you love this island. It’s been changed by your cares, and it truly belongs to you.”

“Our plan, captain,” Cyrus Smith then said, “would be to turn it over to the United States and to establish a port of call here for our navy, which fortunately is situated in this part of the Pacific.”

“Your thoughts are of your country, gentlemen,” replied the captain. “You work for her prosperity, for her glory. You’re right. One’s homeland! … It’s there that one must return! It’s there that one should die! And I, I am dying far from all that I’ve loved!”

“Do you have some last wish to convey,” asked the engineer earnestly, “some souvenir to give to friends that you may have left in the mountains of India?”

“No, Mr. Smith. I no longer have friends! I am the last of my race … and I die long after all those I have known. But to return to you. Solitude and isolation are sad things, beyond human endurance … I die for having believed that one could live alone! … You must then do everything to leave Lincoln Island and see your native land again. I know that those wretches destroyed the boat that you had made …”

“We’re building a ship,” said Gideon Spilett, “a vessel large enough to take us to the nearest lands. But if sooner or later we manage to leave, we’ll soon return to Lincoln Island. We are bound to her by too many memories to ever forget her!”

“It’s here that we’ve known Captain Nemo,” said Cyrus Smith.

“It’s here that we’ll find your memory intact!” added Harbert.

“And it’s here that I’ll rest in eternal sleep if …” replied the captain.

He hesitated and, instead of finishing his sentence, he simply said:

“Mr. Smith, I wish to speak to you … to you alone!”

The engineer’s companions, respecting this desire of the dying man, withdrew.

Cyrus Smith remained alone with Captain Nemo for a few minutes, and he then called his friends back. But he said nothing to them of the secret things which the dying man had confided in him.

Gideon Spilett then observed the patient carefully. It was evident that the captain was living on the strength of his will alone, which could not long hold out against his physical weakness.


 The day ended without change. The colonists did not leave the Nautilus
 for an instant. Night came on, although it was impossible to tell in this crypt.

Captain Nemo did not suffer but was weakening. His noble figure, pale at the approach of death, was calm. At times nearly imperceptible words escaped his lips, recalling various incidents of his strange existence. They could feel the life leaving his body little by little. His extremities were already cold.

He still spoke once or twice to the colonists gathered near him, and he smiled at them with the last smile that lingers after death.

Finally, a little after midnight, Captain Nemo, in a supreme effort, managed to cross his arms on his chest, as if he wished to die in this position.

At about one o’clock in the morning, all life was concentrated only in his eyes. One last spark burned in these pupils which had formerly flashed fire. Then, murmuring these words: “God and country!” he quietly expired.

Cyrus Smith then leaned over and closed the eyes of he who had been Prince Dakkar and who was no longer Captain Nemo.

Harbert and Pencroff sobbed. Ayrton furtively wiped away a tear. Neb was on his knees near the reporter, transformed into a statue.

Cyrus Smith, raising his hand above the dead man’s head:

“May God receive his soul!” he said, and turning again to his friends, he added:

“Let’s pray for him whom we’ve lost!”

A few hours later, the colonists fulfilled the promise made to the captain and carried out the last wishes of the dying man.

Cyrus Smith and his companions left the Nautilus
 taking the only souvenir which their benefactor had bequeathed to them, this coffer which enclosed a hundred fortunes.

The marvelous salon, always flooded with light, was carefully closed. The iron cover of the hatchway was then bolted down so that not a drop of water could penetrate into the inner chambers of the Nautilus.


Then the colonists descended to the boat which was moored to the side of the submarine.

The boat was oared toward the stern. There, at the water line, were two large valves which led to the ballast reservoirs designed to control the immersion of the submarine.
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 “May God receive his soul!”
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 The
 Nautilus slowly sank.





 These valves were opened, the ballast reservoirs filled, and the Nautilus,
 sinking slowly, disappeared beneath the surface of the water.

For a time, the colonists could still follow her course through the depths. Its powerful beam lit up the transparent water as the crypt itself began to darken. But this vast stream of electric radiance finally died out, and the Nautilus,
 which had become the coffin of Captain Nemo, soon rested at the bottom of the sea.



CHAPTER XVIII





A

 t the break of day, the colonists silently reached the entrance of the cavern to which they gave the name “Dakkar Crypt,” in memory of Captain Nemo. The tide was then low, and they easily passed under the arch as the waves beat against the basaltic pier.

The iron-plated boat would remain there, sheltered from the waves. As an added precaution, Pencroff, Neb, and Ayrton hauled it onto a small beach bordering one of the sides of the crypt where it would be in no danger.

The storm had abated during the night. The last rumblings of thunder faded away in the west. It was no longer raining, but the sky was still cloudy. On the whole, this month of October, the start of the southern spring, was not beginning pleasantly. The wind had a tendency to skip from one point of the compass to another, which did not permit them to count on fine weather.

On leaving Dakkar Crypt, Cyrus Smith and his companions followed the corral road. Along the way, Neb and Harbert took care to pull up the wire which the captain had extended between the corral and the crypt, which they could use later.

While walking, the colonists spoke little. The various incidents of the night of the 15th of October had made a profound impression on them. This stranger, Captain Nemo, whose influence had protected them so well, this man whom their imagination made into a genie, was no more. His Nautilus
 and he were buried at the bottom of an abyss. It seemed to everyone that they were more isolated than ever. They had grown accustomed to counting on his powerful intervention which they missed today, and Gideon Spilett and even Cyrus 
 Smith could not escape this feeling. They all remained in deep silence while following the corral road.

At about nine o’clock in the morning the colonists arrived at Granite House.

It had been agreed that the construction of the vessel would be pushed forward as rapidly as possible, and Cyrus Smith gave it his time and attention more than ever. They did not know what the future held in store for them. Having a sturdy boat, one which could take to the sea even in bad weather and which was large enough to attempt a trip of long duration if need be, would help to guarantee their safety. If, with the boat finished, the colonists decided not to leave Lincoln Island and reach either some Polynesian archipelago of the Pacific or the coast of New Zealand, they could at least go to Tabor Island as soon as possible in order to leave a message there concerning Ayrton. This was an indispensable precaution to take in the event the Scottish yacht returned to these waters. Nothing must interfere with this task.

The work was thus resumed. Cyrus Smith, Pencroff, and Ayrton, aided by Neb, Gideon Spilett, and Harbert, labored without respite whenever no other pressing task claimed them. It was necessary for the new boat to be ready in five months, at the beginning of March, if they wanted to visit Tabor Island before the seasonal wind storms would render this crossing impractical. The carpenters therefore did not lose a moment. They did not need to make the rigging because the Speedy
 ’s rigging had been completely saved. The hull of the vessel had to be finished before anything else.

The end of the year 1868 came and went in the midst of these important labors, to the exclusion of nearly all others. At the end of two and a half months, the frame had been put in place and the planking begun. They could already see that Cyrus Smith’s design was an excellent one and that the vessel would take well to the sea. Pencroff worked ravenously, and he did not hesitate to complain when one of his companions put down the carpenter’s saw for the hunter’s gun. It was best, however, to keep up the reserves of Granite House in view of the coming winter. But, regardless, the worthy sailor was not happy when there was a lack of workmen at the shipyard. On these occasions, grumbling, he vented his anger by doing the work of six men.

The weather throughout this summer season was bad. For a few 
 days, the heat was overpowering, and the air, saturated with electricity, would then discharge itself through violent storms which disturbed all levels of the atmosphere. It was rare when they did not hear thunder in the distance, a low but incessant murmur, like that which occurs in the equatorial regions of the globe.

January 1st, 1869 was ushered in by a storm of extreme violence, and lightning struck the island several times. Some large trees were hit and broken, including an enormous nettle tree which shaded the poultry yard at the southern end of the lake. Did this weather have some relation to the activity that was going on in the bowels of the earth? Did some connection exist between the disturbances in the air and the disturbances in the interior of the globe? Cyrus Smith believed this was the case because these storms were marked by a renewed outbreak of volcanic activity.

It was on January 3rd that Harbert, having climbed up to Grand View Plateau at daybreak to saddle one of the onagers, saw an enormous trail of smoke spreading out above the top of the volcano.

Harbert immediately told the colonists who came at once to look at the top of Mount Franklin.

“Ah!” exclaimed Pencroff, “it isn’t steam this time! It seems to me that the giant is no longer content to breathe; now he’s smoking!”

This image, used by the sailor, correctly identified the change that had taken place in the mouth of the volcano. For more than three months now, the crater had been emitting heavy steam and gases originating from the interior boiling of the mineral matter. This time there was a thick smoke in addition to these vapors, rising in a dark grey column more than 300 feet wide at its base and spreading out like a huge mushroom to a height of 700 or 800 feet above the top of the mountain.

“The fire is in the chimney,” said Gideon Spilett.

“And we can’t extinguish it!” replied Harbert.

“Volcanoes should be swept out periodically,” noted Neb, who seemed to speak as if he were serious.

“Very good, Neb!” joked Pencroff. “And will you be the chimney sweep for this one?”

And Pencroff laughed heartily.

Cyrus Smith carefully observed this thick smoke coming out of Mount Franklin, and even cocked his ear as if he expected to detect some distant rumbling. Then, returning to his companions, he said:


 “Indeed, my friends, it cannot be denied that an important change has occurred. The volcanic materials are no longer only in a boiling state, they’ve caught fire, and there’s no doubt that we’re threatened by an imminent eruption!”

“Well, Mr. Smith, we’ll witness this eruption,” exclaimed Pencroff, “and if it’s a good one, we’ll applaud it! I don’t think that we need concern ourselves about it!”

“No, Pencroff,” replied Cyrus Smith, “because the old lava path is still open and, thanks to its inclination, the crater has until now directed its flow to the north. And yet …”

“And yet, since there’s no benefit to be derived from an eruption, it would be better if it didn’t take place,” said the reporter.

“Who knows?” replied the sailor. “There may perhaps be in this volcano some useful and precious matter which it will so obligingly vomit out for us and which we can put to good use!”

Cyrus Smith shook his head like a man who expected nothing good from this sudden phenomenon. He did not view the consequences of an eruption as lightly as Pencroff did. If the lava, as a result of the crater’s orientation, did not directly threaten the wooded and cultivated parts of the island, other complications could arise. In fact, it is not rare for eruptions to be accompanied by earthquakes, and an island like Lincoln Island—formed of such diverse materials, basalts on one side, granite on the other, lava to the north, soft soil in the middle, materials which could not be solidly bound together—would run the risk of being torn asunder. So, if the overflow of volcanic substances did not constitute a very serious danger in itself, any movement in the geological substructure which might shake the island could produce extremely serious consequences.

“It seems to me,” said Ayrton, who had put his ear to the ground, “It seems to me that I hear some muffled rumblings like a cart loaded with iron bars.”

The colonists listened carefully and were convinced that Ayrton was not mistaken. At times, a whistling sound was mixed with the rumblings, forming a kind of rinforzando
 
1

 and dying out little by little, as if some violent wind had passed through the depths of the globe. But no real detonations were heard as yet. They could thus conclude that the gases and smoke passed freely through the central chimney and, since this escape-valve was sufficiently large, no blockage would be produced and no explosion need be feared.
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 “I hear muffled rumblings.”





 “So!” Pencroff then said, “shall we return to work? Let Mount Franklin smoke, brawl, groan and vomit fire and flames as much as she pleases, that’s no reason to be idle! Come Ayrton, Neb, Harbert, Mr. Cyrus, Mr. Spilett, everyone must be at work today! We’re ready to put the wales in place and a dozen hands won’t be too many. Before two months are over, I want our new Bonadventure
 —we’ll keep the same name, won’t we?—to float on the waters of Port Balloon! So there’s not an hour to lose.”

All the colonists, whose hands were requisitioned by Pencroff, went down to the shipyard and proceeded to install the wales, which are thick planks that form a belt around a boat and firmly tie together the timbers of its frame. It was a long and arduous task in which everyone had to take part.

They worked industriously during the entire day of January 3rd without concerning themselves with the volcano, which they could not see from the Granite House beach. But, once or twice, large shadows obscured the sun as it traced its daily arc through an extremely pure sky, indicating that a thick haze of smoke had passed between its disk and the island. The wind, blowing in from the sea, carried all these vapors westward. Cyrus Smith and Gideon Spilett took good note of these passing clouds and, during several rest breaks, they talked about the volcano’s progress, but the work was not interrupted. It was, moreover, in their best interest from all points of view that the boat be finished with the briefest delay. Considering the many things that might occur, the safety of the colonists could not be better assured. Who could say if the vessel would not one day be their only refuge?

That evening, after supper, Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett and Harbert again went up to Grand View Plateau. Night had already fallen, and the darkness would permit them to determine if the vapors and the smoke accumulating at the mouth of the crater were mixed either with flames or with incandescent material thrown out by the volcano.

“The crater’s on fire!” cried Harbert who, being more nimble than his companions, was the first to reach the plateau.

Mount Franklin, about six miles away, appeared then like a gigantic torch with fuliginous flames twisting about its summit. There was so much smoke, slag, and ashes mixed in with the flames, that their very feeble glare did not affect the darkness of the night. But 
 a sort of fawn-colored glow diffused over the island, and the nearby woods stood out in vague outline. An immense cloud covered the sky through which several stars twinkled.

“Its progress is rapid!” said the engineer.

“That isn’t astonishing,” replied the reporter. “The volcano has already been awake for some time. You’ll recall, Cyrus, that the first vapors appeared about the time we were searching the foothills of the mountain to discover Captain Nemo’s retreat. That was, if I’m not mistaken, about October 15th.”

“Yes!” replied Harbert, “already two and a half months ago!”

“The subterranean fires have therefore been incubating for ten weeks,” continued Gideon Spilett, “and it is not surprising that they’re now so violent.”

“Don’t you feel certain vibrations in the ground?” asked Cyrus Smith.

“Quite so,” replied Gideon Spilett, “but that doesn’t mean that an earthquake …”

“I’m not saying that an earthquake is an immediate threat,” replied Cyrus Smith, “and may God save us from that! No. These vibrations are due to the stirrings of the central fire. The terrestrial shell is nothing more than the wall of a boiler, and you know that the wall of a boiler, under gas pressure, vibrates like a sounding board. This is what’s happening now.”

“What magnificent sprays of fire!” exclaimed Harbert.

At this moment, a sort of cluster of fireworks burst out from the crater which the vapors could not conceal. Thousands of luminous fragments and fiery sparks flew in all directions. Some reached above the smoke, bursting in sudden sprays and leaving behind them an incandescent cloud. This illumination was accompanied by successive detonations, like the discharges from a battery of artillery.

Cyrus Smith, the reporter, and the lad, after having spent an hour on Grand View Plateau, went back down to the beach and to Granite House. The engineer was pensive, even preoccupied, and Gideon Spilett felt that he should ask him if he had a foreboding of some approaching danger caused directly or indirectly by the eruption.

“Yes and no,” replied Cyrus Smith.

“But,” continued the reporter, “isn’t an earthquake, one which would break up the island, the greatest misfortune that could befall 
 us? I don’t feel that we need to fear this since the vapors and the lava have an open passage to flow outside.”

“True,” replied Cyrus Smith, “and I don’t fear an earthquake in the sense that is ordinarily given, convulsions of the ground caused by the expansion of subterranean gases. But other causes can bring on great disasters.”

“Such as, my dear Cyrus?”

“I don’t know enough … I would need to see … to visit the mountain. Within the next few days, I’ll have made up my mind.”

Gideon Spilett did not insist, and soon, in spite of the increasingly intense explosions of the volcano which echoed throughout the island, the occupants of Granite House were in a deep sleep.

Three days passed, the 4th, 5th and 6th of January. They still labored on the construction of the boat and, without otherwise offering any explanation, the engineer accelerated the work with all his energy. Mount Franklin was then wrapped in a sinister dark cloud and, amid the flames, it vomited up incandescent rocks, some of which fell back into the crater itself. Pencroff, choosing to see this phenomenon only from its humorous side, said:

“Look! The giant is playing at cup-and-ball! The giant juggles!”

And indeed, the spewed materials were falling back into the abyss, and it did not seem that the lava, pumped up by the interior pressure, had risen any higher than the orifice of the crater. At least the northwest outlet, which was partly visible, did not yet discharge any torrent on the northern slopes of the mountain.

However much they pressed on with the construction, other chores around the island required the presence of the colonists. Above all, someone had to go to the corral where the flock of sheep and goats were enclosed, to renew the fodder for these animals. It was therefore agreed that Ayrton would return there the next day, January 7th. Because he could do this task by himself, as was his custom, Pencroff and the others were surprised when they heard the engineer say to Ayrton:

“Since you’re going to the corral tomorrow, I’ll go with you.”

“But, Mr. Cyrus,” observed the sailor, “our work days are limited, and if you also leave, we’ll have four hands less!”

“We’ll be back by tomorrow,” replied Cyrus Smith. “I must go to the corral … I want to see how the eruption is progressing.”

“The eruption! The eruption!” answered Pencroff with some discontent. 
 “What’s so important about this eruption? It doesn’t worry me at all.”

Notwithstanding the sailor’s feelings on the matter, the exploration planned by the engineer was scheduled for the next day. Harbert wanted to accompany Cyrus Smith, but he didn’t want to anger Pencroff by his absence.

The next day at dawn, Cyrus Smith and Ayrton climbed aboard the cart drawn by the two onagers and headed down the corral road at a good pace.

Above the forest passed large clouds full of sooty matter from Mount Franklin. These clouds, which weighed heavily in the sky, were evidently composed of heterogeneous substances. It was not only the smoke from the volcano which made them so strangely opaque and heavy; scoria dust such as pulverized pozzuolana and grey cinders as fine as the finest starch were also held in suspension within the thick spirals. These cinders are so fine that they have sometimes been known to stay in the sky for months. After the eruption in 1783 in Iceland, the atmosphere became so full of volcanic dust that the sun’s rays could barely pierce through for over a year.

But, most often, these pulverized materials fall to the earth, and that is what happened on this occasion. Cyrus Smith and Ayrton had barely arrived at the corral when a sort of black snow resembling a light gun powder began to fall, instantly changing the appearance of the ground. Trees, prairies, everything disappeared under a layer measuring several inches in thickness. But, most fortunately, the wind blew from the northeast, and the largest part of the cloud was carried out to sea.

“That’s curious, Mr. Smith,” said Ayrton.

“That’s serious,” replied the engineer. “This pozzuolana, this pulverized pumice, all this mineral dust proves how deep-seated the turmoil is in the lower layers of the volcano.”

“But is there nothing to be done?”

“Nothing but to record the progress of the phenomenon. Take care of the needs of the corral, Ayrton. During this time, I’ll ascend to the sources of Red Creek and examine the condition of the mountain on its northern slope. Then …”

“Then … Mr. Smith.”

“Then we’ll pay a visit to Dakkar Crypt … I want to see … In short, I’ll return for you in two hours.”


 Ayrton went inside the corral and, while waiting for the engineer’s return, he occupied himself with the sheep and the goats who seemed uneasy at these first symptoms of an eruption.

Cyrus Smith ventured to the top of the eastern foothills, rounded Red Creek, and reached the place where his companions and he had discovered a sulphur spring at the time of their first expedition.

How things had changed! In place of a single column of smoke, he counted thirteen bursting out of the ground, as if they had been violently pushed up by some piston. It was evident that the terrestrial crust, at this point on the globe, was subjected to a frightful pressure. The atmosphere was saturated with sulphur gas, hydrogen, and carbonic acid which had mixed in with the water vapor. Cyrus Smith felt the volcanic tuffs, pulverulent cinders which time had changed into hard blocks and which were scattered over the plain, vibrating beneath him. But he did not yet see any traces of new lava.

The engineer was able to confirm this when he saw the northern side of Mount Franklin. Eddies of smoke and flame were escaping from the crater, and a shower of slag fell on the ground. But he saw no overflow of lava from the neck of the crater, proving that the level of the volcanic materials had still not reached the upper opening of the central chimney.

“And I would much prefer that it did!” said Cyrus Smith to himself. “At least I would be certain then that the lava had taken its usual path. Who knows if it won’t overflow by some new opening? But that’s not the real danger! Captain Nemo foresaw it well! No! The danger isn’t there.”

Cyrus Smith walked up to the enormous embankment which extended to the border of the narrow Shark Gulf. Here he could examine the old lava channels. He had no doubt that the last eruption took place very long ago.

Then he retraced his steps, listening to the subterranean rumblings which sounded like continuous thunder punctuated by loud explosions. At nine o’clock in the morning, he was back at the corral.

Ayrton was waiting for him.

“The animals are attended to, Mr. Smith,” said Ayrton.

“Good, Ayrton.”

“They seem uneasy, Mr. Smith.”

“Yes, it’s their instinct speaking to them, and instinct never deceives.”
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 How things had changed!





 “When do you wish …”

“Take a lantern and a flint, Ayrton,” replied the engineer, “and let’s leave.”

Ayrton did as commanded. The onagers were unharnessed and wandered off into the corral. The door was closed from the outside and, with Cyrus Smith in the lead, they took the narrow path which led to the western coast.

They walked on soil padded by pulverulent matter fallen from the clouds. No quadruped appeared in the woods. The birds themselves had fled. At times, a passing breeze stirred up the layer of ashes, and the two colonists, caught in an opaque eddy, could no longer see each other. They then had to apply a handkerchief to their eyes and their mouths to avoid the risk of being blinded and suffocated.

Under these conditions, Cyrus Smith and Ayrton could not move rapidly. Moreover, the air was heavy, as if the oxygen had been partly burnt out of it, and this made breathing difficult. Every hundred feet, they had to stop to catch their breath. It was after ten o’clock when the engineer and his companion reached the crest of this enormous heap of basaltic and porphyritic rocks
2

 which formed the northwest coast of the island.

Ayrton and Cyrus Smith began to descend this steep coast following, more or less, the difficult road which had led them to Dakkar Crypt during that night of the storm. In full daylight, this descent was less perilous and a layer of cinders covered the polished rocks, assuring them a firmer footing on their inclined surfaces.

The shelf which extended along the shore at a height of about 40 feet was soon reached. Cyrus Smith remembered that this shelf descended gently to sea level. Although the tide was low at the moment, no beach was visible, and the waves, dirtied by the volcanic dust, beat directly against the basaltic rocks.

Cyrus Smith and Ayrton again found without difficulty the opening to Dakkar Crypt, and they stopped at the last rock which formed the shelf’s landing.

“The iron-plated boat should be there,” said the engineer.

“It’s there, Mr. Smith,” replied Ayrton, pulling toward him the fragile craft which was sheltered under the arch of the arcade.

“Let’s get aboard, Ayrton.”

The two colonists got into the boat. A gentle undulation of the waves propelled it further under the very low arch of the crypt, and 
 there Ayrton struck the flint and lit the lantern. Then he grasped the two oars. With the lantern placed at the bow of the boat and its rays lighting the way ahead, Cyrus Smith took the rudder, and they entered the darkness of the crypt.

The Nautilus
 was no longer there to illuminate this somber cavern. Perhaps the electric light, nourished by its powerful source, was still shining deep beneath the water, but no glimmer arose from the depths of this abyss where Captain Nemo rested.

The light from the lantern, although insufficient, nevertheless permitted the engineer to advance slowly, following the right wall of the crypt. A deathlike silence reigned in this vaulted cavern, at least in its outermost portion. But soon Cyrus Smith heard distinct rumblings which came from the bowels of the mountain.

“It’s the volcano,” he said.

Soon, with the noise, came the acrid odor of certain chemical combinations, and the sulphurous gases choked the engineer and his companion.

“That’s what Captain Nemo feared!” murmured Cyrus Smith, whose face paled slightly. “Nevertheless we must go to the end.”

“Forward, then!” replied Ayrton, who plied his oars and moved the boat toward the back of the crypt.

Twenty five minutes after entering the opening, the boat reached the cavern’s final wall and stopped.

Cyrus Smith, getting up from his seat, passed the lantern over various parts of the wall which separated the crypt from the central chimney of the volcano. How thick was this wall? Was it a hundred feet or ten? It was impossible to say. But the subterranean noises were too perceptible for it to be very thick.

The engineer, after exploring the wall along a horizontal line, placed the lantern at the extremity of an oar and he passed it anew over the basaltic wall at a greater height.

There, from barely visible cracks, through badly jointed crystals, escaped a pungent odor which infected the atmosphere of the cavern. The wall was streaked with these fractures and some, more clearly visible, reached down to within two or three feet of the water level of the crypt.

Cyrus Smith at first remained pensive. Then, he again murmured these words:
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 Cracks in the basaltic wall.





 “Yes! The captain was right! Here lies the danger, a terrible danger!”
3



Ayrton said nothing. But, at a sign from Cyrus Smith, he again took to the oars, and, a half hour later, the engineer and he came out of Dakkar Crypt.



CHAPTER XIX





T

 he next morning, January 8th, after a day and a night spent at the corral putting things in order, Cyrus Smith and Ayrton returned to Granite House.

The engineer at once assembled his companions and told them that Lincoln Island was subject to an immense danger that no human power could avert.

“My friends,” he said, his voice revealing a deep emotion, “Lincoln Island will not endure as long as the globe itself. It will be destroyed sooner or later, and the cause lies within itself. Nothing can avoid it.”

The colonists looked at each other and at the engineer. They did not understand him.

“Explain, Cyrus,” said Gideon Spilett.

“I’ll explain,” replied Cyrus Smith, “or, rather, I’ll pass along to you the explanation which Captain Nemo gave me during the few minutes of our private talk.”

“Captain Nemo!” exclaimed the colonists.

“Yes, and it’s the last service which he wished to render us before dying.”

“The last service!” objected Pencroff. “The last service! You’ll see that, although he’s dead, he’ll render us still others!”

“But what did Captain Nemo say to you?” asked the reporter.

“Know then, my friends,” replied the engineer, “that Lincoln Island isn’t like other islands of the Pacific. A particular condition which Captain Nemo made known to me will eventually disrupt its very foundations.”

“Lincoln Island destroyed? Come now!” replied Pencroff who, despite all the respect he had for Cyrus Smith, could not refrain from shrugging his shoulders in disbelief.


 “Listen to me, Pencroff,” continued the engineer. “This is what Captain Nemo said and what I confirmed myself during my exploration of Dakkar Crypt yesterday. This crypt extends under the island as far as the volcano and, at its furthest point, it’s separated from the central chimney by the wall. This wall is now covered with fractures and fissures through which sulphurous gases are already escaping from the interior of the volcano.”

“And so?” asked Pencroff, perplexed.

“And so I saw that these fractures were growing larger under the interior pressure, that the basalt wall was cracking little by little, and that the sea water which fills the cavern will soon pass through it.”

“Good!” replied Pencroff, still trying to joke about it. “The sea will then extinguish the volcano, and that will be the end of it!”

“Yes, that will be the end of it,” answered Cyrus Smith. “On the day when the sea rushes through the wall and penetrates through the central chimney into the bowels of the island where the eruptive materials are boiling, on that day, Pencroff, Lincoln Island will explode like Sicily would explode if the Mediterranean came rushing into Etna!”

The colonists did not reply to the engineer’s statement. They now understood the danger that threatened them.

In truth, Cyrus Smith was not exaggerating in any way. Many people believe that volcanoes, which are nearly all located at the borders of a sea or a lake, might be extinguished by opening a passage for water to flow into their interior. But they do not realize that this would risk an explosion, like a boiler which is suddenly subjected to overheating. The water, rushing into a confined space whose temperature is perhaps measured in thousands of degrees, would vaporize with such powerful energy that no container could resist it.

There was no doubt that the island, threatened by an imminent and frightful obliteration, would endure only as long as the wall of Dakkar Crypt would itself endure. It was not even a question of months nor even of weeks but a question of days, of hours perhaps!

The first reaction of the colonists was one of deep sorrow. They thought not of their own peril but of the destruction of this land which had given them refuge, this island which they had cultivated and loved, this island which they wanted to make so prosperous one day! So much effort uselessly expended, so much work lost!


 Pencroff could not hold back a large tear which glistened on his cheek and which he did not try to hide.

The conversation continued for a while longer. They discussed all possible options, but they concluded that there was not an hour to lose, that the construction and fitting of the ship must be pursued vigorously, and that this was now the only chance of salvation for the inhabitants of Lincoln Island!

All hands thus were needed. Why reap, harvest, hunt, or increase the reserves of Granite House? The supplies already in the storeroom and the pantry would suffice, and even to provision the vessel for a trip, however long it might be. But it was imperative that the ship be ready before the inevitable catastrophe occurred!

The work was resumed at a feverish pace. Around January 23rd, the vessel was half sided. Until then, there had been no change at the volcano’s summit. It was always vapor and smoke, mixed with flames and incandescent stones which were thrown up from the crater. But, during the night of the 23rd, because of the pressure of the lava which reached the upper level of the volcano, the hat-shaped cone was suddenly blown off. A frightful noise was heard. The colonists first thought that the island had cracked apart. They rushed outside Granite House.

It was about two o’clock in the morning.

The sky was on fire. The upper cone—a mass of rock a thousand feet in height and weighing billions of pounds—had fallen onto the island, making the ground tremble. Fortunately, the cone had been leaning northward, and it fell onto the plain of sand and tuffs which extended between the volcano and the sea. The crater, now largely open, projected toward the sky a burning light so intense that, by its reflection, the atmosphere itself appeared incandescent. At the same time, a torrent of lava swelled up at the new summit and poured out in long cascades like water escaping from an overfull vase. A thousand serpents of fire crawled down the slope of the volcano.

“The corral! The corral!” shouted Ayrton.

The lava flowed toward the corral, as a result of the orientation of the new crater. It was now the fertile parts of the island, along with the springs of Red Creek and Jacamar Woods, which were threatened with immediate destruction.

Following Ayrton’s lead, the colonists rushed toward the onagers’ stable. The cart was harnessed. Everyone had but one thought, to rush to the corral and set free the animals which it enclosed.
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 A thousand fiery serpents.





 Before three o’clock in the morning, they arrived at the corral. The sheep and goats, filled with terror, were howling frightfully. Already a torrent of incandescent matter and liquified minerals fell from the mountainside onto the prairie and ate away at the side of the stockade wall. Ayrton quickly opened the gate, and the maddened animals escaped in all directions.

One hour later, the boiling lava filled the corral, vaporizing the water from the small brook which crossed it, setting fire to the house which burned like coal dust, and devouring the stockade wall to the last post. Nothing remained of the corral.

The colonists tried to battle against this invasion. But their furious efforts were of no use; Man is powerless before such great cataclysms of Nature.

Day came on, January 24th. Cyrus Smith and his companions, before returning to Granite House, wanted to observe the direction which the flood of lava would most likely take. The general slope of the ground went downhill from Mount Franklin toward the eastern coast, and they feared that, in spite of the thick Jacamar Woods, the torrent would reach Grand View Plateau.

“The lake will protect us,” said Gideon Spilett.

“I hope so!” was Cyrus Smith’s only reply.

The colonists would have liked to examine the plain on which the upper cone from Mount Franklin had fallen, but the lava now barred the way. It flowed along Red Creek valley on the one side and Falls River valley on the other, vaporizing these two watercourses as it passed. There was no possibility of crossing this lava torrent; they had to retreat before it. The volcano, without its crown, was no longer recognizable. A sort of flat tableland replaced the former crater. Lava poured out continuously from two cracks in the south and east rims, thus forming two distinct streams. Above the new crater, a billow of smoke and ashes mixed with the heavy clouds which hung over the island. Bursts of thunder mingled with the rumblings from the mountain. Igneous rocks were thrown from the volcano’s mouth more than a thousand feet into the air, bursting in the sky and dispersing like grapeshot. The heavens replied to the volcanic eruption with flashes of lightning.


 At around seven o’clock in the morning, the position of the colonists, who had taken refuge at the edge of Jacamar Woods, was no longer tenable. Not only did projectiles begin to rain down all around them but the lava, now overflowing the bed of Red Creek, threatened to cut off the corral road. The first rows of trees caught fire, and their sap, suddenly transformed to vapor, made them burst like firecrackers. Others, less humid, burned in the midst of the lava flood.

The colonists moved back along the corral road, retreating slowly. Because of the slope of the ground, the torrent flowed rapidly toward the east, and as soon as lower layers of lava became hard, other bubbling layers covered them.

Meanwhile, the main stream in the valley of Red Creek became more and more menacing. All of this part of the forest was aflame, and enormous billows of smoke twirled above the trees whose crackling feet were already deep in the lava.

The colonists stopped near the lake, a half mile from the mouth of Red Creek. It was now a question of life and death.

Cyrus Smith, accustomed to dealing with serious situations and knowing that he was addressing men capable of hearing the truth, whatever it might be, then said:

“Either the lake will stop the flow and a part of the island will be preserved from complete devastation, or the flow will invade the forests of the Far West and not a tree, not a plant will remain on its surface. Nothing will remain for us on these bare rocks but death—death which an explosion of the island itself will soon bring!”

“In that case,” observed Pencroff, crossing his arms and stamping on the ground, “then it’s useless to work on the boat, is it not?”

“Pencroff,” replied Cyrus Smith, “we must do our duty to the very end!”

At this moment, the torrent of lava, after blazing a trail through the forest and devouring the trees in its path, reached the edge of the lake. There was a certain elevation in the ground there which, if it had been higher, would perhaps be enough to contain it.

“To work!” shouted Cyrus Smith.

They understood the engineer immediately. They had to dam up this torrent and force it to overflow into the lake.

The colonists ran to the shipyard. They brought back shovels, pickaxes, and axes. A few hours later, by means of earthworks and fallen trees, they had succeeded in raising an embankment three feet high 
 and several hundred feet in length. It seemed to them, when they were finished, that they had scarcely been working for more than a few minutes.

It was just in time. The liquified matter reached the lower part of the embankment almost immediately. The torrent swelled up like a flooded river trying to overflow its banks, and it threatened to pass over the only obstacle which prevented it from invading all of the Far West … But the dam contained it and, after a terrible minute of suspense, it rushed down from a height of twenty feet into Lake Grant.

The colonists, out of breath, motionless, and without uttering a word, watched this battle between the two elements.

What a spectacle was this combat between fire and water! What pen could describe this scene of marvelous horror, and what brush could paint it? The water hissed and evaporated on contact with the boiling lava. Steam was thrown into the air, swirling to a great height as if the valves of an immense boiler had suddenly been opened. But however considerable the waters of the lake might be, in the end it would be vanquished because the torrent, fed by an inexhaustible source, ceaselessly poured in fresh floods of incandescent material.

The first lava which fell into the lake solidified immediately, accumulated, and soon emerged. Other lava slid over its surface, becoming hard in its turn but gaining toward the center. A jetty of sorts formed and threatened to fill up the lake which did not overflow because the excess water evaporated. Hissings and cracklings rent the air with a deafening noise and the steam, caught up by the wind, fell back into the sea as rain. The jetty became longer and blocks of solidified lava piled up on each other. Where formerly there had been peaceful water, an enormous mass of smoking rocks now appeared as if a convulsion of the ground had made a thousand reefs appear. If one could imagine these waters churned up by a hurricane, then suddenly solidified by twenty-degree cold, one would have some idea of the lake three hours after this irresistible torrent had poured into it.

This time, water would be defeated by fire.

Fortunately for the colonists, the discharge of the lava had been directed toward Lake Grant. They had before them several days of respite. Grand View Plateau, Granite House, and the construction yard were spared for the moment. Now these few days had to be used to plank the vessel and to caulk it carefully. Then they would launch her and take refuge on her, leaving her rigging to be finished after she was 
 afloat in her element. With the danger of an explosion which threatened to destroy the island, it was no longer safe to remain on land. The walls of Granite House, formerly so secure a retreat, could fall at any moment!
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The combat between fire and water.




During the six days which followed, from the 25th to the 30th of 
 January, the colonists did as much work on the vessel as twenty men could have done. They hardly took any rest at all; the glare from the flames which rushed out from the crater permitted them to continue working day and night. The volcano’s lava still flowed but perhaps with less abundance. This was fortunate because Lake Grant was almost entirely filled and, if new lava would have piled up over the surface of the old, it would inevitably spill on to Grand View Plateau, and from there onto the beach.

But if this side of the island was partly protected, it was not so with the western portion.

In fact, the second current of lava, following the wide valley of Falls River whose ground was depressed on each side of the creek, had nothing to stop it. The incandescent liquid had therefore flowed across the forests of the Far West. The trees were dry from the torrid heat this time of year, and the forest caught fire instantly. The raging blaze burned simultaneously at the base of the trunks and through the high branches whose interlacing hastened the fire’s progress. It even appeared that the fiery current at the top of the trees moved faster than the current of lava below.

The terrified wild animals, jaguars, boars, capybaras, koalas, game of every sort, rushed to take refuge on the banks of the Mercy and in the Tadorn marsh beyond the road to Port Balloon. But the colonists were too preoccupied with their work to pay any attention to even the most dangerous of these animals. They had, in fact, abandoned Granite House and would not even take shelter in the Chimneys; they camped instead under a tent near the mouth of the Mercy.

Every day, Cyrus Smith and Gideon Spilett went up to Grand View Plateau. Sometimes Harbert accompanied them, but never Pencroff who could not bear to look upon the island, now profoundly devastated.

Indeed, it was a heart-rending sight. All the wooded part of the island was now bare. A single cluster of green trees stood at the extremity of Serpentine Peninsula. Here and there, several branchless and blackened stumps grimaced. The destroyed forests were more barren than the Tadorn marsh. The invasion of the lava had been complete. Where formerly wonderful foliage grew, the ground was now only a savage pile of volcanic tuffs. The valleys of Falls River and of the Mercy no longer spilled a single drop of water into the sea, and the colonists would not have had any means of appeasing their thirst 
 if Lake Grant went completely dry. But, fortunately, its southern corner had been spared and formed a sort of pond containing all that remained of the fresh water on the island. Toward the northwest, the grim and rugged outlines of the sides of the volcano looked like gigantic claws grasping the ground. What a sorrowful spectacle, what an appalling sight, and what regrets for these colonists who, from a fertile domain covered with forests, irrigated by watercourses, enriched by crops, now found themselves transported in an instant to a devastated rock upon which, without their reserves, they would not even have been able to live!

“It breaks my heart,” Gideon Spilett said one day.

“Yes, Spilett,” replied the engineer. “May Heaven give us time to finish this ship, now our only refuge.”

“Do you not find, Cyrus, that the volcano seems to be getting calmer? It’s still spewing lava, but less abundantly, if I’m not mistaken!”

“That’s of little importance,” replied Cyrus Smith. “The fire is always burning in the bowels of the mountain, and the sea can rush in at any moment. We’re like passengers whose vessel is being devoured by a fire they cannot extinguish, and who know that sooner or later it will reach the powder room! Come, Spilett! Let’s not lose an hour!”

During the next eight days, until February 7th, the lava continued to pour out, but the eruption kept within the indicated limits. Cyrus Smith feared above all else that the liquified matter would overflow onto the beach; if that happened, the shipyard would not be spared. However, about this time, the colonists felt vibrations in the bedrock of the island which alarmed them to the highest degree.

It was February 20th. It would be another month before the vessel was fit to go to sea. Would the island hold together until then? Pencroff and Cyrus Smith’s intention was to proceed with the launching of the ship as soon as the hull was sufficiently watertight. The bridge, the superstructure, the interior arrangements and the rigging would be done later; the important thing was that the colonists would have a secure refuge off the island. It would perhaps also be better to take the vessel to Port Balloon, as far as possible from the eruptive center. At the mouth of the Mercy, between the islet and the granite wall, it was in danger of being crushed in the event of the island’s breakup. All the efforts of the workers were therefore directed toward finishing the hull.


 March 3rd arrived. They now planned that the launching could take place in about a dozen days.

Hope revived in the hearts of these colonists, so stricken with misfortune during this fourth year of their stay on Lincoln Island! Even Pencroff seemed to come out a little of this gloomy taciturnity into which the ruin and devastation of his domain had plunged him. He thought of nothing else but this ship, on which he concentrated all his hopes.

“We’ll finish it!” he said to the engineer. “We’ll finish it, Mr. Cyrus, and it will be just in time because the season is advanced and we’ll soon be at the height of the equinox. Oh well, if need be, we’ll put in at Tabor Island and pass the winter there! But Tabor Island after Lincoln Island! Ah! Woe of my life! I never thought that I would see such a thing!”

“Let’s hurry!” the engineer invariably replied.

They worked on without losing a moment.

“My master,” asked Neb a few days later. “If Captain Nemo had still been alive, do you think that all this would have happened?”

“Yes, Neb,” replied Cyrus Smith.

“Oh well, as for me, I don’t believe it!” Pencroff murmured in Neb’s ear.

“Nor I,” replied Neb seriously.

During the first week of March, Mount Franklin again became threatening. Thousands of glass-like threads, made of liquid lava, fell to the ground like rain. The crater again filled with lava, pouring out on all sides of the volcano. The torrent ran over the surface of the hardened tuffs and destroyed the straggling skeletons of trees which had withstood the first eruption. The flow, following the southwest bank of Lake Grant, carried as far as Glycerin Creek and overran Grand View Plateau. This last blow to the accomplishments of the colonists was terrible. The windmill, the houses of the poultry yard, the stables, nothing remained of them. The frightened birds disappeared in all directions. Top and Jup gave signs of the greatest fright, and their instinct forewarned them that a catastrophe was near. A good number of the animals had perished during the first eruption. Those that had survived found refuge at the Tadorn marsh, except for the few to whom Grand View Plateau offered asylum. But this last retreat was finally closed to them, and the river of lava, overflowing the edge of the granite wall, began to rain its cataracts of fire on the beach. 
 The sublime horror of this spectacle defies all description. During the night, it was like a Niagara of molten liquid with its incandescent gases above and its boiling magma below!
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An explosion shattered the air!




The colonists were forced to their last resort. Even though its upper seams had still not been caulked, they resolved to launch their 
 ship at once! Pencroff and Ayrton prepared for the launching, which was to have taken place the next morning, March 9th.

But during the night of the 8th, an enormous column of steam escaped from the crater and rose to a height of more than 3,000 feet amidst frightful detonations. The wall of Dakkar cavern had evidently given way under the pressure, and the sea’s waters, rushing into the fiery abyss by way of the central chimney, were suddenly vaporized. The crater could not give a sufficient outlet for this steam. An explosion, which might have been heard a hundred miles away, shattered the air! Fragments of the mountain fell back into the Pacific and, in a few minutes, the ocean covered the place where Lincoln Island had once been!



CHAPTER XX





A

 n isolated rock, thirty feet long, fifteen wide, emerging barely ten feet above the water—such was the only solid point of land that had not been engulfed by the waves of the Pacific.

It was all that remained of Granite House! The cliff wall had been thrown down, then broken into pieces, and a few rocks from the large hall had piled up so as to form this culminating point. Everything around it had disappeared into the abyss: the lower cone of Mount Franklin torn apart by the explosion, the lava jaws of Shark Gulf, Grand View Plateau, Safety Islet, the granite stones of Port Balloon, the basalts of Dakkar Crypt, the long Serpentine Peninsula so far from the eruptive center! All that remained of Lincoln Island was this narrow rock, which now served as a refuge for six colonists and their dog Top.

The animals had likewise perished in the catastrophe, the birds as well as the other fauna of the island, all crushed or drowned. Even the unfortunate Jup himself had, alas! found his death in some fissure in the ground!

If Cyrus Smith, Gideon Spilett, Harbert, Pencroff, Neb and Ayrton had survived, it was because, gathered then under their tent, they had been thrown into the sea at the moment when the debris from the island rained down on all sides.


 When they returned to the surface, they could see only this mass of rocks half a cable-length away. They swam toward it and climbed up onto it.

It was on this bare rock that they had lived for the last nine days! A few provisions taken from the Granite House storeroom before the catastrophe, a little fresh water which the rain had spilled into a crack in a rock, that was all that the destitute colonists possessed. Their last hope, their ship, had been destroyed. They had no means of leaving this reef. No fire nor the means to make it. They were doomed to perish!

On this day, March 18th, there remained enough provisions for only two days, even though they had consumed only what was strictly necessary. All their science, all their intelligence could do nothing for them in this situation. They were completely in the hands of God.

Cyrus Smith was calm. Gideon Spilett was nervous, and Pencroff, in the grips of a silent anger, walked back and forth on the rock. Harbert did not leave the engineer and looked at him as if asking for help which the latter could not provide. Neb and Ayrton were resigned to their fate.

“Ah! Such wretchedness!” Pencroff repeated often. “If we had something, even a nutshell, to take us to Tabor Island! But nothing, nothing!”

“Captain Nemo did well to die,” Neb once said.

During the five days which followed, Cyrus Smith and his unfortunate companions rationed their provisions with the greatest parsimony, eating just enough so as not to starve to death. Their weakness was extreme. Harbert and Neb began to show some signs of delirium.

In this situation could they even preserve a shadow of hope? No! What was their only chance? That a ship would pass in view of the reef? But they well knew from experience that ships never visited this portion of the Pacific! Could they then count on, by a truly providential coincidence, the Scottish yacht’s coming precisely at this time to look for Ayrton at Tabor Island? That was improbable and, besides, even if it did come, the colonists had not been able to leave a message explaining the changes in Ayrton’s situation, and the commander of the yacht, after having searched the islet without result, would again take to the sea and sail back to lower latitudes.

No! They could no longer hold out any hope of being saved, and 
 a horrible death, a death from hunger and from thirst, awaited them on this rock!

Already they were prostrate on its surface, inanimate, unaware of what was going on around them. Ayrton alone, by a supreme effort, still had his head raised and cast a despairing look at this deserted sea!

But, on this morning of March 24th, Ayrton raised his arms, reaching out toward a point in the distance. He got up, on his knees at first, then to his feet, his hand seemed to make a signal … A vessel was in sight of the island! This vessel was not sailing the sea at random. Its goal was the reef, and it was moving toward it in a straight line and under full steam! The unfortunate colonists would have seen it several hours earlier if they had had the strength to observe the horizon!

“The Duncan!
 ” murmured Ayrton, and he fell back, senseless.

When Cyrus Smith and his companions had regained consciousness, thanks to the care lavished upon them, they found themselves in the cabin of a steamer, unable to comprehend how they had escaped death.

A word from Ayrton sufficed to tell them everything.

“The Duncan!
 ” he murmured.

“The Duncan!
 ” replied Cyrus Smith.

And, raising his arms toward Heaven, he exclaimed:

“Ah! All powerful God! It’s by your will that we’ve been saved!”

It was indeed the Duncan,
 Lord Glenarvan’s yacht, now commanded by Robert, the son of Captain Grant, which had been sent to Tabor Island to look for Ayrton and to repatriate him after twelve years of expiation.

The colonists were saved. They were already on their way home!

“Captain Robert,” asked Cyrus Smith, “who could have given you the idea, after leaving Tabor Island when you didn’t find Ayrton there, of going a hundred miles to the northeast?”

“Mr. Smith,” replied Robert Grant, “it was to find not only Ayrton but also your companions and you!”

“My companions and me?”

“Doubtless! At Lincoln Island!”

“Lincoln Island?” Gideon Spilett, Harbert, Neb, and Pencroff exclaimed together and with great astonishment.

“How do you know about Lincoln Island?” asked Cyrus Smith, “This island isn’t even marked on the maps!”
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 “I knew about it from a message that you left on Tabor Island,” replied Robert Grant.

“A message?” cried Gideon Spilett.

“Certainly and here it is,” answered Robert Grant, presenting a document which indicated the longitude and latitude of Lincoln Island, “the current residence of Ayrton and five American colonists.”

“Captain Nemo!” said Cyrus Smith, after reading the message and recognizing that it was written in the same hand as the document found at the corral!

“Ah!” said Pencroff, “so it was he who took our Bonadventure
 and who risked the trip to Mount Tabor alone! …”

“To leave this message there!” replied Harbert.

“So I had good reason to say,” exclaimed the sailor, “that, even after his death, the captain would still render us one last service!”

“My friends,” intoned Cyrus Smith with a voice full of emotion, “may all-merciful God receive the soul of Captain Nemo, our savior!”

On hearing Cyrus Smith’s words, the colonists removed their hats and murmured the name of the captain.

At this moment, Ayrton approached the engineer and said to him simply:

“What should be done with this chest?”

It was the chest that Ayrton had saved at the risk of his life when the island was engulfed, and which he had faithfully come to return to the engineer.

“Ayrton, Ayrton!” said Cyrus Smith with deep emotion.

Then, addressing Robert Grant:

“Sir,” he added, “there where you once left a guilty man, you now find one made honest by repentance and to whom I’m proud to offer my hand!”

Robert Grant was then told the strange story of Captain Nemo and of the colonists of Lincoln Island. Then, after recording the position of what remained of this reef which would henceforth figure on the maps of the Pacific, he gave the order to turn about.

Two weeks later, the colonists landed in America. They found their country at peace again after this terrible war in which justice and right had finally triumphed.

Of the riches contained in the chest bequeathed by Captain Nemo to the colonists of Lincoln Island, the largest share was used to purchase a vast tract of land in the state of Iowa. A single pearl, the finest, 
 was set aside from this treasure and sent to Lady Glenarvan on behalf of the castaways repatriated by the Duncan.


There, on this land, the colonists sent out a call for work, for their fortune and happiness, to all those to whom they had intended to offer the hospitality of Lincoln Island. There, they founded a vast colony to which they gave the name of the island disappeared in the depths of the Pacific. A river was there which was baptized the Mercy, a mountain which took the name of Franklin, a small lake which was called Lake Grant, forests which became the forest of the Far West. It was like an island on terra firma.


There, under the intelligent guidance of the engineer and his companions, everything prospered. Not one of the former colonists of Lincoln Island was absent as they had sworn always to live together: Neb beside his master, Ayrton ready to sacrifice himself on all occasions, Pencroff more a farmer than he had ever been a sailor, Harbert whose studies were completed under the direction of Cyrus Smith, and Gideon Spilett who founded the New Lincoln Herald,
 the most informed journal of the entire world.

There, Cyrus Smith and his companions received visits on several occasions from Lord and Lady Glenarvan, from Captain John Mangles and his wife, the sister of Robert Grant, from Robert Grant himself, from Major MacNabbs,
1

 and from all those who had been part of the double story of Captain Grant and of Captain Nemo.

There, at last, everyone found happiness, united in the present as they had been in the past. But never could they forget this island on which they had landed poor and naked, this island which had furnished their every need for four years, but of which nothing now remained but a slab of granite battered by the waves of the Pacific, the tomb of the man who had once been Captain Nemo!


The End


explored.

 
NOTES





PART I





CHAPTER I
 (pp. 3–9)



1
 . In French Cyrus is a homonym of “cyrrhus” (cirrus), implying majesty. The Bible (Chronicles 2 36:22) refers to Cyrus the Great (c. 600–529 BC), the king of Persia who defeated Nebuchadnezzar II. But the name, and the idea of the omnipotent engineer, must come from Cyrus (West) Field (1819–92), the American merchant and financier who installed the Atlantic Cable (1858 and 1865–66). Field and Verne crossed the Atlantic together on the Great Eastern
 in 1867 and exchanged correspondence afterwards. Round the Moon
 refers to “the intelligent Cyrus Field, [who] aimed even to cover all the islands of Oceania with a vast electrical network, an immense enterprise and one worthy of American genius” (ch. 20).


2
 . In 1851 Verne published “A Balloon Journey,” revised as “A Drama in the Air” (1874), which includes a history of aerostats; and his first novel for Hetzel was Five Weeks in a Balloon
 (1863). Verne was Comptroller of the Society for the Encouragement of Aerial Locomotion by Means of the Heavier-than-Air, run by his friend, the famous photographer Nadar, and wrote an article describing his aerostat, “About the Géant
 ” (1863), ending with the famous quotation: “Let’s go then for the helicopter, and adopt Nadar’s motto: Everything which is possible will be done.” The paradox is that although Nadar used balloons, both he and Verne believed that the heavier-than-air was the way forward, as there was no way to steer a balloon, except by using the air currents at different altitudes. The novelist’s first ascent took place from Place Longueville in Amiens on 28 September 1873, when he was hard at work on MI.
 The trip, with the aviator Eugène Godard, a friend of Nadar’s who distinguished himself during the Siege of Paris in 1870, is described in Verne’s “Chronique locale: Ascension du Météore,
 ” in the Journal d’Amiens,
 29–30 September 1873 (reprinted in Textes Oubliés,
 191).


3
 . This would be true only if both the displacement and the rotation, which would have to be very slow, were at a constant speed. In “About the Géant
 ” Verne says that “In a balloon, no movement, whether horizontal or vertical, is perceptible,” just as in moving water, it is hard to detect a ship’s motion.


4
 . Verne invariably emphasizes the view from the air, creating a different perspective on human affairs; what is missing from MI,
 in contrast, is any sight of external reality.


5
 . The arrival on the Island is a self-conscious rebuttal of the hyper-conventional shipwreck, although it derived from a suggestion by Hetzel. Also, the publisher wrote to Verne on 25 July 1873 (Corr.,
 200): “Have you received the manuscript of the engineer M. Rollier, the one who did that fine [crossing to Norway] by balloon and to whom you reportedly promised a preface?” Rollier’s trip was recorded in Emile Cartailhac, Voyage en ballon de Paris en Norvège du capitaine Paul Rollier
 (1871). A distinct 
 possibility remains, in sum, that Verne borrowed ideas for the ballooning episode from Rollier.



CHAPTER II
 (pp. 9–19)



1
 . Verne does not tell his readers which war or which country. The chapter heading in the French text lists “the Civil War,” or the War between the States (1861–65), between the Union and the eleven Confederate States, mainly about the issue of slavery. The Civil War is featured in From the Earth to the Moon,
 “The Blockade Runners,” and North against South,
 where Verne approves of the liberation of slaves and paints a favorable portrait of Black Americans.


2
 . Ulysses S[impson] Grant (1822–85), Unionist general, and American president (1869–77) at the time of writing.


3
 . “Smith” means of course “worker of metal.” Carpentier (41) claims the letters of “Cyrus Smith” are an anagram of “Jesus Christ.” Certainly there are Biblical echoes in MI
 —“‘where shall we begin?’ Pencroff asked … ‘At the beginning,’ replied Cyrus Smith.” (I, 13)—as well as miracles, such as bread from a single grain of wheat (I, 20–21) or “He took Top’s head between his hands, detached the collar the animal carried on his neck and broke it in two parts, saying: / ‘Here are two knives, Pencroff!’” (I, 13).


4
 . An earlier version of the quotation is “Point n’est besoin d’espérer …” (There is no need to hope …). The quotation is often (dubiously) attributed to William I, the Silent, Prince of Orange (1533–84), or to the House of Orange in general; but occasionally also to the heraldic device of a fifteenth-century Francesco Foscari. William III, Prince of Orange (1650–1702), king of Britain and Ireland (1689–1702), led the army that defeated James II and his Irish supporters at the Battle of the Boyne. Verne’s mention of “William of Orange” may derive from the support that Defoe gave William III, calling him “William, the Glorious, Great, and Good, and Kind.”


5
 . Grant seized Paducah, Kentucky, in September 1861. He made an inconclusive raid on Belmont, Missouri, then, appointed commander in the West, he won at Chattanooga (Verne: “Chattanoga”) in November 1863, and in March 1864 was given command of all the Unionist armies. The Battle of Pittsburg Landing, on 6 April 1862, was one of the worst of the war. The following day Grant attacked the Confederates with reinforcements, making them withdraw to Corinth, Mississippi, but without a conclusive victory. The Battle of the Wilderness was fought on 5–6 May 1864 in northeast Virginia.


6
 . Gideon (“hewer” or “warrior” in Hebrew) was a hero of Israel in the Old Testament (e.g. Numbers 1:11). Perhaps from Gideon Pillow, a Confederate general, Gideon Welles, Lincoln’s Secretary of the Navy during the Civil War, Gideon Mantell (1790–1852), who discovered the first dinosaur in 1822, or, most probably, Gédéon Baril, known simply as “Gédéon,” who illustrated Verne, was the editor of the Journal d’Amiens
 that published the account of Verne’s balloon ascent, and joined the Académie d’Amiens in 1875 (Verne’s speech of welcome was published (Textes oubliés,
 231)). While “Spilett” is not authentic, “Spillett” which occurs in part of the manuscript is a rea


7
 . Sir Henry Morton Stanley (1841–1904), Anglo-American journalist, explorer, and colonizer. During the Civil War he served with the Confederates and was captured; 
 he joined the New York Herald
 in 1867. Dispatched to Lake Tanganyika in 1869 by editor Bennett, he is reported to have said “Dr. Livingstone, I presume?”


8
 . This is slightly inconsistent with the earlier point: “He did not burden the telegraph wires incessantly.” In Michel Strogoff
 (ch. 17), the British journalist similarly telegraphs the beginning of Genesis to block his French rival. The real-life New York Herald
 of 18 May 1863 contained a dispatch headed “Our Expeditionary Correspondence. South Side of Big Black River, Masterson’s Ferry, May 8, 1863,” which mentions the un-named reporter’s “depending on the courtesy of returning officers to take our communications.” Verne is therefore mistaken in implying that a telegraph was available at Black River.


9
 . Nebuchadnezzar II, king of Babylon (605–562 BC), conquered much of southwest Asia Minor and in 586 destroyed Judah and its capital Jerusalem.


10
 . After being repulsed by Lee at Cold Harbor, just north of Richmond, Grant bypassed the Confederate capital. He advanced towards Petersburg, Virginia, a railway center critical for supply lines, but failed to isolate Richmond. On 20 June, Grant laid siege to the city, but the defenders held out for nine months, bringing his operations in Virginia to a halt.


11
 . Benjamin (J.) Butler (1810/18–93), Unionist general and politician.


12
 . Probably from Jonathan Forster (1804–79), author of Biblical Psychology
 (1873).


13
 . Robert E. Lee (1807–70), brilliant Confederate general.


14
 . Verne’s “The Blockade Runners” (1865) centers on the siege and blockade of Charleston in 1863. There is a parallel between Smith’s escaping the siege of Richmond by balloon and the siege of Paris, during which Verne received two letters from Hetzel in Paris by pigeon or balloon (Antoine Parménie, Histoire d’un éditeur et de ses auteurs, P.-J. Hetzel
 (1953) 537). There is also a parallel between Verne’s remark about the Commune, “They should shoot the socialists like dogs,” and the way the pirates are massacred. Indeed, the decision is taken before the invaders do much harm, with even the narrator declaring “[they] would have to destroy them to the last man” (III, 2).


15
 . In MS2 he is called “Cracroft
 ,” an authentic surname. “Pencroff” seems to have been invented by Verne, although the name “Pencroft” exists. The origin may be “Bancroft” a sailor in “The Mutineers of the Bounty,
 ” in the chapter entitled, like Part II
 of MI,
 “The Abandoned One.”


16
 . There was an authentic Harbert Brown, a private in the Fifth Regiment of Guilford County, North Carolina (Muster Rolls Soldiers of the War of 1812 … Published … [by] Uzzell State Printers and Binders 1873
 (WWW)). Harbert is a common French name, of German origin.


17
 . They will also leave the island on a 24 March (1869). By a remarkable coincidence Verne died exactly forty years later, on 24 March 1905, also a Friday.



CHAPTER IV
 (pp. 26–36)



1
 . Lithodomes, or date-shells, are a genus of small mussels which burrow in rock or stone.


2
 . The deodar, or Himalayan cedar, is celebrated for its beauty, longevity, size, and durability.



CHAPTER VI
 
 (pp. 45–53)



1
 . The Juan-Fernandez Islands, probably discovered by Juan Fernandez (1563), are a sparsely inhabited group in the south Pacific, about 400 miles west of Valparaiso. The islands, now Chilean, are rocky and volcanic in origin, with an area of about seventy square miles and rising to 5,415 ft. Verne’s phrase “l’archipel des Auckland” is unconventional. The Auckland Islands are uninhabited, about 290 miles south of New Zealand.


2
 . Jacamar is the name for about eighteen species of birds of South and Central America, usually metallic green or blue and with long sharp bills.


3
 . The South American couroucou, or Trogon curucui,
 is the smallest bird in the world apart from the humming bird family.


4
 . Izaak Walton (1593–1683), The Compleat Angler, or the Contemplative Man’s Recreation
 (1653).



CHAPTER IX
 (pp. 73–83)



1
 . “[2 February 1873] I’m fully devoted to the Robinson,
 or more exactly MI.
 Until now it’s been downhill all the way; but I’m also spending my time with professors of chemistry … for MI
 will be a chemical novel. I’m managing with the greatest care the interest deriving from Nemo’s unsuspected presence on the Island, in such a way as to have a successful climax, like caresses of a pretty woman that one wants to take where you know!” (Corr.,
 189).


2
 . The capybara, Hydrochaeris hydrochaeris,
 or water-hog, lives near the rivers of tropical South America. Close to the guinea-pig, it is the largest quadruped rodent, at up to 110 pounds. Although the settlers find it “excellent,” it is normally judged merely edible.



CHAPTER X
 (pp. 84–93)



1
 . The description of the mountain system of a country, as opposed to the hydrographical.


2
 . A genus of birds typified by the moor-hen (Gallinula chloropus
 ).


3
 . A pheasant of the genus Ceriornis
 with a pair of erectile fleshy horns, found in south and east Asia.


4
 . A wild mountain sheep, especially Ovis musimon,
 native to southern Europe.


5
 . Verne’s word “éventrement” (deep opening) is absent from the dictionaries and from Gallica.


6
 . Antares, also Alpha Scorpii, a first-magnitude, supergiant variable binary red star.


7
 . Fomalhaut, a blue-white star twenty-two light-years away, the brightest star in the constellation of (Alpha) Piscis Austrinus, the Southern Fish, best seen in the evening.



CHAPTER XI
 (pp. 93–104)



1
 . Animals belonging to the Mollusca,
 with the middle part of the foot expanded into a pair of wing-like lobes, used for swimming. Guermonprez (“Notes,” 16) suggests the Island’s shape is like Cyprus or Rawaki (Phoenix) island in Kiribati, south of 
 Hawaii. Faivre (136) suggests Celebes; Margery Fisher, that it is whale-shaped (The Bright Face of Danger
 (1986), 308–13 (308)); Jean Varmond, that it is like a sleeping squid or Jan Mayen (“Trois îles: L’Ile heureuse,” BSJV
 (First Series) 8 (1937): 117–31 (124)). Poirier writes of a “troubling resemblance [with] the right part of the island of Saint-Pierre with its three islands at the entrance,” part of his wider, but weak, thesis that the “weather conditions, folkways, and mores [of Lincoln and Saint-Pierre are] curiously similar” and that Verne had sustained links with families from Saint-Pierre and Miquelon, off Labrador.


2
 . George Washington (1732–99), commander-in-chief in the War of Independence and president (1789–97), and one of Nemo’s heroes in Twenty Thousand Leagues,
 “Washington, the founder of the American Union” (II, 8). There exist many Washington Bays in the US. The real-life Mount Franklin is an extinct volcano with an accessible crater, in the Franklin Mountains State Park, northwestern El Paso County (31° 50′ N, 106° 30 W). There is a Grant Lake at 37° 49′ N, 119° 7′ W, now part of the Los Angeles aqueduct system.


3
 . Abraham Lincoln (1809–65), sixteenth American president, maintained the Union during the Civil War and abolished slavery. In Twenty Thousand Leagues
 he is another of Nemo’s heroes, “Lincoln, who fell shot by a supporter of slavery” (II, 8).



CHAPTER XII
 (pp. 104–14)



1
 . Karl Bischoff (Verne: “Bischof”) (1792–1870). Verne’s information is copied from “The experiments of Bischof [sic
 ] on basalt seem to prove that, to pass from the liquid to the solid state, to cool down from 2,000 to 200 degrees, our globe needed 350 million years” (Camille Flammarion, Astronomie populaire
 (1854–57) (Gallica)).


2
 . What seems to be Verne’s spelling mistake (“tussac”) is in fact a variant form of tussock(-grass), dense clumps of low perennial grasses covering about ten percent of the Outback.


3
 . Verne is commenting satirically on the hackneyed status of the coconut tree, as for instance in Beaulieu’s Le Robinson de douze ans
 (ch. 3) or, especially, Bernardin de Saint-Pierre’s Paul et Virginie
 (1788).


4
 . The mara is a large hare-like cavy from Patagonia, Dolichotis patachonica.
 The agouti is a genus of rodents, belonging to the cavy or guinea-pig family, with the common species (Dasyprocta agouti
 ) resembling a hare. Verne may have got the terms from Beaulieu (ch. 2) or from Le Magasin pittoresque
 (“Les Animaux domestiques,” 1864, 156 (Gallica)), which describes “the agouti, which lives in the West Indies and North America, and the mara, which lives on the pampas of Buenos-Aires and Patagonia.” In other words, the mara is not really a sort of agouti. The article continues that the mara is like a hare whose “tail and ears have been cut,” again unlike Verne’s description.


5
 . Casuarinas are a genus of trees with jointed leafless branches resembling gigantic horse-tails, native to Australia and Indonesia. “The Banksias … grow most luxuriantly in the southern and temperate parts of Australia” (Charles Lyell, Elements of Geology
 (1839) (XV, 231)).


6
 . The Liliaceae family belong to the order of amaryllids, commonly known as the giant lily. The stem is leafy and fifteen or twenty feet high, with at the top a cluster of large crimson blossoms.


7
 . 
 The source is probably Océanie, ou Cinquième partie du monde
 (1826) by M. G. L. Domeny de Rienzi (Gallica), which cites both philedons and lyrebirds.



CHAPTER XIII
 (pp. 115–26)



1
 . The word “crejimba
 ” is not recorded in either French or English. “UR” reads: “a certain species known under the name of airi
 or crejimba,
 whose wood serves to construct the best bows of the South American Indians” (159). “Airi
 ” is not in the dictionaries or encyclopedias either, although Jean de Léry, Histoire d’un voyage fait en la terre du Brésil
 (1578) (Gallica) refers to “Airi,
 a spiny tree and its fruit” (175).


2
 . The bark of Hibiscus heterophyllus,
 or Queensland sorrel or green kurrajong, is often used to make nets.


3
 . Kaolin is a fine white clay used in the manufacture of porcelain, invented by the Chinese but now employed more widely.


4
 . A genus of fungi, allied to mushrooms, toadstools, and sap-balls and sometimes used to make tinder.


5
 . Wormwood is a genus of plants (order of Compositae
 ) with a bitter or aromatic taste, including common wormwood, mugwort, and southernwood. Citronella is a fragrant Asian grass, Cymbopogon nardus,
 used in cooking and perfumery.


6
 . Verne erroneously wrote “macrophizum.” Caladiums are classified in the genera Caladium
 and Xanthosoma.



7
 . A rhizome is a fleshy underground stem that grows horizontally as a food-storing organ and enables the plant to reproduce itself. The Dictionary of Medical Terminology
 (1854–67) defines Portland sago as “Portland arrow-root, a fecula prepared from Arum maculatum
 in the ‘Isle’ of Portland, a peninsula on the coast of Dorsetshire.” Aronnax and his friends in Twenty Thousand Leagues
 marvel at a sago tree they find on Gueboroar.


8
 . The sextant is used to measure the elevation of the sun or the stars, and hence calculate the latitude or longitude.



CHAPTER XIV
 (pp. 126–36)



1
 . The study of mollusks.


2
 . The brilliantly colored, polished phasianella, or pheasant-shells, from the Australian seas, belong to the gastropod genus Phasianella.
 “Terebratula” was formerly used more widely for any members of the Terebratulidae
 and related families; the lamp-shells. Bivalve mollusks of the genus Trigonia
 have triangular shells. Verne’s source is presumably Henry Hollard, Nouveaux éléments de zoologie ou étude du règne animal
 (1839) (Gallica), which describes all three sorts of shell.



CHAPTER XV
 (pp. 136–45)



1
 . Verne’s “koula” must be a mistake for “koala,” distinct of course from the sloth, although his description seems to cover both. In the heading of chapter 15, but not in the main text, Verne includes “Capture of an echidna.” The echidna, or spiny ant-eater, is a toothless burrowing egg-laying mammal of the order Monotremata, resembling a hedgehog and found in Australia and New Guinea.


2
 . “Tubal-Cain, the forger of every cutting instrument of brass and iron” (Genesis 4:19).


 
CHAPTER XVI
 (pp. 145–54)



1
 . The coot, or purple gallinule, is either the swamp-hen, Porphyrio porphyrio,
 or a similar North American bird, Porphyrula martinica.
 Macrodactyls are long-toed wading birds.


2
 . The manatee, or lamantin, is a large aquatic herbivorous cetacean of the family Trichechidae, living in rivers and estuaries of the tropical Atlantic.


3
 . A large aquatic herbivorous mammal (the family Dugongidae in the order Sirenia; classified as Dugong dugon
 ) native to the western Pacific and Indian Ocean.

Verne’s etymological explanation is highly dubious.


4
 . The maximum weight of a dugong in real life is slightly over 2,000 pounds.



CHAPTER XVII
 (pp. 154–65)



1
 . Also called fuming sulphuric acid or oleum, made by dissolving trioxide in concentrated sulphuric acid.



CHAPTER XVIII
 (pp. 165–74)



1
 . “Granite House” (in English in the French text) is Verne’s equivalent of Wyss’s “Felsen-Heim” (in German in the French translation), although “Felsen-Heim” is called “Rock House” in English translations of Wyss: a symbol of the difficulty of translating texts across multiple languages.



CHAPTER XIX
 (pp. 174–84)



1
 . The power elevator was developed in the 1850s; an elevator using a vertical screw was installed in the Fifth Avenue Hotel in New York in 1859. Verne stayed there twice in 1867, and refers to the elevator in A Floating City
 (chs 34 and 39) and Twenty Thousand Leagues
 (I, 2).


2
 . Verne wrote “monardes didymes,” a scientific term but in an unusual, Gallicized form, as so often in his works: Oswego Tea, a herbaceous perennial plant, Monarda didyma,
 also called bergamot, belongs to the family Labiatae.



CHAPTER XX
 (pp. 184–91)



1
 . Olein is the liquid portion of fats and oils; or, in more specialized usage, the trioleate of glyceryl, C3
 H5
 (C18
 H33
 O2
 )3
 , one of the most widely diffused natural fats. Margarine is made from edible oils and meat fats with water or skimmed milk; the French word dates from 1813, and margarine was introduced commercially in 1873, in Paris. Stearin is the most abundant solid constituent of fats and oils.


2
 . “Acer” is Latin for “maple”; Acer sacchar(in)um,
 the scientific term for sugar maple.



CHAPTER XXI
 (pp. 192–200)



1
 . Verne’s term “culpeux” is not in most dictionaries, although “culpeu,” meaning an American wolf, occurs in both Darwin’s Voyage of the Beagle
 (1842–60) and Victor Hugo.


2
 . Smith’s idea of a Pacific continent was highly controversial, for it was only in the twentieth century that the concept of moving continents received general acceptance.


3
 . Chimborazo (20,561 feet) is a snow-capped volcano in the Ecuadorean Andes.



CHAPTER XXII
 
 (pp. 200–212)



1
 . Verne’s term, “suilliens,” is not in the French dictionaries, although it derives from suilla
 (Latin for “pig” or “pork”).


2
 . Gregarious quadrupeds of South and Central America: the collared peccary as far north as Texas and the white-lipped peccary of South America. Not only is the narrator intrusive in naming the animals while the characters remain for the moment in ignorance, but also by providing information about their classification and behavior. The animal in the illustration (p. 202) is not a peccary, but a piglet.


3
 . Verne’s French term, “tajassous,” is apparently mis-spelled (for “tajacus”). Amongst the peccaries making up the Tayassuidae family, the common peccary is classified as Tayassu tajacu.



4
 . Why doesn’t Smith raise the panel?


5
 . The bustard is a kind of wild turkey from the plains of Europe, Asia, and Africa.


6
 . Verne’s term for “molar,” “mâchelière,” is rare, visible mainly in Raymond Roussel, probably being borrowed from palaentological descriptions of mammoths’ teeth, particularly Buffon’s Des Epoques de la nature
 (1749).


7
 . The manuscripts of Part I
 of “UR” similarly end with the words “It was indeed a lead bullet.” Verne has been much criticized for ascribing the bullet to Nemo, when the captain has his special electric capsules. But Nemo never actually admits responsibility, and in any case sometimes uses conventional weapons when on land, for he gives the settlers “two flintlock guns, two percussion cap guns, two carbines with central ignition” (II, 2), plus, in one of the manuscripts, “two bags of bullets and shot.” More inconsistent is to find the bullet in a peccary since, in Twenty Thousand Leagues
 at least, Nemo says “I never make use of the flesh of earthbound animals” (I, 10).



PART II





CHAPTER I
 (pp. 215–24)



1
 . Journey to the Centre of the Earth
 creates a self-conscious poetic effect by mixing “trees from highly different countries … the Australian eucalyptus leaning on the Norwegian fir, the northern birch mingling its branches with the New Zealand kauri” (ch. 39). The kauri pine, Agathis australis,
 yields valuable timber and resin.


2
 . The bodies of the Chelonians, including the different species of tortoises and turtles, are enclosed in a double shell. Verne’s “mydase” in the following sentence is an error for “mydas.”



CHAPTER III
 (pp. 235–45)



1
 . Either a tree of the genus Celtis,
 belonging to the order Ulmaceae, or an Australian tree of the genus Laportea.



2
 . The Lardizabalaceae (Verne’s “lardizabalées” is apparently an error) are an order of evergreen twining shrubs, often seen in greenhouses.


3
 . The Chenopodiaceae, or goosefoot family, contain the Chenopodium album,
 or fat-hen, native to Eurasia, used in salads or cooked like spinach.


4
 . Verne seems to be conflating two different terms. A touraco is any bird of the family Musophagidae (plantain-eaters) of Africa, and especially of the genus Turacus
 
 (or Corythaix
 ), a large bird with brilliant plumage and prominent crest. Lories (family Loriinae) are parrot-like birds of brilliant plumage, chiefly bristle-tongued, found in southeast Asia, Indonesia, and Australia.


5
 . Eugenia
 is a genus of tropical trees, mostly found in America and the West Indies, of which the most important is Eugenia pimenta
 or allspice tree. Eugenia cauliflora
 is an evergreen Brazilian tree of the family Myrtaceae with clusters of white flowers and purple fruit growing directly on the trunk and branches. Spix and Martius’s Travels in Brazil
 (1824) reports that a “light and agreeable wine is prepared from the fruits of the jabuticaba (Myrtus cauliflora
 )” (II, 3, 2, 85). Myrtle is the name for a family of about 3,850 species of trees and shrubs, mostly in America and tropical Asia. The Chilean guava, Myrtus ugni
 (Verne: “ungi
 ”), has ovate, dark-green leaves and white flowers succeeded by glossy red or black fruit. Eucalyptus robusta,
 or swamp mahogany, is a gum-tree native to coastal eastern Australia. Eucalyptus gunnii
 (Verne erroneously wrote “eucalyptus gunei”) is the Australian sugar-gum.


6
 . An order of mammals, including monkeys, apes, baboons, and lemurs, with four feet or hands having an opposable digit.



CHAPTER IV
 (pp. 246–55)



1
 . Marco Polo (c. 1254–1324) writes of the many uses for bamboo in Il Milione
 (c. 1290). Verne cites the book in Famous Travels and Travelers
 (IV, 3), speaking, however of Tibet rather than Tartary: “travelers … take such sticks and make a big fire of them, because when they burn with cracking noises, lions, bears, and other wild beasts run away in fright.”



CHAPTER VI
 (pp. 266–78)



1
 . Macaco is the name applied to certain lemurs; a sapajou, a South American monkey of the genus Cebus,
 and more generally a tailed monkey, as distinct from apes, baboons, and gorillas. A guenon is any of about twenty species of African monkeys of the genus Cercopithecus,
 family Cercopithecidae. A saki is a South American monkey of the family Cebidae, of genus Pithecia
 or Brachyurus.



2
 . The illustrations (pp. 272, 276, and 278) erroneously show the orang-utan with a tail. Throughout the novel Verne makes jokes about silent and obedient servants being best, the orang-utan amongst them. In “Humbug,” his racism goes further: “the Blacks … must really curse the first of their number who was foolish enough to produce a sound; for it was from that day, so they maintain, that they became slaves, and were forced to work. According to them, monkeys are Blacks who are wise enough to keep silent, and thus avoid the heavy exertions of slavery” (“Humbug,” 36—a passage excised by Michel Verne). The source must be an objectionable passage, probably invented by Hetzel in “his” The Swiss Family Robinson:
 “You know what a Negro thought of a domesticated orang-utan, who had the same master as him. He regarded him as a Negro more cunning than the others and swore that, if he didn’t talk, it was because he didn’t want to … ‘so me not need to work.’” But Verne is also influenced by Rienzi, who writes of an orang-utan who served him at table, smoked, and generally resembled a mute servant (I, 28–29).


3
 . A kind of ape having a head like a dog; the dog-faced baboon.


4
 . Georges-Louis Leclerc, comte de Buffon (1707–88). His works include the 
 widely read forty-four volumes of Histoire naturelle
 (1749–89) (Gallica) and a Discours sur le style
 (1753).


5
 . Jup is to Jupiter as Neb is to Nebuchadnezzar. Jupiter, or Jove for the Romans, was the ruler of the gods and the god of rain, thunder, and lightning; in French Jup is a homonym of “jupe” (skirt).



CHAPTER VII
 (pp. 279–88)



1
 . Verne’s “rrhyomes” is a misprint in the first grand-octavo edition.


2
 . Verne’s spelling, “onaggas,” is highly unusual, probably by analogy with “couagga.” An onager is a wild ass, especially the species Equus onager
 of central Asia. A quagga was a form of zebra from southern Africa exterminated in about 1873. Buffon did a famous engraving of one entitled “Le Kwagga ou couagga,” although Verne may have taken the idea from Mayne-Reid’s Les Enfants des bois
 (1865), translated by E. de La Bedollière (Gallica).



CHAPTER VIII
 (pp. 288–98)



1
 . Pyroxyle is any explosive compound, such as guncotton, produced by treating vegetable fiber with nitric acid. It burns in air with a flash, though without smoke or report; but is violently explosive in a confined space. Cellulose is the essential part of the solid framework of plants, occurring to some extent in animal bodies.


2
 . Argalis are wild sheep that inhabit the high mountains and plateaux of Central Asia, including the long-haired subspecies the Marco Polo sheep.


3
 . “Abies” is Latin for “fir tree,” sometimes also including the spruces.


4
 . Verne’s French reads “spring-berr,” but what is meant, given his paraphrase, is spruce beer, a fermented beverage made from the leaves and branches of the spruce. Voyage de La Pérouse autour du monde
 (Gallica) cites spruce beer as preventing scurvy.


5
 . The houbara, or Chlamydotis undulata,
 is a bustard found in north Africa and Asia.



CHAPTER X
 (pp. 309–20)



1
 . The term “fendif” (cracked) seems to have entered written French through Verne’s use here.


2
 . Presumably Martha’s Vineyard, an island in southeast Massachusetts, at that time a whaling center.


3
 . Ernst (or in English Ernest) Dieffenbach (1811–55), German explorer, naturalist, author of New Zealand, and its Native Population
 (1841), and translator of Darwin’s Voyage of the Beagle.




CHAPTER XI
 (pp. 320–31)



1
 . A mule-jenny, or mule, was a kind of spinning machine invented by Samuel Crompton (1753–1827). Verne’s French text reads “self-acting” (in English) as a noun, perhaps mistakenly detached from “mule-jenny”: R. A. Arnold, Cotton Familiars
 (1864), refers to “a minder and a creeler engaged in manufacturing with a self-acting mule” (32).


2
 . Verne wrote “Bennett” in Captain Grant’s Children
 and “In the Year 2889,” but “Benett” in MI;
 John (James Gordon) Bennett (Sr.) (1795–1872), Scottish-American 
 founder and editor of the New York Herald
 (1835). The Herald
 expanded by writing lurid and scandalous pieces, became the best-selling paper from 1860, and, although known for its accurate reportage during the Civil War, was generally pro-South and anti-abolitionist.


3
 . Since the energy needed to separate the hydrogen and oxygen will be greater than that obtained by putting them back together, Smith’s idea would be feasible only if “inexhaustible” is taken metaphorically and weight is an important factor, as on boats, trains, or aircraft.



CHAPTER XII
 (pp. 332–45)



1
 . Verne’s “membra” (fitted), the preterite of “membrer,” with strong sexual connotations, is rare in written French.


2
 . Containing the letters v, e, r, n,
 and e;
 Verne uses an Anglicized form of the theologian St. Bonaventure (c. 1217–74). Hetzel’s printer in 1869 was called Jules
 Bonaventure.



CHAPTER XIII
 (pp. 345–55)



1
 . Verne’s term, “volateurs,” is absent from the dictionaries and Gallica, although later adopted by Raymond Roussel.



CHAPTER XIV
 (pp. 356–65)



1
 . The name presumably derives from the Britannia
 which crossed from Liverpool to Boston in 1840, explaining Verne’s remark that it might be a (North) American ship. The Canadian Sir Samuel Cunard (1787–1865), referred to as the “British shipowner Cunard” in Around the World
 (ch. 1), was at the helm to inaugurate the first transatlantic steamship service. For the alert reader, the name refers back to Captain Grant’s Children.




CHAPTER XV
 (pp. 365–75)



1
 . A slip for 19 October.


2
 . In fact ten or eleven days.



CHAPTER XVI
 (pp. 376–88)



1
 . In reality November.


2
 . Yet five paragraphs earlier we read: “Cyrus Smith and the reporter, too far away, could not hear them.” Smith seems to transcend space and time.



CHAPTER XVII
 (pp. 388–400)



1
 . The date recorded in Captain Grant’s Children
 (I, 6) is 20 December 1864, the ten year discrepancy presumably being so that Ayrton can have time to repent before Glenarvan’s return. Duncan I (1001–40) was king of Scotland (1034–40); in Backwards to Britain
 Verne describes a performance of Macbeth,
 including Macbeth’s “murder of Duncan” (ch. 43). An explorer simply called “Duncan” is mentioned in Five Weeks in a Balloon
 (ch. 1).

In Captain Grant’s Children,
 Lord Edward Glenarvan is “one of the sixteen Scottish peers who sit in the Upper House” of the British Parliament. Glenarvan is not 
 an authentic name, but clearly derives from Lady Caroline Lamb’s Glenarvon
 (1817). Its hero, Lord Glenarvon, is modeled closely on Byron, with whom the author had a scandalous love affair, describing him as “mad, bad, and dangerous to know.” Glenarvan and Glenarvon are (in British English) homonyms of Glen Avon in Scotland; but Arvan is also a valley in Savoy.


2
 . An Irish convict, John (Sheedy) Mangles (1786/88–1835/42), was transported to New South Wales in 1824 (WWW).


3
 . Children of Captain Grant, whose name may be derived from the American general.


4
 . Dampier cites Cape Corrientes in his Voyages
 (1729) (I, 256).


5
 . The name is borrowed from Frederick Ayrton, Mr. Ayrton on the Sources of the White Nile: Observations upon M. d’Abbadie’s Account of his Discovery of the Sources of the White Nile …
 (c. 1847). Hetzel criticized the Ayrton episode as follows (22?) September 1873 (Corr.,
 205–06)): “This savagery lasts infinitely too long … the best doctors, the physiologists like Béclard [Jules Béclard (1818–87), the influential author of Traité élementaire de physiologie humaine
 (1855)], tell me that total isolation, especially when it is aided by provisions, arms, and books … could not explain his loss of faculties. No man re-becomes a monkey, because no man was ever one. If you had derived a very dramatic result form this animality, so be it, but no. It’s more monotonous
 dull than interesting … Béclard agrees that he can be supposed to have lost his speech but he will find it again … quite quickly. He must not feel the need to absolutely continue his solitary existence, must rather fear it.”


6
 . “Ben” means “mountain” in Gaelic; Ben Lomond is the centerpiece, and true hero, of Backwards to Britain.



7
 . This mock-editorial note refers readers forward to the note on p. 397, which then refers them back to this one! The word “later” may also mean “when the readers are of an age to understand such adult things.” While Verne is consciously and playfully deconstructing the textual conventions (especially the interference of his editor), he eludes the problem of the many discordances of dates and other information between MI
 and Twenty Thousand Leagues,
 especially inconsistencies that serve no purpose. For instance, during Nemo’s recital we are told that “during the night of the 6th of November 1866, three men were thrown upon his deck” (III, 16), namely one year before the date given in Twenty Thousand Leagues
 (I, 6). Why does Verne change the date when there is a discrepancy of twenty or thirty years between the Nemo dying from old age and the vigorous Nemo of the earlier novel?



CHAPTER XVIII
 (pp. 400–11)



1
 . Antoine César Becquerel (1788–1878), who used electrolysis to isolate metals from their ores.


2
 . This is the only occasion where Verne uses kilometers in the main text. The speed of electricity is now known to be 300,000 kilometers per second.


3
 . It is not explained how the individual letters are transmitted by telegraph, rather than simply “on” and “off”: such a transmission seems technologically in advance of its time.



CHAPTER XX
 
 (pp. 421–30)



1
 . Even though the term “the unconscious” (“l’inconscient”) was not used before the 1890s, Verne demonstrates a clear awareness of the concept in his books. He was the first writer in the world to use the word “inconsciemment” (unconsciously). The first occurrences are in Around the World,
 in Passepartout’s “unconsciously rocking his head from side to side” (ch. 4) and Fogg’s final “day gained unconsciously” (ch. 37). In MI,
 “Almost unconsciously, they descended this ravine” appears, significantly, when the settlers are descending towards the crypt and the secret from the past. The term also occurs in Mathias Sandorf
 (1885), in the same paragraph as a reference to Jean-Martin Charcot (1825–93), the co-founder of modern neurology who taught Freud.


2
 . Verne seems to have invented the word “hiverneurs,” which contains the letters v, e, r, n,
 and e
 in order.



PART III





CHAPTER II
 (pp. 443–54)



1
 . In the chapter heading Verne writes “Grant Islet” (cf. Lake Grant) for what he normally calls “Safety Island.”


2
 . Around the World in Eighty Days
 refers to an “Andrew Speedy, of Cardiff.”


3
 . Bob Harvey is not mentioned in Captain Grant’s Children,
 although there is a “Bob Learce.”



CHAPTER VIII
 (pp. 507–11)



1
 . In ch. 6, however, we read: “Ayrton therefore left on the 9th … and, two hours later, the telegraph announced that he had found everything in order at the corral.” If the convicts had already occupied the corral when Ayrton arrived, how could he send the signal?



CHAPTER X
 (pp. 521–29)



1
 . A febrifuge is a medicine for fever; cinchona, the medicinal bark containing the alkaloid C20
 H24
 N2
 O2
 from which the drug quinine is obtained. The bark comes from the Cinchona,
 a genus of tropical evergreen trees and shrubs.


2
 . A bitter crystalline principle obtained from willow bark, much used medicinally.



CHAPTER XI
 (pp. 529–39)



1
 . In 1869, 14 February was a Sunday, but not in 1868.


2
 . Cassowaries are a genus of large running birds related to the ostrich, native to northern Australia and New Guinea. Grallatory means pertaining to the order Grallatores, which consists of long-legged wading birds, such as the crane, heron, etc.



CHAPTER XIII
 (pp. 550–61)



1
 . The anniversary is in fact March 24th.



CHAPTER XV
 
 (pp. 570–85)



1
 . “féeriquement” (magically) is apparently invented by Verne, although adopted by the poet Stéphane Mallarmé in a letter of April 1886 to a Mr. Harrison in Rhodes.


2
 . “Nemo” without a first name has the advantage of concealing any nationality; it is an allusion to many sources. First, Nemo (no one) is the Latin name Ulysses takes in the Odyssey,
 allowing him to use the pun “Nemo/No one is killing me” to fool the cyclops. Nemo is, secondly, the assumed name of the dead opium addict at the beginning of Dickens’s Bleak House
 (1853). The word occurs, especially, in “Nemo me impune lacessit” (no one assails me with impunity), the motto of the Scottish Crown reproduced in the Edinburgh Coat of Arms, which Verne frequently saw during his 1859 visit; it is quoted in Poe’s “The Cask of Amontillado” (1846). This derivation is in fact resoundingly confirmed by Verne’s indicating Louis Enault as his primary source on Scotland (Backwards to Britain,
 ch. 1) in combination with Enault’s citation of the motto in Angleterre, Ecosse, Irlande
 (1859) (ch. 2). There may also be echoes of “Nemo repente fuit turpissimus” (no man ever became very wicked all at once), of the “admirable” “floating and sweating seaweed” Nemostoma
 of Twenty Thousand Leagues
 (I, 20), or of the Lago di Nem
 i near Rome (cited by Byron in Childe Harold
 ), ancient Lacus Nemo
 rensis, in the crater of an extinct volcano drained by a two-mile tunnel.

The Nemo in the illustrations of MI
 is not recognizably the same as the Nemo of Twenty Thousand Leagues,
 drawn from Hetzel and Colonel Jean-Baptiste Charras (1810–65).



CHAPTER XVI
 (pp. 585–95)



1
 . Analyses of Verne’s sources on submarine navigation and of the origins of the name Nautilus
 appear in Twenty Thousand Leagues,
 trans. and ed. William Butcher, 1998 (382–84 and 396–97).


2
 . Nemo is based on Gustave Flourens (1838–71), a French revolutionary and close friend of Mrs. Karl and Miss Jenny Marx. Flourens fought in the Polish insurrection (1863) and Cretan uprising (1866), supported the Irish nationalists, lived in exile in London and Belgium, and wrote distinguished volumes like Histoire de l’homme
 (1863) and Science de l’homme
 (1865), as well as political works (1863, 1864). He was active in French politics from 1869 to 1871. Clear similarities exist with Nemo’s scientific and revolutionary activities and his romantic rebellion. A vital clue is provided by Paris in the Twentieth Century,
 set in 1960, which describes its hero as “pass[ing] in front of the Sorbonne where M. Flourens was still giving his lectures with the greatest success, still keen, still young” (he occupied a chair at the Natural History Museum at twenty-five).


3
 . In Twenty Thousand Leagues
 Nemo was originally Polish, and his enemies Russian; but Hetzel vetoed this as he did not want to upset the Russian government. Verne protested in a series of letters: “suppose Nemo to be a Pole,
 and the ship sunk a Russian
 one, would there be the shadow of an objection to raise? No, a hundred times no! … the first idea of the book, true, logical, complete: a Pole—Russia. But since we can not say it … let’s imagine it can be that
 ” (29? April 1869; Corr.,
 103–04); “a Polish nobleman whose daughters have been raped, wife killed with an axe, father killed under the knout” (8 May 1869; Corr.,
 104); “But, to be frank, I regret my Pole, I had 
 got used to him, we were good friends, and in addition it was more straightforward, more sincere” (Spring 1867?; Martin, 171). When Nemo says his “country, wife, children, parents—perished as I watched!” (II, 21), a European nation, most obviously Poland, is implied. It has been speculated that Nemo is Indian in Twenty Thousand Leagues,
 but there is precious little basis for such an idea. Verne himself wrote “Readers will suppose what they want, depending on their character” (11? June 1869; Corr.,
 113). For further information on Verne’s repeated protests, see my Twenty Thousand Leagues,
 xvii and 437–8.

In his works, Verne systematically undermines the difference between fact and fiction, perhaps to add plausibility to his own inventions. One way he does this is to have his characters cite previous fiction as though it were true. This is taken a stage further when the works cited are by Verne himself; and yet another when the fictive characters meet characters from previous works, as in the settlers’ encounters with Ayrton from Captain Grant’s Children
 and Nemo from Twenty Thousand Leagues.



4
 . In MS2 this note is in Verne’s hand, although the word “several” is missing. The words “(Editor’s note),” again by Verne, are appended in smaller writing.


5
 . The origin of “Dakkar” must be the authentic Indian surname Dakkar, either the Prince’s surname or first name. The name was probably introduced by Hetzel. Its more common form is Thakkar, and there is an English word “thakur” or “thakoor,” meaning “Lord,” used as a title or term of respect.

Bundelkhand (Verne erroneously wrote “Bundelkund”) in central India, now part of Madhya Pradesh state, is where Fogg and Passepartout rescue Princess Aouda in Around the World.
 It was reported that Verne inserted the Aouda episode after his wife flirted with an Indian prince while the Vernes were staying at Piriac-sur-mer, near Nantes; perhaps an important source for Dakkar. Princess Aouda and Prince Dakkar do share unique characteristics. Apart from The Tribulations of a Chinese in China
 they are the only non-European heroes in Verne’s works, both speak English perfectly, both appear in the early 1870s, and both rebel against the prevailing ideology and their unprincipled compatriots.


6
 . Tippo Sahib (or Tippo-Saïb, Tipu Sahib, or Tipu Sultan—1749/50–99) is thus both the uncle and the model for Dakkar. Verne wrote in Famous Travels and Travelers
 (I, 1): “Thanks to the astute, disloyal, and cynical policy of the British governors Clive and Hastings … the [East India] Company possessed … an immense territory. Only the sultan of Mysore, Tippoo-Saëb [sic
 ], fought with energy against the British, but he could not win against the coalition that Colonel Wellesley was able to unite against him.” Tippo was forced to give up half his dominions and pay heavy indemnities. He did not cede; but the British marched on his capital, Seringapatam, in 1799, and Tippo fell defending the city, although apparently he could have saved his life. Additional resonance is given by the context of French ambitions, especially Napoleon’s conquest of Egypt (1798–99), designed to acquire a base for an attack on British India. Tippo had sent ambassadors to Louis XVI; and Napoleon replied to the Imam of Muscat on 25 January 1799: “I write you this letter to let you know what you have probably already learned, the arrival of the French army in Egypt. / … I beg you also to forward this letter to Tippo-Sahib on the first occasion which will arise for India [sic
 ]” (Gallica).


7
 . 
 In Twenty Thousand Leagues,
 Nemo’s bullets are “small glass capsules, invented by the Austrian chemist Leniebroek” (I, 16).



CHAPTER XVII
 (pp. 595–605)



1
 . Death from old age or even illness is extremely rare in Verne’s works. Death is usually from suicide, especially in the early works, or as a punishment to evil-doers, like the convicts’ death from Nemo’s torpedo or electric rifle.


2
 . In Latin “Mobilis” means “nimble, lively; shifting, changeable; inconstant, or fickle,” and thus “MOBILIS
 IN
 MOBILI
 ” can be translated as “Mobile in the Mobile Element” or “Changing within Change.” In Twenty Thousand Leagues,
 the successive editions show repeated corrections of the six occurrences of “Mobili” to “Mobile” (although the monogram itself continued to read “Mobili” in the 1871 edition). So it is surprising to see “MOBILI
 ” re-emerging in MI,
 even if both the ablative noun “Mobile” and the ablative adjective “Mobili” are in fact correct.



CHAPTER XVIII
 (pp. 605–19)



1
 . Verne’s “rinfordzando” is a mis-spelling for “rinforzando,” in music a sudden stress or crescendo made on a short phrase; also used figuratively. The word is much used by Balzac, for instance in Eugénie Grandet
 (1833) or Le Père Goriot
 (1835).


2
 . Porphyritic rocks are very hard ones composed of crystals of white or red feldspar embedded in a red ground-mass; or containing distinct crystals or crystalline particles in a compact ground-mass; or, in literature, a fine purple stone taking a high polish, such as red granite and marble.


3
 . “[23 January 1874] My first intention was also to have Nemo warn the settlers of the danger their island was in. If I didn’t do that, it was because I wished to make the Nautilus
 Nemo’s coffin, and because in case of an impending danger, it would not be understood why the Nautilus
 was made to disappear, as it was a vessel perfectly ready and available [for their escape]” (Corr.,
 231). Since Nemo does warn Smith, Verne must have changed his mind, presumably having had the idea of blocking the Nautilus
 permanently in the cavern by changing the shape of the entrance.



CHAPTER XX
 (pp. 631–36)



1
 . In Captain Grant’s Children,
 Major MacNabbs belongs to the Black Watch and is a cousin of Captain Grant. Major John MacNabbs, fifteenth clan chief, was in the British army but was taken prisoner at Prestonpans in the 1745 rebellion. Archibald MacNabbs, seventeenth chief, fled his debts, and obtained a grant of 81,000 acres in the Ottawa River Valley. Five hundred clan members followed, but the settlement was unsuccessful, and he died in 1860 in France.

l surname.

 
A CHRONOLOGY OF JULES VERNE



1828

8 February: birth of Jules Verne on the Ile Feydeau in Nantes, to Pierre Verne, a lawyer and son and grandson of lawyers, and Sophie, née Allotte de la Fuÿe, from a military line. Sophie’s ancestor, N. Allott, was a Scot who joined Louis XI’s Scottish Guard, to be ennobled in 1462.

1829

Birth of brother, Paul, later a naval officer, but retired in 1859 and became a stockbroker; followed by those of sisters Anna (1836), Mathilde (1839), and Marie (1842).

1833/4–38

Goes to school: the teacher, Mme Sambain, is the widow of a sea-captain, whose return she is still waiting for.

1838–41

Ecole Saint-Stanislas. Performs well in geography, translation from Greek and Latin, and singing. During the holidays for many years, the Vernes stay at Chantenay, near Nantes.

1841–46

Goes to Petit séminaire de Saint-Donitien, then to Collège royal de Nantes. Above average; probably wins a prize in geography. Passes baccalauréat
 without difficulty. Writes short prose pieces.

1847

Studies law in Paris; his cousin, Caroline Tronson, with whom he has long been unhappily in love, gets married. Writes scores of poems, a play called Alexandre VI,
 and a novel entitled Un Prêtre en 1839
 (“A Priest in 1839”).

1848

June: revolution in Paris. Verne is present at the July disturbances. He is in love with Herminie Arnault-Grossetière, but she marries. Continues his law studies, sharing a room at 24 rue de l’Ancienne-Comédie with Edouard Bonamy. His uncle Francisque de Châteaubourg introduces him into literary salons. Meets Alexandre Dumas père
 and fils.
 Writes plays, including La Conspiration des poudres
 (“The Gunpowder Plot”).

1849

Passes law degree. Father allows him to stay on in Paris. Writes more plays.

1850

12 June: his one-act comedy Les Pailles rompues
 (“Broken Straws”) runs for twelve nights at Dumas’ Théâtre historique, and is published.

1851

Publishes short stories “Les Premiers navires de la Marine mexicaine” (“A Drama in Mexico”) and “Un Voyage en ballon” (“Drama in the Air”). Has a first attack of facial paralysis.


 1852–55

Becomes secretary of the Théâtre lyrique. Publishes “Martin Paz,” “Maître Zacharius” (“Master Zacharius”), “Un Hivernage dans les glaces” (“Winter in the Ice”), and the play Les Châteaux en Californie
 (“Castles in California”) in collaboration with Pitre-Chevalier. His operette Le Colin-maillard
 (“Blind Man’s Bluff”), written with Michel Carré, is performed to music by Aristide Hignard.

1856

20 May: goes to a wedding in Amiens, and meets a young widow with two children, Honorine de Viane.

1857

10 January: marries Honorine, becomes a stockbroker in Paris, and moves several times.

1859–60

Visits Scotland and England with Hignard, and is greatly marked by the experience. Writes Voyage en Angleterre et en Ecosse
 (Backwards to Britain
 ).

1861

3 August: birth of only child, Michel.

1862

15 June: travels to Norway and Denmark with Hignard.

1863

31 January: Cinq semaines en ballon
 (Five Weeks in a Ballon
 ) appears, three months after submission to publisher Jules Hetzel (contract dated 23 October 1862), and is an immediate success. Writes Paris au XXe
 siècle
 (Paris in the Twentieth Century
 ), rejected by Hetzel.

1864

New contract with Hetzel. Publication of “Edgar Poe et ses œuvres” (“Edgar Allan Poe and his Works”), Voyages et Aventures du capitaine Hatteras
 (Adventures of Captain Hatteras
 ), and Voyage au centre de la Terre
 (Journey to the Centre of the Earth
 ). Gives up his unsuccessful stockbroker practice, and moves to Auteuil.

1865


De la Terre à la Lune
 (From the Earth to the Moon
 ), Les Enfants du capitaine Grant
 (Captain Grant’s Children
 ), and “Les Forceurs de blocus” (“The Blockade Runners”). Death of Mme Estelle Duchêne of Asnières, close friend of Verne’s.

1866


Géographie de la France et de ses colonies.


1867

16 March: goes with brother to Liverpool, thence on the Great Eastern
 to the United States. First English translation of any of the novels, From the Earth to the Moon.


1868

Buys a boat, the Saint-Michel.
 Visits London.

1869


Vingt mille lieues sous les mers
 (Twenty Thousand Leagues under the Seas
 ), Autour de la Lune
 (Round the Moon
 ), and Découverte de la Terre
 (“Discovery of the Earth”). Rents a house in Amiens.


 1870

Hetzel apparently rejects L’Oncle Robinson
 (“Uncle Robinson”), an early version of L’Ile mystérieuse
 (The Mysterious Island
 ). During the Franco-Prussian War, Verne is a coastguard at Le Crotoy (Somme).

1871

3 November: father dies.

1872


Le Tour du monde en quatre-vingts jours
 (Around the World in Eighty Days
 ). Moves to 44 boulevard Longueville, Amiens; becomes member of Académie d’Amiens.

1873–74


Le Docteur Ox
 (Dr. Ox’s Experiment, and Other Stories
 ), L’Ile mystérieuse
 (The Mysterious Island
 ), and Le Chancellor
 (The Chancellor
 ). Begins collaboration with Adolphe d’Ennery on highly successful stage adaptations of novels (Le Tour du monde en 80 jours
 (1874), Les Enfants du capitaine Grant
 (1878), Michel Strogoff
 (1880)).

1876–77


Michel Strogoff
 (Michael Strogoff, the Courier of the Tsar
 ), Hector Servadac,
 and Les Indes noires
 (The Child of the Cavern
 ). Buys second, then third boat, the Saint-Michel II
 and III.
 Gives huge fancy-dress ball. Wife critically ill, but recovers. Michel rebels, and is sent to a reformatory. René de Pont-Jest sues Verne for plagiarism in Voyage au centre de la Terre.


1878


Un Capitaine de quinze ans
 (The Boy Captain
 ). June-August: sails to Lisbon and Algiers.

1879–80


Les Cinq cents millions de la Bégum
 (The Begum’s Fortune
 ), Les Tribulations d’un Chinois en Chine
 (The Tribulations of a Chinese in China
 ), and La Maison à vapeur
 (The Steam House
 ). Michel marries an actress called Thérèse Taton, despite the opposition of his father. Verne sails to Norway, Ireland, and Scotland, including Edinburgh and possibly the Hebrides. Probably has an affair with Luise Teutsch.

1881


La Jangada
 (The Giant Raft
 ). Sails to Rotterdam and Copenhagen.

1882


Le Rayon vert
 (The Green Ray
 ) and L’Ecole des Robinsons
 (The School for Robinsons
 ).

Moves to a larger house at 2 rue Charles-Dubois, Amiens.

1883–84


Kéraban-le-têtu
 (Keraban the Inflexible
 ). Michel abducts a minor, Jeanne Reboul. He will have two children by her within eleven months. Verne leaves with his wife on a grand tour of the Mediterranean, but cuts it short. On the way back, is perhaps received in private audience by Pope Leo XIII.

1885


Mathias Sandorf.


1886


Robur-le-conquérant
 (The Clipper of the Clouds
 ).

15 February: sells Saint-Michel III.



 9 March: his nephew Gaston, mentally ill, asks for money to travel to Britain. Verne refuses, and Gaston fires twice, laming him for life.

17 March: Hetzel dies.

Michel divorces, and marries Jeanne.

1887


Nord contre sud
 (North against South
 ).

15 February: mother dies.

1888


Deux ans de vacances
 (Two Years Vacation
 ). Elected local councillor on a Republican list. For next fifteen years attends council meetings, administers theatre and fairs, opens Municipal Circus (1889), and gives public talks.

1889


Sans dessus dessous
 (Topsy-Turvy
 ) and “In the Year 2889” (published in New York: signed Jules Verne but written by Michel and translated into English by an unknown person).

1890

Stomach problems.

1892


Le Château des Carpathes
 (Carpathian Castle
 ). Pays debts for Michel.

1895


L’Ile à hélice
 (Propeller Island
 ), the first novel in a European language in the present tense and third person.

1896–97


Face au drapeau
 (For the Flag
 ) and Le Sphinx des glaces
 (An Antarctic Mystery
 ). Sued by chemist Turpin, inventor of melinite, depicted in in Face au drapeau,
 but is successfully defended by Raymond Poincaré, later president of France. Health deteriorates. Brother dies.

1898


Le Superbe Orénoque
 (The Mighty Orinoco
 ).

1899

Dreyfus Affair: Verne is initially anti-Dreyfusard, but approves of the case being reviewed.

1900


Seconde patrie
 (Second Homeland
 ). Moves back into 44 boulevard Longueville. Sight weakens (cataracts).

1901


Le Village aérien
 (The Village in the Treetops
 ).

1903


Bourses de voyage
 (Traveling Scholarships
 ).

1904


Maître du monde
 (The Master of the World
 ).

1905

17 March: falls seriously ill from diabetes.

24 March: dies, and is buried in Amiens.

1905–14

On Verne’s death, L’Invasion de la mer
 (Invasion of the Sea
 ) and Le Phare du bout
 
 du monde
 (The Lighthouse at the End of the World
 ) are in the course of publication. Michel takes responsibility for the remaining manuscripts, and publishes LeVolcan d’or
 (The Golden Volcano
 —1906), L’Agence Thompson and Co

 (The Thompson Travel Agency
 —1907), La Chasse au météore
 (The Hunt for the Meteor
 —1908), Le Pilote du Danube
 (The Danube Pilot
 —1908), Les Naufragés du “Jonathan”
 (The Survivors of the Jonathan
 —1909), Le Secret de Wilhelm Storitz
 (The Secret of Wilhelm Storitz
 —1910), Hier et Demain
 (Yesterday and Tomorrow
 —short stories, including “Le Humbug” (“Humbug”) and “L’Eternel Adam” (“Edom”)—1910), and L’Etonnante aventure de la mission Barsac
 (The Barsac Mission
 —1914). In 1978 Gondolo della Riva proves that Michel in fact wrote considerable sections of these works, and between 1985 and 1993 the original (i.e. Jules’s) versions are published, under the same titles except for En Magellanie
 (“In the Magallanes”), “Voyage d’études” (“Study Visit”), and Le Beau Danube jaune
 (“The Beautiful Yellow Danube”).

 

This Chronology first appeared in Journey to the Centre of the Earth
 (1992), Around the World in Eighty Days
 (1995), and Twenty Thousand Leagues under the Seas
 (1998) (all translated and edited by William Butcher). It appears here with grateful acknowledgments to Oxford University Press.
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APPENDIX A



The Origins of The Mysterious Island


Verne generally drew information from a huge variety of sources for his writing on the desert-island theme. However, many claims made in studies to date are superficial, based on mere similarity of ideas. In rapid summary, Verne’s favorite work is Wyss’s The Swiss Family Robinson
 (1812); but his frequent mention of “Robinson(s)” does not necessarily mean that Defoe influenced him a great deal, for he uses it as a generic term. While Verne often cites travel writing for adults in his correspondence and in the novels themselves, the works he quotes in his prefaces, perhaps to please Hetzel, are invariably children’s books. He cites many other writers as influential on his writing on the Robinsonade: most importantly Mallès de Beaulieu, Fenimore Cooper, Daniel Defoe, M. de Mirval, and Edouard Raynal. But he also cites: Louis Cortambert and F. de Tranaltos,
1

 William Dampier, Ferdinand Denis and Victor Chauvin, Louis Desnoyers, Ernest Fouinet, Captain Marryat, Mayne-Reid, Captain Péron, Woodes Rogers, Xavier-Boniface Saintine, Captain Sharp, Catherine-Thérèse Rieder Woillez, and [Frédéric] Zurcher and [Elie] Margollé. Other possibilities for influence on MI
 include many contemporary periodicals of popularization, Paul Rollier, E. de Valbezen, Louis Figuier’s Articulés, poissons, reptiles, zoophytes, mollusques
 (c. 1871), various writings by Charles Sainte-Claire Deville, the Garnier brothers’ Encyclopédie de connaissances utiles
 (1852), and Larousse’s Grand dictionnaire universel du XIXe
 siècle
 (1866–76).

A broad similarity can be detected with several works from his childhood reading, although common details are not always easy to identify, as Verne could not read English or German and the translations were often highly adapted and abridged. The most prudent course is therefore to concentrate on what he himself wrote on the subject; and here there is an abundance of information.

As early as the first chapter of his first novel, Verne reveals the origins of his enthusiasm for desert islands:

Soon [the hero] … dreamed of fame like that of the Mungo Parks, the Bruces, the Cailliés, the Levaillants,
2

 and even a little, I believe, of Selkirk, that Robinson Crusoe, whom he placed on as high a level. What absorbing hours he spent with him on his island of Juan-Fernandez! … one thing is sure: he would never have fled that blessed island, where he was as happy as a king without subjects!

In other words, the many criticisms of solitude in the Extraordinary Journeys may be merely to please Hetzel.

An important passage in Captain Grant’s Children
 reveals more of Verne’s sources:

In 1827 the British ship the Palmira,
 passing near [Amsterdam] Island, spotted smoke … The captain … saw two men making distress signals … Jacques Paine a boy of twenty-two and Robert Proudfoot, forty-eight. These two unfortunates were unrecognizable … For eighteen months, almost without fresh water [the 
 two Scots had been] living off seashells, fishing with a useless bent nail … spending up to three days without eating, watching like vestals over a fire lit with their last piece of tinder … / The second adventure … is that of Captain Péron,
3

 a Frenchman this time, [the story of] forty months of abandonment … Péron had disembarked with four sailors, two Frenchmen and two Britons; the aim being to engage in hunting sea-lions … but when the ship did not appear at the end of the fifteen months, when the provisions slowly disappeared … the two Britons rebelled against Captain Péron, who would have died … without the help of his compatriots. Starting from this moment, the two parties, watching each other day and night, permanently armed … led a nightmare existence of misery and anguish … / In the end, this Amsterdam Island was destined to become and to remain French. It belonged first of all, by the right of first occupant, to M. Camin, shipowner of Saint-Denis in Réunion; then it was ceded, by virtue of some international contract, to a Pole, whose Madagascar slaves cultivated it. Polish is virtually the same as French, so that from Polish the island became French again in the hands of M. Otovan. (II, 3)

This passage contains, in sum, two episodes that seem to have inspired MI,
 especially the chapters where the convicts fight the settlers; a brief discussion of the law of new lands; rare signs of patriotism in Verne, and even nationalism; and the idea of colonies being founded by countries (Poland) not normally associated with colonial endeavor, perhaps linked to Nemo’s original Polish nationality.

The famous account of life on Juan-Fernandez (now Robinson Crusoe or Más a Tierra) appears in The Life and Adventures of Robinson Crusoe
 (1719). The story by Daniel Defoe (c. 1660–1731) was derived from the adventures of Alexander Selkirk (1676–1721): while off the coast of Chile, the Scot had a dispute with his captain, William Dampier (1652–1715). Perhaps at his own request, he was put ashore in 1704, and lived alone on Juan-Fernandez until rescued in February 1709.
4

 The similarities between MI
 and Robinson Crusoe
 include features like the grotto or the wrecked ship. But it is not clear whether the influence is from Defoe, Selkirk, or from the many stories imitating these two.

Verne cites a “Sharp”
5

 in presenting Selkirk’s discovery in The Great Navigators of the Eighteenth Century
 (ch. 21):

At this period, nearly all the maps disagreed on the position of Juan-Fernandez Island. So Wood Rodgers
6

 found it almost without looking for it. / On 1 February [1709] a large fire was noticed on the shore … the boat … brought back a man dressed in goat skins, with a face even wilder than his clothing. [Selkirk] had been put ashore … with his clothes, his bed, a gun, a pound of powder, some bullets, tobacco, an axe, a knife, a cooking pot, a Bible and a few other religious books, his instruments, and his naval books.

Selkirk constructed two huts, some distance from each other; and ate Jamaica pimento (cf. MI,
 II, 3). “He had so much lost the habit of speaking that he had difficulty in making himself understood … The misfortunes of Selkirk have been recounted by a modern writer, Saintine, in the novel entitled Seul!
 ”
7

 The importance, of course, is the sections of MI
 dealing with Ayrton’s abandonment as punishment, descent into 
 animality, loss of speech, and rescue. Other ideas visible in Verne’s book are the confusion over the position of the island, a fire which draws attention, the list of books and tools, dual habitations, and interference between French and English names of plants. Further investigation is required to confirm the extent of Captain Sharp’s and Saintine’s influence on MI.



The Swiss Family Robinson
 (1812) by Johann Rudolf Wyss (1782–1830)
8

 marked Verne indelibly. He mentions two translations; that of Isabelle de Bottens, Le Robinson suisse
 (1814), presumably read as a boy, and the adaptation by P.-J. Stahl (pseudonym for Hetzel) and E. Muller, also Le Robinson suisse
 (Hetzel, 1864). Wyss’s medium-sized New Switzerland is greatly influenced by Robinson Crusoe,
 but contains rhinoceroses, hippopotami, lions, and tigers; in his preface to Masterman Ready,
 Marryat inveighs against it simultaneously having elephants and penguins. “UR” and MI
 show huge influence, especially the opening and closing scenes of “UR,” the name “Safety Island” (I, 11—“Safety Bay” in The Swiss Family Robinson
 ), plus: “the turning over of the enormous turtle (which also occurs in The School for Robinsons
 ), the stranding of the whale, Jack’s use of the pick in the grotto containing the stalactites, and close parallels between the discoveries of Jenny and Ayrton, following similar messages” (Guermonprez, “Notes,” 3). Amongst the animals and plants in MI,
 we can observe especially Wyss’s porcupine and flamingo (ch. 7 in Hetzel’s version), the grouse (ch. 16), sago (ch. 18), the onager (ch. 19), and cotton (ch. 21). Verne’s tone and style are in all probability a homage to Wyss and his French translators.

In his prefaces to both Two Years Vacation
 and Second Homeland,
 Verne cites Mme Mallès de Beaulieu (?-1825), author of at least eleven books for young people. Le Robinson de douze ans: Histoire curieuse d’un jeune mousse français abandonné dans une île déserte
 (1818) was reprinted about 30 times. When the ship young Félix is on is wrecked, he is saved by his dog—like Smith in MI.
 As in Verne, the difficulties met are progressive. Félix has only tinder, a lighter, a knife, a ball of string, and a top. He eats eggs and agouti, and climbs a mountain at dusk, but can not see much from the summit, as it is dark (cf. MI,
 I, 11). He discovers a chest containing carpenter’s tools, finds a replacement for tinder, and moves into a cave, in which he constructs a window (as in MI
 ). When he goes back to his first home, he finds the hut destroyed (in MI,
 the Chimneys are damaged by the sea). He goes through a period of penance for his earlier faults (like Ayrton) and, having witnessed a sea monster attack a boat, he adopts the only survivor, a baby. A few years later, he saves another person from a wreck, who turns out to be his mother. Despite its implausibilities, Beaulieu’s work is evidently similar to Verne’s novel.

In “Why I Wrote Second Homeland,
 ” Verne also cites Louis Desnoyers, Aventures de Robert Robert et de son fidèle compagnon Toussaint Lavenette
 (1839). Amongst links are the illustration captioned “Shipwreck of the Rapide
 —The Raft” (ch. 16), presumably the origin of Verne’s Speedy;
 but especially the striking description and illustration of the “Death of Captain Flottard” (ch. 19), the origin of the death of Captain Nemo.

Verne cites, thirdly, The Crater, or Vulcan’s Peak
 (1847—translated, significantly, as Le Cratère, ou le Robinson américain
 (1850—Gallica)).
9

 In this novel, Mark Woolston (probably borrowed from Wyss’s Wolston) goes to sea in 1793, but encounters an uncharted reef west of Valparaiso. With animals from the boat, the two survivors, Mark and Bob, settle. They eventually move to another island, Vulcan’s Peak, with coconut 
 palms and breadfruit, and build an eighty-ton schooner. After various adventures, other settlers arrive; and Mark eventually becomes governor of a full-scale colony, with his wife Bridget and 500 other people, a governing council, and even a postal system. Pirates attack, newcomers upset the social harmony via the newspaper’s columns, and Mark is ousted. He and Bridget go home; then head back to Vulcan’s Peak, but divine retribution and an earthquake have made it sink beneath the waves, leaving no survivors, just the rim of the volcanic crater.

Amongst the striking similarities with MI
 are: the sub-tropical island that exhibits characteristics of colder climes; the volcanic cone; discussion of previous shipwrecks; the need for tobacco; the dominance by an educated man; the obsessive naming in terms of American localities; the fatal delay of one night in launching the first boat; the instinct of animals in announcing natural disasters; the absence of shipping; the crack in the volcano through which sea water enters and creates steam, thus causing the earthquake; the eruption, with light ash like snow; the concealment of a ship in a sheltered bay; the ship which is permanently caught in an inlet by a change in the land’s shape; the lake fed by a surprisingly large stream and overflowing into another stream; the little lake below the peak, with a concealed stream emerging; the paradisiacal plateau far from the bare cone; the network of channels, sounds, and islets; the settling on two islands, and the transfer from one to the other; the use of leagues for distance; birds with brilliant plumage; the dark-skinned companion; the word “unconscious” referring to hidden mental states and the term “abolitionist”; the making of bricks and lime; ambivalence about leaving the Island; and above all the conclusion that even landmasses can be temporary and that the beginning often resembles the end.
10



In the same preface, finally, Verne quotes “Mme de Mirval’s” Le Robinson des sables du désert
 (c. 1850), although the author is cited in the volume as “M. de Mirval.” Mirval’s “Avant-propos” quotes an “Indian mokiste
 ” in “1861” (presumably an error for Mosquito and 1681) “abandoned on the island of Juan-Fernandez … [he] lived there for three years, and obtained for himself, by hunting, fishing, and his industrious spirit, all the resources of life.” The appeals to Providence, being an orphan, the childhood spent reading of exotic foreign lands, and seeking one’s fortune in America (ch. 1) are perhaps generic, but must have influenced the young Verne. We observe such other Vernian ideas as a protector who, like Lidenbrock, has a “curious cabinet of mineralogy” and a departure from the ocean-going port of Nantes, with a description of the dangers of the “crossing from Nantes to Paimboeuf” (ch. 1—cf. Backwards to Britain,
 ch. 5). The hero arrives on a barren sea-coast in a state of exhaustion and unconsciousness, accompanied by flotsam from the shipwreck; his first meal is uncooked shells; and he fears both lions and tigers (ch. 2). He rescues books, a telescope, barrels, and livestock, and makes sails into clothes (ch. 3). Using telescope lenses he makes fire together with tinder from paper and clothing (ch. 4). He uses natural cavities for storage; and prepares materials to make signals for passing ships (ch. 4). Although it is difficult to separate out the strands of “UR” and MI,
 Verne and Hetzel, virtually all these ideas must have contributed to MI.
 Some of Mirval’s phrases are quoted almost textually by Verne, for instance “Each time that I saw a vessel leaving port for some long sea journey, I felt a profound regret that I was not part of its crew” (ch. 6) or the indistinguishability of monkeys and humans (ch. 7). The ending (ch. 
 19), where the desert-island existence is recreated in a more civilized but still remote area, clearly presages Verne’s endin

A final source for MI
 may possibly be Edouard Raynal, Les Naufragés, ou vingt mois dans les îles Auckland, 1863–1865,
 published in the periodical Le Tour du monde
 (1866, 496–98), then by Hachette in 1870. This is the true story of five men: Raynal himself, a Norwegian, a Portuguese, a Briton, and an American called Captain Thomas Musgrave, author of Cast Away at the Auckland Isles
 (1866—cf. the five men in MI
 ). Following the shipwreck of the Grafton,
 the men spend twenty months on the rocky Auckland Isles, still uninhabited today. Raynal’s volume has forty drawings by Alphonse de Neuville, who illustrated Twenty Thousand Leagues
 and other works by Verne. There is a brief allusion in Verne’s A Floating Island
 (ch. 39): “On board the Coringuy,
 Aukland [sic
 ] reefs. Finally we have been shipwrecked.” The name Harry Clifton in “UR” may come from Raynal’s Harry plus the Grafton.
 In Two Years Vacation,
 the same Grafton
 brings the heroes back to the same port of Auckland. Raynal uses seal skins to create a bellows for the forge, as Smith does. He also employs the saw in his pen-knife to make a hut and beds and other furniture, whereas Flip talks of his knife being able to build a house or a ship and Clifton also has a saw in his knife. Harry uses wet matches from his pocket to light a fire (158); in “UR” (33) and MI
 (I, 5), fire is made using one match found in a pocket. Smith’s soap-making (I, 17) may be derived from Raynal’s description of boiling a mixture of “plants … soda … potash … lime … [and] seal’s fat” (122). Raynal finds in his chest a Bible that his wife had secretly put there: the settlers are similarly surprised to find a Bible in their chest (II, 2). However, the two writers may simply be referring to common sources, especially as “UR” probably pre-dates Raynal.


NOTES



1
 . Verne gave an oral review of their Histoire de la Guerre civile américaine, 1860–1865
 to the Société de Géographie on 20 March 1868.


2
 . The four explorers are: Mungo Park (1771–1806), Scottish author of Travels in the Interior of Africa
 (1799); James Bruce (1730–94), Scottish author of Travels to Discover the Sources of the Nile, in the Years 1768–1773
 (1790); René Caillié (1799–1838), author of Journal d’un voyage à Tombouctou et à Jenné, dans l’Afrique centrale
 (1830); and François Levaillant, author of Voyage dans l’intérieur de l’Afrique
 (1790). Verne’s The Exploration of the World
 devotes twenty pages and four illustrations to Caillié (I, 2, 2).


3
 . François Péron (1775–1810), physician and author of Mémoires du Capitaine Péron, sur ses voyages aux côtes d’Afrique, en Arabie, à l’île d’Amsterdam
 … (1824), including a map of Amsterdam Island, reviewed in the Journal général de la littérature française
 (1824, X, 310—Gallica): the book “will add to nautical knowledge of … reefs and islands until now absolutely unknown or inexactly reported.” The review refers to Péron’s “forty months of sojourn and misery [on Amsterdam Island].” MI
 probably also borrowed from Péron’s Voyages aux Terres australes
 (1807).


4
 . In many of Verne’s books, the characters cite Defoe as if he were true. As just two examples, in The Boy Captain
 (I, 15) Mrs. Weldon congratulates her young son on finding a cave like Crusoe’s; and in Two Years Vacation,
 the cook systematically checks the doings of the young boys to see if they tally with Robinson Crusoe.



5
 . Captain Bartholemew Sharp (flourished 1679–82) was the author of a “Journal” 
 printed as Additional Volume 2 in The Voyages and Adventures of Capt. William Dampier
 (1776). Verne’s information may easily come from an anonymous article in Le Magasin pittoresque
 (1842, vol. 1, 188–91), “Ile de Juan Fernandez” (Gallica). Juan-Fernandez is “irregular … The southern part offers only a slightly undulating surface, dry, stony, and without trees; but the northern part [is] covered with high mountains … punctuated with valleys where clear brooks flow and adorned with brilliant greenery, sometimes of a beautiful appearance.” Although general, this description is tailor-made for MI.



6
 . Captain Woodes Rogers, author of A Cruising Voyage round the World
 (1712).


7
 . Xavier-Boniface Saintine (1798–1865), author of Seul!
 (c. 1860). But of course Selkirk himself had several predecessors. Dampier, Verne continues,

had already picked up a miserable Mosquito [Indian], left on the island from 1681 to 1684; and one reads, in the … adventures of Sharp and other privateers, that the sole survivor of a vessel wrecked on these coasts lived here for five years.

Verne gives a complementary account in Famous Travels and Travelers
 (596): the “model who served Daniel Defoe for his Robinson Crusoe
 ” was a Nicaraguan, left on Juan-Fernandez in 1680 by Captain Sharp. Verne again cites Dampier:

This Indian remained alone on the island for more than three years. He was in the woods hunting goats, when the British captain re-embarked his men and sailed without noticing his absence. He had only his gun and knife, with a small powder horn and a little lead. He used his knife on the barrel of his rifle to construct hooks and a longer knife.


8
 . Wyss was a Swiss writer, educated at German universities, who taught philosophy and was a librarian in Bern. A first draft was written by his father, Johann David Wyss.

A book called Robinsonnette suisse
 by E. Muller is reported to have been in Verne’s personal library (Charles-Noël Martin et Olivier Dumas, “La Bibliothèque de Jules Verne,” BSJV
 114 (1995): 49–55 (54)), but this would seem to be an error for Le Robinson suisse.



9
 . Similarly, Verne is reported as saying: “‘As for Fenimore Cooper, I have the totality of his thirty volumes.’ And Mr. Verne started talking about the dramatic qualities of The Pathfinder
 and The Last of the Mohicans.
 ” (“The Prophecies of Romance: Jules Verne on Scientific Progress,” by Charles Dawbarn, in the Pall Mall Magazine,
 May 1904, 33).


10
 . Verne’s “Edom” (1910), where an island rises from the ocean, surprisingly fertile humus is created from decaying seaweed and dead fish, and survivors sail past peaks and sound for sunken lands, may bear even greater resemblance to the ending of The Crater.


g in Iowa.

 
APPENDIX B



Verne’s Other Writing on the Desert-Island Theme

One law of the Robinsonade genre is to include claims as to the excessive easiness of the predecessors. Another law is that influence is visible not only directly, but also because each previous work imitates and deconstructs the previous works, and so on, back to the ur-version or even beyond. A third law is that each new volume claims nevertheless to have discovered a novel situation. Verne follows all three laws, but often in unexpected ways.

Throughout his career, Verne wrote a great deal on desert islands in both the fictional and non-fictional mode. However, the constraints of his reputation as a writer for young people as well as his own personal inclination, mistrustful of any theorizing, mean that his observations are usually down-to-earth. The value, then, for understanding MI
 is in the information provided about such central ideas as social structure, the viability of living alone, and the concrete details of survival, especially fire, food, and shelter. Although Verne never repeats himself, the same concerns do frequently re-occur: at the age of ten or eleven his dreams already concern lost islands and rediscovered paradises, at least according to his sixty-three-year-old self (first extract). In discussing the Robinsonade, we must be careful, however, not to be influenced by modern hedonistic conceptions of hot climates, sunbathing, unpolluted skies, and beautiful natives. For Verne the essential attractions of islands are exploration of undiscovered territory and the new social relations that arise. The novelist in fact prefers cold and wet climates to an almost masochistic degree—his dream is invariably to head towards the poles, if possible via his beloved Scotland. In addition, the attraction of the Vernian Robinsonade is conditioned by an awareness that the number of “lost” islands is finite, that they are all destined to be annexed, sooner or later, by the nations of the Old and New Worlds.

The most important information appears in Verne’s “Memories of Childhood and Youth” (written in about 1891):

One day, I was alone in a bad skiff without a keel. Ten leagues downstream from Chantenay, a plank broke and the water started pouring in. Impossible to stop the leak! I was now in distress! The skiff sank straight down, and I barely had time to throw myself on to an islet adorned with great dense reeds and plumes bent by the wind.

Now in all the books of my childhood, the one that I particularly liked was The Swiss Family Robinson,
 more than Robinson Crusoe.
 I know full well that Daniel Defoe’s work has more philosophical depth. It is about a man abandoned to himself, a man alone, a man who one day finds the mark of a naked foot on the sand! But the work of Wyss, rich in information and adventures, is more interesting for young brains. It’s the family—father, mother, and children with their diverse abilities. How many years I spent on their island! … I was irresistibly pushed to portray the Robinsons of Science and Knowledge in The Mysterious Island,
 and a whole boarding-school of Robinsons in School for Robinsons.



 But meanwhile, on my isle … it was the heroes of Daniel Defoe who were incarnated in my person. Already I was thinking of building a hut from branches, making a line from a reed using thorns as hooks, and making fire, as savages do, by rubbing together two pieces of dry wood. Signals? I wouldn’t make any, for they might be noticed too soon, and I would be saved more quickly than I wanted! First of all, it was advisable to satisfy my hunger. How? My provisions had sunk in the shipwreck. Go hunting for birds? I had neither dog nor gun! Well, what about shellfish? There weren’t any! In the end, consequently, I knew the suffering of abandonment and the horrors of destitution on a desert island, as felt by the Selkirks and other characters from Naufragés célèbres
 
1

 who were not imaginary Robinsons! My stomach cried out …

It only lasted a few hours and, as soon as the tide had gone out, I simply had to cross with water up to my ankles to reach what I called the mainland, the right bank of the Loire. And so I … had to be content with a family dinner rather than the meal à la Crusoe I had dreamed of: raw shellfish, a slice of peccary, and bread made from manioc flour!

The information in this mini-autobiography is a revealing mixture of enthusiastic naiveté and knowing rehearsal of the age-old myth of escape to a distant shore, visible in MI,
 but also the long line of predecessors who have already worn out much of the genre. The essential opposition is between Defoe’s independence and Wyss’s cozy domesticity.

Another important revelation is made in “Jules Verne at Home” by Marie A. Belloc (The Strand Magazine,
 February 1895):

And yet perhaps I shall shock you by admitting that I myself prefer the dear old Swiss Family Robinson
 [to Defoe]. People forget that Crusoe and his man Friday were but an episode in a seven-volumed story. To my mind the book’s great merit is that it was apparently the first romance of the kind ever written … I never tire of Fenimore Cooper; certain of his romances … will, I trust, be remembered long after the so-called literary giants of later ages are forgotten. Then again, I thoroughly enjoy Captain Marryat’s breezy romances.
2

 Owing to my unfortunate inability to read English, I am not so familiar as I should like to be with Mayne Read [sic
 ]
3

 and Robert Louis Stevenson; still, I was greatly delighted with the latter’s Treasure Island.


But Verne’s thinking on the desert-island theme comes out most clearly in his works before MI.
 In Captain Grant’s Children,
 Harry relates:

We began like Defoe’s ideal Robinson, our model, by collecting the flotsam from the ship, the tools, a little powder, some firearms, and a bag of precious seeds. The first few days were very difficult, but hunting and fishing soon afforded us a sure supply of food, for wild goats abounded in the interior of the island, and marine animals on the coasts. By degrees our life became regular and organized (II, 3).

In the same novel, Paganel and Lady Helena debate the ideas of happiness and isolation on a desert island. The Frenchman argues that a kid or an “eloquent parrot or amiable monkey” are sufficient: “And if a lucky chance sends one a companion like 
 the faithful Friday, what more is needed? Two friends on a rock, there is happiness.” But Lady Helena counters:

You are thinking of the life of an imaginary Robinson, thrown on a carefully selected island and treated by nature like a spoiled child … Man is made for society … and solitude can only engender despair … When death comes, which utter loneliness will render terrible, he will be like the last man on the last day of the world. Believe me, M. Paganel, such a man is not to be envi

Just as Harry defines the material conditions governing every Robinsonade, thus announcing the structure of Part I
 of MI,
 so Paganel reflects both Defoe and the eleven-year old Verne, while Lady Helena anticipates Nemo’s final dilemma of dying alone.


Twenty Thousand Leagues
 also informs Verne’s attraction to islands. The opening chapter is entitled “A Shifting Reef,” and emphasizes the parallels between shoals, seamonsters, and submarines. Indeed, floating islands and shifting reefs are an obsession in the Extraordinary Journeys, undoubtedly due to the writer’s childhood overlooking the moving sandbanks of the Loire. Gueboroar island (possibly Gabba Island, or Gilboa) in Twenty Thousand Leagues
 (I, 20) contains many similarities with the Mysterious Island. For a couple of days the guests/prisoners escape the oppressive atmosphere of the Nautilus
 to find exotic fauna and flora, breadfruit and barbecued meat, in a tropical paradise which again echoes Wyss and Defoe.

Even after MI,
 Verne comes back obsessively to the theme, but with an increasing tendency towards parody and self-destruction. On 7 November 1874, the novelist wrote to Ritt, director of the Théatre de la porte Saint-Martin, presenting his plans for a play called Captain Grant’s Children;
 the first draft was written by 1876, and the play was performed and published in 1878. Tabor is replaced by the imaginary “Balker Isle of the southern seas, situated not far from Adélie Coast”: like Tabor, at 37° S, but with the longitude moved to 165° W.
4



“The Mutineers of the Bounty
 ” (1879) ends with an idyllic description of the colonyon Pitcairn, mixing Old-Testament traditionalism with a Rousseauist primitivism of which Cyrus Smith would surely have disapproved:

the girls, above all, were admirably beautiful … Money was unknown; all transactions were done by means of exchange, but there was no industry, for there were no raw materials. The only clothes worn by the inhabitants were vast hats and grass skirts … Pitcairn Island has become the motherland of a gentle, hospitable, and happy population, amongst which prevail the patriarchal customs of the first age.

Verne calls The School for Robinsons
 (1882) a “false Robinson.”
5

 In trenchantly rejecting Hetzel’s criticism of the manuscript, Verne echoes “Memories of Childhood and Youth”: “It seems to me that the philosophical depth you want to indicate is completely outside my subject and of a nature to weigh it down.” The book satirizes the desert-island genre: a rich American buys an island to cure his nephew of dreaming of Robinsons, and places an implausible collection of animals on it, together with actors to play savages. A shipwreck is set up, which forces the hero to look after an eccentric teacher of dancing and deportment. Even the illiterate natives behave as if they have 
 read Defoe. However, the island is then really invaded by wild animals, undermining the parody.


Two Years Vacation
 (1888) and Second Homeland
 (1900) are the only novels of Verne’s to which he provided prefaces (reproduced in this volume, on pp. xlviii–xlix). In Two Years Vacation,
 a group of fifteen British, American, and French boys are shipwrecked on the authentic Hanover Island off South America. They discover a new castaway (a woman), and from Robinsons, they become settlers, setting up a school. But soon national rivalries emerge, resulting in some of the British seceding—until pirates force them back. The novel is full of implausibilities: the youth of the protagonists, the lack of care by the ship’s crew, the single rope attaching the ship to Auckland quay, the fact that they can not see the neighboring islands, and the variety of fauna and flora, including even hippopotami.


Second Homeland
 presents itself as a sequel to The Swiss Family Robinson,
 with the first chapters summarizing Wyss’s novel. Imitating the Swiss castaways, one of the boys tries to ride various animals, including an ostrich, but with a comic lack of success. However, the heroes do not have the same personalities as in Wyss; and contemporary reality has meanwhile moved on. In both this novel and MI,
 the characters discuss the difficult transition from a small group of settlers to a full-scale colony, as happens with tragic results in Cooper’s The Crater
 and Verne’s “In the Magallanes” (1987).

The three later Robinsonades fail to re-capture the magical, pioneering adventures of MI.
 But of course the Mysterious Island carries within it the limits of paradise: the unique and implausible circumstances of its founding, its uncertain future if ever revealed to the world, and the impossibility of escaping the rest of humanity or the demons of the past. The three self-pastiches merely emphasize the paradoxes intrinsic to Verne’s desert islands.


NOTES



1
 . Very probably Zurcher and Margollé, Les Naufrages célèbres
 (1872).


2
 . Captain [Frederick] Marryat (1792–1848), the author of Mr. Midshipman Easy
 (1836) and The Children of the New Forest
 (1847), is also cited by Verne in an interview in 1889. Kravitz (Ibid.
 ) reports that the opening of “UR” is similar to Marryat’s Robinsonade Masterman Ready
 (1841), for in each a family consisting of a mother and her four children is guided from a sinking vessel to a distant desert island by a kind-hearted and experienced seaman.


3
 . [Thomas] Mayne-Reid (1818–83), born in Northern Ireland but a naturalized American, published sixty-five novels, including five Robinsonades: The Desert Home
 (1852—translated as Le Robinson du désert
 ), The Forest Exiles
 (1854), The Cliff Climbers
 (1854), Afloat in the Forest
 (1866), and, significantly, The Castaways
 (1871). Hetzel published sixteen of the novels, and nearly all the others were available in French.


4
 . Information can be found in Pierre Terrasse, “Un Centenaire: Les Enfants du capitaine Grant
 au théâtre,” BSJV
 49 (1979): 21–31.


5
 . Letter to Hetzel in 1881 (Bibliothèque nationale, vol. 73, fo 502).
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